

Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for

Hospitals

Including Standards for Academic Medical Center Hospitals



Joint Commission International Mission

A division of Joint Commission Resources, Inc.

The mission of Joint Commission International (JCI) is to improve the safety and quality of care in the international community through the provision of education, publications, consultation, and evaluation services.

© 2020 The Joint Commission, on behalf of Joint Commission International

Published by Joint Commission Resources Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 https://www.jcrinc.com

Joint Commission Resources educational programs and publications support, but are separate from, the accreditation activities of Joint Commission International. Attendees at Joint Commission Resources educational programs and purchasers of Joint Commission Resources publications receive no special consideration or treatment in, or confidential information about, the accreditation process.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without written permission from the publisher. Requests for permission to make copies of any part of this work should be sent to permissions@jcrinc.com.

ISBN (print): 978-1-63585-148-9 ISBN (e-book): 978-1-63585-149-6

Printed in the U.S.A.

For more information about Joint Commission International, please visit https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org.

Development Team for the 7th Edition

Associate Director, Standards Development and Interpretation: Ryan Keiler, MSN, RN Associate Director, Standards Development and Interpretation: Ron Quicho, MS

Director, Standards Development and Interpretation:

Claudia Jorgenson, MSN, RN

Former Director, Board Activities and Strategic Operations: Cecily Pew, PMP Associate Director, Global Publications: Helen M. Fry, MA Associate Director, Production: Johanna Harris

Associate Director, Production: Johanna Harri Executive Director, Global Publishing: Catherine Chopp Hinckley, MA, PhD

Standards Advisory Panel for the 7th Edition

Lee Chien Earn, MBBS, MMed (Public Health), FAMS

Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer, Regional Health System, SingHealth

Chief Executive Officer, Changi General Hospital, Singapore

Paul Hofmann, DrPH, LFACHE President, Hofmann Healthcare Group, USA

Manish Kohli, MD, MPH, MBA, FHIMSS Chair, HIMSS Board of Directors, USA Managing Director, Beyond Horizon Health, USA David Loose, MSN, RN, NEA, CPHQ Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Babak (Bobby) Pazooki, MD, MS, FACE, CPE Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Harish Pillai, MBBS, MHM, MBA Chief Executive Officer, Aster, India

John C. Sell, MPA, FACHE Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Terence Shea, MPA, BSN, RN Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA Abdul Latif Sheikh, RPh, MS, FFIP

Member, Prime Minister's Task Force on Health, Pakistan

President/CEO, Pakistan Society of Health System Pharmacists, Pakistan

Subject Matter Expert (SME) Groups Facility Management and Safety (FMS)

Yvonne P. Burdick, MHA, EDAC, FACHE Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Michael Chihoski, MS, CHSP, CHFM, AMDP, SASHE

Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Michael Crowley, PE, FSFPE, FASHE Industry Relations, Jensen Hughes 2020 President, Society of Fire Protection Engineers (SFPE), USA George Mills, MBA, FASHE, AAMIF, CEM, CHFM, CHSP, CHOP-DNV

Director of Operations, Healthcare Solutions & CEO, ATG, Jones Lang LaSalle, USA

Ozlem Yildirim Veenstra, PhD, BSIE, MSEM Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Management of Information (MOI)

R. Michael Boyer, DO, MS, FAOCA Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Bonny Chen, MD, MBA, CPHIMS Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA David M. Liebovitz, MD, FACP Associate Vice-Chair, Department of Medicine. Northwestern University, USA

Medication Management and Use (MMU)

Marale Atechian, PharmD, MS, CPHQ Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Nathan Erteschik, MD, FACP Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Michelle Mandrack, MSN, RN Director of Consulting Services, Institute for Safe Medication Practices, USA Christina Michalek, BSc Pharm, RPh, FASHP Medication Safety Specialist, Institute for Safe Medication Practices

Administrative Coordinator, Medication Safety Officers Society, USA

Patient-Centered Care (PCC)

Sharon Coulter James, MN, MBA, FACHE Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Shaveta Dewan, MBBS, MBA Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA Sara Guastello

Vice President, Knowledge Management, Planetree International, USA

Derick P. Pasternak, MD, MBA, FACP, FACPE Senior Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Prevention and Control of Infections (PCI)

Chinhak Chun, MD

Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Diane Cullen, MSN, MBA, RN, CIC

Associate Director, Standards Interpretation Group, The Joint Commission

Board Member and Past President, APIC Chicago (Chapter of the Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology), USA Julie McCaughan, RN, MBA

Surveyor, Joint Commission International, USA

Khalil N. Rizk, MPH, MHA, CPHQ, CPHRM, CPPS

Consultant, Joint Commission International, USA

Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, 7th Edition			
iv			
			

Contents

Summary of Changes to the Manual	vii
Introduction	
The Value of JCI Accreditation	
Standards Development Process	
How This Manual Is Organized	3
Applying the Standards in Your Organization	4
Using the Standards Manual	5
General Eligibility Requirements	
Section I: Accreditation Participation Requirements	9
Accreditation Participation Requirements (APR)	
Section II: Patient-Centered Standards	21
International Patient Safety Goals (IPSG)	23
Access to Care and Continuity of Care (ACC)	
Patient-Centered Care (PCC)	
Assessment of Patients (AOP)	79
Care of Patients (COP)	107
Anesthesia and Surgical Care (ASC)	137
Medication Management and Use (MMU)	151
Section III: Health Care Organization Management Standards	171
Quality Improvement and Patient Safety (QPS)	173
Prevention and Control of Infections (PCI)	187
Governance, Leadership, and Direction (GLD)	211
Facility Management and Safety (FMS)	
Staff Qualifications and Education (SQE)	
Management of Information (MOI)	299

Section IV: Academic Medical Center Hospital Standards	319
Medical Professional Education (MPE)	321
Human Subjects Research Programs (HRP)	329
Summary of Key Accreditation Policies	339
Glossary	349
Index	

Summary of Changes to the Manual

Standards and measurable elements (MEs) published in this manual are effective as of 1 January 2021. Your organization is responsible for meeting all applicable changes by this date.

There are many changes to the *Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals Including Standards for Academic Medical Center Hospitals*, 7th Edition. A thorough review is strongly recommended.

Major changes to the 7th edition include the following:

- Expanded requirements in the "International Patient Safety Goals" (IPSG) chapter on safety of lookalike/sound-alike medication (IPSG.3.1) and concentrated electrolytes (IPSG.3.2) and added new requirements regarding the use of evidence-based interventions or bundles (IPSG.5.1)
- Combined the "Patient and Family Rights" (PFR) and "Patient and Family Education" (PFE) chapters to create a new chapter, "Patient-Centered Care" (PCC) and introduced a new requirement to measure, analyze, and improve the patient experience to enhance the quality of patient care (PCC.3)
- Added standards to the "Care of Patients" (COP) chapter on clinical alarm system management (COP.3.1), management of patients at risk of suicide or self-harm (COP.3.5), and management of lasers (COP.4 and COP.4.1)
- Updated the definitions and requirements for sentinel events, adverse events, no-harm events, and near misses (QPS.7 and QPS.7.1)
- Introduced new standards in the "Prevention and Control of Infections" (PCI) chapter on environmental cleanliness (PCI.7); cleanliness of laundry, linens, and scrubs (PCI.7.1); and on protection of patients and staff from bloodborne pathogens (PCI.8.1)
- Reorganized the "Facility Management and Safety" (FMS) chapter by the eight areas required to have a written facility management and safety program: safety, security, hazardous materials and waste, fire safety, medical equipment, utility systems, emergency management, and construction and renovation—and introduced new requirements for monitoring each area
- Created a new "Interim Measures" appendix in the FMS chapter to address safety of the building's occupants during construction, maintenance, or a breakdown or repair (addressed at FMS.8.3)
- Updated and added additional evidence-based references to support new and revised standards throughout the manual
- Moved standards cross-references throughout the manual from measurable elements and standards to the standards' intents and revised them as needed to align with standards renumbering and revisions in the 7th edition
- Completed a project to align glossaries across all JCI accreditation and certification programs

Details on specific changes in each chapter of the 7th edition follow. If a standard or ME from the 7th edition is *not* listed below, no substantive changes occurred since the 6th edition of this manual. Deletions from the 6th edition are not listed.

Introduction

- Updated and reflowed the content of the Introduction to align with changes to the 7th edition
- Added information on the value of JCI accreditation and how to use the standards manual
- Moved "General Eligibility Requirements" into the Introduction

Accreditation Participation Requirements (APR)

- APR.8, Rationale: Added an example of inappropriate representation of accreditation status
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

International Patient Safety Goals (IPSG)

- IPSG.1
 - o Intent: Revised to address the labeling of elements associated with patient care (for example, dietary trays, mother's milk) and clarified expectations for using two patient identifiers
 - o ME 1: Added requirement to include the labeling of elements related to patient care, using the same two identifiers
- Intent of IPSG.2 Through IPSG.2.2: Revised to clarify the definition of *critical results*, including examples
- IPSG.2.1
 - o ME 1: Clarified the requirement to define critical results that may represent urgent or emergent life-threatening values for diagnostic tests
 - o ME 2: Revised to focus on the development of a formal reporting process
- Intent of IPSG.3 Through IPSG.3.2: Revised to include the Institute for Safe Medication Practices definition of *high-alert medication* and examples; expanded to address new IPSG.3.1 on look-alike/sound-alike medications; provided further discussion of concentrated electrolytes, including examples
- IPSG.3
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Split previous ME 1 to focus on writing a list of high-alert medications (ME 1) and combined with previous ME 3 to focus a uniform process for reducing risk of harm from them (ME 2)
 - o New ME 3: Added requirement that high-alert medication list be reviewed annually
- IPSG.3.1
 - o **New Standard:** Introduced requirements for a process for managing look-alike/sound-alike medications (previously addressed as part of IPSG.3 on high-alert medications)
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Split and adapted previous IPSG.3, ME 2 to focus on a written look-alike/sound-alike medication list (ME 1) and combined with previous IPSG.3, ME 3 to focus on a uniform process for reducing risk of harm from them (ME 2)
 - o New ME 3: Added requirement for hospital to annually review its look-alike/sound-alike list
- IPSG.3.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous IPSG.3.1 to address hospital management of concentrated electrolytes
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous ME 3 and added requirement that only trained staff access concentrated electrolytes
 - o ME 2: Clarified that concentrated electrolytes are stored outside the pharmacy only in circumstances as described in the intent of the standard
 - o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to follow standardized protocols for electrolyte replacement therapy
- Intent of IPSG.5 and IPSG.5.1: Expanded to address new IPSG.5.1 on evidence-based guidelines addressing hospital-associated infections
- IPSG.5.1
 - New Standard: Introduced requirements for the use of evidence-based interventions to reduce risk of hospital-associated infections
 - o **New ME 1:** Added requirement for hospital leaders to identify priority hospital-acquired infections on which to focus improvements
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement that evidence-based interventions (such as bundles) be applied to the identified hospital-acquired infections
 - New ME 3: Added requirement that the use of evidence-based interventions is monitored for compliance and improved outcomes

- Intent of IPSG.6 and IPSG.6.1: Added information about high-risk areas for falls and fall risk screening
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Access to Care and Continuity of Care (ACC)

- ACC.1
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard ACC.1.1 and revised to include requirements on prioritization of patients with emergent, urgent, or immediate needs
 - o ME 1: Combined with previous MEs 2 and 6; clarified that patients are accepted for treatment if it is determined that the needs of the patient match the hospital's mission and resources
 - o ME 2: Combined previous ME 2 with MEs 1 and 6 and numbered as ME 1
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ACC.1.1, ME 1
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered requirements of previous ACC.1.1, MEs 4 and 5
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous ME 4
- ACC.1.1
 - o Standard and MEs: Renumbered previous Standard ACC.1.2 and its MEs 1–5
 - o Intent: Added examples of situations that would require the patient to be notified of delays
- ACC.2
 - o Standard: Combined with previous Standard ACC.2.2.1 and focused on managing the entire patient flow process throughout the hospital
 - o Intent: Revised to include content from previous Standard ACC.2.2.1 on patient flow
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous ACC.2.2.1, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Renumbered previous ME 3
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 4
 - o MEs 4–6: Renumbered previous ACC.2.2.1, MEs 2–4
- ACC 2.3
 - o Standard: Combined with previous Standard ACC 2.3.1 to address both admission and discharge and/or transfer criteria
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ACC.2.3.1, ME 1
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 5
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous ACC.2.3.1, ME 5
- ACC.3
 - o Standard: Combined with previous Standard ACC.3.2 to include access to essential patient information
 - o Intent: Revised to include components of patient's medical record summary
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ACC.3.2, ME 1
 - o ME 5: Combined and renumbered previous ACC.3.2, MEs 2–6 on the components of patient's medical record summary
 - o ME 6: Renumbered previous ME 4
- ACC.3.1
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2 and 3: Renumbered previous MEs 3 and 4
- Intent of ACC.4 and ACC.4.1: Combined the intents of these two standards and expanded discussion
 on patient and family education needs and addressing patient needs for continuing care and
 information at discharge
- ACC.4
 - o Standard: Revised to focus on patient's readiness for discharge
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous ME 3 and revised to include patient's readiness for discharge
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 1 and revised to include support services

- New ME 4: Added requirement to provide information on site(s) for continuing care to patients who are not directly referred or transferred
- o **New ME 5:** Added requirement to provide information on when to return for care to patients who are not directly referred or transferred
- o **New ME 6:** Added requirement to provide written discharge planning and instructions to patients

ACC.4.1

- o Standard: Revised to address patient and family education and ongoing care needs in discharge planning
- o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to focus patient and family education on patient's ongoing need for continuing care and services
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement on providing patients and families with list of medications to be taken at home
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 1
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 3
- o ME 5: Renumbered previous ME 4
- o ME 6: Renumbered and combined previous MEs 2 and 5

• ACC.4.2:

- o Standard and Intent: Combined and renumbered previous Standards ACC.4.3 and ACC.4.3.2 on discharge summaries
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous ACC.4.3.2, ME 1
- o ME 2: Combined and renumbered previous ACC.4.3, MEs 1-6
- o MEs 3–5: Renumbered previous ACC.4.3.2, MEs 2–4
- ACC.4.2.1: Renumbered previous MOI.10 and its MEs 1–4
- ACC.4.3: Renumbered previous ACC.4.4 and its MEs 1–4
- Intent of Standard ACC.4.4 and ACC.4.4.1: Renumbered the intents of these two standards from previous ACC.4.5 and ACC.4.5.1 and added details about granting permission for a patient to leave the hospital during the course of treatment

• ACC.4.4:

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard ACC.4.5
- o MEs 1–4: Renumbered previous ACC.4.5, MEs 1–4
- o ME 5: Renumbered previous ACC.4.5, ME 6
- o ME 6: Renumbered previous ACC.4, ME 4
- ACC.4.4.1: Renumbered previous ACC.4.5.1 and its MEs 1–4

ACC.5

- Standard: Combined with previous Standard ACC.5.1 to include a requirement to develop a process to safely transfer patients to other health care organizations
- o Intent: Combined with intent of previous Standard ACC.5.1
- o ME 2: Expanded to address how and when responsibility for a patient is transferred
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous ACC.6, ME 3 and added new requirement to identify an individual responsible for the patient during transfer
- o MEs 4–6: Renumbered previous ACC.5.1, MEs 3–5

ACC.5.1

- o Standard: Combined and renumbered previous Standards ACC.5.2 and ACC.5.3
- o ME 1: Combined and renumbered previous ACC.5.2, ME 1 and ACC.5.3, MEs 2–4
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous ACC.5.3, ME 1
- ME 3: Renumbered previous ACC.5.3, ME 2
- o ME 4: Combined and renumbered previous ACC.5.3, MEs 3 and 4

ACC.6

o Intent: Expanded discussion of patient transportation needs and added examples

- o ME 1: Renumbered previous ACC.4, ME 5
- o ME 2: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2 and numbered ME 2, addressing transportation services and vehicles together
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 4
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous ACC.4, ME 6
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Patient-Centered Care (PCC)

- New Chapter: Combined and reorganized previous chapters "Patient and Family Rights" (PFR) and "Patient and Family Education" (PFE) to create this new "Patient-Centered Care" (PCC) chapter
- Overview: Revised the PFR overview to incorporate PFE concepts
- PCC.1
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.1
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous PFR.1, ME 1
 - o MEs 2 and 3: Split previous PFR.1, ME 2 to focus on implementing (ME 2) and protecting (ME 3) patient and family rights
 - o **New ME 4:** Added requirement on patients' right to identify who they wish to participate in their care decisions
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous PFR.1, ME 3
 - o ME 6: Renumbered previous PFR.2, ME 6
- PCC.1.1
 - o Standard: Combined and renumbered previous Standards PFR.1.1 and PFR.4
 - o Intent: Combined the intents of the two standards and added additional information and examples on barriers to care and a written statement of patient and family rights
 - o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous PFR.1.1, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous PFR.1.1, MEs 2 and 3
 - o ME 3: Adapted concepts from previous Standards PFR.2 and PFR.4
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered previous PFR.4, MEs 1 and 2
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous PFR.4, ME 3
- PCC.1.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.1.2
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous PFR.1.2, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Combined and renumbered previous PFR.1.2, MEs 2 and 3
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous PFR.1.2, ME 4
- PCC.1.3
 - o Standard and Intent: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.1.3 and expanded to address patients' right to have access to their health information
 - o MEs 1–3: Renumbered previous PFR.1.3, MEs 1–3
 - o ME 4: Clarified that the hospital must have a process to grant permission to release health information to patients
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement for a process to provide patients with access to their health information
 - o **New ME 6:** Added requirement to provide timely access to patient's health information without a prohibitive cost
- PCC.1.4: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.1.4 and its MEs 1–3
- PCC.1.5: Renumbered and adapted previous Standard PFR.1.5 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.2
 - o Standard and Intent: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.2 and expanded to include families and address engagement and education in care decisions and care processes
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Combined and renumbered previous PFR.2, MEs 1, 2, and 5

- o MEs 3 and 4: Split and adapted previous PFR.2, ME 3 to focus on informing patients about expected outcomes of care (ME 3) and unanticipated outcomes of care (ME 4)
- ME 5: Renumbered previous PFR.2, ME 4
- PCC.2.1: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.2.1 and its MEs 1–6
- PCC.2.2: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.2.2 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.3
 - o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement to measure, analyze, and improve the patient experience to enhance the quality of patient care
 - o **New ME 1:** Added requirement for leaders to develop and implement a process for assessing patient experience
 - o New ME 2: Added requirement to aggregate and analyze patient experience data
 - o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for leaders to prioritize areas for improving the patient experience
 - o New ME 4: Added requirement to implement strategies to improve the patient experience
 - o New ME 5: Added requirement to analyze the impact of improvements
- PCC.3.1: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.3 and its MEs 1-4
- PCC.4: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.5 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.4.1: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.5.1 and its MEs 1–6
- PCC.4.2: Renumbered and adapted previous PFR.5.2 and its MEs 1–5
- PCC.4.3: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.5.3 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.4.4: Renumbered and adapted previous PFR.5.4 and its MEs 1–3
- PCC.5
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined and renumbered previous Standards PFE.1 and PFE.4
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous PFE.1, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Combined and renumbered previous PFE.1, MEs 2 and 3
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous PFE.4, ME 1
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered previous PFE.4, MEs 2 and 4
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous PFE.4, ME 3
- PCC 5.1
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined and renumbered previous Standards PFE.2 and PFE.2.1
 - o ME 1: Combined concepts from and renumbered previous PFE.2, MEs 1 and 2 and previous PFE.2.1, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous PFE.2.1, ME 2 and previous PFE.2.1, MEs 3 and 4
 - o **New ME 3:** Added requirement on accommodating patients' and families' identified needs when providing education
 - o ME 4: Renumbered and adapted previous PFE.2, ME 3
- PCC.5.2: Renumbered previous Standard PFE.3 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.6: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.6 and its MEs 1–4
- PCC.6.1: Renumbered previous Standard PFR.6.1 and its MEs 1–4
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Assessment of Patients (AOP)

- AOP.1.1
 - o Intent: Listed the types of assessments needed to be performed as part of the initial patient assessment and clarified that listing patients' current medications and known allergies should be part of the health history
 - o ME 2: Revised to focus on listing of patient's current medications and known allergies as part of their assessment
 - o ME 3: Combined and renumbered previous MEs 2–4
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 5

- AOP.1.5
 - o Standard: Clarified which outpatients the standard applies to (that is, those whose condition, diagnosis, or situation may indicate they are at risk for pain)
 - o Intent: Provided additional information about screening patients for pain
 - o ME 1: Revised requirement to focus on inpatients
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for screening for pain in outpatients whose condition, diagnosis, or situation may indicate a need for screening
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 2 and restricted its focus to inpatients
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 3
 - New ME 5: Added requirement to guide assessment and referral for outpatients who positively screened for pain
- AOP.1.7: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.1.8 and its MEs 1–3
- AOP.5.1
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard AOP.5.2
 - o ME 2: Combined and renumbered previous MEs 2–6
 - o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous AOP.5.2, ME 1
 - o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered previous AOP.5.2, MEs 2 and 3
- AOP.5.2: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.5.1.1 and its MEs 1–5
- AOP.5.3
 - o ME 2: Split previous ME 2 to focus on involving the laboratory safety program with the facility management program (ME 2) and the infection prevention and control program (ME 3)
 - o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered previous MEs 3 and 4
- AOP.5.5
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2–5: Renumbered previous MEs 3–6
- AOP.5.6
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2–4: Renumbered previous MEs 3–5
- AOP.5.10.1
 - o ME 2: Combined previous MEs 2 and 3
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 4
- AOP.6.1
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard AOP.6.2
 - o ME 2: Combined and renumbered MEs 2-6
 - o ME 3: Renumbered AOP.6.2, ME 2
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered AOP.6.2, MEs 3 and 4
 - o ME 5: Renumbered AOP.6.2, ME 5
 - o ME 6: Renumbered AOP.6.2, ME 6
- AOP.6.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.6.3 and expanded to include diagnostic imaging in a radiation safety program; revised to require compliance with applicable professional standards, laws, and regulations; and clarified that the program should include patients, staff, and visitors
 - o Intent: Added information about magnetic resonance imaging—related safety concerns and clarified expectations for the radiation safety management program
 - o ME 1: Expanded to align with the revised standard
 - o ME 2: Renumbered previous AOP.6.3, ME 5
 - o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous AOP.6.3, ME 4
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered previous AOP.6.3, MEs 2 and 3
 - o New ME 5: Added requirements for addressing hazards related to magnetic resonance imaging

- AOP.6.3: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.6.4 and its MEs 1–3
- AOP.6.4: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.6.5 and its MEs 1–6
- AOP.6.5: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.6.7 and its MEs 1–5
- AOP.6.6: Renumbered previous Standard AOP.6.8 and its MEs 1–4
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Care of Patients (COP)

- Overview: Revised to address risk factors that can impact patient care and an example of patient support
- COP.2
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard COP.2.2
 - o ME 1: Combined previous COP.2, MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2–5: Renumbered previous COP.2.2, MEs 1–4
- COP.2.1: Renumbered previous Standard COP.2.3 and its MEs 1–3
- COP.2.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard COP.2.1
 - o Intent: Added additional information about multidisciplinary patient care conferences
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous COP.2.1, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Combined with previous COP.2.1, ME 4 to require documentation in the medical record
 - o ME 3: Combined with previous COP.2.1, ME 4 to require documentation in the medical record and revised to include consideration on changes in patient's condition
 - o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to document results or outcomes from any patient care team meetings or other collaborative discussions in the medical record
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous COP.2.1, ME 6
- COP.3
 - Intent: Changed item j) in the list of potential high-risk services from patients at risk for suicide (now addressed at new standard COP.3.5) to patient receiving palliative care
 - o ME 1: Given the change to the intent, leaders will need to include those patients receiving palliative care as they identify high-risk patients and services
- COP.3.1
 - New Standard and Intent: Introduced requirement on clinical alarm system management
 - New ME 1: Added requirement for hospital leaders to develop and implement an alarm system management program
 - o New ME 2: Added requirement to prioritize alarm signals according to patient safety risk
 - o New ME 3: Added requirement for hospital leaders to develop strategies for managing alarms
 - o New ME 4: Added requirement to educate staff on the purpose and operation of alarm systems
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement to ensure that responsible staff are trained and competent to manage clinical alarms
- COP.3.2:
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard COP.3.1
 - o MEs 2 and 3: Split previous COP.3.1, ME 2 to focus on early warning signs (ME 2) and when and how to seek further assistance (ME 3)
 - o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered previous COP.3.1, MEs 3 and 4
- COP.3.3
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard COP.3.2 and its MEs 1–3
 - o Intent: Added expectation for timely review of internal data on resuscitations
 - o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for the hospital to review internal data from previous emergency situations to identify improvement opportunities
- COP.3.4: Renumbered previous Standard COP.3.3 and its MEs 1–3

COP.3.5

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement for hospitals to have a process to identify patients at risk of suicide or self-harm
- o New ME 1: Added requirement to establish criteria to screen for suicide and self-harm
- o New ME 2: Added requirement to use evidence-based tools to assess patients for suicidal ideation
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to conduct environmental risk assessments and act to minimize risk
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to implement protocols and procedures to mitigate risk of suicide and self-harm
- New ME 5: Added requirement to analyze data and monitor implementation and effectiveness of protocols and procedures
- o **New ME 6:** Added requirement to ensure that staff are trained on screening criteria and tools as well as risk reduction protocols and procedures

COP.4

- New Standard and Intent: Introduced requirement to establish a program on safe use of lasers and other optical radiation devices
- o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to base the program on professional standards and applicable laws and regulations
- o New ME 2: Added requirement for a qualified individual to oversee and supervise the program
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for documented safety training and continuing education for staff
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for administrative and engineering controls to promote program safety
- New ME 5: Added requirement for correct, appropriate use of personal protective equipment for staff and patients
- o **New ME 6:** Added requirement for qualified, trained individuals to conduct inspection, testing, and maintenance processes

COP.4.1

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement to report and address adverse events resulting from lasers and other optical radiation devices
- o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to integrate the safety program into the hospital's facility management and safety structure
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to integrate the safety program into the hospital's infection prevention and control program
- New ME 3: Added requirement to report adverse events and identify and implement action plans to prevent recurrence

COP.5

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard COP.4
- o ME 2: Combined with previous COP.4, ME 3
- o MEs 3–5: Renumbered previous COP.4, MEs 4–6
- COP.5.1: Renumbered previous Standard COP.5 and its MEs 1–3

COP.7

- o Intent: Expanded discussion on needs of the end-of-life care for dying patients (pulling in concepts from previous Standard AOP.1.7)
- New ME 2: Added requirement to identify health care needs and support services needs of the patient and family as appropriate to their religious and cultural preferences
- o MEs 3–6: Renumbered previous MEs 2–5
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Anesthesia and Surgical Care (ASC)

- ASC.3, Intent: Clarified the expectation that sedation policies and procedures are understood by all practitioners permitted to administer procedural sedation
- ASC.3.1
 - o ME 1: Clarified that practitioners who provide sedation must show evidence of competence
- ASC.5
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard ASC.5.1
 - o MEs 2 and 3: Renumbered previous ASC.5.1, MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered previous ASC.5, MEs 2 and 3
- ASC.7.2, Intent: Added new Note cross-referencing Standard COP.2.1 for information about documentation on nonsurgical procedures and treatments
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Medication Management and Use (MMU)

- MMU.1
 - o Intent: Added medication error and adverse reporting to the list of processes that must be addressed in the organization's medication management system
 - o ME 1: Given the change to the intent, expanded the list of items a written document on medication use must address to include medication error and adverse reporting; added concept of overseeing medication use from previous MMU.2.1, ME 1
 - o ME 4: Given the change to the intent, expanded the list of items the hospital must annually review to include medication error and adverse reporting
 - o ME 5: Combined with previous MMU.5.2, ME 1 and revised to include the concept of a uniform medication dispensing and distribution system from MMU.5.2
- MMU.2
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard MMU.2.1 and revised
 - o ME 1: Combined with previous MMU.2.1, ME 5; clarified that the list of medications include both brand name and generic name
 - o ME 2: Combined with previous MMU.2.1, ME 2
 - o ME 3: Clarified that the ME includes medications not stocked or not normally available to the hospital
- MMU.3
 - Intent: Revised to incorporate content from the intent of previous Standard MMU.3.1; provided further details on what types of medications and products require special handling and expectations for safe storage and handling
 - o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous MMU.3.1, ME 2
 - o MEs 4–6: Renumbered previous MEs 3–5
- MMU 3.1
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MMU.3.2
 - o Intent: Revised to provide guidance on safe practices for the use of adult and pediatric emergency carts
 - o ME 1: Clarified that emergency medication must be immediately available in needed units
 - o ME 2: Added requirement to include a replacement process for emergency medications
 - o New ME 3: Added requirement regarding access to emergency medications
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous MMU.3.2, ME 3
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement that the hospital uses a risk-based approach to monitor emergency medication administration
- MMU 3.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MMU.3.3

- o Intent: Provided further information on what a medication recall is, why it might occur, and the need to have a process for receiving notifications
- o ME 1: Clarified that a medication recall process must address receiving and acting on notifications of medication recalls
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement that the hospital has a process for identifying, retrieving, and returning or destroying recalled medications
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement that the recall process addresses medication compounded in the hospital
- o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered previous MMU.3.3, MEs 2 and 3

MMU 4

- New Standard and Intent: Introduced requirement for the hospital to have a process for completing medication reconciliation on the current list of medications taken by the patient at home against all newly prescribed or dispensed medications
- New ME 1: Added requirement for the hospital to collect information required to conduct medication reconciliation
- o MEs 2 and 3: Renumbered previous MMU.4, MEs 4 and 5
- MMU 4.1: Renumbered previous Standard MMU.4.2 and its MEs 1–3
- MMU 4.2
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined and renumbered previous Standards MMU.4 and MMU.4.1
 - o ME 1: Combined and renumbered previous MMU.4, MEs 1 and 3
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement that all medication orders and prescriptions contain the required listed elements
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous MMU.4.1, ME 1
 - o ME 4: Combined and renumbered previous MMU.4, ME 2 and MMU.4.1, MEs 2 and 4
 - o ME 5: Renumbered previous MMU.4.1, ME 3
 - o ME 6: Combined and renumbered previous MMU.4.3, MEs 1 and 3

MMU.5

- o Intent: Revised to provide information on and examples of sterile compounding, infection risks for single-use and multidose vials, safety measures, and maintaining a clean environment where medications are dispensed
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous ME 2
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous ME 1
- o ME 3: Revised requirement for training, competency, and resources for staff preparing or compounding sterile products and medications
- o New ME 4: Added requirement to use guidelines for the use of single-use and multidose vials
- New ME 5: Added requirement that medications stored, prepared, and dispensed outside the pharmacy comply with the same cleanliness measures as the pharmacy

MMU.5.1

- o Intent: Revised and included additional examples addressing appropriateness reviews for medication prescriptions and orders
- o ME 3: Clarified that individuals conducting reviews must be permitted to do so
- o ME 6: Included clinical decision support programs
- MMU.5.2
 - o MEs 1–3: Renumbered previous MEs 2–4
- MMU.6
 - o Standard and Intent: Combined with previous Standard MMU.4.3
 - o ME 2: Renumbered previous ME 3
 - o ME 3: Renumbered MMU.4.3, ME 2

- MMU.6.1
 - o Intent: Added information about engaging and informing the patient about his or her medications
 - o ME 5: Combined previous MEs 5 and 6
- Intent of MMU.6.2 and MMU.6.2.1: Expanded intent to cover the two standards that were created from previous Standard MMU.6.2; included further description of the labeling, storage, and control of the use of medications brought in by the patient or medication samples, bringing concepts from the intent of previous Standard MMU.3.1; and introduced the expectation to conduct appropriate risk assessments
- MMU.6.2
 - o Standard: Split previous Standard MMU.6.2 to focus on medications brought into the hospital by the patient (MMU.6.2) and sample medications (MMU.6.2.1); clarified that self-administered medications can be brought into the hospital by the patient or can be prescribed for self-administration
 - o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous MMU.3.1, ME 4
 - New ME 2: Added requirement for the hospital to perform a risk assessment for patient-supplied medications
 - o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous ME 1
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 2
- MMU.6.2.1
 - Standard: Split previous Standard MMU.6.2 to focus on medications brought into the hospital by the patient (MMU.6.2) and sample medications (MMU.6.2.1)
 - o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous MMU.3.1, ME 3
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for the hospital to perform a risk assessment for medication samples
 - o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous MMU.6.2, ME 3
- MMU.7
 - o ME 1: Combined with previous ME 4
 - o ME 3: Clarified that the process for recording adverse effects in the medical record and reporting them to the hospital must be standardized
 - o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for using a standardized reporting process for adverse medication effects as part of the hospital quality program
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Quality Improvement and Patient Safety (QPS)

- QPS.3
 - o Standard and Intent: Revised to address implementation of evidence-based patient care
 - o **New ME 1:** Added requirement on hospital leadership's role in building a culture and environment that supports implementation of evidence-based care
 - o MEs 2–6: Renumbered previous MEs 1–5
- QPS.4, Intent: Revised to emphasize the use of performance measurement data
- QPS.6, ME 3: Revised language from established methodology to evidence-based methodology
- Intent of QPS.7 and QPS.7.1: Expanded intent to cover the two standards where there was previously one; revised and updated to align with Joint Commission International's Sentinel Event Policy, including categorizing a root cause analysis as a type of comprehensive systematic analysis; incorporated concepts from the intent of previous Standard QPS.9
- QPS.7
 - ME 1: Given the revised intent, increased the required elements hospital leaders must include in a definition of *sentinel event*
 - o New ME 5: Added requirement for monitoring corrective actions

- QPS.7.1
 - New Standard: Introduced requirement for the hospital to identify and manage adverse events
 - o ME 1: Renumbered and expanded previous QPS.9, ME 1 to include adverse events, no-harm events, and near miss events
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for a process to manage adverse, no-harm, and near miss events that includes a blame-free reporting mechanism (a concept from the intent of previous Standard QPS.9)
 - o MEs 3–5: Split, renumbered, and expanded previous QPS.9, ME 4 to focus on analyzing adverse events (ME 3) and near miss and no-harm events (ME 4) to identify corrective actions and then implementing corrective actions on the results of those analyses (ME 5)
 - o **New ME 6:** Added requirement to monitor corrective actions
- QPS.8
 - o Intent: Added adverse events related to patient identification to the list of required data gathering and analysis
 - o ME 3: Given the change to the intent, expanded the list of data the hospital must gather and analyze to include adverse events related to patient identification
- QPS.9: Renumbered previous Standard QPS.10 and its MEs 1–4
- QPS.10
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard QPS.11
 - o Intent: Revised the list of essential components of a risk management program to include the scope, objectives, and criteria for assessing risk
 - o ME 1: Renumbered previous QPS.11, ME 1
 - o ME 2: Renumbered and revised previous QPS.11, ME 2 to focus on potential risks that could have the greatest impact on safety and patient care
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous QPS.11, ME 3
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous QPS.11, ME 4 and revised to clarify that results of risk reduction exercises drive the redesign and implementation of changes to high-risk processes
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement for hospital leadership to implement appropriate communication strategies
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Prevention and Control of Infections (PCI)

- PCI.1
 - o Standard: Added clinical authority to required qualifications for the individual overseeing infection prevention and control activities
 - o Intent: Revised to address qualifications for the program leader and that the program should collaborate with all areas
 - o ME 1: Added accountability to ensure that the program complies with laws and regulations
 - o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for the individual leading the program to coordinate with hospital leadership
 - o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.3, ME 4
 - o ME 6: Renumbered previous PCI.3, ME 5
- PCI.2
 - o Intent: Provided additional information on the expectations for a designated mechanism to coordinate the overall infection surveillance, prevention, and control program
 - o ME 3: Absorbed the concept of previous ME 4
- PCI.3
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.4

- o Intent: Reinforced expectation that leadership supply staffing and infrastructure to support the program
- o MEs 2 and 3: Split previous PCI.4, ME 2 to focus on approval and assignment of staffing for the program (ME 2) and the approval and allocation of resources for the program (ME 3)
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous PCI.4, ME 3
- PCI.4: Renumbered and adapted previous Standard PCI.5 and its MEs 1–4
- Intent of PCI.5 and PCI.5.1: Renumbered and adapted intent of PCI.6 and PCI.6.1; added information about and examples of risk assessment, evidence-based interventions, and ongoing monitoring
- PCI.5
 - o Standard: Renumbered PCI.6 and its MEs 1-3, adding the concept of a data-driven approach
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous PCI.6.1, ME 1
- PCI.5.1
 - o Standard: Renumbered and adapted Standard PCI.6.1
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Split and expanded the concepts from previous PCI.6.1, ME 3 to focus on completing an annual, documented risk assessment (ME 1), implementing interventions based on that assessment (ME 2)
 - o New ME 3: Added requirement to evaluate the effectiveness of those interventions mentioned
 - o New ME 4: Added requirement for ongoing data monitoring

PCI.6

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.7 (moved the concept of managing expired supplies to new PCI.7.1)
- o Intent: Revised to recommend that the hospital use the Earle H. Spaulding classification system to determine the appropriate level of sterilization/disinfection for each medical device; added information on the expectations of hospital leaders
- o MEs 1–5: Renumbered PCI.7, MEs 1–5

PCI.6.1

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.7.1; moved the concept of managing expired supplies from previous Standard PCI.7
- o Intent: Added examples for the reuse of single-use devices and its associated risks and the management of expired supplies
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous PCI.7.1, ME 1 and clarified that reuse of single-use devices and materials must comply with laws and regulations
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous PCI.7.1, ME 2 and clarified that the process for managing when to retire those items must be standardized
- o MEs 3–6: Renumbered PCI.7.1, MEs 3–6

PCI.7

- New Standard and Intent: Moved the concept for identifying and implementing professional guidelines to address environment cleaning from previous standard PCI.3 into a stand-alone standard.
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.3, ME 2
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for the hospital to identify high-risk areas for infection and use appropriate cleaning processes
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous PCI.8, ME 5
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for the hospital to monitor and improve environmental cleaning processes

• PCI.7.1

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Moved the concept for using professional guidelines to assess and manage the cleaning and disinfection of laundry, linens, and scrubs provided by the hospital from PCI.3 into a stand-alone standard.
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.3, ME 3

- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to use standard precautions when handling laundry, linens, and hospital-issued scrubs
- New ME 3: Added requirement to handle those items in a manner that prevents cross contamination
- o New ME 4: Added requirement for staff to wear hospital-issued scrubs where required

PCI.8

- o Standard and Intent: Combined and renumbered previous Standards PCI.7.2 and PCI.7.3
- o Intent: Revised to provide examples of and guidance on safe handling of sharps and management of human tissues and body parts
- o ME 1: Combined, adapted, and renumbered previous PC.7.2, MEs 1 and 2
- o MEs 2–4: Renumbered previous PCI.7.3, MEs 1–3
- o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.7.2, ME 3
- o **New ME 6:** Added requirement for staff to be trained in preventing cross contamination, maintaining any needed chain of custody, and safe handling procedures

PCI.8.1

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement to protect patients and staff from bloodborne pathogen exposure
- o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to identify areas of risk for exposure to blood and body fluids and reduce the risk
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to have a process for reporting exposure to blood and body fluids
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to have a process for responding to blood and body fluid exposure
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to educate staff on the process
- o New ME 5: Added requirement to track and monitor exposure incidents
- New ME 6: Added requirement to use exposure data to prevent future exposures

PCI.9

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.7.4
- o Intent: Revised to provide examples of best practices in managing food services to prevent the spread of food-borne illness
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.7.4, ME 1 and reinforced applicability to food and nutrition products stored outside of the kitchen and food preparation areas
- o ME 2: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.7.4, ME 3
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous PCI.7.4, ME 2
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement for the hospital to use a process to maintain proper food temperature
- o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous MMU.3.1, ME 1

PCI.10

- o Standard: Renumbered and revised previous Standard PCI.7.5, moving content on demolition, construction, and renovation to new Standard PCI.7.11
- o Intent: Revised to focus on mechanical and engineering controls used to proactively prevent infection
- New ME 1: Added requirement for the hospital to operate and maintain negative and positive pressure ventilation systems in accordance with laws, regulations, and professional standards
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for the hospital to maintain temperature controls in accordance with laws, regulations, and professional standards
- o ME 3: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.7.5, ME 1

PCI.11

- o Standard and Intent: Moved requirement for the hospital to use a process to minimize infection risk during demolition, construction, and renovation from previous PCI.7.5
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous PCI.7.5, ME 2

- o MEs 2 and 3: Split previous PCI.7.5, ME 3 to focus on assessing the risk and impact from demolition/renovation on air quality and infection control (ME 2) and on managing that risk and impact (ME 3)
- Intent of PCI.12 and PCI.12.1: Added examples of transmission-based precautions and temporary negative-pressure isolation options
- PCI.12: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.8 and adapted its MEs 1–4
- PCI.12.1: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.8.1 and its MEs 1–3
- PCI.12.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.8.2 and its MEs 1–5
 - Intent: Added the response to emerging or reemerging infections within the community to the list of potential emergencies to address in the emergency preparedness program
 - o ME 1: Given the change to the intent, added emerging community infections to the list of emergencies to address in the emergency preparedness program
 - o ME 3: Revised requirement to involve regional, local, and national authorities in the annual emergency evaluation
- PCI.13
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.9 and its MEs 1-4
 - Intent: Included expectation to educate patients and visitors as needed on proper handdisinfecting procedures and personal protective equipment
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement to educate patients and visitors on hand-disinfection practices and how to correctly use personal protective equipment
- PCI.14
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard PCI.10 and its MEs 1-4
 - o Intent: Added examples of monitoring data
 - o New ME 4: Added requirement to include benchmarking infection rates in monitoring data
 - o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous PCI.10, ME 4
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Governance, Leadership, and Direction (GLD)

- GLD.1
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2 and 3: Renumbered previous MEs 3 and 4
- GLD.1.1
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 2–4: Renumbered previous MEs 3–5
- GLD.3.1
 - o ME 3: Clarified what data are reported to key stakeholders and listed minimum example of key stakeholders
- GLD.5, Intent: Added examples of leaders providing direction for measurement and improvement
 activities
- GLD.6
 - o Standard: Reinforced the need for periodic inspections of compliance with contracted services
 - o ME 3: Renumbered previous ME 4
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous ME 3 and clarified the requirement to inspect compliance with contracted services as needed
- GLD.6.2
 - o Standard and Intent: Revised to address the credentialing, competency, and privileging of *all* contracted health care professionals
 - o **New ME 6:** Added requirement to ensure a comparable credentials review of contracted licensed health care professionals

- GLD.7
 - o **New ME 5:** Added requirement to provide leadership in the emergency and disaster management programs
 - o ME 6: Renumbered previous ME 5
- GLD.8, ME 5: Renumbered previous ME 6
- GLD.11.1, MEs 1–3: Expanded to include the assessment of participation in quality activities as well as measurement activities in ongoing professional practice evaluations and performance evaluations of physicians, nurses, and other professional staff
- GLD.12.2
 - o Intent: Added an example of a conflict of interest
 - o ME 2: Renumbered previous GLD.8, ME 5
 - o MEs 3 and 4: Renumbered previous MEs 2 and 3
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Facility Management and Safety (FMS)

- Overview: Added expectation to include a comprehensive facility-wide risk assessment in the
 facility management and safety program when needed; revised the list of required written facility
 management and safety programs, separating safety from security and adding construction and
 renovation
- FMS.1
 - o Intent: Revised to address safety of hospitals located inside larger, multiuse buildings
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1 and 2
 - o ME 2: Renumbered and adapted previous ME 3, adding requirement for documenting corrective actions taken to meet the conditions of facility reports or citations from external inspections
 - o ME 3: Combined and renumbered previous FMS.4.2, MEs 1 and 2
 - o ME 4: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.4.2, ME 3, adding language to clarify that alternative strategies to reduce risks are implemented until resources can be allocated
 - New ME 5: Added requirement to address expectations for hospitals located inside multiuse buildings
- FMS.2
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.3
 - o Intent: Revised to address leadership's responsibility on assigning a qualified individual to oversee the facility management and safety structure
 - o ME 1: Combined previous FMS.3, MEs 1 and 2
 - o ME 2: Renumbered previous FMS.3, ME 3
 - o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for the individual who oversees the facility management and safety structure to be responsible for coordinating and managing facility risk assessment and risk reduction activities
 - o ME 4: Renumbered previous FMS.2, ME 4
- FMS.3
 - o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement on development of an annual comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessment
 - o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to integrate the risk assessments to all eight facility management and safety programs when developing risk assessment
 - o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to prioritize identified risks and implement improvements to reduce risk
 - o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to evaluate the effectiveness of improvements that are applicable to facility management and safety programs

FMS.4

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.10
- o Intent: Revised to discuss components of an annual report
- o ME 1: Combined previous FMS.10, MEs 1 and 2
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to integrate data from the facility management and safety programs into the quality and patient safety program
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous FMS.10, ME 3 and clarified expectations related to quarterly reporting monitoring data and progress on goals to hospital leadership
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to annually provide comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessment and improvements to hospital leadership
- o ME 5: Moved previous FMS.3, intent letter f) and added language to clarify requirement for hospital leadership to provide an annual report to the governing entity on the effectiveness of the facility management and safety programs

FMS.5

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.4 and its MEs 1–3
- Intent: Split and adapted the previously combined intent into one for safety (FMS.5) and one for security (FMS.6)
- o ME.1: Clarified that the program to provide a safe physical facility must be written and implemented
- o ME 3: Clarified requirements for the safety risk assessment
- New ME 4: Added requirement for monitoring to ensure that safety risks are reduced or

FMS.6

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.4.1
- o Intent: Split and adapted previously combined intent into one for safety (FMS.5) and one for security (FMS.6)
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous FMS.4.1, ME 1 and clarified that the program to provide a secure environment must be written and implemented
- o New ME 2: Added requirement for an annual security risk assessment
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous FMS.4.1, ME 3
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous FMS.4.1, ME 2 and added categories of who should be identified for the security program
- o **New ME 5:** Added requirement for monitoring to ensure that security risks are reduced or eliminated
- Intent of FMS.7 Through FMS.7.2: Combined, renumbered, and expanded intent from previous Standards FMS.5 and FMS.5.1 to identify requirements for the overall management of hazardous materials and waste.

FMS.7

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement to develop a program for the overall management of hazardous materials and waste
- New ME 1: Added requirement for the hospital to develop and implement a written program for managing hazardous materials and waste
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for the hospital to conduct an annual hazardous materials and waste risk assessment
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for the hospital to monitor and ensure that hazardous materials and waste risks are reduced or eliminated

• FMS.7.1

- o Standard: Renumbered and split previous Standard FMS.5 into one for hazardous materials (FMS.7.1) and one for hazardous waste (FMS.7.2)
- o ME 1: Renumbered and split previous FMS.5, ME 1, focusing on hazardous materials in FMS.7.1, and added language to require an annual update to the inventory

- o MEs 2–4: Renumbered and split previous FMS.5, MEs 2–4, focusing on hazardous materials in FMS.7.1, and added language to ME 4 referencing safety data sheets (SDS)
- o ME 5: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous FMS.5.1, MEs 1 and 2
- o ME 6: Renumbered and expanded previous FMS.5.1, ME 3

• FMS.7.2

- o Standard: Renumbered and split previous Standard FMS.5 into one for hazardous materials (FMS.7.1) and one for hazardous waste (FMS.7.2)
- o ME 1: Renumbered and split previous FMS.5, ME 1 to focus on identifying the types of hazardous waste
- o ME 2: Renumbered and split previous FMS.5, ME 2 to focus on establishing procedures for the handling and storage of hazardous waste
- o ME 3: Renumbered, split, and adapted previous FMS.5, ME 1 to focus on documenting quantities of hazardous waste, with the added disclaimer when laws and regulations require it

FMS.8

- o Standard: Renumbered and adapted previous Standard FMS.7 to include ongoing assessment of risk and compliance with laws and regulations
- o Intent: Revised the list of items to include in fire safety risk assessment and expanded discussion to include information about and examples of risk assessment and response, interim measures, and reference to a new Appendix to the FMS chapter with additional interim measures
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted former FMS.7, ME 1
- o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and adapted former FMS.7, MEs 2 and 3
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to implement interim measures when fire safety risks cannot be immediately addressed
- New ME 4: Added requirement for monitoring to ensure that fire safety risks are reduced or eliminated

• FMS.8.1

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Moved the concepts of early detection, suppression, and containment from previous Standard FMS.7 into a stand-alone standard
- o MEs 1 and 2: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.7, MEs 4 and 5
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for the fire safety program for features for containment of fire and smoke when required by local laws and regulations

• FMS.8.2

- New Standard and Intent: Moved the concept of a safe exit from the facility from previous Standard FMS.7 into a stand-alone standard
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.7, ME 6
- o New ME 2: Added requirement for clearly visible exit signage
- o New ME 3: Added requirement for lighting of emergency exit corridors and stairs

FMS.8.3

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Moved the concept of fire safety equipment inspection, testing, and maintenance from previous Standards FMS.7 and FMS.7.1 into a stand-alone standard and noted the application of new Appendix on interim measures.
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.7.1, ME 3, adding language to follow the stricter of either manufacturers' recommendations or as required by local codes, laws, and regulations
- o ME 2: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.7.1, ME 4, adding results of inspection, testing, and maintenance and corrective action taken based on those results
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement on correction of deficiencies identified in fire safety equipment and system inspections with interim measures until fully corrected

FMS.8.4

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.7.1
- o Intent: Revised to discuss ways of evaluating fire safety program
- o ME 1: Renumbered FMS.7.1, ME 1 to focus on participation of all staff from all shifts in an annual exercise to evaluate the fire safety program

- o ME 2: Renumbered FMS.7.1, ME 2 to include staff's knowledge on the hospital's fire safety program
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to document the results of fire safety program exercises and reeducate staff who did not pass the exercise

FMS.8.5

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.7.2 and its MEs 1–3
- o Intent: Added a description of what smoking includes
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement prohibiting smoking in any area under construction or renovation
- Intent of FMS.9 and FMS.9.1: Renumbered and expanded intent from previous Standard FMS.8 to include new Standard FMS.9.1 to focus on management of medical equipment throughout the organization, including an annual risk assessment

FMS.9

- o Standard: Renumbered and adapted a portion of previous Standard FMS.8
- ME 1: Renumbered previous FMS.8, ME 1 and clarified that the program for management of medical equipment must be written
- o New ME 2: Added requirement to document an annual medical equipment risk assessment
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for monitoring to ensure that medical equipment risks are reduced or eliminated

• FMS.9.1

- New Standard: Moved the concept of documented medical equipment inspection, testing, and preventive maintenance from previous Standard FMS.8 into a stand-alone standard
- New ME 1: Added requirement for the medical equipment program to address both hospital-owned and nonhospital-owned medical equipment that is in the hospital
- o MEs 2-4: Renumbered previous FMS 8, MEs 2-4

• FMS.9.2

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.8.1 and its MEs 1–3
- o Intent: Added the expectation that the hospital conduct a root cause analysis in response to any sentinel events
- o ME 2: Clarified that reporting occurs through the hospital's incident and adverse event reporting process

• FMS.10

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.9; expanded definition of *critical utilities* to include medical gases
- o **New ME 1:** Added requirement to develop and implement a written utility system management program
- o New ME 2: Added requirement for annual utility system risk assessment
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement for monitoring to ensure that utility system risks are reduced or eliminated (incorporating concepts from previous FMS.9.1, MEs 1–4)

• FMS.10.1

- o Standard and Intent: Renumbered and adapted previous Standard FMS.9
- o ME 1: Renumbered previous FMS.9, ME 1
- o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous FMS.9, MEs 2 and 3
- o ME 3: Adapted from previous FMS.9.1, ME 4
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous FMS.9, ME 4

• FMS.10.2

- o Standard and Intent: Combined, renumbered, and expanded previous Standards FMS.9.2 and FMS.9.2.1
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.9.2, ME 3
- o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and expanded previous FMS.9.2, MEs 1 and 2 to include medical gas

- o ME 3: Renumbered and expanded FMS.9.2, ME 4 to include assessing for and reducing the risks of interruption, contamination, and failure of those essential utilities listed in ME 2
- o ME 4: Combined, renumbered and revised previous FMS.9.2.1, MEs 1 and 2 for the hospital to at least annually test the availability and quality of the alternative source(s) of water and document the results
- o ME 5: Renumbered previous FMS.9.2.1, ME 3 and added requirement to document the test results
- o ME 6: Renumbered previous FMS.9.2.1, ME 5
- Intent of FMS.10.3 and FMS.10.3.1: Revised intent of previous Standard FMS.9.3 and combined with additional information for new Standard FMS.10.3.1 on water quality in dental services and hemodialysis and acting to address problems with water quality
- FMS.10.3
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.9.3
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Renumbered previous FMS.9.3, MEs 1 and 2
 - o MEs 3 and 4: Renumbered previous FMS.10.3, MEs 4 and 5
 - o New ME 5: Added requirement on testing and treatment of dental unit waterlines

• FMS.10.3.1

- New Standard and Intent: Moved the concept to comply with professional standards for testing water used for hemodialysis for contaminants from FMS.9.3 into stand-alone standard.
- New ME 1: Added requirement for hospital hemodialysis services to follow industry standards and professional guidelines to maintain water quality and implement control measures
- o ME 2: Renumbered and adapted previous FMS.9.3, ME 3
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to perform routine disinfection of the hemodialysis water distribution system
- New ME 4: Added requirement to test all hemodialysis machines annually and document the results
- o New ME 5: Added requirement to establish and implement a process for reprocessing dialyzers

FMS.11

- o Standard: Renumbered and adapted previous Standard FMS.6 to reinforce that the hospital must be prepared to respond to both internal and external emergencies
- o Intent: Revised to address what an evaluation of structural elements of hospital buildings would include and planning for a response when staff may not be able to come to the hospital in an emergency; revised the list of items for which the hospital must have a process in its emergency and disaster management program, including adding planning for alternative power and water sources (which is also part of revised Standard FMS.10.2)
- o ME 1: Renumbered and expanded previous FMS.6, ME 3 to include the revised list of critical elements in the intent
- o MEs 2 and 3: Renumbered previous FMS.6, MEs 1 and 2
- o ME: 4: Renumbered and revised previous FMS.6, ME 4 to include the revised list of critical elements in the intent in a written emergency and disaster management program
- o MEs 5 and 6: Renumbered previous FMS.6, MEs 5 and 6

FMS.12

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard FMS.4.2.1 and its MEs 1–3 and expanded to include maintenance activities that affect patient care
- o Intent: Included examples of risks to individuals in the hospital; revised the list of critical elements to include in a preconstruction risk assessment, adding hazardous waste, fire safety, security, and emergency procedures

• FMS.13

o Standard and Intent: Renumbered and combined previous Standards FMS.11–FMS.11.2

- o ME 1: Renumbered previous FMS.11, ME 1 and clarified that testing results must be documented
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous FMS.11, ME 2 and expanded requirement for who needs to be trained
- o MEs 3–6: Renumbered previous FMS.11.1, MEs 1–4, restricting revised ME 5 as applicable to the staff member's role and responsibilities

New Appendix

- o Provided examples of interim measures, which are actions taken to ensure the safety of the building's occupants during times when features and systems for fire safety are defective, compromised, or inoperable due to construction, maintenance, or a breakdown or repair
- o These measures are not required, but provide examples related to the requirements of Standards FMS.8 and FMS.8.3
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Staff Qualifications and Education (SQE)

- Overview: Reinforced that credentialing licensed health care practitioners represents the first and most important opportunity for the hospital to protect patients
- SQE.3, Intent: Added expectation that the evaluation process for hiring qualified clinical staff
 members includes an assessment of the staff member's ability to operate medical equipment and
 clinical alarms and oversee medication management unique to the specific area
- SQE.7
 - o ME 3: Split and clarified requirement on the orientation of staff who accompany independent practitioners and provide care and services
 - o ME 4: Combined with previous ME 3 to include volunteers in the hospital orientation program
- Intent of SQE.8.1 and SQE.8.1.1: Expanded intent of previous Standard SQE.8.1 to cover new Standard SQE.8.1.1, providing additional staff examples
- SQE.8.1
 - o Standard: Split Standard SQE.8.1 that requires that staff competence with resuscitative techniques meets the level of training identified to focus on staff members who provide patient care (SQE.8.1) and other staff identified by the hospital (SQE.8.1.1)
 - o ME 1: Split previous ME 1 to distinguish basic life support training needs for all staff providing clinical care, including physicians, (SQE.8.1) and other staff who do not provide patient care (new SQE.8.1.1)
 - o ME 2: Clarified that level of life support training (basic or advanced) must be appropriate to roles of staff providing clinical care
 - o MEs 3 and 4: Retained requirements for staff who provide clinical care in SQE.8.1 and duplicated them for staff who do not provide patient care in SQE.8.1.1 as MEs 2 and 3
- SQE.8.1.1
 - Standard: Split Standard SQE.8.1 that requires that staff competence with resuscitative techniques meets the level of training identified to focus on staff members who provide patient care (SQE.8.1) and other staff identified by the hospital (new SQE.8.1.1)
 - o ME 1: Split previous SQE.8.1, ME 1 to distinguish basic life support training needs for all staff providing clinical care (SQE.8.1) and other staff who do not provide patient care (SQE.8.1.1)
 - o ME 2: Duplicated previously applicable SQE.8.1, ME 3 to require evidence that nonclinical staff have passed basic life support training
 - o ME 3: Duplicated previously applicable SQE.8.1, ME 4 to require the identified staff be retrained on basic life support based on the required time frames established by the recognized training program
- SQE.8.2
 - o Intent: Removed periodical preventive immunizations and examinations from the list of critical elements a staff health and safety program must address; added content on compassion fatigue

- and staff burnout of health care practitioners; extracted content applicable to previous Standard SQE.8.2.1 and revised and expanded it as the intent of new Standard SQE.8.3
- o ME 2: Given the change to the intent, revised the list of critical elements the hospital must address in a staff health and safety program
- o **New ME 6:** Added requirement that the hospital creates a culture of wellness to support physical and mental well-being
- SQE.8.3
 - o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard SQE.8.2.1
 - o Intent: Moved and expanded intent of previous Standard SQE.8.2.1
 - o MEs 1 and 2: Split previous SQE.8.2.1, ME 1 to focus on identifying infection risks (ME 1) and a staff vaccination and immunization program (ME 2)
 - o MEs 3 and 4: Renumbered previous SQE.8.2.1, MEs 2 and 3
- SQE.11
 - o Intent: Changed the term *ongoing monitoring and evaluation* to *ongoing professional practice evaluation* (here and throughout the manual) and revised the definition to align with current professional practice
 - o ME 2: Combined with previous ME 3
 - o MEs 3 and 4: Renumbered previous MEs 4 and 5
- SQE.13, Intent: Clarified that primary source verification is carried out for all nurses; described a time-limited exception for a JCI initial accreditation survey that refers only to the verification of credentials
- SQE.15, Intent: Clarified that primary source verification is carried out for all other health care practitioners; described a time-limited exception (reduced from 3 years to 12 months) for a JCI initial accreditation survey that refers only to the verification of credentials
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Management of Information (MOI)

- Overview: Emphasized the importance of protecting patient information
- MOI.1
 - o Standard and Intent: Specified groups with information needs from the information management process, including those who provide clinical services, the hospital's leaders, and those outside the hospital who require data and information from the organization
 - o MEs 1–3: Clarified that the hospital must plan and implement processes to meet, not simply consider, information needs
 - o ME 4: Expanded to include availability of trained staff, technical resources, and other resources
- Intent of MOI.2 and MOI.2.1: Expanded to address measures to secure and protect data and
 information, including paper and electronic medical records, security of electronic information
 systems, the process for granting and monitoring access, and best practices for security measures and
 strategies
- MOI.2
 - o Standard: Revised to require processes to manage and control access to data and information
 - o ME 1: Combined previous MEs 1–3
 - o ME 2: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous ME 4 and MOI.11, MEs 1 and 4
 - New ME 3: Added requirement for a process to grant authorized individuals access privileges to data and information in accordance with their level of access
 - o ME 4: Renumbered and adapted previous MOI.11, ME 5 to allow access to data and information only in accordance with each individual's level of access
 - o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous MOI.11, ME 2 to allow only authorized individuals to make entries in the patient medical record in accordance with their level of access
 - o ME 6: Renumbered previous ME 5

MOI.2.1

- o Standard: Combined, renumbered, and adapted previous Standards MOI.2 and MOI.6
- New ME 1: Added requirement to conduct and document an annual risk assessment to identify and prioritize data security risks
- o ME 2: Combined and renumbered previous MOI.6, MEs 1 and 2
- New ME 3: Added requirement to implement data security best practices to protect and secure data and information
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to identify, implement, and monitor goals and improvements to reduce or eliminate data security risks

MOI.3

- o Intent: Clarified that "other information" includes text messages and e-mails that contain information for medical records
- ME 1: Clarified that retention times must comply with laws and regulations

MOI.4

o Intent: Added information on patient and staff understanding of abbreviations and clarified that principles apply to medical records and any electronic communications, such as e-mail and texting, that are used for communicating about patient care

MOI.5

- o Intent: Expanded to address timely dissemination of data to both internal and external personnel
- o ME 1: Expanded to identify groups with data and information needs
- o ME 2: Clarified that data and information are received in a manner that supports continuity of care
- o ME 3: Clarified that users may be within and outside the hospital
- o ME 4: Emphasized that staff have access to data and information needed to provide care safely and effectively

MOI.6

- o Standard: Renumbered and expanded previous Standard MOI.7
- Intent: Expanded description of benefits on education and training and provided information about and examples of ongoing training
- o ME 1: Combined and expanded previous MOI.7, MEs 1 and 2 to include clinical staff and address training on information systems and information security
- New ME 2: Added requirement for the hospital to educate, train, and assess staff who use an electronic medical record system to ensure that they can effectively and efficiently use the system to carry out their responsibilities

• MOI.7

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.8
- o Intent: Added an additional key component to identify and track documents in circulation to be included in the guidance document addressing policies and procedures (from previous MOI.8, ME 3, to letter h)
- o ME 1: Given the change to the intent, expanded the key components a written guidance document must address
- o ME 3: Renumbered previous MOI.8, ME 4
- MOI.7.1: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.8.1 and its MEs 1–4
- Intent of MOI.8 and MOI.8.1: Renumbered from intent of previous Standards MOI.9 and MOI.9.1 and revised to address use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and other functions in documentation

MOI.8

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.9
- o ME 1: Combined and expanded previous MOI.9, MEs 1 and 2, and now requires *two* unique identifiers for patient medical records
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous MOI.9, ME 3

- o ME 3: Combined, renumbered, and expanded previous MOI.11.1.1, MEs 1 and 2
- o MEs 4 and 5: Renumbered and expanded previous MOI.11.1.1, MEs 3 and 4

MOI.8.1

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.9.1
- o ME 2: Renumbered previous MOI.9.1, ME 2 and clarified that medical records contain adequate information to promote continuity of care
- o ME 3: Combined previous MOI.9.1, MEs 3 and 4

MOI.9

- o Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.11.1 and its MEs 1–3
- o Intent: Extracted applicable information from intent of previous Standards MOI.11 and MOI.11.1 and added information about the use of documentation assistants or scribes
- o ME 4: Renumbered previous MOI.11, ME 3
- o **New ME 5:** Added requirement to address the use of scribes who assist with documentation in the patient medical record
- MOI.10: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.12 and removed reference to medical record completeness (as it's addressed in the MEs)

MOI.11

- o **New Standard and Intent:** Introduced requirement for hospital leadership to identify a qualified individual to oversee health information technology systems
- o Intent: Built off intent of previous Standard MOI.13 and expanded to discuss the importance of health information technology systems and the individual overseeing health information technology, including identifying that individual's key responsibilities
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous GLD.7, ME 4
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement for qualified individual to oversee the hospital's health information technology systems
- o ME 3: Combined, renumbered, and expanded previous MOI.13, MEs 1 and 2
- o ME 4: Renumbered and expanded previous MOI.13, ME 3, adding requirement for monitoring health information technology systems and implementing improvements based on evaluation results

MOI.12

- New Standard and Intent: Introduced requirement to maintain security and confidentiality of patient information when the hospital allows mobile devices for texting, e-mailing, and/or other communications (pulling in some concepts from previous Standard COP.2.2)
- o ME 1: Renumbered and adapted previous COP.2.2, ME 5
- o **New ME 2:** Added requirement to implement information security guidelines and processes when mobile devices are used to communicate patient data and information
- o **New ME 3:** Added requirement to document any data and information provided via text messages or e-mails on mobile devices in the medical record
- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to obtain patient consent to participate in an electronic patient portal and/or receive text messages or e-mails
- o ME 5: Renumbered and adapted previous COP.2.2, ME 6 to expand potential communication platforms to require the hospital to address questions in a timely way

MOI.13

- Standard: Renumbered previous Standard MOI.14
- o Intent: Revised to provide information about and examples of communication prior to planned downtime or during unplanned downtime and strategies to recover
- o MEs 1 and 2: Renumbered previous MOI.14, MEs 1 and 2
- o ME 3: Renumbered and expanded previous MOI.14, ME 3 to reinforce that services provided by outside vendors must be included in the downtime response program

- o **New ME 4:** Added requirement to identify internal and external communication strategies for planned and unplanned downtime
- o ME 5: Renumbered and expanded previous MOI.14, ME 4 to address maintaining confidentiality and security of patient information
- o ME 6: Renumbered previous MOI.14, ME 5
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Medical Professional Education (MPE)

Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Human Subjects Research Programs (HRP)

• Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Summary of Key Accreditation Policies

- Created an outline at the start of the chapter that provides a way to easily navigate the chapter and find information quickly
- Revised "The Application Process" section to clarify the E-App process and submission time line
- Removed validation survey from the "Full Surveys" section as they are not commonly conducted
- Clarified information in the "Cancellation of a Survey" section on possible rescheduling fees
- Provided information in the "Postponement of a Survey" section on possible rescheduling fees
- Updated information in the "Payment Schedule of Survey Fees" section
- Aligned information in the "Accreditation Decisions" and "Appeal of Decisions to Deny or Withdraw Accreditation" sections with current JCI policy
- Made minor editorial revisions throughout the chapter

Glossary

• Aligned glossaries across all JCI accreditation and certification programs resulting in the addition, substantive revision, and deletion of terms

Introduction

This introduction presents Joint Commission International (JCI) and explains how the *Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals*, 7th Edition is organized. Like each of the six previous editions, we have sought to reflect the most current thinking in patient safety practices and concepts to help accredited and nonaccredited organizations uncover their most pressing safety risks and advance their goals for continuous quality improvement. We hope to support your work of making health care as safe as possible.

Read this chapter first to understand the structure and the content of this manual. This introduction provides information on the following topics:

- The value of JCI accreditation
- The standards development process
- How the manual is organized
- Applying the standards in your organization
- How to use the standards manual
- General eligibility requirements

After you have a better understanding of how to use this manual, read the "General Eligibility Requirements" section of this introduction to check whether your organization is eligible for JCI accreditation. Then become familiar with the JCI standards chapters and how the standards make health care safer.

If you have questions about the standards or the accreditation process, please contact JCI at <u>JCIAccreditation@icrinc.com</u>.

The Value of JCI Accreditation

JCI is the world's largest health care accreditor. JCI's Gold Seal of Approval® is a widely recognized benchmark representing the most comprehensive evaluation process in the health care industry.

JCI standards are designed to do the following:

- Ensure a safe environment that reduces risk for care recipients and caregivers
- Offer quantifiable benchmarks for quality and patient safety
- Stimulate and demonstrate continuous, sustained improvement through a reliable process
- Improve outcomes and patient experience
- Enhance efficiency
- Reduce costs through standardized care

Given those goals, JCI accreditation benefits your organization in the following ways:

- Guides the management of a health care organization: JCI designed the standards to help leaders efficiently and effectively manage the organization and how patient care services are delivered to ensure care quality and patient safety.
- Enhances staff education: The accreditation process is designed to be educational. JCI surveyors share best-practice approaches and strategies that may help your hospital better meet the intent of the standards and, more important, improve performance of day-to-day operations.

- Helps organize and strengthen your improvement efforts: Accreditation encompasses performance
 improvement concepts that help you continuously improve quality and standardize your processes of
 care, treatment, and services.
- Gives you a competitive advantage: Achieving accreditation is a visible demonstration to patients and
 the community that your hospital is committed to providing the highest-quality, safest care and
 services. It also sets you apart from other hospitals offering the same types of care, treatment, and
 services.

Standards Development Process

The JCI standards development process represents a collaboration between JCI, accredited organizations, and international experts in patient quality and safety. This 7th edition considers developments in the science of quality improvement and patient safety as well as the experiences of the organizations that used the 6th edition hospital standards to improve the safety and quality of care in their organizations.

The JCI standards development team took the following actions in revising the standards for this edition:

- Conducted focus groups with leaders from JCI-accredited organizations and other health care experts representing a broad range of perspectives from around the world
- Reviewed the literature for current evidence-based practice and processes, and authoritative sources for industry guidelines to support new and revised standards
- Gathered input from experts and others with specific and relevant content knowledge, including JCI surveyors and consultants
- Received guidance on the development and revision of the standards from the Standards Advisory
 Panel, an international panel composed of experts with extensive experience in various health care
 fields
- Obtained direction from content-specific subject matter experts representing international organizations pertinent to the content area
- Sent an online field review of the revised standards to all accredited hospitals and promoted
 participation in the field review through social media and the JCI website

Overall, the standards revisions were influenced and guided by the following sources:

- Suggestions identified in the focus groups, advisory panels and subject matter experts, and field review to address patient safety and quality-of-care issues not covered in the previous edition
- Requests to clarify requirements and expectations for specific standards
- Evolving health care practices, evidence-based guidelines, and the changing health care environment

Frequency of Standards Updates

JCI gathers information and experience related to the standards on an ongoing basis. If a standard no longer reflects contemporary health care practice, commonly available technology, quality management practices, and so forth, JCI will revise or delete it. It is current practice that the standards are revised and published approximately every three or four years. JCI informs accredited organizations of changes made to standards between publication of the standards. New and revised standards are published at least six months in advance of the effective date to provide time for organizations to come into full compliance with the revised standards by the time they are effective.

Effective Date of Standards

The *Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals*, 7th Edition is effective 1 January 2021:

1. For currently accredited hospitals, this is the date by which you now must be in full compliance with all new and revised standards in the 7th edition.

For hospitals seeking accreditation for the first time, this is the date after which all surveys and
accreditation decisions will be based on the standards of the 7th edition. If you apply for survey and
are surveyed before 1 January 2021, the on-site survey will assess compliance with the standards of
the 6th edition.

How This Manual Is Organized

This manual includes all the hospital and academic medical center hospital Accreditation Participation Requirements (APRs), standards, intents, and measurable elements (MEs). The standards are organized around the important functions common to all health care organizations—an approach widely used around the world, which has been validated by scientific study, testing, and application.

This manual contains four major sections:

- 1. Accreditation Participation Requirements (Section I) that outline specific requirements for participating in accreditation and maintaining an accreditation award
- 2. Standards related to providing patient care (Section II)
- 3. Standards related to providing a safe, effective, and well-managed organization (Section III)
- 4. For academic medical center hospitals only, standards related to medical professional education and human subjects research programs (Section IV)

The standards apply to the entire organization as well as to each department, unit, or service within the organization.

In addition to the accreditation requirements, this manual includes this "Introduction," a chapter describing the key accreditation policies, a glossary, and an index. A "Summary of Changes to the Manual" is also included in the front of the manual.

The companion *Joint Commission International Survey Process Guide for Hospitals*, 7th Edition helps hospitals and academic medical centers learn about and prepare for the JCI on-site accreditation survey. During the on-site survey, surveyors gather standards compliance information throughout the entire organization. The accreditation decision is based on the organization's overall level of compliance with the standards in this manual.

Elements of a Standards Chapter

Each standards chapter in Sections II, III, and IV contains the following elements:

- Overview: The overview is located at the beginning of each chapter. The overview explains the chapter's purpose and the principles on which the standards were built.
- *Standards list:* This part shows how the chapter is laid out and provides a frame of reference for the numbering of standards.
- Standards: Standards (also known as requirements) are statements that define the performance expectations and/or structures or functions that must be in place for an organization to be accredited by JCI and to provide safe, high-quality care, treatment, and services. Standards are evaluated for compliance during the on-site survey.
- *Icons:* Some standards are followed by a P icon. Such standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. All written policies, procedures, and programs will be scored together at MOI.7 and MOI.7.1.
- Intent: An intent helps explain the full meaning of a standard by providing additional background, justification, or other information. The intent describes the purpose or reason for the standard and how it fits into the overall program, setting parameters for what is required by the standard. The intent is considered advisory, and it is not scored. However, numbered or lettered lists in the intent statement do include required elements that must be in place to meet the standard and are addressed in the MEs of the standard (see below).

- Measurable elements (MEs): MEs are statements that detail the specific performance expectations, structures, functions, or processes that must be in place for an organization to meet the standard and provide high-quality care, treatment, and services. MEs are reviewed during the on-site survey and assigned a score that determines an organization's overall compliance with a standard. Organizations can use MEs to bring clarity to standards, help the organization fully understand the requirements, guide the organization in accreditation preparation, and educate executive leaders, department/service leaders, health care practitioners, and staff about the standards.
- *Examples:* Examples are included in many standards' intents to better illustrate expectations for compliance. To make the examples more apparent to the user, the term **for example** or **example(s)** is printed in bold text. Examples are considered advisory and are not required or scored.
- *Notes:* Occasionally, notes are used to provide organizations and surveyors with additional or clarifying information. A Note may provide applicability information, define a term, or explain a concept. (All key terms are defined in the "Glossary" in the back of this manual.)
- *Cross-references:* Placed in parentheses following a statement or paragraph within an intent, a cross-reference helps identify a related standard(s), whether it is located in the same chapter or a different chapter. These cross-references should help the user to quickly find related content concerning the topic of a particular standard.
- References: Located at the end of each standards chapter, the references list is used to provide organizations and surveyors with additional or clarifying information about the content addressed by a specific standards chapter. This feature provides support for standards by citing important evidence that provides assistance with compliance. References of various types—from clinical research to practical guidelines—may also be cited in the text of a standard's intent.

JCI Standards in the Public Domain

To help individual health care organizations and public agencies seeking to improve the quality of patient care, JCI hospital standards (but not the intent statements and MEs) are in the international public domain for viewing. A listing of JCI hospital standards can be downloaded at no cost from the JCI website at https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org. Organizations with questions about translating or using the JCI standards must request written permission by contacting permissions@jcrinc.com.

Applying the Standards in Your Organization

Although each standard in Sections II and III apply to all applicant hospitals, there are two special circumstances when considering how to apply standards in an individual hospital:

Adhering to the Stricter Standard

A hospital must establish policies and procedures that conform to national, regional, and local laws or regulations as well as JCI standards. When a concept is addressed by the JCI standards and by the laws or regulations of a national or local authority, JCI requires that an organization follow whichever body has set the *higher* or *stricter* requirement. **For example**, JCI requires that organizations use two patient identifiers in a variety of processes. If the hospital's national standard requires the use of three identifiers, the hospital must use three identifiers to meet the national standard, which is stricter than JCI's standard. However, if that same national standard allows the use of bed number as an identifier—a practice JCI explicitly prohibits—the organization is prohibited from doing so. In this case, the organization would need to use three identifiers (the stricter national requirement) and would be prohibited from using bed number as an identifier (the stricter JCI requirement).

Academic Medical Center Standards

While community medical centers, often called hospitals or acute care centers, provide a wide range of basic and specialized services for patients in their local communities, academic medical center hospitals are also primary sites for medical education and health care research. JCI developed the academic medical center standards to recognize the unique resource such organizations represent for health professional education and human subjects research in their community and country.

However, unless they are deliberately included in the quality framework, education and research activities often are unnoticed partners in patient care quality and improvement. To address this concern, JCI standards in Section IV, the "Medical Professional Education" (MPE) and "Human Subjects Research Programs" (HRP) chapters, present a framework for including medical education and research into the quality and patient safety activities of academic medical center hospitals.

Many health care organizations may consider themselves to be an academic medical center, but only organizations that meet JCI's definition are required to comply with the MPE and HRP standards presented in Section IV of this manual.

JCI will consider an applicant hospital an eligible academic medical center if it meets the following three criteria:

- 1. It is *integrated* (by organization or administration) with a medical school.
- 2. It is the principal site for the *education* of both (a) medical students (that is, undergraduates) and (b) postgraduate medical specialty trainees (**for example**, residents or interns) from such medical school.
- 3. At the time of application, it conducts *medical research* with approval and oversight by an Institutional Review Board (IRB) or research ethics committee.

All hospitals meeting the academic medical center eligibility criteria must comply with the requirements in Section IV (as well as the requirements detailed in Sections II and III) to achieve JCI accreditation.

Organizations with questions about their eligibility for academic medical center hospital accreditation should contact JCI Accreditation's Central Office at JCIAccreditation@jcrinc.com.

Using the Standards Manual

Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, 7th Edition, when paired with its companion book Joint Commission International Survey Process Guide for Hospitals, 7th Edition, along with information on the organization's JCI Direct Connect extranet site, together contain all the information a hospital needs to achieve and maintain continuous compliance with JCI hospital accreditation standards.

Communicating critical information to staff and maintaining continuous compliance with JCI standards are keys to ensuring that safe, high-quality care is provided to patients—yet these goals present a real challenge for many organizations. Following are some helpful suggestions for successfully achieving continuous compliance with accreditation standards outlined in this accreditation manual.

- Become familiar with the standards. Review the important functions of a health care organization identified in the titles of the standards chapters. Become aware of those standards that all organizations must meet to be accredited by JCI and review the compliance expectations of the standards as well as those of the additional requirements found in the associated intents and MEs. Become familiar with the terminology used in the manual. Identify those standards that require documentation (also outlined in the Joint Commission International Survey Process Guide for Hospitals, 7th Edition) and make sure you have the needed documentation to maintain compliance.
- *Visit your organization's extranet site.* Become aware of the accreditation policies and procedures and the accreditation process. Discover how to find the information you need about an upcoming survey or a revised requirement.
- *Use the standards to improve care, treatment, and services.* Hospitals should not view accreditation standards as rules that must be followed just for the JCI survey. Instead, incorporate tasks and

processes that help integrate these concepts into your daily operations because they directly affect the safety of patients and the quality of care, treatment, and services you provide. As you self-assess your compliance with JCI surveys, identify follow-up actions needed to bring your organization into compliance and meet the needs of your patients for safe, high-quality care.

JCI's accreditation policies and procedures, as well as information about JCI's hospital accreditation process—including the presurvey, on-site survey, and postsurvey activities—can be found in their entirety on an accredited organization's secure JCI Direct Connect extranet site. They are also summarized in this manual.

General Eligibility Requirements

Any hospital may apply for JCI accreditation if it meets all the following criteria:

- The hospital is located outside of the United States and its territories.
- The hospital is currently operating as a health care provider in the country, is licensed to provide care and treatment as a hospital (if required), and, at minimum, does the following:
 - Provides a complete range of acute care clinical services—diagnostic, curative, and rehabilitative.
 - o Provides services that are available 365 days per year; ensures that all direct patient care services are operational 24 hours per day, 7 days per week; and provides ancillary and support services as needed for emergent, urgent, and/or emergency needs of patients 24 hours per day, 7 days per week (such as diagnostic testing, laboratory, and operating theatre, as appropriate to the type of acute care hospital).
 - o In the case of a specialty hospital, provides a defined set of services, such as pediatric, eye, dental, and psychiatry, among others.
- The hospital provides services addressed by the current JCI accreditation standards for hospitals.
- The hospital assumes, or is willing to assume, responsibility for improving the quality of its care and services.
- The hospital is open and in *full operation*, admitting and discharging a volume of patients that will permit the complete evaluation of the implementation and sustained compliance with all current JCI accreditation standards for hospitals.
- The hospital meets the conditions described in the "Accreditation Participation Requirements" (APR) chapter.

In addition, academic medical center hospital applicants must meet the additional following criteria:

- The applicant hospital is integrated (by organization or administration) with a medical school.
- The applicant hospital is the *principal site* for the education of both (1) *medical students* (undergraduates) and (2) postgraduate medical specialty *trainees* (**for example**, residents or interns) from such medical school.
- At the time of application, the applicant hospital is conducting medical research with approval and
 oversight by an Institutional Review Board (IRB) or research ethics committee.

Contact JCI at JCIAccrediation@jcrinc.com prior to submitting an electronic application (that is, E-App) to discuss the criteria and validate whether the hospital meets the above criteria as well as the definition for "in full operation" (in the Sidebar "Understanding Terms" on page 7) at least four months or more prior to submitting its E-App and at its initial survey. JCI may request documentation of the hospital's utilization statistics prior to accepting the E-App or conducting the on-site survey. In addition, JCI will not begin an on-site survey, may discontinue an on-site survey, or may cancel a scheduled survey when it determines the hospital is not "in full operation."

Note: If in its reasonable discretion JCI determines that the applicant does not meet the eligibility criteria for the hospital/academic medical center accreditation program, JCI will not accept or process the E-App and will notify the hospital of its decision.

Sidebar. Understanding Terms

Full operation

Criteria indicating the organization's readiness for comprehensive on-site evaluation against all relevant JCI standards, based on identification of the following in the organization's electronic application for survey (E-App):

- A list of all clinical services currently provided for inpatients and outpatients. (Those clinical services that are planned, and thus not identified in the E-App, and begin operations at a later time will require a separate extension survey to evaluate those services.)
- Utilization statistics for clinical services showing consistent inpatient and outpatient
 activity levels and types of services provided for at least four months or more prior to
 submission of the organization's electronic application.
- All inpatient and outpatient clinical services, units, and departments. These locations
 must be available for a comprehensive evaluation against all relevant JCI standards
 for hospitals currently in effect, consistent with JCI's normal survey process for the
 size and type of organization, such as the following:
 - o Patient tracer activities, including individual patient and system tracers
 - Open and closed medical record review
 - Direct observation of patient care processes
 - Interviews with patients
 - Interviews with medical students/trainees

Principal site

The location at which the hospital provides the majority of medical specialty programs for postgraduate medical trainees (**for example**, residents or interns) and not just one specialty, as in a single-specialty organization (**for example**, an ophthalmologic hospital, dental hospital, or orthopedic hospital).

Medical research

Basic, clinical, and health services research that includes many types of research studies, such as clinical trials, therapeutic interventions, development of new medical technologies, and outcomes research, among others. (Hospitals that primarily conduct non—human subjects research and/or research exempt from review by an Institutional Review Board or research ethics committee, such as medical record review studies, case studies, and research involving data/specimens without individually identifiable information, do not meet criterion 3 of the academic medical center hospital eligibility criteria.)

Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, 7th Edition
8
U

Section I: Accreditation Participation Requirements



Accreditation Participation Requirements (APR)

Overview

This section consists of specific requirements for participation in the Joint Commission International (JCI) accreditation process and for maintaining an accreditation award.

For a hospital seeking accreditation for the first time, compliance with many of the APRs is assessed during the initial survey. For the already-accredited hospital, compliance with the APRs is assessed throughout the accreditation cycle, through on-site surveys, the Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP), and periodic updates of hospital-specific data and information.

Organizations are either compliant or not compliant with the APRs. When a hospital does not comply with certain APRs, the hospital may be asked to submit an SIP, or the noncompliance may result in being placed At Risk for Denial of Accreditation. However, refusal to permit performance of on-site survey activities, such as limiting or denying access to authorized JCI staff (APR.4), will lead to the loss or denial of accreditation. How the requirement is evaluated and the consequences of noncompliance are noted with each APR.

Please note that the APRs are not scored in the same manner as the standards chapters, and their evaluation does not directly impact the outcome of an *accreditation survey*.

Requirements

The following is a list of all accreditation participation requirements. They are presented here for your convenience without their rationales, evaluation methods, and consequences of noncompliance. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Requirements, Rationales, Evaluation Methods, and Consequences of Noncompliance. JCI reserves the right to update its Accreditation Participation Requirements (APRs) from time to time and recognizes the *JCI Direct Connect* website as the official location for the posting of all current APRs.

- **APR.1** The hospital meets all requirements for timely submissions of data and information to Joint Commission International (JCI).
- **APR.2** The hospital provides JCI with accurate and complete information throughout all phases of the accreditation process.
- **APR.3** The hospital reports within 30 days of the effective date of any change(s) in the hospital's profile (electronic database) or information provided to JCI via the E-App before and between surveys.
- **APR.4** The hospital permits on-site evaluations of standards and policy compliance or verification of quality and safety concerns, reports, or regulatory authority sanctions at the discretion of JCI.
- **APR.5** The hospital allows JCI to request (from the hospital or outside agency) and review an original or authenticated copy of the results and reports of external evaluations from publicly recognized bodies.
- **APR.7** The hospital selects and uses measures as part of its quality improvement measurement system.

- **APR.8** The hospital accurately represents its accreditation status and the programs and services to which JCI accreditation applies. Only hospitals with current JCI accreditation may display the Gold Seal.
- **APR.9** Any individual hospital staff member (clinical or administrative) can report concerns about patient safety and quality of care to JCI without retaliatory action from the hospital.

To support this culture of safety, the hospital must communicate to staff that such reporting is permitted. In addition, the hospital must make it clear to staff that no formal disciplinary actions (**for example**, demotions, reassignments, or change in working conditions or hours) or informal punitive actions (**for example**, harassment, isolation, or abuse) will be threatened or carried out in retaliation for reporting concerns to JCI.

APR.10 Translation and interpretation services arranged by the hospital for an accreditation survey and any related activities are provided by qualified translation and interpretation professionals who have no relationship to the hospital.

Qualified translators and interpreters provide to the hospital and JCI documentation of their experience in translation and interpretation. The documentation may include, but is not limited to, the following:

- Evidence of advanced education in English and in the language of the host hospital
- Evidence of translation and interpretation experience, preferably in the medical field
- Evidence of employment as a professional translator or interpreter, preferably full-time
- Evidence of continuing education in translation and interpretation, preferably in the medical field
- Membership(s) in professional translation and interpretation associations
- Translation and interpretation proficiency testing results, when applicable
- Translation and interpretation certifications, when applicable
- Other relevant translation and interpretation credentials

In some cases, JCI can provide organizations with a list of translators and interpreters who meet the requirements listed above.

APR.11 The hospital notifies the public it serves about how to contact its hospital management and JCI to report concerns about patient safety and quality of care.

Methods of notice may include, but are not limited to, distribution of information about JCI, including contact information in published materials such as brochures and/or posting this information on the hospital's website.

The following link is provided to report a patient safety or quality-of-care concern to JCI: https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/contact-us/report-a-quality-and-safety-issue/.

Hospitals seeking initial accreditation should be prepared to discuss their plan on how compliance with this APR will be achieved when accredited.

APR.12 The hospital provides patient care in an environment that poses no risk of an immediate threat to patient safety, public health, or staff safety.

Requirements, Rationales, Evaluation Methods, and Consequences of Noncompliance

JCI reserves the right to update its Accreditation Participation Requirements (APRs) from time to time and recognizes the *JCI Direct Connect* website as the official location for the posting of all current APRs.

Requirement APR.1

The hospital meets all requirements for timely submissions of data and information to Joint Commission International (JCI).

Rationale for APR.1

There are many points in the accreditation process at which data and information are required. Some **examples** include the completion of the electronic application (E-App), annual updates to the E-App, submission of a Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP), any changes in hospital executive leadership such as a change in ownership, Office of Quality and Safety Monitoring requests for information, JCI Accreditation requests for verification of information received from a regulatory or other authority, or timely notification of intent to appeal an accreditation decision. Relevant accreditation policies and procedures inform the hospital of what data and/or information are required and the time frame for submission.

Evaluation of APR.1

Evaluation occurs throughout the accreditation life cycle in relation to the required submissions.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.1

If the hospital fails to meet the requirements for the timely submission of data and information to JCI, the hospital will be considered At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and may be required to undergo a for-cause survey. Failure to resolve this issue in a timely manner or at the time of the for-cause survey may result in Denial of Accreditation. These consequences address only compliance with the requirement itself and not the content of the hospital's submissions to JCI. **For example**, if information in a hospital's E-App leads to inaccuracies in the appropriate length of the survey and a longer survey is required, the hospital will incur the additional costs of the longer survey. In addition, if there is evidence that the hospital has falsified or withheld the information or intentionally deleted information submitted to JCI, the requirement at APR.2 and its consequences will apply.

Requirement APR.2

The hospital provides JCI with accurate and complete information throughout all phases of the accreditation process.

Rationale for APR.2

JCI requires each hospital seeking accreditation or already accredited to engage in the accreditation process with honesty, integrity, and transparency. This type of engagement in the accreditation process is evident by providing complete and accurate information during all phases of the three-year cycle of the accreditation process.

Hospitals provide information to JCI in any of the following ways:

- Verbally
- Direct observation by, or in an interview or any other type of communication with, a JCI employee
- Electronic or hard-copy documents through a third party, such as the media, or a government report

For the purpose of this requirement, *falsification of information* is defined as the fabrication, in whole or in part, of any information provided by an applicant or accredited organization to JCI. Falsification may include redrafting, reformatting, or deleting document content or submitting false information, reports, data, or other materials.

Evaluation of APR.2

Evaluation of this APR begins during the application process and continues as long as the hospital is accredited by or seeking accreditation by JCI.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.2

If JCI is reasonably convinced that the hospital has submitted inaccurate or falsified information to JCI or has presented inaccurate or falsified information to surveyors, the hospital will be considered At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and may be required to undergo a for-cause survey. Failure to resolve this issue in a timely manner or at the time of the for-cause survey may result in Denial of Accreditation.

Requirement APR.3

The hospital reports within 30 days of the effective date of any change(s) in the hospital's profile (electronic database) or information provided to JCI via the E-App before and between surveys.

Rationale for APR.3

JCI collects core information regarding each hospital's profile in its E-App to understand ownership, licensure, scope and volume of patient services, and types of patient care facilities, among other factors. When any of these factors change, JCI must evaluate the change to determine if the change is within or outside of the scope of a planned initial survey or the scope of a current accreditation award.

Thus, the hospital notifies JCI within 30 days of the effective date of the change for the following:

- A change in hospital ownership and/or name
- The revocation or restriction of operational licenses or permits, any limitation or closure of patient
 care services, any sanctions of professional or other staff, or other actions under laws and regulations
 brought by relevant health authorities
- Alteration or changes in use of patient care buildings, construction of new or expansion of patient
 care buildings, or the occupation of buildings in new locations in the community, to expand the types
 and volume of patient care services 25% or more than was stated in the hospital's profile or was not
 reported as a patient care location in the E-App, or was not included in the scope of the previous
 accreditation survey
- Intentional expansion of the hospital's capacity to provide services in the absence of new, renovated, or expanded facilities by 25% or greater, as measured by patient volume, scope of services, or other relevant measures
- The addition or deletion of one or more types of health care services, such as addition of a dialysis unit or discontinuation of trauma care
- The hospital has merged with, consolidated with, or acquired an unaccredited site, service, or program for which there are applicable JCI standards.

JCI accreditation does not automatically extend accreditation to new services and facilities. Based on the change, JCI may request additional information or documents; **for example**, policies, floor plans, fire safety plan, credentials of new staff for a new service, and so on. When JCI is unable to fully evaluate the changes with the additional information or documents provided, an extension survey may be necessary for all or a portion of the hospital again or for the first time in the case of new facilities or services.

Evaluation of APR.3

Evaluation of this APR begins during the electronic application process and continues as long as the hospital is accredited by or seeking accreditation by JCI. Changes reported may be evaluated off-site or by an extension survey.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.3

If the hospital does not provide notification to JCI within 30 days of the effective date of any change(s), the hospital will be placed At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and an extension survey may be conducted.

Requirement APR.4

The hospital permits on-site evaluations of standards and policy compliance or verification of quality and safety concerns, reports, or regulatory authority sanctions at the discretion of JCI.

Rationale for APR.4

Achieving JCI accreditation implies to the public, governmental agencies, and payment sources, among others, that the hospital is in compliance with JCI standards and accreditation policies at all times. Thus, it is important that JCI has the right to enter all or any portion of the hospital on an announced or unannounced basis to confirm standards and accreditation policy compliance and/or evaluate patient safety and quality concerns at any time during all phases of accreditation. Surveyors will always present an official letter of introduction and at least one other form of identification as a JCI representative when the visit is unannounced.

Evaluation of APR.4

Evaluation of this requirement is ongoing during any phase of accreditation.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.4

JCI will deny or withdraw the accreditation of a hospital that refuses or limits access to authorized JCI staff to perform an on-site evaluation.

Requirement APR.5

The hospital allows JCI to request (from the hospital or outside agency) and review an original or authenticated copy of the results and reports of external evaluations from publicly recognized bodies.

Rationale for APR.5

In order to conduct a thorough accreditation survey, JCI collects information on many aspects of hospital operations. External bodies other than JCI evaluate areas related to safety and quality—for example, fire safety inspections, staff working conditions inspections, and evaluation of safety incidents or quality complaints by local authorities. These evaluations complement accreditation reviews but may have a different focus or emphasis. These evaluations may produce information JCI needs to make accreditation decisions.

Evaluation of APR.5

When requested, the hospital provides JCI with all official records, reports, and recommendations of outside agencies, such as licensing, examining, reviewing, government, or planning bodies. JCI may also request such reports directly from the outside agency. The reports can be requested during any phase of accreditation, including during an accreditation survey or as part of the evaluation of a quality concern or incident.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.5

When the hospital fails to provide an official report when requested during an on-site survey, relevant standards will be scored out of compliance and the hospital may be required to undergo a for-cause survey to review the report and the relevant standards. When the hospital fails to provide a requested report during other phases of accreditation, a for-cause survey may be required.

Requirement APR.6

Currently not in effect.

Requirement APR.7

The hospital selects and uses measures as part of its quality improvement measurement system.

Rationale for APR.7

Collection, analysis, and use of data are important for any quality improvement system and are at the core of the JCI accreditation process. Many JCI standards specify that organizations must collect data as part of their quality improvement system (**for example**, GLD.11, GLD.11.1, and GLD.11.2). To comply with these standards, the organization's leadership selects well-defined, evidence-based measures that are applicable to the organization's patient populations and services. The organization analyzes measurement data, and the data are used to inform and propel quality improvement activities in the organization.

Organizations are free to choose any well-defined, evidence-based measures and measurement approaches that address process and outcomes for which the data will guide improvement in the delivery of patient care. Acceptable measures are those developed by

- the organization's quality leadership and team;
- a municipal, regional, or national health authority; and/or
- internationally recognized health care quality authorities, such as Joint Commission International, the Institute for Healthcare Improvement, or the US-based Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

JCI's measures are presented via its International Library of Measures and are detailed on *JCI Direct Connect*, JCI's client extranet portal. The Joint Commission International Library of Measures provides uniform, precise specifications for the collection of data standardized to permit comparison over time within a hospital and for comparisons among hospitals. Organizations are encouraged, but not required, to use the Library measures to comply with APR.7. Organizations may adapt or modify the Library measures to meet their specific needs; however, if organizations choose to publicize their use of the Library measures, they are required to follow all Library specifications, without deviation, as found on *JCI Direct Connect*. More information about the Library is available on the Continuous Compliance page of *JCI Direct Connect*, including guidance and tools related to collecting and aggregating measures and data.

Evaluation of APR.7

The selection and use of quality measures are evaluated throughout all phases of accreditation, primarily during the on-site survey process.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.7

A Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) will be required when a hospital is found to be not compliant with this requirement.

Requirement APR.8

The hospital accurately represents its accreditation status and the programs and services to which JCI accreditation applies. Only hospitals with current JCI accreditation may display the Gold Seal.

Rationale for APR.8

The hospital's website, advertising and promotion, and other information made available to the public accurately reflect the scope of programs and services that are accredited by JCI.

The hospital does not engage in any false or misleading advertising about its accreditation award.

For example, the organization's website displaying the JCI Gold Seal of Approval® may not include the contracted clinics and/or services that were not included in the accreditation survey or services that will be offered in the future but that the organization is not currently providing or acquisition of an unaccredited site, service, or program for which there are applicable JCI standards.

Evaluation of APR.8

Conformance with this requirement is evaluated throughout all phases of accreditation of the hospital.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.8

Failure of a hospital to withdraw or otherwise correct inaccurate information will place the organization At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and a for-cause survey may be conducted.

Requirement APR.9

Any individual hospital staff member (clinical or administrative) can report concerns about patient safety and quality of care to JCI without retaliatory action from the hospital.

To support this culture of safety, the hospital must communicate to staff that such reporting is permitted. In addition, the hospital must make it clear to staff that no formal disciplinary actions (**for example**, demotions, reassignments, or change in working conditions or hours) or informal punitive actions (**for example**, harassment, isolation, or abuse) will be threatened or carried out in retaliation for reporting concerns to JCI. (*Also see* GLD.13 and GLD.13.1)

Rationale for APR.9

To create a "safe" reporting environment, the hospital educates all staff that concerns about the safety or quality of patient care provided in the hospital may be reported to JCI. The hospital also informs its staff that it will take no disciplinary or punitive action because a staff member reports safety or quality-of-care concerns to JCI.

Evaluation of APR.9

The evaluation of this requirement is throughout all phases of accreditation and includes, but is not limited to, information from both on-site and off-site activities or from investigation of complaints submitted to JCI.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.9

Confirmed reports of retaliatory actions to staff who reported a quality and patient safety issue to JCI will place the hospital At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and a for-cause survey may be conducted.

Requirement APR.10

Translation and interpretation services arranged by the hospital for an accreditation survey and any related activities are provided by qualified translation and interpretation professionals who have no relationship to the hospital.

Qualified translators and interpreters provide to the hospital and JCI documentation of their experience in translation and interpretation. The documentation may include, but is not limited to, the following:

- Evidence of advanced education in English and in the language of the host hospital
- Evidence of translation and interpretation experience, preferably in the medical field
- Evidence of employment as a professional translator or interpreter, preferably full-time
- Evidence of continuing education in translation and interpretation, preferably in the medical field
- Membership(s) in professional translation and interpretation associations
- Translation and interpretation proficiency testing results, when applicable
- Translation and interpretation certifications, when applicable
- Other relevant translation and interpretation credentials

In some cases, JCI can provide organizations with a list of translators and interpreters who meet the requirements listed above.

Rationale for APR.10

The integrity of the on-site evaluation process, as well as the integrity of the outcome, depend on the surveyor obtaining an unbiased, accurate understanding of his or her conversations with staff; and the hospital's staff communicating effectively in their language with the surveyor. To ensure this accurate, unbiased exchange, translation and interpretation is provided by individuals qualified to provide translation and interpretation services, with evidence of experience in health care translation and/or interpretation services. Individuals providing translation and interpretation services are not current or former staff of the hospital and do not have any conflicts of interest, such as immediate family members or staff of an affiliated hospital. Individuals providing translation and interpretation services have not served in any consultation capacity to the hospital in relation to accreditation or accreditation preparation, with the possible exception of assistance in translating the documents required by JCI to be in English or providing translation and interpretation services at a previous survey.

Evaluation of APR.10

The hospital will submit the resumes of the selected translators no later than eight (8) weeks prior to the start of any JCI on-site survey. JCI Accreditation staff will obtain a signed conflict-of-interest statement from each translator. For unannounced surveys, the surveyor and/or JCI Accreditation staff will evaluate the credentials of the translators.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.10

When translators are found to be unqualified due to lack of professional experience and/or other qualifications, or no signed conflict-of-interest statement is provided, the survey will be stopped until a suitable replacement can be found. The hospital is responsible for any additional costs related to the delay, including rescheduling of survey team members when necessary.

Requirement APR.11

The hospital notifies the public it serves about how to contact its hospital management and JCI to report concerns about patient safety and quality of care.

Methods of notice may include, but are not limited to, distribution of information about JCI, including contact information in published materials such as brochures and/or posting this information on the hospital's website.

The following link is provided to report a patient safety or quality-of-care concern to JCI: https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/contact-us/report-a-quality-and-safety-issue/.

Hospitals seeking initial accreditation should be prepared to discuss their plan on how compliance with this APR will be achieved when accredited.

Rationale for APR.11

JCI standards require hospitals to have a mechanism to receive and respond to complaints, conflicts, and other patient care quality and safety concerns in a timely manner. The hospital needs to inform the public it serves about how to access this process. (*Also see* PCC.3.1)

The hospital also needs to inform the public about how to report concerns about patient safety and quality of care to JCI, in particular when the hospital process has not been effective in resolving the concern.

Evaluation of APR.11

Surveyors will evaluate how the hospital meets this requirement during the on-site evaluation process.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.11

A Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) will be required when a hospital is found to not meet this requirement.

Requirement APR.12

The hospital provides patient care in an environment that poses no risk of an immediate threat to patient safety, public health, or staff safety.

Rationale for APR.12

Patients, staff, and the public trust hospitals to be low-risk, safe places. Thus, hospitals maintain that trust with ongoing vigilant review and supervision of safety practices.

Evaluation of APR.12

Evaluation occurs primarily during the on-site survey process, and also through other hospital reports or complaints, and/or sanctions by a regulatory authority, during all phases of accreditation.

Consequences of Noncompliance with APR.12

Immediate threats discovered on-site during a survey interrupt the survey until the threat can be resolved or until the hospital, survey team, and JCI Accreditation staff can mediate the issue. Until the issue is resolved, the hospital is placed At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and a follow-up survey is conducted.

Section II: Patient-Centered Standards



International Patient Safety Goals (IPSG)

Overview

This chapter addresses the International Patient Safety Goals (IPSG), as required for implementation as of 1 January 2011 in all organizations accredited by Joint Commission International (JCI) under the International Standards for Hospitals.

The purpose of the International Patient Safety Goals is to promote specific improvements in patient safety. The goals highlight problematic areas in health care and describe evidence- and expert-based consensus solutions to these problems. Recognizing that sound system design is intrinsic to the delivery of safe, high-quality health care, the goals generally focus on systemwide solutions, wherever possible.

The goals are structured in the same manner as the other standards, including a standard (goal statement), an intent statement, and measurable elements (MEs). The goals are scored similar to other standards as "met," "partially met," or "not met." The accreditation decision rules include compliance with the goals as a separate decision rule.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a ② icon after the standard text.

Goals

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Goals, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Goal 1: Identify Patients Correctly

IPSG.1 The hospital develops and implements a process to improve accuracy of patient identifications. **(P)**

Goal 2: Improve Effective Communication

- - **IPSG.2.2** The hospital develops and implements a process for handover communication. **P**

Goal 3: Improve the Safety of High-Alert Medications

- **IPSG.3** The hospital develops and implements a process to improve the safety of high-alert medications.

Goal 4: Ensure Safe Surgery

- - **IPSG.4.1** The hospital develops and implements a process for the time-out that is performed immediately prior to the start of the surgical/invasive procedure and the sign-out that is conducted after the procedure. **(P)**

Goal 5: Reduce the Risk of Health Care-Associated Infections

- - **IPSG.5.1** Hospital leaders identify care processes that need improvement and adopt and implement evidence-based interventions to improve patient outcomes and reduce the risk of hospital-associated infections.

 ①

Goal 6: Reduce the Risk of Patient Harm Resulting from Falls

Goals, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Goal 1: Identify Patients Correctly

Standard IPSG.1

The hospital develops and implements a process to improve accuracy of patient identifications. (P)

Intent of IPSG.1

Wrong-patient errors occur in virtually all aspects of diagnosis and treatment. Patients may be sedated, disoriented, not fully alert, or comatose; may change beds, rooms, or locations within the hospital; may have sensory disabilities; may not remember their identity; or may be subject to other situations that may lead to errors in correct identification. The intent of this goal is twofold: first, to reliably identify the individual as the person for whom the service or treatment is intended; second, to match the service or treatment to that individual. (*Also see* IPSG.4.1; MMU.4.2; and MMU.5.2)

Safe care begins with proper identification. The identification process used throughout the hospital requires at least two ways in which to identify a patient, such as the patient's name, identification number, birth date, a bar-coded wristband, or other ways. The patient's room number or location in the hospital cannot be used for identification. The two different patient identifiers used may be different in different circumstances. For example, during a verbal patient interaction, the patient identifiers used may consist of patient name and patient birth date. However, when labeling specimens, reporting diagnostic test results, or determining the unique identifier for the patient's medical record, the patient's name and an identification number may be used. The two identifiers used must be consistent within an area. For example, if the patient's name and date of birth are used in verbal interactions with the patient on the ward, these same two identification number or medical record number are used during the time-out for surgical/invasive procedures, to label specimens, or to report diagnostic tests, and the like, these same two identifiers must be used in all similar circumstances. It

is a best practice that the patient be involved in the identification process to whatever extent possible. (*Also see* MOI.8.1)

There are special circumstances in which the hospital may need to develop a specific process for patient identification; **for example**, when a comatose or confused/disoriented patient arrives with no identification, in the case of a newborn when the parents have not immediately chosen a name, and other examples. The process takes into account the unique needs of the patients, and staff use the process for patient identification in these special circumstances to prevent error.

Two different patient identifiers are required in any circumstance involving patient interventions. **For example**, patients are identified before providing treatments (such as administering medications, blood, or blood products; serving a restricted diet tray; or providing radiation therapy); (*Also see* COP.3.4 and MMU.6.1) performing procedures (such as insertion of an intravenous line or hemodialysis); and before any diagnostic procedures (such as taking blood and other specimens for clinical testing or performing a cardiac catheterization or diagnostic radiology procedure).

In addition to using two identifiers to identify the patient in circumstances involving patient interventions, at least two identifiers are also used in labeling elements associated with the patient's care and treatment plan. For example, blood samples and pathology samples must be labeled using at least two identifiers. Other examples include identifying the dietary trays, labeling mother's milk that is expressed and stored for hospitalized infants, and other treatments prepared specifically for the patient. (*Also see* AOP.5.7)

Measurable Elements of IPSG.1

1.	At least two patient identifiers, that do not include the use of the patient's room number or location
	in the hospital, are used to identify the patient and to label elements associated with the patient's care
	and treatment plan.

2.	Patients are identified before performing diagnostic procedures, providing treatments, and perform-
	ing other procedures.

3.	The hospital ensures the correct identification of patients in special circumstances, such as the coma
	tose patient or newborn who is not immediately named.

Goal 2: Improve Effective Communication

Standard IPSG.2

The hospital develops and implements a process to improve the effectiveness of verbal and/or telephone communication among caregivers.

②

Standard IPSG.2.1

The hospital develops and implements a process for reporting critical results of diagnostic tests. P

Standard IPSG.2.2

The hospital develops and implements a process for handover communication. (P)

Intent of IPSG.2 Through IPSG.2.2

Effective communication, which is timely, accurate, complete, unambiguous, and understood by the recipient, reduces errors and results in improved patient safety. Communication can be electronic, verbal, or written. Patient care circumstances that can be critically affected by poor communication include verbal and telephone patient care orders, verbal and telephone communication of critical test results, and handover communications.

Patient care orders given verbally in person and over the telephone, if permitted under local laws and regulations, are some of the most error-prone communications. Different accents, dialects, and pronunciations can make it difficult for the receiver to understand the order being given. **For example**, drug names and numbers that sound alike, such as erythromycin and azithromycin or fifteen and fifty, can affect the accuracy of the order. Background noise, interruptions, and unfamiliar drug names and terminology often compound the problem. When received, a verbal order must be transcribed as a written order, which adds complexity and risk to the ordering process. (*Also see* COP.2 and MMU.4.2)

The reporting of critical results of diagnostic tests is also a patient safety issue. A *critical result* is defined as a variance from normal range that represents a pathophysiologic state that is high-risk or life-threatening, is considered urgent or emergent in nature, and in which immediate medical action is likely necessary to preserve life or prevent a catastrophic occurrence. This is different from an *abnormal result*, which is defined as a result that is outside of the expected range for the test but is not an urgent or emergent life threat. Critical results may occur in outpatients and inpatients and in critical care areas and on general wards as well.

Diagnostic tests include all tests, such as laboratory, imaging, and cardiac diagnostics. Critical results may also be produced from any diagnostic tests performed at the bedside, such as point-of-care testing, portable imaging, and electrocardiograms. Diagnostic tests that produce defined test results that may indicate a threat to life are different from continuous electronic monitoring, such as cardiac telemetry, continuous EEG (electroencephalogram) monitoring, or fetal monitoring. Continuous electronic monitoring is a clinical assessment tool used to detect changes in the patient's condition that may identify a threat to life but is not designed to produce a defined critical result.

A formal reporting system is used throughout the hospital that clearly identifies how critical results of diagnostic tests are communicated to health care practitioners and how the information is documented. The objective is to provide the critical results within an established time frame so that the responsible licensed health care provider can evaluate its significance in light of the patient's clinical situation. (*Also see* AOP.5.4)

Handover communications can also be referred to as *handoff* communications. Handovers of patient care within a hospital occur

- between health care practitioners (**for example**, physician to physician, physician to nurse, nurse to nurse, and so on);
- between different levels of care in the same hospital (**for example**, when the patient is moved from an intensive care unit to a medical unit or from an emergency department to the operating theatre);
- from inpatient units to diagnostic or other treatment departments, such as radiology or physical therapy; and
- between staff and patients/families, such as at discharge. (Also see ACC.4.1)

Breakdowns in communication can occur during any handover of patient care and can result in adverse events. Interruptions and other distractions from unit activities can inhibit clear communication of important patient information. Standardized, critical content for communication between the patient, family, caregiver, and health care practitioners can significantly improve the outcomes related to handovers of patient care. (*Also see* ACC.3)

Standardized forms, tools, or methods support a consistent and complete handover process. The content of the handover communication and the form, tool, or method used are standardized for the type of handover. The handover process may be different for different types of handovers within the hospital. **For example**, handovers of patient care for the emergency department to a medical ward may require a different process or different content than handovers for the operating theatre to the intensive care unit; however, the handovers are standardized for the type of handover occurring.

Handover forms or tools, if used by the hospital, are not required to be part of the medical record. In addition, the detailed information communicated during the handover is not required to be documented in the medical record; however, the hospital may want to have documentation that the handover occurred. **For example**, the

health care practitioner would record that he or she completed the handover and to whom he or she transferred responsibility for care, and then sign, date, and time the entry. (*Also see* MOI.9)

Safe practices for effective communication include the following:

- Limiting verbal communication of prescription or medication orders to urgent situations in which immediate written or electronic communication is not feasible. **For example**, verbal orders can be disallowed when the prescriber is present and the patient's chart is available. Verbal orders can be restricted to situations in which it is difficult or impossible for hard-copy or electronic order transmission, such as during a sterile procedure.
- The development of guidelines for requesting and receiving test results on an emergency or STAT
 basis, the identification and definitions of critical tests and critical values, to whom and by whom
 critical test results are reported, and monitoring compliance
- Writing down, or entering into a computer, the complete order or test result by the receiver of the information; the receiver reading back the order or test result; and the sender confirming that what has been written down and read back is accurate. Permissible alternatives for when the read-back process may not always be possible may be identified, such as in the operating theatre and in emergent situations in the emergency department or intensive care unit. (Also see COP.2)
- Use of standardized, critical content for communication between the patient, family, health care practitioner, and others involved in the patient's care during handovers of patient care
- Use of standardized methods, forms, or tools to facilitate consistent and complete handovers of patient care

Measurable Elements of IPSG.2

_	1.	Complete verbal orders are documented and read back by the receiver and confirmed by the individual giving the order.	
	2.	Complete telephone orders are documented and read back by the receiver and confirmed by the individual giving the order.	
	3.	Complete test results are documented and read back by the receiver and confirmed by the individual giving the result.	
Measurable Elements of IPSG.2.1			
	1.	The hospital defines critical results that may represent urgent or emergent life-threatening values for diagnostic tests.	
	2.	The hospital develops a formal reporting process, used throughout the hospital, that identifies how critical results of diagnostic tests are reported/communicated to health care practitioners.	
	3.	The hospital identifies what information is documented in the medical record.	
Me	asu	rable Elements of IPSG.2.2	
	1.	Standardized critical content is communicated between health care practitioners during handovers of patient care.	
	2.	Standardized forms, tools, or methods that support a consistent and complete handover process are utilized.	
	3.	Data from adverse events resulting from handover communications are tracked and used to identify	

ways in which handovers can be improved, and improvements are implemented.

Goal 3: Improve the Safety of High-Alert Medications

Standard IPSG.3

Standard IPSG.3.1

The hospital develops and implements a process to improve the safety of look-alike/sound-alike medications. (P)

Standard IPSG.3.2

The hospital develops and implements a process to manage the safe use of concentrated electrolytes. (P)

Intent of IPSG.3 Through IPSG 3.2

When medications are part of the patient treatment plan, appropriate management is critical to ensuring patient safety. Any medication, even those that can be purchased without a prescription, if used improperly can cause injury. However, high-alert medications cause harm that is likely to be more serious when they are given in error, which can lead to increased patient suffering and potentially additional costs associated with caring for these patients. The Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) defines *high-alert medications* as ". . . drugs that bear a heightened risk of causing significant patient harm when they are used in error. Although mistakes may or may not be more common with these drugs, the consequences of an error are clearly more devastating to patients." The most frequently cited **examples** of high-alert medications include insulin, opioids, chemotherapeutic agents, antithrombotic agents, anticoagulants, thrombolytics, medications with a narrow therapeutic range (**for example**, digoxin), neuromuscular blocking agents, and epidural or intrathecal medications.

An **example** of a recent high-alert medication best practice identified by ISMP relates to the dispensing of vincristine (and other vinca alkaloids) in a minibag of a compatible solution and not in a syringe. A significant adverse event resulting in severe neurological damage and often death, has occurred from the inadvertent administration of vinca alkaloids via the intrathecal route. In organizations in which vinca alkaloids are dispensed in a minibag, there have been no reported cases of accidental administration of a vinca alkaloid by the intrathecal route. This best practice is supported by The Joint Commission, the World Health Organization (WHO), the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), the Oncology Nursing Society (ONS), and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network.

Examples of lists of high-alert medications are available from organizations such as ISMP and WHO. For safe management, the hospital needs to develop its own list(s) of high-alert medications based on its unique utilization patterns of medications and its own internal data about near misses (or close calls), medication errors, and sentinel events, as well as safety issues published in professional literature. (*Also see* MMU.7.1; QPS.7; and QPS.7.1) The list includes medications identified as high risk for adverse outcomes. Information from the literature and/or Ministry of Health may also be useful in helping to identify which medications should be included. It is recommended that this list be updated at least annually; if there are additions or changes to hospital services, patient populations, or new medications added to the hospital formulary that are deemed high risk, then the list may need to be updated on an interim basis.

The list of high-alert medications must be up to date, known by clinical staff, and accompanied by robust, well-developed risk reduction strategies that decrease the risk of errors and minimize harm. Strategies need to be applicable in various settings and sustainable over time. Many of these strategies should also be considered for use with other medications. **Examples** of strategies may include the following:

- Standardizing processes associated with ordering, storage, preparation, and administration of these medications
- Improving access to information about these drugs
- Limiting access to high-alert medications
- Using additional labels and automated alerts
- Applying redundancies

Look-alike/sound-alike (LASA) names are medicine names that look or sound the same as other medicine names when written or spoken. Look-alike medicine packaging refers to medicine containers or primary packaging that looks like that of another medicine. Medications at risk for LASA confusion, or similar product packaging, may lead to potentially harmful medication errors. There are many medication names that sound or look like other medication names; **for example**, dopamine and dobutamine. Confusing names is a common cause of medication errors throughout the world. Contributing to this confusion are

- incomplete knowledge of drug names;
- newly available products;
- similar packaging or labeling;
- similar clinical use; and
- illegible prescriptions or misunderstanding during issuing of verbal orders. (Also see MMU.4.2)

Hospitals need to institute risk management strategies to minimize adverse events with LASA medications and enhance patient safety. A frequently cited medication safety issue is the incorrect or unintentional administration of concentrated electrolytes (for example, potassium chloride, potassium phosphate, sodium chloride, magnesium sulfate). The literature has identified several instances of death as a result of the inadvertent administration of a concentrated electrolyte in its concentrated form. The most effective means to reduce or to eliminate these occurrences is to develop a process for managing concentrated electrolytes that includes removing them from the patient care units to the pharmacy. Vials of concentrated forms of electrolytes that require dilution before IV administration should not be available as unit stock on any patient care units (including in operating room/anesthesia stock) as much as is possible given the pharmacy capabilities and should not be dispensed in their concentrated form to patient care units for individual patients. The exceptions to this recommendation are for vials contained in a cardiac surgery kit or a cardiac surgery locked storage area, magnesium sulfate contained in emergency carts or in areas in which patients with preeclampsia may be treated (labor and delivery, emergency department, or intensive care unit), and concentrated sodium in areas treating patients who may suffer from increased intracranial pressure (intensive care unit, emergency department, and operating room). Wherever concentrated electrolytes are stored, they are clearly labeled with appropriate warnings (for example, CONCENTRATED electrolyte—Dilute before administration) and segregated from other medications. Only qualified and trained individuals should have access to these vials. (Also see MMU.3)

Administration of electrolyte replacement therapy for hypokalemia, hyponatremia, and hypophosphatemia is best performed using standardized guidelines and/or protocols that do not involve dispensing or handling concentrated vials on the patient care units. (*Also see* MMU.5.2)

Measurable Elements of IPSG.3

u	1.	The hospital identifies in writing its list of high-alert medications.
	2.	The hospital develops and implements a process for reducing the risk and harm of high-alert medications that is uniform throughout the hospital.

☐ 3. The hospital annually reviews and, as necessary, revises its list of high-alert medications.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.3.1

- The hospital identifies in writing its list of look-alike/sound-alike medications.
- The hospital develops and implements a process for managing look-alike/sound-alike medications that is uniform throughout the hospital.
- 3. The hospital annually reviews and, as necessary, revises its list of look-alike/sound-alike medications.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.3.2

- Only qualified and trained individuals have access to concentrated electrolytes, and they are clearly labeled with appropriate warnings and segregated from other medications.
- The hospital only stores vials of concentrated electrolytes outside of the pharmacy in situations iden-2. tified in the intent.
- 3. Standard protocols are followed for adult, pediatric, and/or neonatal electrolyte replacement therapy to treat hypokalemia, hyponatremia, and hypophosphatemia.

Goal 4: Ensure Safe Surgery

Standard IPSG.4

The hospital develops and implements a process for the preoperative verification and surgical/invasive

Standard IPSG.4.1

The hospital develops and implements a process for the time-out that is performed immediately prior to the start of the surgical/invasive procedure and the sign-out that is conducted after the procedure.

Intent of IPSG.4 and IPSG.4.1

Significant patient injury and adverse and sentinel events resulting from wrong-site, wrong-procedure, and wrong-patient surgery are ongoing concerns for hospitals. Such events can result from ineffective or inadequate communication between members of the team conducting the surgical or invasive procedure, lack of a process for marking the procedure site, and lack of patient involvement in the site marking. In addition, inadequate patient assessment, inadequate medical record review, a culture that does not support open communication among team members, problems related to illegible handwriting, and the use of abbreviations are frequent contributing factors.

Surgical and invasive procedures include all procedures involving an incision or puncture, including, but not limited to, open surgical procedures, percutaneous aspiration, selected injections, biopsy, percutaneous cardiac and vascular diagnostic or interventional procedures, laparoscopies, and endoscopies.

Organizations need to identify all areas within the hospital where surgical and invasive procedures take place; for example, the cardiac catheterization lab, interventional radiology department, gastrointestinal lab, and the like. The approach the hospital takes to ensuring safe surgery applies to all areas of the hospital in which surgical and invasive procedures occur.

The (US) Joint Commission's Universal Protocol for Preventing Wrong Site, Wrong Procedure, and Wrong Person Surgery™ is based in part on the principle of using multiple strategies to achieve the goal of always identifying the correct patient, correct procedure, and correct site. The essential elements of the Universal Protocol are

- the preoperative verification process;
- marking the surgical site; and
- the time-out that is held immediately before the start of the procedure.

Preoperative Verification Process

Preoperative verification is an ongoing process of information gathering and confirmation. The purpose of the preoperative verification process is to

- verify the correct patient, procedure, and site;
- ensure that all relevant documents, images, and studies are available, properly labeled, and displayed;
 and
- verify that any required blood products, special medical equipment, and/or implants are present. (*Also see* ASC.7.4)

There are various elements of the preoperative verification process that can be completed before the patient arrives at the preoperative area—such as ensuring that documents, imaging, test results, and paperwork are properly labeled and match the patient's identifiers. Waiting until the time-out to complete the preoperative verification process may unnecessarily delay surgery if paperwork or imaging are not labeled or available when surgery is about to begin. It is more likely that portions of the preoperative verification may occur more than once and in more than one place. **For example**, the surgical consent may be obtained in the surgeon's office, and then verification that it has been completed may take place in the preoperative holding area.

Marking the Site

Marking the surgical/invasive site involves the patient and is done with an instantly recognizable and unambiguous mark. Ideally, an "X" is not used as the mark as it may be interpreted as "not here" or "wrong side" and could potentially lead to errors in patient care. The mark must be consistent throughout the hospital. The site is marked in all cases involving laterality, multiple structures (fingers, toes, lesions), or multiple levels (spine).

The surgical/invasive procedure site marking is done by the person who will perform the procedure. This person will do the entire surgical/invasive procedure and remain with the patient throughout the entire procedure. In cases of surgical procedures, the responsible surgeon typically performs the surgery and therefore would mark the site. There are different titles used for the responsible surgeon, such as attending or consultant surgeon. For nonsurgical invasive procedures, it may be a physician who will do the procedure, and it may take place in an area of the hospital outside of the operating theatre.

There are circumstances when a trainee may perform the site marking—this is when the trainee performs the entire procedure, requiring minimal or no supervision from the responsible surgeon or physician. In these circumstances, the trainee marks the surgical site. When a trainee is in the role of assisting the responsible surgeon or physician, only the responsible surgeon or physician may perform the site marking.

The site marking may take place any time before the surgical/invasive procedure begins, as long as the patient is actively involved in the site marking whenever possible and the mark is visible after the patient is prepped and draped. **Examples** of when patient participation may not be possible include patients who are not competent to make health care decisions, children, and patients requiring emergent surgery.

Time-Out

The time-out is held immediately before the start of the procedure with all team members present. During the time-out, the team agrees on the following components:

- a) Correct patient identity (*Also see* IPSG.1)
- b) Correct procedure to be done
- c) Correct surgical/invasive procedure site

The time-out allows any unanswered questions or confusion to be resolved. The time-out is conducted in the location at which the procedure will be done and involves the active participation of the entire team. The patient does not have to participate in the time-out. When the time-out is complete, no one from the team leaves the room. Completion of the time-out is documented and includes the date and time the time-out was completed. The hospital determines the amount and type of any additional documentation. (*Also see* MOI.9)

Sign-Out

The WHO Surgical Safety Checklist includes a sign-out process, which is conducted in the area where the procedure was performed before the patient leaves. The following components of the sign-out are verbally confirmed by a member of the team, typically a nurse:

- d) Name of the surgical/invasive procedure that was recorded/written
- e) Completion of instrument, sponge, and needle counts (as applicable)
- f) Labeling of specimens (when specimens are present during the sign-out process, labels are read aloud, including patient name) (*Also see* IPSG.1 and AOP.5.7)
- g) Any equipment problems to be addressed (as applicable)

Measurable Elements of IPSG.4

- 1. The hospital implements a preoperative verification process through the use of a checklist or other mechanism to document, before the surgical/invasive procedure, that the informed consent is appropriate to the procedure; that the correct patient, correct procedure, and correct site are verified; and that all required documents, blood products, medical equipment, and implantable medical devices are on hand, correct, and functional.
- 2. The hospital uses an instantly recognizable and unambiguous mark for identifying the surgical/invasive site that is consistent throughout the hospital.
- 3. Surgical/invasive site marking is done by the person performing the procedure and involves the patient in the marking process.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.4.1

- 1. The full team actively participates in a time-out process, which includes a) through c) in the intent, in the area in which the surgical/invasive procedure will be performed, immediately before starting the procedure. Completion of the time-out is documented and includes date and time.
- 2. Before the patient leaves the area in which the surgical/invasive procedure was performed, a sign-out process is conducted, which includes at least d) through g) in the intent.
- 3. When surgical/invasive procedures are performed, including medical and dental procedures done in settings other than the operating theatre, the hospital uses uniform processes to ensure safe surgery.

Goal 5: Reduce the Risk of Health Care-Associated Infections

Standard IPSG.5

Standard IPSG.5.1

Intent of IPSG.5 and IPSG.5.1

Infection prevention and control are challenging in most health care settings, and rising rates of health care—associated infections are a major concern for patients and health care practitioners. Infections common to all health care settings include catheter-associated urinary tract infections, bloodstream infections, and pneumonia (often associated with mechanical ventilation).

Central to the elimination of these and other infections is proper hand hygiene. Evidence-based hand-hygiene guidelines are available from the World Health Organization (WHO), the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and various other national and international organizations. (*Also see* GLD.11.2)

The hospital adopts and implements current evidence-based hand-hygiene guidelines. Hand-hygiene guidelines are posted in appropriate areas, and staff are educated in proper hand-washing and hand-disinfection procedures. Soap, disinfectants, and towels or other means of drying are located in those areas where hand-washing and hand-disinfecting procedures are required. (*Also see* PCI.13)

Some patient care treatments and interventions have been identified as major sources of hospital-associated infections; such as surgical procedures, mechanical ventilation, and insertion of central lines or indwelling catheters. Hospital-associated infections can severely impact a patient's emotional and financial well-being. They are a significant source of complications that can lead to further illness and even death. Many of these infections are preventable. Research studies suggest that implementing practices designed to prevent hospital-acquired infections can lead to as much as a 70% reduction of those infections.

In 2001 the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) began developing and testing a concept of enhancing teamwork and communication in multidisciplinary teams in order to improve the clinical care provided to patients. This initiative led to the creation of "bundles" of care. *Bundles* are defined by the IHI as "A small set of evidence-based interventions for a defined patient segment/population and care setting that, when implemented together, will result in significantly better outcomes than when implemented individually." **Examples** of bundles include central line–associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI), ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP), catheter-associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI), surgical site infection (SSI), and severe sepsis bundle. (*Also see* COP.3)

Implementing bundles of care will have the greatest impact on patient outcomes when the hospital identifies gaps in best practice or continued poor outcomes in a particular area. Evidence-based infection prevention and control bundles have been shown to have a greater impact on reducing the risk of infection than when individual improvement strategies are implemented separately. It is important for leaders to evaluate compliance with the bundles and track improvements in clinical outcomes.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.5

1110	measurable Elements of it 66.6		
	1.	The hospital has adopted current evidence-based hand-hygiene guidelines.	
	2.	The hospital implements a hand-hygiene program throughout the hospital.	
	3.	Hand-washing and hand-disinfection procedures are used in accordance with hand-hygiene guidelines throughout the hospital.	

Measurable Elements of IPSG.5.1

- 1. Hospital leaders identify priority areas for improvement of hospital-acquired infections.
- 2. Hospital leaders identify and implement evidence-based interventions (such as bundles) for all applicable patients.
- 3. Evidence-based interventions (such as bundles) used to reduce the risk of health care—associated infections are evaluated by health care practitioners for compliance and improvement in clinical outcomes.

Goal 6: Reduce the Risk of Patient Harm Resulting from Falls

Standard IPSG.6

The hospital develops and implements a process to reduce the risk of patient harm resulting from falls for the inpatient population.

②

Standard IPSG.6.1

Intent of IPSG.6 and IPSG.6.1

Many injuries in hospitals to both inpatients and outpatients are a result of falls. The risk for falls is related to the patient, the situation, and/or the location. Risks associated with patients might include patient history of falls, medications use, alcohol consumption, gait or balance disturbances, visual impairments, altered mental status, and the like. Patients who have been initially assessed to be at low risk for falls may suddenly become at high risk. Reasons include, but are not limited to, surgery and/or anesthesia, sudden changes in patient condition, and adjustment in medications. Many patients require reassessment during their hospitalization. (Also see AOP.1.4)

Fall risk criteria identify the types of patients who are considered at high risk for falls. These criteria and any interventions applied are documented in the patient's medical record, as they provide the evidence to support the patient's fall risk category. The hospital has the responsibility to identify the types of patients within its patient population who may be at high risk for falls. The documented criteria facilitate the continuity of care among the health care practitioners caring for a patient. (*Also see* ACC.3) **For example**, a practitioner caring for a patient after he or she leaves the operating theatre may not know if the patient, who is at high risk for falls, was properly assessed and if interventions were applied unless proper documentation was completed.

In the context of the populations it serves, the services it provides, and its facilities, the hospital evaluates patient falls and takes action to reduce the risk of falling and reduce the risk of injury should a fall occur. The hospital establishes a fall risk reduction program based on appropriate policies and/or procedures. A fall reduction program includes risk assessment and periodic reassessment of a particular patient population and/ or of the environment in which care and services are provided (such as those conducted during periodic safety tours). Measures and interventions are implemented to reduce fall risk for those identified patients, situations, and locations assessed to be at risk.

Specific situations can pose a risk for falls. **An example** of a potential situational risk is when a patient arrives at the outpatient department from a long term care facility by ambulance for a radiologic examination. The patient may be at risk for falls in that situation when transferring from ambulance cart to exam table or when changing positions while lying on the narrow exam table.

Specific locations may present higher fall risks because of the services provided. **For example**, a physical therapy department (inpatient or outpatient) has many types of specialized equipment used by patients that may increase the risk for falls, such as parallel bars, freestanding staircases, and exercise equipment. When specific locations are identified as areas at higher risk for falls, organizations may determine that all patients visiting those locations are considered at risk for falls and implement general measures to mitigate fall risks that are applicable to all patients.

All inpatients are assessed for fall risk using assessment tools and/or methods appropriate for the hospital's patient population(s). **For example**, pediatric patients require a pediatric fall risk assessment tool, as a tool developed for adults will not accurately assess their risk for falls.

In the outpatient department(s), patients are screened for fall risk; however, only those patients whose condition, diagnosis, situation, and/or location identifies them as at risk for falls are screened. If fall risk is indicated from the screening, measures and/or interventions are implemented to reduce fall risk for those patients.

Screening generally involves performing a simple evaluation of the patient to determine if he or she exhibits a fall risk. Screening tools are commonly used and include questions or items that are used to identify fall risk patients. **For example**, the questions may require a simple yes/no answer, or the tool may involve assigning a score to each item based on the patient's responses. Organizations may determine how the screening process occurs. **For example**, screening may be performed by registration clerks, or patients may be allowed to self-screen, such as at a kiosk upon entering the outpatient department. **Examples** of simple screening questions may include "Do you feel unsteady when standing or walking?"; "Do you worry about falling?"; "Have you fallen in the past year?"

The hospital determines which outpatients are screened for fall risk. Location and situational risk, as well as patient condition and characteristics, may help identify those who should be screened for falls. **Examples** could include all patients in a physical therapy outpatient department, all patients arriving from long term care facilities by ambulance for outpatient procedures, patients scheduled for outpatient surgery involving procedural sedation or anesthesia, patients with gait or balance disturbances, patients with visual impairments, pediatric patients under the age of two, and so on.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.6

1.	The hospital implements a process for assessing all inpatients for fall risk and uses assessment tools/methods appropriate for the patients being served.
2.	The hospital implements a process for the reassessment of inpatients who may become at risk for fall due to a change in condition or are already at risk for falls based on the documented assessment.
3.	Measures and/or interventions to reduce fall risk are implemented for those identified inpatients, situations, and locations within the hospital assessed to be at risk. Patient interventions are documented.

Measurable Elements of IPSG.6.1

u	1.	The hospital implements a process for screening outpatients whose condition, diagnosis, situation, or
		location may put them at risk for falls and uses screening tools/methods appropriate for the patients
		being served.

- ☐ 2. When fall risk is identified from the screening process, measures and/or interventions are implemented to reduce fall risk for those outpatients identified to be at risk, and the screening and interventions are documented.
- ☐ 3. Measures and/or interventions to reduce fall risk are implemented in situations and locations in the outpatient department(s) assessed to be a risk for falls.

References

Patient Identification

de Souza Gomes APT, et al. The importance of newborn identification to the delivery of safe patient care. *Cogitare Enfermagem*. 2017 Jul;22(3):e49501. https://doi.org/10.5380/ce.v22i3.49501.

ECRI Institute. ECRI Institute PSO Deep Dive: Patient Identification: Executive Summary. Aug 2016. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://assets.ecri.org/PDF/Deep-Dives/Deep-Dive-Patient-ID-Exec-Summary.pdf.

ECRI Institute. *Patient Identification Errors*. Jun 2016. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/Resources/HIT/Patient%20ID/Patient Identification Evidence Based_Literature_final.pdf.

ECRI Partnership for Health IT and Patient Safety. *Health IT Safe Practices: Toolkit for the Safe Use of Health IT for Patient Identification.* Feb 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/Resources/HIT/Patient%20ID/Patient_Identification_Toolkit_final.pdf.

Effective Communication

Buurman BM, et al. Improving handoff communication from hospital to home: The development, implementation and evaluation of a personalized patient discharge letter. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2016 Jun;28(3):384–390. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzw046.

Desai KN, Chaudhari S. Analysis of critical values in NABL (National Accreditation Board for Testing and Calibration Laboratories) accredited hematology and clinical pathology laboratory. *Annals of Applied Bio-Sciences*. 2017 Feb 14;4(1): A-14–A-18. https://doi.org/10.21276/AABS.2017.1317.

Nasarwanji MF, Badir A, Gurses AP. Standardizing handoff communication: Content analysis of 27 handoff mnemonics. *J Nurs Care Qual.* 2016 Jul–Sep;31(3):238–244. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.0000000000000174.

High-Alert Medications

Ferracini FT, et al. Using positive deviance to reduce medication errors in a tertiary care hospital. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2016 Aug 7;17(1):36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40360-016-0082-9.

Institute for Safe Medication Practices. *ISMP List of High-Alert Medications in Acute Care Settings*. 2018. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ismp.org/sites/default/files/attachments/2018-08/highAlert2018-Acute-Final.pdf.

Fernandes LM, O'Connor M. Accurate patient identification: A global challenge. *Perspect Health Inf Manag.* 2015 May. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://bok.ahima.org/doc?oid=301182#.XcHL35pKg2w.

Härkänen M, et al. Wrong-patient incidents during medication administrations. *J Clin Nurs*. 2018 Feb;27(3–4):715–724. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14021.

Hughes P, Latino RJ, Kelly T. Preventing patient identification errors. *Patient Safety & Quality Healthcare*. 2017 Oct 4. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.psqh.com/analysis/preventing-patient-identification-errors/.

The Joint Commission. People, processes, health IT and accurate patient identification. *Quick Safety*, Issue 45. Oct 2018. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/QS HIT and patient ID 9 25 18 FINAL.pdf.

The Joint Commission. Temporary names put newborns at risk. *Quick Safety*, Issue 17. Oct 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick Safety Issue 17 Oct 2015 10 20 15.pdf.

Patton LJ, et al. Ensuring safe transfer of pediatric patients: A quality improvement project to standardize handoff communication. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2017 May–Jun;34:44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2017.01.004.

Starmer AJ, et al. Effects of the I-PASS handoff bundle on communication quality and workflow. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2017 Dec;26(12):949–957. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2016-006224.

The Joint Commission. Inadequate hand-off communication. *Sentinel Event Alert*, Issue 58. Sep 12, 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://e-handoff.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Joint-Commision-Handoff-Communication-Alert.pdf.

Tyynismaa L, et al. Identifying high-alert medications in a university hospital by applying data from the medication error reporting system. *J Patient Saf.* Epub 2017 Jun 1. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.0000000000000388.

World Health Organization (2019). *Medication Safety in High-Risk Situations*. 2019. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/325131/WHO-UHC-SDS-2019.10-eng.pdf?ua=1.

Safe Surgery

Brussa D, et al. Safe surgery for all: Early lessons from implementing a national government-driven surgical plan in Ethiopia. *World J Surg.* 2017 Dec;41(12):3038–3045. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-017-4271-5.

Carbral RA, et al. Use of a surgical safety checklist to improve team communication. *AORN J.* 2016 Sep;104(3):206–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2016.06.019.

Jain D, Sharma R, Reddy S. WHO Safe Surgery Checklist: Barriers to universal acceptance. *J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol*. 2018 Jan–Mar;34(1):7–10.

Health Care-Associated Infections

Cassini A, et al. Burden of six healthcare-associated infections on European population health: Estimating incidence-based disability-adjusted life years through a population prevalence-based modelling study. *PLOS Med.* 2016 Oct 18;13(10):e1002150. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002150.

Chahoud J, Semaan A, Almoosa KF. Ventilator-associated events prevention, learning lessons from the past: A systematic review. *Heart Lung*. 2015 May–Jun;44(3):251-259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrtlng.2015.01.010.

Currie K, et al. Understanding the patient experience of health care—associated infection: A qualitative systematic review. *Am J Infect Control*. 2018 Aug;46(8):936–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.11.023.

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. Using Care Bundles to Improve Health Care Quality. Resar R, et al. IHI Innovation Series white paper. 2012. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/IHIWhitePapers/UsingCareBundles.aspx.

Ista E, et al. Effectiveness of insertion and maintenance bundles to prevent central-line-associated bloodstream infections in critically ill patients of all ages: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2016 Jun;16(6):724–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00409-0.

Falls

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *Preventing Falls in Hospitals: A Toolkit for Improving Quality of Care.* AHRQ Publication No. 12-0015-EF. Jan 2013. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/publications/files/fallpxtoolkit_0.pdf.

France D, et al. A multicomponent fall prevention strategy reduces falls at an academic medical center. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2017 Sep;43(9):460–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjq.2017.04.006.

Ragusa PS, et al. Effectiveness of surgical safety checklists in improving patient safety. *Orthopedics*. 2016 Mar–Apr;39(2):e307–e310. https://doi.org/10.3928/01477447-20160301-02.

World Health Organization. *Surgical Safety Checklist*. (Updated: Jan 1, 2009.) Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44186/97892415985 90 eng Checklist.pdf?sequence=2.

Mitchell BG, et al. Length of stay and mortality associated with healthcare-associated urinary tract infections: A multi-state model. *J Hosp Infect*. 2016 May;93(1):92–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2016.01.012.

Sickbert-Bennett EE, et al. Reduction of healthcare-associated infections by exceeding high compliance with hand hygiene practices. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2016 Sep;22(9):1628–1630. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2209.151440.

Tanner J, et al. Do surgical care bundles reduce the risk of surgical site infections in patients undergoing colorectal surgery? A systematic review and cohort meta-analysis of 8,515 patients. *Surgery*. 2015 Jul;158(1):66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.03.009.

World Health Organization. Clean Care Is Safer Care: The Evidence for Clean Hands. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.who.int/gpsc/country_work/en.

Zingg W, et al. Hospital organisation, management, and structure for prevention of health-care-associated infection: A systematic review and expert consensus. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2015 Feb;15(2):212–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70854-0. Erratum in: *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2015 Mar;15(3):263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)70069-1.

Kafantogia K, et al. Falls among hospitalized patients. *Journal of Frailty, Sarcopenia & Falls.* 2017 Sep;2(3):53–57. https://doi.org/10.22540/JFSF-02-053.

World Health Organization. Falls. Jan 16, 2018. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/falls.

Zubcoff L, et al. Virtual Breakthrough Series, part 2: Improving fall prevention practices in the Veterans Health Administration. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2016 Nov;42(11):497–AP12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1553-7250(16)42092-1.

Access to Care and Continuity of Care (ACC)

Overview

Health care organizations are pursuing a more comprehensive and integrated approach toward delivering health care. This approach is characterized by a high degree of collaboration and communication among health care practitioners. Hospitals need to consider the care provided as part of an integrated provider system of services, health care practitioners, and levels of care, which make up a continuum of care. The goal is to correctly match the patient's health care needs with the services available, to coordinate timely and high-quality services provided to the patient in the organization, and then to plan for discharge, transfer, and follow-up. The result is improved patient care outcomes and more efficient use of available resources.

Information is essential for making correct decisions about

- which patient needs can be met by the health care organization;
- prioritization for patients presenting with urgent or immediate needs;
- efficient flow of services to the patient;
- access to intensive or specialized services;
- coordination and continuity of care;
- referral, transfer, or discharge of the patient to his or her home or to another care setting; and
- safe patient transportation.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Screening for Admission to the Hospital

- Patients who may be admitted to the hospital or who seek outpatient services are screened to identify if their health care needs match the hospital's mission and resources, and those with emergent, urgent, or immediate needs are given priority for assessment and treatment.

 P

Admission to the Hospital

- - ACC.2.1 Patient needs for preventive, palliative, curative, and rehabilitative services are prioritized based on the patient's condition at the time of admission as an inpatient to the hospital.

- ACC.2.2 At admission as an inpatient, the patient and family receive education and orientation to the inpatient ward, information on the proposed care and any expected costs for care, and the expected outcomes of care.

Continuity of Care

- **ACC.3** The hospital designs and carries out processes to provide continuity of patient care services in the hospital, coordination among health care practitioners, and access to information related to the patient's care.

 P
 - **ACC.3.1** During all phases of inpatient care, there is a qualified individual identified as responsible for the patient's care. (P)

Discharge, Referral, and Follow-Up

- - **ACC.4.1** The hospital's discharge planning process addresses patient and family education and instruction related to the patient's ongoing need for continuing care and services.
 - **ACC.4.2** The complete discharge summary is prepared for all inpatients, and a copy of the discharge summary is contained in the patient's medical record.
 - **ACC.4.2.1** The medical records of patients receiving emergency care include the time of arrival and departure, the conclusions at termination of treatment, the patient's condition at discharge, and follow-up care instructions.

 - - **ACC.4.4.1** The hospital has a process for the management of patients who leave the hospital against medical advice without notifying hospital staff. **②**

Transfer of Patients

- ACC.5 The hospital develops a process to transfer patients to other health care organizations based on status, the need to meet their continuing care needs, and the ability of the receiving organization to meet patients' needs.

 P
 - ACC.5.1 The receiving organization is given a written summary of the patient's clinical condition and the interventions provided by the referring hospital, and the process is documented in the patient's medical record.

Transportation

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Screening for Admission to the Hospital

Standard ACC.1

Patients who may be admitted to the hospital or who seek outpatient services are screened to identify if their health care needs match the hospital's mission and resources, and those with emergent, urgent, or immediate needs are given priority for assessment and treatment.

②

Intent of ACC.1

Matching patient needs with the hospital's mission and resources depends on obtaining information on the patient's needs and condition through screening, usually at the point of first contact. The screening may be through triage criteria in the emergency department or outpatient urgent/immediate care clinic, visual evaluation, a physical examination, or the results of previously conducted physical, psychological, clinical laboratory, or diagnostic imaging evaluations. The screening can occur at a referring source, during emergency transport, or when the patient arrives at the hospital. It is important that decisions to treat, to transfer, or to refer are made only after the results of screening evaluations are available. Only those patients for whom the hospital has the clinical capability to provide the needed services, consistent with its mission, are considered for inpatient admission or registered for outpatient services. (*Also see* AOP.1)

Patients with emergent, urgent, or immediate needs are identified by staff who are trained, in a recognized triage process, to determine which patients need immediate care and how their care is given priority. Included in the triage process is the early recognition of the signs and symptoms of communicable diseases. When identified as emergent, urgent, or requiring immediate needs, these patients are assessed and receive care as quickly as necessary. Patients identified with potential communicable diseases are segregated and/or isolated as needed. (*Also see* PCI.12) Patients may be assessed by a physician or other qualified individual before other patients, receive diagnostic services as rapidly as possible, and begin treatment to meet their needs.

Certain screening exams or diagnostic tests may be required for every patient being admitted, or the hospital may identify specific screenings and tests for particular patient populations. **For example**, all patients with active diarrhea must have a screen for *Clostridioides difficile* (*C. diff*), and certain types of patients require screening for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, such as all patients coming from long term care facilities. Specific screening tests or evaluations are identified when the hospital requires them prior to admission or registration.

When the hospital does not have the clinical capability to provide the needed services, the patient is transferred, referred, or assisted in identifying sources of services to meet his or her needs. When the hospital is not able to meet the needs of the patient with an emergency condition and the patient requires transfer to a higher level of care, the transferring hospital must provide and document stabilizing treatment within its capacity prior to transport. (*Also see* ACC.5 and ACC.6)

Measurable Elements of ACC.1

- 1. Based on the results of screening, patients are accepted for outpatient treatment or inpatient care if it is determined that the needs of the patient match the hospital's mission and resources.
- 2. If the patient's needs do not match the hospital's mission and resources, the hospital will transfer, refer, or assist the patient in identifying and/or obtaining appropriate sources of care.
- 3. Staff utilize a recognized triage process that includes early recognition of communicable diseases, to prioritize and treat patients with immediate needs.
- 4. Emergent patients are assessed and stabilized within the capacity of the hospital prior to transfer, and treatment is documented in a record maintained by the transferring hospital.
- 5. There is a process to provide the results of diagnostic tests to those responsible for determining if the patient is to be admitted, transferred, or referred.
- 6. Specific screening tests or evaluations are identified when the hospital requires them prior to admission or registration.

Standard ACC.1.1

The hospital considers the clinical needs of patients and informs patients when there are unusual delays for diagnostic and/or treatment services.

②

Intent of ACC.1.1

Patients are informed when there are known long delays for diagnostic and/or treatment services or when obtaining planned care may require placement on a waiting list; **for example**, waiting for an organ transplant, a delay in obtaining a diagnostic test due to limited appointments, or waiting for an elective surgical procedure due to limited availability of operating theatres. Patients are informed of the associated reasons for the delay and are informed of alternatives, if available. This requirement applies to inpatient and outpatient care and/or diagnostic services; it does not apply to minor or usual waiting periods for outpatient care or inpatient care, such as when a physician is behind schedule or when the emergency department is crowded, and the waiting room is full. (*Also see* ACC.2) For some services, such as oncology or transplant, delays may be consistent with national norms for those services and thus different from the delays for diagnostic and/or other treatment services.

Measurable Elements of ACC.1.1

- Inpatients and outpatients are informed when there will be a delay in care and/or treatment.
- 2. Patients are informed of the reasons for the delay and provided with information on available alternatives consistent with their clinical needs.
- 3. The information on unusual delay and reasons for the delay are documented in the medical record.

Admission to the Hospital

Standard ACC.2

Intent of ACC.2

Patient flow is considered to be the movement of patients throughout the hospital from the point of admission to the point of discharge; or in the case of outpatients, from the point of registration to the point of disposition. Managing the flow of patients throughout the hospital improves the coordination of care, patient safety, and health outcomes and is essential to preventing emergency department (ED) crowding and boarding of patients waiting for admission in the ED or other temporary locations in the hospital. Effective management of systemwide processes that support patient flow (such as registration of outpatients, elective and emergent admissions, assessment and treatment, patient transfer, shift changes, and discharge) can minimize delays in the delivery of care. The components of the patient flow address the following:

- a) Available supply of inpatient beds
- b) Facility plans for allocation of space, utilities, equipment, medical equipment, and supplies to support patient care for patients admitted to temporary locations in the hospital
- c) Staffing plans to support care of patients admitted to temporary inpatient locations in the hospital or boarded in the ED or temporary holding areas
- d) Patient flow through all areas where patients receive care, treatment, and services (such as inpatient units, laboratory, operating rooms, telemetry, radiology, and the postanesthesia care unit)
- e) Efficiency of nonclinical services that support patient care and treatment (such as housekeeping and transportation)
- f) Providing the same level of care to boarded patients waiting for an inpatient bed as the care provided to admitted patients in the inpatient unit (*Also see* COP.1)
- g) Access to support services for boarded patients (such as social work, religious or spiritual support, and the like)

Monitoring and improving these processes are useful strategies to reduce patient flow problems. Staff from different departments and disciplines throughout the hospital—inpatient units, ED, medical staff, nursing, administration, environmental services, risk management—can make a significant contribution to understanding and resolving problems in patient flow. Measures and goals help identify impacts across units, reveal cycles and trends over time, and support accountability at all levels of the organization. (*Also see* GLD.3.1)

Boarding in the ED must be used as only a temporary solution to hospital crowding. Hospital plans identify a time frame by which boarded patients will be transferred from the ED and other temporary holding areas of the hospital to designated inpatient beds. The expectations here are intended to guide hospitals in providing safe areas, adequate and appropriate staffing for the care needed, and the assessment, reassessment, and care (within the hospital's capabilities) of patients who are subject to boarding while waiting for inpatient beds. (*Also see* ACC.1.1)

Measurable Elements of ACC.2

1.	The hospital develops and implements a process that supports the flow of patients through the hospital that addresses at least a) through g) in the intent.
2.	There is a process for admitting emergency patients to inpatient units.
3.	There is a process for holding patients for observation when needed.
4.	The hospital plans and provides for the care of patients needing admission who are boarded in the ED and other temporary holding areas in the hospital.
5.	The hospital identifies and implements a time limit on boarding patients waiting for inpatient beds.
6.	The individuals who manage patient flow processes review the effectiveness to identify and implement process improvements.

Standard ACC.2.1

Patient needs for preventive, palliative, curative, and rehabilitative services are prioritized based on the patient's condition at the time of admission as an inpatient to the hospital.

Intent of ACC.2.1

When patients are considered for admission as an inpatient to the hospital, the screening assessment helps health care practitioners identify and prioritize the preventive, curative, rehabilitative, and palliative services needed by the patient and select the most appropriate service or unit to meet the patient's most urgent or priority needs.

Measurable Elements of ACC.2.1

- The screening assessment helps health care practitioners identify the patient's needs.
- 2. The service or unit selected to meet these needs is based on the screening assessment findings.
 - 3. Patients' needs related to preventive, curative, rehabilitative, and palliative services are prioritized.

Standard ACC.2.2

At admission as an inpatient, the patient and family receive education and orientation to the inpatient ward, information on the proposed care and any expected costs for care, and the expected outcomes of care.

Intent of ACC.2.2

During the admission process, patients and their families receive sufficient information to make knowledgeable decisions. Information is provided about the proposed care, the expected outcomes, and any expected cost to the patient or family for the care when not paid for by a public or private source. When financial constraints related to the cost of care are present, the hospital seeks ways to overcome those constraints. Such information can be in written form or provided verbally, noting such in the patient's medical record.

Patient safety is an important aspect of patient care. Orientation to the inpatient environment and equipment related to the care and services provided is an essential component of patient safety. (*Also see* PCC.2 and COP.3.2)

Measurable Elements of ACC.2.2

- 1. On admission as an inpatient, the patient and family receive education and orientation to the inpatient ward.
- ☐ 2. The patient and family receive information on the proposed care.
- The patient and family receive information on the expected outcomes of care.
- 4. The patient and family receive information on any expected costs related to the proposed care.

Standard ACC.2.3

Intent of ACC.2.3

Departments/wards that provide intensive or specialized care (**for example**, postsurgical intensive care, the care of burn patients, or the care of organ/tissue transplant patients) are costly and usually are limited in space and

staffing, thus hospitals may restrict admission to these specialized departments/wards (**for example**, admission to the intensive care department/ward may be restricted to only those patients with reversible medical conditions and not allowed for patients whose condition has been identified as terminal). In such cases, the hospital must establish criteria for determining those patients who require the level of care provided in these specialized departments/wards. (*Also see* GLD.10)

To ensure consistency, the criteria should utilize prioritization and diagnostic and/or objective parameters, including physiologic-based criteria when possible. For hospitals with psychiatric services, admission to a locked psychiatric department/ward may include severity of illness criteria that may or may not include physiologic criteria. Individuals from the emergency, intensive, or specialized services participate in developing the criteria. The criteria are used to determine direct entry to the department/ward; **for example**, directly from the emergency department. The criteria are also used to determine admission into the department/ward from within the hospital or from outside the hospital (such as when a patient is transferred from another hospital).

Patients admitted to a specialized department/ward require reassessment and reevaluation to identify when the patient's condition has changed, such that specialized care may no longer be required. For example, when the patient's physiological status has stabilized and intensive monitoring and treatment are no longer necessary, or when the patient's status has deteriorated to the point that specialized care and services will no longer be provided, the patient may be discharged from the specialized department/ward or moved to an area that provides a less intensive level of care (such as a medical/surgical, hospice, or palliative care department/ward).

Measurable Elements of ACC.2.3

1.	The hospital has established entry and/or transfer criteria for admission to intensive and specialized
	departments/wards to meet special patient needs.

2.	The criteria utilize prioritization, diagnostic, and/or objective parameters, including physiologic-
	based criteria when possible.

3.	The hospital has established	discharge and/or	transfer	criteria from	intensive and	specialized	depart-
	ments/wards to a different le	evel of care.					

4.	The medical records of patients who are admitted to departments/wards providing intensive/special-
	ized services contain evidence that they meet the criteria for services.

u	5.	The medical records of patients who are transferred or discharged from departments/wards provid-
		ing intensive or specialized services contain evidence that they no longer meet the criteria for those
		services.

Continuity of Care

Standard ACC.3

The hospital designs and carries out processes to provide continuity of patient care services in the hospital, coordination among health care practitioners, and access to information related to the patient's care.

②

Intent of ACC.3

Patients may be transferred within the hospital from one service or inpatient unit to a different service or inpatient unit during their course of care and treatment. As patients move through the hospital from admission to discharge or transfer, several departments and services and many different health care practitioners may be involved in providing care. Throughout all phases of care, patient needs are matched with the required resources within and, when necessary, outside the hospital. Continuity is enhanced when all health care practitioners have the information needed from the patient's current and past medical experiences to help in

decision making, and, when multiple decision makers are providing care, these decision makers agree on the care and services to be provided.

For patient care to appear seamless, the hospital needs to design and to implement processes for continuity and coordination of care among physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners in

- a) emergency services and inpatient admission;
- b) diagnostic services and treatment services;
- c) surgical and nonsurgical treatment services;
- d) outpatient care programs; and
- e) other organizations and other care settings.

The patient's medical record(s) is a primary source of information on the care process and the patient's progress and thus is an essential communication tool. For this information to be useful and to support the continuity of the patient's care, it needs to be available during inpatient care, for outpatient visits, and at other times as needed and kept up to date. Medical, nursing, and other patient care notes are available to all of the patient's health care practitioners who need them for the care of the patient. (*Also see* MOI.5)

When the care team changes as a result of a transfer, continuity of patient care requires that essential information related to the patient be transferred with him or her so that medications and other treatments can continue uninterrupted, and the patient's status can be monitored. To ensure that each care team receives the information needed to provide care, the patient's medical record(s) is transferred or information from the patient's medical record is summarized at transfer and provided to the care team receiving the patient. Such a summary includes

- f) the reason for admission;
- g) significant findings;
- h) diagnosis;
- i) procedures performed;
- i) medications;
- k) other treatments; and
- 1) the patient's condition at transfer.

The leaders of the departments and services work together to design and to implement the processes of care coordination and continuity. These processes may be supported with the use of tools such as guidelines, clinical pathways, care plans, referral forms, checklists, and the like. (*Also see* COP.3) The hospital identifies individuals responsible for coordinating services. These individuals may coordinate all patient care (**for example**, between departments) or may be responsible for coordinating the care of individual patients (**for example**, case manager). This care coordination is best accomplished by using established criteria or policies that determine the appropriateness of transfers within the hospital. (*Also see* IPSG.2.2; COP.2; COP.9.3; and ASC.7.2)

Measurable Elements of ACC.3

guidelines, or other such tools.

1.	The leaders of departments and services design and implement processes that support continuity and coordination of care, including at least a) through e) identified in the intent.
2.	The patient's medical record(s) is available to those practitioners who are authorized to have access and need it for the care of the patient.
3.	The patient's medical record(s) is up to date to ensure communication of the latest information.
4.	The patient's medical record(s) or a summary of patient care information is transferred with the patient to another service or unit in the hospital
5.	If a summary of information is transferred with the patient, the summary contains at least f) through l) of the intent.
6.	Continuity and coordination of care processes are supported by the use of tools, such as care plans,

Standard ACC.3.1

During all phases of inpatient care, there is a qualified individual identified as responsible for the patient's care. (P)

Intent of ACC.3.1

To maintain continuity of care throughout the patient's stay in the hospital, the individual with overall responsibility for coordination and continuity of the patient's care or particular phase of the patient's care is clearly identified. This individual may be a physician or other qualified individual. (*Also see* COP.2) The responsible individual is identified in the patient's medical record. A single individual providing the oversight of care during the entire hospital stay will improve continuity, coordination, patient satisfaction, quality, and potentially the outcomes and thus is desirable for certain complex patients and others the hospital may identify. This individual would need to collaborate and to communicate with the other health care practitioners. In addition, hospital policy identifies the process for the transfer of responsibility from the responsible individual to another individual during vacations, holidays, and other periods. The policy identifies those consultants, on-call physicians, locum tenentes, or others who take responsibility and how they are to assume that responsibility and to document their participation or coverage. When a patient moves from one phase of care to another (**for example**, from surgical to rehabilitation), the individual responsible for the patient's care may change, or the same individual may continue overseeing the care of the patient.

Measurable Elements of ACC.3.1

- 1. A qualified individual(s) responsible for the coordination of the patient's care is identified in the patient's medical record and is available through all phases of inpatient care.
- 2. There is a process for transferring the responsibility for coordination of care from individual to individual.
- 3. The process identifies how these individuals assume the transferred responsibility and document their participation or coverage.

Discharge, Referral, and Follow-Up

Standard ACC.4

Standard ACC.4.1

The hospital's discharge planning process addresses patient and family education and instruction related to the patient's ongoing need for continuing care and services.

Intent of ACC.4 and ACC.4.1

Discharge planning is a process that is used to help determine what types of continued care and services a patient may need after leaving the hospital to ensure a safe and successful transition from one level of care to another level of care. Effective discharge planning can decrease the risk of hospital readmission, improve recovery, ensure safe medication practices, and help prepare patients and/or families in providing safe, posthospital care. The literature identifies that improvements in hospital discharge planning significantly improve the outcome for patients as they move to the next level of care.

Referring or discharging a patient to a health care practitioner outside the hospital, another care setting, home, or family is based on the patient's health status and readiness for discharge. The patient's physician

or individual responsible for his or her care must determine readiness for referral or discharge based on the policies and relevant criteria or indications of referral and discharge established by the hospital.

The discharge planning process includes identifying the patient's need for continuing care or services. Continuing needs may mean referral to a medical specialist, rehabilitation therapist, or even preventive health needs coordinated in the home by the family. The hospital identifies any needs the patient may have for psychosocial or physical care, treatment, and services after discharge or transfer.

An organized process is required to ensure that any continuing needs are met by appropriate health care practitioners or outside organizations. Patients may need support services and medical services at discharge. For example, patients may need social, nutritional, financial, psychological, or other support at discharge. The availability and actual use of these support services may, to a large degree, determine the need for continuing medical services. The discharge planning process includes the type of support service needed and the availability of such service.

For patients not directly referred or transferred to another health care practitioner, clear instructions on where and how to receive continuing care are essential to ensure optimal outcomes of care and that all care needs are met. The instructions include the name and location of sites for continuing care, any return to the hospital for follow-up, and when urgent care should be obtained. The process includes referring patients to sources of care outside the region when required.

When indicated, the hospital begins to plan for the continuing needs as early in the care process as possible. The patient, the patient's family, health care practitioners, and other staff involved in the patient's care, treatment, and services participate in planning the patient's discharge or transfer.

Patient and family education and instruction are important components of the discharge plan and support the patient's return to previous functional levels and maintenances of optimal health. The discharge process addresses the patient's and family's need for education on how to manage the patient's continuing care needs at home. Standardized materials and processes are used to educate patients on topics related to their ongoing care and treatment after hospital discharge. Patient education and follow-up instructions are provided to the patient in a form and language the patient understands. (*Also see* PCC.2)

Based on the patient's identified continuing care needs, discharge education and instruction may include, but are not limited to, the following topics:

- Review of all medications to be taken at home
- Safe and effective use of all medications, including potential medication side effects
- Potential interactions between prescribed medications and other medications (including over-the-counter preparations) and food
- Diet and nutrition
- Pain management as needed
- Safe and effective use of medical equipment, as appropriate
- Rehabilitation techniques, as appropriate.

Measurable Elements of ACC.4 The hospital develops and implements a discharge planning and referral process that starts at the beginning of care and is based on the patient's readiness for discharge. 2. The patient's readiness for discharge is determined by the use of relevant criteria or indications that ensure patient safety. 3. The discharge planning process includes the need for both support services and continuing medical 4. Patients not directly referred or transferred are provided with the name and location of a site(s) for continuing care. Patients not directly referred or transferred are provided instructions, in writing, on when to return to the hospital for continued care, if appropriate, and when and how to obtain urgent care. Discharge planning and instructions are documented in the patient record and provided to the patient in writing. Measurable Elements of ACC.4.1 Patient and family education and instruction are related to the patient's ongoing need for continuing 2. Patients and families are provided with a complete list of medications to be taken at home. Patients and families are educated about the safe and effective use of all medications, potential side effects, and the prevention of potential interactions with over-the-counter medications and/or food.

Standard ACC.4.2

tion techniques as appropriate.

The complete discharge summary is prepared for all inpatients, and a copy of the discharge summary is contained in the patient's medical record.

Patients and families are educated about safe and effective use of medical equipment and rehabilita-

Patients and families are educated about proper diet and nutrition.

Patients and families are educated about pain management as appropriate.

Intent of ACC.4.2

4.

5.

G.

The discharge summary provides an overview of the patient's stay within the hospital. A summary of the patient's care is prepared at discharge from the hospital. Any qualified individual can compile the discharge summary, such as the patient's physician, a house officer, or a clerk. A copy of the discharge summary is provided to the practitioner who will be responsible for the continuing or follow-up care of the patient.

A copy is given to the patient when indicated by hospital policy or by common practice consistent with laws and culture. In cases in which details of a patient's follow-up care are unknown, such as with patients who are visiting from a different region or country, a copy of the discharge summary is given to the patient. (*Also see* MOI.4) The copy of the discharge summary is placed in the patient's medical record.

The summary includes the following:

- a) Reason for admission, diagnoses, and comorbidities
- b) Significant physical and other findings
- c) Diagnostic and therapeutic procedures performed

- d) Medications administered during hospitalization with the potential for residual effects after the medication has been discontinued
- e) All medications to be taken at home
- f) The patient's condition/status at the time of discharge (examples include "condition improved," "condition unchanged," and the like)
- g) Follow-up instructions

Measurable Elements of ACC.4.2

- ☐ 1. A discharge summary is prepared by a qualified individual.
- ☐ 2. The discharge summary contains at least a) through g) of the intent.
- 3. A copy of the discharge summary is provided to the practitioner responsible for the patient's continuing or follow-up care.
- 4. A copy of the discharge summary is provided to the patient in cases in which information regarding the practitioner responsible for the patient's continuing or follow-up care is unknown.
- 1 5. A copy of the completed discharge summary is placed in the patient's medical record in a time frame identified by the hospital.

Standard ACC.4.2.1

The medical records of patients receiving emergency care include the time of arrival and departure, the conclusions at termination of treatment, the patient's condition at discharge, and follow-up care instructions.

Intent of ACC.4.2.1

The record of each patient receiving emergency care includes the arrival and departure times. This information is captured for all emergency department patients, including those who are discharged from the hospital, transferred to another facility, or admitted as inpatients. Departure time may be when the patient physically leaves the emergency department to go home or to another facility, or the time at which the patient is moved to another unit as an inpatient. For patients who are discharged from the emergency department, the medical record includes the conclusions at termination of treatment, the patient's condition at discharge, and follow-up care instructions. (*Also see* ACC.1)

Measurable Elements of ACC.4.2.1

- 1. The medical records of all emergency patients include arrival and departure times.
- 2. The medical records of discharged emergency patients include conclusions at the termination of treatment.
- The medical records of discharged emergency patients include the patient's condition at discharge.
- 4. The medical records of discharged emergency patients include any follow-up care instructions.

Standard ACC.4.3

The records of outpatients requiring complex care or with complex diagnoses contain profiles of the medical care and are made available to health care practitioners providing care to those patients.

①

Intent of ACC.4.3

When the hospital provides ongoing care and treatment for outpatients with complex diagnoses and/or who need complex care (**for example**, patients seen several times for multiple problems, multiple treatments, in

multiple clinics, and/or the like), there may be an accumulated number of diagnoses and medications and an evolving clinical history and physical examination findings. It is important for any health care practitioner in all settings providing care to that outpatient to have access to information about the care being provided. (*Also see* ACC.3) The information may be contained in a patient profile or similar brief overview. The purpose of a profile is to have critical information quickly and easily available to health care practitioners, particularly when there are multiple outpatient providers. The development of a profile is required whether the outpatient department uses hard-copy or electronic medical records.

The process for providing this information to health care practitioners includes

- identifying the types of patients receiving complex care and/or with complex diagnoses (such as patients seen in the cardiac clinic with multiple comorbidities, or patients with end-stage renal failure):
- identifying the information needed by the clinicians who treat those patients;
- determining what process will be used to ensure that the medical information needed by the clinicians is easy to retrieve and easy to review; and
- evaluating the process to verify that the information and implementation meet the needs of the clinicians and improve the quality and safety of outpatient clinical services.

Measurable Elements of ACC.4.3

- The hospital identifies the types of outpatients receiving complex care and/or with complex diagnoses who require an outpatient profile.
- 2. The clinician(s) who treats the patient identifies necessary information to be included in the outpatient profile.
- 3. The hospital uses a process that will ensure the outpatient profile is easy to retrieve and review.
- 4. The process is evaluated to see if it meets the needs of the clinicians and improves the quality and safety of outpatient clinical visits.

Standard ACC.4.4

Standard ACC.4.4.1

The hospital has a process for the management of patients who leave the hospital against medical advice without notifying hospital staff. (2)

Intent of ACC.4.4 and ACC.4.4.1

When a patient decides to leave the hospital after an examination has been completed and a treatment plan recommended, whether it is an inpatient or an outpatient, this is identified as "leaving against medical advice." Inpatients and outpatients (including patients from the emergency department) have the right to refuse medical treatment and/or leave the hospital against medical advice. However, these patients may be at risk of inadequate treatment, which may result in permanent harm or death. When a competent inpatient or outpatient requests to leave the hospital without medical approval, the medical risks must be explained by the physician providing the treatment plan or his or her designee prior to discharge. Also, normal discharge procedures should be followed, if the patient allows. (Also see ACC.4.1) If the patient has a family physician who has not been involved, but is known to the hospital, the family physician must be notified of the patient's decision. Efforts should be made to identify the reason the patient is choosing to leave against medical advice. Hospitals need to understand these reasons in order to be able to provide better communication to patients and/or families and identify potential process improvements.

There may be special circumstances in which a patient may be granted permission to leave the hospital during the course of treatment. As permitted by hospital policy and regional laws and regulations, the hospital may develop a process to permit patients to leave the hospital for a period of time (such as on a weekend "pass"). The decision to grant leaves/passes must be based on the patient's physical and mental status and on family capability to provide safe care (if accompanying the patient), and it must include input from the treatment team and—as appropriate—the patient/family.

When a patient leaves the hospital against medical advice without notifying anyone in the hospital, or an outpatient receiving complex or lifesaving treatment (such as hemodialysis, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy) does not return for treatment, the hospital must make an effort to contact the patient to inform him or her of potential risks. If the patient has a family physician who is known to the hospital, the hospital, in order to reduce the risk of harm, should notify that physician.

The hospital designs this process to be consistent with applicable laws and regulations. When applicable, the hospital reports cases of infectious disease and provides information regarding patients who may harm themselves or others to local and national health authorities as required. (*Also see* PCI.1)

Measurable Elements of ACC.4.4

- 1. There is a process for managing inpatients and outpatients who notify staff that they are leaving against medical advice.
- 2. The process includes informing the patient of the medical risks of inadequate treatment.
- ☐ 3. The patient is discharged according to the hospital discharge process.
- 4. If the family physician of a patient leaving against medical advice is known and has not been involved in the process, the physician is notified.
- 5. The process is consistent with applicable laws and regulations, including requirements for reporting cases of infectious disease and cases in which patients may be a threat to themselves or others.
- When consistent with regional laws and regulations, the hospital develops a process for allowing patients to leave the hospital during the planned course of treatment on an approved pass for a defined period of time.

Measurable Elements of ACC.4.4.1

- 1. There is a process for the management of inpatients and outpatients who leave the hospital against medical advice without notifying hospital staff.
- 2. There is a process for the management of outpatients receiving complex treatment who do not return for treatment.
- 3. If the family physician is known and has not been involved in the process, the physician is notified.
- 4. The process is consistent with applicable laws and regulations, including requirements for reporting cases of infectious disease and cases in which patients may be a threat to themselves or others.

Transfer of Patients

Standard ACC.5

The hospital develops a process to transfer patients to other health care organizations based on status, the need to meet their continuing care needs, and the ability of the receiving organization to meet patients' needs. (P)

Intent of ACC.5

Transferring a patient to an outside organization is based on the patient's status and need for continuing health care services. Transfer may be in response to a patient's need for specialized consultation and treatment, urgent services, or less intensive services (such as subacute care or longer-term rehabilitation) or by request of the patient and/or the patient's family due to personal reasons. Criteria help to identify when a transfer is necessary in order to ensure that the patient's needs are met. (*Also see* ACC.1)

When referring a patient to another organization, the referring hospital must determine if the receiving organization provides services to meet the patient's needs and has the capacity to receive the patient. This determination is usually made well in advance, and the willingness to receive patients and the transfer conditions are described in formal or informal affiliations or agreements. This advance determination ensures continuity of care and that the patient's care needs will be met. Transfers may occur to other sources of specialized treatment or services without formal or informal transfer agreements.

Transferring a patient directly to another health care organization may be a brief process with an alert and talking patient, or it may involve moving a comatose patient who needs continuous nursing or medical oversight. In either case, the patient requires monitoring and may need specialized medical equipment, but the qualifications of the individual doing the monitoring and the type of medical equipment needed are significantly different. Thus, the condition and status of the patient determine the qualifications of the staff member monitoring the patient and the type of medical equipment needed during transfer.

A consistent process for how patients are transferred from one organization to another is required to ensure that patients are transferred safely. Such a process addresses

- how and when responsibility is transferred between practitioners and settings;
- criteria for when transfer is necessary to meet the patient's needs;
- who is responsible for the patient during transfer;
- what medications, supplies, and medical equipment are required during transfer;
- a follow-up mechanism that provides the condition of the patient during transfer and upon arrival to the receiving organization; and
- what is done when transfer to another source of care is not possible.

The hospital evaluates the quality and safety of the transfer process to ensure that patients were transferred with qualified staff and the correct medical equipment for the patient's condition.

Measurable Elements of ACC.5

1.	The hospital develops a transfer process that is based on criteria to address patients' needs for continuing care.
2.	The transfer process addresses how and when responsibility for continuing care is moved to another practitioner or setting and determines that the receiving organization can meet the needs of the patient to be transferred.
3.	The transfer process identifies who is responsible for monitoring the patient during transfer and the staff qualifications required for the type of patient being transferred.
4.	The transfer process identifies the medications, supplies, and medical equipment required during transport.
5.	The transfer process addresses a follow-up mechanism that provides information about the patient's condition upon arrival to the receiving organization.
6.	The transfer process addresses the situations in which transfer is not possible.

Standard ACC.5.1

The receiving organization is given a written summary of the patient's clinical condition and the interventions provided by the referring hospital, and the process is documented in the patient's medical record.

Intent of ACC.5.1

To ensure continuity of care, patient information is transferred with the patient. A copy of the discharge summary or other written clinical summary is provided to the receiving organization with the patient. (*Also see* MOI.4) The summary includes at least

- a) the patient's clinical condition or status;
- b) the procedures and other interventions provided; and
- c) the patient's continuing needs.

The medical record of each patient transferred to another health care organization contains documentation of the transfer. The documentation includes the name of the organization and the name of the individual agreeing to receive the patient, the reason(s) for the transfer, and any special conditions for transfer (such as when space at the receiving organization is available, or the patient's status). Also, it is noted if the patient's condition or status changed during transfer (**for example**, the patient dies or requires resuscitation). Any other documentation required by hospital policy (**for example**, a signature of the receiving nurse or physician, the name of the individual who monitored the patient during transport) is included in the medical record. (*Also see* MOI.8)

Measurable Elements of ACC.5.1

- 1. A patient clinical summary document is transferred with the patient and includes at least a) through c) of the intent.
- 2. The medical records of transferred patients identify the name of the receiving health care organization and the name of the individual agreeing to receive the patient.
- ☐ 3. The medical records of transferred patients contain documentation or other notes as required by the policy of the transferring hospital.
 - 4. The medical records of transferred patients state the reason(s) for transfer and any special conditions related to transfer.

Transportation

Standard ACC.6

Intent of ACC.6

The process for referring, transferring, and/or discharging patients includes understanding their transportation needs and ensuring their safe transport home or to the next care setting. In particular, assessing the transportation needs of patients requiring assistance is necessary. **For example**, patients from long term care facilities or rehabilitative centers needing outpatient services or evaluation in the emergency department may arrive by ambulance or other medical vehicle. Upon completion of the service, the patient may require assistance with transportation back to his or her home or another facility. In other situations, patients may drive themselves to the hospital for a procedure that impairs their ability to drive themselves home (such as eye surgery or a procedure that requires procedural sedation). Assessing patients' transportation needs and ensuring

safe transportation for those patients who require assistance is the hospital's responsibility. Depending on hospital policy and the laws and regulations of the region, the cost of the transportation may or may not be the responsibility of the hospital.

The type of transportation will vary depending on the needs of the patient and may be by ambulance or other vehicles owned or contracted by the hospital or by a source designated by the family. The hospital ensures that staff responsible for monitoring the patient or providing other patient care during transport have the qualifications required for the type of patient being transferred. (*Also see* SQE.3)

When the transport vehicles are owned by the hospital, they need to comply with all applicable laws and regulations related to their operation, condition, and maintenance. The hospital identifies the transportation situations that have a risk of infection and implements strategies to reduce infection risk. (*Also see* PCI.4) The required drugs, medications, and other supplies needed within the vehicle are based on the types of patients transported. (*Also see* MMU.3 and PCI.6) **For example**, simply taking geriatric patients home from outpatient visits is very different than transferring an infectious disease or burn patient to another hospital.

If the hospital contracts for transport services, the hospital must be assured that the contractor meets similar standards for patient and vehicle safety. When transportation services are provided by the Ministry of Health, an insurance organization, or other entity not under the control or supervision of the hospital, reporting quality and safety issues to the responsible organization provides valuable feedback that can help in making quality decisions related to patient transports.

In all cases, the hospital evaluates the quality and safety of the transportation services. This includes the receipt of, evaluation of, and response to complaints regarding the transportation provided or arranged.

Measurable Elements of ACC.6

- 1. The process for referring and/or discharging patients includes an assessment of transportation needs for patients who may require assistance.
- 2. Transportation services, including contracted services, and transport vehicles owned by the hospital meet relevant laws and regulations and the hospital's requirements for quality and safe transport.
- 3. All vehicles used for transportation, contracted or hospital owned, comply with the infection prevention and control program and have appropriate medical equipment, supplies, and medications to meet the needs of the patient being transported.
- 4. The transportation provided or arranged is appropriate to the needs and condition of the patient.
- 5. There is a process in place to monitor the quality and safety of transportation provided or arranged by the hospital, including a complaint process.

References

Screening for Admission to the Hospital

Alekseyev K, et al. Development of a pre-admission screening checklist to minimize acute discharges from an inpatient rehabilitation facility: A quality improvement initiative. *Patient Safety & Quality Improvement Journal*. 2017;5(1):488–492.

Carter LE, et al. Screening for pediatric malnutrition at hospital admission: Which screening tool is best? *Nutr Clin Pract*. Epub 2019 Jul 9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ncp.10367.

Hutzschenreuter L, et al. Costs of outpatient and inpatient MRSA screening and treatment strategies for patients at elective hospital admission—A decision tree analysis. *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control.* 2018 Nov 29;7:147. https://doi.org/doi.10.1186/s13756-018-0442-x.

Natsukawa T, et al. Development of a new triage method to prioritize patients arriving at the emergency room. *Prehosp Disaster Med.* 2019 May;34(s1):s118–s119. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X1900253X.

Admission to the Hospital

Baughman AW, et al. Improving access to care by admission process redesign in a Veterans Affairs skilled nursing facility. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2018 Aug;44(8):454–462.

de Grood C, et al. Patient, family and provider experiences with transfers from intensive care unit to hospital ward: A multicentre qualitative study. *CMAJ*. 2018 Jun 4;190(22):E669-E676. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170588.

Ehikhametalor K, et al. Guidelines for intensive care unit admission, discharge and triage. West Indian Med J. 2019;68 Suppl 2:46–54. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.mona.uwi.edu/fms/wimj/system/files/article_pdfs/vol_68_suppl_2_2019_guidelines_for_intensive_care_unit_admission_discharge_and_triage.pdf.

Hsu CM, et al. Emergency department overcrowding: Quality improvement in a Taiwan Medical Center. *J Formos Med Assoc*. 2019 Jan;118(1 Pt 1):186–193.

Kovalchuk SV, et al. Simulation of patient flow in multiple healthcare units using process and data mining techniques for model identification. *J Biomed Inform.* 2018 Jun;82:128–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2018.05.004.

Lee IH, et al. A new strategy for emergency department crowding: High-turnover utility bed intervention. *J Chin Med Assoc.* 2017 May;80(5):297–302.

Continuity of Care

American Academy of Pediatrics. Patient- and family-centered care coordination: A framework for integrating care for children and youth from across multiple systems. *Pediatrics*. 2014 May;133(5):e1451–e1460. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://pediatrics/133/5/e1451.full.pdf.

Hsiao YL, et al. Implementation of a comprehensive program to improve coordination of care in an urban academic health care system. *J Health Organ Manag.* 2018 Aug 20;32(5):638–657. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-09-2017-0228.

Moyer A, McGillen B. Transitioning patients across the care continuum. *Nurse Lead*. 2018 Dec;16(6):389–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2018.07.011.

Discharge, Referral, and Follow-Up

The Joint Commission. Transitions of care: Engaging patients and families. *Quick Safety*, Issue 18. Nov 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick Safety Issue 18 November 20151.PDF.

Landier W, et al. Patient/family education for newly diagnosed pediatric oncology patients: Consensus recommendations from a children's oncology group expert panel. *J Pediatr Oncol Nurs.* 2016 Nov–Dec;33(6):422–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043454216655983.

Marshall LC. Mastering Patient and Family Education: A Healthcare Handbook for Success. Indianapolis: Sigma Theta Tau International, 2016.

Meuter RF, et al. Overcoming language barriers in healthcare: A protocol for investigating safe and effective communication when patients or clinicians use a second language. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015 Sep 10;15:371. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1024-8.

Peter D, et al. Reducing readmissions using teach-back: Enhancing patient and family education. *J Nurs Adm.* 2015 Jan;45(1):35–42. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000000155.

Reidy J, et al. Health system advance care planning culture change for high-risk patients: The promise and challenges of engaging providers, patients, and families in systematic advance care planning. *J Palliat Med.* 2017 Apr;20(4):388–394.

Robelia PM, et al. Information transfer and the hospital discharge summary: National primary care provider perspectives of challenges and opportunities. *J Am Board Fam Med.* 2017 Nov–Dec;30(6):758–765. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2017.06.170194.

Street RL Jr, et al. Provider interaction with the electronic health record: The effects on patient-centered communication in medical encounters. *Patient Educ Couns.* 2014 Sep;96(3):315–319.

van Rosse F, et al. Language barriers and patient safety risks in hospital care. A mixed methods study. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2016 Feb;54:45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.03.012.

World Health Organization. WHO Global Strategy on People-Centred and Integrated Health Services: Interim Report. 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/155002/WHO_HIS_SDS_2015.6_e?sequence=1.

Transfer of Patients

Bergman L, et al. Improving quality and safety during intrahospital transport of critically ill patients: A critical incident study. *Aust Crit Care*. Epub 2019 Jan 21. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2018.12.003.

Bourn S, Wijesingha, S, Nordmann, G. Transfer of the critically ill adult patient. *BJA Education*. 2018 Mar;18(3):63–68.

Transportation

Overton JW. Safety and Quality in Medical Transport Systems: Creating an Effective Culture. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315607450.

Farnoosh L, et al. Preparation and implementation of intrahospital transfer protocol for emergency department patients to decrease unexpected events. *Adv J Emerg Med*. 2018 Jan 22;2(3):e29. https://doi.org/10.22114/AJEM.v0i0.50.

Williams P, et al. A checklist for intrahospital transport of critically ill patients improves compliance with transportation safety guidelines. *Aust Crit Care*. Epub 2019 Apr 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2019.02.004.

Steenhoff TC, Zohn SF. *EMS*, *Air Medical Transport*. (Updated: Feb 25, 2019.) Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls, 2019. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482358/.

Patient-Centered Care (PCC)

Overview

Each patient and his or her family have their own unique needs, strengths, values, and beliefs. Patient and family education helps patients better understand and participate in their care and make well-informed care decisions. Health care organizations work to establish trust and open communication with patients and to understand and protect each patient's cultural, psychosocial, and spiritual values.

Patient care outcomes can be improved when patients and, as appropriate, their families and/or those who make decisions on their behalf are well informed and involved in care decisions and processes in a way that matches their cultural expectations.

To promote patient rights and patient-centered care, organizations begin by defining those rights and involving patients and their families in making decisions about the patient's care. Patients need to be well informed of their rights and how to act on them. Multidisciplinary team members are taught to understand and to respect patients' beliefs and values and to provide considerate and respectful care that promotes and protects patients' dignity and self-worth.

This chapter addresses processes to

- identify, protect, and promote patient rights;
- inform patients of their rights;
- include the patient's family, when appropriate, in decisions about the patient's care;
- incorporate patient satisfaction and experience in the quality of care;
- obtain informed consent;
- educate staff about patient and family rights; and
- inform patients and families about the hospital's oversight process of organ and tissue procurement.

How these processes are carried out in an organization depends on its country's local laws and regulations and any international conventions, treaties, or agreements on human rights endorsed by the country.

These processes are related to how an organization provides health care in an equitable manner, given the structure of the health care delivery system and the health care financing mechanisms of the country.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Patient and Family Rights

PCC.1 The hospital is responsible for providing processes that support patients' and families' rights during care.

- **PCC.1.1** The hospital seeks to reduce physical, language, cultural, and other barriers to access and delivery of services and provides information and education to patients and families in a language and manner they can understand.
- **PCC.1.2** The hospital provides care that supports patient dignity, is respectful of the patient's personal values and beliefs, and responds to requests for spiritual and religious observance.
- **PCC.1.3** The hospital establishes a process to ensure patient privacy and confidentiality of care and information and allows patients the right to have access to their health information within the context of existing law and culture.

 ①
- **PCC.1.4** The hospital takes measures to protect patients' possessions from theft or loss.
- **PCC.1.5** Patients are protected from physical assault, and populations at risk are identified and protected from additional vulnerabilities.
- PCC.2 Patients and families are engaged in all aspects of their medical care and treatment through education and participation in care and treatment decisions and care processes.

 Possible Patients and families are engaged in all aspects of their medical care and treatment through education and participation in care and treatment decisions and care processes.
 - **PCC.2.1** The hospital informs patients and families about their rights and responsibilities to refuse or discontinue treatment, withhold resuscitative services, and forgo or withdraw life-sustaining treatments.

 P
 - **PCC.2.2** The hospital supports the patient's right to assessment and management of pain and respectful compassionate care at the end of life.
- - **PCC.3.1** The hospital informs patients and families about its process to receive and to act on complaints, conflicts, and differences of opinion about patient care and the patient's right to participate in these processes.

 P

Patient Consent Process

- **PCC.4** General consent for treatment, if obtained when a patient is admitted as an inpatient or is registered for the first time as an outpatient, is clear in its scope and limits. **(P)**
 - PCC.4.1 Patient informed consent is obtained through a process defined by the hospital and carried out by trained staff in a manner and language the patient can understand.

 Output

 Description:

 - Patients and families receive adequate information about the patient's condition, proposed treatment(s) or procedure(s), and health care practitioners so that they can grant consent and make care decisions.
 - **PCC.4.4** The hospital establishes a process, within the context of existing law and culture, for when others can grant consent.

Patient and Family Education

- **PCC.5** The hospital provides an education program that is based on its mission, services provided, and patient population, and health care practitioners collaborate to provide education.
 - **PCC.5.1** Each patient's educational needs and ability and willingness to learn are assessed and recorded in his or her medical record.

PCC.5.2 Education methods take into account the patient's and family's values and preferences and allow sufficient interaction among the patient, family, and staff for learning to occur.

Organ and Tissue Donation Information

PCC.6 The hospital informs patients and families about how to choose to donate organs and other tissues.

PCC.6.1 The hospital provides oversight for the process of organ and tissue procurement. **(P)**

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Patient and Family Rights

Standard PCC.1

The hospital is responsible for providing processes that support patients' and families' rights during care.

Intent of PCC.1

The hospital leadership is primarily responsible for how a hospital will treat its patients. Thus, leadership needs to know and to understand patient and family rights and the hospital's responsibilities as identified in laws and regulations. Leadership then provides direction to department/service leaders who ensure that staff throughout the hospital assume responsibility for protecting these rights. To effectively protect and to advance patient rights, leadership works and seeks to understand its responsibilities in relation to the community served by the hospital. (*Also see* GLD.3.1)

Often, patients wish to have family participate in their care decisions; however, they may define family differently from the traditional definition of family. Patients have the right to identify who they consider to be their family and be allowed to have them involved in their care. In order for families to participate, they must be allowed to be present. When capable, patients are given the opportunity to decide if and to what extent they wish family to be involved, what information regarding their care would be provided to family or others, and under what circumstances. **For example**, the patient may not wish to have a diagnosis shared with family, or the family may not want the patient to know his or her diagnosis.

Patient and family rights are a fundamental element of all contacts among a hospital, its staff, and patients and families. The hospital develops and implements processes to ensure that all staff members are aware of and respond to patient and family rights issues when they interact with and care for patients throughout the hospital. The hospital uses a collaborative and inclusive process to develop the policies and procedures and includes patients and families in the process. (*Also see* COP.8.5 and COP.9)

Measurable Elements of PCC.1 □ 1. Hospital leadership works collaboratively to protect and to advance patient and family rights. □ 2. Hospital leadership implements patient and family rights as identified in laws and regulations. □ 3. Hospital leadership protects patient and family rights in relation to the cultural practices of the community or individual patients served. □ 4. Hospital leadership protects the patient's right to identify who the patient wishes to participate in care decisions. □ 5. The hospital has a process to determine the patient's preference, and in some circumstances the

- The hospital has a process to determine the patient's preference, and in some circumstances the patient's family's preference, in determining what information regarding the patient's care would be provided to family or others, and under what circumstances.
- All health care practitioners are trained on the processes for and their role in supporting patient and family rights and participation in care.

Standard PCC.1.1

The hospital seeks to reduce physical, language, cultural, and other barriers to access and delivery of services and provides information and education to patients and families in a language and manner they can understand.

Intent of PCC.1.1

Admission as an inpatient to a hospital or registration as an outpatient (**for example**, in the emergency department or ambulatory clinic) can be frightening and confusing for patients. Hospitals frequently serve communities with a diverse population. Patients may be aged, have disabilities, speak multiple languages or dialects, be culturally diverse, or present other barriers that make the process of accessing and receiving care very difficult. (*Also see* COP.1 and GLD.12) **For example**, patients with impaired mobility or who are visually impaired may have difficulty entering or navigating the hospital building. Communication may be difficult for patients and families who speak a different language, and patients may not be able to understand all aspects of their care and treatment. Patients may find it complicated and confusing when attempting to access care and understand their rights and responsibilities in the care process.

The hospital has identified barriers, implemented processes to eliminate or to reduce barriers, and takes action to reduce the impact of barriers for patients seeking care. **For example**, safe accessibility to building and care/treatment departments is evaluated and provided; disability and cultural signage may include the use of multilingual signs and/or international symbols, and translators may be used for patients speaking different languages.

The hospital prepares a written statement of patient and family rights and responsibilities that is available to patients when they are admitted as inpatients or registered as outpatients. The statement may be posted in the facility or available as a brochure. The statement is appropriate to the patient's age, understanding, and language. When written communication is not effective or appropriate, the patient and family are informed of their rights and responsibilities in a language and manner they can understand.

Measurable Elements of PCC.1.1

- 1. The department/service leaders and staff of the hospital identify their patient population's most common and challenging barriers to accessing and receiving care.
- 2. The department/service leaders develop and implement a process to overcome or limit barriers to access to care and their impact on service delivery for patients seeking care.
- 3. Information about aspects of the patient's medical care and treatment are provided in a manner and language the patient understands.
- 4. Information about patient rights and responsibilities is provided to each patient in writing or other method, in a language the patient understands.
- 5. The statement of patient rights and responsibilities is posted or otherwise available from staff at all times.

Standard PCC.1.2

The hospital provides care that supports patient dignity, is respectful of the patient's personal values and beliefs, and responds to requests for spiritual and religious observance.

Intent of PCC.1.2

One of the most important human needs is the desire for respect and dignity. Often, patients experience feelings of loss due to increased dependency in situations such as the need for assistance with feeding, movement, and personal hygiene. The patient has the right to care that is respectful and considerate at all times, in all circumstances, and recognizes the patient's personal worth and self-dignity.

Each patient brings his or her own set of values and beliefs to the care process. Strongly held values and beliefs can shape the care process and how patients respond to care. Some values and beliefs are commonly held by all patients and are frequently cultural and religious in origin. Other values and beliefs are those of the patient alone. All patients are encouraged to express their beliefs in ways that respect the beliefs of others. (*Also see* PCC.5.2) Staff seek to understand the care and services they provide within the context of the patient's values and beliefs. (*Also see* COP.7)

When a patient or family wishes to speak with someone about religious or spiritual needs or observe a spiritual or religious custom, the hospital has a process to respond to the request. The process may be carried out through on-site religious staff, local sources, or family-referred sources. The process to respond is more complex; **for example**, when the hospital or country does not officially "recognize" and/or have sources related to a religion or belief for which there may be a request.

Measurable Elements of PCC.1.2

- 1. Staff provide care that is respectful and considerate of the patient's dignity and self-worth.
- 2. The patient's spiritual and cultural beliefs and the patient's values are respected.
- 3. The hospital responds to routine as well as complex requests related to religious or spiritual support.

Standard PCC.1.3

The hospital establishes a process to ensure patient privacy and confidentiality of care and information and allows patients the right to have access to their health information within the context of existing law and culture.

①

Intent of PCC.1.3

Patient privacy, particularly during clinical interviews, examinations, procedures/treatments, and transport, is important. Patients may desire privacy from other staff, from other patients, and even from family members or other designees identified by the patient. Also, patients may not wish to be photographed, to be recorded, or to participate in accreditation survey interviews. Although there are some common approaches to providing privacy for all patients, individual patients may have different or additional privacy expectations and needs according to the situation, and these expectations and needs may change over time. Thus, as staff members provide care and services to patients, they inquire about the patient's privacy needs and expectations related to the care or service. This communication between a staff member and his or her patient builds trust and open communication and may be documented in the patient's plan of care, particularly when the patient expresses different or additional privacy expectations.

Medical and other health information, when documented and collected, is important for understanding the patient and his or her needs and for providing care and services over time. This information may be in paper or electronic form or a combination of the two. The hospital respects such information as confidential and has implemented policies and procedures that protect such information from loss or misuse. The policies and procedures reflect information that is released as required by laws and regulations. (*Also see* MOI.2 and MOI.6)

Staff respect patient privacy and confidentiality by not posting confidential information on the patient's door or at the nursing station and by not holding patient-related discussions in public places. Staff are aware of laws and regulations governing the confidentiality of information and inform patients about how the hospital respects their privacy and the confidentiality of information. Patients are also informed about when and under what circumstances information may be released and how their permission will be obtained.

In addition to granting permission to share health information with others, patients also have the right to access their own health information. When they have access to their health information, patients can make better decisions about their health care. In addition, access to health information allows patients to review and monitor compliance with their treatment plans, fix any errors that may be in their health record, and monitor their progress in managing their disease(s), among other benefits.

Patient health information may be available in multiple forms. **For example**, in the hospitalized patient, health care information is contained in hospital medical records; however, some health information may also be available through a secure website, such as a patient portal. The hospital has a process for providing patients with access to their health information within the context of existing laws, regulations, and culture.

Measurable Elements of PCC.1.3

Staff members meet patient expectations and needs for privacy, when expressed, during care and treatment. A patient's expressed need for privacy is respected for all clinical interviews, examinations, procedures/treatments, and transport. 3. Confidentiality of patient information is maintained according to laws and regulations. 4. The hospital has a process for patients to grant permission for the release of information not covered by laws and regulations. 5. The hospital has a process for providing patients with access to their health information within the context of existing laws, regulations, and culture. Access to health information is timely, and cost does not prevent access to this information for the purpose of maintaining continuity of care.

Standard PCC.1.4

The hospital takes measures to protect patients' possessions from theft or loss.

Intent of PCC.1.4

The hospital communicates its responsibility, if any, for the patient's possessions to patients and families. When the hospital takes responsibility for any or all of the patient's personal possessions brought into the hospital, there is a process to account for the possessions and to ensure that they will not be lost or stolen. This process considers the possessions of emergency patients, same-day surgery patients, inpatients, those patients unable to make alternative safekeeping arrangements, and those incapable of making decisions regarding their possessions. (*Also see* FMS.6)

Measurable Elements of PCC.1.4

1.	The hospital has determined its level of responsibility for patients' possessions.
2.	Patients receive information about the hospital's responsibility for protecting personal belongings.
3.	Patients' possessions are safeguarded when the hospital assumes responsibility or when the patient is unable to assume responsibility.

Standard PCC.1.5

Patients are protected from physical assault, and populations at risk are identified and protected from additional vulnerabilities.

Intent of PCC.1.5

The hospital is responsible for protecting patients from physical assault by visitors, other patients, and staff. This responsibility is particularly relevant to infants and children, the elderly, and others unable to protect themselves or to signal for help. The hospital seeks to prevent assault through such processes as investigating individuals in the facility without identification, monitoring remote or isolated areas of the facility, and quickly responding to those thought to be in danger of assault.

Each hospital identifies its at-risk patient groups (such as children, disabled individuals, the elderly) and establishes processes to protect the rights of individuals in these groups. Vulnerable patient groups and the hospital's responsibility may be identified in laws and regulations. Staff members understand their responsibilities in these processes. Children, disabled individuals, the elderly, and other identified populations at risk are protected. Comatose patients and individuals with mental or emotional disabilities are also included. Such protection extends beyond physical assault to other areas of safety, such as abuse, negligent care, withholding of services, or providing assistance in the event of a fire. (*Also see* FMS.5 and FMS.8)

Measurable Elements of PCC.1.5

IAIC	leasurable Elements of Foo. 1.5					
	1.	The hospital develops and implements a process to protect all patients from assault.				
	2.	The hospital identifies vulnerable populations with additional risks of assault.				
	3.	The hospital develops and implements a process to protect vulnerable populations from other safety issues.				
	4.	The hospital monitors remote or isolated areas of the facility.				

Standard PCC.2

Patients and families are engaged in all aspects of their medical care and treatment through education and participation in care and treatment decisions and care processes.

①

Intent of PCC.2

Patients and families become engaged in their health care process by making decisions about care, asking questions about care, requesting a second opinion, and even refusing diagnostic procedures and treatments. (Also see COP.7) For patients and families to participate in care decisions, they need basic information about the medical conditions found during assessment, including any confirmed diagnosis, and the proposed care and treatment. The hospital plans and offers education to patients (and, when applicable, their families) to ensure they are able to participate in care decisions and care for themselves after discharge. When patients are engaged in the decision-making process, they and their health care providers can collaboratively make better decisions regarding the patient's health, which can lead to improved patient outcomes. (Also see MOI.6)

During the care process patients have a right to be told of the expected outcomes of the planned care and treatment. In addition, when an unanticipated event or outcome has occurred during their care or treatment, it is important that they also be informed of that event. (*Also see* PCI.8.1) Unanticipated events may include hospital-acquired infections, pressure ulcers, or postoperative infections. Patients and families understand that they have a right to this information and who is responsible for telling them. For patients, it should be clear who will provide them with the information about their medical condition, care, treatment, outcomes, unanticipated events, and the like. (*Also see* PCC.4.1 and COP.8.5)

Patients and families understand the type of decisions that must be made about care and how to participate in those decisions. Although some patients may not wish to personally know a confirmed diagnosis or to participate in the decisions regarding their care, they are given the opportunity and can choose to participate through a family member, a friend, or a surrogate decision maker. (*Also see* ACC.2.2 and PCC.4.3)

When a patient requests a second opinion, it is expected that the hospital will not prohibit, prevent, or obstruct the patient's efforts but rather will facilitate the second opinion by providing the patient with information about his or her condition, such as test results, diagnosis, recommendations for treatment, and the like. The hospital must not withhold this information if a patient requests it for a second opinion. The hospital is not expected to provide and pay for a second opinion when requested by the patient. Policies address the patient's right to seek a second opinion without fear of compromise to his or her care within or outside the hospital.

The hospital supports and promotes patient and family involvement in all aspects of care. All staff members are trained on the policies and procedures and on their role in supporting patients' and families' rights to participate in the care process.

Measurable Elements of PCC.2

or her care within or outside the hospital.

The hospital supports and promotes patient and family engagement through participation in care processes and in decision making to the extent they wish.
 Participation in the care process includes educating patients and family about their medical conditions, any confirmed diagnosis, and the planned care and treatment(s).
 Patients are informed about the expected outcomes of care and treatment.
 Patients are told of any unanticipated outcomes that may have occurred during the course of their care and treatment.
 The hospital facilitates a patient's request to seek a second opinion without fear of compromise to his

Standard PCC.2.1

The hospital informs patients and families about their rights and responsibilities to refuse or discontinue treatment, withhold resuscitative services, and forgo or withdraw life-sustaining treatments.

①

Intent of PCC.2.1

Patients, or those making decisions on their behalf, may decide not to proceed with the planned care or treatment or to discontinue care or treatment after it has been initiated. Among the most difficult decisions for patients and their families (and for health care practitioners and the hospital as well) are those that involve withholding resuscitative services or forgoing or withdrawing life-sustaining treatment. No single process can anticipate all the situations in which such decisions must be made. For this reason, it is important for the hospital to develop a framework for making these difficult decisions. The framework

- helps the hospital identify its position on these issues;
- ensures that the hospital's position conforms to its community's religious and cultural norms and to
 any legal or regulatory requirements, particularly when legal requirements for resuscitation are not
 consistent with the patient's wishes;
- addresses situations in which these decisions are modified during care; and
- guides health care practitioners through the ethical and legal issues in carrying out such patient wishes.

To ensure that the decision-making process related to carrying out the patient's wishes is applied consistently, the hospital develops policies and procedures through a process that includes many professionals and viewpoints. The policies and procedures identify lines of accountability and responsibility and how the process is documented in the patient's medical record.

The hospital informs patients and families about their rights to make these decisions, the potential outcomes of these decisions, and the hospital's responsibilities related to such decisions. Patients and families are informed about any care and treatment alternatives.

Measurable Elements of PCC.2.1

1.	The hospital identifies its position on withholding resuscitative services and forgoing or withdrawing life-sustaining treatments.
2.	The hospital's position conforms to its community's religious and cultural norms and any legal or regulatory requirements.
3.	The hospital informs patients and families about their rights to refuse or to discontinue treatment and the hospital's responsibilities related to such decisions.
4.	The hospital informs patients about the consequences of their decisions.
5.	The hospital informs patients about available care and treatment alternatives.
6.	The hospital guides health care practitioners on the ethical and legal considerations in carrying out patient wishes regarding treatment alternatives.

Standard PCC.2.2

The hospital supports the patient's right to assessment and management of pain and respectful compassionate care at the end of life.

Intent of PCC.2.2

Pain is a common part of the patient experience, and unrelieved pain has adverse physical and psychological effects. A patient's response to pain is frequently within the context of societal norms and cultural and religious traditions. Thus, patients are encouraged and supported in their reporting of pain.

Dying patients have unique needs that may also be influenced by cultural and religious traditions. Concern for the patient's comfort and dignity guides all aspects of care during the final stages of life. To accomplish this, all staff members are made aware of patients' unique needs at the end of life. These needs include treatment of primary and secondary symptoms; pain management; response to the patient's and family's psychological, social, emotional, religious, and cultural concerns; and involvement in care decisions.

The hospital's care processes recognize and reflect the right of all patients to assessment and management of pain and assessment and management of a patient's unique needs at the end of life. (Also see COP.6 and COP.7)

Measurable Elements of PCC.2.2

- 1. The hospital respects and supports the patient's right to assessment and management of pain.
- 2. The hospital respects and supports the patient's right to assessment and management of the dying patient's needs.
- ☐ 3. The hospital's staff understand the personal, cultural, and societal influences on the patient's experiences with pain.
- 4. The hospital's staff understand the personal, cultural, and societal influences on the patient's experiences with death and dying.

Standard PCC.3

The hospital measures, analyzes, and—when necessary—improves the patient experience in order to enhance the quality of patient care.

②

Intent of PCC.3

The patient experience is made up of a wide range of interactions that occur with all types of staff—including physicians, nurses, other professionals, and ancillary staff—as well as the care, treatment, and services they receive during their health care encounters. An important component of patient-centered care is understanding the patient experience.

Gathering and analyzing information about the patient experience can be used to help determine if the care patients are receiving is responsive to the individual patient preferences, needs, and values. Evaluating the patient experience along with other elements of patient care, such as safety and effectiveness, provides more complete information about the quality of patient care.

The hospital has established a process for collecting and analyzing the patient experience as part of measuring the quality of patient care and potentially improving patient outcomes. (Also see QPS.4)

Measuring patient satisfaction is one way to capture patient experience information. However, hospital leaders need to be aware that patient satisfaction is a subjective measure, while patient experience is an objective measure. (*Also see* GLD.5) **For example**, asking patients if they were pleased with the room layout would be a patient satisfaction measure because preference on a room layout is subjective. Asking patients if they have access to their health care records is a measure of patient experience because patient data access is an objective measure. As an integral component of health care quality, patient experience includes several aspects of health care delivery that patients value highly when they seek and receive care, such as timely appointments, easy access to information, and good communication with health care providers.

Patient satisfaction measures that have an impact on patient care can be used to obtain initial patient experience data and meet the expectations of this standard. When patient satisfaction measures are used, hospital leaders should continuously enhance data collection to eventually identify patient experience information for meaningful improvement.

Measurable Elements of PCC.3

_	1.	Leadership develops and implements a process for assessing the patient experience and its impact on patient care.
	2.	Data from the patient experience are aggregated, analyzed, and transformed into information to identify strategies for improving the patient experience.
	3.	Leadership determines a priority area for improving the patient experience that will positively impact patient care.

- 4. Identified strategies for improving the patient experience are implemented.
- 5. Improvements to the patient experience are analyzed and revised in order to optimize their impact on quality of patient care.

Standard PCC.3.1

The hospital informs patients and families about its process to receive and to act on complaints, conflicts, and differences of opinion about patient care and the patient's right to participate in these processes.

②

Intent of PCC.3.1

Patients have a right to voice complaints about their care and to have those complaints reviewed and, when possible, resolved. Also, decisions regarding care sometimes present questions, conflicts, or other dilemmas for the hospital and the patient, family, or other decision makers. These dilemmas may arise from issues of access, treatment, or discharge. They can be particularly difficult to resolve when the issues involve, **for example**, withholding resuscitative services or forgoing or withdrawing life-sustaining treatment.

The hospital has established processes for seeking resolution of such dilemmas and complaints. (*Also see* APR.11) The hospital identifies in policies and procedures those who need to be involved in the processes and how the patient and family participate. (*Also see* SQE.11)

Measurable Elements of PCC.3.1

_					
	1.	Patients are informed about the process for voicing complaints, conflicts, and differences of opinion			
	2.	Complaints, conflicts, and differences of opinion are investigated by the hospital.			
	3.	Complaints, conflicts, and differences of opinion that arise during the care process are resolved.			
	4.	Patients and families participate in the resolution process.			

Patient Consent Process

Standard PCC.4

Intent of PCC.4

Many hospitals obtain a general consent (rather than rely on implied consent) for treatment when the patient is admitted as an inpatient to the hospital or when the patient is registered for the first time as an outpatient. When a general consent is obtained, patients are given information on the scope of the general consent, such as which tests and treatments are included under the general consent. The hospital defines how a general consent is documented in the patient's medical record.

Whether or not a general consent is obtained, all patients are given information about those tests and treatments for which a separate informed consent will be obtained. In addition, all patients receive information about the likelihood of students (such as nursing students, physical therapy students, and others) and medical students and trainees participating in care processes.

Measurable Elements of PCC.4

- 1. Patients and families are informed as to the scope of a general consent, when used by the hospital.
- 2. The hospital defines how a general consent, when used, is documented in the patient medical record.
- 3. Whether or not a general consent is obtained, all patients and families are informed about which tests and treatments require informed consent.
- 4. Whether or not general consent is obtained, all patients receive information about the likelihood of students and trainees participating in care processes.

Standard PCC.4.1

Intent of PCC.4.1

One of the main ways that patients are involved in their care decisions is by granting informed consent. To consent, a patient must be informed of those factors related to the planned care required for an informed decision. Informed consent may be obtained at several points in the care process. **For example**, informed consent can be obtained when the patient is admitted for inpatient care in the hospital and before certain procedures or treatments for which the risk is high. The consent process is clearly defined by the hospital in policies and procedures. Relevant laws and regulations are incorporated into the policies and procedures. (*Also see* GLD.17 and GLD.18)

Patients and families are informed as to which tests, procedures, and treatments require consent and how they can give consent (**for example**, given verbally, by signing a consent form, or through some other means). Education by hospital staff is provided to patients and families as part of the process of obtaining informed consent for treatment (**for example**, for surgery and anesthesia).

Patients and families understand who may, in addition to the patient, give consent. Designated staff members are trained to inform patients and to obtain and to document patient consent.

Measurable Elements of PCC.4.1

- 1. The hospital develops and implements a clearly defined informed consent process and trains designated staff in that process.
- 2. The hospital educates patients about the informed consent process and when informed consent is required.
- 2 3. Patients learn about the process for granting informed consent in a manner and language that the patient understands.
- 4. Patients give informed consent consistent with the process.
- ☐ 5. There is a uniform recording of informed consent.
- The identity of the individual providing the information to the patient and family is documented in the patient's medical record.

Standard PCC.4.2

Intent of PCC.4.2

When the planned care includes surgical or invasive procedures, anesthesia, procedural sedation, use of blood and blood products, or other high-risk treatments or procedures, a separate consent is obtained. (*Also see* COP.3.4; ASC.3.3; ASC.5; and ASC.7.1) This consent process provides the information identified in PCC.4.3 and documents the identity of the individual providing the information. (*Also see* COP.8.5 and COP.9.1)

Not all treatments and procedures require a specific, separate consent. Each hospital identifies those high-risk procedures and treatments for which consent must be obtained. (*Also see* COP.3) The hospital lists these procedures and treatments and educates staff to ensure that the process to obtain consent is consistent. The list is developed collaboratively by those physicians and others who provide the treatments or perform the procedures. The list includes procedures and treatments provided on an outpatient basis and inpatient basis.

Measurable Elements of PCC.4.2

- Consent is obtained before diagnostic or therapeutic surgical or invasive procedures.
- Consent is obtained before anesthesia and procedural sedation.
- □ 3. Consent is obtained before the use of blood and blood products.
- 4. The hospital lists those additional procedures and treatments that require separate consent.
- 5. Consent is obtained before the additional and/or other high-risk procedures and treatments.

Standard PCC.4.3

Patients and families receive adequate information about the patient's condition, proposed treatment(s) or procedure(s), and health care practitioners so that they can grant consent and make care decisions.

Intent of PCC.4.3

When informed consent is required for the treatment(s) or procedure(s), the following elements are included in the informed consent process and explained to the patient prior to obtaining consent:

a) The patient's condition

- b) The proposed treatment(s) or procedure(s)
- c) The name of the person providing the treatment
- d) Potential benefits and drawbacks
- e) Possible alternatives
- f) The likelihood of success
- g) Possible problems related to recovery
- h) Possible results of nontreatment

When informed consent is not required, staff members clearly explain the proposed treatment(s) or procedure(s) to the patient and family. The information provided includes elements a) through h) as relevant to the patient's condition and planned treatment. (Also see ASC.5)

Staff members inform the patient of the name of the physician or other practitioner who has primary responsibility for the patient's care or who is authorized to perform the patient's treatment(s) or procedure(s). Frequently, patients have questions about their primary practitioners' experience, length of time with the hospital, and the like. The hospital needs to have a process for responding to patients when they request additional information about the practitioner responsible for their care.

Measurable Elements of PCC.4.3

- 1. Patients are informed of elements a) through h) in the intent as part of the informed consent process when informed consent is required for the treatment(s) or procedure(s).
- 2. When informed consent is not required, patients are informed of elements a) through h) in the intent as relevant to their condition and planned treatment(s) or procedure(s).
- 3. Patients know the identity of the physician or other practitioner responsible for their care.
- 4. The hospital develops and implements a process to respond to a patient's request for additional information about the physician or other practitioner responsible for his or her care.

Standard PCC.4.4

The hospital establishes a process, within the context of existing law and culture, for when others can grant consent.

Intent of PCC.4.4

Informed consent for care sometimes requires that people other than (or in addition to) the patient be involved in decisions about the patient's care. This is particularly true when the patient does not have the mental or physical capacity to make care decisions, when culture or custom requires that others make care decisions, or when the patient is a child. When the patient cannot make decisions about his or her care, a surrogate decision maker is identified. When someone other than the patient gives consent, that individual is noted in the patient's medical record.

Measurable Elements of PCC.4.4

- 1. The hospital develops and implements a process for when others can grant informed consent.
- 2. The process respects law, culture, and custom.
- 3. The patient's medical record lists the individual(s) granting consent.

Patient and Family Education

Standard PCC.5

The hospital provides an education program that is based on its mission, services provided, and patient population, and health care practitioners collaborate to provide education.

Intent of PCC.5

Each hospital builds education into care processes based on its mission, services provided, and patient population. The hospital chooses how it organizes its educational resources in an efficient and effective manner. Thus, the hospital may choose to appoint an education coordinator or education committee, create an education service, or simply work with all staff to provide education in a coordinated manner.

When health care practitioners understand one another's contributions to patient education, they can collaborate more effectively. Collaboration, in turn, helps ensure that the information patients and families receive is comprehensive, consistent, and as effective as possible. Collaboration is based on the patient's needs and therefore may not always be necessary. Knowledge of the subject matter, sufficient time, and ability to communicate effectively are important considerations in providing valuable and successful education.

Measurable Elements of PCC.5

1. The hospital plans education consistent with its mission, services, and patient populat
--

- ☐ 2. There is an established structure or mechanism and adequate resources for education throughout the hospital.
- ☐ 3. Patient and family education are provided collaboratively when indicated.
- 4. Those who provide the education have the subject knowledge and communication skills to do so.
- ☐ 5. Those who provide the education have the resources and time to do so.

Standard PCC.5.1

Each patient's educational needs and ability and willingness to learn are assessed and recorded in his or her medical record.

Intent of PCC.5.1

Education focuses on the specific knowledge and skills the patient and family will need to make care decisions, participate in his or her care, and continue care at home. This is in contrast to the general flow of information between staff and the patient that is informative but not of an educational nature.

To understand the educational needs of each patient and his or her family, there is an assessment process that identifies the types of surgeries, other invasive procedures, and treatments planned; the accompanying nursing needs; and the continuing care needs following discharge. This assessment permits the patient's caregivers to plan and to deliver the needed education. When the educational needs are identified, they are recorded in the patient's medical record. This helps all of the patient's caregivers participate in the education process.

Patient education is an important aspect of patient care, and a great deal of information is provided to patients during their hospitalization. There are many patient variables that determine if the patient and family are willing and capable to learn. Patients and families can experience barriers to learning that may include the patient's literacy level, culture, language, motivation, and physical limitations. Because everyone learns

differently, health care practitioners involved in patient education need to evaluate the patient's learning needs and readiness to learn.

Education by hospital staff is provided to patients and families to support decisions in the care process and documented in the patient medical record. For example, education provided as part of the process of obtaining informed consent for treatment (such as for surgery and anesthesia) is documented in the patient's medical record. In addition, when a patient or family directly participates in providing care (such as changing dressings, feeding the patient, administering medications and treatments), the patient and family are educated, and the education is documented. Each hospital decides the location and format for documenting educational assessment, planning, and delivery of information in the patient's medical record.

Measurable Elements of PCC.5.1

- 1. Each patient's and, when appropriate, family's educational needs are assessed and recorded in the patient's medical record.
- ☐ 2. The patient's and family's barriers to learning are assessed and documented.
- 3. Education by hospital staff is provided to patients and families in a manner that accommodates their identified needs.
- 4. Education provided to patients and families is documented in the patient medical record.

Standard PCC.5.2

Education methods take into account the patient's and family's values and preferences and allow sufficient interaction among the patient, family, and staff for learning to occur.

Intent of PCC.5.2

Learning occurs when attention is paid to the methods used to educate patients and families. Understanding patients and families helps the hospital select educators and educational methods consistent with the patients' and families' values and preferences and to identify the families' roles and the instruction method. Patients and their families are encouraged to participate in the care process by speaking up and asking staff questions to ensure correct understanding and anticipated participation. Staff recognize the important role patients play in the provision of safe, high-quality care. The opportunity for interaction among staff, the patient, and his or her family permits feedback to ensure that the information is understood, useful, and usable. The hospital decides when and how verbal education is reinforced with written materials to enhance understanding and to provide a future educational reference.

Measurable Elements of PCC.5.2

- 1. The education process takes into account the patient's and family's values and learning preferences.
- There is a process to verify that patients and families receive and understand the education provided.
- 3. Those who provide education encourage patients and their families to ask questions and to speak up as active participants.
- 4. Verbal information is reinforced with written material that is related to the patient's needs and consistent with the patient's and family's learning preferences.

Organ and Tissue Donation Information

Note: The following standards are intended to be used in situations in which organ or tissue transplantation will not occur but during those times when patients request information about organ and tissue donation and/ or when organ or tissue donation may occur. When organ or tissue donation and transplantation are performed, the standards for organ and tissue transplant programs (found in COP.8 through COP.9.3) apply.

Standard PCC.6

The hospital informs patients and families about how to choose to donate organs and other tissues.

Standard PCC.6.1

The hospital provides oversight for the process of organ and tissue procurement. (P)

Intent of PCC.6 and PCC.6.1

The shortage of available organs for transplant has encouraged many countries to develop procedures and systems to increase that supply. In some countries, laws determine that everyone is a donor unless specified otherwise (which is considered presumed consent). In other countries, explicit consent for organ donation is required. The hospital is responsible for defining the process of obtaining and recording consent for cell, tissue, and organ donation in relation to international ethical standards and the manner in which organ procurement is organized in the hospital's country. The hospital has a responsibility to ensure that adequate controls are in place to prevent patients from feeling pressured to donate.

The hospital supports the choice of patients and families to donate organs and other tissues for research or transplantation. Information is provided to patients and families on the donation process and the manner in which organ procurement is organized for the community, region, or nation (such as a national or regional organ procurement agency or network).

The shortage of organs for transplant has resulted in questionable practices in the procurement and transplantation of organs. The practice of inducing vulnerable individuals or groups (such as illiterate and impoverished persons, undocumented immigrants, prisoners, and political or economic refugees) to become living donors, organ trafficking (the buying and selling of organs over black market trade), the harvesting of organs without consent from executed prisoners or dead patients, and transplant tourism are inconsistent with ensuring organ donor and recipient safety.

Oversight for the process of organ and tissue procurement includes defining the donation process that is consistent with laws and regulations, respecting the community's religious and cultural values, ensuring ethical practices, and identifying requirements for consent. Hospital staff are trained on the donation process that supports patient and family choices. Staff are also trained in the contemporary concerns and issues related to organ donation and availability of transplants. The hospital cooperates with other hospitals and agencies in the community responsible for all or a portion of the procurement, banking, transportation, or transplantation process. (*Also see* COP.9)

Measurable Elements of PCC.6

IAIC	Measurable Lietherits of Poolo				
	1.	The hospital supports patient and family choices to donate organs and other tissues.			
	2.	The hospital provides information to patients and families on the donation process.			
	3.	The hospital provides information to the patient and family on the manner in which organ procurement is organized.			
	4.	The hospital ensures that adequate controls are in place to prevent patients from feeling pressured to donate.			

Measurable Elements of PCC.6.1

- 1. The hospital defines the organ- and tissue-donation processes and ensures that the process is consistent with the region's laws and regulations and its religious and cultural values.
- 2. The hospital identifies consent requirements and develops a consent process consistent with those requirements.
- 3. Staff are trained in the issues and concerns related to organ donation and the availability of transplants.
- 4. The hospital cooperates with relevant hospitals and agencies in the community to respect and to implement choices to donate.

References

Patient and Family Rights

Almutairi KM. Culture and language differences as a barrier to provision of quality care by the health workforce in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Med J.* 2015 Apr;36(4):425–431. https://doi.org/10.15537/smj.2015.4.10133.

Arabiat D, et al. Parents' experiences of family centered care practices. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2018 Sep–Oct;42:39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2018.06.012.

Bell SK, et al. When doctors share visit notes with patients: A study of patient and doctor perceptions of documentation errors, safety opportunities and the patient—doctor relationship. *BMJ Qual Saf*. 2017 Apr;26(4):262–270. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004697.

Beattie M, et al. Instruments to measure patient experience of health care quality in hospitals: A systematic review protocol. *Syst Rev.* 2014 Jan 4;3(4). https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-3-4.

Burns KK. Patients measuring their experiences with their healthcare system: Targeting improvement in access, quality, safety and patient and family centred care outcomes. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2018 Sep;30 Suppl 2:22–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy167.29.

Burt J, et al. Improving patient experience in primary care: A multimethod programme of research on the measurement and improvement of patient experience. *Programme Grants for Applied Research.* 2017 May;5(9). https://doi.org/10.3310/pgfar05090.

Downar J, et al. Guidelines for the withdrawal of life-sustaining measures. *Intensive Care Med.* 2016 Jun;42(6):1003–1017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-016-4330-7.

Gluyas H. Patient-centred care: Improving healthcare outcomes. *Nurs Stand*. 2015 Sep 23;30(4):50–57. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.30.4.50.e10186.

Henry LM, et al. Respect and dignity: A conceptual model for patients in the intensive care unit. *Narrat Inq Bioeth*. 2015;5(1A):5A–14A.

Mendonca VS, Gallagher TH, de Oliveira RA. The function of disclosing medical errors: New cultural challenges for physicians. *HEC Forum*. 2019 Sep;31(3):167–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10730-018-9362-7.

Meuter RF, et al. Overcoming language barriers in healthcare: A protocol for investigating safe and effective communication when patients or clinicians use a second language. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015 Sep 10;15:371. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1024-8.

Mohammed ES, Seedhom AE, Ghazawy ER. Awareness and practice of patient rights from a patient perspective: An insight from Upper Egypt. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2018 Mar 1;30(2):145–151. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzx182.

Mossaed S, Leonard K, Eysenbach G. Patient preferences and perspectives on accessing their medical records. *J Med Imaging Radiat Sci.* 2015 Jun;46(2):205–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2014.11.001.

Shirley E, Josephson G, Sanders J. Fundamentals of patient satisfaction measurement. *Physician Leadersh J.* 2016 Jan–Feb;3(1):12–17.

van Gennip IE, et al. The development of a model of dignity in illness based on qualitative interviews with seriously ill patients. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2013 Aug;50(8):1080–1089.

van Rosse F, et al. Language barriers and patient safety risks in hospital care. A mixed methods study. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2016 Feb;54:45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.03.012.

White BP, et al. The role of law in decisions to withhold and withdraw life-sustaining treatment from adults who lack capacity: A cross-sectional study. *J Med Ethics*. 2017 May;43(5):327–333.

Patient Consent Process

Bute JJ, Petronio S, Torke AM. Surrogate decision makers and proxy ownership: Challenges of privacy management in health care decision making. *Health Commun.* 2015;30(8):799–809.

Coyne I, et al. Children's participation in shared decision-making: Children, adolescents, parents and healthcare professionals' perspectives and experiences. *Eur J Oncol Nurs*. 2014 Jun;18(3):273–280.

Kunneman M, Montori VM. When patient-centred care is worth doing well: Informed consent or shared decision-making. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2017 Jul;26(7):522–524.

Rolland JS, Emanuel LL, Torke AM. Applying a family systems lens to proxy decision making in clinical practice and research. *Fam Syst Health*. 2017 Mar;35(1):7–17.

Patient and Family Education

Bell SK, et al. Speaking up about care concerns in the ICU: Patient and family experiences, attitudes and perceived barriers. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2018 Nov;27(11):928–936.

Kleinpell R, et al. Patient and family engagement in the ICU: Report from the task force of the World Federation of Societies of Intensive and Critical Care Medicine. *J Crit Care*. 2018 Dec;48:251–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.09.006.

Landier W, et al. Patient/family education for newly diagnosed pediatric oncology patients: Consensus recommendations from a children's oncology group expert panel. *J Pediatr Oncol Nurs*. 2016 Nov–Dec;33(6):422–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043454216655983.

Organ and Tissue Donation Information

Greenwald MA, Kuehnert, MJ, Fishman JA. Infectious disease transmission during organ and tissue transplantation. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2012 Aug;18(8):e1. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1808.120277.

Gunderson S. Donation starts with a decision: The role of the individual and family in organ donation. *Transplantation*. 2019 May;103(5):864–865. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000000002623.

Istrate M, et al. Seeding life: Cooperation for innovation and exchange of good practices in education in organ donation and transplantation. *Transplantation*. 2018 Jul;102:S817. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000543858.03116.5a.

Oczkowski SJ, et al. A mixed-methods study of organ donation in the intensive care unit: 22 actionable practices to improve organ donation. *Can J Anaesth*. 2019 Jun;66(6):686–695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-019-01332-9.

Park UJ, et al. Effects of phased education on attitudes toward organ donation and willingness to donate after brain death in an Asian country. *Asian J Surg.* 2019 Jan;42(1):256–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asjsur.2018.04.007.

Spatz ES, Krumholz HM, Moulton BW. The new era of informed consent: Getting to a reasonable patient standard through shared decision making. *JAMA*. 2016 May 17;315(19):2063–2064. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.3070.

Stiggelbout AM, Pieterse AH, De Haes JC. Shared decision making: Concepts, evidence, and practice. *Patient Educ Couns.* 2015 Oct;98(10):1172–1179.

Vahdat S, et al. Patient involvement in health care decision making: A review. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* 2014 Jan;16(1):e12454.

Vig EK, Taylor JS, O'Hare AM. Considering a family systems approach to surrogate decision-making. *Fam Syst Health*. 2017 Mar;35(1):85–87.

LaVela SL, Gallan AS. Evaluation and measurement of patient experience. *Patient Exp J.* 2014;1(1):5. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://pxjournal.org/journal/vol1/iss1/5.

Marshall LC. Mastering Patient and Family Education: A Healthcare Handbook for Success. Indianapolis: Sigma Theta Tau International, 2016.

Peter D, et al. Reducing readmissions using teach-back: Enhancing patient and family education. *J Nurs Adm.* 2015 Jan;45(1):35–42. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000000155.

Stoilkova-Hartmann A, et al. COPD patient education and support—Achieving patient-centredness. *Patient Educ Couns.* 2018 Nov;101(11):2031–2036. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.05.024.

Poppe C, et al. Evaluation of the quality of the communication and emotional support during the donation procedure: The use of the Donor Family Questionnaire (DFQ). *J Crit Care*. 2019 Oct;53:198–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2019.06.011.

Sarti AJ, et al. A multicentre investigation of organ and tissue donation education for critical care residents. *Can J Anaesth*. 2018 Oct;65(10):1120–1138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-018-1176-1.

Shaw DM. The side effects of deemed consent: Changing defaults in organ donation. *J Med Ethics*. 2019 Jul;45(7):435–439

Tollefsen, C. Family consent and organ donation. *J Med Philos*. 2019 Oct;44(5):588–602. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmp/jhz021.

World Health Organization. Transplantation: Outcomes of Organ Transplantation. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://www.who.int/transplantation/gkt/statistics/kidney_outcomes/en/index.html.

Assessment of Patients (AOP)

Overview

The goal of assessment is to determine the care, treatment, and services that will meet the patient's initial and continuing needs. An effective patient-assessment process results in decisions about the patient's treatment needs for emergency, elective, or planned care, even when the patient's condition changes. Patient assessment is an ongoing, dynamic process that takes place in many inpatient and outpatient settings and departments and clinics. Patient assessment consists of three primary processes:

- 1. Collecting information and data on the patient's physical, psychological, and social status, and health history
- 2. Analyzing the data and information, including the results of laboratory testing, diagnostic imaging, and physiologic monitoring, to identify the patient's health care needs
- 3. Developing a plan of care to meet the patient's identified needs

Patient needs must be reassessed throughout the course of care, treatment, and services. Reassessment is key to understanding the patient's response to the care, treatment, and services provided and is essential in identifying whether care decisions are appropriate and effective.

Assessment activities may vary between settings, as defined by the hospital's leaders. Information gathered at the patient's first contact may indicate the need for more data or a more intensive assessment. At a minimum, the need for further assessment is determined by the care, treatment, and services sought and the patient's presenting condition(s).

Patient assessment is appropriate when it considers the patient's condition, age, health needs, and requests or preferences. These processes are most effectively carried out when the various health care practitioners responsible for the patient work together.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

AOP.1.1 Each patient's initial assessment includes a physical examination and health history as well as an evaluation of psychological, spiritual/cultural (as appropriate), social, and economic factors.

- AOP.1.2 The patient's medical and nursing needs are identified from the initial assessments, which are completed and documented in the medical record within the first 24 hours after admission as an inpatient or earlier as indicated by the patient's condition.

 ②
- **AOP.1.3** The hospital has a process for accepting initial medical assessments conducted in a physician's private office or other outpatient setting prior to admission or outpatient procedure.
 - AOP.1.3.1 A preoperative medical assessment is documented before anesthesia or surgical treatment and includes the patient's medical, physical, psychological, social, economic, and discharge needs.
- **AOP.1.4** Patients are screened for nutritional status, functional needs, and other special needs and are referred for further assessment and treatment when necessary.
- AOP.1.5 All inpatients, and those outpatients whose condition, diagnosis, or situation may indicate they are at risk for pain, are screened for pain and assessed when pain is present.
- **AOP.1.7** The initial assessment includes determining the need for discharge planning. (P)
- AOP.2 All patients are reassessed at intervals based on their condition and treatment to determine their response to treatment and to plan for continued treatment or discharge.

 Output

 Description:
- **AOP.3** Qualified individuals conduct the assessments and reassessments. (P)
- **AOP.4** Medical, nursing, and other individuals and services responsible for patient care collaborate to analyze and integrate patient assessments and prioritize the most urgent/important patient care needs.

Laboratory Services

- **AOP.5** Laboratory services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.
 - AOP.5.1 A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the clinical laboratory service or pathology service, and all laboratory staff have the required education, training, qualifications, and experience to administer and perform the tests and interpret the results.

 ②

 - - **AOP.5.3.1** The laboratory uses a coordinated process to reduce the risks of infection as a result of exposure to infectious diseases and biohazardous materials and waste.

 Output

 Description:
 - **AOP.5.4** Laboratory results are available in a timely way as defined by the hospital.

 ®

- **AOP.5.6** Essential reagents and supplies are available, and all reagents are evaluated to ensure accuracy and precision of results. (P)
- **AOP.5.8** Established norms and ranges are used to interpret and to report clinical laboratory results.
- **AOP.5.9** Quality control procedures for laboratory services are in place, followed, and documented.

 Output

 Description:
 - **AOP.5.9.1** There is a process for proficiency testing of laboratory services. **(P)**
- **AOP.5.10** Reference/contract laboratories used by the hospital are licensed and accredited or certified by a recognized authority.
 - **AOP.5.10.1** The hospital identifies measures for monitoring the quality of the services to be provided by the reference/contract laboratory.

Blood Bank and/or Transfusion Services

AOP.5.11 A qualified individual(s) is responsible for blood bank and/or transfusion services and ensures that services adhere to laws and regulations and recognized standards of practice.

P

Radiology and Diagnostic Imaging Services

- **AOP.6** Radiology and diagnostic imaging services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.
 - AOP.6.1 A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the radiology and diagnostic imaging services, and individuals with proper qualifications and experience perform diagnostic imaging studies, interpret the results, and report the results.

 ①
 - AOP.6.2 A radiation and/or diagnostic imaging safety program for patients, staff, and visitors is in place, is followed, and is compliant with applicable professional standards, laws, and regulations.

 ①
 - **AOP.6.3** Radiology and diagnostic imaging study results are available in a timely way as defined by the hospital.

 ①

 - **AOP.6.5** Quality control procedures are in place, followed, validated, and documented. (P)
 - **AOP.6.6** The hospital regularly reviews quality control results for all outside contracted sources of diagnostic services.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Standard AOP.1

Intent of AOP.1

An effective patient-assessment process results in decisions about the patient's immediate and continuing treatment needs for emergency, elective, or planned care, even when the patient's condition changes. Patient assessment is an ongoing, dynamic process that takes place in many inpatient and outpatient settings and departments and clinics. Patient assessment consists of three primary processes:

- 1) Collecting information and data on the patient's physical, psychological, and social status, and his or her health history
- 2) Analyzing the data and information, including the results of laboratory and imaging diagnostic tests, to identify the patient's health care needs
- 3) Developing a plan of care to meet the patient's identified needs

When a patient has been registered or admitted to a hospital for inpatient or outpatient care/treatment, whether in-person or through virtual means, a complete assessment needs to be performed related to the reason(s) the patient has come for care. The specific information the hospital requires at this stage, and the procedures for getting it, depend on the patient's needs and the setting in which care is being provided (**for example**, inpatient or outpatient care). Hospital policies and procedures define how this process functions and what information needs to be gathered and documented. (*Also see* ACC.1)

To consistently assess patient needs, the hospital defines, in policies, the minimum content of assessments to be performed by physicians, nurses, and other clinical disciplines. Assessments are performed by each discipline within its scope of practice, licensure, applicable laws and regulations, or certification. Only qualified individuals conduct the assessments. (*Also see* SQE.10) Any assessment forms used for assessments reflect this policy. The hospital defines assessment activities in both inpatient and outpatient settings in which care is provided. The hospital defines those elements common to all assessments and defines any differences, when permitted, in the scope of general medical and specialty services assessments. The assessment defined in policy may be completed by more than one qualified individual and at different points in time. All the content must be available when treatment is initiated. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.1

1.	The hospital defines the minimum content of assessments for inpatients for each clinical discipline that performs assessments and specifies the required elements of the history and physical examination.
2.	The hospital defines the minimum content of assessments for outpatients for each clinical discipline that performs assessments and specifies the required elements of the history and physical examination.
3.	Only qualified individuals permitted by licensure, applicable laws and regulations, or certification perform the assessments.
4.	The hospital identifies the information to be documented for the assessments.

Standard AOP.1.1

Each patient's initial assessment includes a physical examination and health history as well as an evaluation of psychological, spiritual/cultural (as appropriate), social, and economic factors.

Intent of AOP.1.1

The initial assessment of a patient, outpatient or inpatient, is critical to identifying his or her needs and starting the care process. The initial assessment provides information to

- understand the care the patient is seeking;
- select the best care setting for the patient;
- form an initial diagnosis; and
- understand the patient's response to any previous care.

To provide this information, the initial assessment includes an evaluation of the patient's medical status through a physical examination and health history that includes a listing of the patient's current medications and known allergies. (*Also see* MMU.4) In addition, as appropriate to the patient's needs, the following assessments may also be performed:

- a) An initial psychological assessment as indicated by the patient's condition
- b) An initial social and economic assessment, as indicated by the patient's needs
- c) An initial spiritual and cultural assessment, as indicated by the patient's needs

The psychological assessment determines the patient's emotional status (**for example**, if he or she is depressed, fearful, or belligerent and may harm him- or herself or others). Gathering social information on a patient is not intended to "classify" the patient. Rather, a patient's social, cultural, spiritual, family, and economic contexts are important factors that can influence his or her response to illness and treatment. Families can be very helpful in these areas of assessment and in understanding the patient's wishes and preferences in the assessment process. Economic factors are assessed as part of the social assessment or assessed separately when the patient and his or her family will be responsible for the cost of all or a portion of the care while an inpatient or following discharge. Many different qualified individuals may be involved in the assessment of a patient. The most important factors are that the assessments are complete and available to those caring for the patient. (*Also see* ACC.3)

Patient assessment is most beneficial when it considers the patient's condition, age, and health needs, as well as his or her requests or preferences. These processes are most effectively carried out when the various health care practitioners responsible for the patient work together.

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.1

1.	All inpatients and outpatients have an initial assessment that includes a health history and physical examination consistent with the requirements defined in hospital policy.
2.	The assessment includes a listing of the patient's current medications and known allergies.
3.	The assessment includes a) through c) in the intent, as indicated by his or her needs.
4.	The initial assessment results in an initial diagnosis.

Standard AOP.1.2

The patient's medical and nursing needs are identified from the initial assessments, which are completed and documented in the medical record within the first 24 hours after admission as an inpatient or earlier as indicated by the patient's condition.

①

Standard AOP.1.2.1

The initial medical and nursing assessments of emergency patients are based on their needs and conditions. (P)

Intent of AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1

The primary outcome from the patient's initial assessments is an understanding of the patient's medical and nursing needs so care and treatment can begin. To accomplish this, the hospital determines the minimum content of the initial medical and nursing and other assessments (also see AOP.1), the time frame for completion of assessments, and the documentation requirements for assessments (also see AOP.1.3). Although the medical and nursing assessments are primary to the initiation of care, there may be additional assessments by other health care practitioners, including special assessments (also see AOP.1.4 and AOP.1.5) and individualized assessments (also see AOP.1.6). These assessments must be integrated and the most urgent care needs identified. (Also see AOP.4)

The initial medical and nursing assessments are completed within 24 hours of admission to the hospital and available for use by all those caring for the patient. When the patient's condition indicates, the initial medical and nursing assessment is conducted and available earlier. Thus, emergency patients are assessed immediately, and policy may define that certain other patient groups are assessed sooner than 24 hours.

In an emergency, the initial medical and nursing assessments may be limited to the patient's apparent needs and condition. Also, when there is no time to record the complete history and physical examination of an emergency patient requiring surgery, a brief note and the preoperative diagnosis are recorded before surgery. (*Also see* ASC.7 and MOI.8.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.2

1.	The initial medical assessment, including health history, physical exam, and other assessments
	required by the patient's condition, is performed and documented within the first 24 hours of admis-
	sion as an inpatient or sooner as required by patient condition.

)	2.	The initial medical assessment results in a list of specific medical diagnoses that includes primary and
		associated conditions requiring treatment and monitoring.

3.	The initial	l nursing a	ssessmen	t is perf	formed	and	documente	ed within	the f	irst 24	hours	of ad	mission
	as an inpa	tient or so	oner as re	quired	by pat	ient	condition.						

4.	The initial nursing assessment results in a list of specific patient nursing needs or conditions that
	require nursing care, interventions, or monitoring.

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.2.1

1.	The medical asses	ssment of emergency	patients is	based or	n their n	eeds and	condition	and docu-
	mented in the pa	tient medical record.						

L	2.	The nursing assessment of emergency patients is based on their needs and condition and documented
		in the patient medical record.

_	3.	Before surgery is performed	, there is at le	ast a brief	note and	preoperative d	liagnosis c	locumented	for
		emergency patients requirin	g emergency	surgery.					

Standard AOP.1.3

The hospital has a process for accepting initial medical assessments conducted in a physician's private office or other outpatient setting prior to admission or outpatient procedure.

Intent of AOP.1.3

When the initial medical assessment is conducted in a physician's private office or other outpatient setting prior to care in the hospital as an inpatient or prior to an outpatient procedure such as same-day surgery, it must be within the previous 30 days. If, at the time of admission as an inpatient or at the time of the outpatient procedure, the medical assessment is greater than 30 days old, the medical history must be updated and the physical examination repeated. For medical assessments performed and documented 30 days or less prior to admission as an inpatient or prior to an outpatient procedure, any significant changes in the patient's condition since the assessment, or "no change" if appropriate, are documented at admission. This updating and/or reexamination can be accomplished by any qualified individual.

When an assessment is partially or entirely completed outside the hospital (**for example**, in a consultant surgeon's office), the findings are reviewed and/or verified at admission as an inpatient or prior to the outpatient procedure, as appropriate to the time between the outside assessment and admission, the critical nature of the findings, the complexity of the patient, and the planned care and treatment (**for example**, the review confirms the clarity of the diagnosis and any planned procedures or treatments, the presence of radiographs needed in surgery, and any change[s] in the patient's condition such as control of blood sugar; it also identifies any critical lab tests that may need repeating). (*Also see* AOP.4)

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.3

- 1. Initial medical assessments conducted prior to admission to inpatient status or prior to an outpatient procedure in the hospital are less than or equal to 30 days old.
- 2. For assessments less than or equal to 30 days old, any significant changes in the patient's condition since the assessment or "no change" are documented in the patient's medical record at the time of admission as an inpatient or prior to an outpatient procedure.
- 3. If the medical assessment is greater than 30 days old at the time of admission as an inpatient or prior to an outpatient procedure, the medical history is updated and the physical examination repeated.
- 4. The findings of all assessments performed outside the hospital are reviewed and/or verified at the time of admission to inpatient status or prior to an outpatient procedure.

Standard AOP.1.3.1

A preoperative medical assessment is documented before anesthesia or surgical treatment and includes the patient's medical, physical, psychological, social, economic, and discharge needs.

Intent of AOP.1.3.1

The *preoperative medical assessment* is a clinical risk assessment that assesses the health of a patient to determine if the patient is safe to undergo the anesthesia and surgery.

The initial preoperative medical assessment includes the patient's medical, physical, psychological, social, and economic needs prior to surgery. In addition, assessing the patient for any potential care needs following discharge is a valuable component of the preoperative medical assessment. (*Also see* ASC.7)

Results of the medical assessment and of any diagnostic tests, along with potential patient needs following discharge, are recorded in the patient's medical record before anesthesia or surgery.

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.3.1

- 1. A preoperative medical assessment is performed before surgery for all patients for whom surgery is planned.
- 2. The preoperative medical assessment includes the patient's medical, physical, psychological, social, economic, and discharge needs.
- 3. The preoperative medical assessment of surgical patients is documented in the medical record before surgery.

Standard AOP.1.4

Patients are screened for nutritional status, functional needs, and other special needs and are referred for further assessment and treatment when necessary.

Intent of AOP.1.4

The information gathered at the initial medical and/or nursing assessment, through the application of screening criteria, may indicate that the patient needs further or more in-depth assessment of nutritional status or functional status, including a fall risk assessment. (*Also see* IPSG.6) The more in-depth assessment may be necessary to identify those patients in need of nutritional interventions and patients in need of rehabilitation services or other services related to their ability to function independently or at their greatest potential.

The most effective way to identify patients with nutritional or functional needs is through screening criteria. Screening generally involves performing a very simple, high-level evaluation of a patient to determine if the patient exhibits a risk that might indicate the need for a more in-depth assessment. **For example**, the initial nursing assessment form may contain basic criteria for a nutritional screen, such as five or six simple questions with a numerical score relating to recent decline in food intake, weight loss during the past three months, mobility, and the like. The patient's total score would then identify a patient at nutritional risk requiring a more in-depth nutritional assessment.

In each case, the screening criteria are developed by qualified individuals able to further assess and, if necessary, to provide any required patient treatment. **For example**, screening criteria for nutritional risk may be developed by nurses who will apply the criteria, dietitians who will supply the recommended dietary intervention, and nutritionists able to integrate nutritional needs with the other needs of the patient. (*Also see* COP.5 and COP.5.1) The screening criteria are implemented consistently throughout the hospital where needed.

The information gathered at the initial medical and/or nursing assessment may also identify a need for other assessments, such as dental, hearing, vision, and so on. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1) The hospital refers the patient for further assessments within the hospital when available, or through the community following discharge.

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.4

Qualified individuals develop screening criteria to identify patients who require further nutritional assessment, and the criteria are implemented consistently throughout the hospital where needed.
 Patients at risk for nutritional problems receive a nutritional assessment.
 Qualified individuals develop screening criteria to identify patients who require further functional assessment, and the criteria are implemented consistently throughout the hospital where needed.
 Patients in need of a functional assessment are referred for such an assessment.
 When the need for additional specialized assessments is identified, patients are referred within the hospital or outside the hospital.

Specialized assessments conducted within the hospital are completed and documented in the patient's

Standard AOP.1.5

medical record.

All inpatients, and those outpatients whose condition, diagnosis, or situation may indicate they are at risk for pain, are screened for pain and assessed when pain is present.

Intent of AOP.1.5

A screening procedure is used to identify patients with pain. A screening is a very high-level process that can be performed by clinicians, support staff (such as a registration clerk), or even the patient. A screening for pain may consist of one or more simple questions that can be asked during the registration process or on an intake form completed by the patient, or may be asked and documented by the physician referring the patient to the hospital or outpatient setting. **Examples** of questions that may be used in a screening exam include the following:

- Are you having pain right now?
- Does pain keep you from sleeping at night?
- Does pain keep you from participating in activities?
- Do you experience pain every day?

Positive answers to questions such as these indicate the need for a more in-depth assessment of the patient's pain. When pain is identified in the outpatient setting, the patient may be more thoroughly assessed and treated in the hospital or provided with a referral for further assessment and treatment. The scope of treatment is based on the care setting and services provided. (*Also see* COP.6)

When the patient is an inpatient in the hospital, a more comprehensive assessment is performed as soon as pain is identified. This assessment is appropriate to the patient's age and measures pain intensity and quality, such as pain character, frequency, location, and duration. Additional information may include pain history, what makes pain better or worse, what are the patient's goals for pain relief, and the like. This assessment is recorded in a way that facilitates regular reassessment and follow-up according to criteria developed by the hospital and the patient's needs. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.5 □ 1. All inpatients are screened for pain and the screening is documented. □ 2. Outpatients whose condition, diagnosis, or situation may indicate they are at risk for pain are screened for pain. □ 3. When pain is identified in the inpatient, a comprehensive assessment of the patient's pain is performed. □ 4. The assessment is recorded in a way that facilitates regular reassessment and follow-up according to criteria developed by the hospital and the patient's needs. □ 5. When pain is identified in the outpatient, the patient may be more thoroughly assessed and treated

Standard AOP.1.6

Individualized medical and nursing initial assessments are performed for special populations cared for by the hospital. P

in the outpatient setting or provided with a referral for further assessment and treatment.

Intent of AOP.1.6

The initial assessment of certain types of patients or certain patient populations requires that the assessment process be modified. Such modification is based on the unique characteristics or needs of each patient population. Each hospital identifies those special patient groups and populations and modifies the assessment process to meet their special needs. In particular, when the hospital serves one or more of the special-needs patients or populations listed below, individualized medical and nursing assessments are performed:

- Infants
- Children
- Adolescents
- Frail elderly
- Terminally ill/dying patients
- Patients with intense or chronic pain
- Women in labor
- Women experiencing terminations in pregnancy
- Patients with emotional or psychiatric disorders
- Patients suspected of drug and/or alcohol dependency
- Victims of abuse or neglect
- Patients with infectious or communicable diseases
- Patients receiving chemotherapy or radiation therapy
- Patients whose immune systems are compromised

The assessment of patients suspected of drug and/or alcohol dependency and the assessment of victims of abuse or neglect are shaped by the culture of the patient population. These assessments are not intended to be proactive case-finding processes. Rather, the assessment of these patients responds to their needs and condition in a culturally acceptable and confidential manner. The assessment process is modified to be consistent with local laws and regulations and professional standards related to such populations and situations and to involve the family when appropriate or necessary. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.6

- 1. The hospital identifies, in writing, those special patient groups and populations it serves that require modifications to its assessment.
- 2. The assessment process for special-needs patient populations is modified to reflect their needs.
- ☐ 3. The modified assessment process is consistent with local laws and regulations and incorporates professional standards related to such populations.
- 4. Individualized medical and nursing assessments are performed and documented.

Standard AOP.1.7

The initial assessment includes determining the need for discharge planning. $oldsymbol{eta}$

Intent of AOP.1.7

Continuity of care requires special preparation and considerations for many patients, particularly as it relates to discharge planning. The process for developing a plan for discharge begins early in the assessment process. The initial assessment can help identify those patients for whom discharge planning is critical due to age, lack of mobility, continuing medical and nursing needs, or assistance with activities of daily living, among others. As arrangements for discharge may take some time, the assessment and planning processes are initiated as soon as possible after admission as an inpatient.

Discharge planning includes any special education the patient may require related to continuing care outside of the hospital. (*Also see* ACC.4.1; PCC.2; and PCC.5.1) **For example**, a newly diagnosed type 1 diabetic patient will need education related to diet and nutrition, as well as instruction on administration of insulin injections. A patient admitted for an acute myocardial infarction may need cardiac rehabilitation following discharge, as well as nutritional instruction. Successful discharges depend on effective planning.

Measurable Elements of AOP.1.7

- 1. The hospital begins the discharge planning process early in the assessment process to identify those patients for whom discharge planning is critical.
- ☐ 2. Discharge planning includes identifying special needs and developing and implementing a plan to address those needs.
- ☐ 3. Patients, family as appropriate, and staff involved in the patient's care participate in the discharge planning process.

Standard AOP.2

Intent of AOP.2

Reassessment by all the patient's health care practitioners is key to understanding whether care decisions are appropriate and effective. Patients are reassessed throughout the care process at intervals based on their needs and plan of care or as defined in hospital policies and procedures. The results of these reassessments are noted in the patient's medical record for the information and use of all those caring for the patient.

Reassessment by a physician is integral to ongoing patient care. A physician assesses an acute care patient at least daily, including weekends, and when there has been a significant change in the patient's condition.

Reassessments are conducted and results are entered in the patient's medical record

- at regular intervals during care (**for example**, nursing staff periodically record vital signs, pain assessment, and lung and heart sounds, as needed based on the patient's condition);
- daily by a physician for acute care patients;
- in response to a significant change in the patient's condition; (Also see COP.3.2)
- if the patient's diagnosis has changed and the care needs require revised planning; and
- to determine if medications and other treatments have been successful and the patient can be transferred or discharged.

Some non-acute patients may not need daily physician assessments; **for example**, a stable psychiatric patient receiving group therapy sessions, or a patient who is past the acute phase of illness or surgery and who is receiving only rehabilitative treatment. The hospital identifies, in writing, those patients who do not require daily assessments.

Ν	Measura	ble	Flei	ments	of	AO	P.2
	ricasui a			1161113	U I	\neg	

	1.	Patients are reassessed to determine their response to treatment and to plan for continued treatment
		and/or discharge.
\neg	2	Parients are reassessed at intervals based on their condition and when there has been a significant

_	2.	Patients are reassessed at intervals based on their condition and when there has been a significant
		change in their condition, plan of care, or individual needs.

3.	A physician reassesses patients at least daily, including weekends, during the acute phase of their care
	and treatment.

)	4.	For non-acute patients, the hospital defines, in writing, the circumstances in which, and the types of
		patients or patient populations for which, a physician's assessment may be less than daily and identi-
		fies the minimum reassessment interval for these patients.

] 5.	Reassessmen	s are docume	nted in the	e patient n	nedical re	ecord
-------------	-------------	--------------	-------------	-------------	------------	-------

Standard AOP.3

Intent of AOP.3

The assessment and reassessment of patients are critical processes that require special education, training, knowledge, and skills. Thus, for each type of assessment, those individuals qualified to perform the assessment are identified and their responsibilities defined in writing. In particular, those individuals qualified to conduct emergency assessments or assessments of nursing needs are clearly identified. Assessments are performed by each discipline within its scope of practice, licensure, applicable laws and regulations, or certification. (*Also see* SQE.1.1 and SQE.10)

Measurable Elements of AOP.3

1.	Individuals qualified to conduct patient assessments and reassessments are identified and have their responsibilities defined in writing.
2.	Only those individuals permitted by licensure, applicable laws and regulations, or certification perform patient assessments.
3.	Emergency assessments are conducted by individuals qualified to do so.

4. Nursing assessments are conducted by individuals qualified to do so.

Standard AOP.4

Medical, nursing, and other individuals and services responsible for patient care collaborate to analyze and integrate patient assessments and prioritize the most urgent/important patient care needs.

Intent of AOP.4

A patient may undergo many kinds of assessments outside and inside the hospital by many different departments and services. As a result, there may be a variety of information, test results, and other data in the patient's record. (*Also see* AOP.1.3) A patient benefits most when the staff responsible for the patient work together to analyze the assessment findings and combine this information into a comprehensive picture of the patient's condition. From this collaboration, the patient's needs are identified, the order of their importance is established, and care decisions are made. Integration of findings at this point will facilitate the coordination of care provision. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and AOP.1.2.1; and COP.2)

The process for working together is simple and informal when the patient's needs are not complex. Formal treatment team meetings, patient conferences, and clinical rounds may be needed for patients with complex or unclear needs. The patient, his or her family, and others who make decisions on the patient's behalf are included in the decision process when it is needed.

Measurable Elements of AOP.4

] 1.	Patient assessment	data and	linformation	are analyzed	and integrated.
-------------	--------------------	----------	--------------	--------------	-----------------

2 .	Those res	sponsible	for the	patient's ca	are particip	oate in the	process.
------------	-----------	-----------	---------	--------------	--------------	-------------	----------

Laboratory Services

Standard AOP.5

Laboratory services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.

Intent of AOP.5

The hospital has a system for providing laboratory services, including clinical pathology services, required by its patient population, clinical services offered, and health care practitioner needs. The laboratory services are organized and provided in a manner that meets applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.

Laboratory services, including those required for emergencies, may be provided within the hospital, by agreement with another organization, or both. Laboratory services are available after normal hours for emergencies. In addition, the hospital is able to identify and to contact experts in specialized diagnostic areas, such as parasitology, virology, or toxicology, when needed.

Outside sources are convenient for the patient to access. The hospital selects outside sources based on the recommendation of the laboratory's leader or other individual responsible for laboratory services. Outside sources of laboratory services meet applicable laws and regulations and have an acceptable record of accurate, timely services. Patients are informed when an outside source of laboratory services is owned by the referring physician.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5

- 1. Laboratory services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.
- 2. Laboratory services are available to meet the needs related to the hospital's mission and patient population, the community's health care needs, and emergency needs, including after normal hours.
- ☐ 3. Experts in specialized diagnostic areas are contacted when needed.
- 4. Outside sources are selected based on an acceptable record and compliance with laws and regulations.

Standard AOP.5.1

A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the clinical laboratory service or pathology service, and all laboratory staff have the required education, training, qualifications, and experience to administer and perform the tests and interpret the results.

②

Intent of AOP.5.1

Clinical laboratory services are under the direction of an individual who is qualified by virtue of documented training, expertise, and experience, consistent with applicable laws and regulations. This individual assumes professional responsibility for the laboratory facility and the services provided in the laboratory as well as tests performed outside the laboratory, such as the testing performed at bedside (point-of-care testing). The oversight of services outside the laboratory includes ensuring consistent hospitalwide policies and practices, such as training and supply management, among others. It does not include daily supervision of those activities. Daily supervision remains the responsibility of the leaders of the department or unit in which the testing is conducted.

When this individual provides clinical consultation or medical opinion, he or she is a physician, preferably a pathologist. Specialty and subspecialty laboratory services are under the direction of appropriately qualified individuals. (*Also see* GLD.9) Responsibilities of the laboratory leader include

- a) developing, implementing, and maintaining policies and procedures;
- b) administrative oversight;
- c) maintaining any necessary quality control program;
- d) recommending outside sources of laboratory services; and
- e) monitoring and reviewing all laboratory services.

The hospital identifies the education, training, qualifications, and experience of laboratory staff members performing and interpreting laboratory tests, those who are approved to perform point-of-care screening tests at the bedside, and those who direct or supervise staff who perform testing. Supervisory staff and technical staff are oriented to their work. Technical staff are given work assignments consistent with their training and experience. In addition, the laboratory implements a staffing program that allows staff to perform tests promptly and to ensure laboratory staffing during all hours of operation and for emergencies.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.1

- 1. The clinical laboratory, and other laboratory services throughout the hospital, are under the direction and oversight of one or more qualified individuals.
- Responsibilities of the qualified laboratory leader include a) through e) of the intent.
- ☐ 3. All laboratory staff have the required education, training, and qualifications to administer, perform, and interpret tests.
- 4. A staffing program is implemented that allows staff to perform tests promptly and to provide staffing during all hours of operation and during emergencies.
- 5. Laboratory supervisory staff are identified and have the proper qualifications and experience.

Standard AOP.5.2

Intent of AOP.5.2

Point-of-care testing (POCT) is testing performed at sites outside the traditional laboratory environment, usually at or near where care is delivered to the patient.

When POCT is included in the hospital services, oversight and supervision for the services—regardless of where the services are performed—are provided by the individual responsible for managing the laboratory services or a designee. (*Also see* GLD.9) The hospital must have a clearly defined and well-structured approach to POCT to ensure that it is performed safely and correctly and that the results generated are accurate and reliable.

A POCT program includes thorough planning with leaders electing to implement POCT in their department/ ward. Planning includes selection of tests to be performed, identification of staff who will be performing the test(s), and a protocol for reporting abnormal test results, including the process for reporting critical results. (Also see IPSG.2.1) Staff performing POCT require training for each test being performed, along with a competency evaluation to ensure that results are accurate. (Also see SQE.4)

Quality control performance, documentation, and evaluation are required to be performed within defined specifications recommended by the manufacturer; **for example**, on a daily basis or weekly basis, as well as between new batches of test kits. The quality control sample may be included with the test kit or may need to be purchased from the manufacturer or authorized representative. All staff performing POCT adhere to defined quality control procedures and understand what actions to take when the quality control sample is out of specification. (*Also see* AOP.5.9)

A POCT program should be monitored and evaluated in order to ensure that the program is meeting the needs of its customers (health care practitioners, testing staff, and patients). This may be accomplished by developing and monitoring quality improvement measures, through patient surveys and/or reviews of quality control and proficiency testing results, and utilization reports.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.2

1.	The person responsible for managing the laboratory services, or a designee, provides oversight and
	supervision of the POCT program.
2	Staff porforming point of care testing have the required qualifications and training and are compared

L	2.	Staff performing point-of-care testing have the required qualifications and training and are compe
		tent to perform POCT.

3.	The POCT program includes a defined process for reporting abnormal test results, including report-
	ing critical results.

	4.	The POCT	program	includes	quality	control	performance,	documentation,	and	evaluation.
--	----	----------	---------	----------	---------	---------	--------------	----------------	-----	-------------

	5.	The POCT	program is	s monitored	and o	evaluated	and	included	d in	qualit	y im	provement	activities
--	----	----------	------------	-------------	-------	-----------	-----	----------	------	--------	------	-----------	------------

Standard AOP.5.3

Intent of AOP.5.3

The laboratory has an active safety program to the degree required by the risks and hazards encountered in the laboratory. The program addresses safety practices and prevention measures (**for example**, eyewash stations,

spill kits, and the like) for laboratory staff, other staff, and patients when present. The laboratory program is coordinated with the hospital's facility management and infection prevention and control programs.

The laboratory safety management program includes

- compliance with standards addressing facility management and infection prevention and control programs; (*Also see* PCI.2 and FMS.5)
- compliance with local and regional laws and regulations;
- availability of safety devices appropriate to the laboratory's practices and hazards encountered;
- the orientation of all laboratory staff to safety procedures and practices; (Also see SQE.7 and SQE.8) and
- in-service education for new procedures and newly acquired or recognized hazardous materials. (*Also see* FMS.7)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.3

- 1. A laboratory safety program addresses potential safety risks in the laboratory and other areas outside the laboratory where laboratory services are provided.
- 2. The laboratory safety program is part of the hospital's facility management program and reports to the hospital safety structure at least annually and when any safety events occur.
- ☐ 3. The laboratory safety program is part of the hospital's infection prevention and control program and reports to the infection prevention and control program at least annually and when any infection control events occur.
- 4. Identified safety risks are addressed by specific processes and/or devices to reduce the safety risks.
- 5. Laboratory staff are oriented to safety procedures and practices and receive ongoing education and training for new practices and procedures.

Standard AOP.5.3.1

The laboratory uses a coordinated process to reduce the risks of infection as a result of exposure to infectious diseases and biohazardous materials and waste. P

Intent of AOP.5.3.1

There are policies, procedures, and practices implemented to reduce the hazards of exposure to biohazardous materials. Infections acquired in the laboratory are reported internally and, when appropriate, to public health agencies. The following biosafety hazards and practices are addressed in written procedures, and the requirements of the procedures are followed:

- a) Exposures to aerosols and droplets are controlled (**for example**, when mixing, sonicating, centrifuging, and flaming inoculating loops).
- b) Laboratory coats, gowns, or uniforms are worn to protect street clothes and prevent contamination.
- c) Biosafety cabinets are used when required.
- d) Rules govern how to handle laboratory exposure to infectious agents, accidental cuts, needlestick injuries, accidental ingestion, and contact of potentially infectious agents with mucus membranes. These rules include decontamination procedures, whom to contact for emergency treatment, and the location and use of safety equipment.
- e) There are written procedures defining safe collection, transport, and handling of all specimens. The procedure includes prohibiting anyone in laboratory technical areas from eating, drinking, smoking, applying cosmetics, manipulating contact lenses, and mouth pipetting.
- f) When relevant to their jobs, staff have received training about precautionary measures, modes of transmission, and prevention of bloodborne pathogens.

g) The laboratory also has a procedure to manage and reduce risk of exposure to infectious diseases, such as Ebola, MERS, tuberculosis, Zika, and other unknown potentially infectious pathogens. (*Also see* PCI.8.1)

When problems with practice are identified, or accidents occur, corrective actions are taken, documented, and reviewed.

N	leasurable	Flements	٥f	AOP 5.3	1
ıv	ıcasuı avıc	TIGILIGI119	UI.	AUF.J.J.	

- 1. The laboratory has a defined process for reducing the risks of infection.
- 2. Infections acquired in the laboratory are reported, as defined in the policy, and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- ☐ 3. The laboratory follows biosafety rules for relevant practices addressed in elements a) through g) in the intent.
- 4. When problems with practice are identified, or accidents occur, corrective actions are taken, documented, and reviewed.

Standard AOP.5.4

Laboratory results are available in a timely way as defined by the hospital. (P)

Intent of AOP.5.4

The hospital defines the time period for reporting laboratory test results. Results are reported within a time frame based on patient needs, services offered, and clinical staff needs. Emergency tests and after-hours and weekend testing needs are included. Results from urgent tests, such as those from the emergency department, operating theatres, and intensive care units, are given special attention in the quality measurement process. In addition, when laboratory services are by contract with an outside organization, the reports are also timely, as set forth by hospital policy or the contract. (*Also see* IPSG.2.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.4

- 1. The hospital establishes the expected report time for results.
- ☐ 2. The hospital measures the timeliness of reporting of urgent/emergency tests.
- 3. Laboratory results are reported within a time frame to meet patient needs.

Standard AOP.5.5

All equipment used for laboratory testing is regularly inspected, maintained, and calibrated, and appropriate records are maintained for these activities. (P)

Intent of AOP.5.5

Laboratory staff work to ensure that all equipment, including medical devices used for point-of-care testing, function at acceptable levels and in a manner that is safe to the operator(s). The laboratory develops and implements a program to manage equipment and medical equipment that provides for

- selecting and acquiring laboratory equipment and medical equipment;
- identifying and taking inventory of laboratory equipment and medical equipment;
- assessing laboratory equipment use through inspection, testing, calibration, and maintenance;
- monitoring and acting on laboratory equipment hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures; and
- documenting the management program.

Testing, maintenance, and calibration frequency are related to the laboratory's use of its equipment and its documented history of service. (*Also see* FMS.9 and FMS.9.1)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.5

- 1. The laboratory develops, implements, and documents a program to manage laboratory equipment, including a process for how equipment is selected and acquired.
- 2. There is a documented inventory of all laboratory equipment.
- 2 3. Laboratory equipment is inspected and tested when new and according to age, use, and manufacturers' recommendations thereafter, and the inspections are documented.
- 4. Laboratory equipment is calibrated and maintained according to manufacturers' recommendations, and the calibration and maintenance are documented.
- 5. The hospital has a system in place for monitoring and acting on laboratory equipment hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures.

Standard AOP.5.6

Intent of AOP.5.6

The hospital has identified those reagents and supplies necessary to provide laboratory services to its patients. There is a process to order or secure those essential reagents and supplies.

All reagents are stored and dispensed according to manufacturers' directives or packaging instructions. All reagents are evaluated according to written guidelines. Written guidelines ensure the complete and accurate labeling of reagents and solutions. (*Also see* AOP.5.9 and FMS.7)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.6

- 1. Essential reagents and supplies are identified and available, and there is a process to address when essential reagents are not available.
- 2. All reagents are stored and dispensed according to manufacturers' directives or packaging instructions.
- ☐ 3. The laboratory establishes and follows written guidelines for the evaluation of all reagents to ensure accuracy and precision of results.
- 4. All reagents and solutions are completely and accurately labeled.

Standard AOP.5.7

Intent of AOP.5.7

Procedures are established and implemented for

- ordering tests;
- collecting and identifying specimens; (Also see IPSG.1)
- transporting, storing, and preserving specimens; and
- receiving, logging, and tracking specimens.

These procedures are observed for specimens sent to reference/contract laboratory services for testing.

М	acura	hla	Flements	Ωf	^	DE	7
IVIE	asura	ibie	Fiements	OT	AUI	P. 5.	1

- 1. Procedures are established and implemented for the ordering of tests.
- 2. Procedures are established and implemented for the collection and identification of specimens.
- ☐ 3. Procedures are established and implemented for the transport, storage, and preservation of specimens.
- 4. Procedures are established and implemented for the receipt and tracking of specimens.
- 5. Procedures are established and implemented for the disposal of specimens.
- 6. The procedures are followed when reference/contract laboratory services are used.

Standard AOP.5.8

Established norms and ranges are used to interpret and to report clinical laboratory results.

Intent of AOP.5.8

The laboratory establishes reference intervals or "normal" ranges for each test performed. The range is included in the medical record, either as part of the report or by including a current listing of such values approved by the laboratory leader. Ranges are furnished when a reference/contract laboratory service performs the test. The reference ranges are appropriate to the hospital's geography and demographics and are reviewed and updated when methods change.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.8

- 1. The laboratory establishes reference ranges for each test performed.
- 2. The range is included in the medical record at the time test results are reported.
- ☐ 3. Ranges are furnished when tests are performed by reference/contract laboratory services.
- 4. Ranges are appropriate to the hospital's geography and demographics.
- 5. The laboratory reviews and updates ranges as needed.

Standard AOP.5.9

Quality control procedures for laboratory services are in place, followed, and documented. (P)

Standard AOP.5.9.1

Intent of AOP.5.9 and AOP.5.9.1

Well-designed quality control systems are essential to providing excellent pathology and clinical laboratory services. (*Also see* AOP.5.2) Quality control procedures include

- validation of the test methods used for accuracy, precision, and reportable range;
- daily surveillance of results by qualified laboratory staff;
- testing of reagents;
- rapid corrective action when a deficiency is identified; and
- documentation of results and corrective actions.

Proficiency testing determines how well an individual laboratory's results compare with other laboratories that use the same methodologies. Such testing can identify performance problems not recognized by internal mechanisms. Thus, the laboratory participates in an approved proficiency-testing program when available. Alternatively, when approved programs are not available, the laboratory exchanges samples with a laboratory in another organization for purposes of peer comparison testing. The laboratory maintains a cumulative record of participation in a proficiency-testing process. Proficiency testing, or an alternative, is carried out for all specialty laboratory programs when available. (*Also see* AOP.5.10)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.9

1.	The hospital establishes and implements a quality control program for the clinical laboratory.
2.	The program includes the validation of test methods.
3.	The program includes the daily surveillance and documentation of test results.
4.	The program includes testing of reagents.
5.	The program includes rapid correction and documentation of deficiencies.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.9.1

1.	The laboratory participates in a proficiency-testing program, or an alternative, for all specialty labora-
	tory services and tests.
2.	For each specialty, subspecialty, analyte, or test, the laboratory's proficiency testing results meet satis-

3. The laboratory maintains records of its participation in a proficiency-testing program.

factory performance criteria in accordance with laws and regulations.

Standard AOP.5.10

Reference/contract laboratories used by the hospital are licensed and accredited or certified by a recognized authority.

Standard AOP.5.10.1

The hospital identifies measures for monitoring the quality of the services to be provided by the reference/contract laboratory.

Intent of AOP.5.10 and AOP.5.10.1

When the hospital uses the services of a reference/contract laboratory—whether for select tests or to provide all laboratory services—the following information is required:

- a) A copy of a license from a recognized licensing authority
- b) A copy of the certificate or letter of accreditation or certification from a recognized laboratory accreditation or certification program*
- c) Documentation that the reference (contract) laboratory participates in an outside proficiency-testing program (*Also see* AOP.5.9)

In addition, the hospital identifies measures for monitoring the quality of the services provided by all reference/contract laboratories—for example, turnaround times for tests, critical results reporting, and problems with specimens such as missing identifiers or specimen rejections. Qualified individuals review and act on the results of the quality monitoring. (*Also see* GLD.6.1)

^{*} A laboratory accreditation or certification program that is recognized is one that has been reviewed and endorsed by a laboratory professional society or governmental or private agency.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.10

- 1. The hospital maintains a copy of the license, from a recognized licensing authority, for all reference/contract laboratories used by the hospital.
- 2. The hospital maintains a copy of the certificate or letter of accreditation or certification, from a recognized laboratory accreditation or certification program, for all reference/contract laboratories used by the hospital.
- 3. The hospital maintains documentation that any reference/contract laboratory used by the hospital participates in an outside proficiency-testing program.

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.10.1

- 1. The hospital determines the frequency and type of performance expectation data from reference/contract laboratories.
- ☐ 2. The qualified individual responsible for the laboratory or a qualified designee reviews the performance expectation data from reference/contract laboratories and takes action based on the results.
- 3. An annual report of the data from reference/contract laboratories is provided to those who make decisions to facilitate management of contracts and contract renewals.

Blood Bank and/or Transfusion Services

Standard AOP.5.11

Intent of AOP.5.11

Blood bank and/or transfusion services, when provided by the hospital, are under the direction of an individual who is qualified by virtue of documented training, expertise, and experience, consistent with applicable laws and regulations. This individual assumes professional responsibility for all aspects of blood bank services provided in the hospital. The oversight of services includes establishment, implementation, and documentation of the processes for

- a) blood donor selection;
- b) blood screening for disease;
- c) blood collection;
- d) blood storage;
- e) compatibility testing; and
- f) blood distribution.

Quality control processes for all blood bank services are established, implemented, and documented to ensure the safety of blood bank and transfusion services. Blood donor and transfusion services are guided by laws and regulations and recognized standards of practice. (*Also see* COP.3.4)

Measurable Elements of AOP.5.11

- 1. A qualified individual(s) is responsible for blood bank and/or transfusion services.
- 2. The blood bank has established, implemented, and documented processes for a) through f) of the intent.
 - 3. Quality control measures are in place for all blood bank and transfusion services and are established, implemented, and documented.
- 4. The blood bank and transfusion services comply with applicable laws and regulations and recognized standards of practice.

Radiology and Diagnostic Imaging Services

Standard AOP.6

Radiology and diagnostic imaging services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.

Intent of AOP.6

The hospital has a system for providing radiology and diagnostic imaging services required by its patient population, clinical services offered, and health care practitioner needs. Radiology and diagnostic imaging services meet all applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.

Radiology and diagnostic imaging services, including those required for emergencies, may be provided within the hospital, by agreement with another organization, or both. Radiology and diagnostic imaging services are available after normal hours for emergencies. In addition, the hospital can identify and contact experts in specialized diagnostic areas, such as radiation physics, radiation oncology, or nuclear medicine, when necessary. The hospital maintains a roster of such experts.

Outside sources are convenient for the patient to access, and reports are received in a timely way that supports continuity of care. The hospital selects outside sources based on the recommendation of the individual responsible for radiology and diagnostic imaging services. Outside sources of radiology and diagnostic imaging services meet applicable laws and regulations and have an acceptable record of accurate, timely services. Patients are informed when an outside source of services is owned by the referring physician.

Measurable Elements of AOP.6

- ☐ 1. Radiology and diagnostic imaging services meet applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.
- 2. Radiology and diagnostic imaging services are available to meet the needs related to the hospital's mission and patient population, the community's health care needs, and emergency needs, including after normal hours.
- 3. The hospital maintains a roster of experts in specialized diagnostic areas and ensures that the roster is accessible to staff who need it.
- 4. Outside sources are selected based on recommendations of the individual responsible for radiology and diagnostic imaging services and have an acceptable record of timely performance and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Standard AOP.6.1

A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the radiology and diagnostic imaging services, and individuals with proper qualifications and experience perform diagnostic imaging studies, interpret the results, and report the results. \bullet

Intent of AOP.6.1

Radiology and diagnostic imaging services, provided at any location in the hospital, are under the direction of an individual who is qualified by documented education, training, expertise, and experience, consistent with applicable laws and regulations. This individual assumes professional responsibility for the radiology and diagnostic imaging facility and the services provided. When this individual provides clinical consultation or medical opinion, he or she is a physician, preferably a radiologist. When radiation therapy or other special services are provided, they are under the direction of appropriately qualified individuals. (*Also see* GLD.9)

The radiology and diagnostic imaging leader's responsibilities include

- a) developing, implementing, and maintaining policies and procedures;
- b) administrative oversight;
- c) maintaining any necessary quality control program;
- d) recommending outside sources of radiology and diagnostic imaging services; and
- e) monitoring and reviewing all radiology and diagnostic imaging services.

The hospital identifies which radiology and diagnostic imaging staff members perform diagnostic and imaging studies, those who are approved to perform point-of-care tests at the bedside, those who are qualified to interpret the results or to verify and report results, and those who direct or supervise the processes. Supervisory staff and technical staff have appropriate and adequate training, experience, and skills and are oriented to their work. Technical staff members are given work assignments consistent with their training and experience. In addition, there is a sufficient number of staff to perform, to interpret, and to report studies promptly and to provide necessary staffing during all hours of operation and for emergencies. (*Also see* SQE.4)

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.1

u	1.	Radiology and diagnostic imaging services are under the direction of one or more qualified individuals.
	2.	Responsibilities of the individual managing radiology and diagnostic imaging services include a) through e) of the intent.
	3.	Staff with proper qualifications and experience perform diagnostic and imaging studies.
	4.	Staff with proper qualifications and experience interpret study results and verify and report the results.
	5.	There is an adequate number of staff to meet patient needs.
	6.	Supervisory staff have proper qualifications and experience.

Standard AOP.6.2

A radiation and/or diagnostic imaging safety program for patients, staff, and visitors is in place, is followed, and is compliant with applicable professional standards, laws, and regulations.

②

Intent of AOP.6.2

Radiologic examinations and diagnostic imaging are life-saving tests that are used extensively in hospitals and are instrumental in the delivery of care. However, radiation exposure can pose potential risks of long-term

damage, depending on the dose of radiation delivered and the number of tests performed on any one person. The higher the dose, the greater the risk for long-term damage, and repeated doses have a cumulative effect that can also present greater risks. Health care practitioners should take care when ordering diagnostic imaging and weigh the medical necessity of the exposure to radiation against the risks. Unnecessary exposure to radiation should be avoided. Practitioners are encouraged to follow the principles of ALARA (maintain all radiation exposures As Low As Reasonably Achievable). The diagnostic procedures most commonly associated with avoidable radiation doses are computed tomography, nuclear medicine, and fluoroscopy. A radiation safety program is important in the safe use of ionizing radiation, including radioactive materials (RAM) and radiation producing machines.

Diagnostic imaging, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and ultrasonography, does not use ionizing radiation as radiology tests do, and therefore the risks from radiation are not present. However, there are other hazards from diagnostic imaging that need to be addressed for the safety of patients, staff, families, and visitors. Hazards from MRI include exposure to a strong magnetic field, presence of cryogenic gases, and exposure to acoustic noise. Hospitals must implement measures to address these hazards. **For example**, by clearly marking safety zones in the MRI area to indicate who can have access and what safety precautions are necessary in each zone. To address hazards related to cryogenic gases, which are required for cooling the magnets of the MRI equipment, proper ventilation and appropriate training for individuals who handle the cryogens are necessary. Measures should be taken to ensure patient and staff comfort and safety from acoustic noise during MRI examinations.

Additional precautions to prevent risk and injury in the MRI area include restricting access to the magnetic field area to only authorized staff and to patients accompanied by those staff, posting signs in and around the area to identify hazards, and ensuring only special non-ferromagnetic equipment enters the MRI environment, among other precautions.

The hospital has an active radiation and diagnostic imaging safety program that includes all components of the hospital's radiology and diagnostic imaging services, including radiation oncology and the cardiac catheterization laboratory. The safety program reflects the risks and hazards encountered and addresses safety practices and prevention measures for radiology and diagnostic imaging staff, patients, and visitors. The program is coordinated with the hospital's facility management and infection prevention and control programs. (*Also see* PCI.2 and FMS.5)

The radiation safety management program includes

- compliance with applicable professional standards, laws, and regulations;
- orientation of all radiology and diagnostic imaging staff to safety procedures and practices;
- training and ongoing education for new procedures, new equipment, and newly acquired or recognized hazardous materials; (Also see SQE.7 and SQE.8)
- availability of safety protective equipment and devices appropriate to the practices and hazards
 encountered; in radiology, protective devices and equipment include lead aprons, lead lining in the
 walls, and radiation badges (for staff), among others; and
- compliance with standards addressing facility management and infection prevention and control
 programs.

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.2

- 1. A comprehensive radiation and/or diagnostic imaging safety program for patients, staff, and visitors is in place, is followed, and is compliant with applicable professional standards, laws, and regulations.
- 2. Radiology and diagnostic imaging staff are oriented to safety precautions and procedures and receive ongoing education and training for any new procedures, equipment, and hazardous materials.
- 3. Safety protective equipment and devices appropriate to the practices and hazards encountered from radiation and diagnostic imaging are available to staff, patients, and visitors, and in the area in which radiology and diagnostic imaging services are provided.
- 4. Radiation safety includes education about dosing and implementation of protocols that identify the maximum dose of radiation for each type of study.
- ☐ 5. Hazards from magnetic resonance imaging are addressed using industry standards and evidence-based guidelines (**for example**, identification of safety zones, access restrictions, signage, availability of non-ferromagnetic equipment, and so on).
- The radiation and/or diagnostic imaging safety program is part of the organization's facility management and infection prevention and control programs and provides reports to those programs at least annually and when any safety events and infection control events occur.

Standard AOP.6.3

Radiology and diagnostic imaging study results are available in a timely way as defined by the hospital. P

Intent of AOP.6.3

The hospital defines the time period for reporting diagnostic radiology and diagnostic imaging study results. Results are reported within a time frame based on patient needs, services offered, and the clinical staff's needs. Emergency tests and after-hours and weekend testing needs are included. Results from urgent radiology and diagnostic imaging studies, such as those from the emergency department, operating theatres, and intensive care units, are given special attention in the quality measurement process. Radiology and diagnostic imaging studies performed by outside contractors of services are reported according to hospital policy or contract requirement.

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.3

- The hospital establishes the expected report time for results.
- The hospital measures the timeliness of reporting of urgent/emergency studies.
- ☐ 3. Radiology and diagnostic imaging study results are reported within a time frame to meet patient needs.

Standard AOP.6.4

Intent of AOP.6.4

Radiology and diagnostic imaging staff work to ensure that all equipment functions at acceptable levels and in a manner that is safe to the operator(s). Radiology and diagnostic imaging develops and implements a program to manage equipment that provides for

- selecting and acquiring medical equipment;
- identifying and inventorying medical equipment;
- assessing equipment use through inspection, testing, calibration, and maintenance;
- monitoring and acting on equipment hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures; and
- documenting the management program.

Testing, maintenance, and calibration frequency are related to the use of the equipment and its documented history of service. (*Also see* FMS.9)

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.4

- 1. Radiology and diagnostic imaging develops, implements, and documents a program to manage equipment.
- ☐ 2. The program identifies how radiology equipment is selected and acquired.
- ☐ 3. There is a documented inventory of all radiology equipment.
- 4. Radiology equipment is inspected and tested when new and according to age, use, and manufacturers' recommendations.
- ☐ 5. Radiology equipment is calibrated and maintained according to manufacturers' recommendations.
- 6. The hospital has a system in place for monitoring and acting on radiology equipment hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures.

Standard AOP.6.5

Intent of AOP.6.5

Sound quality control systems are essential to providing excellent radiology and diagnostic imaging services. (*Also see* GLD.11) Quality control procedures include

- validation of the test methods used for accuracy and precision;
- regular surveillance of imaging results by qualified radiology staff;
- rapid corrective action when a deficiency is identified;
- testing of reagents and solutions when used; and
- documentation of results and corrective actions.

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.5

- 1. The hospital establishes and implements a quality control program for the radiology and diagnostic imaging services.
- 2. Quality control includes validating test methods.
- 3. Quality control includes regular surveillance and documentation of imaging results.
- 4. Quality control includes testing reagents and solutions, when used, and documenting test results.
- 5. Quality control includes rapid correction and documentation when a deficiency is identified.

Standard AOP.6.6

The hospital regularly reviews quality control results for all outside contracted sources of diagnostic services.

Intent of AOP.6.6

When the hospital contracts with outside sources of radiology and diagnostic imaging services, it regularly receives and reviews the quality control results for those contracted sources. (*Also see* GLD.6.1) Qualified individuals review the quality control results. (*Also see* GLD.6) When diagnostic imaging quality control of outside sources is difficult to obtain, the department/service leader develops an alternative approach for quality oversight.

Measurable Elements of AOP.6.6

- ☐ 1. The frequency and type of quality control data from outside contracted sources are determined by the hospital.
- 2. The qualified individual responsible for the radiology quality control or qualified designee reviews the quality control results from the outside contracted source.
- ☐ 3. The responsible individual or qualified designee takes action based on the quality control results.
- 4. An annual report of the quality control data from the outside contracted source is provided to hospital leadership to facilitate management of contracts and contract renewal.

References

Assessment of Patients

Beach SP, et al. Screening and detection of elder abuse: Research opportunities and lessons learned from emergency geriatric care, intimate partner violence, and child abuse. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2016 Aug—Dec;28(4–5):185–216.

Blanch L, et al. Triage decisions for ICU admission: Report from the Task Force of the World Federation of Societies of Intensive and Critical Care Medicine. *J Crit Care*. 2016 Dec;36:301–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2016.06.014.

Fillingim RB, et al. Assessment of chronic pain: Domains, methods, and mechanisms. *J Pain*. 2016 Sep;17(9 Suppl):T10–T20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.08.010.

Nates JL, et al. ICU admission, discharge, and triage guidelines: A framework to enhance clinical operations, development of institutional policies, and further research. *Crit Care Med.* 2016 Aug;44(8):1553–1602. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.00000000000001856.

nutritional assessment tools in the postoperative care unit. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016 Oct;95(40):e5038. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0000000000005038. Pilapil M, DeLaet D. Health risk behaviors in adolescents

Özbilgin Ş, et al. Morbidity and mortality predictivity of

Pilapil M, DeLaet D. Health risk behaviors in adolescents and young adults with special health care needs. *Curr Opin Pediatr*. 2015 Feb;27(1):132–137.

Pilotto A, et al. Three decades of comprehensive geriatric assessment: Evidence coming from different healthcare settings and specific clinical conditions. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2017 Feb 1;18(2):192.e1–192.e11.

Teixeira AF, Viana KD. Nutritional screening in hospitalized pediatric patients: A systematic review. *J Pediatr (Rio J)*. 2016 Jul–Aug;92(4):343–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2015.08.011.

Laboratory Services

Aykal G, et al. A model for managing and monitoring the quality of glucometers used in a high-volume clinical setting. *Biochemia Medica (Zagreb).* 2016;26(2):202–209. https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2016.022.

College of American Pathologists (CAP). *Laboratory Accreditation Manual*. Northfield, IL: CAP, 2017.

ECRI Institute. Ask HRC: Best Practices for Specimen Handling. Jul 24, 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/AskHRC072417.aspx.

Shaw JLV. Practical challenges related to point of care testing. *Pract Lab Med.* 2015 Dec 9;4:22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plabm.2015.12.002.

World Health Organization. *Safe Management of Wastes from Health-Care Activities*, 2nd ed. Chartier Y, et al., editors. 2014. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85349/9789241548564_eng.pdf-jsessionid=29E6B0CAE521C4997040A5E98E63D8E4?sequence=1.

World Health Organization. *Safe Management of Wastes from Health-Care Activities: A Summary.* Stone V, editor. 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/no.pdf

Blood Bank and/or Transfusion Services

Carson JL, et al. Indications for and adverse effects of red-cell transfusion. *N Engl J Med*. 2017 Sep 28;377(13):1261–1272. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1612789.

Garraud O, et al. Improving platelet transfusion safety: Biomedical and technical considerations. *Blood Transfus.* 2016 Mar;14(2):109–122. https://doi.org/10.2450/2015.0042-15.

Radiology and Diagnostic Imaging Services

Bacchim Neto FA, et al. Occupational radiation exposure in vascular interventional radiology: A complete evaluation of different body regions. *Phys Med.* 2016 Aug;32(8):1019–1024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2016.06.014.

Ghadimi-Moghadam A, et al. Does exposure to static magnetic fields generated by magnetic resonance imaging scanners raise safety problems for personnel? *J Biomed Phys Eng.* 2018 Sep 1;8(3):333–336.

International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection. ICNIRP statement on diagnostic devices using non-ionizing radiation: Existing regulations and potential health risks. *Health Phys.* 2017 Mar;112(3):305–321.

The Joint Commission. Diagnostic Imaging Requirements. Aug 10, 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/sitecore/media-library/deprecated-unorganized/imported-assets/tjc/system-folders/topics-library/ahc_diagimagingrpt_mk_20150806pdf/.

Sidhu M, et al. Report on errors in pretransfusion testing from a tertiary care center: A step toward transfusion safety. *Asian J Transfus Sci.* 2016 Jan–Jun;10(1):48–52. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-6247.175402.

World Health Organization. Blood Safety and Availability. Jun 14, 2019. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/blood-safety-and-availability.

Kendrick DE, et al. Comparative occupational radiation exposure between fixed and mobile imaging systems. *J Vasc Surg.* 2016 Jan;63(1):190–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2015.08.062.

Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency. *Safety Guidelines for Magnetic Resonance Imaging Equipment in Clinical Use.* Mar 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476931/MRI_guidance_2015_- 4-02d1.pdf.

Roberts BW. Patient-centered radiation safety. *Radiol Technol*. 2017 May;88(5):499–514.

Salama KF, et al. Assessment of occupational radiation exposure among medical staff in health-care facilities in the Eastern Province, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Indian J Occup Environm Med.* 2016 Jan–Apr;20(1):21–25.

Care of Patients (COP)

Overview

The most important responsibility of a health care organization and its staff is to provide safe and effective care and services to all patients. This requires effective communication, collaboration, and standardized processes to ensure that the planning, coordination, and implementation of care supports and responds to each patient's unique needs and goals.

Care may be preventive, palliative, curative, or rehabilitative and may include anesthesia, surgery, medication, supportive therapies, or a combination of these and is based on the assessment and reassessment of each patient. High-risk areas of care (including resuscitation, blood administration, organ and tissue transplantation) and care for high-risk or special needs populations require additional attention. Part of care delivery also includes identifying and reducing risk factors that could impact patient care such as risks associated with use of clinical alarms and lasers.

Care for patients is provided by many disciplines and support staff. All individuals involved in patient care must have a clear role determined by licensure; credentials; certification; laws and regulations; an individual's particular skills, knowledge, and experience; and organization policies or job descriptions. Some care may be carried out by the patient, his or her family, or other trained caregivers. Additional support may also be provided by an appointed individual(s), such as a living donor advocate, who has knowledge about the care process and can independently inform patients on all considerations that could affect decision making.

The delivery of care and services must be coordinated and integrated by all individuals caring for the patient. Working together with the patient and family, these individuals ensure that

- based on assessment, care is planned to meet each patient's unique needs;
- the planned care is delivered to each patient;
- the patient's response to care is monitored; and
- planned care is modified when necessary based on the patient's response.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a ② icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Care Delivery for All Patients

COP.1 Uniform care of all patients is provided and follows applicable laws and regulations.

②

There is a process to integrate and to coordinate the care provided to each patient, and it includes a uniform process for prescribing patient orders.

- **COP.2.1** Clinical and diagnostic procedures and treatments are carried out and documented as ordered, and the results or outcomes are recorded in the patient's medical record.
- **COP.2.2** An individualized plan of care is developed and documented for each patient.

Care of High-Risk Patients and Provision of High-Risk Services

Clinical Alarm System Management

COP.3.1 Reduce the risk of harm associated with clinical alarms by developing and implementing risk reduction strategies for managing clinical alarm systems used for patient care.

P

Recognition of Changes to Patient Condition

COP.3.2 Clinical staff are trained to recognize and respond to changes in a patient's condition.

Resuscitation Services

COP.3.3 Resuscitation services are available throughout the hospital.

Administration of Blood and Blood Products

COP.3.4 Clinical guidelines and procedures are established and implemented for the handling, use, and administration of blood and blood products.

Output

Description:

Management of Patients at Risk of Suicide or Self-Harm

COP.3.5 The hospital has a process to identify patients at risk for suicide and self-harm. (P)

Management of Lasers

COP.4 The hospital establishes and implements a program for the safe use of lasers and other optical radiation devices used for performing procedures and treatments. **②**

Adverse events resulting from the use of lasers and other optical radiation devices are reported, and action plans to prevent recurrence are implemented and monitored.

Food and Nutrition Therapy

COP.5 A variety of food choices, appropriate for the patient's nutritional status and consistent with his or her clinical care, is available.

COP.5.1 Patients at nutrition risk receive nutrition therapy.

Pain Management

COP.6 Patients are supported in managing pain effectively.

End-of-Life Care

COP.7 The hospital provides end-of-life care for the dying patient that addresses the needs of the patient and family and optimizes the patient's comfort and dignity.

Hospitals Providing Organ and/or Tissue Transplant Services

COP.8 The hospital's leadership provides resources to support the organ/tissue transplant program.

COP.8.1 A qualified transplant program leader(s) is responsible for the transplant program.

COP.8.2 The transplant program includes a multidisciplinary team that consists of people with expertise in the relevant organ-specific transplant programs.

- **COP.8.3** There is a designated coordination mechanism for all transplant activities that involves physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners.
- **COP.8.4** The transplant program uses organ-specific transplant clinical eligibility criteria and psychological and social suitability criteria for transplant candidates.

- **COP.8.7** Individualized patient care plans guide the care of transplant patients.

Transplant Programs Using Living Donor Organs

- **COP.9** Transplant programs that perform living donor transplantation adhere to local and regional laws and regulations and protect the rights of prospective or actual living donors.

 - **COP.9.2** Transplant programs that perform living donor transplants use clinical and psychological selection criteria to determine the suitability of potential living donors. (P)
 - **COP.9.3** Individualized patient care plans guide the care of living donors.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Care Delivery for All Patients

Standard COP.1

Intent of COP.1

Patients with the same health problems and care needs have a right to receive the same quality of care throughout the hospital. To carry out the principle of "one level of quality of care" requires that the department/service leaders plan and coordinate patient care. In particular, services provided to similar patient populations in multiple departments or settings are guided by policies and procedures that result in their uniform delivery. In addition, the department/service leaders ensure that the same level of care is available each day of the week, and all work shifts each day. Those policies and procedures respect applicable laws and regulations that shape the care process and are best developed collaboratively. Uniform patient care is reflected in the following:

- a) Access to and appropriateness of care and treatment do not depend on the patient's ability to pay or the source of payment.
- b) Access to appropriate care and treatment by qualified practitioners does not depend on the day of the week or time of day.
- c) Acuity of the patient's condition determines the resources allocated to meet the patient's needs. (*Also see* ACC.1)
- d) The level of care provided to patients (**for example**, anesthesia care) is the same throughout the hospital.

e) Patients with the same nursing care needs receive comparable levels of nursing care throughout the hospital.

Uniform patient care results in the efficient use of resources and permits the evaluation of outcomes of similar care throughout the hospital. (*Also see* ACC.2; PCC.1.1; and GLD.12)

Measurable Elements of COP.1

- 1. The hospital's department/service leaders collaborate to provide uniform care processes.
- The provision of uniform care reflects local and regional laws and regulations.
- 3. Uniform care is provided and meets requirements a) through e) in the intent.

Standard COP.2

There is a process to integrate and to coordinate the care provided to each patient, and it includes a uniform process for prescribing patient orders.

Intent of COP.2

The patient care process is dynamic and involves many health care practitioners and can involve multiple care settings and departments and services. The integration and coordination of patient care activities are goals that result in efficient care processes, more effective use of human and other resources, and the likelihood of better patient outcomes. Thus, department/service leaders use tools and techniques to better integrate and to coordinate care for their patients (**for example**, team-delivered care, multidisciplinary patient rounds, combined care planning forms, integrated patient medical record, case managers). (*Also see* ACC.3 and AOP.4)

The patient's medical record facilitates and reflects the integration and coordination of care. In particular, each health care practitioner records observations and treatments in the patient's medical record. Many patient care activities require a qualified individual to prescribe an order for that activity that must be documented in the patient medical record. Such activities may include, **for example**, orders for laboratory testing, administration of medications, specific nursing care, nutrition therapy, rehabilitative therapy, and the like. (*Also see* MOI.9)

Patient care activities requiring orders are ordered by individuals qualified to do so. (*Also see* ACC.3.1) Such orders must be easily accessible if they are to be acted on in a timely manner. Locating orders on a common sheet or in a uniform location in the patient's medical record facilitates the carrying out of orders. Documented orders help staff understand the specifics of an order, when the order is to be carried out, and who is to carry out the order. (*Also see* MMU.4.2) Orders can be written on an order sheet that is transferred to the patient's medical record periodically or at discharge, or a computerized order entry system may be used in hospitals that are using electronic patient medical records.

Each hospital decides

- which orders must be written/documented and not by telephone, verbal, or text messaging (if verbal, telephone, or text orders are allowed); for example, telephone orders may be limited to emergency situations when a physician is not present, verbal orders may be limited to situations in which the ordering physician is performing a sterile procedure, and texting orders may be limited to diagnostic tests only;
- which diagnostic imaging and clinical laboratory test orders must provide a clinical indication/ rationale;
- any exceptions in specialized settings, such as emergency departments and intensive care units;
- who is permitted to prescribe orders; (Also see MMU.4.1) and
- where orders are to be located in the patient medical record, including those that may be received via text. (*Also see* MOI.8 and MOI.12)

Measurable Elements of COP.2

- 1. Care planning and care delivery are integrated and coordinated among settings, departments, and services.
- 2. The hospital develops and implements a uniform process for prescribing written/documented patient orders that includes identifying orders that may be received verbally, via telephone, and via text.
- 3. Diagnostic imaging and clinical laboratory test orders include a clinical indication/rationale when required for interpretation.
- 4. Orders are prescribed only by those qualified to do so.
- 5. Orders are found in a uniform location in medical records.

Standard COP.2.1

Clinical and diagnostic procedures and treatments are carried out and documented as ordered, and the results or outcomes are recorded in the patient's medical record.

Intent of COP.2.1

Clinical and diagnostic procedures and treatments performed, and the results or outcomes, are documented in the patient's medical record. (*Also see* PCC.2 and MOI.8.1) **Examples** of such procedures and treatments include endoscopies, cardiac catheterization, radiation treatment, computerized tomography (CT) exams, and other invasive and noninvasive diagnostic procedures and treatments. Information about who requested the procedure or treatment and the reason for the procedure or treatment are included in the documentation.

Measurable Elements of COP.2.1

- 1. Procedures and treatments are carried out as ordered and are documented in the patient's medical record.
- ☐ 2. The person requesting, and the reason for requesting, the procedure or treatment are documented in the patient's medical record.
- 3. The results of procedures and treatments performed are documented in the patient's medical record.

Standard COP.2.2

An individualized plan of care is developed and documented for each patient.

Intent of COP.2.2

The plan of care outlines care and treatment to be provided to an individual patient. The plan of care identifies a set of actions that the health care team will implement to resolve or support the diagnosis identified by assessment. The overall goal of a plan of care is to achieve optimal clinical outcomes. (*Also see* COP.3)

The planning process is collaborative and uses the data from the initial assessment and from periodic reassessments performed by physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners to identify and to prioritize the treatments, procedures, nursing care, and other care to meet the patient's needs. The patient and family are involved in the planning process with the health care team. The plan of care is developed within 24 hours of admission as an inpatient. Based on the reassessment of the patient performed by the patient's health care practitioners, the plan of care is updated as appropriate to reflect the evolving condition of the patient. The plan of care is evident in the patient's medical record through documentation by the patient's health care practitioners.

The plan of care for a patient must be related to his or her identified needs. Those needs may change as the result of clinical improvement or new information from a routine reassessment (**for example**, abnormal laboratory or radiography results), or they may be evident from a sudden change in the patient's condition (**for example**, loss of consciousness). The plan of care is revised based on these changes and is documented in the medical record as notes to the initial plan, or they may result in a new plan of care. Some departments may conduct multidisciplinary patient care conferences for patients who are receiving complex care from multiple services; **for example**, patients receiving rehabilitative services, patients with multiple diagnoses in intensive care units, or patients with complex discharge planning needs, and the like. Any results or conclusions from collaborative patient care team meetings or similar patient discussions are written in the patient's medical record. (*Also see* AOP.4)

One method of developing care plans is to identify and establish measurable goals. Measurable goals can be selected by the *responsible physician* in collaboration with the nurse and other health care practitioners. Measurable goals are observable, achievable targets related to patient care and expected clinical outcomes.

They must be realistic, specific to the patient, and time-based to provide a means for measuring progress and outcomes related to the plan of care. **Examples** of measurable, realistic goals include the following:

- The patient will resume and maintain an adequate cardiac output as indicated by a heart rate, rhythm, and blood pressure that are within normal limits.
- The patient will demonstrate proper self-administration of insulin injections prior to hospital discharge.
- The patient will be able to walk from his bed to the visitor lounge with a standard walker, bearing weight as tolerated on the affected leg.

Note: A single, integrated plan of care that identifies measurable goals expected by each health care practitioner is preferable. It is good practice for the plan of care to reflect individualized, objective, and measurable goals to facilitate reassessment and revision of the plan of care. (*Also see* PCC.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.2.2

- 1. The care for each patient is planned by the responsible physician, nurse, and other health care practitioners within 24 hours of admission as an inpatient.
- 2. The plan of care is individualized based on the patient's initial assessment data and identified needs and is documented in the patient's medical record.
- 3. The plan of care is updated or revised by the multidisciplinary team based on any changes in the patient's condition identified from the reassessment of the patient by the health care practitioners, and is documented in the patient's medical record.
- 4. The results or conclusions of any patient care team meetings or other collaborative discussions are documented in the patient's medical record.
- 5. The plan of care is provided to each patient and evident in the patient's medical record through documentation by the health care practitioners providing the care.

Care of High-Risk Patients and Provision of High-Risk Services

Standard COP.3

The care of high-risk patients and the provision of high-risk services are guided by professional practice guidelines, laws, and regulations.

①

Intent of COP.3

Hospitals care for patients with a variety of health care needs. Some patients are considered high risk because of their age, their condition, or the critical nature of their needs. Children and the elderly are commonly placed in this group, as they frequently cannot speak for themselves, do not understand the care process, and cannot participate in decisions regarding their care. Similarly, the frightened, confused, comatose, or emergency patient is unable to understand the care process when care needs to be provided efficiently and rapidly.

Hospitals also provide a variety of services, some of which are considered high risk because of the complex medical equipment needed to treat a life-threatening condition (dialysis patients), the nature of the treatment (patients on life support), the potential for harm to the patient (restraint), or toxic effects of certain high-risk medications (**for example**, chemotherapy).

Care for these high-risk patients is supported by the use of tools such as guidelines, procedures, care plans, clinical pathways, and the like. (*Also see* ACC.3 and COP.2.1) These tools are important for staff to understand and respond in a thorough, competent, and uniform manner. Hospital leadership is responsible for

- identifying the patients and services considered high risk in the hospital;
- using a collaborative process to develop written tools for guiding the uniform care; and
- training staff in implementing these tools.

Written tools for care must be tailored to the particular at-risk patient population or high-risk service to be appropriate and effective in reducing the related risk. It is particularly important that the procedure identify

- how planning will occur, including the identification of differences between adult and pediatric populations, or other special considerations;
- the documentation required for the care team to work and to communicate effectively;
- special consent considerations, if appropriate;
- patient-monitoring requirements, including the proper use of alarms;
- special qualifications or skills of staff involved in the care process; and
- the availability and use of specialized medical equipment.

When serving any of the high-risk patients or providing any of the high-risk services identified below, the hospital establishes and implements guidelines and procedures for the services provided and for the patients served. (*Also see* COP.8.6; COP.9.2; COP.9.3; PCI.12; and PCI.12.1) The high-risk services are for

- a) emergency patients;
- b) comatose patients;
- c) patients on life support;
- d) care of patients with a communicable disease;
- e) care of immunosuppressed patients;
- f) care of patients receiving dialysis;
- g) care of patients in restraints;
- h) care of patients receiving chemotherapy;
- i) care of vulnerable patient populations, including frail elderly, dependent children, and patients at risk for abuse and/or neglect; and
- j) care of patients receiving palliative care

Additional patients and services are included when they are represented in the hospital's patient population and in the services it offers.

Hospital leadership also identifies additional risk as the result of any procedures or plan of care (**for example**, the need to prevent deep vein thrombosis, pressure ulcers, and ventilator-associated infections in patients on life support; neurological and circulatory injury in restrained patients; bloodborne pathogen exposure in dialysis patients; central line infections; and falls). Such risks, when present, need to be addressed and prevented by educating staff and developing appropriate policies, guidelines, and procedures. (*Also see* PCC.4.2.) The hospital uses measurement information to evaluate the services provided to high-risk patients and integrates that information into the hospital's overall quality improvement program.

Measurable Elements of COP.3

- 1. Hospital leadership identifies the high-risk patients and services, including at least a) through j) of the intent when provided by the hospital.
- 2. Leadership establishes and implements policies, procedures, and/or principles of care for those highrisk services provided by the hospital.
- 3. Staff are trained to utilize the written tools for care of these high-risk patients and services.
- 4. Hospital leadership identifies additional risks that may affect high-risk patients and services and implements measures to reduce and/or prevent additional risks.
- 5. The development of hospital-acquired risks is tracked and included in the hospital's quality improvement program.

Clinical Alarm System Management

Standard COP.3.1

Reduce the risk of harm associated with clinical alarms by developing and implementing risk reduction strategies for managing clinical alarm systems used for patient care.

Output

Description:

Intent of COP.3.1

Clinical alarm systems are intended to alert caregivers of potential patient problems, but if they are not properly managed, they can compromise patient safety. There are several underlying issues associated with alarm management that can increase the risk to patient safety. Issues associated with alarm management include too many devices with alarms, default settings that are not at an actionable level, and alarm limits that are too narrow or not tailored to the patient's condition. Many patient care areas have numerous alarm signals, and the recurrent noise from improperly managed alarms tends to desensitize staff and cause them to miss or ignore alarm signals or even disable them. These issues vary greatly among hospitals and even within different wards in a single hospital. It is important for a hospital to understand its own situation and to develop a systematic, coordinated approach to clinical alarm system management. (*Also see* QPS.10)

Standardization contributes to safe alarm system management, but it is recognized that alarm management solutions may have to be designed for specific clinical units, groups of patients, or individual patients. **For example**, the most common alarms to address in an adult cardiac population would be cardiac monitoring, and in labor and delivery fetal monitoring alarms may be the most common. In designing customized solutions for proper alarm management, leaders begin by identifying the most important alarm signals to manage. Consideration of the following can be helpful in determining alarm signals that may pose a risk to patient safety:

- Input from the medical staff and clinical departments
- Data from medical devices on which alarms are causing false or nonactionable alarms that could impact specific patient populations
- Risk to patients if the alarm signal is not attended to or if it malfunctions
- Whether specific alarm signals are needed or unnecessarily contribute to alarm noise and alarm fatigue
- Potential for patient harm based on internal incident history
- Published best practices and guidelines (Also see QPS.3)

When the alarms posing a risk to patient safety have been identified, along with the locations and situations under which these alarms are used, strategies are developed that address the following:

- a) Clinically appropriate settings for alarm signals
- b) Situations in which alarm signals can be disabled

c) Circumstances under which alarm parameters can be changed

ation of alarm systems for which they are responsible.

- d) Identification of those who have the authority to set alarm parameters
- e) Designation of those who have the authority to change alarm parameters

Measurable Elements of COP.3.1

- Hospital leaders develop and implement an alarm system management program for alarm signals that pose a risk to patient safety.
 The program identifies the most important alarm signals to be managed based on the risk to patient safety.
 Hospital leaders develop strategies for managing alarms that consider a) through e) of the intent.
 Health care practitioners and other appropriate staff are educated about the purpose and proper oper-
- ☐ 5. Staff responsible for the management of clinical alarms are trained and competent to do so.

Recognition of Changes to Patient Condition

Standard COP.3.2

Clinical staff are trained to recognize and respond to changes in a patient's condition.

Intent of COP.3.2

Staff who do not work in critical care areas may not have adequate knowledge and training to assess and monitor patients with critical conditions. However, a significant number of patients outside of critical care areas experience critical inpatient events. It is essential to recognize the age-specific signs indicating a sudden change of condition for an individual patient population; **for example**, the pediatric patient population versus the adult patient populations. Often, a patient will exhibit early warning signs (**for example**, a worsening of vital signs or a subtle change in neurological status) shortly before experiencing significant clinical decline, resulting in a major event. (*Also see* AOP.2) The literature identifies physiological criteria that can assist staff in early detection of deteriorating patients. A majority of patients who experience cardiopulmonary or respiratory arrest demonstrate clinical deterioration prior to arrest. When staff are able to identify these patients early and request additional assistance from specially trained individuals, clinical outcomes improve.

All clinical staff require education and training to provide the knowledge and skills to recognize and intervene when patient assessments identify physiological signs that are outside of the normal range, indicating a potential for patient deterioration. Early response to changes in a patient's condition is critical to potentially preventing further deterioration. Hospitals that develop a systematic approach to early recognition and intervention of patients whose condition is deteriorating may reduce cardiopulmonary arrests and patient mortality. (*Also see* SQE.3)

Measurable Elements of COP.3.2

- 1. The hospital develops and implements a systematic process for staff recognition of and response to a patient whose condition appears to be worsening.
- 2. The hospital develops and implements documented age-specific criteria describing early warning signs of a change or deterioration in a patient's condition.
 - 1 3. The hospital develops and implements a process that identifies when and how to seek further assistance.
- 4. Based on the hospital's early warning criteria, staff seek additional assistance when they have concerns about a patient's condition.
- 1 5. The hospital informs the patient and family how to seek assistance when they have concerns about a patient's condition.

Resuscitation Services

Standard COP.3.3

Resuscitation services are available throughout the hospital.

Intent of COP.3.3

Resuscitation services can be defined as clinical interventions for the emergent care of patients experiencing a critical, life-threatening event, such as cardiac or respiratory arrest. When a cardiac or respiratory arrest occurs, the immediate initiation of chest compressions or respiratory support may mean the difference between life and death or, at the very least, may help avoid potentially serious brain damage.

Successful resuscitation of patients in cardiopulmonary arrest is dependent on critical interventions, such as early defibrillation and accurate implementation of advanced life support. These services must be available to all patients, 24 hours a day, every day. Essential to providing these critical interventions is the quick availability of standardized medical equipment, medications for resuscitation, and staff properly trained in resuscitation. Basic life support must be implemented immediately upon recognition of cardiac or respiratory arrest, and a process must be in place for providing advanced life support in fewer than 5 minutes. Resuscitation services available within the hospital, including medical equipment and properly trained staff, must be based on clinical evidence and the population served (**for example**, if the hospital has a pediatric population, medical equipment for pediatric resuscitation must be available). (*Also see* ASC.3; MMU.3.1; SQE.8.1; SQE.8.1.1; GLD.9; and FMS.9) To ensure that resuscitation is implemented in a timely manner, the hospital reviews internal data from previous emergency situations to determine response times and availability of appropriate equipment, and identifies areas for improvement.

Note: *All areas of the hospital* includes any areas where treatment and services are provided, including treatment or diagnostic areas in separate buildings on the hospital campus.

Measurable Elements of COP.3.3

- 1. Resuscitation services are available and provided to all patients 24 hours a day, every day, throughout all areas of the hospital.
- 2. Medical equipment for resuscitation and medications for basic and advanced life support are standardized and available for use based on the needs of the population served.
- 3. In all areas of the hospital, basic life support is implemented immediately upon recognition of cardiac or respiratory arrest, and advanced life support is implemented in fewer than 5 minutes.
- 4. The hospital reviews internal data from previous emergency situations and identifies areas for improvement.

Administration of Blood and Blood Products

Standard COP.3.4

Intent of COP.3.4

Blood must be administered in accordance with standards of practice and in a consistent manner in order to ensure the safety of the recipient. Therefore, clinical guidelines and procedures describe the process for

- a) patient consent for administration; (Also see PCC.4.2 and GLD.11.2)
- b) procurement of blood from the blood bank or blood storage area;
- c) patient identification;
- d) blood administration;
- e) monitoring of the patient; and
- f) identification of and response to signs of potential transfusion reactions

An individual with the education, knowledge, and expertise to oversee the blood and blood products administration ensures that processes, procedures, and clinical guidelines for transfusions are defined and implemented. (*Also see* AOP.5.11 and QPS.8)

Measurable Elements of COP.3.4

- An individual with education, knowledge, and expertise oversees the administration of blood and blood products.
- 2. Clinical guidelines and procedures are established and implemented for the handling, use, and administration of blood and blood products.
- 3. Clinical guidelines and procedures address the processes for a) through f) in the intent.

Management of Patients at Risk of Suicide or Self-Harm

Standard COP.3.5

Intent of COP.3.5

Suicide is considered a sentinel event. (*Also see* QPS.7) The hospital presents a unique combination of risk factors—acute illness or presentation of symptoms, environmental risk factors, and varied levels of staff experience with suicide and self-harm. Therefore, the hospital must implement screenings and assessments to identify patients at risk for suicide and self-harm to minimize the likelihood of a suicide or self-harm attempt.

Patients are screened if they meet criteria established by the hospital. The hospital identifies patient populations and/or criteria for which patients require screening for suicide and self-harm. For example, the hospital may choose to screen all patients at psychiatric and behavioral units, postpartum care units, acute care inpatient units, and emergency departments. Regardless of the treatment location, it is important for staff to be aware that patients being treated primarily for a medical condition often have comorbid behavioral health conditions, a change in clinical status that carries a poor prognosis, or psychosocial issues. These patients may be at risk for suicide, and it is important for staff to properly screen these individuals and identify other patient populations for suicidal ideation and self-harm as part of their overall clinical evaluation when indicated.

Staff are trained on how to identify patient populations who meet criteria for suicide and self-harm screening. Patients who meet criteria are screened for suicide and self-harm risk using tools that are appropriate to the patient population (**for example**, age-appropriate). (*Also see* SQE.3) Further assessment for suicide and self-harm risk is conducted on patients identified as "at risk" for suicide and self-harm or suicidal ideation through the use of screening tools. This assessment is completed through the use of evidence-based tools and focuses on suicidal ideation, intent, and plan; risk and protective factors; and past suicidal or self-harm behaviors.

The hospital implements protocols to minimize the risk of suicide and self-harm in patients who, upon assessment, are at risk for suicide and/or self-harm. These protocols may vary depending on the type of unit or ward, including the emergency department, and the patient population. For example, a general ward may implement a requirement for one-to-one monitoring for patients at risk of suicide, whereas psychiatric units may opt for hourly intentional rounding. These differences are influenced by variations in the physical environment of the care area, staffing ratios and training, and so on. Ultimately, the focus of these protocols is to keep patients safe, regardless of where they are being cared for in the hospital; department/service leaders conduct risk assessments and collaborate with clinical staff to identify and implement protocols that are most applicable and appropriate to each clinical care area.

Hospitals that care for patients at risk for suicide and self-harm, such as hospitals with a dedicated psychiatric unit and psychiatric hospitals, need to assess risks in the physical environment to identify areas and features that could be used to attempt suicide. (*Also see* FMS.3; FMS.5; and FMS.6) Patient rooms, patient bathrooms, corridors, and other areas should be included in the risk assessment. The most common hazards for suicide risk are anchor points used for hanging; however, there are many other types of hazards, and it is important to do a thorough assessment of the environment. **For example**, the risk assessment includes the accessibility of sharps, medications, cleaning chemicals, and so on. Nonpsychiatric units in hospitals should assess clinical areas to identify objects that could be used for self-harm so they can be removed when needed from the area around a patient who has been identified as high risk for suicide. **For example**, removal of anchor points, door hinges, and hooks that can be used for hanging.

Measurable Elements of COP.3.5

- 1. The hospital establishes criteria for which patients are screened for suicide and self-harm, as clinically indicated.
- 2. The hospital uses evidence-based tools to assess patients for suicidal ideation based on established criteria. Patients who screen positive, are identified as "at risk" for suicide and/or self-harm based on the established criteria.
- ☐ 3. The hospital conducts an environmental risk assessment that identifies features in the physical environment that could be used in a suicide or self-harm attempt; the hospital takes necessary action to minimize the risk(s).
- 4. The hospital implements protocols and procedures to mitigate the risk of patient suicide and/or self-harm.
- ☐ 5. The hospital monitors implementation and effectiveness of protocols and procedures for the prevention of patient suicide and/or self-harm by analyzing data regarding self-harm, the incidents, or deaths
- ☐ 6. Staff are trained on screening criteria, screening tools, and suicide and self-harm risk reduction protocols and procedures.

Management of Lasers

Standard COP.4

The hospital establishes and implements a program for the safe use of lasers and other optical radiation devices used for performing procedures and treatments.

①

Standard COP.4.1

Adverse events resulting from the use of lasers and other optical radiation devices are reported, and action plans to prevent recurrence are implemented and monitored.

Intent of COP.4 and COP.4.1

Lasers are a source of optical radiation, which includes ultraviolet radiation, high-intensity visible light, and infrared radiation. The narrow beam of high-intensity light from a laser can be targeted and focused for precise surgical procedures. Laser surgeries are generally minimally invasive with less blood loss than conventional surgery, and patients typically experience shorter recovery times. The use of lasers is becoming more common in health care as laser technology evolves and the clinical applications broaden. Lasers are used in many surgical procedures and treatments. **For example**, lasers are used to perform LASIK and cataract surgery; they are used to remove skin lesions and treat varicose veins; and in dentistry, they are used to remove tooth decay and recontour soft tissue.

Lasers are used for noninvasive treatments as well, and other medical devices that use optical radiation are becoming more popular for patient treatments. **Examples** include intense pulsed light therapy to treat skin conditions such as acne, ultraviolet radiation to treat psoriasis, lasers to whiten teeth, high-intensity visible light for curing composites and adhesives during dental procedures, light therapy for treatment of pain and inflammation, and infrared radiation to treat strained muscles and tissues.

Nearly all lasers and optical radiation devices that are used in the clinical setting pose potential hazards for patients and staff if safety procedures and guidelines are not established and followed. Lasers and optical radiation devices can generate intense concentrations of heat, light, and reflected light. When the skin and

eyes are exposed to the heat and light without adequate protection, skin burns and eye injuries, such as retinal burns, cataracts, and macular degeneration, may result. Injuries can come from direct contact with the light or with the reflected light from the laser.

Laser plumes are another potential hazard. These are the vapors, smoke, and particles produced during some surgical procedures. Laser plumes introduce a potential respiratory hazard for patients and staff, as they may contain irritants, toxins, tissue, bacteria, viruses, blood fragments, and other particles, depending on the type of procedure.

To prevent these hazards and address safety risks to patients and staff, the hospital establishes and implements a program for the safe use of lasers and other optical radiation devices using industry standards and professional guidelines. The program complies with laws and regulations and includes the following:

- A qualified and trained individual who has oversight and supervision of the laser and optical radiation safety program
- Training in safety practices and procedures for all staff who are involved in the use of lasers and
 optical radiation devices; in addition, ongoing education and training is provided for new procedures,
 practices, devices, and equipment; the training and ongoing education are documented (*Also see*SQE.3 and SQE.8)
- Administrative and engineering controls to promote safety and prevent injury; some examples include
 - criteria and processes developed for authorizing staff who enter and/or work in the areas (hazard zones) where lasers and other optical radiation is used; in addition to health care practitioners who perform the laser procedures, staff who operate the lasers, and other staff who are part of the surgical/clinical care team, the hospital identifies staff who may also require access;
 - warning signs outside the procedure room(s) to alert staff, patients, families, and visitors when a treatment or procedure is being performed;
 - o appropriate ventilation to help manage smoke plumes;
 - o use of nonreflective instruments to prevent exposures to reflected light; and
 - use of drapes and other barriers to prevent staff, patients, families, and visitors from inadvertently being exposed to direct or reflected light
- Availability of personal protective equipment for staff and patients appropriate to the type of lasers
 and optical radiation devices used and type of procedures performed in the hospital (for example,
 goggles, corneal shields, masks, gloves, and gowns, as applicable) (Also see SQE.8.2)
- A maintenance program for lasers and optical radiation devices and a process for routine performance checks such as calibration and alignment (*Also see FMS.9* and FMS.9.1)
- Coordination with the facility management and infection prevention and control programs; any facility safety events and infection control events are reported (*Also see* PCI.4 and FMS.5)
- Detecting and reporting adverse health effects and identifying and implementing improvements to prevent recurrence (*Also see* QPS.7.1)

Measurable Elements of COP.4

- 1. The hospital's program for the safe use of lasers and optical radiation devices is based on industry standards and professional guidelines and complies with applicable laws and regulations.
- 2. A qualified individual with the appropriate training and experience has oversight and supervision of the laser and optical radiation safety program.
- 3. All staff involved in the use of lasers and optical radiation devices receive safety training and continuing education; the training and ongoing education are documented.
- 4. The hospital establishes and implements administrative and engineering controls for the laser and optical radiation safety program to promote safety and prevent injury for patients and staff.
- Personal protective equipment appropriate to the type of lasers and optical radiation devices and type of procedures is available for staff and patients, and staff use it correctly and ensure that patients are protected during procedures.
- 1 6. The hospital has processes for inspection, testing, and maintenance of lasers and optical radiation devices, including routine calibration and alignment checks of lasers, and these activities are performed by qualified and trained individuals.

Measurable Elements of COP.4.1

- 1. The laser safety and optical radiation program is part of the hospital's facility management and safety structure and provides reports to the facility management and safety structure at least annually and when any safety events occur.
- 2. The laser safety and optical radiation program is part of the hospital's infection prevention and control program and provides reports to the infection prevention and control program at least annually and when any infection control events occur.
- ☐ 3. When adverse events result from the use of lasers and/or optical radiation devices, the adverse events are reported, and action plans are identified and implemented to prevent recurrence.

Food and Nutrition Therapy

Standard COP.5

A variety of food choices, appropriate for the patient's nutritional status and consistent with his or her clinical care, is available.

Intent of COP.5

Appropriate food and nutrition are important to patients' well-being and recovery. Food choices take into consideration the patient's age, cultural and dietary preferences, and planned care, which may include special dietary needs such as low cholesterol, diabetic diet, and clear liquids, depending on the patient's diagnosis. Based on the patient's assessed needs and plan of care, the patient's physician or other qualified caregiver orders food or other nutrients for the patient. (Also see AOP.1.4)

The patient participates in planning and selecting foods. When possible, patients are offered a variety of food choices consistent with their nutritional status. The patient's family may, when appropriate, participate in providing food, consistent with cultural, religious, and other traditions and practices and compatible with the patient's diagnosis. When the patient's family or others provide food to the patient, they are educated about foods that are contraindicated according to the patient's care needs and plans, including information about

any medications associated with food interactions. Food provided by family or others is stored under proper conditions to prevent contamination.

Measurable Elements of COP.5

- 1. A variety of food choices or nutrition, consistent with the patient's condition, care, and needs, is regularly available.
- 2. Prior to inpatients being fed, there is an order for food in the patient's medical record that is based on the patient's nutritional status and needs.
- The distribution of food is timely, and special requests are met.
- 4. When families provide food, they are educated about the patients' diet limitations.
- 5. Food provided by family or others is stored under proper conditions to prevent contamination.

Standard COP.5.1

Patients at nutrition risk receive nutrition therapy.

Intent of COP.5.1

On initial assessment, patients are screened to identify those who may be at nutritional risk. (*Also see* AOP.1.4) These patients are referred to a nutritionist for further assessment. When it is determined that a patient is at nutritional risk, a plan for nutrition therapy is developed and carried out. The patient's progress is monitored and recorded in his or her medical record. Physicians, nurses, the dietetics service, and, when appropriate, the patient's family, collaborate to plan and to provide nutrition therapy.

Measurable Elements of COP.5.1

- 1. Patients assessed at nutrition risk receive nutrition therapy.
- 2. A collaborative process is used to plan, to deliver, and to monitor nutrition therapy.
- 3. The patient's response to nutrition therapy is monitored and documented in the medical record.

Pain Management

Standard COP.6

Intent of COP.6

Pain can be a common part of the patient experience and may be associated with the condition or illness for which the patient is being treated. Pain may also be an expected part of certain treatments, procedures, or examinations. As part of care planning, patients are informed about the likelihood of pain when it is an anticipated effect from treatments, procedures, or examinations and what options for pain management are available. Whatever the origin of pain, unrelieved pain has adverse physical and psychological effects. Thus, patients in pain have the right to appropriate assessment and management of pain. (*Also see* PCC.2.2 and AOP.1.5)

Based on the scope of services provided, the hospital has processes to assess and to manage pain appropriately, including

- identifying patients with pain during initial assessment and reassessments;
- providing information to patients about pain that may be an expected result of treatments, procedures, or examinations;
- providing management of pain, regardless of the origin of pain, according to guidelines or protocols and in conjunction with patient goals for pain management; (*Also see* COP.7)
- communicating with and educating patients and families about pain and symptom management in the context of their personal, cultural, and religious beliefs; and
- educating health care practitioners about pain assessment and management.

Measurable Elements of COP.6

- 1. Based on the scope of services provided, the hospital has processes to identify patients in pain.
- 2. When pain is an expected result of planned treatments, procedures, or examinations, patients are informed about the likelihood of pain and options for pain management.
- ☐ 3. Patients in pain receive care according to pain management guidelines and according to patient goals for pain management.
- 4. Based on the scope of services provided, the hospital has processes to communicate with and to educate patients and families about pain.
- ☐ 5. Based on the scope of services provided, the hospital has processes to educate staff about pain.

End-of-Life Care

Patients who are approaching the end of life require care focused on their unique needs. Dying patients may experience symptoms related to the disease process or curative treatments or may need help in dealing with psychosocial, spiritual, and cultural issues associated with death and dying. Their families and caregivers may require respite from caring for a terminally ill family member or help in coping with grief and loss.

The hospital's goal for providing care at the end of life considers the settings in which care or service is provided (such as a hospice or palliative care unit), the type of services provided, and the patient population served. The hospital develops processes to manage end-of-life care. These processes

- ensure that symptoms will be assessed and appropriately managed;
- ensure that terminally ill patients will be treated with dignity and respect;
- assess patients as frequently as necessary to identify symptoms;
- plan preventive and therapeutic approaches to manage symptoms; and
- educate patients and staff about managing symptoms.

Standard COP.7

The hospital provides end-of-life care for the dying patient that addresses the needs of the patient and family and optimizes the patient's comfort and dignity.

Intent of COP.7

Patients who are dying have unique needs for respectful, compassionate care as indicated by their assessment. The patient assessment may identify symptoms that require management, such as nausea, respiratory distress, and pain; factors that alleviate or exacerbate physical symptoms; and the patient's response to symptom management. Identifying the patient's physical needs is just one aspect of determining the patient's end of life care. Patients and families may also have a need for spiritual, psychosocial, and support services, as appropriate to the patient's individual needs and cultural preferences.

Concern for the patient's comfort and dignity should guide all aspects of care during the final stages of life. End-of-life care provided by the hospital includes

- taking interventions to manage pain; (Also see COP.6)
- providing appropriate treatment for any symptoms according to the wishes of the patient and family;
- sensitively addressing such issues as autopsy and organ donation;
- respecting the patient's values, religion, and cultural preferences;
- involving the patient and family in all aspects of care; and
- responding to the psychological, emotional, spiritual, and cultural concerns of the patient and family.

To accomplish these goals, all staff are educated about the unique needs of patients and their families at the end of life. (*Also see* PCC.1.2 and SQE.3)

Measurable Elements of COP.7

- 1. Staff are educated about the unique needs of patients and their families at the end of life.
- 2. The health care needs of the patient and the support service needs of the patient and the family are identified as appropriate to their religious and cultural preferences.
- 3. End-of-life care addresses the symptoms, conditions, and health care needs of the dying patient as indicated by his or her assessment.
- 4. End-of-life care addresses the dying patient's pain.
- 5. End-of-life care addresses the patient's and family's psychosocial, emotional, cultural, and spiritual needs, as appropriate, regarding dying and grieving.
- 6. The patient and family are involved in care decisions.

Hospitals Providing Organ and/or Tissue Transplant Services

Note: The following standards address the hospital's responsibilities for organ and tissue transplantation, donation, and procurement.

Transplantation of organs is often a lifesaving procedure, and organ and tissue transplants are sometimes the only options for treatment of a wide range of diseases. Recent advances in transplantation have led to a greater success rate for transplanted organs and tissues. However, transplantation is not free from risk. Transmission of infections from the donor to the recipient is a well-documented safety concern. Diseases with documented transmission from infected donors subsequent to transplant include, to name a few, HIV, hepatitis B and C, and Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD). Recipients may also contract bacterial or fungal infections through contamination during transportation, storage, or handling.

Leadership's commitment to creating a culture conducive to organ and tissue donation can have significant impact on the overall success of the hospital's organ and tissue procurement efforts. These standards address the hospital's organizationwide responsibilities for organ and tissue donation and procurement. This includes any individual who has been determined medically suitable for donation by the organ-procurement organization. If the hospital has the necessary resources to support the recovery of organs and tissues after cardiac death, non–heart-beating donors are included in the organ procurement effort.

Standard COP.8

The hospital's leadership provides resources to support the organ/tissue transplant program.

Intent of COP.8

The organ/tissue transplant program requires staff with specialized education and training and other resources in order to provide safe, high-quality care. (*Also see* SQE.3) Staff education and training must be specific to the responsibilities and requirements of organ/tissue transplant. Other essential resources include supplies, patient rooms with ventilation required for the type of transplant procedure (**for example**, positive pressure ventilation), required pharmaceuticals for the type of transplant procedure, laboratory testing to ensure that tissue/organs are not contaminated, and other resources as identified by the program service leader. In addition, resources related to information management systems are necessary to assist with the collection of data associated with risks, outcomes, and other information that support the quality of the transplant program. (*Also see* GLD.1.1; GLD.7; and GLD.9)

Measurable Elements of COP.8

- 1. Trained staff are available to provide safe, high-quality care to the organ/tissue transplant program.
- The hospital's leadership allocates resources for the organ/tissue transplant program.
- 3. Information management systems are used to support the quality of the organ/tissue transplant program.

Standard COP.8.1

A qualified transplant program leader(s) is responsible for the transplant program.

Intent of COP.8.1

The responsibility of a hospital offering organ and tissue transplant services is to provide safe, high-quality care to transplant donors and recipients. At the core of this responsibility is an infrastructure capable of supporting all transplant program activities. A key element of the infrastructure is an individual(s) responsible for oversight of the organ/tissue transplant program. (*Also see* GLD.9) Acting on a full-time or part-time basis, this individual(s) provides that oversight as part of his or her assigned responsibilities or job description. This individual(s) is qualified in transplant management through education, training, experience, licensure, and/or certification. The required qualifications depend on the activities carried out.

Measurable Elements of COP.8.1

- 1. The transplant program has an infrastructure capable of supporting all aspects of the transplant program activities.
- 2. One or more individuals are qualified to oversee the scope and complexity of the organ/tissue transplant program.
- 3. The individual(s) fulfills the program's oversight responsibilities as defined by the transplant program.

Standard COP.8.2

The transplant program includes a multidisciplinary team that consists of people with expertise in the relevant organ-specific transplant programs.

Intent of COP.8.2

The success of a transplant program and positive outcomes for transplant recipients and living donors are dependent on a team of health care practitioners who have clinical knowledge and expertise in organ-specific transplantation. The nursing, psychological, pharmacological, and nutritional needs of an organ recipient

and a living organ donor are unique. As related to the type of transplant, a multidisciplinary team consists of individuals from

- medicine;
- nursing;
- nutrition;
- pharmacology;
- infection prevention and control;
- social services;
- psychological services; and
- rehabilitative services.

This team should have the qualifications, training, and experience to provide care and services to transplant recipients and living donors. (*Also see* SQE.3)

Measurable Elements of COP.8.2

- 1. The transplant program documents the composition of the tissue/organ-specific transplant team.
- ☐ 2. The transplant program documents the team members' responsibilities.
- 3. Based on the services provided by the transplant team, the team includes individuals experienced in medicine, nursing, nutrition, pharmacology, infection prevention and control, social services, psychological services, rehabilitative services, and transplant coordination.
- 4. The transplant program evaluates team members for qualifications, training, and experience at the time each individual is being considered for the transplant team.

Standard COP.8.3

There is a designated coordination mechanism for all transplant activities that involves physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners.

Intent of COP.8.3

Transplant services carry unique and critical risks to organ/tissue recipients and, in the cases of living donors, to the donor as well. An important component in ensuring safe, high-quality care through all phases of the donor/recipient process is identifying an individual with overall responsibility for coordination and continuity of the live donor's and recipient's care. This individual may be a physician, registered nurse, or other qualified health care practitioner.

Measurable Elements of COP.8.3

L	1.	The individua	l responsible fo	or the coo	ordination	of the	live don	or's and	l transpl	ant recip	pient's	s care i	S
		identified and	available thro	igh all pl	nases of tra	ansplan	t care.						

- 2. The clinical transplant coordinator facilitates continuity of care for transplant patients (candidates and recipients) through the pre-transplant, transplant, and discharge phases of transplantation.
- 3. The clinical transplant coordinator facilitates continuity of care for living donors during the evaluation, donation, and discharge phases of donation.
- 4. The coordination of organ/tissue transplant activities is communicated to all staff involved in the transplant program activities.

Standard COP.8.4

The transplant program uses organ-specific transplant clinical eligibility criteria and psychological and social suitability criteria for transplant candidates.

Intent of COP.8.4

There are multiple areas for consideration when a decision needs to be made about allocating organs to recipients. Consideration may be given to the imminent need of the patient for a transplant, the benefit the patient may gain from the transplant, the availability of alternative treatments, the expected improvement in the patient's quality of life, and the amount of resources required for successful treatment.

Because human organs and tissues available for transplant are limited, criteria for recipient selection are developed. Criteria for transplant recipient selection helps identify the most appropriate patient and limits the potential for bias. Thus, criteria for access to organs and tissues are defined in a transparent manner, based on an objective evaluation of medical needs.

In addition, there are organ-specific criteria that must be taken into account in the decision for allocating an organ. **For example**, the viability of an organ outside of the body varies from organ to organ. Thus consideration must be given to the length of time it may take for an organ to reach the recipient.

Measurable Elements of COP.8.4

u	1.	The transplant program documents organ-specific clinical eligibility criteria for the transplant
		candidate.

Ц	2.	The transpla	ınt program	documents	the psych	ological	and so	ocial suitabilit	y criteria i	or th	e transpl	lant
		candidate.										

3.	The results of a medical evaluation are included in the determination of suitability for
	transplantation.

4.	The transplant program	documents organ	compatibility	confirmation i	in the transplant	candidate's
	medical record					

Standard COP.8.5

The transplant program obtains informed consent specific to organ transplantation from the transplant candidate.

Output

Description:

Intent of COP.8.5

To consent, a patient must be informed of those factors related to the planned care required for an informed decision. (*Also see* PCC.2) Patients are informed about factors that could affect the success of the graft or the candidate's health as a recipient. Factors include, but are not limited to,

- a) the donor's history, as appropriate to the laws and regulations of the country/region;
- b) condition of the organ(s) used;
- c) age of the organ(s); and
- the potential risk of contracting infectious disease(s) if disease(s) cannot be detected in an infected donor.

In addition, there may be psychological, ethical, financial, and other factors that are unique to the transplant patient than for other patients, such as the need for immunosuppressive medications and the projected survival rate. (*Also see* AOP.1.1) The patient needs to be informed of all special considerations as part of the consent process. The transplant program also follows the hospital's policy for informed consent as well as local and regional laws and regulations. (*Also see* PCC.4.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.8.5

- 1. The transplant program follows the hospital's policy when obtaining informed consent from transplant candidates.
- 2. In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective transplant candidate of potential psychosocial risks.
 - 3. In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective transplant candidate of organ donor risk factors that could affect the success of the graft or the candidate's health as a recipient, including, but not limited to, a) through d) of the intent.
- 4. In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective transplant candidate of the transplant center's observed and expected one-year survival rate; or when the transplant program has been in operation less than 18 months, the one-year survival rate as documented in the literature.
- 5. In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective transplant candidate about potential rejection rates, immunosuppressive drugs, and possible associated costs.
- In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective transplant candidate of alternative treatments.

Standard COP.8.6

The transplant program has documented protocols, clinical practice guidelines, or procedures for organ recovery and organ receipt to ensure the compatibility, safety, efficacy, and quality of human cells, tissues, and organs for transplantation.

P

Intent of COP.8.6

To reduce the risk of organ rejection, the transplant surgeon must ensure the compatibility of the donor organ(s) to the recipient. The most frequently used tests for compatibility include blood typing and crossmatching and tissue typing. The transplant surgeon ensures that testing for compatibility occurs before organ recovery and organ transplantation takes place.

Transmission of infectious diseases and malignancies is a potential risk for recipients of donor tissues and organs. Therefore, the level of safety, efficacy, and quality of human cells, tissues, and organs for transplantation must be ensured. Evaluation of organ and tissue donors may identify those donors who have a higher risk for infection with a potentially harmful pathogen. Donor screening of clinical history and donor testing for communicable diseases can significantly reduce the incidence of donor transmission of disease. Donor screening should include evaluation of medical history, behavioral risk factors, and a physical examination. Donor testing should include tests for HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and other recommended tests.

For any transplantation of human material, traceability should be ensured for the anticipated lifetime of the donor and the recipient. Internationally agreed-on means of coding to identify tissues and cells used in transplantation are essential for full traceability. (*Also see* GLD.11.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.8.6

1.	The transplant team follows written organ recovery protocols, clinical practice guidelines, or procedures, which include reviewing the essential donor data and recipient data to ensure compatibility before organ recovery takes place.
2.	The transplant surgeon is responsible for confirming, in writing, the medical suitability of donor organs for transplantation into the recipient.
3.	When an organ arrives at the transplant center, the transplanting surgeon and at least one other licensed health care practitioner at the transplant center verify and document that the donor's blood type and other essential data are compatible with the recipient prior to transplantation.

- 4. The transplant surgeon is responsible for confirming that donor evaluation and donor testing for infectious diseases and malignancy have been completed, and are documented in the medical record, before organ recovery and organ transplant occur.
- □ 5. When an organ arrives at the transplant center, the transplanting surgeon and at least one other licensed health care practitioner at the transplant center verify and document that evaluation and testing of the donor organ shows no evidence of disease and the condition of the organ is suitable for transplant.

Standard COP.8.7

Individualized patient care plans guide the care of transplant patients.

Intent of COP.8.7

5.

ongoing basis.

The care of the patient receiving an organ or tissue transplant is different based on the type of organ or tissue being transplanted. The patient's health history has an impact on his or her recovery. In addition, the patient's psychological status may have an impact on the success of the transplant. A psychological evaluation will be conducted by a psychiatrist, psychologist, or social worker with experience in transplantation to determine the decision-making capacity of the patient and screen for any preexisting psychiatric illness. (*Also see* AOP.1.1) Individualized care plans are developed to guide the care of transplant patients. (*Also see* AOP.1.2 and COP.2.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.8.7

1.	The transplant program has documented organ-specific clinical practice guidelines for the pre-transplant, transplant, and discharge phases of transplantation.
2.	Each transplant patient is under the care of a multidisciplinary patient care team coordinated by the patient's primary transplant physician throughout the pre-transplant, transplant, and discharge phases of transplantation.
3.	Transplant candidates are evaluated for the suitability of other medical and surgical therapies that may yield short- and long-term survival rates comparable to transplantation.
4.	Transplant candidates receive a psychological evaluation by a psychiatrist, psychologist, or social worker with experience in transplantation to determine the decision-making capacity of the patient and screen for any preexisting psychiatric illness.

The transplant program updates clinical information in the transplant patient's medical record on an

Transplant Programs Using Living Donor Organs

Standard COP.9

Transplant programs that perform living donor transplantation adhere to local and regional laws and regulations and protect the rights of prospective or actual living donors.

Intent of COP.9

The growing demand for and limited supply of organs from deceased donors have resulted in increased efforts to promote live organ donation. Living donor standards for the selection of suitable candidates for donation, informed consent, and care following the donation do not universally exist. Living donors face difficult decisions and are at potential risk for lifelong complications and should not feel coerced or pressured into organ donation.

To help with decisions and to ensure that the living donor's rights are protected, an individual with knowledge of living organ donation, transplantation, medical ethics, and informed consent is identified and appointed to protect the patient's rights. This person is independent of the transplant team and if employed by the hospital does not report to any member of the transplant team. The goal of this person is to ensure that the living donor understands all aspects of the donation process and is autonomous in his or her decision-making abilities. (*Also see* PCC.1 and PCC.6)

Measurable Elements of COP.9

1.	Transplant programs that perform living donor transplantation adhere to local and regional laws and regulations.
2.	The living organ donor has the right to make a decision about donation in a setting free of coercion and pressure.
3.	An individual with knowledge of living organ donation, transplantation, medical ethics, and informed consent is identified and appointed as an advocate for the living donor.
4.	The individual appointed as the living donor advocate is not involved in routine transplantation activities.
5.	The individual appointed as the living donor advocate informs, supports, and respects the living donor in a culturally appropriate manner during decision making.

Standard COP.9.1

Intent of COP.9.1

The prospective donor needs to thoroughly understand all aspects of the donation process, particularly to understand the risks and benefits associated with being a living donor. Many living donors give their organ to a family member or acquaintance; however, some living donors do not influence the placement of their donated organ. A very important aspect of obtaining informed consent is to ensure that the prospective donor is willing to donate and has not been coerced or promised compensation, and understands that he or she may decline to donate at any time. (*Also see* PCC.4.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.9.1

1.	Informed consent for living donation is obtained by trained staff and is in a language the prospective living donor can understand.
2.	In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective living donor of potential psychological risks of donation.
3.	In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective living donor of potential complications and risks associated with living organ donation.
4.	In addition to the information provided to any surgical patient as part of the informed consent process, the transplant program informs the prospective living donor of potential future health problems.

- ☐ 5. The transplant program informs the prospective living donor of alternative treatments for the transplant candidate.
- 6. The transplant program informs the prospective living donor of the donor's right to opt out of donation at any time during the donation process.

Standard COP.9.2

Intent of COP.9.2

Organ donors must be evaluated for suitability, both physical and psychological, as an organ donor. The medical evaluation determines the donor's physical ability to donate and identifies any immediate health risks and possible future health risks. The psychological evaluation will be conducted by a psychiatrist, psychologist, or social worker with experience in transplantation to determine decision-making capacity, screen for any preexisting psychiatric illness, and evaluate any potential coercion. (*Also see* AOP.1.1) The donor must also be evaluated for his or her ability to comprehend the donation process and the potential outcomes, including possible adverse outcomes.

Pos	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	adverse outcomes.
Ме	ası	ırable Elements of COP.9.2
	1.	The transplant program documents defined organ-specific living donor selection criteria.
	2.	The transplant program's living donor selection criteria are consistent with laws and regulations and the principles of medical ethics.
	3.	The results of a medical evaluation related to the living donor's own physical health are included in the determination of suitability for donation.
	4.	The results of medical tests identifying infectious diseases or malignancies are included in the determination of suitability for donation.
	5.	The results of a psychological evaluation conducted by a psychiatrist, psychologist, or social worker with experience in transplantation are included in the determination of suitability for donation.
	6.	The transplant program documents organ compatibility confirmation in the living donor's medical record.

Standard COP.9.3

Individualized patient care plans guide the care of living donors.

Intent of COP.9.3

In addition to the general health care needs of patients undergoing surgical procedures, the living donor has unique treatment and health care needs that require specific consideration. Individualized care plans are developed and implemented for all living donors. (*Also see* ACC.3 and COP.2.2)

Measurable Elements of COP.9.3

- 1. Transplant programs performing living donor transplants are guided by documented living donor guidelines for care in the evaluation, donation, and discharge phases of donation.
- 2. Transplant programs performing living donor transplants provide multidisciplinary care by a team coordinated by a physician to each donor throughout the donor evaluation, donation, and discharge phases of donation.
- 3. The living donor candidate receives ongoing psychological support following donation.

References

Care Delivery for All Patients

Adibi S, et al. Medical and dental electronic health record reporting discrepancies in integrated patient care. *JDR Clin Trans Res.* Epub 2019 Sep 27. https://doi.org/10.1177/2380084419879387.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Care Coordination. Jun 2014. (Updated: Aug 2018.) Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/prevention-chronic-care/improve/coordination/index.html.

Doctor K, et al. Practice pattern variation in test ordering for low-acuity pediatric emergency department patients. *Pediatr Emerg Care*. Epub 2018 Oct 17.

Doherty RF, Knab M, Cahn PS. Getting on the same page: An interprofessional common reading program as foundation for patient-centered care. *J Interprof Care.* 2018 Jul;32(4):444–451.

Duddy C, Wong G. Explaining variations in test ordering in primary care: Protocol for a realist review. *BMJ Open.* 2018 Sep 12;8(9):e023117.

ECRI Institute. 2019 Top 10 Health Technology Hazards: Executive Brief. 2018. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/Resources/Whitepapers and reports/Haz 19.pdf.

The Joint Commission. Update: Texting orders. *Jt Comm Perspect.* 2016 May;36(5):15.

Mercer T, et al. The highest utilizers of care: Individualized care plans to coordinate care, improve healthcare service utilization, and reduce costs at an academic tertiary care center. *J Hosp Med.* 2015 Jul;10(7):419–424. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.2351.

Providence St. Joseph Health Digital Commons. Individualized Fall Prevention Care Plan to Decrease Fall Rates in an Adult Inpatient Psychiatric Unit. Accardi SR, Chamberlain C. Nursing Boot Camp Posters. Jun 20, 2019. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://digitalcommons.psjhealth.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1012&context=stvincent-bootcamp.

Sidani S, et al. Exploring differences in patient-centered practices among healthcare professionals in acute care settings. *Health Commun.* 2018 Jun;33(6):716–723.

Turnbull AE, Sahetya SK, Needham DM. Aligning critical care interventions with patient goals: A modified Delphi study. *Heart Lung*. 2016 Nov–Dec;45(6):517–524.

World Health Organization. *Integrated Care for Older People: Realigning Primary Health Care to Respond to Population Ageing.* 2018. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/326295/WHO-HIS-SDS-2018.44-eng.pdf.

Care of High-Risk Patients and Provision of High-Risk Services

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. A Toolkit to Engage High-Risk Patients in Safe Transitions Across Ambulatory Settings. Davis K, et al. AHRQ Publication No. 18-0005-1-EF. Dec 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/wysiwyg/professionals/quality-patient-safety/hais/tools/ambulatory-surgery/safetransitions/safetrans_toolkit.pdf.

Chandrashekar P, Jain SH. Improving high-risk patient care through chronic disease prevention and management. *J Law Med Ethics.* 2018 Sep;46(3):773–775.

Ganguli I, et al. What do high-risk patients value? Perspectives on a care management program. *J Gen Intern* Med. 2018 Jan;33(1):26–33.

Hong CS, Siegel AL, Ferris TG. Caring for high-need, high-cost patients: What makes for a successful care management program? *Issue Brief (Commonw Fund)*. 2014 Aug;19:1–19.

Ingram B. Ambulatory care for haematology and oncology patients. *Br J Nurs*. 2017 Feb 23;26(4):S12–S14.

Clinical Alarm System Management

AAMI Foundation. Clinical Alarm Management Compendium. 2015. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://s3.amazonaws.com/rdcms-aami/files/production/public/FileDownloads/Foundation/Reports/Alarm_Compendium_2015.pdf.

Assis AP, et al. Individualized parameterization of multiparametric monitors alarms in infarcted patients. *Rev Bras Enferm*. 2019 Jun 27;72(3):609–616.

Cameron HL, Little B. Nurses' perceptions and practices related to alarm management: A quality improvement initiative. *J Contin Educ Nurs*. 2018 May 1;49(5):207–215. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20180417-05.

Casey S, Avalos G, Dowling M. Critical care nurses' knowledge of alarm fatigue and practices towards alarms: A multicentre study. *Intensive Crit Care Nurs.* 2018 Oct;48:36–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2018.05.004.

Edworthy JR, et al. Getting better hospital alarm sounds into a global standard. *Ergon Des.* 2018;26(4):4–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1064804618763268.

Recognition of Changes to Patient Condition

Massey D, Chaboyer W, Anderson V. What factors influence ward nurses' recognition of and response to patient deterioration? An integrative review of the literature. *Nurs Open.* 2016 Apr 26;4(1):6–23.

Miller PJ. Case study: Continuous monitoring of patient vital signs to reduce 'failure-to-rescue' events. *Biomed Instrum Technol.* 2017 Jan–Feb;51(1):41–45. https://doi.org/10.2345/0899-8205-51.1.41.

McDonald KM, et al. Implementation science for ambulatory care safety: A novel method to develop context-sensitive interventions to reduce quality gaps in monitoring high-risk patients. *Implement Sci.* 2017 Jun 24;12(1):79.

Meybohm P, et al. Patient blood management bundles to facilitate implementation. *Transfus Med Rev.* 2017 Jan;31(1):62–71.

Watanabe Y, et al. Japanese Society for Dialysis Therapy clinical guideline for "hemodialysis initiation for maintenance hemodialysis." *Ther Apher Dial.* 2015 Mar;19 Suppl 1:93–107.

World Bank Group. Enhanced Care Management: Improving Health for High Need, High Risk Patients in Estonia: Evaluation Report of the 2017 Enhanced Care Management Pilot in Estonia. Draft version. Oct 25, 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.haigekassa.ee/sites/default/files/enhanced-care-management.pdf.

World Health Organization. WHO Definition of Palliative Care. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/definition/en/.

Jeong YJ, Kim H. Evaluation of clinical alarms and alarm management in intensive care units. *Journal of Korean Biological Nursing Science*. 2018 Dec;20(4):228–235. https://doi.org/10.7586/jkbns.2018.20.4.228.

Johnson KR, Hagadorn JI, Sink DW. Reducing alarm fatigue in two neonatal intensive care units through a quality improvement collaboration. *Am J Perinatol.* 2018 Nov;35(13):1311–1318.

Mirhafez SR, et al. Perceptions and practices related to clinical alarms. *Nurs Forum.* 2019 Jul;54(3):369–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12338.

Short K, Chung YJ Jr. Solving alarm fatigue with smartphone technology. *Nursing*. 2019 Jan;49(1):52–57.

Simpson KR, Lyndon A. False alarms and overmonitoring: Major factors in alarm fatigue among labor nurses. *J Nurs Care Qual.* 2019 Jan–Mar;34(1):66–72.

Winters BD, et al. Technological distractions (part 2): A summary of approaches to manage clinical alarms with intent to reduce alarm fatigue. *Crit Care Med.* 2019 Jan;46(1):130–137.

Petersen JA, Rasmussen LS, Rydahl-Hansen S. Barriers and facilitating factors related to use of early warning score among acute care nurses: A qualitative study. *BMC Emerg Med.* 2017 Dec 1;17(1):36.

Resuscitation Services

Hasselqvist-Ax I, et al. Early cardiopulmonary resuscitation in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *N Engl J Med.* 2015 Jun 11;372(24):2307–2315.

Kleinman ME, et al. 2017 American Heart Association focused update on adult basic life support and cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality: An update to the American Heart Association guidelines for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. *Circulation*. 2018 Jan 2;137(1):e7–e13.

UpToDate. Advanced Cardiac Life Support (ACLS) in Adults. Pozner CN. (Updated: Sep 18, 2019.) Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/advanced-cardiac-life-support-acls-in-adults.

Administration of Blood and Blood Products

Hensley NB, et al. Wrong-patient blood transfusion error: Leveraging technology to overcome human error in intraoperative blood component administration. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2019 Mar;45(3):190–198.

Robinson S, et al. The administration of blood components: A British Society for Haematology guideline. *Transfus Med.* 2018 Feb;28(1):3–21.

Rygård SL, Holst LB, Perner A. Blood product administration in the critical care and perioperative settings. *Crit Care Clin*. 2018 Apr;34(2):299–311.

Management of Patients at Risk for Suicide and Self-Harm

Abdelraheem M, McAloon J, Shand F. Mediating and moderating variables in the prediction of self-harm in young people: A systematic review of prospective longitudinal studies. *J Affect Disord.* 2019 Mar 1;246:14–28.

Borschmann R, Kinner SA. Responding to the rising prevalence of self-harm. *Lancet Psychiatry*. 2019 Jul;6(7):548–549.

Hogan MF, Grumet JG. Suicide prevention: An emerging priority for healthcare. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2016 Jun 1;35(6):1084–1090. https://doi.org/10.1377/bhlthaff.2015.1672.

Jansson L, Graneheim UH. Nurses' experiences of assessing suicide risk in specialised mental health outpatient care in rural areas. *Issues Ment Health Nurs*. 2018 Jul;39(7):554–560.

The Joint Commission. Suicide Prevention Portal. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/topics/suicide-prevention-portal.aspx.

Kene P, Yee ET, Gimmestad KD. Suicide assessment and treatment: Gaps between theory, research, and practice. *Death Stud.* 2019;43(3):164–172.

McClatchey K, et al. Suicide risk assessment in the emergency department: An investigation of current practice in Scotland. *Int J Clin Pract.* 2019 Apr;73(4):e13342.

Roaten K, et al. Development and implementation of a universal suicide risk screening program in a safety-net hospital system. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2018 Jan;44(1):4–11.

Sequeira L, et al. Factors influencing suicide risk assessment clinical practice: Protocol for a scoping review. *BMJ Open*. 2019 Feb 18;9(2):e026566.

Velupillai S, et al Risk assessment tools and data-driven approaches for predicting and preventing suicidal behavior. *Front Psychiatry*. 2019 Feb 13;10:36.

Whitehead M, et al. An empirical approach to assessing training needs for emergency department management of intentional self-harm and related behaviors in the United States. *J Educ Eval Health Prof.* 2017 Dec 14;14:30.

Management of Lasers

Cressey BD, Keyes A, Alam M. Laser safety: Regulations, standards and practice guidelines. In Nouri K, editor: *Lasers in Dermatology and Medicine: Dermatologic Applications*, 2nd ed. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 2018, 37–47.

Gupta P. Laser safety: Recommendations for lasers in healthcare. *Professional Safety*. 2018 Feb:63(2):59–60.

He JX, et al. [Investigation of non-ionizing radiation hazards from physiotherapy equipment in 16 medical institutions]. *Zhonghua Lao Dong Wei Sheng Zhi Ye Bing Za Zhi*. 2013 Dec;31(12):900–901.

Ilce A, et al. The examination of problems experienced by nurses and doctors associated with exposure to surgical smoke and the necessary precautions. *J Clin Nurs.* 2017 Jun;26(11–12):1555–1561.

Okoshi K, et al. Health risks associated with exposure to surgical smoke for surgeons and operation room personnel. *Surg Today*. 2015 Aug;45(8):957–965.

Parker PJ, Parker SPA. Laser safety. In Coluzzi DJ, Parker SPA, editors: *Lasers in Dentistry—Current Concepts*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 2017, 87–106.

Pinto I, et al. Blue light and ultraviolet radiation exposure from infant phototherapy equipment. *J Occup Environ Hyg.* 2015;12(9):603–610.

Food and Nutrition Therapy

Craven DL, et al. Barriers and enablers to malnutrition screening of community-living older adults: A content analysis of survey data by Australian dietitians. *Aust J Prim Health*. 2017 May;23(2):196–201.

Gjerlaug AK, et al. Screening of nutritional risk among older persons. *Norwegian Journal of Clinical Nursing*. 2016;11(2):148–156.

Pain Management

Al-Harthy M, et al. The effect of culture on pain sensitivity. *J Oral Rehabil.* 2016 Feb;43(2):81–88.

Corradi-Dell'Acqua C, et al. Pain management decisions in emergency hospitals are predicted by brain activity during empathy and error monitoring. *Br J Anaesth*. 2019 Aug;123(2):e284–e292.

Jungquist CR, et al. Assessing and managing acute pain: A call to action. *Am J Nurs*. 2017 Mar;117(3 Suppl 1):S4–S11.

Matula ST, Polomano RC, Irving SY. The state of the science in paediatric pain management practices in low-middle income countries: An integrative review. *Int J Nurs Pract*. 2018 Dec;24(6):e12695.

End-of-Life Care

Hall A, Rowland C, Grande G. How should end-of-life advance care planning discussions be implemented according to patients and informal carers? A qualitative review of reviews. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2019 Aug;58(2):311–335.

Long AC, et al. Agreement with consensus statements on end-of-life care: A description of variability at the level of the provider, hospital, and country. *Crit Care Med.* 2019 Oct;47(10):1396–1401.

Mayland C, et al. Quality assurance for care of the dying: Engaging with clinical services to facilitate a regional cross-sectional survey of bereaved relatives' views. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018 Oct 10;18(1):761.

Huysentruyt K, Vandenplas Y, De Schepper J. Screening and assessment tools for pediatric malnutrition. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2016 Sep;19(5):336–340.

Rub G, et al. Validation of a nutritional screening tool for ambulatory use in pediatrics. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* 2016 May;62(5):771–775.

Rochmawati E, Wiechula R, Cameron K. Centrality of spirituality/religion in the culture of palliative care service in Indonesia: An ethnographic study. *Nurs Health Sci.* 2018 Jun;20(2):231–237.

Siddiqui TM, et al. Prevalence of orofacial pain perception in dental teaching hospital—Karachi. *International Dental & Medical Journal of Advanced Research*. 2015;1:1–6.

Upadhyay C, et al. Measuring pain in patients undergoing hemodialysis: A review of pain assessment tools. *Clin Kidney J.* 2014 Aug;7(4):367–372.

Xiao H, et al. Pain prevalence and pain management in a Chinese hospital. *Med Sci Monit*. 2018 Nov 1;24:7809–7819.

Park SY, et al. End-of-life care in ICUs in East Asia: A comparison among China, Korea, and Japan. *Crit Care Med.* 2018 Jul;46(7):1114–1124.

Partain DK, et al. End-of-life care for seriously ill international patients at a global destination medical center. Mayo Clin Proc. 2018 Dec;93(12):1720–1727.

Toevs CC. Transitioning to comfort-focused care at the end of life. *Surg Clin North Am.* 2019 Oct;99(5):1019–1027.

Hospitals Providing Organ and/or Tissue Transplant Services

Arredondo E, et al. Council of Europe Black Sea Area Project: International cooperation for the development of activities related to donation and transplantation of organs in the region. *Transplant Proc.* 2018 Mar;50(2):374–381.

Brett KE, et al. Quality metrics in solid organ transplantation: A systematic review. *Transplantation*. 2018 Jul;102(7):e308–e330.

Courtwright AM, et al. An ethical framework for the care of patients with prolonged hospitalization following lung transplantation. *HEC Forum.* 2019 Mar;31(1):49–62.

Eguchi S, et al. The donor advocacy team: A risk management program for living organ, tissue, and cell transplant donors. *Surg Today.* 2017 Aug;47(8):980–985.

Gunnar W. The VA Transplant Program: A rebuttal to criticism and a look to the future. *Am J Transplant*. 2019 May;19(5):1288–1295.

McCall M, Wright LS. The regulatory and legal environment of a contemporary kidney transplant program. In Ramirez CGB, McCauley J, editors: *Contemporary Kidney Transplantation*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-14779-6 23-1.

Pasquini MC, et al. Worldwide Network for Blood and Marrow Transplantation recommendations for establishing a hematopoietic cell transplantation program, part I: Minimum requirements and beyond. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2019 Dec;25(12):2322–2329.

Schaenman JM, et al. Transplant center support for infectious diseases. *Transpl Infect Dis.* 2017 Oct;19(5).

Schaffhausen CR, et al. The importance of transplant program measures: Surveys of three national patient advocacy groups. *Clin Transplant*. 2018 Dec;32(12):e13426.

Srinivas R, et al. Association between patient satisfaction and outcomes in kidney transplant. *Am J Med Qual*. 2015 Mar–Apr;30(2):180–185.

Welch R, Rowe-Nichols, K. Development and use of a competency based orientation (CBO) to improve and standardize transplant coordinator training. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2018 Mar;24(3 Suppl):S445.

Wey A, et al. A five-tier system for improving the categorization of transplant program performance. *Health Serv Res.* 2018 Jun;53(3):1979–1991.

Wickline M, et al. Long-term follow up (LTFU) for blood and marrow transplant (BMT) survivors: Building collaborative practice between a comprehensive cancer center and community oncology nurses. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2018 Mar;24(3 Suppl):S472–S473.

Transplant Programs Using Living Donor Organs

Budiani-Saberi D, Mostafa A. Care for commercial living donors: The experience of an NGO's outreach in Egypt. *Transpl Int.* 2011 Apr;24(4):317–323.

Gruessner RWG, Gruessner AC. Solid-organ transplants from living donors: Cumulative United States experience on 140,156 living donor transplants over 28 years. *Transplant Proc.* 2018 Dec;50(10):3025–3035.

Habbous S, et al. Healthcare costs for the evaluation, surgery, and follow-up care of living kidney donors. *Transplantation*. 2018 Aug;102(8):1367–1374.

Hunt HF, et al. Strategies for increasing knowledge, communication, and access to living donor transplantation: An evidence review to inform patient education. *Curr Transpl Rep.* 2018 Mar;5(1):27–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40472-018-0181-1.

Joint Commission Resources. Tracer methodology 101: Transplant safety tracer: Standardized procedures to acquire, receive, store, and issue tissue. *Joint Commission: The Source*. 2013 Apr;11(4):10–12.

Kook YWA, et al. Multicenter investigation of the reliability and validity of the live donor assessment tool as an enhancement to the psychosocial evaluation of living donors. *Am J Transplant*. 2019 Apr;19(4):1119–1128.

Laprise C, et al. Sex and gender considerations in transplant research: A scoping review. *Transplantation*. 2019 Sep;103(9):e239–e247.

Lau A, et al. Living donors: Caring for the trailblazers of progress in transplantation. *Transplantation*. 2018 Nov;102(11):e461.

Lee L. The ethics of organ donation in patients who lack the capacity for decision making. *Creat Nurs.* 2018 Aug;24(3):186–190.

Patel NP, et al. Quality improvement project: Workflow, standardization and data validation of comorbidity index at a small to medium volume transplant center. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2017;23(3 Suppl):S416–S417.

Tulla KA, Jeon H. Living donor liver transplantation: Technical innovations. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am.* 2018 Jun;47(2):253–265.

US Food and Drug Administration. Blood & Blood Products. (Updated: Mar 28, 2019.) Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/blood-blood-products.

World Health Organization. Transplantation: Outcomes of Organ Transplantation. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://www.who.int/transplantation/gkt/statistics/kidney_outcomes/en/index.html.

Yoon YI, Lee SG. Living donor liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: An Asian perspective. *Dig Dis Sci.* 2019 Aug;64(4):993–1000.

Anesthesia and Surgical Care (ASC)

Overview

The use of surgical anesthesia, procedural sedation, and surgical interventions are common and complex processes in a health care organization. They require complete and comprehensive patient assessment, integrated care planning, continued patient monitoring, and criteria-determined transfer for continuing care, rehabilitation, and eventual transfer and discharge.

Anesthesia and procedural sedation are commonly viewed as a continuum from minimal sedation to full anesthesia along which patients gradually lose their reflexes to protect their airway, such as coughing and gagging. As individual patient response may move along that continuum, anesthesia and procedural sedation use should be organized in an integrated manner. Thus this chapter addresses anesthesia and procedural sedation where the patient's protective reflexes needed for a patent airway and ventilatory function maintenance are at risk. This chapter does not address the use of sedation for the purposes of anxiolysis or sedation required in the ICU for ventilator tolerance.

Because surgery carries a high level of risk, it must be carefully planned and carried out. Information about the surgical procedure and care after surgery is planned, based on the patient's assessment, and documented. Special consideration is given to surgery that involves implanting a medical device, including the reporting of devices that malfunction, as well as a process for follow-up with patients in the event of a recall.

Note: The anesthesia and surgery standards are applicable in whatever setting anesthesia and/or procedural sedation are used and where surgical and other invasive procedures that require consent are performed. (*Also see* PCC.4.2) Such settings include hospital operating theatres, day surgery or day hospital units, endoscopy, interventional radiology, dental and other outpatient clinics, emergency services, intensive care areas, or elsewhere.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a ② icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Organization and Management

- **ASC.1** Sedation and anesthesia services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet professional standards and applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.
- **ASC.2** A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the sedation and anesthesia services.

Sedation Care

ASC.3 The administration of procedural sedation is standardized throughout the hospital. P

- **ASC.3.3** The risks, benefits, and alternatives related to procedural sedation are discussed with the patient, his or her family, or those who make decisions for the patient.

Anesthesia Care

- **ASC.4** A qualified individual conducts a preanesthesia assessment and preinduction assessment.
- **ASC.5** Each patient's anesthesia care and, when applicable, postoperative pain management are planned; and the plan as well as the risks, benefits, and alternatives are discussed with the patient and/or those who make decisions for the patient and documented in the patient's medical record.

Surgical Care

- **ASC.7** Each patient's surgical care is planned and documented based on the results of the assessment.
 - **ASC.7.1** The risks, benefits, and alternatives are discussed with the patient and his or her family or those who make decisions for the patient.
 - **ASC.7.2** Information about the surgical procedure is documented in the patient's medical record to facilitate continuing care.
 - **ASC.7.3** Patient care after surgery is planned and documented.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Organization and Management

Standard ASC.1

Sedation and anesthesia services are available to meet patient needs, and all such services meet professional standards and applicable local and national standards, laws, and regulations.

Intent of ASC.1

Sedation and anesthesia are commonly viewed as a continuum from minimal sedation to full anesthesia. A patient's response may move along that continuum during which the patient's protective airway reflexes are at risk. Sedation and anesthesia use are complex processes that must be integrated into patient care planning. Sedation and anesthesia require a complete and comprehensive patient assessment, continued patient monitoring, and objective recovery criteria.

The hospital has a system for providing sedation and anesthesia services required by its patient population, clinical services offered, and health care practitioners' needs. Sedation and anesthesia services are provided according to professional practice standards for care and meet all applicable local and national laws and regulations. Sedation and anesthesia services are available after normal hours of operation for emergencies.

Sedation and anesthesia services (including services required for emergencies) may be provided by the hospital, by agreement with an outside source (**for example**, an individual anesthesiologist or anesthesia group practice), or both. Any use of outside anesthesia sources is based on the recommendation of the leader of sedation and anesthesia services. Outside sources meet applicable laws and regulations and have acceptable quality and patient safety records as defined in a contract for services. (*Also see* GLD.6 and GLD.6.1)

Measurable Elements of ASC.1

1.	Sedation and anesthesia services meet professional standards of practice and applicable local and
	national laws and regulations.

- 2. Sedation and anesthesia services are available to meet patient needs.
- 3. Sedation and anesthesia services are available for emergencies after normal hours of operation.
- 4. Outside sedation and anesthesia sources are selected based on the recommendations of the leader of sedation and anesthesia services, acceptable records of performance, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- 5. There is a contract in place when outside sources for sedation and anesthesia services are used.

Standard ASC.2

A qualified individual(s) is responsible for managing the sedation and anesthesia services.

Intent of ASC.2

Sedation and anesthesia services are under the direction of one or more individuals who are qualified by documented training, expertise, and experience, which are consistent with applicable laws and regulations. This individual(s) assumes professional responsibility for the anesthesia services provided. (*Also see* GLD.6 and GLD.9) Responsibilities include

- developing, implementing, and maintaining policies and procedures;
- providing administrative oversight;
- maintaining any necessary quality control program;
- · recommending outside sources of sedation and anesthesia services; and
- monitoring and reviewing all sedation and anesthesia services.

Measurable Elements of ASC.2

- 1. Sedation and anesthesia services are uniform throughout the hospital.
- 2. Sedation and anesthesia services are under the direction of one or more qualified individuals.
- ☐ 3. Responsibilities for recommending outside sources of sedation and anesthesia services are defined and carried out.
- 4. Responsibilities for monitoring and reviewing all sedation and anesthesia services are defined and carried out.

Sedation Care

Standard ASC.3

Intent of ASC.3

Procedural sedation is defined as "... the technique of administering sedatives or dissociative agents with or without analgesics to induce an altered state of consciousness that allows the patient to tolerate painful or unpleasant procedures while preserving cardiorespiratory function." Regardless of the medication, dose, or route of administration, when a medication is used for the purposes of altering the patient's cognitive state in order to facilitate a specific procedure, it is considered procedural sedation. Procedural sedation is often performed in many areas of the hospital outside of the operating theatre. Because procedural sedation, like anesthesia, poses significant potential risks to patients, the administration of procedural sedation must be uniform throughout the hospital. The qualifications of staff participating in the procedure, the medical equipment, the supplies, and the monitoring must be the same wherever procedural sedation is provided in the hospital. Thus hospitals must develop specific guidelines for how and where procedural sedation may be used.

Standardization of procedural sedation is supported by policies and procedures that are understood by all practitioners permitted to administer procedural sedation and identifies

- a) areas in the hospital where procedural sedation may occur;
- b) special qualifications or skills of staff involved in the procedural sedation process; (Also see SQE.3)
- c) the differences between pediatric, adult, and geriatric populations or other special considerations; (Also see AOP.1.6)
- d) the immediate availability and use of specialized medical equipment, appropriate to the age and history of the patient; (Also see COP.3.3) and
- e) the informed consent process for both the procedure and the use of sedation. (Also see PCC.4.2)

During procedural sedation, an individual trained in advanced life support and emergency medical equipment and supplies appropriate for the age and history of the patient and the type of procedure being performed are immediately available. (*Also see* SQE.8.1 and SQE.8.1.1)

Measurable Elements of ASC.3

- The administration of procedural sedation is standardized throughout the hospital.
- 2. Standardization of procedural sedation includes identifying and addressing at least a) through e) in the intent.
- 3. Emergency medical equipment and supplies are immediately available and customized to the type of sedation being performed and the age and medical condition of the patient.
- 4. An individual with advanced life-support training appropriate for the age and history of the patient, is immediately available when procedural sedation is being performed.

Standard ASC.3.1

Intent of ASC.3.1

The qualifications of the physician, dentist, or other individual responsible for the patient receiving procedural sedation are important. Understanding the methods for procedural sedation as they relate to the patient and the type of procedure performed improves the patient's tolerance of an uncomfortable or painful procedure and decreases the risks of complications. Complications related to procedural sedation primarily include cardiac or respiratory depression. Thus, certification in at least basic life support is essential. In addition, knowledge of the pharmacology of the sedation agents used, as well as reversal agents, decreases the risks of adverse outcomes. As such, the individual responsible for procedural sedation must be competent in

- a) techniques and various modes of sedation;
- b) pharmacology of sedation drugs and the use of reversal agents;
- c) monitoring requirements; and
- d) response to complications. (Also see SQE.10)

The health care practitioner performing the procedure should not be responsible for providing continuous monitoring of the patient. A separate, qualified individual, such as an anesthesiologist or a trained and competent nurse, should assume responsibility for providing uninterrupted monitoring of the patient's physiological parameters and assistance in supportive or resuscitative measures. (*Also see* SQE.3) The individual responsible for providing the monitoring must be competent in

- e) monitoring requirements;
- f) response to complications;
- g) use of reversal agents; and
- h) recovery criteria.

Measurable Elements of ASC.3.1

- ☐ 1. Health care practitioners responsible for providing procedural sedation show evidence of competence in at least a) through d) of the intent.
- 2. The individual responsible for patient monitoring during procedural sedation is competent in at least elements e) through h) in the intent.
- 3. Procedural sedation competencies for all staff involved in sedation are documented in the personnel files.

Standard ASC.3.2

Intent of ASC.3.2

The degrees of sedation occur on a continuum from mild to deep sedation, and a patient may progress from one degree to another. Many factors influence the patient's response to sedation and can affect the degree to which a patient is sedated. Factors include the medications administered, the route and dosages, the age of the patient (pediatric, adult, or geriatric), and the patient's medical history. **For example**, history of impairment of major organs, current medications that may interact with sedating medications, drug allergies, previous adverse response to anesthesia or sedation, and substance abuse may each have an impact on patient response to procedural sedation. If the patient's physical status is high risk, consideration is given to the additional clinical needs of the patient and the appropriateness of procedural sedation.

The presedation assessment helps identify any factors that may impact the patient's response to procedural sedation and also helps to identify what findings from monitoring during and after the procedure may be significant. (Also see AOP.1.1) The responsible, qualified practitioner conducts a presedation assessment of the patient to

- a) identify any airway problems that may influence the type of sedation used;
- b) evaluate at-risk patients for appropriateness of procedural sedation;
- c) plan the type of sedation and the level of sedation the patient will need based on the procedure being performed;
- d) safely administer sedation; and
- e) interpret findings from patient monitoring during procedural sedation and recovery.

The scope and content of this assessment are based on professional guidelines and are defined in hospital policy.

Patients undergoing procedural sedation require monitoring of their level of consciousness, ventilator and oxygenation status, and hemodynamic variables at a frequency based on the type and amount of medication administered, the length of the procedure, and the type and condition of the patient. Important considerations during the sedation procedure include the patient's ability to maintain protective reflexes; an independent, continuous patent airway; and the capability to respond to physical stimulation or verbal commands. A qualified individual is responsible for providing uninterrupted monitoring of the patient's physiological parameters and assistance in supportive or resuscitation measures until the patient has been safely recovered.

When the procedure has been completed, patients may continue to be at risk for complications due to delay in the full absorption of the sedating drug, respiratory depression, and/or lack of stimulation from the procedure. Patients continue to require monitoring until they have reached near their baseline level of consciousness and hemodynamic parameters. Objective criteria help identify patients who are recovered and/or ready for discharge. (*Also see* QPS.8)

Measurable Elements of ASC.3.2

- 1. A presedation assessment is performed and documented that includes at least a) through e) to evaluate risk and appropriateness of procedural sedation for the patient.
- ☐ 2. A qualified individual monitors the patient during the period of sedation and documents the monitoring.
- 3. Established criteria are used and documented for the recovery and discharge from procedural sedation.

Standard ASC.3.3

The risks, benefits, and alternatives related to procedural sedation are discussed with the patient, his or her family, or those who make decisions for the patient.

Intent of ASC.3.3

The procedural sedation planning process includes educating the patient, his or her family, or decision maker on the risks, benefits, and alternatives related to procedural sedation. This discussion occurs as part of the process to obtain consent for procedural sedation as required in PCC.4.2 and PCC.4.3. A qualified individual provides this education.

Measurable Elements of ASC.3.3

- 1. The patient, family, and/or decision makers are educated on the risks, benefits, and alternatives of procedural sedation.
- The patient, family, and/or decision makers are educated about postprocedure analgesia.
- ☐ 3. A qualified individual provides and documents the education.

Anesthesia Care

Standard ASC.4

A qualified individual conducts a preanesthesia assessment and preinduction assessment.

Intent of ASC.4

Because anesthesia carries a high level of risk, administration is carefully planned. The patient's preanesthesia assessment is the basis for that plan, for identifying what findings from monitoring during anesthesia and recovery may be significant, and for the use of postoperative analgesia. The preanesthesia assessment provides information needed to

- identify any airway problems;
- select the anesthesia and to plan anesthesia care;
- safely administer an anesthetic based on patient assessment, identified risks, and type of procedure;
- interpret findings from patient monitoring during anesthesia and recovery; and
- provide information for the use of analgesia following surgery.

An anesthesiologist or another qualified individual conducts the preanesthesia assessment. The preanesthesia assessment may be carried out some time prior to admission or prior to the surgical procedure or shortly before the surgical procedure, as in emergency and obstetrical patients. (*Also see* AOP.1.1 and AOP.1.3) The preinduction assessment is separate from the preanesthesia assessment, as it focuses on the physiological stability and readiness of the patient for anesthesia and occurs immediately prior to the induction of anesthesia. When anesthesia must be provided emergently, the preanesthesia assessment and preinduction assessment may be performed immediately following one another, or simultaneously, but are documented independently.

Measurable Elements of ASC.4

	l 1.	A preanesthesia	assessment is	performed fo	r each patient.
--	------	-----------------	---------------	--------------	-----------------

2.	A separate preinduction assessment is performed to reevaluate patients immediately before the induc
	ion of anesthesia.

3.	The two assessments are performed by an individual(s) qualified to do so and documented in the
	patient medical record.

Standard ASC.5

Each patient's anesthesia care and, when applicable, postoperative pain management are planned; and the plan as well as the risks, benefits, and alternatives are discussed with the patient and/or those who make decisions for the patient and documented in the patient's medical record.

Intent of ASC.5

Anesthesia care is carefully planned. The plan includes information from other patient assessments and identifies the anesthesia to be used, the method of administration, other medications and fluids, monitoring procedures, and anticipated postanesthesia care. The anesthesia planning process includes educating the patient, his or her family, or decision maker on the risks, benefits, and alternatives related to the planned anesthesia. (*Also see* PCC.4.3) This discussion occurs as part of the process to obtain consent for anesthesia as required in PCC.4.2. An anesthesiologist or a qualified individual provides this education. (*Also see* PCC.5.2)

When postoperative pain management is provided by anesthesia services, the postoperative pain management plan is reviewed and discussed with the patient by the anesthesiologist or other qualified individual and documented in the patient's medical record.

The anesthesia agent, dose (when applicable), anesthetic technique, and qualified individual administering the anesthesia are documented in the patient's anesthesia record. (*Also see* COP.2.1; QPS.8; and MOI.8.1)

Measurable Elements of ASC.5

- 1. The anesthesia care for each patient is planned and documented in the patient's medical record.
- 2. The patient, family, and/or decision makers are educated on the risks, benefits, and alternatives of anesthesia.
- 3. When applicable, the patient, family, and/or decision makers are educated, prior to the procedure being performed, about the options available for postoperative pain management.
- 4. The anesthesia agent, dose (when applicable), and anesthetic technique are documented in the patient's anesthesia record.
- 5. The anesthesiologist and/or nurse anesthetist and anesthesia assistants are identified in the patient's anesthesia record.

Standard ASC.6

Intent of ASC.6

Physiological monitoring provides reliable information about the patient's status during anesthesia (general, spinal, regional, and local) and the recovery period. Results of monitoring trigger key intraoperative decisions as well as postoperative decisions, such as return to surgery, transfer to another level of care, or discharge. Monitoring information guides medical and nursing care and identifies the need for diagnostic and other services. Monitoring findings are entered into the patient's medical record.

Monitoring methods depend on the patient's preanesthesia status, the anesthesia choice, and the complexity of the surgical or other procedure performed during anesthesia. In all cases, however, the overall monitoring during anesthesia and surgery is consistent with professional practice and defined in hospital policy. (*Also see* GLD.7) The results of monitoring are documented in the patient's medical record. (*Also see* COP.2.1 and MOI.8.1)

Measurable Elements of ASC.6

- 1. The frequency and type of monitoring during anesthesia and surgery are based on the patient's preanesthesia status, the anesthesia used, and the surgical procedure performed.
- 1 2. Monitoring of the patient's physiological status is consistent with professional practice.
- ☐ 3. The results of monitoring are documented in the patient's medical record.

Standard ASC.6.1

Each patient's postanesthesia status is monitored and documented, and the patient is discharged from the recovery area by a qualified individual or by using established criteria. \bullet

Intent of ASC.6.1

Monitoring during the anesthesia period is the basis for monitoring during the postanesthesia recovery period. The ongoing, systematic collection and analysis of data on the patient's status in recovery support decisions about moving the patient to other settings and less intensive services. Recording of monitoring data provides the documentation to support discontinuing recovery monitoring or the discharge decisions. When the patient

is transferred directly from the operating theatre to a receiving unit, monitoring and documentation are the same as would be required in the recovery room.

Discharge from the postanesthesia recovery areas or discontinuation of recovery monitoring is by one of the following alternative ways:

- a) The patient is discharged (or recovery monitoring is discontinued) by a fully qualified anesthesiologist or other individual authorized by the individual(s) responsible for managing the anesthesia services.
- b) The patient is discharged (or recovery monitoring is discontinued) by a nurse or similarly qualified individual in accordance with postanesthesia criteria developed by hospital leadership, and the patient's medical record contains evidence that criteria are met.
- c) The patient is discharged to a unit that is capable of providing postanesthesia or postsedation care of selected patients, such as a cardiovascular intensive care unit or neurosurgical intensive care unit, among others.

The time of arrival at and discharge from the recovery area (or the time recovery begins and the time of discontinuation of recovery monitoring) are documented in the patient's medical record.

Measurable Elements of ASC.6.1

- 1. Patients are monitored during the postanesthesia recovery period.
- 2. Monitoring findings are documented in the patient's medical record.
- 3. Patients are discharged from the postanesthesia unit (or recovery monitoring is discontinued) in accordance with the alternatives described in a) through c) in the intent.
- 4. Time recovery is started and time recovery phase is complete are recorded in the patient's medical record.

Surgical Care

Standard ASC.7

Each patient's surgical care is planned and documented based on the results of the assessment.

Intent of ASC.7

Because surgery carries a high level of risk, its use is carefully planned. The patient's assessment(s) is the basis for selecting the appropriate surgical procedure and for identifying what findings during monitoring may be significant. (Also see AOP.1.1 and AOP.1.2) The assessment(s) provides information necessary to

- select the appropriate procedure and the optimal time;
- perform the procedures safely; and
- interpret the findings of patient monitoring.

Procedure selection depends on the patient's history, physical status, and diagnostic data as well as the risks and benefits of the procedure for the patient. Procedure selection considers the information from the admitting assessment, diagnostic test, and other available sources. The assessment process is carried out in a shortened time frame when an emergency patient needs surgery. (*Also see* AOP.1.2.1)

The surgical care planned for the patient is documented in the patient's medical record, including a preoperative diagnosis. The name of the surgical procedure alone does not constitute a diagnosis. (*Also see* AOP.1.3.1)

Measurable Elements of ASC.7

- 1. The responsible physician documents the assessment information used to develop and to support the planned invasive procedure in the patient's medical record before the procedure is performed.
- 1 2. The surgical care for each patient is planned based on the assessment information.
- 3. A preoperative diagnosis and the planned procedure are documented in the patient's medical record prior to the procedure.

Standard ASC.7.1

The risks, benefits, and alternatives are discussed with the patient and his or her family or those who make decisions for the patient.

Intent of ASC.7.1

Patients and their families or decision makers receive adequate information to participate in care decisions and to provide the informed consent required in PCC.4.2. The information includes

- the risks of the planned procedure;
- the benefits of the planned procedure;
- the potential complications; and
- the surgical and nonsurgical options (alternatives) available to treat the patient.

In addition, when blood or blood products may be needed, information on the risks and alternatives is discussed. (*Also see* PCC.4.1) The patient's surgeon or other qualified individual provides this information. (*Also see* PCC.5.2)

Measurable Elements of ASC.7.1

- 1. The patient, family, and decision makers are educated on the risks, benefits, potential complications, and alternatives related to the planned surgical procedure.
- 2. The education includes the need for, risks and benefits of, and alternatives to blood and blood-product use.
- 3. The patient's surgeon or other qualified individual provides and documents the education.

Standard ASC.7.2

Information about the surgical procedure is documented in the patient's medical record to facilitate continuing care.

Intent of ASC.7.2

A patient's postsurgical care depends on the events and findings of the surgical procedure. The most important issue is that all actions and results essential to the patient's condition are entered in the patient's medical record. This information could be presented in the form of a template—either paper or electronic—or an operative report, such as a written operative progress note. To support a continuum of postsurgical supportive care, the information about the surgery is recorded in the patient's medical record immediately after surgery, prior to the patient being transferred from the surgical or the postanesthesia recovery area. (*Also see* MOI.8.1) The documented information about the surgery includes at least

- a) postoperative diagnosis;
- b) name of operative surgeon and assistants;
- c) procedures performed and description of each procedure findings;
- d) perioperative complications;

- e) surgical specimens sent for examination;
- f) amount of blood loss and amount of transfused blood; and
- g) date, time, and signature of responsible physician.

Some information may be contained in other notations in the medical record. (*Also see* ACC.3) **For example**, amount of blood loss and transfused blood may be recorded in the anesthesia record, or information about implantable devices may be shown using a manufacturer's preprinted sticker. (*Also see* ASC.7.4)

The time immediately after surgery is defined as "upon completion of surgery, before the patient is transferred to the next level of care." This definition ensures that pertinent information is available to the next caregiver. If the surgeon accompanies the patient from the operating theatre to the next unit or area of care, the operative note, template, or progress note can be written in that unit or area of care.

Note: Documentation of information on nonsurgical procedures and treatments, such as invasive diagnostic procedures, interventional treatments, and other diagnostics and treatments, is identified in COP.2.1.

Measurable Elements of ASC.7.2

- 1. Surgical reports, templates, or operative progress notes include at least a) through g) from the intent.
- 2. The hospital identifies information that may routinely be recorded in other specific areas of the medical record.
- ☐ 3. The surgical report, template, or operative progress note is available immediately after surgery before the patient is transferred to the next level of care.

Standard ASC.7.3

Patient care after surgery is planned and documented.

Intent of ASC.7.3

Each patient's postsurgical medical and nursing care needs differ depending on the surgical procedure performed and the medical history of the patient. In addition, some patients may require care from other services, such as physical therapy or rehabilitation. Therefore, it is necessary to plan for that care, including the level of care, care setting, follow-up monitoring or treatment, and the need for medication or other treatment and services.

Postsurgical care planning can begin before surgery based on the patient's assessed needs and condition and the type of surgery being performed. The postsurgical plan of care also includes the patient's immediate postoperative needs. The planned care is documented in the patient's medical record within 24 hours and verified by the responsible service to ensure continuity of services during the recovery or rehabilitative period.

The postsurgical needs may change as the result of clinical improvement or new information from a routine reassessment, or they may be evident from a sudden change in the patient's condition. The postsurgical plan of care is revised based on these changes and documented in the medical record as notes to the initial plan or as a revised or new plan of care. (*Also see* COP.2.2)

Measurable Elements of ASC.7.3

- 1. The postsurgical care provided by medical, nursing, and others meets the patient's immediate post-surgical needs.
- 2. The continuing postsurgical plan(s) is documented in the patient's medical record within 24 hours by the responsible surgeon or verified by a co-signature from the responsible surgeon on the documented plan entered by the surgeon's delegate.
- 3. The continuing postsurgical plan of care includes medical, nursing, and others as needed based on the patient's needs.
- 4. When indicated by a change in the patient's needs, the postsurgical plan of care is updated or revised based on the reassessment of the patient by the health care practitioners.

Standard ASC.7.4

Intent of ASC.7.4

Many surgical procedures involve the permanent implantation of a medical device. An *implantable medical device* can be defined as a device that is permanently placed into a surgically or naturally formed cavity of the body to continuously assist, restore, or replace a function or structure of the body throughout the useful life of the device.

A permanent implantable medical device can be a prosthesis (such as a hip), a stent, a cardioverter defibrillator, a pacemaker, intraocular lenses, and an infusion pump, among other **examples**.

Surgical procedures involving the permanent implantation of medical devices require that routine surgical care be modified to account for special factors such as

- a) the selection of devices based on current science and research;
- b) ensuring that implants are present in the operating theatre; (Also see IPSG.4)
- c) the qualifications and training of any outside technical staff required during the implant procedure (**for example**, the manufacturer's representative who may be required to calibrate the device);
- d) the reporting process for implantable device-related adverse events;
- e) the reporting of implantable device malfunctions to regulatory agencies;
- f) unique infection prevention and control considerations; and
- g) any special discharge instructions for the patient.

These special considerations may be incorporated into guidelines, protocols, operating policies, or other documents to guide the surgical team and facilitate consistent processes and outcomes. (*Also see* SQE.10)

The ability to trace implantable medical devices is essential for tracing surgical site infections and identifying patients who may have received nonsterile implants. In addition, the tracing process allows the hospital to assess the reliability of the sterilization process. Therefore, the hospital has a process for tracing implantable medical devices. (*Also see* ASC.7.2 and GLD.7.1)

In the event of a recall of an implantable medical device, the hospital informs and follows up with those patients who received the device. (*Also see* FMS.9.2) The hospital develops and implements a process for contacting and following up with the patients, including those who may be outside the country. The hospital determines the time frame for contacting patients (**for example**, within 24 hours of the official recall notification of a lifesaving device). This time frame may be longer for a non-lifesaving device.

Measurable Elements of ASC.7.4

- 1. The hospital's surgical services identify the types of implantable medical devices that are included within its scope of services.
- 2. Policies and practices include a) through g) in the intent.
- ☐ 3. The hospital has a process for tracing implantable medical devices.
- 4. The hospital develops and implements a process for contacting and following up with patients in a defined time frame after receiving notification of a recall of an implantable medical device.

References

Organization and Management of Anesthesia and Surgical Programs

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. Information Statement: Implant Device Recalls. Feb 2002. (Updated: Feb 2016.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.aaos.org/uploadedFiles/1019%20Implant%20Device%20 Recalls%204.pdf.

Durand L, et al. OHP-034 Traceability of implantable medical devices (IMDS) in hospital: Industrial codification systems still insufficient. *Eur J Hosp Pharm*. 2015 Mar;22 Suppl 1:A207–A208.

Lebak K, et al. Building and maintaining organizational infrastructure to attain clinical excellence. *Anesthesiology Clin.* 2017 Dec;35(4):559–568. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anclin.2017.07.002.

Sedation Care

Green SM, et al. Unscheduled procedural sedation: A multidisciplinary consensus practice guideline. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2019 May;73(5):e51–e65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.02.022.

Medscape. Pediatric Sedation. Chang WW. (Updated: May 8, 2018.) Accessed Jan 3, 2020. http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/804045-overview#a1.

Anesthesia Care

Boehm M, Baumgarten G, Hoeft A. Preoperative patient assessment: Identifying patients at high risk. *Best Prac Res Clin Anaesthesiol.* 2016 Jun;30:131–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpa.2016.04.005.

Bruckenthal P, Simpson MH. The role of the perioperative nurse in improving surgical patients' clinical outcomes and satisfaction: Beyond medication. *AORN J.* 2016 Dec;104(6S):S17–S22 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2016.10.013.

Montroy J, et al. Change in adverse events after enrollment in the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. 2016 Jan 26;11(1):e0146254. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146254.

Tumusiime G, et al. The quality and utility of surgical and anesthetic data at a Ugandan Regional Referral Hospital. *World J Surg.* 2017 Feb;41(2):370–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-016-3714-8.

Wong T, Tsai MH, Urman RD. The expansion of non-operating room anesthesia services. *Perioper Care Oper Room Manag.* 2017 Dec;9:39–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcorm.2017.11.008.

World Health Organization. Anesthesia Safety Checklist. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.who.int/surgery/publications/s15980e.pdf.

Saunders R, et al. Patient safety during procedural sedation using capnography monitoring: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* 2017 Jun;7(6):e013402. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013402.

Zielinska M, et al. Safe pediatric procedural sedation and analgesia by anesthesiologists for elective procedures: A clinical practice statement from the European Society for Paediatric Anaesthesiology. *Paediatr Anaesth.* 2019 Jun;29(6):583–590. https://doi.org/10.1111/pan.13615.

Michard F, et al. Perioperative hemodynamic management 4.0. *Best Prac Res Clin Anaesthesiol*. 2019 Jun;33(2):247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpa.2019.04.002.

Surgical Care

Kumar C, Salzman B, Colburn JL. Preoperative assessment in older adults: A comprehensive approach. *Am Fam Physician*. 2018 Aug 15;98(4):214–220.

Ward WH, et al. Optimal preoperative assessment of the geriatric patient. *Perioper Care Oper Room Manag.* 2017 Dec;9:33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcorm.2017.11.005.

Medication Management and Use (MMU)

Overview

Medications are a critical component of the care provided to patients and are used for diagnostic, symptomatic, preventive, curative, and palliative treatment and management of diseases and conditions. A medication system that supports optimal medication management must include processes that support safe and effective medication use. Safe, effective medication use involves a multidisciplinary, coordinated effort of health care practitioners applying the principles of process design, implementation, and improvement to all aspects of the medication management process, which includes the selecting, procuring, storing, ordering/prescribing, transcribing, distributing, preparing, dispensing, administering, documenting, and monitoring of medication therapies. Although health care practitioners' roles in medication management vary greatly from one country to another, sound medication management processes for patient safety are universal, and must be supported by scientific evidence and guidance for prescribers such as in the development of a program for antibiotic stewardship and the use of accepted medication practice guidelines.

Note: *Medication* is defined as any prescription medications; sample medications; herbal remedies; vitamins; nutraceuticals; over-the-counter drugs; vaccines; diagnostic and contrast agents used on or administered to persons to diagnose, to treat, or to prevent disease or other abnormal conditions; radioactive medications; respiratory therapy treatments; parenteral nutrition; blood derivatives; and intravenous solutions (plain, with electrolytes and/or drugs), as well as solutions administered/used on the patient by the surgical team during surgical/invasive procedures.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Organization and Management

MMU.1.1 The hospital develops and implements a program for the prudent use of antibiotics based on the principle of antibiotic stewardship. (P)

Selection and Procurement

MMU.2 There is a method for overseeing the hospital's medication list, including how listed medications are used; a method for ensuring medications for prescribing or ordering are stocked; and a process for

medications not stocked or not normally available to the hospital or for times when the pharmacy is closed. \bullet

Storage

MMU.3 Medications are properly and safely stored. **(P)**

- **MMU.3.2** The hospital has a medication recall system. **(P)**

Ordering and Transcribing

- **MMU.4** The hospital identifies and documents a current list of medications taken by the patient at home and reviews the list against all new medications prescribed or dispensed.

 ①
 - **MMU.4.1** The hospital identifies those qualified individuals permitted to prescribe or to order medications.
 - **MMU.4.2** The hospital identifies safe prescribing, ordering, and transcribing practices and defines the elements of a complete order or prescription. (P)

Preparing and Dispensing

MMU.5 Medications are prepared and dispensed in a safe and clean environment.

- **MMU.5.1** Medication prescriptions or orders are reviewed for appropriateness.

 ①
- **MMU.5.2** A system is used to safely dispense medications in the right dose to the right patient at the right time.

Administration

- **MMU.6** Qualified individuals permitted to administer medications are identified and document the medications that are administered in the patient's medical record.
 - MMU.6.1 Medication administration includes a process to verify the medication is correct based on the medication prescription or order.
 - - **MMU.6.2.1** Policies and procedures govern medications brought into the hospital as samples.

 ©

Monitoring

MMU.7 Medication effects on patients are monitored. **(P)**

MMU.7.1 The hospital establishes and implements a process for reporting and acting on medication errors and near misses (or close calls).

①

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Organization and Management

Standard MMU.1

Intent of MMU.1

Medications, as an important resource in patient care, must be organized effectively and efficiently. A safe medication management system addresses an organization's medication processes, which in many organizations includes the following (as applicable):

- a) Planning
- b) Selection and procurement
- c) Storage
- d) Ordering
- e) Preparing and dispensing
- f) Administration
- g) Monitoring
- h) Medication error and adverse event reporting
- i) Evaluation

Medication management is not only the responsibility of the pharmaceutical service but also of managers and health care practitioners. How this responsibility is shared depends on the hospital's structure and staffing. In those cases in which a pharmacy is not present, medications may be managed on each clinical unit according to hospital policy. In other cases, in which a large central pharmacy is present, the pharmacy may organize and control medications throughout the hospital. Effective medication management includes all parts of the hospital—inpatient, outpatient, and specialized units.

However medication is organized within the hospital, a qualified individual directly supervises the activities of the pharmacy or pharmaceutical service. (*Also see* GLD.9) The individual is trained and, if required, appropriately licensed and/or certified. Applicable laws and regulations are incorporated into the organizational structure and the operations of the medication management system used in the hospital.

To ensure efficient and effective medication management and use, the hospital conducts a systems review at least once a year. The annual review identifies how well the system is working by pulling together all information and experience related to medication management as identified in a) through i) above. The review allows hospitals to understand the need and priority of continued system improvements in quality and safety of medication use.

Measurable Elements of MMU.1

- 1. A written document addressing items a) through i) of the intent, as appropriate, identifies how medication use is organized, managed, and overseen throughout the hospital.
- 2. All settings, services, and individuals who manage medication processes are included in the organizational structure.
- 3. A licensed pharmacist or other qualified individual directly supervises the activities of the pharmacy or pharmaceutical service and ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- 4. The hospital documents at least one review of the medication management system, addressing items a) through i) of the intent as appropriate, annually.
- ☐ 5. A uniform medication dispensing and distribution system is available and complies with applicable laws and regulations.
- **1** 6. Appropriate sources of drug information are readily available to those involved in medication use.

Standard MMU.1.1

The hospital develops and implements a program for the prudent use of antibiotics based on the principle of antibiotic stewardship. (P)

Intent of MMU.1.1

The overuse and misuse of antibiotics has resulted in the growth of superbugs that are increasingly resistant to available antibiotics. According to the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), drug-resistant bacteria cause 23,000 deaths and 2 million illnesses each year. The Institute for Healthcare Improvement reported that 25,000 people die each year in Europe from antimicrobial resistance, and microbial resistance is growing in the Middle East, Africa, and Asia. Some estimate that more than 700,000 deaths occur worldwide per year due to antibiotic resistance.

In addition to resistance and the growth of superbugs, there are often side effects and/or complications to antibiotic treatment, including acquiring *Clostridioides difficile* (*C. diff*), kidney or liver damage, hearing loss, hemolytic anemia, and other such complications. The proper use of antibiotics is important in the prevention of unnecessary complications due to improper antibiotic use.

Health care practitioners are contributing to the development of antimicrobial resistance in several ways. For example, continuing antibiotics when they are no longer necessary, using a broad-spectrum antibiotic when it is not required or continuing the broad-spectrum antibiotic unnecessarily after the sensitivity results are received, using the wrong antibiotic or prescribing the wrong dose, or continuing the prophylactic antibiotic after it is no longer recommended.

In order to reduce the development and spread of resistant bacteria and deliver better patient outcomes, hospitals must implement measures to ensure optimal use of antibiotics. (*Also see* PCI.5; PCI.5.1; and GLD.11.2) Implementation of an antibiotic stewardship program will help hospitals reach the goal of providing patients requiring antibiotic treatment with the right antibiotics, at the right time, at the right dose, and for the right duration.

An antibiotic stewardship program may include the following elements: tracking patterns of antibiotic prescribing and resistance, informing staff on antibiotic use and resistance on a regular basis, and educating staff about optimal antibiotic use. It is imperative for the program to have the support of hospital leadership, which includes leadership's commitment to providing support that includes staffing, financial resources, evidence-based resources, and information technology to ensure an effective stewardship program. In addition to infection prevention and control professionals, the antibiotic stewardship program involves physicians, nurses, pharmacists, trainees, patients, families, and others. (*Also see* PCI.2)

Tracking the effectiveness of the program is an important element of the program's success. **Examples** of identifying effectiveness may include evidence of a decrease in the inappropriate use of antibiotics and a decrease in multidrug-resistant organisms, documentation that prescribers are following accepted practice guidelines, and appropriate optimal use of prophylactic antibiotics. Successful tracking of the effectiveness of the program requires a mechanism for oversight. Oversight may include an individual, a small work group, a coordinating committee, a task force, or some other mechanism.

Measurable Elements of MMU.1.1

The hospital develops and implements a program for antibiotic stewardship that involves infection prevention and control professionals, physicians, nurses, pharmacists, trainees, patients, families, and others.
 The program is based on scientific evidence, accepted practice guidelines, and local laws and regulations.
 The program includes guidelines for the optimal use of antibiotic therapy for treatment of infections, including the proper use of prophylactic antibiotic therapy.
 There is a mechanism to oversee the program for antibiotic stewardship.

The effectiveness of the antibiotic stewardship program is monitored.

Selection and Procurement

Standard MMU.2

There is a method for overseeing the hospital's medication list, including how listed medications are used; a method for ensuring medications for prescribing or ordering are stocked; and a process for medications not stocked or not normally available to the hospital or for times when the pharmacy is closed.

P

Intent of MMU.2

5.

Every hospital must decide which medications to make available for prescribing and ordering by the health care practitioners. This decision is based on the hospital's mission, patient needs, and types of services provided. The hospital develops a list (often referred to as a formulary) of all the medications it stocks or that are readily available from outside sources. In some cases, laws and regulations may determine the medications on the list or the source of those medications. Medication selection is a collaborative process that includes patient need and safety as well as economics. (*Also see* GLD.7.1) Medications are occasionally out of stock due to delayed delivery, national shortages, or other reasons not anticipated through normal inventory control. There is a process to notify prescribers of the shortage and suggested substitutes.

The hospital has a method, such as designating a committee, to maintain and to monitor the medication list and to monitor the use of medications in the hospital; **for example**, monitoring the use of antibiotics. Those involved in the oversight of the list include health care practitioners involved in the ordering, dispensing, administering, and monitoring processes for medications. Decisions to add or to remove medications from the list are guided by criteria that include the indication for use, effectiveness, risks, and costs.

There is a process or mechanism to monitor patient response to newly added medications. **For example**, when the decision is made to add a new type of medication or a new class of drugs to the list, there is a process to collect, aggregate, and monitor data related to appropriateness of indication, how the drug is prescribed (dosage or route, **for example**), and any unanticipated adverse events or conditions associated with the new drug during the introductory period. The list is reviewed at least annually based on emerging safety and efficacy information and information on usage and adverse events.

On occasion, medications not stocked or readily available to the hospital are needed. **For example**, patients who are on home infusions who become inpatients may not have enough medication to continue the infusion while in the hospital. Such specialty medications may include lifesaving infusions for pulmonary hypertension and those used in insulin pumps. There is a process to approve and procure such medications. Also, there are occasions when medications are needed during the night or when the pharmacy is closed. Each hospital needs to plan for these occurrences and educate staff on procedures to follow in the event they occur.

Measurable Elements of MMU.2

- 1. There is a list of medications by both brand name and generic name, stocked in the hospital or readily available from outside sources, and the list is reviewed annually.
- 2. The process used to develop and monitor the list (unless determined by regulation or an authority outside the hospital) includes representation from health care practitioners involved in ordering, dispensing, administering, and patient-monitoring processes in the hospital.
- 3. There is a process for obtaining medications during the night or when the pharmacy is closed and for obtaining medications not stocked or not normally available to the hospital.

Storage

Standard MMU.3

Intent of MMU.3

Medications may be stored within a storage area, in a pharmacy or pharmaceutical service, or on the patient care units in unit pharmacies or the nursing station in the clinical unit. Standard MMU.1 provides the oversight mechanism for all locations where medications are stored. There are some types of medications that require special handling; **for example**, radioactive medications and hazardous medications pose a safety risk, and investigational medications may require special storage and/or consent. In all locations where medications are stored, the following is evident:

- Medications stored in the pharmacy are stored under the conditions suitable for product stability as identified by the manufacturers.
- When medications are stored on individual patient care units, ambulances, or other areas outside
 of the pharmacy, the organization performs a risk assessment to identify the conditions suitable to
 maintain product stability for the length of time the medications are stored outside of the pharmacy,
 as applicable. (Also see ACC.6)
- Controlled substances are accurately accounted for according to applicable laws and regulations.
- Medications or products requiring special handling, such as radioactive medications, investigational
 medications, and other similar medications or products, are accurately labeled and safely stored,
 administered, and monitored.
- Medications and chemicals used to prepare medications are accurately labeled with contents, expiration dates, and warnings. (*Also see* FMS.7)
- Concentrated electrolytes are not stored in care units excluding the exceptions identified in the intent of IPSG.3.2 (scored at IPSG.3.2).
- Medications are protected from loss or theft throughout the hospital.

Measurable Elements of MMU.3

- Medications are stored under conditions suitable for product stability, including medications stored on individual patient care units and ambulances, as applicable.
 Controlled substances are accurately accounted for according to applicable laws and regulations.
 There is a process for managing medications or products requiring special handling, such as hazardous medications, radioactive medications, and investigational medications.
- 4. Medications and chemicals used to prepare medications are accurately labeled with contents, expiration dates, and warnings.
- 5. All medication storage areas, including medication storage areas on patient care units and ambulances (as applicable), are periodically inspected to ensure that medications are stored properly.
- ☐ 6. Medications are protected from loss or theft throughout the hospital.

Standard MMU.3.1

Emergency medications are available, uniformly stored, monitored, and secure when stored out of the pharmacy.

①

Intent of MMU.3.1

When patient emergencies occur, quick access to appropriate emergency medications is critical. Each hospital plans the location of emergency medications and the medications to be supplied in these locations. For example, agents to reverse anesthesia are found in the operating theatres. Emergency cabinets, carts, bags, or boxes can be used for this purpose. Emergency medications are stored uniformly to facilitate quick access to the correct medications. For example, in each emergency cart in the hospital, the emergency medications are in the same drawer, and the medications are laid out in the same manner within the drawer of each cart. This is particularly important for staff who may need to access an emergency medication from a cart they do not typically use. Storage of medications in pediatric emergency carts is different from adult emergency carts; however, the medications are stored uniformly within each type of cart.

To ensure access to emergency medications when needed, the hospital establishes a procedure or process to prevent abuse, theft, or loss of the medications. The process ensures that medications are replaced when used, damaged, or out of date. **For example**, incorporating emergency cart checks into the daily work of the unit staff can help to ensure the integrity of the cart and its contents. The hospital understands the balance between ready access and security for locations where emergency medications are stored. **For example**, if access to emergency medications requires a specific individual(s) on the unit to unlock the emergency cart, and the individual(s) is unavailable, the medications are not readily accessible even though they may be secure. (*Also see* FMS.6)

Emergency resuscitation is a highly stressful situation in which time is a crucial element. As a result, the risk of medication errors occurring during emergency resuscitation may be higher. The Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) identifies that commonly reported contributing factors to this higher risk of errors include look-alike product packaging or drug names; disorganized and nonstandard emergency carts; excessive stock in emergency carts; distractions caused by the hectic environment; poorly communicated verbal orders; inexperienced staff; alternative drugs in emergency carts; confusing or missing information about drugs; and multiple concentrations of a drug in emergency cart drawers. Therefore, when patient emergencies occur, quick access to appropriate emergency medications is critical. (*Also see* COP.3.3)

Consistency and uniformity in the approach to emergency resuscitation may significantly reduce the risks and improve patient outcomes. **For example**, the hospital can take a risk-based approach to increase safety and improve patient outcomes by looking at internal data from previous emergency situations to review the

availability of emergency medications or reviewing public literature on the subject. Examples of strategies identified in the literature include the following:

- Use a strategy to differentiate between adult and pediatric medications; **for example**, using separate adult and pediatric carts or, when using a universal cart, storing the medications and equipment in separate adult and pediatric drawers.
- Keep a designated medication box for neonates in areas that care for neonates.
- Standardize cart and drawer layout throughout the hospital.

Measurable Elements of MMU.3.1

- 1. Emergency medications are immediately available in the units where they will be needed or are readily accessible within the hospital to meet emergency needs.
- 2. The hospital establishes and implements a process for how emergency medications are uniformly stored; maintained; replaced when used, damaged, or out of date; and protected from loss or theft.
- ☐ 3. Access to emergency medications does not require a specific individual or keys to unlock the emergency cart.
- 4. Emergency medications are monitored and replaced in a timely manner after use or when expired or damaged.
- 1 5. The hospital uses a risk-based approach, as described in the intent, to identify and implement strategies to improve the efficiency and accuracy of medication administration during emergency resuscitation.

Standard MMU.3.2

Intent of MMU.3.2

A medication recall occurs when a drug is removed from the market because it is found to be either defective or potentially harmful. Defects to a medication may be related to incorrect packaging, potential contamination, or poor manufacturing, resulting in impurities or errors in strength/potency. Sometimes, the makers of the drug will identify a problem with their drug and voluntarily recall it. Other times, a government agency will request that the medicine be recalled after receiving reports of problems from the public. Communications of medication recalls may come directly from the manufacturer or from regulatory authorities. Hospitals must ensure that they have a process for receiving notifications of medication recalls and for identifying, retrieving, and returning, or safely and properly destroying, medications recalled by the manufacturer or supplier. The recall process includes any medications compounded within the hospital in which products that have been recalled have been used.

There is a policy or procedure that addresses any use of or the destruction of medications known to be expired or outdated. An expired medication is one that is past the expiry date listed on the original packaging from the manufacturer. An outdated medication is one that is opened and is typically safe and effective to use for a short period of time after opening (shelf life). These outdated medications should be marked with a date of expiry based on when they were opened so that staff know the end date of use.

Measurable Elements of MMU.3.2

- 1. The hospital establishes and implements a process for receiving and acting on notifications of medication recalls.
- 2. The process includes identifying, retrieving, and returning, or safely and properly destroying, medications recalled by the manufacturer, supplier, or regulatory agency.
- 3. The recall process includes medications compounded within the hospital in which products that have been recalled have been used.
- 4. The hospital establishes and implements a process for use of unopened, expired medications and outdated medications.
- ☐ 5. The hospital establishes and implements a process for the destruction of medications known to be expired or outdated.

Ordering and Transcribing

Standard MMU.4

The hospital identifies and documents a current list of medications taken by the patient at home and reviews the list against all new medications prescribed or dispensed.

Output

Described or dispensed.

Intent of MMU.4

Medication reconciliation is an important process of safe medication management for the patient and for reducing the risks for adverse events. Patients entering a hospital are often taking multiple medications at home and may be at risk of an adverse event if an accurate list of those medication is not documented in the patient's record. Medication discrepancies can affect patient outcomes. It can be difficult to obtain a complete list from every patient in an encounter, and accuracy is dependent on the patient's ability and willingness to provide this information. A credible effort to collect this information is recognized as meeting the intent of the requirement. **Examples** of a credible effort may include contacting the patient's pharmacy and/or family members or consulting with the patient's primary physician.

The types of information that clinicians use to reconcile medications include, but are not limited to, medication name, dose, frequency, route, and purpose. Organizations should identify the information that needs to be collected to reconcile current and newly ordered medications and to safely prescribe medications in the future. Good medication management includes a review of a proposed new medication against the list of medications the patient is currently taking. (Also see ACC.4.3 and AOP.1.1) The goal of this review is to improve the quality and safety of adding a new medication to the patient's treatment plan and reduce the risk of an adverse medication event. A listing of all current medications is recorded in the patient's medical record and is available to the pharmacy, nurses, and physicians. The hospital establishes a process to compare the patient's list of medications taken prior to admission against the initial orders.

Measurable Elements of MMU.4

 The hospital identifies the information needed to reconcile current and newl 	ly ordered	d medications.
--	------------	----------------

- 2. The patient's medical records contain a list of current medications taken prior to admission or registration as an outpatient, and this information is made available to the patient's health care practitioners and the pharmacy as needed.
- 3. Initial medication orders are compared to the list of medications taken prior to admission, according to the hospital's established process.

Standard MMU.4.1

The hospital identifies those qualified individuals permitted to prescribe or to order medications.

Intent of MMU.4.1

Selecting a medication to treat a patient requires specific knowledge and experience. Each hospital is responsible for identifying those individuals with the requisite knowledge and experience and who are also permitted by licensure, certification, laws, or regulations to prescribe or to order medications. (*Also see* COP.2.1; SQE.10; MOI.2; and MOI.9) A hospital may place limits on prescribing or ordering by an individual, such as for controlled substances, chemotherapy agents, or radioactive and investigational medications. (*Also see* SQE.12) Individuals permitted to prescribe and to order medications are known to the pharmaceutical service or others who dispense medications. In emergency situations, the hospital identifies any additional individuals permitted to prescribe or to order medications.

Measurable Elements of MMU.4.1

- Only those permitted by the hospital and by relevant licensure, laws, and regulations prescribe or order medications.
- 2. The hospital establishes and implements a process to place limits, when appropriate, on the prescribing or ordering practices of individuals.
- 3. Individuals permitted to prescribe and to order medications are known to the pharmaceutical service or others who dispense medications.

Standard MMU.4.2

The hospital identifies safe prescribing, ordering, and transcribing practices and defines the elements of a complete order or prescription.

①

Intent of MMU.4.2

A common cause of adverse events in the hospital setting is medication errors. One recent study reported that "Medication errors are most common at the ordering or prescribing stage. Typical errors include the healthcare provider writing the wrong medication, wrong route or dose, or the wrong frequency. These ordering errors account for almost 50% of medication errors." In paper records, illegible medication prescriptions or orders are one cause of medication errors that jeopardize patient safety and may delay treatment. Strategies to reduce illegibility of written orders are important in reducing the risk of medication errors. Safe prescribing, ordering, and transcribing are guided by hospital policies and procedures. Medical, nursing, pharmacy, and administrative staff collaborate to develop and to monitor the policies and procedures. Relevant staff are trained in correct prescribing, ordering, and transcribing practices.

To reduce the variation and improve patient safety, the hospital defines the required elements of a complete order or prescription. (*Also see* MOI.9) All orders and prescriptions contain the name of the drug, the dose, and the frequency and route of administration. Also, the following additional elements are included in the prescription and order when appropriate to the order:

- a) The data necessary to accurately identify the patient (*Also see* IPSG.1)
- b) When generic or brand names are acceptable or required (Also see MMU.2)
- c) Specific guidelines for the use of PRN (pro re nata, or "as needed") orders that include indications for use and detailed directions for overlapping orders, such as more than one medication for pain
- d) The types of orders that are weight based or otherwise adjusted, such as for children, frail elderly, and oncology patients

- e) The types of orders that are adjusted for therapeutic range; **for example**, dosages may need to be updated based on laboratory values for specific medications, such as heparin infusions or phenytoin
- f) Rates of administration when intravenous infusions are ordered
- g) Other special orders such as titrating, tapering, or range orders

There are processes in place to manage

- medication orders that are incomplete, illegible, or unclear; (Also see MOI.10)
- precautions for ordering medications with look-alike or sound-alike names; (Also see IPSG.3.1)
- special types of orders, such as emergency, standing, or automatic stop, and any elements unique to such orders; (*Also see* COP.2.1) and
- verbal, telephone, and text medication orders and the process to verify such orders (scored at IPSG.2 and MOI.12).

Thus, this standard sets hospitalwide expectations for medication orders. The processes are reflected in complete orders entered in the medical record, the pharmacy or dispensing unit receiving the information needed for dispensing, and the administration of the medication based on a complete order. (*Also see* MOI.8)

Measurable Elements of MMU.4.2

1.	The hospital establishes, implements, and trains staff on a process for the safe prescribing, ordering
	and transcribing of medications in the hospital.

2.	All orders and prescriptions contain the name of the drug, the dose, the frequency and route of
	administration, the indication for prescribing the medication, and the maximum dose.

u	3.	Additional elements of complete medication orders or prescriptions include at least a) through g)
		identified in the intent as appropriate to the order.

4.	The hospital develops and implements a process to manage medication orders that are incomplete,
	illegible, or unclear; including measures to prevent continued occurrence.

5.	The hospital develops and implements a process to manage special types of orders, such as emergency,
	standing, or automatic stop, and any elements unique to such orders.

u	6.	Medications prescribed or ordered are documented in the patient's medical record or inserted int
		the patient's medical record at discharge or transfer.

Preparing and Dispensing

Standard MMU.5

Medications are prepared and dispensed in a safe and clean environment.

Intent of MMU.5

The pharmacy or pharmaceutical service and others with proper training and experience prepare and dispense medications in a clean and safe environment that complies with laws, regulations, and professional practice standards. The hospital identifies the standards of practice for a safe and clean preparation and dispensing environment. (*Also see* PCI.4) **For example**, standards of practice can include how medication preparation areas are to be cleaned and when a mask should be worn or a laminar airflow hood should be used in the preparation of a medication. Some medications and solutions require preparation under very specific guidelines. Staff compounding and preparing these medications are trained in the principles of medication preparation and aseptic technique. Similarly, positive-pressure rooms and laminar airflow hoods are available and used when indicated by professional practices; **for example**, in the preparation of sterile compounding, total parenteral nutrition (TPN) admixtures, chemotherapy, epidurals, and hazardous medications such as

cytotoxic drugs. Due to the need for positive pressure capabilities and laminar airflow hoods to prepare these medications, it is recommended that they be exclusively prepared in the pharmacy unless the patient care unit is specialized with the needed safety equipment and staffed with trained individuals (**for example**, a specialized oncology unit).

A common situation in medication preparation that carries a risk of transmitting contagious diseases is the use of single-use and multidose vials on more than one patient. The misuse of these vials has caused harm to individual patients through occurrences and outbreaks of bloodborne pathogens and associated infections in both inpatients and outpatients—including hepatitis B and C virus, meningitis, and epidural abscesses. The literature identifies standards and safe practices for the use of single-dose and multidose vials; **for example**, ensuring that all needles and syringes are single patient use only and never reentering a vial with a used needle or used syringe.

Medications that do not require pharmacy-specific safety measures such as sterile compounding rooms or laminar flow hoods and that are stored in and dispensed from areas outside the pharmacy (**for example**, patient care units) comply with the same cleanliness measures required in the pharmacy. In addition, medication dispensing areas located on patient care units should be free from clutter and distraction.

Measurable Elements of MMU.5

- 1. Medication preparation and dispensing adhere to laws, regulations, and professional standards of practice.
- 2. Medications are prepared and dispensed in clean, uncluttered, safe, and functionally separate areas with appropriate medical equipment and supplies.
- 3. Staff preparing/compounding sterile products/medications are trained and competent in the principles of medication preparation and aseptic techniques and are provided resources to support the medication preparation process.
- 4. Guidelines for use of single-use and multidose vials are identified and implemented in the medication processes.
- 5. Medications stored, prepared, and dispensed from areas outside the pharmacy (**for example**, patient care wards) comply with the same cleanliness measures required in the pharmacy.

Standard MMU.5.1

Intent of MMU.5.1

Good medication management includes two reviews of each prescription or order:

- The appropriateness of the medication for the patient and his or her clinical needs performed at the time the medication is prescribed or ordered
- The verification at the time of administration that the medication is exactly as ordered or prescribed (*Also see* MMU.6.1)

Each newly prescribed or ordered medication is reviewed for appropriateness, including a) through g) below. A new appropriateness review should be conducted when the dosage or other appropriateness factors noted below changes; **for example**, when new drugs are prescribed and therapeutic duplication may be an issue or when a potential medication interaction may occur. The hospital defines what patient-specific information is required for the appropriateness review of the order or prescription. **For example**, if a newly prescribed medication can affect the kidneys or liver, the appropriateness review includes specific clinical information about the patient's renal and liver function, as well as when these organ functions change.

The process to conduct an appropriateness review (the first review) for an order or prescription prior to dispensing includes evaluation of

- a) the appropriateness of the drug, dose, frequency, and route of administration;
- b) therapeutic duplication;
- c) real or potential allergies or sensitivities;
- d) real or potential interactions between the medication and other medications or food;
- e) variation from hospital criteria for use;
- f) patient's weight and other physiological information; and
- g) other contraindications.

The hospital determines the manner in which the appropriateness review is conducted. **For example**, the appropriateness review may be conducted by individuals competent to do so by virtue of education and training, such as licensed pharmacists, or as specified by privileging specific to performing appropriateness reviews for licensed independent practitioners with training and competency in performing an appropriateness review process; or for nurses or other professionals with training and demonstrated competency in the review process. (*Also see* SQE.5; SQE.10; SQE.14; and SQE.16) The hospital may choose to use clinical decision support programs associated with medication management to enhance the process. (*Also see* MOI.6) Alternatively, the hospital may choose to use clinical decision support programs to conduct the appropriateness review process. (*Also see* QPS.3) **For example**, many electronic medication ordering systems are designed to review the order for the complete elements of an appropriateness review, including patient-specific clinical information, and provide an alert to the ordering individual of a contraindication to prescribing the medication. When the ordering individual overrides the alert, the hospital develops a process for a full review of the order by a health care practitioner who is trained and demonstrates competence in a full appropriateness review.

Appropriateness reviews must be conducted even when circumstances are not ideal. **For example**, if the central pharmacy or a unit pharmacy is not open, or the drug will be dispensed from stock on the ward or clinic, the appropriateness review may be conducted in conjunction with the verification review when the ordering individual will administer the medication and monitor the patient.

When the ordering individual is not available to administer the medication and monitor the patient, critical elements of the appropriateness review may be performed by other trained and competent individuals for administration of the first dose of the medication. The entire appropriateness review must be performed by a licensed pharmacist, or other licensed professional, such as a nurse or physician, competent in the knowledge required for a full appropriateness review within 24 hours. Critical elements of an appropriateness review include at least the following:

- h) Allergies
- i) Lethal drug-drug interactions
- i) Weight-based dosing
- Potential organ toxicity (for example, administration of potassium-sparing diuretics in patients with renal failure)

The critical elements of the appropriateness review may be conducted by other licensed trained individuals during times when the pharmacy is not available. These individuals require documented training in conducting the critical elements of the appropriateness review and will be supported by reference materials, computer programs, and other resources. Thus, when a physician calls in a new medication order during the night for a patient, the trained individual will write down and read back the order and then conduct an appropriateness review for the identified critical elements. (*Also see* IPSG.2) A second review will be required by a licensed pharmacist or other licensed professional, such as a nurse or physician competent in the knowledge required for a full appropriateness review, within 24 hours.

There may be circumstances in which the full appropriateness review is not practical, such as in an emergency or when the ordering physician is present for ordering, administering, and monitoring of the patient (**for**

example, in the operating theatre or the emergency department), or with oral, rectal, or injectable contrast in interventional radiology or diagnostic imaging where the medication is part of the procedure.

To facilitate the appropriateness review, those performing the review require access to the patient's medication record as well as to the clinical information that is pertinent to the review process; **for example**, information related to the patient's renal or liver function when a medication can affect or be affected by those organs. This information is essential to the appropriateness review. (*Also see* ACC.3)

When computer programs are used to cross-check drug-drug interactions and drug allergies, the programs are current and updated according to recommendations of the program manufacturers. In addition, when print reference materials are used, the most current versions of the materials are utilized.

Measurable Elements of MMU.5.1

- 1. The hospital defines the patient-specific information required for an effective review process, and the source or availability of this information is available at all times when the pharmacy is open or closed.
- 2. Apart from exceptions identified in the intent, each prescription or order is reviewed for appropriateness in a manner, identified by the hospital, that ensures a full appropriateness review prior to dispensing and administration and includes elements a) through g) in the intent.
- 3. Individuals permitted to conduct appropriateness reviews are judged competent to do so, are permitted to do so by privileges or job descriptions, and are provided resources to support the review process.
- 4. When the designated licensed professional is not available to perform the full appropriateness review, a trained individual conducts and documents a review of critical elements h) through k) in the intent for the first dose, and a full appropriateness review is conducted within 24 hours.
- 5. Review is facilitated by the availability of appropriate patient clinical information for all patients receiving medications, and this clinical information is available at all times when the pharmacy is open or closed.
- 6. Clinical decision support programs used for the full appropriateness review, as well as other computer programs and print reference materials used to cross-check the critical elements of an appropriateness review, are current and updated.

Standard MMU.5.2

A system is used to safely dispense medications in the right dose to the right patient at the right time.

Intent of MMU.5.2

Medication use has become increasingly complex, and medication errors are a major cause of preventable patient harm. A uniform system for dispensing and distributing medications can help reduce the risk of medication errors. The hospital dispenses medications in the most ready-to-administer form possible to minimize opportunities for error during distribution and administration. The issue of the most ready-to-administer form becomes crucial during emergent situations in which immediate administration of the medication is lifesaving (**for example**, during resuscitation). The central pharmacy and other medication-distribution points throughout the hospital use the same system. The system supports accurate dispensing of medications in a timely manner.

When medications are prepared by someone different from the person administering the medication, the risk of a medication error is increased. Thus, when a medication is removed from its original packaging or prepared and dispensed in a different form/container—and not immediately administered—the medication must be labeled with the name of the medication, the dosage/concentration of the medication, the date of preparation,

the date of expiration, and two patient identifiers. When medications are prepared for use during a surgical procedure in the operating theatre and unused portions are discarded immediately following the surgical procedure, the patient's name and expiration date may not be necessary. (*Also see* IPSG.1)

Measurable Elements of MMU.5.2

- ☐ 1. Medications are dispensed in the most ready-to-administer form available.
- 2. The system supports accurate and timely dispensing and documentation of dispensing practices.
- 3. After preparation, medications not immediately administered are labeled with the name of the medication, the dosage/concentration, the date prepared, the expiration date, and two patient identifiers.

Administration

Standard MMU.6

Qualified individuals permitted to administer medications are identified and document the medications that are administered in the patient's medical record.

Intent of MMU.6

Administering a medication to treat a patient requires specific knowledge and experience. Each hospital is responsible for identifying those individuals with the requisite knowledge and experience and who are also permitted by licensure, certification, laws, or regulations to administer medications. (*Also see* SQE.3 and SQE.10) A hospital may place limits on medication administration by an individual, such as for controlled substances or radioactive and investigational medications. In emergency situations, the hospital identifies any additional individuals permitted to administer medications.

The medical record of each patient who receives medication contains a list of the medications prescribed or ordered for the patient and the dosage and times the medication was administered. (*Also see* COP.2.1) Included are medications administered "as needed." If this information is recorded on a separate medication form, the form is inserted in the patient's medical record at discharge or transfer.

Measurable Elements of MMU.6

- 1. The hospital identifies those individuals, by job description or the privileging process, authorized to administer medications.
- 2. The hospital places limits, when appropriate, on the medication administration of individuals.
- ☐ 3. Medication administration is recorded for each dose.

Standard MMU.6.1

Medication administration includes a process to verify the medication is correct based on the medication prescription or order.

Intent of MMU.6.1

The safe administration of medications includes verifying the

- medication with the prescription or order; (*Also see* MMU.5.1)
- time and frequency of administration with the prescription or order;
- dosage amount with the prescription or order;
- route of administration with the prescription or order; and

• identity of the patient (scored at IPSG.1).

The hospital defines the verification process to be used in administering medications. When the medication is prepared and dispensed on the patient care unit, the process of appropriateness review described in MMU.5.1 must also be carried out by a qualified individual.

In support of the patient's engagement in all aspects of his or her medical care and treatment, patients are informed about the medication they are being given and provided with an opportunity to ask questions about the medications. (*Also see* PCC.2) Medications are administered to the patient on a timely basis and noted in the patient's medical record. (*Also see* COP.2.1)

Measurable Elements of MMU.6.1

1.	Medications are verified with the prescription or order.
2.	The dosage amount of the medication is verified with the prescription or order.
3.	The route of administration is verified with the prescription or order.
4.	Patients are informed about the medications that they are going to be given and have an opportunity to ask questions.
5.	Medications are administered as prescribed on a timely basis and noted in the patient's medical

Standard MMU.6.2

record.

Policies and procedures govern medications brought into the hospital by the patient or family and medication prescribed for patient self-administration.

①

Standard MMU.6.2.1

Policies and procedures govern medications brought into the hospital as samples. (P)

Intent of MMU.6.2 and MMU.6.2.1

Overseeing medication use in a hospital requires an understanding of the sources and uses of medications that are not dispensed from the hospital pharmacy, such as medications brought in by the patient or family or medication samples. These types of medications require special processes for labeling, storage, and control of use. The hospital controls the availability and has a process for determining the identity, safety, and any other relative contraindications to use patient-supplied or sample medications. The hospital must be aware of current regional trends related to the prevalence of counterfeit medications and active recalls for medications and the associated active pharmaceutical ingredients. (*Also see* MMU.3.2 and GLD 7.1)

Written documentation of the medications brought in by the patient/family and sample medications must address

- a) receipt (denoting how the hospital received the medication from the patient or other source);
- b) identification;
- c) labeling;
- d) storage; and
- e) control and distribution.

In addition, the hospital performs a risk assessment for medications brought in by the patient that addresses where the patient obtained the medication, when the medication was obtained, and how the medication was stored at home. Medications brought into the hospital by the patient or his or her family or prescribed within the hospital for self-administration are known to the patient's physician and noted in the patient's medical record.

Measurable Elements of MMU.6.2 □ 1. The hospital establishes and implements a process that includes a) through e) of the intent for medications brought in by the patient/family. □ 2. The hospital performs a risk assessment for medications brought in by the patient/family that addresses where and when the medication was obtained and how the medication was stored at home.

- 3. The hospital establishes and implements a process to govern patient self-administration of medications.
- 4. The hospital establishes and implements a process to govern the management, use, and documentation of medication brought in by the patient/family.

Measurable Elements of MMU.6.2.1

- 1. The hospital establishes and implements a process that includes a) through e) of the intent for medication samples.
- 2. The hospital performs a risk assessment for sample medications brought in by the patient or provided by other sources that addresses where and when the medication was obtained and how the medication was stored prior to arrival.
- ☐ 3. The hospital establishes and implements a process to govern the availability, management, use, and documentation of medication samples.

Monitoring

Standard MMU.7

Intent of MMU.7

Patients, their physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners work together to monitor patients on medications. The purposes of monitoring are to evaluate the medication's effect on the patient's symptoms or illness, as well as blood count, renal function, liver function, and other monitoring with select medications, and to evaluate the patient for adverse effects. (*Also see* AOP.2) Based on monitoring, the dosage or type of medication can be adjusted when needed. It is appropriate to closely monitor the patient's response to the first dose(s) of a medication new to the patient. Such monitoring is intended to identify the anticipated therapeutic response as well as allergic responses, unanticipated drug-drug interactions, or a change in the patient's equilibrium raising the risk of falls, among others.

Monitoring medication effects includes observing and documenting any adverse effects. The hospital has a policy that identifies all adverse effects that are to be recorded and those that must be reported. The hospital establishes a mechanism for reporting adverse events when required and the time frame for reporting. (*Also see* QPS.7.1)

Measurable Elements of MMU.7 □ 1. Medication effects on patients are monitored and documented when appropriate. □ 2. Medication adverse effects on patients are monitored and documented. □ 3. The hospital utilizes a standardized process for recording in the patient medical record, adverse effects related to medication use and reporting adverse effects to the hospital. □ 4. The hospital utilizes a standardized process for reporting adverse medication effects as part of the hospital quality program.

Standard MMU.7.1

The hospital establishes and implements a process for reporting and acting on medication errors and near misses (or close calls). (P)

Adverse effects are reported as identified by the process in the time frame required.

Intent of MMU.7.1

The hospital has a process to identify and to report medication errors and near misses. (Also see QPS.7.1 and QPS.8) The process includes defining a medication error and near miss, using a standardized format for reporting, and educating staff on the process and importance of reporting. Definitions and processes are developed through a collaborative process that includes all those involved in the different steps in medication management. The reporting process is part of the hospital's quality and patient safety program. The reports are directed to one or more individuals who are accountable for taking action. The program focuses on preventing medication errors through understanding the types of errors that occur in the hospital and in other organizations and why near misses occur. (Also see IPSG.3) Improvements in medication processes and staff training are used to prevent errors in the future. The pharmacy participates in such staff training.

Measurable Elements of MMU.7.1

- ☐ 1. The hospital establishes a definition for a medication error and near miss.
- ☐ 2. The hospital establishes and implements a process for reporting and acting on medication errors and near misses.
- ☐ 3. Those accountable for acting on the reports are identified.
- 4. The hospital uses medication errors and near misses reporting information to improve medication use processes.

References

Organization and Management

Baraka MA, et al. Health care providers' perceptions regarding antimicrobial stewardship programs (AMS) implementation-facilitators and challenges: A cross-sectional study in the Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob.* 2019 Sep 24;18(1):26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12941-019-0325-x.

Baur D, et al. Effect of antibiotic stewardship on the incidence of infection and colonisation with antibiotic-resistant bacteria and *Clostridium difficile* infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2017 Sep;17(9):990–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30325-0.

Cai Y, et al. A multidisciplinary antimicrobial stewardship programme safely decreases the duration of broad-spectrum antibiotic prescription in Singaporean adult renal patients. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2016 Jan;47(1):91–96.

de With K, et al. Strategies to enhance rational use of antibiotics in hospital: A guideline by the German Society for Infectious Diseases. *Infection*. 2016 Jun;44(3):395–439. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-016-0885-z.

Iqbal MJ, Geer MI, Dar, PA. Medicines management in hospitals: A supply chain perspective. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy.* 2017 Apr;8(1):80–85.

National Quality Forum. *National Quality Partners Playbook: Antibiotic Stewardship in Acute Care*. 2016. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. http://www.qualityforum.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx-?LinkIdentifier=id&ItemID=82501.

Pan American Health Organization. Latin American Network for Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance—ReLAVRA. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=13682:relavra-home&Itemid=42427&lang=en.

Selection and Procurement

Graudin LV, et al. A proactive quality strategy to decrease the risk of error associated with medication procurement. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*. 2016 Jun;46(2):145–151. https://doi.org/10.1002/jppr.1181.

Haslund-Krog SS, et al. Development of one paediatric and one neonatal formulary list in hospital settings. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2018 Feb;84(2):349–357. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.13444.

Institute for Safe Medication Practices. New Recommendations to Improve Drug Allergy Capture and Clinical Decision Support. Jul 18, 2019. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.ismp.org/resources/new-recommendations-improve-drug-allergy-capture-and-clinical-decision-support.

Ordering and Transcribing

Korb-Savoldelli V, et al. Prevalence of computerized physician order entry systems—related medication prescription errors: A systematic review. *Int J Med Inform*. 2018 Mar;111:112–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.12.022.

Tariq RA, Scherbak Y. *Medication Errors*. (Updated: Apr 28, 2019.) Treasure Island, FL. StatPearls Publishing, 2019. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK519504/# NBK519504 pubdet.

Preparing and Dispensing

Institute for Safe Medication Practices. *ISMP Guidelines for Safe Preparation of Compounded Sterile Preparations*, rev. ed. 2016. Accessed Nov 4, 2019. https://www.ismp.org/sites/default/files/attachments/2017-11/Guidelines%20for%20 Safe%20Preparation%20of%20Compounded%20Sterile%20 Preperations %20revised%202016.pdf.

Administration

Dolan SA, et al. APIC position paper: Safe injection, infusion, and medication vial practices in health care. *Am J Infect Control.* 2016 Jul 1;44(7):750–757.

Farag A, et al. Do leadership style, unit climate, and safety climate contribute to safe medication practices? *J Nurs Adm.* 2017 Jan;47(1):8-15. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.00000000000000430.

Rennert-May E, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for creating an acute care hospital-based antimicrobial stewardship program: A systematic review. *Am J Infect Control*. 2019 Aug;47(8):979–993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2019.02.010.

World Health Organization. Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS) Report: Early Implementation 2017–2018. 2018. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/279656/9789241515061-eng.pdf?ua=1.

Quintens C, et al. Development and implementation of "Check of Medication Appropriateness" (CMA): Advanced pharmacotherapy-related clinical rules to support medication surveillance. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2019 Feb 11;19(1):29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-019-0748-5.

Saravdekar S, et al. Implementation of principles of pharmacoeconomics and pharmacovigilance to achieve optimal financial and therapeutic benefits through WHO—Essential medicine policy and adoption of NLEM-based hospital formulary policy. *J Fam Med Prim Care*. 2019 Jun;8(6):1987–1993. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_287_19.

Wang T, et al. Effect of critical care pharmacist's intervention on medication errors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *J Crit Care*. 2015 Oct;30(5):1101–1106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2015.06.018.

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. Reconcile Medications at All Transition Points. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. http://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/Changes/ReconcileMedicationsatAllTransitionPoints.aspx.

Schutijser B, et al. Nurse compliance with a protocol for safe injectable medication administration: Comparison of two multicentre observational studies. *BMJ Open.* 2018 Jan 5;8(1):e019648. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019648.

Monitoring

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Patient Safety Network. Patient Safety Primer: Medication Errors and Adverse Drug Events. (Updated: Sep 2019.) Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primers/primer/23/medication-errors.

Institute for Safe Medication Practices. ISMP Targeted Medication Safety Best Practices for Hospitals. Dec 4, 2017. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.ismp.org/guidelines/best-practices-hospitals.

Section III: Health Care Organization Management Standards



Quality Improvement and Patient Safety (QPS)

Overview

It is essential that organizations have a framework to support ongoing quality improvement and patient safety. This chapter describes a comprehensive approach to quality improvement and patient safety that impacts all aspects of the facility's operation. This approach includes

- department-level input and participation into the quality improvement and patient safety program;
- use of objective, validated data to measure how well processes work;
- effectively using data and benchmarks to focus the program; and
- implementing and sustaining changes that result in improvement.

Both quality improvement and patient safety programs

- are leadership driven;
- seek to change the culture and environment of an organization;
- proactively identify and reduce variation;
- use data and evidence-based methodology to focus on priority issues; and
- seek to demonstrate sustainable improvements.

Quality and safety are rooted in the daily work of all staff at the facility. As clinical staff assess patient needs and provide care, this chapter can help them understand how to make real improvements that help patients and reduce risks. Similarly, nonclinical staff can apply the standards to their daily work to understand how processes can be more efficient, resources can be used more wisely, and physical risks can be reduced.

These international accreditation standards address the full spectrum of activities of a health care organization, including the framework for improving those activities and reducing the risks associated with variation in processes.

Thus, the framework presented in these standards is suitable for a wide variety of structured programs and less formal approaches to quality improvement and patient safety. This framework can also incorporate traditional measurement programs, such as those related to unanticipated events (*risk management*) and resource use (*utilization management*).

Over time, organizations that follow this framework will

- develop greater leadership support for an organizationwide program;
- train and involve more staff;
- set clearer priorities for what to measure;
- base decisions on measurement data; and
- make improvements based on comparison to other organizations, nationally and internationally.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a ② icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Management of Quality and Patient Safety Activities

Measure Selection and Data Collection

- **QPS.2** Quality and patient safety program staff support the measure selection process throughout the hospital and provide coordination and integration of measurement activities throughout the hospital.
- **QPS.3** Hospital leadership builds a culture and environment that supports implementation of evidence-based care through the use of current scientific knowledge and information to support patient care, health professional education, clinical research, and management.

Analysis and Validation of Measurement Data

- **QPS.4** The quality and patient safety program includes the aggregation and analysis of data to support patient care, hospital management, and the quality management program and participation in external databases.
 - **QPS.4.1** Individuals with appropriate experience, knowledge, and skills systematically aggregate and analyze data in the hospital.
- **QPS.5** The data analysis process includes at least one determination per year of the impact of hospitalwide priority improvements on cost and efficiency.
- **QPS.6** The hospital uses an internal process to validate data. **P**
- **QPS.7** The hospital uses a defined process for identifying and managing sentinel events. **P**
 - **QPS.7.1** The hospital uses a defined process for identifying and managing adverse, no-harm, and near miss events. **(P)**
- **QPS.8** Data are always analyzed when undesirable trends and variation are evident from the data. **P**

Gaining and Sustaining Improvement

- **QPS.9** Improvement in quality and safety is achieved and sustained.
- **QPS.10** An ongoing program of risk management is used to identify and to proactively reduce unanticipated adverse events and other safety risks to patients and staff.

 Output

 Description:

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Note: In all QPS standards, leaders are individuals, and leadership is the collective group. Accountabilities are described at the individual or collective level. (*Also see* the "Governance, Leadership, and Direction" [GLD] chapter for other related requirements.)

Management of Quality and Patient Safety Activities

The overall program for quality and patient safety in a hospital is approved by the governing entity, with the hospital's leadership defining the structure and allocating resources required to implement the program. (Also see GLD.2 and GLD.4) Leadership also identifies the hospital's overall priorities for measurement and improvement, with the department/service leaders identifying the priorities for measurement and improvement within their department/service. (Also see GLD.5; GLD.11; and GLD.11.1)

The standards in this QPS chapter identify the structure, leadership, and activities to support the data collection, data analysis, and quality improvement for the identified priorities—hospitalwide, as well as department- and service-specific. This includes the collection and analysis on, and the response to, hospitalwide sentinel events, adverse events, and near miss (or close call) events. The standards also describe the central role of coordinating all the quality improvement and patient safety initiatives in the hospital and providing guidance and direction for staff training and communication of quality and patient safety information. The standards do not identify an organizational structure, such as a department, as this is up to each hospital to determine.

Standard QPS.1

A qualified individual(s) guides the implementation of the hospital's program for quality improvement and patient safety and manages the activities needed to carry out an effective program of continuous quality improvement and patient safety within the hospital.

②

Intent of QPS.1

The continuous improvement in quality and patient safety in a hospital requires a well-implemented program. (Also see GLD.9) While the governing entity approves the program and leadership provides resources to implement the program, it takes daily capable guidance and management to carry out the program and make continuous improvement part of the fabric of how the hospital meets its mission and strategic priorities. (Also see GLD.4)

One or more qualified individuals see that the program is put into operation. This takes knowledge and experience in the many facets of data collection, data validation, and data analysis, and in implementing sustainable improvements. The individual(s) with oversight for the quality program also selects quality program staff with those capabilities needed for the program. (Also see SQE.1) At times, some of the key quality individuals may be located within a department/service in the hospital. These individuals need to be supported with information and assistance. The quality program staff also understand how to take the hospitalwide priorities and the department/service-level priorities and turn them into a coordinated overall program. The quality program staff coordinate and organize like measures throughout the organization and provide support with measurement activities related to hospital priorities. (Also see GLD.11)

Training and communication are also essential. The quality program staff help to support data collection throughout the hospital by assisting with data collection issues such as creating forms to collect data, identifying which data to collect, and how to validate data. Staff throughout the hospital may need assistance in data validation and analysis, implementing improvements, and evaluating if the improvements were sustained. The quality program staff are thus constantly involved in training and communicating quality and patient safety issues throughout the hospital. (*Also see* GLD.4.1)

Measurable Elements of QPS.1

- 1. An individual(s) who is experienced in the methods and processes of improvement is selected to guide the implementation of the hospital's quality and patient safety program.
- 2. The individual(s) with oversight for the quality program selects and supports qualified staff for the program and supports those staff with quality and patient safety responsibilities throughout the hospital.
- 3. The quality program provides support and coordination to department/service leaders for like measures across the hospital and for the hospital's priorities for improvement.
- 4. The quality program implements a training program for all staff that is consistent with staff's roles in the quality improvement and patient safety program.
- 5. The quality program is responsible for the regular communication of quality issues to all staff.

Measure Selection and Data Collection

Standard QPS.2

Quality and patient safety program staff support the measure selection process throughout the hospital and provide coordination and integration of measurement activities throughout the hospital.

Intent of QPS.2

Measure selection is a leadership responsibility. GLD.5 describes how the leadership of the hospital decides the priority areas to measure for the entire hospital, and GLD.11 and GLD.11.1 describe the measure selection process for each department/service. All departments and services—clinical and managerial—select measures related to their priorities. It can be anticipated that in large hospitals, there is some opportunity for similar measures to be selected in more than one department. **For example**, the pharmacy, infection prevention and control, and infectious disease departments/services may each set priorities related to reducing antibiotic use in the hospital. The quality and patient safety program described in these QPS standards plays an important role in helping these departments/services agree on a common measurement approach and facilitates the data collection of the measure(s) selected. The quality and patient safety program is also in the position to integrate all measurement activities in the hospital, including measurement of the safety culture and adverse event reporting systems. This integration of all the measurement systems will provide the opportunity for integrated solutions and improvements. (*Also see* GLD.4)

Measurable Elements of QPS.2

L	1.	The quality and patient safety program supports the selection of measures throughout the hospital at
		the hospitalwide level and at the hospital department or service level.

- 2. The quality and patient safety program provides coordination and integration of measurement activities throughout the hospital.
- ☐ 3. The quality and patient safety program provides for the integration of event reporting systems, safety culture measures, and others to facilitate integrated solutions and improvements.
- 4. The quality and patient safety program tracks the progress on the planned collection of measure data for the priorities selected.

Standard QPS.3

Hospital leadership builds a culture and environment that supports implementation of evidence-based care through the use of current scientific knowledge and information to support patient care, health professional education, clinical research, and management.

Intent of QPS.3

A culture and environment that supports implementation and sustainability of evidence-based care has been shown to improve patient outcomes. Health care practitioners, researchers, educators, and managers often need information to assist with their responsibilities. Such information may include scientific and management literature, clinical practice guidelines, research findings, historical information, and educational methodologies. The Internet print materials in a library, online search sources, personal materials, and, more recently, clinical decision support programs associated with electronic medical records, are all valuable sources of current information. (*Also see* MOI.6) Developing and implementing the right tools, culture, education, and patient engagement skills in the overall care process enables health care providers to make better informed decisions. Using evidence-based practices in delivering patient care can provide better opportunities to enhance patient care and improve clinical outcomes. (*Also see* COP.3.1 and MMU.5.1)

Measurable Elements of QPS.3

1.	Hospital leadership builds a culture and environment that supports implementation of evidence-based care.
2.	Current scientific knowledge and information supports patient care.
3.	Current scientific knowledge and information supports clinical education.
4.	Current scientific knowledge and information supports research.

- 5. Current professional knowledge and information supports management.
- Information is provided in a time frame that meets user expectations.

Analysis and Validation of Measurement Data

Standard QPS.4

The quality and patient safety program includes the aggregation and analysis of data to support patient care, hospital management, and the quality management program and participation in external databases.

Intent of QPS.4

Data help hospitals make the right decisions. When decisions are supported by data, hospitals are more likely to move in directions that help them achieve their goals. Successful hospitals measure, analyze, and validate their performance data. When data are analyzed and turned into information, this process helps hospitals see patterns and trends and understand the reasons for their performance. Many types of data are used to evaluate performance on safety and quality initiatives.

The quality and patient safety program identifies, collects, and analyzes aggregate data to support patient care and hospital management. Aggregate data provide a profile of the hospital over time and allow the comparison of the hospital's performance with other organizations, particularly on the hospitalwide measures selected by leadership. Thus, aggregate data are an important part of the hospital's performance improvement activities. In particular, aggregate data from risk management, utility system management, infection prevention and control,

and utilization review can help the hospital understand its current performance and identify opportunities for improvement. (*Also see* MOI.1)

By participating in external databases, a hospital can compare itself to that of other similar hospitals locally, nationally, and internationally. Comparison is an effective tool for identifying opportunities for improvement and documenting the hospital's performance level. Health care networks and those purchasing or paying for health care often ask for such information. External databases vary widely from insurance databases to those maintained by professional societies. (*Also see* PCI.5 and PCI.5.1) Hospitals may be required by laws or regulations to contribute to some external databases. In all cases, the security and confidentiality of data and information are maintained. (*Also see* MOI.2)

Measurable Elements of QPS.4

- The quality and patient safety program has a process to aggregate data.
- 2. Aggregate data and information support patient care, hospital management, professional practice review, and the overall quality and patient safety program.
 - 3. Aggregate data and information are provided to agencies outside the hospital when required by laws or regulations.
- There is a process to contribute to and learn from external databases for comparison purposes.
- ☐ 5. Security and confidentiality are maintained when contributing to or using external databases.

Standard QPS.4.1

Individuals with appropriate experience, knowledge, and skills systematically aggregate and analyze data in the hospital.

Intent of QPS.4.1

To reach conclusions and to make decisions, data must be aggregated, analyzed, and transformed into useful information. Data analysis involves individuals who understand information management, have skills in data aggregation methods, and know how to use various statistical tools. Results of data analysis need to be reported to those individuals responsible for the process or outcome being measured and who can take action on the results. These individuals may be clinical, managerial, or a combination. Thus, data analysis provides continuous feedback of quality management information to help those individuals make decisions and continuously improve clinical and managerial processes. (*Also see* GLD.1.2)

Understanding statistical techniques is helpful in data analysis, particularly in interpreting variation and deciding where improvement needs to occur. Run charts, control charts, histograms, and Pareto charts are **examples** of statistical tools useful in understanding trends and variation in health care.

The quality program participates in the determination of how often data are aggregated and analyzed. The frequency of this process depends on the activity or area being measured and the frequency of the measurement. (*Also see* QPS.8) **For example**, clinical laboratory quality control data may be analyzed weekly to meet local regulations, and patient fall data may be analyzed monthly if falls are infrequent. Thus, aggregation of data at points in time enables the hospital to judge a particular process's stability or a particular outcome's predictability in relation to expectations.

The goal of data analysis is to be able to compare a hospital in four ways:

- 1) With itself over time, such as month to month, or one year to the next
- 2) With other similar organizations, such as through reference databases
- With standards, such as those set by accrediting and professional bodies or those set by laws or regulations

4) With recognized desirable practices identified in the literature as best or better practices or practice guidelines

These comparisons help the hospital understand the source and nature of undesirable change and help focus improvement efforts. (*Also see* GLD.5)

Maacur	ahla	Elements	of O	PS 4 1
ivicasui	avie	Lienienia	o	/F 3.4. I

_	1.	Data are aggregated, analyzed, and transformed into useful information to identify opportunities for improvement.
	2.	Individuals with appropriate clinical or managerial experience, knowledge, and skills participate in the process.
	3.	Statistical tools and techniques are used in the analysis process when suitable.
	4.	The frequency of data analysis is appropriate to the process or outcome being studied.
	5.	Results of analysis are reported to those accountable for taking action.

Data analysis supports comparisons internally over time, including comparisons with databases of

Standard QPS.5

The data analysis process includes at least one determination per year of the impact of hospitalwide priority improvements on cost and efficiency.

like organizations, with best practices, and with objective scientific professional sources.

Intent of QPS.5

The quality and patient safety program includes an analysis of the impact of priority improvements as supported by leadership. (*Also see* GLD.5) **For example**, there is evidence to support that the use of clinical practice guidelines to standardize care has a significant impact on efficiency of care and a reduction in the length of stay, which ultimately reduces costs. The quality and patient safety program staff develop tools to evaluate the use of resources for the existing process and then reevaluate the use of resources for the improved process. The resources may be human (**for example**, time devoted to each step in a process) or may involve the use of technology or other resources. The analysis will provide useful information on which improvements impact efficiency and therefore cost.

Measurable Flements of QPS.5

1.	Data on the amount and type of resource use are collected on at least one hospitalwide priority improvement project per year before and following the improvement.
2.	The quality and patient safety program staff work with other units such as human resources, information technology, and finance in deciding which data are to be collected.
3.	The results of the analysis are used to refine the process and are reported through the quality coordi-

Standard QPS.6

The hospital uses an internal process to validate data.

nation mechanism to leadership.

Intent of QPS.6

A quality improvement program is only as valid as the data that are collected. If data are flawed, quality improvement efforts will be ineffective. The reliability and validity of measurements are thus at the core of all improvements. To ensure that good, useful data have been collected, an internal or external data validation process needs to be in place. Data validation is most important when

- a) a new measure is implemented (in particular, those clinical measures that are intended to help a hospital evaluate and improve an important clinical process or outcome);
- b) data will be made public on the hospital's website or in other ways;
- c) a change has been made to an existing measure, such as the data collection tools have changed or the data abstraction process or abstractor has changed;
- d) the data resulting from an existing measure have changed in an unexplainable way;
- e) the data source has changed, such as when part of the patient medical record has been turned into an electronic format and thus the data source is now both electronic and paper; or
- f) the subject of the data collection has changed, such as changes in average age of patients, comorbidities, research protocol alterations, new practice guidelines implemented, or new technologies and treatment methodologies introduced.

Data validation is an important tool for understanding the quality of the data and for establishing the level of confidence decision makers can have in the data. Data validation becomes one of the steps in the process of setting priorities for measurement, selecting what is to be measured, extracting or collecting the data, analyzing the data, and using the findings for improvement.

When a hospital publishes data on clinical outcomes, patient safety, or other areas, or in other ways makes data public, such as on the hospital's website, the hospital has an ethical obligation to provide the public with accurate information. Hospital leadership is accountable for ensuring that the data are valid. (*Also see* GLD.3.1) Reliability and validity of measurement and quality of data can be established through the hospital's internal data validation process or, alternatively, can be judged by an independent third party, such as an external company contracted by the hospital. (*Also see* GLD.6)

Measurable Elements of QPS.6

1.	Data validation is used by the quality program as a component of the improvement process selected by leadership.
2.	Data are validated when any of the conditions noted in a) through f) in the intent are met.
3.	An evidence-based methodology for data validation is used.
4.	Hospital leadership assumes accountability for the validity of the quality and outcome data made public.

Standard QPS.7

Standard QPS.7.1

The hospital uses a defined process for identifying and managing adverse, no-harm, and near miss events. ®

Intent of QPS.7 and QPS.7.1

In order to address system issues that can lead to patient, staff, or visitor harm, the hospital must have a process for identifying and managing sentinel, adverse, no-harm, and near miss events. In response to these events it is important that the hospital focuses not on individual error, but on the system factors that contributed to the event.

A sentinel event is a patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of the patient's illness or underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in any of the following:

- a) Death
- b) Permanent harm
- c) Severe temporary harm

Severe temporary harm is defined as critical, potentially life-threatening harm lasting for a limited time with no permanent residual but requires transfer to a higher level of care/monitoring for a prolonged period of time, transfer to a higher level of care for a life-threatening condition, or additional major surgery, procedure, or treatment to resolve the condition. An event is also considered sentinel if it is one of the following:

- d) Suicide of any patient receiving care, treatment, and services in a staffed around-the-clock care setting or within 72 hours of discharge, including from the hospital's emergency department (ED)
- e) Unanticipated death of a full-term infant
- f) Discharge of an infant to the wrong family
- g) Abduction of any patient receiving care, treatment, and services
- h) Any elopement (that is, unauthorized departure) of a patient from a staffed around-the-clock care setting (including the ED), leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm to the patient
- i) Hemolytic transfusion reaction involving administration of blood or blood products having major blood group incompatibilities (ABO, Rh, other blood groups)
- j) Rape, assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm), or homicide of any patient receiving care, treatment, and services while on site at the hospital
- k) Rape, assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm), or homicide of a staff member, licensed independent practitioner, visitor, or vendor while on site at the hospital (Also see SQE.8.2)
- l) Invasive procedure, including surgery, on the wrong patient, at the wrong site, or that is the wrong (unintended) procedure
- m) Unintended retention of a foreign object in a patient after an invasive procedure, including surgery
- n) Severe neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (bilirubin > 30 milligrams/deciliter)
- o) Prolonged fluoroscopy with cumulative dose > 1,500 rads to a single field or any delivery of radiotherapy to the wrong body region or > 25% above the planned radiotherapy dose
- p) Fire, flame, or unanticipated smoke, heat, or flashes occurring during an episode of patient care
- q) Any intrapartum (related to the birth process) maternal death
- Severe maternal morbidity (not primarily related to the natural course of the patient's illness or underlying condition) when it reaches a patient and results in permanent harm or severe temporary harm

Sentinel events are one category of patient safety events. A *patient safety event* is an event, incident, or condition that could have resulted or did result in harm to a patient. A patient safety event can be, but is not necessarily, the result of a defective system or process design, a system breakdown, equipment failure, or human error. Patient safety events also include adverse events, no-harm events, near misses, and hazardous conditions, which are defined as follows:

- An *adverse event* is a patient safety event that resulted in harm to a patient.
- A *no-harm event* is a patient safety event that reaches the patient but does not cause harm.
- A *near miss* (or close call) is a patient safety event that did not reach the patient.
- A *hazardous* (or "unsafe") *condition(s)* is a circumstance (other than a patient's own disease process or condition) that increases the probability of an adverse event

The hospital's definition of a sentinel event includes a) through r) above and may include other events as required by laws or regulations or viewed by the hospital as appropriate to add to its list of sentinel events. All events that meet the definition of sentinel event must be assessed by performing a comprehensive systematic analysis; **for example**, a thorough and credible root cause analysis (RCA). Accurate details of the event are

essential to a thorough and credible RCA; thus, the RCA needs to be performed as soon after the event as possible. The analysis and action plan are completed within 45 days of the event or becoming aware of the event. For the RCA to be considered thorough, the team must determine the causal factors in the system that contributed to the event and identify potential opportunities for improvement. For the RCA to be considered credible, the team involves key stakeholders in every step of the process, works with patients/family/staff involved in the event to better understand the circumstances, and seeks the final plan approval of the CEO or other high-level leadership. The goal of performing an RCA is for the hospital to better understand the origins of the event. When the RCA reveals that systems improvements or other actions can prevent or reduce the risk of such sentinel or adverse events recurring, the hospital redesigns the processes and takes whatever other actions are appropriate to do so. Note that the terms *sentinel event* and *medical error* are not synonymous. Not all errors result in a sentinel event, nor does a sentinel event occur only as a result of an error. Identifying an incident as a sentinel event is not an indicator of legal liability.

While not all patient safety events will meet the definition of a sentinel event, those that meet the definition of an adverse event require analysis in order to identify corrective actions. In addition, in an attempt to proactively learn where systems may be vulnerable, no-harm events, near misses, and hazardous conditions are tracked and used as opportunities to prevent harm, in accordance with the hospital's process for responding to patient safety events that do not meet the definition of sentinel event. (*Also see* MMU.7.1) The hospital's process for managing these events includes a mechanism for blame-free reporting. (*Also see* GLD.12.2 and GLD.13.1) The data from these reports are aggregated and analyzed to learn where proactive process changes will reduce or prevent their occurrence.

Measurable Elements of QPS.7

- 1. Hospital leadership establishes a definition of a sentinel event that includes at least a) through r) found in the intent.
- 2. Hospital leaders complete a credible and thorough comprehensive systematic analysis (**for example**, root cause analysis) of all sentinel events within a time period specified by hospital leadership that does not exceed 45 days from the date of the event or when made aware of the event.
- ☐ 3. The root cause analysis identifies all system and process origins that may have contributed to the event.
- 4. Hospital leadership considers each identified contributing factor and takes corrective actions for improvement to prevent or reduce the risk of the adverse event from recurring.
- 5. The hospital monitors the implemented corrective actions for potential process failures (unintended consequences), effectiveness, and sustainability over time.

Measurable Elements of QPS.7.1

- 1. Hospital leadership establishes a definition of adverse event, no-harm event, and near miss event as defined in the intent.
- 2. Hospital leadership has a mechanism for blame-free reporting of adverse events, no-harm events, and near miss events
- ☐ 3. Hospital leadership defines a process for managing adverse events that includes an analysis of the events to identify corrective actions.
- 4. Hospital leadership defines a process for managing near miss events and no-harm events that includes an analysis of the events to identify corrective actions.
- 5. Hospital leaders implement corrective actions, when appropriate, on the results of the analysis.
- 4. Hospital leaders monitor the implemented corrective actions for potential process failures (unintended consequences), effectiveness, and sustainability over time.

Standard QPS.8

Intent of QPS.8

The hospital collects data on diverse and different areas of patient care services periodically and reports results to the governing body as part of the quality improvement and patient safety program. (*Also see* GLD.4.1) In order to do so there must be reliable mechanisms of reporting outcomes to ensure quality services. Those that pose patient safety risk are identified and monitored. Data collection should be sufficient to detect trends and patterns and will vary depending on the service frequency and/or the risk for patients. (*Also see* MMU.7.1; QPS.4.1; and QPS.10)

Data gathering and analysis are conducted for at least the following:

- a) All confirmed transfusion reactions, if applicable to the hospital (Also see COP.3.4)
- b) All serious adverse drug events, if applicable and as defined by the hospital (Also see MMU.7)
- c) All significant medication errors, if applicable and as defined by the hospital (Also see MMU.7.1)
- All major discrepancies between preoperative and postoperative diagnoses; for example, a
 preoperative diagnosis of intestinal obstruction and a postoperative diagnosis of ruptured abdominal
 aortic aneurysm (AAA)
- e) Adverse events or patterns of adverse events during procedural sedation regardless of administration site (*Also see* ASC.3.2 and ASC.5)
- f) Adverse events or patterns during anesthesia regardless of administration site
- g) Adverse events related to patient identification (Also see IPSG.1)
- h) Other adverse events; **for example**, health care–associated infections and infectious disease outbreaks (*Also see* PCI.6.1 and PCI.8.1)

Measurable Elements of QPS.8

1.	Defined data gathering processes are developed and implemented to ensure accurate data gathering, analysis, and reporting.
2.	Intense analysis of data takes place when adverse levels, patterns, or trends occur.

- ☐ 3. Data gathering and analysis are performed on items a) through h) of the intent.
- 4. Results of analyses are used to implement actions to improve the quality and safety of the service, treatment, or function.
- Outcome data are reported to the governing entity as part of the quality improvement and patient safety program.

Gaining and Sustaining Improvement

Standard QPS.9

Improvement in quality and safety is achieved and sustained.

Intent of QPS.9

The information from data analysis is used to identify potential improvements or to reduce (or prevent) adverse events. Routine measurement data, as well as data from intensive assessments, contribute to this understanding of where improvement should be planned and what priority should be given to the improvement. In particular, improvements are planned for the priority data collection areas identified by hospital leadership.

After an improvement(s) is planned, data are collected during a test period to demonstrate that the planned change was actually an improvement. To ensure that the improvement is sustained, measurement data are then collected for ongoing analysis. Effective changes are incorporated into standard operating procedure, and any necessary staff education is carried out. The hospital documents those improvements achieved and sustained as part of its quality management and improvement program. (*Also see* GLD.11)

Measurable Elements of QPS.9

- 1. Improvements in quality and patient safety are planned, tested, and implemented.
 - 2. Data are available to demonstrate that improvements are effective and sustained.
 - 3. Policy changes necessary to plan, to carry out, and to sustain the improvement are made.
 - 4. Successful improvements are documented.

Standard QPS.10

An ongoing program of risk management is used to identify and to proactively reduce unanticipated adverse events and other safety risks to patients and staff. (P)

Intent of QPS.10

Proactive risk management is essential to the quality and safety of patient care, treatment, and services within an organization. There are many types of risks in a hospital setting; **for example**, risks can include those associated with clinical care and patient safety, such as diagnostic, surgical, or medication errors; risks associated with the environment, such as hazardous conditions; risks associated with operations, such as plans for achieving the hospital's goals; or risks associated with compliance to standards of care and adherence to laws and regulations. Other risks can be associated with finances and strategic planning.

Hospitals need to adopt a proactive approach to risk management that includes developing risk mitigation strategies, with the goal being to reduce or eliminate the potentially harmful impact of known or possible risks. One such way is a formalized risk management program whose essential components include

- a) risk identification;
- b) risk prioritization;
- c) risk reporting;
- d) scope, objectives, and criteria for assessing risk;
- e) risk management, to include risk analysis; (Also see MMU.7.1; QPS.7; QPS.7.1; and QPS.8) and
- f) management of related claims.

An important element of risk management is risk analysis, such as a process to evaluate near misses and other high-risk processes for which a failure would result in a sentinel event. There are multiple tools that can provide a proactive analysis of the consequences of an event that could occur in a critical, high-risk processes. **For example**, failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA) and hazard vulnerability analysis (HVA) are two common tools.

To use these or similar tools effectively, leadership needs to identify and prioritize the potential risks that could have the greatest impact on patient and staff safety as well as on the quality and safety of patient care. This information should be used to prioritize the allocation of resources to analyze the areas of highest risks and take action to redesign the process or similar actions to reduce the risk in the process. This risk reduction process is carried out at least once per year and documented.

Measurable Elements of QPS.10

- 1. The hospital's risk management framework includes a) through f) in the intent.
- 2. Hospital leadership identifies and prioritizes the potential risks that could have the greatest impact on patient and staff safety and on the quality of patient care.
- 3. At least annually, a proactive risk reduction exercise is conducted on at least one of the priority risk processes.
- 4. High-risk processes are redesigned and implemented based on the results of the analysis of the risk reduction exercise.
- 5. Hospital leadership develops and implements communication strategies to staff, governance, and stakeholders as appropriate.

References

Management of Quality and Patient Safety Initiatives

Braithwaite J, Marks D, Taylor N. Harnessing implementation science to improve care quality and patient safety: A systematic review of targeted literature. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2014 Jun;26(3):321–329.

Broder JC, et al. Creating a radiology quality and safety program: Principles and pitfalls. *Radiographics*. 2018 Oct;38(6):1786–1798.

Cebeci U. Building hospital balanced scorecard by using decision support approach. *IIOAB Journal*. 2018; 9(6):42–47. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.iioab.org/IIOABJ_9.6_42-47.pdf.

Duffy JR. Quality Caring in Nursing and Health Systems: Implications for Clinicians, Educators, and Leaders, 3rd ed. New York: Springer, 2018.

Leonard M, et al., editors. *The Essential Guide for Patient Safety Officers*, 2nd ed. Oak Brook, IL: Joint Commission Resources, 2013.

Meesala A, Paul J. Service quality, consumer satisfaction and loyalty in hospitals: Thinking for the future. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*. 2018 Jan;40:261–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.10.011.

Mehlhaff KM, Pettker CM. Establishing and maintaining a quality and safety program on labor and delivery. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* 2019 Sep;62(3):572–579.

Shamsuddin Alaraki M. Assessing the organizational characteristics influencing quality improvement implementation in Saudi hospitals. *Qual Manag Health Care*. 2018 Jan–Mar;27(1):8–16. https://doi.org/10.1097/QMH.000000000000000152.

Zarei E, et al. Assessing hospital quality management systems: Evidence from Iran. *Int J Health Care Qual Assur.* 2019 Feb 11;32(1):87–96

Measure Selection and Data Collection

Chalmers K, et al. Developing indicators for measuring low-value care: Mapping Choosing Wisely recommendations to hospital data. *BMC Res Notes*. 2018 Mar 5;11(1):163.

Center for US Health System Reform, Business Technology Office. *The 'Big Data' Revolution in Healthcare: Accelerating Value and Innovation.* Groves P, et al. Jan 2013. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.ghdonline.org/uploads/Big_DataRevolution in health care 2013 McKinsey Report.pdf.

Geary RS, et al. A step-wise approach to developing indicators to compare the performance of maternity units using hospital administrative data. *BJOG*. 2018 Jun;125(7):857–865.

iSixSigma. FEMA: Preventing a Failure Before Any Harm Is Done. Smith DL. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.isixsigma.com/tools-templates/fmea/fmea-preventing-failure-any-harm-done/.

Liebe JD, Esdar M, Hübner U. Measuring the availability of electronic patient data across the hospital and throughout selected clinical workflows. *Stud Health Technol Inform*. 2018;253:99–103.

Singh A, Prasher A. Measuring healthcare service quality from patients' perspective: using Fuzzy AHP application. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*. 2019;30(3–4):284–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2017.1302 794.

Soffin EM, et al. Evidence review conducted for the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Safety Program for Improving Surgical Care and Recovery: Focus on anesthesiology for total hip arthroplasty. *Anesth. Analg.* 2019 Mar;128(3):454-465.

Streimelweger B, Wac K, Seiringer W. Human-factor-based risk management in the healthcare to improve patient safety. *International Journal of E-Health and Medical Communication*. 2016 Jul;7(3):2. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.igi-global.com/article/human-factor-based-risk-management-in-the-healthcare-to-improve%20patient-safety/161696.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Healthcare Safety Network. 2017 Patient Safety Data Quality Guidance and Toolkit for Reporting Facilities. 2017. Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/pdfs/validation/2017/2017-nhsn-iv-for-facilities.pdf.

van Hoeven LR, et al. Validation of multisource electronic health record data: An application to blood transfusion data. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2017 Jul 14;17(1):107.

Analysis and Validation of Measurement Data

Akiyama N, et al. Differences in near miss incident reports across clinical experience levels in nurses: Using national wide data base from the Japan Council for Quality Healthcare. *Patient Safety & Quality Improvement Journal*. 2019;7(2):56–63.

Alharthi H. Healthcare predictive analytics: An overview with a focus on Saudi Arabia. *J Infect Public Health*. 2018 Nov–Dec;11(6):749–756.

Asche CV, et al. Evaluation of healthcare interventions and big data: Review of associated data issues. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2017 Aug;35(8):759–765.

Crowley P. A national approach to sustainable quality improvement: The experience from Ireland. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2018 Sep;30 Suppl 2:63–64 https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy167.98.

Easter A, Howard LM, Sandall J. Recognition and response to life-threatening situations among women with perinatal mental illness: A qualitative study. *BMJ Open.* 2019 Mar 20;9(3):e025872.

Hooker AB, et al. Aggregate analysis of sentinel events as a strategic tool in safety management can contribute to the improvement of healthcare safety. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2019 Mar 1;31(2):110–116. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy116.

Gaining and Sustaining Improvement

Lee SE, et al. Safety culture, patient safety, and quality of care outcomes: A literature review. *West J Nurs Res.* 2019 Feb;41(2):279–304.

Hu J, et al. Correlations among hospital quality measures: What "Hospital Compare" data tell us. *Am J Med Qual.* 2017 Nov–Dec;32(6):605–610.

Khalifa M, Zabani I. Utilizing health analytics in improving the performance of healthcare services: A case study on a tertiary care hospital. *J Infect Public Health*. 2016 Nov–Dec;9(6):757–765.

Lamer A, et al. From data extraction to analysis: Proposal of a methodology to optimize hospital data reuse process. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 2018;247:41–45.

Manzanera R, et al. Quality assurance and patient safety measures: A comparative longitudinal analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2018 Jul 24;15(8):E1568.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Healthcare Safety Network. NHSN Data Validation. (Updated: Apr 3, 2019.) Accessed Jan 4, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/validation/.

Yao Y, et al. Improvements in blood transfusion management: Cross-sectional data analysis from nine hospitals in Zhejiang, China. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018 Nov 14;18(1):856.

Zaboli R, et al. Factors affecting sentinel events in hospital emergency department: A qualitative study. *Int J Health Care Qual Assur.* 2018 Jul 9;31(6):575–586.

Prevention and Control of Infections (PCI)

Overview

The goal of an organization's infection prevention and control program is to identify and to reduce or eliminate the risks of acquiring and transmitting infections among patients, staff, health care practitioners, contract workers, volunteers, students, visitors, and the community. In addition, developing hospitalwide initiatives related to evolving health care practices and/or concerns, such as an antibiotic stewardship program and a program for response to global communicable diseases, is an essential component of the infection prevention and control program.

The infection risks and program activities will differ from organization to organization, depending on the organization's clinical activities and services, patient population(s) served, geographic location, patient volume, and number of staff. The program's priorities should reflect the identified risks in the organization, global and community developments, and the complexity of services provided.

Effective infection prevention and control programs have in common identified leaders, well-trained staff, methods to identify and to proactively address infection risks in persons and the environment, appropriate policies and procedures, staff education, and coordination throughout the organization.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Responsibilities

- **PCI.1** One or more individuals oversee all infection prevention and control activities. This individual(s) is qualified in infection prevention and control practices through education, training, experience, certification, and/or clinical authority.
- **PCI.2** There is a designated coordination mechanism for all infection prevention and control activities that involves physicians, nurses, and others based on the size and complexity of the hospital.

Resources

PCI.3 Hospital leadership provides resources to support the infection prevention and control program.

Goals of the Infection Prevention and Control Program

PCI.4 The hospital designs and implements a comprehensive infection prevention and control program that identifies the procedures and processes associated with the risk of infection and implements strategies to reduce infection risk. **(P)**

- - **PCI.5.1** The hospital identifies areas at high risk for infections by conducting a risk assessment, develops interventions to address these risks, and monitors the effectiveness.

Medical Equipment, Devices, and Supplies

- **PCI.6** The hospital reduces the risk of infections associated with medical/surgical equipment, devices, and supplies by ensuring adequate cleaning, disinfection, sterilization, and storage.

 ①

Environmental Cleanliness

- **PCI.7** The infection prevention and control program identifies and implements standards from recognized infection prevention and control programs to address cleaning and disinfection of the environment and environmental surfaces.

 P
 - **PCI.7.1** The infection prevention and control program identifies standards from recognized infection control health agencies related to cleaning and disinfection of laundry, linens, and scrub attire provided by the hospital.

Infectious Human Tissues and Waste

- **PCI.8** The hospital reduces the risk of infections through proper disposal of waste, proper management of human tissues, and safe handling and disposal of sharps and needles.

 ①

Food Services

PCI.9 The hospital reduces the risk of infections associated with the operations of food services.

Engineering Controls

PCI.10 The hospital reduces the risk of infection in the facility through the use of mechanical and engineering controls.

Construction and Renovation Risks

PCI.11 The hospital reduces the risk of infection in the facility associated with demolition, construction, and renovation.

Transmission of Infections

- **PCI.12** The hospital provides barrier precautions and isolation procedures that protect patients, visitors, and staff from communicable diseases and protects immunosuppressed patients from acquiring infections to which they are uniquely prone.

 ①

Quality Improvement and Program Education

- **PCI.14** The infection prevention and control process is integrated with the hospital's overall program for quality improvement and patient safety, using measures that are epidemiologically important to the hospital.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Responsibilities

Standard PCI.1

One or more individuals oversee all infection prevention and control activities. This individual(s) is qualified in infection prevention and control practices through education, training, experience, certification, and/or clinical authority.

Intent of PCI.1

The goal of a hospital's infection prevention and control program is to identify and to reduce the risks of acquiring and transmitting infections among patients, staff, health care practitioners, contract workers, volunteers, students, and visitors.

The infection risks and program activities may differ from hospital to hospital, depending on the hospital's clinical activities and services, patient population(s) served, geographic location, patient volume, and number of staff. Thus, the oversight of the infection prevention and control program corresponds to the hospital's size, complexity of activities, and level of risks, as well as the program's scope. One or more individuals, acting on a full-time or part-time basis, provide that oversight as part of their assigned responsibilities or job descriptions. (*Also see* GLD.9 and SQE.3) The infection prevention and control program is supported by a team of individuals, as necessary, to ensure that the program is led by an individual(s) with the clinical and leadership experience to direct, implement, and measure change. The individual(s) leading the infection prevention and control program has experience in both infection prevention and control and leadership. The needed qualifications for this individual(s) will depend on the activities he or she will carry out, and the qualifications may be met through

- education;
- training;
- experience;
- certification or licensure; and/or
- demonstrated leadership ability.

This individual(s) is responsible for the organization's progressive improvement in infection prevention and control activities, including setting priorities and ensuring incremental progress toward meeting these priorities. This individual(s) identifies high-risk areas for infection prevention and control, including the Central Sterile Supply Department and operating theatres, and provides oversight or designates an appointee to provide oversight of these areas. A team approach supports coordination with the hospital's facility management and safety program to incorporate infection prevention and control practices.

This individual(s) is accountable for coordination with hospital leadership regarding priorities, resources, and quality improvement related to the infection prevention and control program. The results and other data are reported to local, national, regional, and/or global public health agencies as required. The hospital also takes

appropriate actions to respond to reports issued by public health agencies, as appropriate to the hospital and its patient population.

Measurable Elements of PCI.1

- 1. One or more individuals oversee the infection prevention and control program and ensure that the program complies with local and national laws and regulations.
- 2. The individual(s) is qualified for the hospital's size, complexity of activities, and level of risks, as well as the program's scope.
- ☐ 3. The individual(s) fulfills program oversight responsibilities as assigned or described in a job description.
- 4. This individual(s) coordinates with hospital leadership regarding priorities, resources, and quality improvement opportunities related to the infection prevention and control program.
- ☐ 5. The hospital reports infection prevention and control program results to public health agencies as required.
 - 6. The hospital takes appropriate action on reports from relevant public health agencies.

Standard PCI.2

There is a designated coordination mechanism for all infection prevention and control activities that involves physicians, nurses, and others based on the size and complexity of the hospital.

Intent of PCI.2

Infection prevention and control activities reach into every part of a hospital and involve individuals in multiple departments and services (**for example**, clinical departments, facility maintenance, food services [catering], housekeeping, laboratory, pharmacy, and sterilization services). (*Also see* AOP.5.3; AOP.6.2; and FMS.5) In addition, hospitals are at risk for infections that can enter the hospital via patients, families, staff, volunteers, visitors, vendors, independent entities, and other individuals. Thus, all physical areas of the hospital, including staff-only areas, where these individuals are found must be included in the program of infection surveillance, prevention, and control.

There is a designated mechanism to coordinate the overall program. **For example**, the mechanism may be a small work group, a coordinating committee, a task force, or some other mechanism. The functions and actions of this mechanism must be recorded or documented to review the effectiveness of program coordination and to monitor progressive improvement in the prevention and control of infections. There must also be leadership representation in this mechanism; hospital leadership must have an active role in the prevention and control of infections and be accountable for the status of the program. Responsibilities of this designated coordination mechanism include, **for example**, setting criteria to define health care—associated infections, establishing data collection (surveillance) methods, designing strategies to address infection prevention and control risks, and reporting processes. Coordination involves communicating with all parts of the hospital to ensure that the program is continuous and proactive.

Whatever the mechanism chosen by the hospital to coordinate the infection prevention and control program, physicians and nurses are represented and engaged in the activities with the infection prevention and control professionals. (*Also see* MMU.1.1) Others may be included as determined by the hospital's size and complexity of services (**for example**, epidemiologist, data collection expert, statistician, central sterilization manager, microbiologist, pharmacist, housekeeping services, environmental or facilities services, operating theatre supervisor).

Measurable Elements of PCI.2

- 1. The designated mechanism, as described in the intent, coordinates the infection prevention and control program and involves infection prevention and control professionals.
- 2. Infection prevention and control activities involve physicians, nurses, and others based on the size and complexity of the hospital.
- 3. All areas of the hospital are included in the infection prevention and control program.

Resources

Standard PCI.3

Hospital leadership provides resources to support the infection prevention and control program.

Intent of PCI.3

The infection prevention and control program requires adequate staff to meet the program goals and the needs of the hospital and to meet or exceed local laws and regulations related to infection prevention and control. The number of staff is determined by the hospital's size, complexity of activities, and level of risks, as well as the program's scope. Staffing levels are approved and assigned by the hospital's leadership. (*Also see* SQE.6) Hospital leadership ensures that human resources are available to support the infection prevention and control program. (*Also see* GLD.1.1) This includes the appointment of a qualified individual(s) to oversee the program and to provide oversight of high-risk areas (**for example**, the Central Sterile Supply Department and operating theatres), staff to provide education about the infection prevention and control program, and clinical staffing numbers that allow for safe practice, including infection prevention and control practices.

In addition, the infection prevention and control program requires resources to provide education to all staff and to purchase supplies, such as alcohol-based hand rub for hand hygiene. Hospital leadership ensures that the program has adequate resources to effectively carry out the program. Hospital leadership approves and allocates the resources and then ensures that they are provided to the infection prevention and control program as intended and meet the specific needs of the hospital.

Information management systems are important resources to support the tracking of risks, rates, and trends in health care—associated infections. Information management functions support the analysis and interpretation of data and the presentation of findings. (*Also see* MOI.1) In addition, infection prevention and control program data and information are managed with those of the hospital's quality management and improvement program.

Measurable Elements of PCI.3

u	1.	The infection prevention and control program is staffed according to the hospital's size, complexity of			
activities, and level of risks, as well as the program's scope.					

- Hospital leadership approves and assigns staff required for the infection prevention and control program.
- ☐ 3. Hospital leadership approves and allocates resources required for the infection prevention and control program.
- Information management systems support the infection prevention and control program.

Goals of the Infection Prevention and Control Program

Standard PCI.4

Intent of PCI.4

Hospitals assess and care for patients using many simple and complex processes, each associated with a level of infection risk to patients and staff. It is important for a hospital to measure and review those processes and to implement needed policies, procedures, education, and evidence-based activities designed to reduce the risk of infection. (*Also see* ACC.6; COP.4; and COP.4.1)

An infection prevention and control program must be comprehensive, encompassing both patient care and staff health. The program identifies and addresses the infection issues that are epidemiologically important to the hospital and that may impact patients, staff, visitors, and vendors. In addition, the program requires a range of strategies that cross all levels of the hospital based on the hospital's size, geographic location, services, and patients. The program includes hand hygiene, oversight for improving the safe use of antimicrobials and ensuring safe medication preparation, systems to identify infections and to investigate outbreaks of infectious diseases, and implementation of a vaccine program for staff and patients. (*Also see* IPSG.5; MMU.1.1; MMU.5; PCI.12; PCI.12.1; PCI.12.2; and SQE.8.3) The periodic assessment of risk and the setting of risk reduction goals guide the program.

Measurable Elements of PCI.4

- 1. The infection prevention and control program is comprehensive and crosses all levels of the hospital, to reduce the risk of health care—associated infections in patients.
- 2. The infection prevention and control program is comprehensive and crosses all levels of the hospital to reduce the risk of health care—associated infections in hospital staff.
- ☐ 3. The hospital identifies those processes associated with infection risk.
- 4. The hospital implements strategies, education, and evidence-based activities to reduce infection risk in those processes.

Standard PCI.5

The hospital uses a risk-based data-driven approach in establishing the focus of the health care—associated infection prevention and control program.

②

Standard PCI.5.1

The hospital identifies areas at high risk for infections by conducting a risk assessment, develops interventions to address these risks, and monitors the effectiveness.

Intent of PCI.5 and PCI.5.1

Each hospital must identify those epidemiologically important infections, infection sites, and associated devices, procedures, and practices that will provide the focus of efforts to prevent and to reduce the risk and incidence of health care—associated infections. A risk-based approach helps hospitals identify those practices

and infections on which they should focus their programs. A risk-based approach uses surveillance as an important component for gathering and analyzing the data that guide the risk assessment.

Hospitals collect and evaluate data on the following relevant infections and sites:

- a) Respiratory tract—such as the procedures and medical equipment associated with intubation, mechanical ventilatory support, tracheostomy, and so on
- b) Urinary tract—such as the invasive procedures and medical equipment associated with indwelling urinary catheters, urinary drainage systems, their care, and so on
- c) Intravascular invasive devices—such as the insertion and care of central venous catheters, peripheral venous lines, and so on
- d) Surgical sites—such as their care and type of dressing and associated aseptic procedures
- e) Epidemiologically significant diseases and organisms—multidrug-resistant organisms, highly virulent infections (*Also see* PCI.12.2 and SQE.8.3)
- f) Emerging or reemerging infections with the community

In addition, applying the scientific knowledge related to the control of infections through such strategies as the use of clinical practice guidelines (*also see* GLD.11.2), antibiotic stewardship programs (*also see* MMU.1.1), programs to reduce community- and hospital-associated infections, and initiatives to decrease the use of unnecessary invasive devices can significantly reduce the rates of infection.

The infection prevention and control process is designed to lower the risk of infection for patients, staff, and others. To reach this goal, the hospital must proactively identify and track risks, rates, and trends in health care—associated infections. The hospital uses measurement information to improve infection prevention and control activities and to reduce health care—associated infection rates to the lowest possible levels. A hospital can best use measurement data and information by understanding rates and trends in other similar hospitals and contributing data to infection-related databases. (*Also see* QPS.4 and GLD.5)

The infection prevention and control program identifies other high-risk areas for infection through a risk assessment. Goals for the infection prevention and control program are established based on this risk assessment throughout the hospital. Risk assessments may also be completed when there are questions about risks related to current practices; **for example**, the use of cardboard boxes, transportation paths for clean and dirty linens, installation of new positive or negative pressure systems, and so on. Program leaders implement evidence-based interventions to minimize these infection risks. Ongoing monitoring of identified risks and risk reduction interventions are monitored for effectiveness of these interventions, including progressive and sustained improvement, and what changes may be required to the program goals based on the successes and challenges apparent in monitoring data.

Measurable Elements of PCI.5

1.	The hospital establishes the focus of the program through the collection and tracking of data related to a) through f) in the intent.
2.	The data collected in a) through f) are analyzed to identify priorities for reducing rates of infection.
3.	The hospital implements infection prevention and control strategies to reduce the rates of infection for the identified priorities.
4.	Processes are redesigned based on risk, rate, and trend data and information.

Measurable Elements of PCI.5.1

- 1. The hospital completes and documents a risk assessment, at least annually, to identify and prioritize areas at high risk for infections.
- 2. The hospital identifies and implements interventions to address infection risks identified through the risk assessment.
- 3. The hospital evaluates the effectiveness of the interventions and makes appropriate changes to the infection prevention and control program as needed.
- 4. The hospital performs ongoing data monitoring to ensure that risks are reduced or eliminated.

Medical Equipment, Devices, and Supplies

Standard PCI.6

Intent of PCI.6

Procedures that involve contact with medical/surgical equipment, devices, and supplies can be a major source for introducing pathogens that lead to infection. Failure to properly clean, disinfect, or sterilize, and improper use or storage of equipment, devices, and supplies, not only poses risks to patients, but also carries a risk for person-to-person transmission of infections. It is critical that health care staff follow standard practices to clean, disinfect, and sterilize. Infection risk is minimized with proper *cleaning*, *disinfection*, and *sterilization* processes.

The US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) defines *cleaning* as: "the removal of foreign material (e.g., soil, and organic material) from objects. . . ." The CDC goes on to say that "[cleaning] is normally accomplished using water with detergents or enzymatic products. Thorough cleaning is required before high-level disinfection and sterilization because inorganic and organic materials that remain on the surfaces of instruments interfere with the effectiveness of these processes."

Manufacturer guidelines and professional practice standards are consulted to determine the level of disinfection or sterilization required for items. (*Also see* GLD.7) The level of disinfection or sterilization also depends on the category of the item—noncritical, semi-critical, and critical.

In 2008 the CDC Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee's *Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities* recognized Earle H. Spaulding's approach to disinfection and sterilization of patient-care items and equipment using a three-level method. The Spaulding Classification of Surfaces includes the following:

- Level 1—Critical: Objects which enter normally sterile tissue or the vascular system and require sterilization
- Level 2—Semi-critical: Objects that contact mucous membranes or non-intact skin and require high-level disinfection, which kills all but high-levels of bacterial spores
- Level 3—Non-critical: Objects that contact intact skin but not mucous membranes, and require low-level disinfection

Disinfection of medical equipment and devices involves both low- and high-level techniques. Low-level disinfection is used for noncritical items such as stethoscopes, blood glucose meters, and other noninvasive equipment. Low-level disinfection is also appropriate for items such as computer keyboards, telephones, and television remotes. Disinfection agents that may be used for low-level disinfection include phenols and quaternary ammonium compounds. High-level disinfection is used on semi-critical items, which are items that

come in contact with mucus membranes or nonintact skin (**for example**, speculums that may be used in ear, nose, and throat departments, obstetrics/gynecology departments, or ophthalmology departments).

Disinfection agents that may be used for high-level disinfection include ortho-phthalaldehyde and hydrogen peroxide. Sterilization is required for critical items, which are those that come into contact with sterile parts of the body or the vascular system, such as many dental instruments, surgical instruments, and cardiac catheters. To properly sterilize critical hinged instruments, they must be processed in their open position. Sterilization may not be possible for some critical items, such as flexible endoscopes, so manufacturers' guidelines may require the use of high-level disinfection instead.

Sterilization of medical/surgical supplies and other invasive devices and equipment includes several different methods, and there are advantages and disadvantages to each method. The type of sterilization used is dependent on the situation in which sterilization occurs and on what is being sterilized, and manufacturer guidelines. For example, moist heat in the form of saturated steam under pressure is the most widely used and the most dependable. However, steam sterilization can only be used on items that are heat and moisture resistant. Low-temperature sterilization is most commonly used for sterilizing temperature- and moisture-sensitive medical devices and supplies. Flash sterilization (also known as immediate-use steam sterilization) is used in situations in which there is insufficient time to sterilize an item using the packaged method of saturated steam under pressure. Hospitals follow manufacturer guidelines and professional practice guidelines for sterilization techniques that best fit the type of situations for sterilization and devices and supplies being sterilized. Additional cleaning and disinfection is required for medical/surgical equipment, devices, and supplies used with patients who are isolated as part of implementing transmission-based precautions.

Cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization can take place in a centralized sterilization area or, with proper oversight, in other areas of the hospital, such as a gastroenterology lab or an endoscopy lab. Cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization methods maintain the same standards wherever they are performed in the hospital. (*Also see* ACC.6) It is critical that staff follow standard practices to minimize infection risks. Staff processing medical/surgical equipment, devices, and supplies are oriented to and trained in the practices of cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization; demonstrate competency in the practices; and receive proper supervision. Staff processing equipment, devices, and supplies must demonstrate competency as part of their initial and ongoing training.

In order to prevent contamination, clean and sterile supplies are properly stored in designated storage areas that are clean and dry and protected from dust, moisture, and temperature extremes. Ideally, sterile supplies are stored separately from clean supplies, and sterile storage areas have limited access. Hospital leaders conduct risk assessments and consult professional standards to identify risks related to specific storage processes and to identify interventions to mitigate those risks; **for example**, the use of cardboard or plastic storage boxes in clean storage areas. Some disinfected items require specific drying and storage principles to ensure complete and thorough disinfection. **For example**, following disinfection, endoscopes must be able to hang freely without coming into contact with the floor in order to prevent fluid from accumulating in the bottom of the scope.

Measurable Elements of PCI.6

- 1. The hospital follows professional practice guidelines and manufacturer guidelines for sterilization techniques that best fit the type of situations for sterilization and devices and supplies being sterilized.
- 2. The hospital follows professional practice guidelines and manufacturer guidelines for low- and high-level disinfection that best fit the type of devices and equipment being disinfected.
- 3. Staff processing medical/surgical equipment, devices, and supplies are oriented to, trained in, and demonstrate competency in cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization, and they receive proper supervision.
- 4. Methods for medical/surgical cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization are coordinated and uniformly applied throughout the hospital.
 - 5. Clean and sterile supplies are properly stored in designated storage areas that are clean and dry and protected from dust, moisture, and temperature extremes.

Standard PCI.6.1

The hospital identifies and implements a process for managing the reuse of single-use devices consistent with regional and local laws and regulations and implements a process for managing expired supplies.

①

Intent of PCI.6.1

Certain single-use devices may be reused under specific circumstances when permitted by local and national laws and regulations. This standard addresses types of single-use critical and semi-critical [medical] devices listed in the Spaulding Classification; it is not meant to include non-critical devices.

There are two risks associated with the reuse of reprocessed single-use devices: There is the potential for an increased risk of infection, and there is the risk that the performance of the device may be inadequate or unacceptable after it is reprocessed. The reuse of reprocessed single-use devices carries significant risk, as many devices are complex in design and therefore difficult to clean, disinfect, or sterilize. Reprocessing must meet the same criteria as the original manufacturer to ensure that the device is safe for reuse, in both function and cleanliness, following reprocessing. Despite these requirements, reprocessing can also impact the effectiveness or function of the device, leading to increased risk of the device breaking or failing during use. Most single-use devices are not designed for reprocessing, leading to increased risk of cross-infection. In addition, chemicals used for reprocessing may corrode the device, and the process itself may damage the device.

Medical devices manufactured to be single-use devices may be either marked with a symbol such as ②, or words such as "single-use only," "not to be reused," or "disposable." If the hospital permits the reuse of reprocessed single-use devices, there is a hospital policy that guides such reuse. The policy is consistent with national laws and regulations and professional standards and includes identification of

- a) single-use devices and materials that may be reused;
- b) a process for identifying when a single-use device is no longer safe or suitable for reuse;
- c) the cleaning process for each device that starts immediately after use and follows a clear protocol;
- d) identification of patients on whom reusable medical devices have been used; and
- e) a proactive evaluation of the safety of reusing single-use items.

The hospital collects and analyzes data on adverse events related to reused devices and materials to identify risks and implements actions to reduce risks and improve processes. (*Also see* QPS.8) There is oversight of the process to grant or revoke approvals for the reuse of reprocessed single-use devices based on these data, hospital needs, and alternatives to reuse. The list of single-use devices approved for reuse is routinely reviewed to ensure that it is accurate and current.

Most medical materials (IV fluids, catheters, sutures, and other medical materials) are imprinted with an expiration date. When the expiration date on these materials has passed, the manufacturer does not guarantee the sterility, safety, or stability of the item. Some materials contain a statement indicating that the contents are sterile as long as the packaging is intact. A policy identifies the process for ensuring proper management of expired supplies.

Measurable Elements of PCI.6.1

- 1. The hospital identifies single-use devices and materials that may be reused in accordance with local and national laws and regulations.
- ☐ 2. The hospital utilizes a standardized process for identifying when a single-use device is no longer safe or suitable for reuse.
- 3. The hospital has a clear protocol for the cleaning, disinfecting, and sterilization as appropriate, for each reusable, single-use device.
- 4. The cleaning process for each device is followed as per protocol.
- 5. The hospital identifies patients on whom reusable medical devices have been used.
- When adverse events resulting from reuse of single-use devices occur, patients using these devices are tracked and an analysis is performed, with results used to identify and implement improvements.

Environmental Cleanliness

Standard PCI.7

Intent of PCI.7

Pathogens on surfaces and throughout the environment contribute to hospital-acquired illnesses in patients, staff, and visitors. Effective environmental cleaning and disinfection practices contribute to the prevention of hospital-acquired infections. Routine cleaning of the environment includes daily cleaning of patient rooms and care areas, waiting areas and other public spaces, staff workspaces, kitchens, and so on. The hospital defines its routine cleaning practices, including frequency of cleanings, cleaning equipment and agents used, which staff members are responsible for cleaning tasks, and when areas require more frequent cleaning. Terminal cleaning is completed following discharge; this process may be further enhanced if the patient had a known or suspected contagious infection. Terminal cleaning requires further attention to the environment and may include laundering of privacy curtains, removal and cleaning of all detachable items in the room, and disinfecting surfaces with multiple cleaning agents, as indicated by infection prevention and control standards.

Certain areas of the hospital require particular attention during environmental cleaning and disinfection due to their high-risk nature. Hospital leaders conduct risk assessments to determine which areas of the hospital require additional cleaning and disinfection; areas such as operating theatres, the Central Sterile Supply Department, neonatal intensive care units, burn units, and others are often considered high risk. Hospital leaders identify appropriate clinical guidelines and practice recommendations for staff to use when cleaning and disinfecting high-risk areas or situations.

Environmental cleaning and disinfections are monitored through a variety of ways. **For example**, hospital leaders may collect patient and family compliments and complaints, or fluorescent markers may be used to

check for residual pathogens. These data are used during ongoing education for environmental cleaning staff and to evaluate and change the cleaning and disinfection process when indicated.

Measurable Elements of PCI.7

- 1. The hospital selects cleaning and disinfection standards and procedures from recognized infection prevention and control programs to maintain environmental cleanliness.
- 2. Hospital leaders identify areas and situations that are high risk for infection transmission and implement additional cleaning and disinfection procedures as indicated.
- 3. Cleaning of infectious rooms during the patient's hospitalization and after discharge follows infection prevention and control guidelines.
- 4. The hospital monitors environmental cleaning and disinfection processes, and data are used to make changes to the process when applicable.

Standard PCI.7.1

The infection prevention and control program identifies standards from recognized infection control health agencies related to cleaning and disinfection of laundry, linens, and scrub attire provided by the hospital.

Intent of PCI.7.1

Handling of laundry, linens and hospital-issued scrub attire includes the collection, sorting, washing, drying, folding, distribution, and storage of these items. Laundering methods comply with local and national laws and regulations and follow guidelines from recognized infection control agencies to ensure safe and thorough processing of these items.

Staff handling laundry, linens, and scrub attire follow standard precautions and use appropriate transmission-based precautions when handling laundry and linens from isolation rooms. For example, staff handling linens from a contact isolation room use gloves and gowns to protect themselves from exposure. Contaminated laundry, linens, and hospital-issued scrubs that are soaked in blood or other body fluids are separated from other soiled items and are labeled as contaminated to alert staff processing contaminated items of the increased infection risk. Laundering consists of flushing, washing, bleaching, rinsing, and souring the items and follows guidelines from infection control agencies, including water temperatures, length of wash cycles, and use of cleaning agents. Laundry, linens, and hospital-issued scrub attire are processed, transported, and stored in a manner that prevents cross contamination of soiled and clean items; for example, soiled and clean items may enter and exit the laundry facilities through designated doors, and clean linens may be stored in covered linen carts

The hospital identifies areas in which staff will be required to wear hospital-issued scrub attire, including white coats or jackets, due to increased infection risks; **for example**, the Central Sterile Supply Department, operating theatres, and the neonatal intensive care unit. The hospital also implements practices that decrease the risk of infection related to white coats and laboratory jackets, as these items can harbor and transport microorganisms between patients. Staff will be educated on when to change into scrub attire and when they must cover or change scrub sets. Staff who are not provided hospital-issued scrub attire receive education on home laundering practices to minimize the risk of carrying an infection between the hospital and the community.

Measurable Elements of PCI.7.1

- Laundering methods comply with local and national laws and regulations and follow guidelines from recognized infection control agencies.
- 2. Standard precautions are used when handling laundry, linens, and hospital-issued scrub attire, and appropriate transmission-based precautions are used as indicated.
- 3. Laundry, linens, and hospital-issued scrub attire are transported, processed, and stored in a manner that prevents cross contamination of soiled and clean items.
- 4. Staff wear hospital-issued scrub attire where required.

Infectious Human Tissues and Waste

Standard PCI.8

The hospital reduces the risk of infections through proper disposal of waste, proper management of human tissues, and safe handling and disposal of sharps and needles.

①

Intent of PCI.8

Hospitals produce considerable waste each day. Frequently that waste is or could be infectious. Thus, the proper disposal of waste contributes to the reduction of infection risk in the hospital. This is true for the disposal of body fluids and materials contaminated with body fluids, the disposal of blood and blood components, and the disposal or destruction of pathological waste. Human tissues, organs, and body parts require careful and respectful management to reduce the risk of infections during handling, transporting, and processing.

One of the dangers of needlestick injuries is the possible transmission of bloodborne diseases. Improper handling and disposal of sharps and needles present a major staff safety hazard. Work practices influence the risk of injury and potential exposure to disease. Identifying and implementing evidence-based practices to reduce the risk of injury from sharps ensures that exposure to such injuries is minimal. Hospitals need to provide staff with education related to safe handling and management of sharps and needles. (*Also see* SQE.8.2)

Proper disposal of needles and sharps also reduces the risk of injury and exposure. Proper disposal includes the use of containers that are closable, puncture-proof, and leakproof on the sides and the bottom. Containers should be easily accessible to staff and should not be overfilled. In addition, containers must be labeled in a manner that warns of the potential hazard for injury and must be stored in a manner that prevents the sharps from spilling out of the container. (*Also see* ACC.6)

Improper disposal of discarded needles, scalpels, and other sharps can pose a health risk to the general public and to those who work in waste management. Disposing of sharps containers in the ocean or in general waste, **for example**, can pose risks to the public if the containers break open. Hospitals must dispose of sharps and needles safely or contract with organizations that ensure the proper disposal of medical waste containers and that do so in accordance with laws and regulations. (*Also see* FMS.7 through FMS.7.2)

The hospital implements a policy that adequately addresses all steps in the process, including identifying the proper type and use of containers, the disposal of the containers, and the surveillance of the process of disposal.

There are special considerations related to the respectful and safe handling of the deceased and of human body parts. Mortuaries are constructed in a way that ensures the security of the bodies and body parts and the safety of the staff handling them. Hospital leaders consult local and national laws and regulations and consider local cultures and customs when designing the hospital mortuary. Additional considerations include how the chain of custody is ensured for bodies, body parts, and any specimens removed for testing; how staff are notified of a

known or suspected infection; and how the bodies are preserved to prevent potential cross contamination. For **example**, a proper chain of custody provides that the hospital has a means of safeguarding the body or body parts until they are no longer under the jurisdiction of the hospital and documentation thereof. The mortuary is also maintained at a temperature and humidity that ensures proper storage. Staff have access to personal protective equipment, hand-cleaning stations, and necessary cleaning agents throughout the mortuary and are trained on respectful, safe handling procedures.

Measurable Elements of PCI.8

- 1. The handling and disposal of infectious waste, blood and blood components, body fluids, and body tissues is managed to minimize infection transmission risk.
- 2. The hospital identifies and implements practices to reduce the risk of injury and infection from the handling and management of sharps and needles.
- 3. Sharps and needles are collected in dedicated, closable, puncture-proof, leakproof containers that are not reused.
 - 4. The hospital disposes of sharps and needles safely or contracts with sources that ensure the proper disposal of sharps containers in dedicated hazardous waste sites or as determined by national laws and regulations.
- The mortuary and postmortem area operates in a manner that adheres to laws, regulations, and local cultures/customs and is managed in a manner that minimizes the risk of transmitting infections.
- 6. Staff are trained on preventing cross contamination, maintaining chain of custody when needed, and respectful, safe handling procedures.

Standard PCI.8.1

The hospital has a process to protect patients and staff from bloodborne pathogens related to exposure to blood and body fluids.

②

Intent of PCI.8.1

Exposures to blood and body fluid occur when a health care practitioner, staff member, patient, or visitor comes into contact with another person's blood or body fluid through nonintact skin, mucus membranes, eyes, nose, or mouth. Various pathogens, including hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and HIV, can be transmitted through blood or body fluid exposure. (*Also see* SQE.8.3) Body fluids include cerebrospinal, synovial, pleural, peritoneal, pericardial, and amniotic fluid. Other body fluids that do not carry a risk of bloodborne pathogen transmission unless visibly contaminated with blood include breast milk, sputum, nasal secretions, saliva, sweat, tears, urine, feces, and emesis; exposures to these fluids generally do not need to be reported or tracked unless visibly contaminated with blood or if required by local or national laws and regulations or hospital policy. Proper use of personal protective equipment appropriate to the task can significantly decrease the likelihood of an exposure.

The hospital establishes a process for handling staff, patient, and visitor blood and body fluid exposures. (*Also see* PCI.4 and SQE.8.2) The process includes to whom the incident should be reported. This process may vary depending on the time of day or day of week; however, staff must be able to report exposure incidents at any time. The process includes reporting the incident to the direct supervisor and to employee health or the emergency department. This ensures timely documentation of and response to the incident. The process also identifies the action requirements following blood or body fluid exposure. These actions follow local and national laws, as well as recommendations and guidelines from infection control organizations, and include how to clean and/or disinfect the exposed area, what testing for bloodborne illnesses must occur, and whether

to initiate postexposure prophylaxis therapy. (*Also see* PCC.2) This process also includes steps for notifying any patient involved in the exposure.

Data from exposure incidents are tracked and monitored, and exposure incident reports are reviewed. Information from incident reports is used to evaluate processes that contributed to or caused the blood or body fluid exposure incident, and changes are made to decrease the likelihood of a repeat occurrence. Staff are educated on these changes. (*Also see* QPS.8)

Measurable Elements of PCI.8.1

- The hospital identifies processes that could result in patient or staff exposure to blood and body fluids and implements practices to reduce the risk of exposure.
 The hospital utilizes a process for reporting patient and staff exposures to blood and body fluids.
 The hospital utilizes a process for acting upon patient and staff exposures to blood and body fluids.
- 3. The hospital utilizes a process for acting upon patient and stall exposures to blood and body
- 4. Staff are educated on the process for reporting an exposure incident.
- ☐ 5. The hospital tracks and monitors incidents of patient and staff exposures to blood and body fluids.
- Reports of exposure incidents are reviewed, and actions are taken to minimize the risk of future exposures to blood and body fluids.

Food Services

Standard PCI.9

The hospital reduces the risk of infections associated with the operations of food services.

Intent of PCI.9

Improperly stored and prepared food can cause illnesses, such as food poisoning or food infections. Food illnesses can be particularly dangerous and even life-threatening to hospitalized patients whose conditions are already compromised due to illness, disease, or injury. The hospital must provide for the safe and accurate provision of food and nutrition products by ensuring that the food is stored, prepared, and transported at temperatures that prevent the risk of bacterial growth.

Hospital leaders must understand the food supply chain from start to finish in order to ensure safe operations of food services. This includes careful selection of food sources and suppliers. There must be a process to ensure integrity of the food supply chain; this includes temperature stability during transport to the hospital, mechanisms to prevent tampering with food, and proper storage containers during transport.

Hospitals monitor the temperature of prepared food during transport of prepared foods from the kitchen to patient care areas. This can be done in many ways; **for example**, kitchen staff may conduct random audits and check the temperature of several meals when they leave the kitchen and before they are served to the patient. There is also a process to ensure that food served is not left out for an amount of time that would make it unsuitable for consumption. Safe food storage may include following such principles as first in, first out (FIFO), which helps ensure that food is used before its expiration date. An effective food rotation system is essential for storing food to prevent food-borne illness.

Cross contamination, particularly from raw foods to cooked foods, is another source of foodborne illness; hospital leaders implement practices to minimize this risk and ensure that any suppliers and vendors do so as well. In addition to mixing raw and prepared foods, cross contamination can result from contaminated hands, countertops, cutting boards, or cloths used to wipe countertops or dry dishes. In addition, the surfaces on which the food is prepared; the utensils, appliances, pots, and pans used for preparing food; and the trays,

dishes, and utensils used for serving food can also be a risk for infection if not properly cleaned and sanitized. The hospital conducts a risk assessment when food is stored or prepared outside of central kitchen areas, including patient refrigerators, and implements protocols to mitigate risk related to this practice.

Some nutritional products, such as human milk, baby formula, and other enteral nutrition products, have special storage and preparation requirements. Staff refer to professional guidelines to identify safe handling criteria for these products, including storage temperature, length of storage, preparation technique, proper labeling, and administration guidelines.

Measurable Elements of PCI.9

- 1. The hospital stores food and nutrition products in a manner that reduces the risk of infection, including those stored outside of the kitchen and food preparation areas.
- 2. The hospital adopts and implements kitchen sanitation measures and guidelines for preparation areas to prevent the risk of cross contamination and infection.
- ☐ 3. The hospital prepares food and nutrition products using proper sanitation and temperature.
- 4. The hospital utilizes a process to ensure that proper food temperature is maintained during the preparation, transportation, and distribution process.
- 5. Professional guidelines are adopted for nutritional products that have special storage and preparation requirements, such as human milk, baby formula, and other enteral products.

Engineering Controls

Standard PCI.10

The hospital reduces the risk of infection in the facility through the use of mechanical and engineering controls.

Intent of PCI.10

Engineering controls, such as positive and negative pressure ventilation systems, biological hoods in laboratories, and thermostats on refrigeration units and on water heaters used to sterilize dishes and kitchen equipment, are **examples** of how environmental standards and controls contribute to good sanitation and the reduction of infection risks in the hospital.

Positive pressure ventilation systems are used in protective areas of the hospital that require the highest level of cleanliness; **for example**, operating theatres, sterile storage areas, and rooms for immunocompromised patients. Positive pressure ventilation ensures that air is directed out of the area, minimizing the likelihood that microorganisms are introduced into the environment. Positive pressure ventilation systems in operating theatres must be active when occupied but do not need to be active during cleaning or maintenance. Positive pressure ventilation must remain active at all times in sterile supply storage areas to prevent contamination of sterile supplies. Hospitals identify and follow local and national laws and regulations and professional standards regarding the use and maintenance of positive pressure ventilation systems.

Proper water and steam temperatures are required to prevent the growth of microorganisms and to successfully carry out cleaning, disinfection, and sterilization procedures. Cold water and hot water must be stored and distributed at temperatures that minimize growth of waterborne microorganisms. Hospital leaders consult local and national laws and regulations, as well as professional guidelines, to determine appropriate water and steam temperatures to minimize the likelihood of infection transmission through water. In addition, hospital leaders ensure that water and steam reach the necessary temperatures for the proper duration to effectively carry out

any cleaning, disinfection, or sterilization process; **for example**, proper water temperature for dishwashing and steam temperatures for autoclaving.

The hospital operates and maintains airflow, ventilation systems, and humidity controls to maintain indoor air quality. This includes maintaining heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning (HVAC) systems in a manner that minimizes infection risks to patients, staff, and visitors. Airborne contaminants can be spread through exhaust, general ventilation, and during cleaning. Maintenance of airflow and ventilation systems can minimize this risk. Operation and maintenance are completed in accordance with local and national laws and regulations and professional guidelines and include proper maintenance of inlets, outlets, fans, filters, diffusers, ductwork, humidifiers, and so on. (*Also see* FMS.10; FMS.10.1; and FMS.10.2)

Measurable Elements of PCI.10

1.	The hospital operates and maintains negative and positive pressure ventilation systems in accordance
	with local and national laws and regulations and professional standards.

- 2. The hospital operates and maintains temperature controls for water, steam, and others in accordance with local and national laws and regulations and professional standards.
- ☐ 3. The hospital operates and maintains airflow, ventilation systems, and humidity controls in a manner that minimizes infection risk in the hospital in accordance with local and national laws and regulations and professional guidelines.

Construction and Renovation Risks

Standard PCI.11

The hospital reduces the risk of infection in the facility associated with demolition, construction, and renovation.

Intent of PCI.11

Demolition, construction, renovation, and routine maintenance projects anywhere within the hospital can be a major infection control risk. Exposure to construction dust and debris, noise, vibration, and other hazards can be potentially dangerous to lung function and to the safety of staff and visitors. The hospital uses risk criteria that address the impact of the renovation or new construction on air-quality requirements, infection prevention and control, utility requirements, noise, vibration, and emergency procedures. The hospital also determines how construction or renovation projects in one area of the hospital may affect other areas; **for example**, if renovations are being completed in the water pump room, construction may inadvertently affect the water pressure in the dialysis unit, leading to stagnant water in pipes. (*Also see* FMS.12)

Measurable Elements of PCI.11

1.	The hospital has a program that uses risk criteria to assess the impact of renovation or new construc-
	tion and implements the program when demolition, construction, or renovation take place.

- 2. The hospital assesses the risks and impact of demolition, renovation, or construction activities on air quality and infection prevention and control activities throughout the hospital.
- 3. The risks and impact of the demolition, renovation, or construction are managed to protect patients, staff, and visitors from infection.

Transmission of Infections

Standard PCI.12

The hospital provides barrier precautions and isolation procedures that protect patients, visitors, and staff from communicable diseases and protects immunosuppressed patients from acquiring infections to which they are uniquely prone.

①

Standard PCI.12.1

The hospital develops and implements a process to manage a sudden influx of patients with airborne infections and when negative-pressure rooms are not available.

①

Intent of PCI.12 and PCI.12.1

The hospital develops policies and procedures that establish the isolation and barrier procedures for the hospital. These policies and procedures are based on the method of disease transmission and address individual patients who may be infectious as well as the physical environment. (*Also see* ACC.6 and COP.3)

In addition to the use of standard precautions, transmission-based precautions must be used to prevent infection transmission. (*Also see* ACC.1) Transmission-based precautions are initiated upon suspicion or diagnosis of infections and include the following:

- Contact precautions for patients with known or suspected infections transmitted via contact
- Airborne precautions for patients with known or suspected infections transmitted via the airborne route
- Droplet precautions for patients with known or suspected infections transmitted via respiratory droplets expelled during talking, coughing, or sneezing
- Reverse/protective isolation to protect immunocompromised patients from infections that other patients or staff may be carrying

Airborne infection isolation room precautions are necessary to prevent the transmission of infectious agents that can remain suspended in the air for long periods of time. The preferred placement for a patient with an airborne infection is in a negative-pressure room. When the structure of the building prevents the immediate construction of a negative-pressure room, the hospital may construct temporary negative-pressure isolation when airborne infection isolation is needed and there are no available or insufficient airborne infection isolation rooms. This may occur when there is an outbreak of an airborne infectious disease with large numbers of communicable patients. The two most effective systems for creating temporary negative-pressure isolation involve using a high-efficiency particulate air (HEPA) filtration system that either discharges air to the outside or discharges air to the return air system. For example, placing a HEPA filter on the exhaust end of an existing mechanical exhaust system can create a room with temporary negative-pressure isolation by filtering the air being removed from the room via the exhaust system. When discharging air outside, a HEPA filter is used to exhaust room air outside through a window; the HEPA filter cleans contaminated air and induces negative pressure into the room. Because the discharged air is cleaned, no additional precautions are required for the discharged air. If HEPA-filtered air is discharged through the return air system, caution is required, as large volumes of returned air may overpressurize the air return system and may alter the negative/positive pressure balance. The use of temporary negative-pressure isolation follows acceptable guidelines and must adhere to all building and fire codes, and discharge outflow is positioned in a location and height that prevents it from creating exposure risks for staff, patients, and visitors. In situations in which resources are insufficient to utilize HEPA filtration systems for mechanical methods of creating negative pressure ventilation, the World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for airborne infection prevention state that using cross-ventilation and other methods of natural ventilation are better at preventing the spread of airborne infection than providing no ventilation. Please note, this recommendation applies to temporary instances in which hospital resources are

inadequate to use mechanical methods for managing an influx of patients with airborne infectious disease, not for permanent use.

The hospital has a program that addresses how to manage patients with airborne infections for short periods of time when negative-pressure rooms are not available as well as when there is a large influx of patients with contagious infections. In these cases, hospitals may adjust the air flow for entire wards or units to create a negative-pressure ward or unit during an emergency influx. (*Also see* PCI.12.2)

Measurable Elements of PCI.12

- 1. The hospital utilizes a process to isolate patients with infectious diseases, and staff use transmission-based precautions, in accordance with recommended guidelines.
- 2. The hospital protects patients with immunosuppression or other increased risks for contracting a communicable disease through isolation and the use of reverse/protective isolation in accordance with recommended guidelines.
- ☐ 3. The hospital routinely monitors and makes available negative-pressure rooms for infectious patients who require isolation for airborne infections.
- 4. When negative-pressure rooms are not immediately available, temporary negative-pressure rooms that follow acceptable guidelines as described in the intent and adhere to building and fire codes may be created.

Measurable Elements of PCI.12.1

- 1. The hospital develops and implements a process to address managing patients with airborne infections for short periods of time when negative-pressure rooms are not available.
- 2. The hospital develops and implements a process for managing an influx of patients with contagious diseases.
- 3. Staff are educated in the management of infectious patients when there is a sudden influx or when negative-pressure rooms are not available.

Standard PCI.12.2

Intent of PCI.12.2

The globalization of society has increased the likelihood of the rapid spread of communicable diseases from one country to another. Infectious diseases that were previously endemic to a particular area are now found all over the world. WHO has identified the importance of detecting communicable disease outbreaks early and stopping the mortality, spread, and potential impact. An important element in detecting and limiting the spread of infection is communications—with local and regional governmental agencies or university centers of excellence participating in worldwide surveillance activities that identify and track globally emerging infections. **Examples** of organizations participating in surveillance activities include the UK Public Health Laboratory Service, the French Pasteur Institutes, the Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET) and the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). In addition, organizations need to connect with the epidemiology department of their local public health agencies when available.

It is particularly important to educate staff on early recognition, including those nonclinical staff who have first contact with patients, such as registration clerks. Simply knowing that a communicable disease may

be spreading is not enough. If staff are not trained to recognize the signs and symptoms and to act early, the extent of exposure and the risks of spreading the infection significantly increase. Early recognition is particularly important at a patient's first point of entry into the hospital, such as the emergency department or the outpatient clinics.

To respond effectively to the presentation of global communicable diseases, the hospital develops a program to manage these potential emergencies. The program provides processes for

- a) communication with organizations participating in worldwide surveillance activities;
- b) development and implementation of segregation and isolation strategies; (*Also see* ACC.1; PCI.12; and PCI.12.1)
- c) training, including demonstration, on the use of personal protective equipment appropriate to infectious disease;
- d) development and implementation of communication strategies;
- e) identification and assignment of staff roles and responsibilities; and
- f) response to emerging or reemerging infections within the community.

The program is evaluated at least annually to ensure proper response when an actual event occurs. Evaluation involves local, regional, and/or national authorities, when applicable; **for example**, a community-wide response drill or participation in a tabletop drill led by national public health authorities. If the hospital experiences an actual event, activates its program, and debriefs properly afterward, this represents the equivalent to an annual evaluation. Debriefing following an annual evaluation or actual event can identify vulnerable processes that may need to be reevaluated. (*Also see* FMS.11)

Measurable Elements of PCI.12.2

- 1. Hospital leaders, along with the individual(s) responsible for the infection prevention and control program, develop and implement an emergency preparedness program to respond to global communicable diseases that includes at least a) through f) in the intent.
- 2. The hospital identifies the first points of patient entry into the hospital system and targets education on early recognition and prompt action.
- ☐ 3. The hospital evaluates the entire program at least annually and, when applicable, involves local, regional, and/or national authorities.
- 4. At the conclusion of every drill or tabletop exercise, debriefing of the evaluation is conducted.
- 5. Follow-up actions identified from the evaluation process and debriefing are developed and implemented.

Standard PCI.13

Intent of PCI.13

Hand hygiene (such as the use of sanitizers), barrier techniques (such as the use of personal protective equipment), and disinfecting agents are fundamental tools for proper infection prevention and control and thus need to be available at any site of care at which they could be needed, including laboratories, other areas where specimens are handled, and laundry facilities. (*Also see* IPSG.5; AOP.5.7; PCI.7; PCI.7.1; PCI.8.1; and PCI.9) The hospital identifies those situations in which personal protective equipment such as masks, eye protection, gowns, or gloves are required and provides training in their correct use. **For example**, wearing gloves and a face shield when suctioning a patient, or using gloves, gown, face shield, and appropriate face mask for patients in isolation due to a communicable disease. Liquid soap, disinfectants, and towels or other

means of drying are located in those areas where hand-washing and hand-disinfecting procedures are required. It is important to follow guidelines for ensuring that liquid soap dispensers are thoroughly and properly cleaned before refilling. Staff are educated in proper hand-washing, hand-disinfection, and surface-disinfection procedures as well as proper use of personal protective equipment. Patients and visitors are also educated on proper hand-disinfecting procedures and when they are required to use personal protective equipment; **for example**, when visiting a family member in contact isolation or when a patient on airborne precautions is being transported through the organization. (*Also see* PCI.12)

Measurable Elements of PCI.13

- 1. The hospital identifies situations in which personal protective equipment is required and ensures that it is available at any site of care at which it could be needed.
- 2. Staff are trained and correctly use personal protective equipment in each identified situation.
- ☐ 3. The hospital implements surface disinfecting procedures for areas and situations in the hospital identified as at risk for infection transmission.
- 4. Liquid soap, disinfectants, and towels or other means of drying are located in areas where hand-washing and hand-disinfecting procedures are required.
- 5. Patients and visitors are educated on when they are required to disinfect their hands and how to correctly use personal protective equipment.

Quality Improvement and Program Education

Standard PCI.14

The infection prevention and control process is integrated with the hospital's overall program for quality improvement and patient safety, using measures that are epidemiologically important to the hospital.

Intent of PCI.14

The hospital uses measurement information to improve infection prevention and control activities and to reduce health care—associated infection rates to the lowest possible levels. A hospital can best use measurement data and information by understanding similar rates and trends in other similar hospitals and contributing data to infection-related databases. All departments/services are required to participate in relevant hospitalwide priorities for measurement and also select measures for department/service-specific priorities for the infection prevention and control program. (*Also see* GLD.4 and GLD.11) Monitoring data include benchmarking infection rates internally and with external organizations and/or databases.

Measurable Elements of PCI.14

1.	The hospital integrates infection prevention and control activities into the quality improvement and
	patient safety program.

- ☐ 2. The hospital collects and analyzes data for the infection prevention and control activities, and the data include epidemiologically important infections.
- ☐ 3. The hospital uses monitoring data to evaluate and support improvements to the infection prevention and control program at least annually.
- 4. Monitoring data include benchmarking infection rates.
- ☐ 5. The infection prevention and control program documents monitoring data and provides reports of data analysis to leadership on a quarterly basis.

Standard PCI.15

The hospital provides education on infection prevention and control practices to staff, physicians, patients, families, and other caregivers when indicated by their involvement in care.

Output

Description:

Intent of PCI.15

For a hospital to have an effective infection prevention and control program, it must educate staff members about the program when they begin work in the hospital. (*Also see* SQE.7) In addition, staff receive ongoing education and training related to emerging trends in infection prevention and control. (*Also see* SQE.8) The education program includes professional staff, clinical and nonclinical support staff, patients and families, and even tradespeople and other visitors. Patients and families are encouraged to participate in the implementation and use of infection prevention and control practices in the hospital.

The education is provided as part of the orientation of all new staff and is refreshed periodically, or at least when there is a change in the policies, procedures, and practices that guide the hospital's infection prevention and control program.

Measurable Elements of PCI.15

- 1. The hospital provides education about infection prevention and control to all staff and other professionals when they begin work in the hospital.
- 2. The hospital provides ongoing education and training to all staff related to the hospital's infection prevention and control program and emerging trends in infection prevention and control at least annually.
- The hospital provides education about infection prevention and control to patients and families.
- 4. The hospital communicates findings and trends from quality improvement activities to all staff and included as part of staff education.

References

Infection Prevention and Control Program Responsibilities, Resources, Goals

Bartles R, Disckson A, Babade O. A systematic approach to quantifying infection prevention staffing and coverage needs. *Am J Infect Control.* 2018 May;46(5):487-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.11.006.

Bryant KA, et al. Necessary infrastructure of infection prevention and healthcare epidemiology programs: A review. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* 2016 Apr;37(4):371–380. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2015.333.

International Society for Infectious Diseases. *Guide to Infection Control in the Healthcare Setting: Infection Prevention in the Healthcare Setting.* Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.isid.org/guide/infectionprevention/.

Swaminathan S, et al. Strengthening infection prevention and control and systematic surveillance of healthcare associated infections in India. *BMJ*. 2017 Sep 5;258:j3768.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Infection Control: Guidelines & Guidance Library. (Updated: Oct 2, 2019.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/guidelines/index.html.

van Buijtene A, Foster D. Does a hospital culture influence adherence to infection prevention and control and rates of healthcare associated infection? A literature review. *J Infect Prev.* 2019 Jan;20(1):5–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757177418805833.

Verbeek JH, et al. Personal protective equipment for preventing highly infectious diseases due to exposure to contaminated body fluids in healthcare staff. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016 Apr 19;4:CD011621.

Zingg W, et al. Hospital organization, management, and structure for prevention of health-care-associated infection: A systematic review and expert consensus. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2015 Feb;15(2):212–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70854-0.

Medical Equipment, Devices, and Supplies

Humphries RM, McDonnell G. Superbugs on duodenoscopes: The challenge of cleaning and disinfecting reusable devices. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2015 Oct;53(10):3118–3125.

International Society for Infectious Diseases. *Guide to Infection Control in the Healthcare Setting: Reuse of Disposable Devices.* Ponce de León S. (Updated: Feb 2018.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.isid.org/guide/infectionprevention/disposabledevices/.

Rutala WA, Weber DJ. Disinfection, sterilization, and antisepsis: An overview. *Am J Infect Control*. 2019 Jun;47S:A3–A9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2019.01.018.

Environmental Cleanliness

Mitchell BG, et al. An environmental cleaning bundle and health-care-associated infections in hospitals (REACH): A multicenter, randomised trial. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2019 Apr;19(4):410–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30714-X.

NHS Education for Scotland. Safe Management of Linen. 2015. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.nes.scot.nhs.uk/education-and-training/by-theme-initiative/healthcare-associated-infections/training-resources/safe-management-of-linen.aspx.

Infectious Human Tissues and Waste

World Health Organization. *Safe Management of Wastes from Health-Care Activities: A Summary.* Stone V, editor. 2017. Accessed Jan 3, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259491/WHO-FWC-WSH-17.05-eng.pdf:j-sessionid=5C5B75D79DB233B0E2B679897CCBE5D6?sequence=1.

Food Services

Clayton ML, et al. Listening to food workers: Factors that impact proper health and hygiene practice in food service. *Int J Occup Environ Health*. 2015;21(4):314–327. https://doi.org/10.1179/2049396715Y.0000000011.

Engineering and Construction

The Joint Commission. *Planning, Design, and Construction of Health Care Facilities: Addressing Joint Commission and JCI Standards and Other Considerations—from Planning to Commissioning,* 3rd ed. rev. Oakbrook, IL: Joint Commission Resources, 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020 [sample]. https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/assets/1/14/EBP-DC15SamplePages2017.pdf.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Essential Elements of a Reprocessing Program for Flexible Endoscopes—Recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. (Updated: Jan 25, 2017.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/pdf/flexible-endoscope-reprocessing.pdf.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Guideline for Disinfection and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities*, 2008. Rutala WA, Weber DJ, Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). (Updated: May 2019.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/pdf/guidelines/disinfection-guidelines-H.pdf.

Shams AM, et al. Assessment of the overall multidrug-resistant organism bioburden on environmental surfaces in healthcare facilities. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*. 2016 Dec;37(12):1426–1432. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2016.198.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Guidelines for Environmental Infection Control in Health-Care Facilities: Recommendations of CDC and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC).* 2003. (Updated: Jul 2019.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/infection-control/pdf/guidelines/environmental-guidelines-P.pdf.

International Society for Infectious Diseases. *Guide to Infection Control in the Healthcare Setting: Food: Considerations for Hospital Infection Control.* Assanasen S, Bearman GML. (Updated: Jan 2018.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.isid.org/guide/infectionprevention/food/.

Transmission of Infections

International Society for Infectious Diseases. *Guide to Infection Control in the Healthcare Setting: Isolation of Communicable Diseases.* Nulens E. (Updated: Feb 2018.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.isid.org/guide/infection-prevention/isolation/.

World Health Organization. *WHO Guidelines on Tuberculosis Infection Prevention and Control: 2019 Update.* 2019. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311259/9789241550512-eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1.

Governance, Leadership, and Direction (GLD)

Overview

Providing excellent patient care requires effective leadership. Effective leadership begins with understanding the various responsibilities and authority of individuals in the organization and how these individuals work together. Those who govern, manage, and lead an organization have both authority and responsibility. Collectively and individually, they are responsible for complying with laws and regulations and for meeting the organization's responsibility to the patient population served.

Over time, effective leadership helps overcome perceived barriers and communication problems between departments and services in the organization, and the organization becomes more efficient and effective. Services become increasingly integrated. In particular, the integration of all quality management and improvement activities throughout the organization results in improved patient outcomes.

Note: In all GLD standards, the term *leaders* is used to indicate that one or more individuals are accountable for the expectation(s) found in the standard. *Leadership* is used to indicate that a group of leaders is collectively accountable for the expectation(s) found in the standard.

Standards in this chapter are grouped using the following leadership hierarchy (and illustrated in the figure below):

Level I: GLD.1 – GLD.1.2 Governance						
Level II: GLD.2 Chief Executive						
Level III: GLD.3 – GLD.7.1 Hospital Leadership						
Medicine			ministration	Others		
Lev	rel IV: GL	.D.8	– GLD.11.2			
Dep	artment/	Sen	rice Leaders	S		
Clinical	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			Ancillary		
Departments	ents Services		_	Services		
Manage	Managers of Clinical and Nonclinical					
		rvic				
GLD.12 – GLD.19						
Culture of Safety						
Ethics						
Health Care Professional Education						
Clinical Research						

Level I: Governance

Governance refers to the governing entity of the hospital and can exist in many configurations. **For example**, the governing entity may be a group of individuals (such as a community board), one or more individual owners, or in the case of public hospitals, the Ministry of Health. Any individual(s) or group responsible for the requirements found in GLD.1.1 is considered the governing entity of the hospital. Other standards that include the requirements and expectations of the governing entity are GLD.1 and GLD.1.2.

Level II: Chief Executive

The most senior hospital executive, commonly termed the *chief executive*, is a position occupied by one or more individuals selected by the governing entity to manage the organization on a day-to-day basis. This position is most commonly occupied by a physician, an administrator, or both working together. In academic medical centers, the dean of the medical school may be at this executive level in the hospital. GLD.2 describes the accountabilities and expectations of the Chief Executive.

Level III: Hospital Leadership

The standards assign to hospital leadership a variety of responsibilities intended to collaboratively guide the hospital in meeting its mission. Most frequently, hospital leadership consists of a chief medical officer representing the medical staff of the hospital, a chief nursing officer representing all levels of nursing in the hospital, senior administrators, and any other individuals the hospital selects, such as a chief quality officer or vice president of human resources. In larger hospitals with different organizational structures, such as divisions, hospital leadership may include the leaders of these divisions. Each hospital identifies hospital leadership, and standards GLD.3 through GLD.7.1 describe the accountabilities of this group.

Note: GLD.8 describes the responsibilities of leaders of clinical services; however, they may be formally or informally organized. In academic medical centers, the leader of medical education and leader of clinical research may be a part of hospital leadership.

Level IV: Department/Service Leaders

For effective and efficient daily delivery of clinical services and management of the organization, hospitals are most frequently divided into cohesive subgroups such as departments, services, or units, each under the direction of a department/service leader(s). Standards GLD.8 through GLD.11.2 describe the expectations of these department/service leaders. Typically, the subgroups consist of clinical departments such as medicine, surgery, obstetrics, pediatrics, and others; one or more nursing subgroups; diagnostic services or departments such as radiology and clinical laboratory; pharmacy services, both centralized and distributed throughout the hospital; and ancillary services such as transportation, social work, finance, purchasing, facility management, and human resources, among others. Most larger hospitals also have managers within these subgroups.

For example, nursing may have a manager of the operating theatres and one for outpatient services, the department of medicine may have managers of each patient clinical unit, and the hospital business office may have managers for the different business functions such as bed control, billing, and purchasing, among others.

Finally, there are requirements in the GLD chapter that touch on all of the levels described above. These requirements are found in GLD.12 through GLD.19 and include the culture of safety, ethics, and health professional education and research when present.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Governance of the Hospital

- **GLD.1** The structure and authority of the hospital's governing entity are described in bylaws, policies and procedures, or similar documents.

 ①
 - **GLD.1.1** The operational responsibilities and accountabilities of the governing entity are described in a written document(s). (P)
 - **GLD.1.2** The governing entity approves the hospital's program for quality and patient safety and regularly receives and acts on reports of the quality and patient safety program. **②**

Chief Executive(s) Accountabilities

Hospital Leadership Accountabilities

- **GLD.3** Hospital leadership is identified and is collectively responsible for defining the hospital's mission and creating the programs and policies needed to fulfill the mission.
 - **GLD.3.1** Hospital leadership identifies and plans for the type of clinical services required to meet the needs of the patients served by the hospital. **(P)**
 - **GLD.3.2** Hospital leadership ensures effective communication throughout the hospital. **P**
 - **GLD.3.3** Hospital leadership ensures that there are uniform programs for the recruitment, retention, development, and continuing education of all staff.

Hospital Leadership for Quality and Patient Safety

- **GLD.4** Hospital leadership plans, develops, and implements a quality improvement and patient safety program.
 - **GLD.4.1** Hospital leadership communicates quality improvement and patient safety information to the governing entity and hospital staff on a regular basis.
- **GLD.5** The chief executive and hospital leadership prioritize which hospitalwide processes will be measured, which hospitalwide improvement and patient safety activities will be implemented, and how success of these hospitalwide efforts will be measured.

Hospital Leadership for Contracts

- **GLD.6** Hospital leadership is accountable for the review, selection, and monitoring of clinical and nonclinical contracts and inspects compliance with contracted services as needed.

 Output

 Description:
 - **GLD.6.1** Hospital leadership ensures that contracts and other arrangements are included as part of the hospital's quality improvement and patient safety program.

GLD.6.2 Hospital leadership ensures that licensed health care professionals and independent health care practitioners not employed by the hospital have the right credentials and are competent and/or privileged for the services provided to the hospital's patients. **P**

Hospital Leadership for Resource Decisions

- **GLD.7** Hospital leadership makes decisions related to the purchase or use of resources—human and technical—with an understanding of the quality and safety implications of those decisions.
 - **GLD.7.1** Hospital leadership seeks and uses data and information on the safety of the supply chain to protect patients and staff from unstable, contaminated, defective, and counterfeit supplies.

Clinical Staff Organization and Accountabilities

Direction of Hospital Departments and Services

- **GLD.9** One or more qualified individuals provide direction for each department or service in the hospital. P
- **GLD.11** Department/service leaders improve quality and patient safety by participating in hospitalwide improvement priorities and in monitoring and improving patient care specific to the department/ service.
 - **GLD.11.1** Measures selected by the department/service leaders that are applicable to evaluating the performance of physicians, nurses, and other professional staff participating in the clinical care processes are used in the staff's performance evaluation.

Organizational and Clinical Ethics

- **GLD.12** Hospital leadership establishes a framework for ethical management that promotes a culture of ethical practices and decision making to ensure that patient care is provided within business, financial, ethical, and legal norms and protects patients and their rights.

 ②
 - **GLD.12.1** The hospital's framework for ethical management addresses operational and business issues, including marketing, admissions, transfer, discharge, and disclosure of ownership and any business and professional conflicts that may not be in patients' best interests.

 P
- **GLD.13** Hospital leadership creates and supports a culture of safety program throughout the hospital. P
 - **GLD.13.1** Hospital leadership implements, monitors, and takes action to improve the program for a culture of safety throughout the hospital.

Health Professional Education

GLD.14 Health professional education, when provided within the hospital, is guided by the educational parameters defined by the sponsoring academic program and the hospital's leadership.

Human Subjects Research

- **GLD.15** Human subjects research, when provided within the hospital, is guided by laws, regulations, and hospital leadership.

 ①
- **GLD.17** Patients and families are informed about how patients who choose to participate in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials are protected.
- **GLD.19** The hospital has a committee or another way to oversee all research in the hospital involving human subjects.

 ①

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Note: In all GLD standards, leaders are individuals and leadership is the collective group. Accountabilities are described at the individual or collective level. (*Also see* the "Quality Improvement and Patient Safety" [QPS] chapter for other related requirements.)

Governance of the Hospital

Standard GLD.1

The structure and authority of the hospital's governing entity are described in bylaws, policies and procedures, or similar documents.

②

Intent of GLD.1

There is a governing entity—**for example**, a group of individuals (such as a board of directors or a community board), one or more individual owners, or in the case of many public hospitals, the Ministry of Health—that is responsible for overseeing the hospital's operations and accountable for the health care services the hospital provides. This governing entity is responsible for the requirements found in GLD.1.1. The structure and authority of this entity are described in bylaws, policies and procedures, or similar documents that identify how they are to be carried out.

There is an annual evaluation of the governing entity. The annual evaluation can be simple; **for example**, three or four questions related to whether or not the governing entity is fulfilling its responsibilities, such as those described in GLD.1.1—approving the mission, the strategic and operational plans, the budget, and so on. An online survey can be developed, or the questions can be sent through e-mail or by postal mail to the members of the governing entity.

When the hospital is one of many organizations reporting to a governing entity, such as in the case of some Ministries of Health (MOH) serving as the governing entity, obtaining results from the annual evaluation may be a challenge. In these circumstances, the hospital makes a credible effort to obtain the necessary input and actions from the governing entity. A credible effort is characterized by multiple attempts by various methods (**for example**, phone, e-mail, and/or letter) with documentation of the attempts and outcome(s) of the communications. (*Also see* GLD.1.2)

The hospital's governing entity is represented or displayed in an organizational chart or other document that shows lines of authority and accountability.

Measurable Elements of GLD.1

- 1. The structure and authority of the hospital's governing entity is described in a written document, bylaws, and/or policies and procedures with those responsible for governance of the hospital identified.
- 2. The document(s) describes when and how the authority of the governing entity and the chief executive can be delegated.
- 3. The governing entity is evaluated annually, and the results are documented.

Standard GLD.1.1

The operational responsibilities and accountabilities of the governing entity are described in a written document(s).

①

Intent of GLD.1.1

The governing entity's responsibilities and accountabilities are described in a written document(s) that identifies how they are to be carried out. In order for the hospital to have clear leadership, operate efficiently, and provide high-quality health care services, the governing entity must fulfill their responsibilities. These responsibilities are primarily at the approval level and include

- approving and periodically reviewing the hospital's mission and ensuring that the public is aware of the hospital's mission;
- approving the hospital's various strategic and operational plans and the policies and procedures needed to operate the hospital on a daily basis;
- approving the hospital's participation in health care professional education and in research and the oversight of the quality of such programs; (Also see GLD.14 and GLD.15)
- approving or providing a capital and operating budget(s) and other resources required to operate the
 hospital and to meet the hospital's mission and strategic plan; (Also see COP.8; PCI.3; GLD.9; and
 FMS.1) and
- appointing or approving the hospital's chief executive(s) and providing for an annual evaluation of the individual's(s') performance, which is documented.

Measurable Elements of GLD.1.1

- 1. The governing entity approves the hospital's strategic plans, operational plans, policies, and procedures, and approves, periodically reviews, and makes public the hospital's mission statement.
- 2. The governing entity approves the hospital's capital and operating budget(s) and allocates other resources required to meet the hospital's mission.
- 3. The governing entity approves the hospital's participation in health care professional education and research and in the oversight of the quality of such programs.
- 4. The governing entity appoints, and annually evaluates, the hospital's chief executive(s), and the evaluation is documented.

Standard GLD.1.2

The governing entity approves the hospital's program for quality and patient safety and regularly receives and acts on reports of the quality and patient safety program.

②

Intent of GLD.1.2

The governing entity approves or provides for all of the hospital's programs and policies and allocates resources to meet the hospital's mission. One important accountability is to carry out all responsibilities in a manner that supports the continual improvement in quality and patient safety. This important investment in quality needs to be planned, provided adequate resources, and monitored for progress. Thus, the governing entity approves the quality program on an annual basis, and on a regular basis receives quality reports. The reports can be global in nature or focus on a particular clinical service, a patient group, or some operational aspect. Therefore, over a period of time, all aspects of the quality program, including adverse events and sentinel events, are presented to the governing entity for their information and discussion. (*Also see* QPS.4.1) When the discussion results in actions, such as allocation of additional resources, those actions are recorded in minutes and are reexamined at a future meeting(s).

Obtaining review and action on reports of the quality and patient safety program from the governing entity may be a challenge for some hospitals, particularly those that are one of many organizations reporting to a governing entity, such as a Ministry of Health (MOH). If the governing entity continues to be unresponsive, the hospital makes a credible effort to contact them. A credible effort includes contacting the governing entity multiple times by various methods and documenting the attempts/outcomes of the communications. (*Also see* GLD.1)

Measurable Elements of GLD.1.2

- 1. The governing entity annually approves the hospital's program for quality and patient safety.
- 2. The governing entity at least quarterly receives and acts on reports of the quality and patient safety program, including reports of adverse and sentinel events.
- 3. Minutes reflect actions taken and any follow-up on those actions.

Chief Executive(s) Accountabilities

Standard GLD.2

A chief executive(s) is responsible for operating the hospital and complying with applicable laws and regulations.

②

Intent of GLD.2

Effective leadership is essential for a hospital to be able to operate efficiently and to fulfill its mission. Leadership is what individuals provide together and individually to the hospital and can be carried out by any number of individuals.

The chief executive(s) is responsible for the hospital's overall, day-to-day operations. This includes the procurement and inventory of essential supplies, maintenance of the physical facility, financial management, quality management, and other responsibilities. The education and experience of the individual(s) match the requirements in the position description. The chief executive(s) cooperates with hospital leadership to define the hospital's mission and to plan the policies, procedures, and clinical services related to that mission. When approved by the governing entity, the chief executive(s) is responsible for implementing all policies and ensuring that all policies are complied with by the hospital's staff.

The chief executive(s) is responsible for the hospital's

- compliance with applicable laws and regulations;
- response to any reports from inspecting and regulatory agencies; (Also see PCI.1 and FMS.1) and
- processes to manage and to control human, financial, and other resources.

Measurable Elements of GLD.2

- 1. The education and experience of the chief executive(s) match the requirements in the position description.
- 2. The chief executive(s) manages the hospital's day-to-day operations, including those responsibilities described in the position description.
- ☐ 3. The chief executive(s) recommends policies, strategic plans, and budgets to the governing entity.
- 4. The chief executive(s) ensures compliance with approved policies.
- 5. The chief executive(s) ensures compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
 - **1** 6. The chief executive(s) responds to any reports from inspecting and regulatory agencies.

Hospital Leadership Accountabilities

Standard GLD.3

Hospital leadership is identified and is collectively responsible for defining the hospital's mission and creating the programs and policies needed to fulfill the mission.

Intent of GLD.3

Hospital leadership comes from many sources. The governing entity names the chief executive(s). The chief executive(s) may name others to hospital leadership. Hospital leadership may have formal titles, such as Medical Director or Director of Nursing, may be leaders of clinical or nonclinical departments or services, or may be informally recognized for their seniority, stature, or contribution to the hospital. It is important that hospital leadership is recognized and brought into the process of defining the hospital's values and mission. Based on that mission, hospital leadership works collectively and collaboratively to develop the programs, policies, and services needed to fulfill the mission. When the mission and policy framework are set by owners or agencies outside the hospital, hospital leadership works collaboratively to carry out the mission and policies.

Measurable Elements of GLD.3

- 1. The chief executive(s) and hospital leadership are identified by title and name, and their collective accountabilities are described in written documents.
- Hospital leadership is responsible for defining the hospital's values and mission.
- 3. Hospital leadership is responsible for creating the policies and procedures necessary to carry out the mission.
- Hospital leadership ensures that policies and procedures are followed.

Standard GLD.3.1

Hospital leadership identifies and plans for the type of clinical services required to meet the needs of the patients served by the hospital.

②

Intent of GLD.3.1

Patient care services are planned and designed to respond to the needs of the patient population. The care and services to be provided are documented and are consistent with the hospital's mission. Hospital leadership determines with the leaders of the various clinical departments and services in the hospital the diagnostic,

therapeutic, rehabilitative, and other services that are essential to the patient population. Hospital leadership also plans with the department/service leaders the scope and intensity of the various services to be provided by the hospital directly or indirectly. When applicable to the mission, hospital leadership plans and participates with the community, local hospitals, and others in meeting community health care needs. The services planned reflect the strategic direction of the hospital and the perspective of the patients cared for by the hospital. (*Also see* ACC.2)

Planning patient care services also involves hospital leadership defining its communities and patient populations, identifying community needs for services, and planning ongoing communication with those key community stakeholder groups. (*Also see* PCC.1 and MOI.1) The communications may be directly to individuals or through public media and through agencies within the community or third parties. The types of information communicated include

- information on services, hours of operation, and the process to obtain care; and
- information on the quality of services, which is provided to the public and to referral sources. (*Also see* QPS.6)

Measurable Elements of GLD.3.1

- 1. Hospital leadership determines and plans with department/service leaders the type of care and services to be provided by the hospital that are consistent with the hospital's mission and needs of the patients served by the hospital.
- 2. Hospital leadership communicates with key stakeholders in its community to facilitate access to care and access to information about its patient care services.
- 3. Hospital leadership provides data and communicates information related to safety and quality of its services to stakeholders, which include nursing staff, nonclinical and management staff, patients, families, and external interested parties.
- 4. Hospital leadership describes and documents the care and services to be provided.

Standard GLD.3.2

Hospital leadership ensures effective communication throughout the hospital.

Intent of GLD.3.2

Effective communication within a hospital is the responsibility of hospital leadership. Thus, hospital leadership understands the dynamics of communication between professional groups; between structural units, such as departments; between professional and nonprofessional groups; between health care practitioners and management; between health care practitioners and families; and between health care practitioners and outside organizations, **for example**. Hospital leadership not only sets the parameters of effective communication but leaders also serve as role models with the effective communication of the hospital's mission, strategies, plans, and other relevant information. Hospital leadership pays attention to the accuracy and timeliness of information shared and communicated throughout the hospital.

To coordinate and to integrate patient care, hospital leadership develops a culture that emphasizes cooperation and communication. Formal (**for example**, standing committees, joint teams) and informal (**for example**, newsletters and posters) methods for promoting communication among services and individual staff members are used. Coordination of clinical services comes from an understanding of each department's mission and services and collaboration in developing common policies and procedures. (*Also see* MOI.1)

Measurable Elements of GLD.3.2

- 1. Hospital leadership ensures that processes are in place for communicating relevant information throughout the hospital in a timely manner.
- 2. Hospital leadership ensures effective communication among clinical and nonclinical departments, services, and individual staff members.
- 3. Hospital leadership communicates the hospital's vision, mission, goals, policies, and plans to staff.

Standard GLD.3.3

Hospital leadership ensures that there are uniform programs for the recruitment, retention, development, and continuing education of all staff.

Intent of GLD.3.3

A hospital's ability to care for patients is directly related to its ability to attract and to retain qualified, competent staff. Hospital leadership recognizes that staff retention, rather than recruitment, provides greater long-term benefit. Retention is increased when hospital leadership supports staff advancement through continuing education. Thus, hospital leadership plans and implements a uniform program and processes related to recruitment, retention, development, and continuing education for each category of staff. (*Also see* SQE.2 and SQE.8) The hospital's recruitment program considers published guidelines, such as those from the World Health Organization, International Council of Nurses, and World Medical Association.

Measurable Elements of GLD.3.3

- ☐ 1. The hospital develops and implements a process for staff recruitment.
- 1 2. The hospital develops and implements a process for staff retention.
- 3. The hospital develops and implements a process for staff personal development and continuing education.
- The planning is collaborative and includes all departments and services in the hospital.

Hospital Leadership for Quality and Patient Safety

Standard GLD.4

Hospital leadership plans, develops, and implements a quality improvement and patient safety program.

Standard GLD.4.1

Hospital leadership communicates quality improvement and patient safety information to the governing entity and hospital staff on a regular basis.

Intent of GLD.4 and GLD.4.1

If a hospital is to successfully initiate and to maintain improvement and reduce risks to patients and staff, leadership and planning are essential. Leadership and planning begins with the governing entity of the hospital, along with those who manage and lead the clinical and managerial activities of the hospital on a daily basis. Collectively, these persons represent the leaders of the departments and services of the hospital. Hospital leadership is responsible for establishing and providing ongoing support for an organizational commitment

to quality. Hospital leadership develops the quality and patient safety program for governance approval by the governing entity, and through its vision and support, shapes the quality culture of the hospital. (Also see QPS.1)

Hospital leadership selects the approach to be used by the hospital to measure, assess, and improve quality and patient safety. Also, hospital leadership determines how the program will be directed and managed on a daily basis, such as a quality department, and ensures that the program has adequate resources to be effective.

Hospital leadership also implements a structure and process for the overall monitoring and coordination of the program throughout the hospital. (*Also see* FMS.4) These actions ensure coordination among all the departments and services in measurement and improvement efforts. Coordination can be achieved through a quality management council/committee, or some other structure. Coordination encourages a systemwide approach to quality monitoring and improvement activities while reducing duplication of effort; **for example**, two departments independently measuring similar processes or outcomes. (*Also see* QPS.2 and PCI.14)

Hospital leadership is also responsible for seeing that at least quarterly quality reports are prepared for the governing entity review and discussion and for seeing that the actions of the governing entity related to the quality program reports are carried out. (*Also see* QPS.8) In addition, at least quarterly, the quality report to the governing entity includes

- the number and type of sentinel events and associated root causes; (Also see QPS.7)
- whether the patients and families were informed of the event;
- · actions taken to improve safety in response to events; and
- if the improvements were sustained.

Regular communication of information about the quality improvement and patient safety program to staff is essential. This flow of quality communications is through effective channels, such as newsletters, storyboards, staff meetings, and human resources processes. The information can be about new or recently completed improvement projects, progress in meeting the International Patient Safety Goals, the results of the analysis of sentinel and other adverse events, or recent research or benchmark programs, among others. (*Also see* QPS.1)

Measurable Elements of GLD.4

1.	Hospital leadership participates in developing and implementing a hospitalwide quality improvement and patient safety program.
2.	Hospital leadership selects and implements a hospitalwide process to measure, assess data, plan change, and sustain improvements in quality and patient safety, and provides for staff education on this quality improvement process.
3.	Hospital leadership determines how the program will be directed and managed on a daily basis and ensures that the program has adequate technology and other resources to be effective.
4.	Hospital leadership implements a structure and process for the overall monitoring and coordination of the quality improvement and patient safety program.

Μe	Measurable Elements of GLD.4.1		
	1.	Hospital leadership reports on the quality and patient safety program at least quarterly to the govering entity.	
	2.	Hospital leadership reports to the governing entity include, at least quarterly, the number and type of sentinel events and root causes, whether the patients and families were informed of the sentinel event, actions taken to improve safety in response to sentinel events, and if the improvements were sustained.	
	3.	Hospital leadership regularly communicates information on the quality improvement and patient safety program to staff, including progress on meeting the International Patient Safety Goals.	

Standard GLD.5

The chief executive and hospital leadership prioritize which hospitalwide processes will be measured, which hospitalwide improvement and patient safety activities will be implemented, and how success of these hospitalwide efforts will be measured.

Intent of GLD.5

Due to staff and resource limitations, not every process within a hospital can be measured and improved at the same time. Thus, a primary responsibility of the chief executive and hospital leadership is to set hospitalwide measurement and improvement priorities. These are measurement and improvement efforts that impact or reflect activities in multiple departments and services. The chief executive and hospital leadership provide focus for the hospital's quality measurement and improvement activities, including measurement and activities regarding compliance with the International Patient Safety Goals; for example, measuring the effectiveness of the patient identification process for IPSG.1 or monitoring the process for reporting critical results of diagnostic tests as noted in IPSG.2.1. Priorities may focus on the achievement of strategic objectives; for **example**, to become the leading regional referral center for cancer patients. Similarly, the chief executive and hospital leadership may give priority to projects that increase efficiency, reduce readmission rates, eliminate patient flow problems in the emergency department, or create a monitoring process for the quality of services provided by contractors. The chief executive and hospital leadership consider priorities at a system level to spread the impact of improvements broadly throughout the hospital; for example, improving the hospital's medication management system. The priority-setting process includes the consideration of available data on which systems and processes demonstrate the most variation in implementation and outcomes. The chief executive and hospital leadership ensure that, when present, clinical research and medical education programs are represented among the priorities.

The chief executive and hospital leadership also assess the impact of improvements. Measuring improvement in efficiency of a complex clinical process, and/or identifying reductions in cost and resource use following improvement in a process, are **examples**. (*Also see* QPS.5) Measuring the impact of an improvement supports an understanding of the relative costs for investing in quality and the human, financial, and other returns on that investment. The chief executive and hospital leadership support the creation of simple tools to quantify resource use of the old process and for assessing a new process. Understanding both the impact of an improvement on patient outcome and the relative cost and resulting process efficiency contributes to improved priority setting in the future, both at an organizational level and at a departmental/service level. When this information is combined hospitalwide, the chief executive and hospital leadership can better understand how to allocate available quality and patient safety resources. (*Also see* QPS.2; QPS.4.1; PCI.5; PCI.5.1; GLD.11; and FMS.3)

Measurable Elements of GLD.5

- 1. The chief executive and hospital leadership use available data to set collective priorities for hospital-wide measurement and improvement activities and consider potential system improvements.
- 2. The chief executive and hospital leadership ensure that, when present, clinical research and health professional education programs are represented in the priorities.
- ☐ 3. The chief executive and hospital leadership set priorities for compliance with the International Patient Safety Goals.
- 4. The chief executive and hospital leadership assess the impact of hospitalwide and departmental/service improvements on efficiency and resource use.

Hospital Leadership for Contracts

Standard GLD.6

Intent of GLD.6

Hospitals frequently have the option to either provide clinical and management services directly or to arrange for such services through referral, consultation, contractual arrangements, or other agreements. Such services may range from radiology and diagnostic imaging services to financial accounting services and services provided for housekeeping, food, or linens. Hospital leadership describes, in writing, the nature and scope of services provided through contractual agreements.

When contracts relate to health practitioner staffing—for example, a contract for critical care nurses—the contracts stipulate that the professional staff provided meet the hospital's requirement for similar staff. (*Also see* SQE.7; SQE.14; and SQE.15) In all cases, hospital leadership is accountable for such contracts or other arrangements to ensure that the services meet patient needs and are included as part of the hospital's quality management and improvement activities. Department/service leaders participate in the review and selection of all clinical and nonclinical contracts and are accountable for monitoring those contracts. (*Also see* AOP.6.6; ASC.1; ASC.2; QPS.6; and MOI.11)

Measurable Elements of GLD.6

 ust	induction in or old in
1.	Hospital leadership is accountable for contracts to meet patient and management needs.
2.	The hospital has a written description of the nature and scope of those services to be provided through contractual agreements.
3.	Department/service leaders share accountability for the review, selection, and monitoring of clinical and nonclinical contracts.
4.	Hospital leadership inspects compliance with contracted services as needed.
5.	When contracts are renegotiated or terminated, the hospital maintains the continuity of patient services.

Standard GLD.6.1

Hospital leadership ensures that contracts and other arrangements are included as part of the hospital's quality improvement and patient safety program.

Intent of GLD.6.1

The quality and safety of patient care require evaluation of all services provided by the hospital or provided through contracted services. Thus, the hospital needs to receive, to analyze, and to act on quality information from outside sources. The contract with the outside source of service includes quality and patient safety expectations and the data that are to be provided to the hospital, their frequency, and their format. Department/service leaders receive and act on quality reports from contracting agencies that relate to the scope of services provided within their department/service and ensure that the reports are integrated into the hospital's quality measurement process. (*Also see* AOP.5.10; AOP.5.10.1; AOP.6.6; and MOI.11)

Measurable Elements of GLD.6.1

- 1. All contracts stipulate the quality data that are to be reported to the hospital, the reporting frequency and mechanism, and how the hospital will respond when quality requirements or expectations are not met.
- 2. Quality data reported under contracts are integrated into the hospital's quality monitoring program.
 - 1 3. The relevant clinical and managerial leaders participate with the quality improvement program in the analysis of quality and safety information from outside contracts.

Standard GLD.6.2

Hospital leadership ensures that licensed health care professionals and independent health care practitioners not employed by the hospital have the right credentials and are competent and/or privileged for the services provided to the hospital's patients.

①

Intent of GLD.6.2

Clinical leaders may recommend contracts with or arrange services from physicians, dentists, and other independent practitioners, as well as other licensed health care professionals outside the hospital (**for example**, diagnostic services such as pathology or electrocardiogram interpretations, contracted nursing staff, pharmacists, or other licensed professionals) or arrange for them to come into the hospital to provide services (**for example**, contracting for an interventional cardiologist to come in once a week to provide diagnostic angiography). The services provided by independent health care practitioners may also include telemedicine or teleradiology. In some cases, these individuals may be located outside the region or country of the hospital.

At times, independent practitioners may be accompanied by staff reporting to them and who are not part of the hospital. Any support staff accompanying independent practitioners and providing care and services in the hospital are compliant with requirements for primary source verification. (*Also see* SQE.13 and SQE.15)

If the services provided determine the care choice or course of care for the patient, the practitioner must proceed through the credentialing and privileging processes of the hospital. (*Also see* SQE.9 through SQE.12)

Measurable Elements of GLD.6.2

- 1. Hospital leadership determines those services that will be provided by independent practitioners outside the hospital.
- 2. All diagnostic, consultative, and treatment services provided by independent practitioners outside the hospital, such as telemedicine, teleradiology, and interpretations of other diagnostics, such as electrocardiogram (ECG), electroencephalogram (EEG), pathology, and the like, are credentialed and privileged by the hospital to provide such services.
- ☐ 3. Independent practitioners who provide patient care services on the premises of the hospital but are not employees or members of the clinical staff are credentialed, privileged, and evaluated as required in SQE.9 through SQE.12.
- 4. Any support staff accompanying independent practitioners and providing care and services in the hospital are compliant with requirements for primary source verification.
- 5. The quality of services by independent practitioners outside the hospital is monitored as a component of the hospital's quality improvement program.
- When the hospital utilizes staff contracts for licensed health care professional staff the hospital ensures that a credential review comparable to the hospital's review process is conducted.

Hospital Leadership for Resource Decisions

Standard GLD.7

Hospital leadership makes decisions related to the purchase or use of resources—human and technical—with an understanding of the quality and safety implications of those decisions.

Intent of GLD.7

Hospital leadership improves decision making when they have data upon which to base those decisions. **For example**, when the hospital needs to replace or add infusion pumps, information on maintenance requirements, staff training or retraining requirements, information on previous failure rates and patient safety incidents, preferences of staff, alarm issues, and others, will result in decisions based more on quality and patient safety than on cost alone. Similarly, when making decisions regarding the reduction or reassignment of nursing staff, consideration of the implications for patient care quality and patient safety need to be brought forward to inform the decision. (*Also see* SQE.6) Hospital leadership develops a process to gather data and information for key purchase or resource decisions to ensure that they include a safety and quality due-diligence component. (*Also see* GLD.7.1)

One component of data gathering related to resource decisions is to understand the required or recommended medical equipment, supplies, and medications necessary to provide a service. Recommendations on medical equipment, supplies, and medication can come from a government agency, national or international professional organizations, or other authoritative sources. (*Also see* QPS.3)

An important resource for hospitals is the investment in health information technology (IT). Health IT covers a wide variety of technologies that include methods for documenting and sharing patient information, such as with electronic medical records. In addition, health IT includes methods for storing and analyzing data, communicating information among health care practitioners to better coordinate care, and receiving information to help diagnose illnesses and provide safer patient care. Successful implementation of health IT resources requires the direction, support, and oversight of hospital leadership. (*Also see* MOI.11) When resource decisions are made by a third party—**for example**, a Ministry of Health—hospital leadership provides data and information to the third party on their experiences and preferences to better inform future resource choices.

When a hospital uses what is identified as "experimental" medical equipment and/or pharmaceutical agents in patient care procedures (that is, medical equipment or agents identified as "experimental" either nationally or internationally), there is a process to review and to approve such use. (*Also see* GLD.19) It is essential that such approval occur prior to use in patient care. A determination is made if special patient consent is necessary. (*Also see* PCC.4.2; COP.8; and SQE.11)

Measurable Elements of GLD.7

1.	Hospital leadership uses data and information on the quality and safety implications of medical equipment choices.
2.	Hospital leadership uses data and information on the quality and safety implications of staffing choices.
3.	Hospital leadership uses the recommendations of professional organizations and other authoritative sources in making resource decisions.
4.	Hospital leadership provides direction, support, and oversight of information technology resources.
5.	Hospital leadership provides direction, support, and oversight of the emergency and disaster management program(s).
6.	Hospital leadership monitors the results of its decisions and uses the data to evaluate and improve the quality of its resource purchasing and allocation decisions.

Standard GLD.7.1

Hospital leadership seeks and uses data and information on the safety of the supply chain to protect patients and staff from unstable, contaminated, defective, and counterfeit supplies.

Intent of GLD.7.1

Supply chain management is key to ensuring the safety and quality of the hospital's supplies. The supply chain includes the steps from origination to delivery of supplies to the hospital. The variety and quantity of supplies that hospitals use are vast, thus the hospital may manage many supply chains. Due to staff and resource limitations, not every supply chain can be tracked and evaluated at the same time. Therefore, hospitals identify the medications, medical supplies, and medical devices that are at most risk of losing stability, becoming contaminated, becoming defective, or being replaced with a counterfeit or imitation product.

For those supplies at most risk, the hospital identifies the steps in the supply chains. Although this information may not be complete and may be difficult to piece together, the hospital, at minimum, decides where the significant risks reside. For example, a flowchart can be used to help map out each step, or point, in the supply chain for a supply. Points in the flowchart would likely include the manufacturer, warehouse facilities, the vendor, shipping company, and so on. The hospital can indicate points in the flowchart that it has identified as a significant risk. For example, a hospital has identified insulin as a medication at most risk for the organization and develops a flowchart that shows each step in the supply chain. The hospital identifies points such as the insulin manufacturer, vendor, warehousing, and shipping, and determines that important elements such as the manufacturer's regulatory compliance, temperature control and monitoring in the warehouses, and limiting travel distance between points in the chain are taken into account. However, while reviewing for potential risks in the supply chain, the hospital learns that the vendor has recently contracted with a shipping company whose services have been unsatisfactory, including delayed deliveries to the hospital and inconsistent documentation for temperature monitoring during travel. After assessing the situation, the hospital may identify this as a significant risk in that supply chain. Hospital leadership makes decisions about changes to supply chains and sets priorities for purchasing decisions based on their understanding of the risk points in supply chains. (Also see GLD.6 and GLD.7)

Supply chain management is not only about a prospective evaluation of supplies that are at high risk, it also includes retrospective tracing of supplies after they have entered the hospital. The hospital has a process to identify medications, medical supplies, and medical devices that are unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit and trace them back through the hospital to determine the source or cause of the problem, if possible. (*Also see* ASC.7.4) When applicable, the hospital notifies the manufacturer and/or distributor when unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit supplies are identified through retrospective tracing.

When hospital supplies are purchased, stored, and distributed by a governmental authority, the hospital participates in programs to detect and report suspected unstable, contaminated, defective, and counterfeit supplies and take measures to prevent potential patient harm. Although such a public hospital may not know the integrity of each supplier in the chain, it can become aware of how supplies are purchased and managed by the governmental or nongovernmental agency.

Measurable Elements of GLD.7.1 □ 1. Hospital leadership outlines the steps in the supply chains for supplies defined as at most risk. □ 2. Hospital leadership identifies any significant risk points in the steps of the supply chains. □ 3. Hospital leadership makes resource decisions based on their understanding of the risk points in the supply chains. □ 4. The hospital has a process for performing retrospective tracing of supplies found to be unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit.

5. The hospital notifies the manufacturer and/or distributor when unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit supplies are identified.

Clinical Staff Organization and Accountabilities

Standard GLD.8

Medical, nursing, and other leaders of departments and clinical services plan and implement a professional staff structure to support their responsibilities and authority.

①

Intent of GLD.8

Medical, nursing, and other leaders of departments and clinical services have special responsibilities to patients and to the hospital. These department/service leaders

- support good communication between professionals;
- jointly plan and develop policies; clinical guidelines; and related protocols, pathways, and other documents that guide the delivery of clinical services; (*Also see* GLD.11.2)
- provide for the ethical practice of their professions; (Also see GLD.12.1) and
- oversee the quality of patient care.

The department/service leaders of the medical and nursing staff create a suitable professional staff structure(s) to carry out these responsibilities. The structure(s) and the associated processes or committees used to carry out these responsibilities can be through a single professional staff composed of physicians, nurses, and other health care practitioners or separate medical and nursing staff structures, **for example**. The structure chosen can be highly organized with committees, bylaws, and rules and regulations or can be informally organized. In general, the structure(s) chosen

- includes all the relevant clinical staff;
- is consistent with the hospital's ownership, mission, and structure;
- is appropriate for the hospital's complexity and size of the professional staff; and
- is effective in carrying out the responsibilities listed above.

Measurable Elements of GLD.8

1.	There is a professional staff structure(s) used by medical, nursing, and other department/service leaders to carry out their responsibilities and authority.
2.	The structure(s) is appropriate to the hospital's size and complexity.
3.	The organizational structure(s) and processes support a culture of safety and professional communication.
4.	The organizational structure(s) and processes support clinical planning and policy development.

The organizational structure(s) and processes support oversight of the quality of clinical services.

Direction of Hospital Departments and Services

Standard GLD.9

Intent of GLD.9

The clinical care, patient outcomes, and overall management of a hospital are only as good as the clinical, managerial, and operational activities of each individual department or service. Good departmental or service performance requires clear leadership from a qualified individual. In larger departments or services, there may be multiple leaders. In such a case, the responsibilities of each role are defined in writing. (*Also see* AOP.5.1; AOP.5.2; AOP.6.2; COP.3.3; COP.8; COP.8.1; ASC.2; MMU.1; QPS.1; PCI.1; GLD.1.1; FMS.2; and MOI.11)

Each department/service leader communicates his or her human resources and other resource requirements to hospital leadership. This helps ensure that adequate staff, space, medical equipment, technology, and other resources are available to meet patients' needs at all times. Although the department/service leaders make recommendations regarding human and other resource needs, those needs sometimes change or are not fully met. Thus, department/service leaders have a process to respond to resource shortages to ensure safe and effective care for all patients. (*Also see* SQE.6 and SQE.6.1)

Department/service leaders consider the services provided and planned by the department or service and the education, skills, knowledge, and experience needed by the department's professional staff to provide those services. Department/service leaders develop criteria reflecting this consideration and then select staff. Department/service leaders may also work with human resources or other departments in the selection process based on their recommendations.

Department/service leaders ensure that all staff in the department or service understand their responsibilities and establish the orientation and training for new staff. The orientation includes the hospital's mission, the department's or service's mission, the scope of services provided, and the policies and procedures related to providing services. (*Also see* SQE.7) **For example**, all staff understand the infection prevention and control procedures within the hospital and within the department or service. When new or revised policies or procedures are implemented, staff are trained.

Measurable Elements of GLD.9

- 1. Each department or service in the hospital is directed by an individual with the training, education, and experience comparable to the services provided.
- 2. Department/service leaders recommend space, medical equipment, staffing, technology, and other resources needed by the department or service and have a process in place to respond to shortages.
- 3. Department/service leaders recommend criteria for selecting the department's or service's professional staff and choose or recommend individuals who meet those criteria.
- 4. Department/service leaders provide orientation and training for all staff on the duties and responsibilities for the department or service to which they are assigned.

Standard GLD.10

Intent of GLD.10

The department/service leaders collaborate to determine the uniform format and content of the department-specific planning documents. In general, the documents prepared by each clinical department define its goals, as well as identify current and planned services. Department policies and procedures reflect the department's goals and services as well as the knowledge, skills, and availability of staff required to assess and to meet patient care needs. (*Also see* ACC.2.3)

Clinical services provided to patients are coordinated and integrated within each department or service. **For example**, there is integration of medical and nursing services. Also, each department or service coordinates and integrates its services with other departments and services. Unnecessary duplication of services is avoided or eliminated to conserve resources.

Measurable Elements of GLD.10

1.	Department/service leaders have selected and use a uniform format and content for planning documents.
2.	The departmental or service documents describe the current and planned services provided by each department or service.
3.	The departmental or service documents guide the provision of identified services.
4.	The departmental or service documents address the staff knowledge and skills needed to assess and to meet patient needs.
5.	There is coordination and/or integration of services within and with other departments and services.

Standard GLD.11

Department/service leaders improve quality and patient safety by participating in hospitalwide improvement priorities and in monitoring and improving patient care specific to the department/service.

Intent of GLD.11

Department/service leaders engage their staff in improvement activities that reflect the hospitalwide priorities (also see GLD.5) and address the clinical or nonclinical activities specific to the department or service. For example, a clinical department or service would participate in the hospitalwide effort to improve handover communications and also may monitor and reduce variation in an internal process such as the ordering of diagnostic tests for patients with the same condition. Similarly, a managerial department may be involved in automation projects to improve handover communications and also may monitor and improve the accuracy of patient bills.

Department/service leaders consider the Joint Commission International Library of Measures and/or other well-defined, evidence-based measures as applicable to the services provided by the department or service. (*Also see* APR.7)

Thus, the leaders of the department or service implement the selection and monitoring of measures specific to the department or service that include the following:

- Those hospitalwide measurement and improvement priorities set by hospital leadership that relate to their specific department or service
- The measures associated with specific department/service priorities to reduce variation, improve the safety of high-risk procedures/treatments, improve patient satisfaction, or improve efficiency

Selection of measures should be based on those activities and processes that need improvement in the department or service. For each measure, a target should be set. It is expected that initial measurement will not reach the target; however, when strategies for improvement are implemented, department/service leaders

should expect to see improvement toward the target. When the target has been met and sustained for at least four measurement periods, a new measure is selected.

The leader of the clinical department or service is responsible for ensuring that the measurement activities provide the opportunity for the evaluation of staff as well as the processes of care. Thus, measurement includes, over time, all of the services provided. The resulting data and information are important to the department's or service's improvement efforts but are also important to the hospital's quality improvement and patient safety program. (*Also see* QPS.1; QPS.2; and QPS.9)

Note: Some departments, such as infection prevention and control, facility management, radiology, and the clinical laboratory, have ongoing quality monitoring or control programs that are included in the measurement priorities and are described in the standards related to those services. (*Also see* AOP.6.5 and PCI.14)

Measurable Elements of GLD.11

- 1. Department/service leaders implement hospitalwide quality measures that relate to the services provided by their department or service, including any contracted services for which they are responsible.
- 2. Department/service leaders implement quality measures to reduce variation and improve processes within the department or service, including implementation of measures found in the Joint Commission International Library of Measures or other resources for well-defined, evidence-based clinical measures.
- 3. Department/service leaders select measures based on the need for improvement, and when improvement has been sustained, select a new measure.
- 4. Department and service quality measurement and improvement activities are integrated into and supported by the quality management and coordination structure of the organization.

Standard GLD.11.1

Measures selected by the department/service leaders that are applicable to evaluating the performance of physicians, nurses, and other professional staff participating in the clinical care processes are used in the staff's performance evaluation.

Intent of GLD.11.1

Leaders are responsible for ensuring the quality of care and services provided by their department/service. Measurement activities provide the opportunity for the evaluation of these services. Department/service leaders are involved in the appointment, privilege delineation, ongoing professional practice evaluation, and reappointment of the physicians within the department or service. Quality measurement activities can be important to ensuring that the department/service leader has objective information to support these activities. Over time, quality measurement includes all of the services provided by the department or service and includes the clinical privileges of all the physicians. The "Clinical Results" section of the intent of SQE.11 provides additional information on the ongoing professional practice evaluation process. In some cases, the measures will be linked to the clinical practice guidelines implemented in the department or service. (Also see GLD.11.2) When applicable, measures may be taken from the Joint Commission International Library of Measures to permit the use of standardized measures within the department or service. Similarly, data are needed to support the evaluation of the nurses and other health care practitioners in the department. Although these individuals have job descriptions rather than clinical privileges, the department/service leader is still accountable for evaluating their work. Standard SQE.3 describes the evaluation process for these individuals, and the measurement activities described in this standard will support an objective evaluation process. In many cases, the clinical practice guidelines implemented in the department or service will have associated pathways

and protocols that will support the collection of measurement data for nursing staff and other health care practitioners. (Also see QPS.2 and SQE.10)

Measurable Elements of GLD.11.1

- When applicable, assessment of participation in quality activities and the results of measurement activities are included in the ongoing professional practice evaluation of the department's or service's physicians.
- 2. When applicable, assessment of participation in quality activities and the results of measurement activities are included in the performance evaluation of nursing staff.
- ☐ 3. When applicable, assessment of participation in quality activities and the results of measurement activities are included in the performance evaluation of other health practitioners.

Standard GLD.11.2

Intent of GLD.11.2

The goals of hospitals include

- standardizing clinical care processes;
- reducing risks within care processes, particularly those associated with critical decision steps;
- providing clinical care in a timely, effective manner using available resources efficiently; and
- consistently delivering high-quality care using evidence-based practices.

Hospitals use a variety of tools to reach these and other goals. **For example**, health care practitioners seek to develop clinical care processes and make clinical care decisions based on the best available scientific evidence. Clinical practice guidelines are useful tools in this effort to understand and to apply the best science to a particular diagnosis or condition. (*Also see* IPSG.5; IPSG.5.1; COP.3.4; COP.8.6; MMU.1.1; PCI.5; and PCI.5.1) The hospital uses only those clinical practice guidelines that have been reviewed and endorsed by relevant authoritative sources; **for example**, a national professional association or council, or an international organization that catalogues approved guidelines. If the clinical practice guideline was developed by the hospital, it would be submitted to an authoritative source for endorsement.

Frequently, the effective implementation of a clinical practice guideline will require clinical pathways and clinical protocols to be adapted or developed. Pathways and protocols are useful tools in this effort to ensure effective sequencing, integration, and coordination of care and efficient use of available resources.

Clinical practice guidelines and any related clinical care pathways and clinical protocols relevant to the hospital's patient population and mission are

- a) selected from among those applicable to the services and patients of the hospital (mandatory national guidelines are included in this process, if present);
- b) evaluated for their relevance to identified patient populations;
- c) adapted when needed to the technology, drugs, and other resources of the hospital or to accepted national professional norms;
- d) assessed for their scientific evidence and endorsement by an authoritative source;
- e) formally approved or adopted by the hospital;
- f) implemented and measured for consistent use and effectiveness;
- g) supported by staff trained to apply the guidelines or pathways; and
- h) periodically updated based on changes in the evidence and evaluation of processes and outcomes.

As many guidelines, and related protocols and pathways, impact multiple clinical departments or services, the leaders are collectively expected to accomplish the following on an annual basis:

- Department/service leaders collectively determine at least five hospitalwide priority areas on which to
 focus—for example, a patient diagnosis such as stroke, or a procedure such as transplantation, or a
 population such as geriatric, or a disease such as diabetes, among others—for which guidelines would
 impact the quality and safety of patient care and reduce unwanted variation in outcomes. (Also see
 APR.7 and GLD.11.1)
- Complete the process described in a) through h) for the guideline related to the identified priority focus areas.

This collective selection process does not prohibit an individual department or service from selecting additional guidelines, and any associated protocols or pathways, more specific to the services provided in that department or service.

Measurable Elements of GLD.11.2

- 1. On an annual basis, department/service leaders collectively determine at least five hospitalwide priority areas on which to focus the use of clinical practice guidelines.
- 2. Department/service leaders follow the process described in a) through h) of the intent in selecting and implementing clinical practice guidelines.
- 3. Department/service leaders implement clinical guidelines and any associated clinical pathways or clinical protocols for each identified priority area as relevant to the department/service.
- 4. Department/service leaders demonstrate how the use of clinical practice guidelines, clinical pathways, and/or clinical protocols has reduced variation in processes and outcomes

Organizational and Clinical Ethics

Standard GLD.12

Hospital leadership establishes a framework for ethical management that promotes a culture of ethical practices and decision making to ensure that patient care is provided within business, financial, ethical, and legal norms and protects patients and their rights.

Output

Description:

Standard GLD.12.1

The hospital's framework for ethical management addresses operational and business issues, including marketing, admissions, transfer, discharge, and disclosure of ownership and any business and professional conflicts that may not be in patients' best interests.

①

Standard GLD.12.2

The hospital's framework for ethical management addresses ethical issues and decision making in clinical care. (P)

Intent of GLD.12 Through GLD.12.2

Hospitals face many challenges in providing safe, high-quality health care. With advances in medical technology, financial constraints, and increasing expectations, ethical dilemmas and controversies are much more common. Hospital leadership has a professional and legal responsibility to create and promote an environment and culture that operate within an ethical framework. The ethical framework must apply to both the hospital's business and clinical activities alike. Hospital leadership must demonstrate ethical behaviors and

develop guidelines for organizational performance and conduct. Hospital leadership's actions and the hospital's guidelines for ethical behavior must be congruent with the hospital's vision, mission, and value statements; staff policies; annual reports; and other documents.

The framework supports the hospital's health care practitioners, other staff, and patients and family when confronted by ethical dilemmas in patient care, such as interprofessional disagreements and disagreements between patients and their health care practitioners regarding care decisions. Such support is readily available and includes ethics resources and training for health care practitioners and other staff. In addition, national and international norms related to human rights and professional ethics must be taken into consideration when creating an ethical framework and guiding documents.

The hospital operates within this framework to

- disclose ownership and any conflicts of interest; **for example**, relationships between the referring physician and outside sources of laboratory or diagnostic imaging services;
- honestly portray its services to patients;
- protect confidentiality of patient information;
- provide clear admission, transfer, and discharge policies;
- bill accurately for its services and ensure that financial incentives and payment arrangements do not compromise patient care;
- encourage transparency in reporting organizational and clinical performance measures;
- establish a mechanism by which health care practitioners and other staff may report clinical errors and raise ethical concerns with impunity, including disruptive staff behavior related to clinical and/or operational issues;
- support an environment that allows free discussion of ethical concerns without fear of retribution;
- provide an effective and timely resolution to ethical conflicts that arise;
- ensure nondiscrimination in employment practices and provision of patient care in the context of the cultural and regulatory norms of the country; and
- reduce disparities in health care access and clinical outcomes. (*Also see* PCC.1.1; COP.1; QPS.7; QPS.7.1; and GLD.8)

Measurable Elements of GLD.12

	1.	Hospital leadership establishes a framework for the hospital's ethical management that promotes a culture of ethical practices and decision making to ensure the protection of patients and their rights.
	2.	The ethical framework ensures that patient care is provided within business, financial, ethical, and legal norms.
	3.	The hospital ensures nondiscrimination in employment practices and provision of patient care in the context of the cultural and regulatory norms of the country.
	4.	Hospital leadership examines national and international ethical norms for incorporation when developing the hospital's framework for ethical conduct.
Me	asu	irable Elements of GLD.12.1
	1.	The hospital discloses its ownership and any conflicts of interest.
	2.	The hospital honestly portrays its services to patients.
	3.	The hospital accurately bills for services and ensures that financial incentives and payment arrangements do not compromise patient care.

Measurable Elements of GLD.12.2

- 1. The hospital's framework for ethical management establishes a mechanism by which health care practitioners and other staff may raise ethical concerns without fear of retribution.
- 2. The organizational structure(s) and processes support oversight of professional ethical issues.
- 3. Support for identifying and addressing ethical concerns is readily available and includes ethics resources and training for health care practitioners and other staff.
 - 4. The hospital provides an effective and timely resolution to ethical conflicts that arise.

Standard GLD.13

Hospital leadership creates and supports a culture of safety program throughout the hospital. (P)

Standard GLD.13.1

Hospital leadership implements, monitors, and takes action to improve the program for a culture of safety throughout the hospital.

Intent of GLD.13 and GLD.13.1

A *culture of safety* has been defined as "a collaborative environment in which skilled clinicians treat each other with respect, leaders drive effective teamwork and promote psychological safety, teams learn from errors and near misses (or close calls), caregivers are aware of the inherent limitations of human performance in complex systems (stress recognition), and there is a visible process of learning and driving improvement through debriefings."

Safety and quality thrive in an environment that supports teamwork and respect for other people, regardless of their position in the hospital. Hospital leadership demonstrates its commitment to a culture of safety and leaders set expectations for those who work in the hospital. Behaviors that are not consistent with a safe culture or that intimidate others and affect morale or staff turnover can be harmful to patient care. Key features of a program for a culture of safety include

- acknowledgment of the high-risk nature of a hospital's activities and the determination to achieve consistently safe operations;
- an environment in which individuals are able to report errors or near misses without fear of reprimand or punishment; (Also see QPS.7 and QPS.7.1)
- encouragement of collaboration across ranks and disciplines to seek solutions to patient safety problems; and
- organizational commitment of resources, such as staff time, education, a safe method for reporting issues, and the like, to address safety concerns. (*Also see* APR.9)

Health care continues to have a culture of individual blame, which impairs the advancement of a safety culture. There are instances in which individuals should not be blamed for an error; **for example**, when there is poor communication between patient and staff, when there is a need for rapid decision making, or when there are human factor design flaws in a treatment process. However, certain errors are the result of reckless behavior and do require accountability. **Examples** of reckless behavior include failure to follow hand-hygiene guidelines, not performing the time-out before surgery, or not marking the surgical site. A culture of safety includes identifying and addressing issues related to systems that lead to unsafe behaviors. At the same time, though, hospitals must maintain accountability by establishing zero tolerance for reckless behavior. Accountability distinguishes between human error (such as a mix-up), at-risk behavior (**for example**, taking shortcuts), and reckless behavior (such as ignoring required safety steps).

Hospital leadership evaluates the culture on a regular basis using a variety of methods, such as formal surveys, focus groups, staff interviews, and data analysis. Hospital leadership encourages teamwork and creates

structures, processes, and programs that allow this positive culture to flourish. Hospital leadership must address undesirable behaviors of individuals working at all levels of the hospital, including management, clinical and nonclinical staff, licensed independent practitioners, and governing entity members.

Measurable Elements of GLD.13

- 1. Hospital leadership establishes and supports an organizational culture that promotes accountability and transparency.
- ☐ 2. Hospital leadership develops and documents a code of conduct and identifies and corrects behaviors that are unacceptable.
- ☐ 3. Hospital leadership provides education and information (such as literature and advisories) relevant to the hospital's culture of safety to all individuals who work in the hospital.
- 4. Hospital leadership defines how issues related to a culture of safety within the hospital are identified and managed.
- ☐ 5. Hospital leadership provides resources to promote and support the culture of safety within the hospital.

Measurable Elements of GLD.13.1

- 1. Hospital leadership provides a simple, accessible, and confidential system for reporting issues relevant to a culture of safety in the hospital.
- 2. Hospital leadership ensures that all reports related to the hospital's culture of safety are investigated in a timely manner.
- ☐ 3. The hospital identifies systems issues that lead health care practitioners to engage in unsafe behaviors.
- 4. Hospital leadership uses measures to evaluate and monitor the safety culture within the hospital and implements improvements identified from measurement and evaluation.
- 5. Hospital leadership implements a process to prevent retribution against individuals who report issues related to the culture of safety.

Health Professional Education

Note: For hospitals that meet the eligibility criteria for academic medical center (AMC) hospital accreditation, GLD.14 applies to education provided to nursing students and/or other nonmedical, health professional students. For hospitals that are not academic medical centers, GLD.14 applies to education provided to medical trainees, nursing students, and/or other health professional students.

Standard GLD.14

Health professional education, when provided within the hospital, is guided by the educational parameters defined by the sponsoring academic program and the hospital's leadership.

Intent of GLD.14

Frequently, hospitals incorporate a teaching role in their mission and are the clinical setting for portions of medical, nursing, other health care practitioners, and other student training. **For example**, students and trainees in medicine may spend a few months gaining clinical experience in a community teaching hospital, or

a nursing program may be based in the hospital. These hospitals serve an important role; however, they are not considered academic medical center hospitals for the purpose of these standards.

When the hospital participates in these types of training programs, the hospital

- provides a mechanism(s) for oversight of the program(s);
- obtains and accepts the parameters of the sponsoring academic program;
- has a complete record of all students and trainees within the hospital;
- has documentation of the enrollment status, licensure or certifications achieved, and academic classification of the students and trainees;
- understands and provides the required level of supervision for each type and level of student and trainee; and
- integrates students and trainees into the hospital's orientation, quality, patient safety, infection prevention and control, and other programs. (*Also see* GLD.1.1)

Measurable Elements of GLD.14

- 1. The hospital provides a mechanism(s) for oversight of the training program(s).
- The hospital obtains and accepts the parameters of the sponsoring academic program.
- 3. The hospital has a complete record of all students and trainees within the hospital.
- 4. The hospital has documentation of the enrollment status, licensure or certifications achieved, and academic classification of the students and trainees.
- 5. The hospital understands and provides the required level of supervision for each type and level of student and trainee.
- 6. The hospital integrates students and trainees into its orientation, quality, patient safety, infection prevention and control, and other programs.

Human Subjects Research

Note: Standards GLD.15 through GLD.19 apply to hospitals that conduct human subjects research but do not meet the eligibility criteria for academic medical center hospital accreditation.

Standard GLD.15

Intent of GLD.15

Human subjects research on a large scale or small scale is a complex and significant endeavor for a hospital. Hospital leadership recognizes the required level of commitment and personal involvement required to advance scientific inquiry in the context of protecting the patients for whom they have made a commitment to diagnose and treat. Hospital leadership's commitment to human subjects research is not separate from its commitment to patient care—commitment is integrated at all levels. Thus, ethical considerations, good communication, responsible leaders, regulatory compliance, and financial and nonfinancial resources are components of this commitment. One such resource is indemnity insurance to adequately compensate patients for adverse events due to the research protocol. Hospital leadership recognizes the obligation to protect patients irrespective of the sponsor of the research. (*Also see* GLD.1.1)

When the hospital's research requires admission to specialized wards, such admission is through established criteria or an established protocol. Individuals from the research or other programs are involved in developing the criteria or protocol. Admission to such programs is documented in the patient's medical record and includes the criteria or protocol conditions under which the patient was admitted.

Measurable Elements of GLD.15

1.	Hospital leadership identifies the official(s) responsible for maintaining the development of and compliance with all human subjects research policies and procedures.
2.	Hospital leadership assumes responsibility for patient protection irrespective of the sponsor of the research.
3.	Hospital leadership recognizes and establishes mechanisms for compliance with all regulatory and professional requirements related to research.
4.	Hospital leadership ensures that there is a source of indemnity insurance to adequately compensate patients participating in clinical research who experience an adverse event.

5. The hospital establishes entry and/or transfer criteria for an admission to a specialized ward due to research and/or another specialized program to meet patient needs.

Standard GLD.16

Patients and families are informed about how to gain access to clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials involving human subjects.

②

Intent of GLD.16

A hospital that conducts clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials involving human subjects provides information to patients and families about how to gain access to those activities when relevant to the patients' treatment needs. When patients are asked to participate, they need information on which to base their decisions. That information includes

- expected benefits;
- potential discomforts and risks;
- alternatives that might also help them; and

not compromise their access to the hospital's services.

procedures that must be followed.

Patients are informed that they can refuse to participate or withdraw participation and that their refusal or withdrawal will not compromise their access to the hospital's services. The hospital has policies and procedures for providing patients and families with this information.

Measurable Elements of GLD.16

1.	As appropriate, patients and families are identified and informed about how to gain access to clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials relevant to their treatment needs.
2.	Patients and families asked to participate are informed about expected benefits.
3.	Patients and families asked to participate are informed about potential discomforts and risks.
4.	Patients and families asked to participate are informed about alternatives that might also help them.
5.	Patients and families asked to participate are informed about the procedures that must be followed.
6.	Patients and families are assured that their refusal to participate or withdraw from participation will

Standard GLD.17

Patients and families are informed about how patients who choose to participate in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials are protected.

Intent of GLD.17

A hospital that conducts clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials involving human subjects knows that its first responsibility is to the patient's health and well-being. To assist with decisions regarding participation in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials, the hospital informs patients and families about

- the research and the patient's role in the research;
- the potential risks and benefits to the patient;
- the patient's rights related to withdrawal from participation in the research;
- the patient's rights to confidentiality and security of information; (Also see MOI.2) and
- obtaining patient consent for participation in the research. (Also see PCC.4.1 and GLD.18)

Measurable Elements of GLD.17

- 1. Patients and families are informed about the research and the potential benefits and risks to patients who decide to participate.
- 2. Patients and families are informed about their rights related to withdrawing from participation.
 - 1 3. Patients and families are informed about their rights to confidentiality and security of information.
- Patients and families are informed about the hospital's process for obtaining consent.

Standard GLD.18

Informed consent is obtained before a patient participates in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials. (P)

Intent of GLD.18

When patients and families decide to participate in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials, informed consent is obtained. The information provided at the time the decision to participate is made serves as the basis for the informed consent. (*Also see* PCC.4.1 and GLD.17) The individual(s) providing the information and obtaining the consent is noted on the informed consent document and stored in the files for the research protocol.

Measurable Elements of GLD.18

- 1. Informed consent is obtained when a patient decides to participate in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials.
- 2. The identity of the individual(s) providing the information and obtaining the consent is noted on the informed consent document and stored in the files for the research protocol.
- 3. Consent is documented and dated on the informed consent document by signature or record of verbal consent.

Standard GLD.19

The hospital has a committee or another way to oversee all research in the hospital involving human subjects.

Intent of GLD.19

When the hospital conducts clinical research, investigations, or trials that involve human subjects, a committee or other mechanism such as a hospital-specific or shared Institutional Review Board (IRB) to provide oversight for all such activities in the hospital is established. The hospital develops a statement of purpose for the oversight activities. Oversight activities include the review process for all research protocols, a process to weigh the relative risks and benefits to the subjects, and processes related to the confidentiality and security of the research information. (*Also see* MOI.2)

Measurable Elements of GLD.19

] 1.	The hospital has a committee or other mechanism such as a hospital-specific or shared Institutional
	Review Board (IRB) to oversee all research within the hospital.

- ☐ 2. The hospital develops a clear statement of purpose for the oversight activities.
- ☐ 3. Oversight activities include a review process.
- 4. Oversight activities include a process to weigh relative risks and benefits to subjects.
- 5. Oversight activities include processes to provide confidentiality and security of research information.

References

Hospital Governance

Center for Evidence-Based Management. *Evidence-Based Management: The Basic Principles*. Barends E, Rousseau DM, Briner RB. 2014. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.cebma.org/wp-content/uploads/Evidence-Based-Practice-The-Basic-Principles-vs-Dec-2015.pdf.

Guo R, et al. Use of evidence-based management in healthcare administration decision-making. *Leadersh Health Serv (Bradf Eng)*. 2017 Jul;30(3):330–342. https://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-07-2016-0033.

Hasanpoor E, et al. Barriers, facilitators, process and sources of evidence for evidence-based management among health care managers: A qualitative systematic review. *Ethiop J Health Sci.* 2018 Sep;28(5);665–680. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6308777/.

Karamitri I, Talias MA, Bellali T. Knowledge management practices in healthcare settings: A systematic review. *Int J Health Plann Manage*. 2017 Jan;32(1):4-18. https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.2303.

Roshanghalb A, et al. What evidence on evidence-based management in healthcare? *Management Decisions*. 2018 Oct;56(10):2069–2084. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-10-2017-1022.

Leadership in Quality and Patient Safety

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *TeamSTEPPS**. 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/education/curriculum-tools/teamstepps/index.html.

Berry JC, et al. Improved safety culture and teamwork climate are associated with decreases in patient harm and hospital mortality across a hospital system. *J Patient Saf.* Epub 2016 Jan 7. https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000000251.

Di Mattina JW, Pronovost PJ, Holzmueller CG. Transdisciplinary teams spur innovation for patient safety and quality improvement. *Qual Manag Health Care*. 2017 Apr–Jun;26(2):124–125. doi: 10.1097/QMH.00000000000000125.

Gaston T, et al. Promoting patient safety: Results of a TeamSTEPPS* initiative. *J Nurs Adm.* 2016 Apr;46(4):201–207. doi: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27011154.

Sutcliffe KM, Paine L, Pronovost PJ. Re-examining high reliability: Actively organising for safety. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2017 Mar;26(3):248–251.

Leadership in Resource and Supply Chain

Giannakis M, Papadopoulos T. Supply chain sustainability: A risk management approach. *Int J Prod Econ*. 2016 Jan;171(4):455–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.06.032.

GS1. Global Traceability Standard for Healthcare. Issue 1.2.0. Oct 2013. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.gs1.org/docs/traceability/Global Traceability Standard Healthcare.pdf.

International Organization for Standardization. ISO 9001—What Does It Mean in the Supply Chain? Jan 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100304.pdf.

Organizational and Clinical Ethics

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Patient Safety Network. Patient Safety Primer: Culture of Safety. (Updated: Sep 2019.) Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primers/primer/5/safety-culture.

Braithwaite J, et al. Association between organisational and workplace cultures, and patient outcomes: Systematic review. *BMJ Open.* 2017 Nov 8;7(11):e017708. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017708.

Kon AA, et al. Defining futile and potentially inappropriate: A policy statement from the Society of Critical Care Medicine Ethics Committee. *Crit Care Med.* 2016 Sep;44(9):1769–1774. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.0000000000001965.

Magelssen M, et al. Roles and responsibilities of clinical ethics committees in priority setting. *BMC Med Ethics*. 2017 Dec 1;18(1):68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-017-0226-5.

Human Subjects Research

Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences. *International Ethical Guidelines for Health-Related Research Involving Humans*. 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://cioms.ch/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/WEB-CIOMS-Ethical-Guidelines.pdf.

World Health Organization. *Patient Safety: Making Healthcare Safer*. 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255507/WHO-HIS-SDS-2017.11-eng.pdf?sequence=1.

OECD/European Union Intellectual Property Office. *Mapping the Real Routes of Trade in Fake Goods.* 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/mapping-the-real-routes-of-trade-in-fake-goods_9789264278349-en#page1.

Wiengarten F, et al. Risk, risk management practices, and the success of supply chain integration. *Int J Prod Econ*. 2016 Jan;171(3):361–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.03.020.

Mannion R, Davies HT. Cultures of silence and cultures of voice: The role of whistleblowing in healthcare organisations. *Int J Health Policy Manag.* 2015 Jun 24;4(8):503–505. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2015.120.

National Academy of Medicine. Fostering Transparency in Outcomes, Quality, Safety, and Costs: A Vital Direction for Health and Health Care. Pronovost PJ, et al. Sep 19, 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://nam.edu/fostering-transparency-in-outcomes-quality-safety-and-costs-a-vital-direction-for-health-and-health-care/.

Raoal D, et al. Clinical ethics support for healthcare personnel: An integrative literature review. *HEC Forum*. 2017 Dec;29(4):313–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10730-017-9325-4.

Stolt M, et al. Ethics interventions for healthcare professionals and students: A systematic review. *Nurs Ethics*. 2018 Mar;25(2):133–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017700237.

Facility Management and Safety (FMS)

Overview

Health care organizations work to provide safe, functional, and supportive facilities for patients, families, staff, and visitors. To reach this goal, the physical facility, medical and other equipment, and people must be effectively managed. In particular, management must strive to

- reduce and control hazards and risks;
- prevent accidents and injuries; and
- maintain safe conditions.

Effective management includes multidisciplinary planning, education, and monitoring as follows:

- The leaders plan the space, equipment, and resources needed to safely and effectively support the clinical services provided.
- All staff are educated about the facility, how to reduce risks, and how to monitor and to report situations that pose risk.
- Performance criteria are used to evaluate important systems and to identify needed improvements.
- Comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessments are developed and monitored on each of the facility management and safety programs when needed.

Written programs are developed and include the following eight areas, when appropriate to the facility and activities of the organization:

- 1. Safety—The degree to which the organization's buildings, construction areas, grounds, and equipment do not pose a hazard or risk to patients, staff, or visitors.
- 2. Security—Protection from loss, destruction, tampering, or unauthorized access or use.
- 3. Hazardous materials and waste—Handling, storage, and use of radioactive and other materials are controlled, and hazardous waste is safely disposed.
- 4. Fire safety—Conducting ongoing assessment of risks to enhance protection of property and occupants from fire and smoke.
- 5. Medical equipment—Equipment is selected, maintained, and used in a manner to reduce risks.
- 6. Utility systems—Electrical, water, and other utility systems are maintained to minimize the risks of operating failures.
- 7. Emergency management—Risks are identified and response to epidemics, disasters, and emergencies is planned and effective, including the evaluation of the structural integrity of patient care environments.
- 8. Construction and renovation—Risks to patients, staff, and visitors are identified and assessed during the construction, renovation, demolition, and other maintenance activities.

When the organization has nonhospital entities within the patient care facilities to be surveyed (such as an independently owned coffee shop or gift shop), the organization has an obligation to ensure that these independent entities comply with the following facility management and safety programs:

- Safety and security programs
- Hazardous materials programs
- Emergency management programs
- Fire safety programs

Laws, regulations, and inspections by local authorities determine in large part how a facility is designed, used, and maintained. All organizations, regardless of size and resources, must comply with these requirements as part of their responsibilities to their patients, families, staff, and visitors.

Organizations are required to comply with laws and regulations, including building and fire codes. They are knowledgeable about the details of the physical facilities they occupy by performing regular facility inspections. They proactively gather data and carry out strategies to reduce risks and to enhance the patient care environment.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a ② icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Leadership and Planning

- **FMS.1** The hospital complies with relevant laws, regulations, building and fire safety codes, and facility inspection requirements.
- **FMS.2** A qualified individual oversees the facility management and safety structure to reduce and control risks in the care environment.

Risk Assessment and Monitoring

- **FMS.3** The hospital develops and documents a comprehensive risk assessment based on facility management and safety risks identified throughout the organization, prioritizes the risks, establishes goals, and implements improvements to reduce and eliminate risks.
- **FMS.4** Data are collected and analyzed from each of the facility management and safety programs to reduce risks in the environment, track progress on goals and improvements, and support planning for replacing and upgrading facilities, systems, and equipment.

Safety

FMS.5 The hospital develops and implements a program to provide a safe physical facility through inspection and planning to reduce risks. **(P)**

Security

FMS.6 The hospital develops and implements a program to provide a secure environment for patients, families, staff, and visitors. **P**

Hazardous Materials and Waste

- **FMS.7** The hospital develops and implements a program for the management of hazardous materials and waste. **P**
 - **FMS.7.1** The hospital's program for the management of hazardous materials and waste includes the inventory, handling, storage, and use of hazardous materials. **②**
 - **FMS.7.2** The hospital's program for the management of hazardous materials and waste includes the types, handling, storage, and disposal of hazardous waste. **(P)**

Fire Safety

- **FMS.8** The hospital establishes and implements a program for fire safety that includes an ongoing assessment of risks and compliance with national and local codes, laws, and regulations for fire safety.

 ①
 - **FMS.8.1** The fire safety program includes the early detection, suppression, and containment of fire and smoke. (P)
 - **FMS.8.2** The fire safety program includes measures to ensure safe exit from the facility when fire and non-fire emergencies occur. **P**

 - **FMS.8.4** The hospital involves staff in regular exercises to evaluate the fire safety program. **(P)**
 - **FMS.8.5** The fire safety program includes limiting smoking by staff and patients to designated non–patient care areas of the facility. P

Medical Equipment

- **FMS.9** The hospital develops and implements a program for the management of medical equipment throughout the organization.
 - **FMS.9.1** The medical equipment program includes inspection, testing, preventive maintenance, and documenting the results. **(P)**

Utility Systems

- **FMS.10** The hospital develops and implements a program for the management of utility systems throughout the organization.
 - **FMS.10.1** The utility systems program includes inspection, testing, and maintenance to ensure that utilities operate effectively and efficiently to meet the needs of patients, staff, and visitors.

 P
 - **FMS.10.2** The hospital utility systems program ensures that essential utilities, including power, water, and medical gases, are available at all times and alternative sources for essential utilities are established and tested.

 ①
 - **FMS.10.3** Designated individuals or authorities monitor water quality regularly.
 - **FMS.10.3.1** Quality of water used in hemodialysis is tested for chemical, bacterial, and endotoxin contaminants, and processes for hemodialysis services follow professional standards for infection prevention and control.

 ②

Emergency and Disaster Management

Construction and Renovation

FMS.12 When planning for construction, renovation, and demolition projects, or maintenance activities that affect patient care, the organization conducts a preconstruction risk assessment. P

Education

FMS.13 Staff and others are trained and knowledgeable about the hospital's facility management and safety programs and their roles in ensuring a safe and effective facility.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Leadership and Planning

Standard FMS.1

The hospital complies with relevant laws, regulations, building and fire safety codes, and facility inspection requirements.

Intent of FMS.1

Laws, regulations, and inspections by national and local authorities determine in large part how a facility is designed, used, and maintained. All hospitals, regardless of size and resources, must comply with these requirements as part of their responsibilities to their patients, families, staff, and visitors. Such requirements may differ depending on the facility's age and location and other factors. **For example**, many building construction codes and fire safety codes, such as for sprinkler systems, apply only to new construction. Hospitals begin by complying with laws and regulations.

Some hospitals are located inside larger, multiuse buildings, such as high-rise office buildings and shopping malls, and may lease or rent the space in which they provide care, treatment, and services. In these circumstances, it is necessary for hospital leadership to communicate with the property owner to ensure that the building complies with relevant laws, regulations, codes, and other requirements. In addition, hospital leadership communicates and collaborates with the property owner regarding shared building systems and building-related issues not under the hospital's control. It is important to understand expectations and who is responsible for maintaining these systems. Shared systems and building issues may include security, fire safety (for example, fire alarms, fire suppression systems), emergency exits, maintenance of utilities (for example, ventilation, water quality), and other building issues. It is important for hospital leadership to have access to documents managed by the property owner, such as maintenance records and inspection reports relevant to the hospital's facilities.

Hospital leadership and the hospital's facility management and safety structure are responsible for

- knowing what national and local laws, regulations, building and fire safety codes, and other requirements, such as licenses and permits, apply to the hospital's facilities;
- implementing the applicable requirements or approved alternative requirements;
- maintaining and documenting compliance with local and national laws, regulations, building and fire safety codes, inspection reports, and other facility requirements; and
- planning and budgeting for the necessary replacement or upgrading of facilities, systems, and equipment to meet applicable requirements or as identified by monitoring data or to meet applicable requirements and providing evidence of progress toward implementing the improvements. (*Also see* GLD.1.1 and GLD.2)

When the hospital has been cited for not meeting requirements, hospital leadership takes responsibility for planning and meeting the requirements in the prescribed time frame.

The hospital documents its building and fire safety laws, regulations, and codes and any corrective actions taken to address citations from external facility inspections and reports by completing the "Laws and Regulations Worksheet" and "External Auditing Body Recommendation Worksheet" in the *Joint Commission International Hospital Survey Process Guide* or provides the same information in a different form or document.

Measurable Elements of FMS.1

1.	Hospital leadership and the facility management and safety structure understand and implement the
	national and local laws, regulations, building and fire safety codes, and other requirements applicable
	to the hospital's facilities.
2.	Hospital leadership and the facility management and safety structure document corrective actions

2.	Hospital leadership and the facility management and safety structure document corrective actions
	taken to meet the conditions of external facility reports or citations from inspections by national and
	local authorities.

- 3. Hospital leadership plans and budgets for replacing or upgrading facilities, systems, and equipment needed to meet applicable requirements and for the continued operation of a safe, secure, and effective facility.
- 4. Hospital leadership approves and allocates budgeted resources or implements alternative strategies to reduce risks until the resources can be allocated.
- 5. When the hospital is located inside a multiuse building, hospital leadership obtains evidence of compliance with relevant laws, regulations, codes, facility inspection reports, utility maintenance requirements, and other requirements related to shared systems and building issues.

Standard FMS.2

A qualified individual oversees the facility management and safety structure to reduce and control risks in the care environment.

Intent of FMS.2

Hospitals work to provide safe, functional, and supportive facilities for patients, families, staff, and visitors. To reach this goal, the physical facility, equipment, medical equipment, and people must be effectively managed. In particular, management must strive to

- reduce and control hazards and risks;
- prevent accidents and injuries; and
- maintain safe conditions.

Effective management includes multidisciplinary planning, education, and monitoring as follows:

- Hospital leadership plans the space, medical equipment, technology, and resources needed to safely
 and effectively support the clinical and nonclinical services provided.
- All staff are educated about the facility, how to reduce risks, and how to monitor and to report situations that pose risk.
- Performance criteria are used to evaluate important systems and to identify needed improvements.

Hospital leadership identifies an individual qualified by training and experience to oversee the facility management and safety structure, which includes coordinating and managing risk assessment and risk reduction activities in the physical environment. (*Also see* GLD.9) Training and experience may include, but is not limited to, risk management, facility management, and hospital operations. The individual who oversees the structure may be a member of leadership, a leader in charge of one or more of the facility management and safety programs, or another designated individual. All facility management and safety programs report to this individual, who is responsible for integrating and coordinating the activities and functions of the overall facility management and safety structure. In a small hospital, one individual may be assigned part-time to oversee the structure. In a larger hospital, several engineers or other specially trained individuals may be assigned to manage one or more facility management and safety programs under the direction of the individual who is responsible for the overall structure.

The facility management and safety structure must be managed effectively and in a consistent and continuous manner. The individual who oversees the facility management and safety structure is responsible for ensuring the following:

- a) Recommendations for space, medical equipment, technology, and other resources to support the facility management and safety structure are provided to hospital leadership.
- b) Facility management and safety programs are planned and developed for the following: safety, security, hazardous materials and waste, fire safety, medical equipment, utility systems, emergency and disaster management and construction and renovation.
- c) The facility management and safety programs are current and fully implemented.
- d) Staff and others are trained on the program.
- e) The programs are evaluated and monitored.
- f) The programs are reviewed and revised at least annually, or more frequently if needed (**for example**, when there are changes to requirements in the country's laws and regulations; changes to the hospital's facilities, systems, or equipment; and so on).

Depending on the hospital's size and complexity, a facility safety/environmental risk committee or some other mechanism may be formed to support the individual responsible for the facility management and safety structure. **For example**, this committee could coordinate activities of the facility management and safety programs, such as completing risk assessment activities, analyzing monitoring data, and implementing facility improvements. Whatever the mechanism chosen by the hospital to support the individual responsible for the facility management and safety structure, a multidisciplinary team should be considered, and include representatives from the various facility management and safety programs as well as leadership, infection prevention and control, laboratory and radiation safety programs, laser safety, housekeeping services, and the quality and patient safety program, among others.

When independent business entities are present within the organization, the hospital has an obligation to ensure that these entities comply with relevant facility management and safety programs. Independent business entities are independently owned businesses occupying space within the hospital; **for example**, coffee shops, gift shops, and banks.

Measurable Elements of FMS.2

- 1. Oversight and direction of the facility management and safety structure is assigned to an individual qualified by experience and training, and evidence of the experience and training is documented.
- 2. The qualified individual is responsible for elements a) through f) of the intent.
- 3. The qualified individual is responsible for coordinating and managing risk assessment and risk reduction activities for the facility management and safety structure.
- 4. When independent business entities are present within the organization, the entities comply with the facility management and safety programs, as applicable.

Risk Assessment and Monitoring

Standard FMS.3

The hospital develops and documents a comprehensive risk assessment based on facility management and safety risks identified throughout the organization, prioritizes the risks, establishes goals, and implements improvements to reduce and eliminate risks.

Intent of FMS.3

Risk assessment identifies and evaluates potential failures and sources of errors in a process and includes prioritizing areas for improvement based on the actual or potential impact of care, treatment, or services provided.

The hospital develops and documents a comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessment, at least annually, that integrates all eight facility management and safety programs to maximize safety to patients, patient's family, staff, and visitors. The eight programs are as follows:

- a) Safety
- b) Security
- c) Hazardous materials and waste
- d) Fire safety
- e) Medical equipment
- f) Utility systems
- g) Emergency and disaster management
- h) Construction and renovation

The hospital prioritizes the integrated risks. Goals are established and improvements are implemented to reduce and eliminate the risks. The goals and improvements are monitored for effectiveness, including progressing and sustained improvement. Changes may be required to goals and improvements based on successes and challenges identified in monitoring data. (*Also see* GLD.5)

Note: Refer to the standards in this chapter for requirements related to risk assessment activities for each program.

Measurable Elements of FMS.3

- 1. The risk assessments from all eight facility management and safety programs listed as a) through h) in the intent are integrated to develop and document a comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessment, at least annually.
- 2. The hospital prioritizes the risks, identifies goals and improvements, and implements improvements to reduce and eliminate risks.
- 3. The hospital evaluates the effectiveness of the improvements, and based on the results, the hospital updates the applicable facility management and safety programs.

Standard FMS.4

Data are collected and analyzed from each of the facility management and safety programs to reduce risks in the environment, track progress on goals and improvements, and support planning for replacing and upgrading facilities, systems, and equipment.

Intent of FMS.4

Monitoring each of the facility management and safety programs through data collection and analysis provides information that helps the hospital reduce risks, track progress on goals, make decisions on system improvements, and plan for upgrading or replacing medical equipment, technology, and utility systems. The monitoring data for the facility management and safety programs are documented and integrated into the hospital's quality and patient safety program. The individual who oversees the facility management and safety structure submits reports of the monitoring data and goals to hospital leadership at least quarterly. This individual submits the risk assessment and planned and implemented improvements to hospital leadership at least annually.

Hospital leadership provides an annual report to the governing entity on the effectiveness of the facility management and safety programs. (Also see GLD.4 and GLD.4.1) The annual report includes

- the results of the comprehensive risk assessment, including priorities;
- goals, monitoring data, improvements, and any challenges from the past year; and
- goals, planned improvements, and anticipated challenges for the coming year.

Measurable Elements of FMS.4

- Monitoring data are collected and analyzed for each of the facility management and safety programs and used to reduce risks in the environment and support planning for replacing or upgrading facilities, systems, and equipment.
- 2. Monitoring data for the facility management and safety programs are documented and integrated into the hospital's quality and patient safety program.
- ☐ 3. The individual who oversees the facility management and safety structure provides monitoring data reports that address the effectiveness of each program and progress on goals to hospital leadership on a quarterly basis, and leadership takes action.
- 4. The individual who oversees the facility management and safety structure provides the comprehensive, facility-wide risk assessment and planned and implemented improvements to hospital leadership at least annually.
- 5. Hospital leadership provides an annual report to the governing entity on the effectiveness of the facility management and safety programs, and the governing entity takes action.

Safety

Standard FMS.5

Intent of FMS.5

Safety refers to ensuring that the building, property, medical and information technology, equipment, and systems do not pose a physical risk to patients, families, staff, and visitors. Prevention and planning are essential to creating a safe and supportive patient care facility. Effective planning requires the hospital to be aware of all the risks present in the facility. The goals are to prevent accidents and injuries and to maintain safe and secure conditions for patients, staff, and others, such as families, contractors, vendors, volunteers, visitors, trainees, and students.

The hospital develops and implements a written safety program. (*Also see* PCC.1.5; AOP.5.3; AOP.6.2; COP.3.5; COP.4; COP.4.1; and PCI.2) As part of the safety program, the hospital conducts and documents an ongoing inspection of its physical facilities. The results of the inspection are reviewed and addressed in a documented risk assessment, at least annually, to identify areas in which safety risks and potential for harm exist. The risk assessment also considers a review of processes and an evaluation of new and planned services that may pose safety risks. It is important to involve a multidisciplinary team when conducting safety inspections in the hospital. **Examples** of safety risks that pose a potential for injury or harm include sharp and broken furniture, broken windows, water leaks in the ceiling, ergonomic risks (**for example**, risks to staff when moving patients or heavy objects), and fall risks (**for example**, due to uneven or slippery floors or missing handrails).

Conducting regular rounds to inspect for safety risks, and the annual safety risk assessment, help the hospital identify, prioritize, plan for, and carry out improvements. Prioritizing and planning also includes budgeting for longer-term facility, system, and equipment upgrading or replacement.

Measurable Elements of FMS.5

- 1. The hospital develops and implements a written program to provide a safe physical facility.
- The hospital has a documented, current, accurate inspection of its physical facilities.
- 3. The results from the facility inspection are reviewed and addressed in a safety risk assessment that is conducted and documented annually, and safety risks are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.
- 4. The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements, and monitors data to ensure that safety risks are reduced or eliminated.

Security

Standard FMS.6

Intent of FMS.6

Security refers to protecting the organization's property and the patients, families, visitors, and staff from harm or loss. (*Also see* PCC.1.4 and COP.3.5) **Examples** of vulnerabilities and threats related to security risks include workplace violence, infant abduction, theft, and unlocked/unsecured access to restricted areas in the hospital. Security incidents can be caused by individuals from either outside or inside the hospital.

The hospital develops and implements a written security program to ensure that everyone in the hospital is protected from personal harm and loss or damage to property. As part of the security program, the hospital conducts and documents a risk assessment, at least annually, to identify areas in which security risks exist. The risk assessment also considers a review of processes and an evaluation of new and planned services that may pose security risks.

Staff, students, trainees, contract workers, volunteers, vendors, individuals associated with independent business entities, and others, as determined by the hospital, are identified by badges (temporary or permanent) or another form of identification. Others, such as families and visitors in the hospital, may be identified depending on hospital policy and laws and regulations.

Restricted areas such as the pharmacy, newborn nursery, and operating theatres must be secure and monitored. (*Also see* MMU.3.1) Children, elderly adults, and vulnerable patients not able to protect themselves or signal for help must be protected from harm. In addition, remote or isolated areas of the facility and grounds may require the use of security cameras.

Measurable Elements of FMS.6

L	1.	The hospital develops and implements a written program to provide a secure environment.
	2	A security risk assessment is conducted and documented annually throughout the facility a

rity risks are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.

3.	The security program identifies all security risk areas and restricted areas and ensures they are moni-
	tored and kept secure.

- 4. The security program ensures that all staff, students, trainees, contract workers, volunteers, vendors, and individuals associated with independent business entities are identified.
- 5. The hospital identifies goals and implements improvements in the security program, and monitors data to ensure that security risks are reduced or eliminated.

Hazardous Materials and Waste

Standard FMS.7

Standard FMS.7.1

The hospital's program for the management of hazardous materials and waste includes the inventory, handling, storage, and use of hazardous materials.

②

Standard FMS.7.2

Intent of FMS.7 Through FMS.7.2

The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of hazardous materials and waste that includes identifying and safely controlling these materials and waste throughout the facility. (*Also see* AOP.5.3; AOP.5.6; MMU.3; and PCI.8) As part of the hazardous materials and waste program, the hospital conducts and documents a risk assessment, at least annually, to identify areas in which risks exist. The risk assessment also considers a review of processes and an evaluation of new and planned services that may increase risk related to hazardous materials and waste.

The hospital identifies and develops an inventory of its hazardous materials. The hospital starts by doing a thorough search for all areas within the organization where hazardous materials may be located. Documentation from this search should include information about the type of each hazardous material being stored, the quantities (**for example**, approximate or average) and the location(s) in the organization. This documentation should also address maximum quantities allowed for storing the hazardous material in one location/area. **For example**, if the material is highly flammable or toxic, there are limits on the quantities of the material that can be stored in one location. An inventory of hazardous materials is created and updated, at least annually, to reflect changes in the hazardous materials used and stored in the organization.

Hazardous materials can be categorized by the following:

- Chemicals (**for example**, chemicals used for cleaning, disinfection, sterilization, water treatment, pathology, hand hygiene, and others)
- Cytotoxic drugs
- Radioactive material
- Medical gases

The hospital also establishes the types of hazardous waste generated by the organization and how they are identified (**for example**, color-coded and labeled waste bags/bins).

The following are categories of hazardous waste:

- Infectious
- Sharps
- Pathological and anatomical
- Pharmaceutical
- Chemicals/heavy metals/pressurized containers
- Genotoxic/cytotoxic
- Radioactive material

The hospital's hazardous materials and waste program addresses hazardous materials and hazardous waste and include processes for

- the inventory of hazardous materials and waste that includes the type, the location(s), and the quantities (**for example**, approximate or average in each location);
- updating the inventory of hazardous materials at least annually;
- safe handling, storage, and use of hazardous materials;
- proper and clear labeling of hazardous materials that is consistent with information from the safety data sheets (SDS);
- establishing and identifying categories of hazardous waste;
- safe handling and storage of hazardous waste;
- tracking quantity of and proper disposal of hazardous waste in accordance with local laws and regulations;
- proper protective equipment and procedures for spills and exposures;
- reporting and investigation of spills, exposures, and other incidents; and
- documentation, including any permits, licenses, or other regulatory requirements.

Information regarding procedures for handling or working with hazardous materials and waste in a safe manner must be immediately available at all times and includes information about the physical data of the material (such as its boiling point, flashpoint, and the like), its toxicity, what effects using the hazardous material may have on health, identification of proper storage and disposal after use, the type of protective equipment required during use, and spill-handling procedures, which include the required first aid for any type of exposure. Many manufacturers provide this information in the form of SDS.

In the event of a hazardous materials spill, the hospital has procedures for responding to and managing spills and exposures. Procedures include having spill kits available where needed with the appropriate personal protective equipment and spill control materials for the potential type and size of spill. Procedures also address how to report spills and exposures.

Hospitals implement procedures for responding to a hazardous material exposure, including initial first aid, obtaining appropriate medical care, reporting incidents, and so on. Exposure to a hazardous material requires immediate access to the appropriate first aid. In some cases, such as with an exposure to a corrosive or caustic chemical, access to an eyewash station may be necessary for immediate and continuous flushing to prevent or minimize injury. An eyewash station is designed to flush both eyes simultaneously for 15 continuous minutes at a flow rate of 1.5 liters per minute (0.4 gallons per minute). However, an eyewash station may not be needed in all cases of hazardous material exposures. Hospitals should conduct a risk assessment to identify where in the organization eyewash stations are required, taking into account the physical properties of the hazardous chemicals used, how these chemicals are used by staff to perform their work activities, and staff's use of personal protective equipment. Alternatives to an eyewash station may be appropriate depending on the types of risks and potential for exposures. **For example**, personal eyewash bottles may be appropriate in areas where exposure to a mild irritant is a risk, or where individuals could use the bottles for immediate flushing as they make their way to a proper eyewash station or get to an area for medical attention. Hospitals that have eyewash stations installed must ensure proper maintenance, including a weekly flush and annual preventive maintenance.

Measurable Elements of FMS.7

1.	The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of hazardous materials and waste.
2.	A hazardous materials and waste risk assessment is conducted and documented annually throughout the facility, and risks related to hazardous materials and waste are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.

3. The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements, and monitors data to ensure that risks related to hazardous materials and waste are reduced or eliminated.

Measurable Elements of FMS.7.1

- 1. The hazardous materials and waste program identifies the type, quantities, and locations of hazardous materials and has a complete inventory, which is updated at least annually, to reflect changes in the hazardous materials used and stored in the organization.
- 2. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes and implements procedures for safe handling, storage, and use of hazardous materials.
- ☐ 3. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes and implements the proper protective equipment required during handling and use of hazardous materials.
- 4. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes and implements proper and clear labeling of hazardous materials that is consistent with information from the safety data sheets (SDS).
- 5. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes and implements procedures for the management of spills and exposures, including the use of proper protective equipment and reporting of spills and exposures.
- 6. Information about the hazardous materials related to safe handling, spill-handling procedures, and procedures for managing exposures are up to date and available at all times.

Measurable Elements of FMS.7.2

- 1. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes the types of hazardous waste generated by the hospital and how they are identified.
- 2. The hazardous materials and waste program establishes and implements procedures and the proper protective equipment required for safe handling and storage of hazardous waste.
- 3. When required by local laws and regulations, the hazardous materials and waste program documents the quantities of hazardous waste generated by the hospital.

Fire Safety

Standard FMS.8

The hospital establishes and implements a program for fire safety that includes an ongoing assessment of risks and compliance with national and local codes, laws, and regulations for fire safety.

Output

Description:

Intent of FMS.8

Hospitals must be vigilant about fire safety, as fire is an ever-present risk in the health care environment. To protect all occupants of the hospital's facilities from fire and smoke, the hospital develops and implements a written program for fire safety. (*Also see PCC.1.5*) The fire safety program also addresses non-fire emergencies; **for example**, a toxic gas leak, which can pose a threat to occupants and require evacuation.

An ongoing assessment of compliance with the country's codes, laws, and regulations related to fire safety is important for identifying and minimizing risks. The hospital performs and documents an ongoing fire safety risk assessment that includes the following:

- a) Fire separations
- b) Smoke separations/compartments
- c) Hazardous areas (and spaces above the ceilings in those areas) such as soiled linen rooms, trash collection rooms, and oxygen storage rooms
- d) Fire exits
- e) Kitchen grease-producing cooking devices

- f) Laundry and trash chutes
- g) Emergency power systems and equipment
- h) Medical gas and vacuum system components
- i) Storage and handling of potentially flammable materials (**for example**, flammable liquids, combustible gases, and oxidizing medical gases such as oxygen and nitrous oxide)
- j) Procedures and precautions to prevent and manage surgical fires
- k) Fire hazards related to construction, renovation, or demolition projects

Risks are identified from the ongoing assessment. **For example**, risks may include equipment, systems, or other features for fire safety that are damaged, obstructed, nonfunctional, or need to be removed. Risks may also be identified from construction projects, hazardous storage conditions, equipment and system breakdowns, or necessary maintenance that impacts fire safety systems, among other reasons.

When risks are identified, they are immediately addressed and corrected (**for example**, through repair, removal, replacement, or other means). When the risks cannot be addressed immediately, the hospital has a process for identifying when interim measures should be implemented. An interim measure(s) may be necessary when the planned improvement to address the fire safety risk cannot be implemented right away. The purpose of implementing interim measures is to ensure the safety of the building's occupants during times when features and systems for fire safety are defective, compromised, or inoperable due to construction, maintenance, or a breakdown or repair. The type of and need for an interim measure(s) will depend on the type and scope of the fire safety risk and the amount of time until the planned improvement to fully address the risk will be implemented.

The fire safety program includes criteria for evaluating when and to what extent interim measures should be implemented.

Examples of interim measures include posting signs to identify alternative exits; inspecting exits/exit routes on a daily basis in the affected area; providing temporary but equivalent fire alarm and detection systems when a system is impaired; providing additional firefighting equipment; increasing fire safety surveillance of buildings, grounds, and equipment; and providing additional training of staff on the use of firefighting equipment; among other interim measures.

The hospital considers the risk posed to patients, staff, and others when determining the plan and time frame for implementing improvements and/or interim measures. The ongoing risk assessment and time frame for implementing interim measures and improvements is documented.

Note: A list of additional interim measures can be found in the Appendix at the end of the "Facility Management and Safety" (FMS) chapter.

Measurable Elements of FMS.8

1.	The hospital develops and implements a written program for fire safety to protect all occupants of the hospital's facilities from fire, smoke, and non-fire emergencies.
2.	The hospital performs and documents an ongoing fire safety risk assessment related to at least a) through k) in the intent, and fire safety risks are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.
3.	The fire safety program includes implementing interim measures, when necessary, to ensure that the safety of the hospital's patients, staff, and visitors is maintained when fire safety risks cannot be immediately addressed.
4.	The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements, and monitors data to ensure that fire safety risks are reduced or eliminated.

Standard FMS.8.1

The fire safety program includes the early detection, suppression, and containment of fire and smoke. (P)

Standard FMS.8.2

The fire safety program includes measures to ensure safe exit from the facility when fire and non-fire emergencies occur. (P)

Intent of FMS.8.1 and FMS.8.2

Every hospital needs to plan how it will keep its occupants safe in case of fire, smoke, and non-fire emergencies. Health care facility structure and design can help prevent, detect, and suppress fires and provide safe exit from the facility. The hospital's program for fire safety addresses

- early warning, early detection, and notification systems, such as smoke detectors, fire alarms, and fire patrols;
- suppression mechanisms, such as water hoses, fire extinguishers, chemical suppression systems, and sprinkler systems;
- containment of fire and smoke, including fire separations and smoke compartments, when required
 by local laws and regulations; features for containment of fire and smoke are maintained to ensure
 their effectiveness; and
- safe and unobstructed access to exits in the event of a fire or non-fire emergency, including clear exit signage that is understandable to the hospital's occupants (**for example**, with a pictogram and/or language[s] that the majority of occupants understand) and emergency lighting.

Features such as these give patients, staff, and visitors adequate time to safely exit the facility or reach a safe location within the facility in the event of fire, smoke, or non-fire emergencies. These features are effective no matter what the age, size, or construction of the facility.

Measurable Elements of FMS.8.1

	1.	The fire safety program includes equipment/systems for the early detection and alarm notification of fire and smoke.
	2.	The fire safety program includes equipment/systems for the suppression of fire.
	3.	When required by local laws and regulations, the fire safety program includes containment of fire and smoke, and these features are maintained to ensure effectiveness and safety.
Me	ası	ırable Elements of FMS.8.2
	1.	The fire safety program includes the safe exit from the facility through free and unobstructed access

- 1. The fire safety program includes the safe exit from the facility through free and unobstructed access to exits.
- 1 2. The fire safety program includes clearly visible exit signage that is understandable to the hospital's occupants.
- ☐ 3. The fire safety program includes lighting for emergency exit corridors and stairs.

Standard FMS.8.3

Intent of FMS.8.3

The hospital's fire safety program identifies the frequency of inspecting, testing, and maintaining fire protection and safety systems, consistent with requirements. Fire safety equipment and systems in hospitals include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Heat and smoke detectors
- Fire alarms
- Fire pumps
- Standpipe systems
- Sprinklers
- Fire suppression systems
- Fire hoses
- Portable fire extinguishers
- Fire doors and assemblies (including sliding and roll down doors)
- Automatic shutdown devices for air handling systems
- Automatic smoke management systems

The hospital inspects, tests, and maintains all fire safety equipment and systems within its building(s), including equipment for early detection and suppression of fire and smoke. Activities and frequencies for inspection, testing, and maintenance are consistent with manufacturers' recommendations. When local codes, laws, and regulations include requirements for inspection, testing, and maintenance of fire safety equipment and systems, the hospital follows the more stringent requirements, whether those are the manufacturers' recommendations or the local codes, laws, and regulations.

Any deficiencies identified, such as impaired or nonfunctioning systems and equipment, are immediately corrected. When corrections cannot be immediately carried out, interim measures are implemented to reduce fire risk and ensure safety of patients, staff, and visitors until deficiencies can be fully corrected. The results of all inspections, testing, and maintenance are documented, including corrections and interim measures that are implemented.

Note: A list of interim measures can be found in the Appendix at the end of the "Facility Management and Safety" (FMS) chapter.

Measurable Elements of FMS.8.3

- All fire safety equipment and systems, including those for smoke and fire detection and suppression, are inspected, tested, and maintained according to manufacturers' recommendations or as required by local codes, laws, and regulations, whichever sets the more stringent requirement.
- 2. Inspection, testing, and maintenance of all fire safety equipment and systems are documented, including results and corrective actions.
- 3. Any deficiencies identified in fire safety equipment and systems are immediately corrected, or interim measures are implemented to reduce fire risk until deficiencies can be fully corrected.

Standard FMS.8.4

The hospital involves staff in regular exercises to evaluate the fire safety program. (P)

Intent of FMS.8.4

The hospital's fire safety program identifies

- the plan for reporting and responding to a fire emergency;
- the plan for safely evacuating the facility in the event of fire, smoke, or non-fire emergencies;
- the process for testing all portions of the fire safety program during each 12-month period;

- the responsibilities of different staff members during a fire emergency;
- the necessary education of staff to effectively protect and evacuate patients when an emergency occurs;
 and
- the participation of staff members in at least one fire safety exercise per year. (Also see FMS.13)

Exercises to evaluate the fire safety program can be accomplished in multiple ways. **For example**, to ensure that staff know what to do, how to exit, and where to assemble (the "assembly points"), the hospital may choose to conduct evacuation exercises during various shifts, including nights and weekends. (Evacuation exercises in areas such as the intensive care unit, operating theatre, or on high floors of the building may provide additional insights but are not mandatory.) **Note:** Evacuation exercises to evaluate the fire safety program should not involve patients.

Another **example** of an exercise to evaluate the fire safety program includes assigning a "fire marshal" to each unit and having him or her randomly quiz the staff about what they would do if a fire occurred on their unit. The staff can be asked specific questions, such as, "Where is the oxygen shutoff valve? If you have to shut off the oxygen valve, how do you take care of patients who need oxygen? Where are the fire extinguishers on your unit located? How do you report a fire? How do you protect the patients during a fire? If you need to evacuate patients, what is your process?" Staff should be able to respond correctly to these questions. The fire marshal should keep a record of those who participated. Other **examples** of exercises include computer-based teaching and testing or a written test for staff to take relating to the fire safety program.

Whatever the exercise chosen to evaluate the fire safety program, staff should be knowledgeable of the program and be able to describe how to bring patients to safety. Staff who do not pass are reeducated and retested.

Measurable Elements of FMS.8.4

- 1. Staff from all shifts, including the night shift and weekends, annually participate in an exercise to evaluate the fire safety program.
- 2. Staff are knowledgeable of the fire safety program and can describe how to bring patients to safety.
- 3. Results of exercises to evaluate the fire safety program are documented, and staff who do not pass are reeducated and retested on the fire safety program.

Standard FMS.8.5

The fire safety program includes limiting smoking by staff and patients to designated non–patient care areas of the facility.

②

Intent of FMS.8.5

The fire safety program addresses limiting smoking and

- applies to all patients, families, staff, and visitors;
- eliminates smoking in the hospital's facilities or minimally limits smoking to designated non–patient care areas that are ventilated to the outside; and
- prohibits smoking in all areas under construction or renovation.

Smoking includes, but is not limited to, the use of cigarettes, cigars, pipes, hookahs, electronic cigarettes (including e-cigarettes and vaping devices), and other ignition sources for smoking.

The fire safety program that addresses limiting smoking identifies any exceptions related to patients, such as the medical or psychiatric reasons a patient may be permitted to smoke, and those individuals permitted to grant such an exception. When an exception is made, the patient smokes in a designated, nontreatment area, away from other patients.

IAIG	ası	inable Lielliells of Fivis.o.3
	1.	The fire safety program addresses eliminating or limiting smoking within the hospital facility.
	2.	The program applies to patients, families, visitors, and staff.
	3.	The program identifies who may grant patient exceptions for smoking and when those exceptions
		apply.

Medical Equipment

Smoking is prohibited in all areas under construction or renovation.

Standard FMS.9

Mascurable Elements of EMS 9 5

The hospital develops and implements a program for the management of medical equipment throughout the organization.

Standard FMS.9.1

Intent of FMS.9 and FMS.9.1

The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of medical equipment throughout the hospital. As part of the medical equipment program, the hospital conducts and documents a risk assessment, at least annually, to identify areas in which medical equipment risks exist. To ensure that medical equipment is available for use and functioning properly, the hospital performs and documents

- an inventory of medical equipment;
- regular inspections of medical equipment;
- testing of medical equipment according to its use and manufacturers' requirements; and
- performance of preventive maintenance.

Qualified individuals provide these services. Medical equipment is inspected and tested when new and then on an ongoing basis, according to the equipment age, use, and manufacturers' instructions. Inspections, testing results, and any maintenance are documented. This helps ensure the continuity of the maintenance process and helps when doing capital planning for replacements, upgrades, and other changes. (*Also see* AOP.5.5; AOP.6.4; COP.3.3; COP.4; and COP.4.1)

Measurable Elements of FMS.9

1.	The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of medical equipment throughout the hospital.
2	A medical equipment risk assessment is conducted and documented annually throughout the hospi-

2.	A medical equipment risk assessment is conducted and documented annually throughout the hospi	
	tal, and medical equipment risks are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.	

_	3.	The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements, and monitors data to ensure that medical
		equipment risks are reduced or eliminated.

Measurable Elements of FMS.9.1

- 1. The medical equipment program addresses hospital-owned and nonhospital-owned medical equipment in the organization, such as equipment that is leased, rented, brought in by physicians and other health care practitioners, brought in by patients, and so on.
- The medical equipment program includes an inventory of all medical equipment.
- 3. Medical equipment is inspected and tested when new and according to age, use, and manufacturers' recommendations thereafter.
- 4. The medical equipment program includes preventive maintenance and calibration as applicable.

Standard FMS.9.2

Intent of FMS.9.2

The hospital has a system in place for monitoring and acting on medical equipment hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures sent by the manufacturer, supplier, or regulatory agency. Some countries require reporting of any medical equipment that has been involved in a death, serious injury, or illness. Hospitals must identify and comply with the laws and regulations pertaining to reporting of medical equipment incidents. The hospital conducts a root cause analysis in response to any sentinel events. The medical equipment management program addresses the use of any medical equipment with a reported problem or failure, or that is the subject of a hazard notice or is under recall. (*Also see* ASC.7.4)

Measurable Elements of FMS.9.2

- 1. The hospital has a process for monitoring and acting on medical equipment and implantable device hazard notices, recalls, reportable incidents, problems, and failures.
- 2. The hospital reports any deaths, serious injuries, or illness that are a result of medical equipment through the hospital's incident and adverse event reporting process.
- ☐ 3. The medical equipment management program addresses the use of any medical equipment with a reported problem or failure, or that is the subject of a hazard notice or is under recall.

Utility Systems

Standard FMS.10

The hospital develops and implements a program for the management of utility systems throughout the organization.

Standard FMS.10.1

The utility systems program includes inspection, testing, and maintenance to ensure that utilities operate effectively and efficiently to meet the needs of patients, staff, and visitors.

②

Intent of FMS.10 and FMS.10.1

Utilities can be defined as the systems and equipment that support essential services that provide for safe health care. Such systems include electrical distribution; power; plumbing; boiler/steam; heating, ventilation, and

air-conditioning (HVAC); medical gas; medical/surgical vacuum; waste management; and communication and data systems. The safe, effective and efficient operation of utility and other key systems in the hospital is necessary for patient, staff, and visitor safety and for meeting patient care needs. Patient care, both routine and urgent, is provided on a 24-hour basis, every day of the week in a hospital. Thus, an uninterrupted source of essential utilities is critical to meeting patient care needs.

The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of utility systems throughout the hospital. (*Also see* PCI.10) As part of the utility systems program, the hospital conducts and documents a risk assessment, at least annually, to identify areas in which risks exist related to the utility systems. The risk assessment also considers new and planned services that may pose risks to the utility systems.

A good utilities management program ensures the reliability of the utility systems and minimizes the potential risks. **For example**, water contamination, ineffective ventilation in critical care areas, oxygen cylinders that are not secured when stored, leaking oxygen lines, and frayed electrical lines all pose hazards. To avoid these and other risks, the hospital has a process for regularly inspecting such systems and performing preventive and routine maintenance. During testing, attention is paid to the critical components (**for example**, switches and relays) of systems.

Hospitals should have a complete inventory of all utility systems components and identify which components have the greatest impact on life support, infection prevention and control, environmental support, and communication. The utilities management program includes strategies for utility maintenance that ensure that these key systems components, such as electricity, water, waste, ventilation, and medical gas, are regularly inspected, tested, maintained, and, when necessary, improved, to reduce and eliminate risks.

Measurable Elements of FMS.10

u	1.	The hospital develops and implements a written program for the management of utility systems
		throughout the hospital.

- 2. The hospital conducts and documents the utility systems risk assessment annually throughout the hospital and prioritizes the utility systems risks that are identified from the risk assessment.
- 3. The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements, and monitors data to ensure that the utility systems risks are reduced or eliminated.

Measurable Elements of FMS.10.1

	1.	The hosp	oital inventori	es its utility	systems co	mponents a	ınd maps t	he current	distribution	of them.
--	----	----------	-----------------	----------------	------------	------------	------------	------------	--------------	----------

- 2. The hospital identifies, in writing, the activities and intervals for inspecting, testing, and conducting preventive and routine maintenance on all operating components of the utility systems on the inventory, based on criteria such as manufacturers' recommendations, risk levels, and hospital experience.
- 3. The hospital updates or replaces utility systems and components when the need for improvement is identified through inspection, testing, and maintenance.
- 4. The hospital labels utility system controls to facilitate partial or complete emergency shutdowns.

Standard FMS.10.2

The hospital utility systems program ensures that essential utilities, including power, water, and medical gases, are available at all times and alternative sources for essential utilities are established and tested.

Output

Description:

Intent of FMS.10.2

Patient care, both routine and urgent, is provided on a 24-hour basis, every day of the week in a hospital. Hospitals have different utility system needs based on their mission, patient needs, and resources. However,

an uninterrupted source of essential utilities, including water, power, and medical gas, is critical for meeting patient care needs. (Also see PCI.10)

An emergency power system is required for all hospitals that intend to provide continuous service under emergency conditions. Such a system provides sufficient power to maintain essential functions during power failures. It also reduces the risks associated with such failures. Emergency and backup power sources are tested under planned circumstances that simulate actual load requirements. **For example**, for quarterly testing, requirements are that the test run for 30 minutes and should achieve 30% of the nameplate load. The 30-minute time frame does not include the time it takes for the warm-up or cool-down period. Hospitals may choose other methods for testing that meet industry standards. (*Also see* FMS.11)

Water quality can change suddenly from many causes, some of which occur outside of the hospital, such as a break in the supply line to the hospital. When there is a disruption in the usual source of water supplied to the organization, emergency potable water supplies must be immediately available.

Regardless of the type of system and level of its resources, a hospital needs to protect patients and staff in emergencies, such as when essential utilities fail, become interrupted, or become contaminated. To prepare for such emergencies, the hospital

- identifies its essential utilities based on the systems, equipment, and locations that pose the highest risks to patients and staff if the utilities were interrupted, failed, or otherwise became unavailable (**for example**, key systems, equipment, and locations that require illumination, refrigeration, life support, water for cleaning and sterilization of supplies, and so on);
- assesses and minimizes the risks of utility system failures in these areas;
- plans emergency power and clean water sources for these areas and needs;
- tests the availability and reliability of emergency sources of power and water;
- documents the results of tests;
- ensures that the testing of alternative sources of water occurs at least annually or more frequently if
 required by local laws, regulations, or conditions of the sources for water (examples of conditions of
 the sources for water that may increase the frequency of testing include repeated repair of the water
 system and frequent contamination of the water source); and
- ensures that the testing of power occurs at least quarterly or more frequently if required by local laws, regulations, manufacturers' recommendations, or conditions of the sources for power (examples of conditions of the sources for power that may increase the frequency of testing include unreliable electrical grids and recurrent, unpredictable power outages).

When the emergency power system requires a fuel source, determining how much fuel to store on site should include consideration of past outages and any anticipated delivery problems caused by shortages, weather, and geographic conditions and locations. The hospital may determine the amount of fuel stored unless laws and regulations/local authority specifies the amount.

Measurable Elements of FMS.10.2

- 1. The hospital identifies the areas and services at greatest risk when essential utilities (including power, water, and medical gas) become unavailable.
- 2. The hospital ensures backup availability/continuity of essential utilities (including power, water, and medical gas) 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
- 3. The hospital assesses for and reduces the risks of interruption, contamination, and failure of essential utilities (including power, water, and medical gas).
- 4. The hospital tests the availability and quality of the alternative source(s) of water at least annually or more frequently if required by local laws and regulations or conditions of the source of water. The hospital documents the results of the tests.
- 5. The hospital tests alternative sources of power at least quarterly or more frequently if required by local laws and regulations, manufacturers' recommendations, or conditions of the source of power. The hospital documents the results of the tests.
- When emergency sources of power require a fuel source, the hospital establishes and has available the necessary amount of on-site fuel stored.

Standard FMS.10.3

Designated individuals or authorities monitor water quality regularly.

Standard FMS.10.3.1

Quality of water used in hemodialysis is tested for chemical, bacterial, and endotoxin contaminants, and processes for hemodialysis services follow professional standards for infection prevention and control.

②

Intent of FMS.10.3 and FMS.10.3.1

Water quality is prone to sudden change, including changes outside the control of the hospital. It is imperative for hospitals to maintain water quality, as it is a crucial factor in clinical care processes, including dental procedures and hemodialysis. Thus, the hospital establishes a process to monitor and maintain water quality and implements actions when water quality is found to be unsafe.

Quality of potable (drinking) water is tested at least quarterly and testing of non-potable water is performed at least every six (6) months. Testing of potable and/or non-potable water is conducted more frequently if required by local laws and regulations, if indicated by the conditions of the sources for water, and/or if there was previous experience with water quality problems. The testing can be carried out by individuals designated by the hospital, such as staff from the clinical laboratory, or by public health or water control authorities outside the hospital, or others judged competent to perform such tests. Whether performed by qualified hospital staff or by authorities outside the hospital, or other qualified individuals, it is the responsibility of the hospital to ensure that the testing is completed and documented.

In addition to testing water quality, to prevent and reduce the risks of contamination and growth of bacteria such as *Escherichia coli*, *Legionella*, and many others, guidance is sought from the hospital's infection prevention and control program as well as data from water quality–related patient adverse events. These sources help inform whether actions should be taken, such as preventive measures, to reduce the risk of contamination and growth of bacteria.

Water is an integral part of dental care. Hospitals that provide dental services take measures to ensure that the water used in dental treatments and procedures is safe. This includes following manufacturer's guidelines for treating and testing dental unit waterlines. The hospital ensures that dental staff are trained and understand the dental unit waterline treating and testing requirements and procedures.

Water quality is essential for the safe and effective delivery of hemodialysis, as patients may be more vulnerable to infection risk and adverse outcomes. It is necessary that the processes and procedures used in hemodialysis follow industry standards and professional guidelines for water quality and infection prevention and control measures. This includes testing water used in hemodialysis monthly for bacterial growth and endotoxins and testing annually for chemical contaminants.

Other actions to ensure appropriate water quality and reduce infection risk in the hemodialysis services include routine disinfection of the water distribution system and testing hemodialysis machines. Frequency for disinfecting the water distribution system depends on such factors as the design of the system and the degree of prevention needed to control bacterial biofilm from forming on the interior of the water pipes.

When conducting water testing of hemodialysis machines, samples are taken from 10% of the hospital's machines on a monthly basis. This will result in all machines being tested at least once during each 12-month period, including machines that are not in use. Water quality treatments and testing results are documented.

When applicable to its services, the hospital establishes and implements procedures for reprocessing dialyzers, such as processes for cleaning, testing, and storing the dialyzers and the frequency for reusing/replacing them.

When problems with water quality are encountered in the hospital, actions are taken to address the problems while maintaining patient safety in the organization. **For example**, water quality problems may require the hospital to limit certain services or use alternative water sources until the problem is addressed. After the issue is resolved and water quality monitoring demonstrates that the water is safe, the hospital returns to its regular patient care services.

Measurable Elements of FMS.10.3

1.	Quality of potable water is tested at least quarterly or more frequently based on local laws and regula-
	tions, conditions of the sources for water, and previous experience with water quality problems. The
	testing results are documented.

- 2. Quality of non-potable water is tested at least every six (6) months or more frequently based on local laws and regulations, conditions of the sources for water, and previous experience with water quality problems. The testing results are documented.
- 3. Preventive measures and strategies are implemented to reduce the risks of contamination and growth of bacteria in water.
- 4. Actions are taken and documented when water quality is found to be unsafe.
- Dental unit waterlines are treated and tested according to manufacturer's guidelines, and treatments and testing are documented.

Measurable Elements of FMS.10.3.1

- 1. Hemodialysis services in the hospital follow industry standards and professional guidelines for maintaining water quality and implementing infection prevention and control measures.
- 2. Water used in hemodialysis is tested monthly for bacterial growth and endotoxins and tested annually for chemical contaminants. The testing results are documented.
- 3. The hospital performs routine disinfection of the hemodialysis water distribution system.
- ☐ 4. The hospital conducts testing on all hemodialysis machines annually, including machines not in use, and testing results are documented.
- 5. The hospital establishes and implements procedures for reprocessing dialyzers, including, as applicable, frequency for reusing/replacing dialyzers and processes for cleaning and testing dialyzers.

Emergency and Disaster Management

Standard FMS.11

The hospital develops, maintains, and tests an emergency management program to respond to internal and external emergencies and disasters that have the potential of occurring within the hospital and community.

②

Intent of FMS.11

Community emergencies and disasters may directly involve the hospital, such as damage to patient care areas as a result of an earthquake, tsunami, or terrorist attack that keeps staff from coming to work. To plan, prepare, and respond effectively to emergencies and disasters, the hospital develops and implements an emergency and disaster management program. The development of the program begins by identifying the types of emergencies and disasters that are likely to occur in the hospital's region (**for example**, earthquakes, typhoons, floods, landslides, explosions, or others) and the impact these emergencies and disasters would have on the hospital. **For example**, a hurricane or tsunami is more likely to occur in areas where the ocean is near; however, facility damage or mass casualties as a result of war or a terrorist attack could potentially occur in any hospital.

Hospitals play a significant role in the community during emergencies and disasters. In order for hospitals to maintain operations during and after emergencies and disasters, it is important to evaluate and identify the structural and nonstructural limitations of the hospital's buildings. Determining how buildings will respond to the emergencies and disasters that are likely to occur in the region is an important aspect in developing evacuation plans and identifying priority areas for building improvements.

An evaluation of structural elements includes the type of building design and materials as well as components of the building's load-bearing system, including the foundation, columns, beams, walls, floor slabs, and so on. The building's location is also considered part of the structural elements (**for example**, risks related to proximity to other buildings, location in a hazard zone such as a floodplain, and other issues). An evaluation of nonstructural elements includes architectural elements that are not load-bearing (such as the roof, ceilings, windows, and doors); emergency access and exit routes to and from the hospital; critical systems (such as electricity, plumbing, waste management, fire protection); medical and laboratory equipment; and other nonstructural elements that are crucial for the safe operation of the hospital. An evaluation of structural and nonstructural elements allows the hospital to identify vulnerabilities and develop plans for addressing these vulnerabilities and improving hospital safety and preparedness.

It is just as important to identify the probable effects of an emergency or disaster as it is to identify the types of emergencies and disasters likely to occur. (*Also see* PCI.12.2 and MOI.13) This helps in planning the strategies that are needed in the event that the hospital experiences an emergency or disaster. **For example**, what is the likelihood that a natural disaster, such as an earthquake, will affect water and power? Could an earthquake prevent staff from responding to the disaster, either because roads are blocked or because they or their family members are also victims of the event? In such situations, staff responsibilities for their families and/or personal safety may make it difficult or impossible to be at the hospital responding to the emergency or disaster. Hospitals need to identify and plan for other resources when staff may not be able to come to the hospital to provide and support patient care during an emergency or disaster.

In addition, hospitals need to identify their role within the community. **For example**, what resources will the hospital be expected to provide to the community in the event that an emergency or disaster occurs, and what communication methods will be used within the community?

The hospital's emergency and disaster management program provides processes for

- a) determining the type, likelihood, and consequences of hazards, threats, and events;
- b) identifying the structural and nonstructural vulnerabilities of the hospital's patient care environments and how the hospital will perform in the event of an emergency or disaster;

- c) planning for alternative sources of power and water in emergencies and disasters; (Also see FMS.10.2)
- d) determining the hospital's role in such events;
- e) determining communication strategies for events;
- f) managing resources during events, including alternative sources;
- g) managing clinical activities during an event, including alternative care sites;
- h) identifying and assigning staff roles and responsibilities during an event (including contract staff, vendors, and others identified by the hospital); (*Also see* FMS.13) and
- i) managing emergencies and disasters when personal responsibilities of staff conflict with the hospital's responsibility for providing patient care. (*Also see* MOI.13)

The emergency and disaster management program is tested by

- an annual test of the full program internally or as part of a community-wide test; or
- testing of critical elements c) through i) of the program during the year.

Note: Letter c) is part of requirements for testing alternative sources of utilities in FMS.10.2.

If the hospital experiences an actual emergency or disaster, activates its program, and debriefs properly afterward, this situation represents the equivalent to an annual test.

Measurable Elements of FMS.11

]	1.	The hospital develops, evaluates, and maintains a written emergency and disaster management pro-
		gram that identifies its response to likely emergencies and disasters, including items a) through i) in
		the intent.

- 1 2. The hospital has identified the major internal and external emergencies and/or disasters such as community emergencies, and natural or other disasters that pose significant risks of occurring, taking into consideration the hospital's geographic location.
- ☐ 3. The hospital identifies the probable impact that each type of disaster will have on all aspects of care and services.
- 4. The entire program, or at least critical elements c) through i) of the program, is tested annually.
- 5. At the conclusion of every test, debriefing of the test is conducted.
- 6. Follow-up actions identified from testing and debriefing are developed and implemented.

Construction and Renovation

Standard FMS.12

When planning for construction, renovation, and demolition projects, or maintenance activities that affect patient care, the organization conducts a preconstruction risk assessment.

②

Intent of FMS.12

Construction, renovation, demolition, and maintenance activities in a hospital can have an impact on everyone in the organization; however, patients may suffer the greatest impact. For example, the noise and vibration associated with these activities can affect patients' comfort level, and dust and odors can change air quality, which may pose a threat to a patient's respiratory status. The risks to patients, staff, visitors, independent business entities, and others in the hospital will vary depending on the extent of the construction, renovation, demolition, or maintenance activity and its impact on patient care, infrastructure, and utilities. For example, maintenance activity that involves medical gases may impact patient care; however, resurfacing the staff parking lot may have no impact on patient care.

In order to assess the risks associated with a construction, renovation, or demolition project, or a maintenance activity that affects patient care, the hospital brings relevant departments together, including, as needed, representatives from project design, project management, facilities engineering, facility security/safety, infection prevention and control, fire safety, housekeeping, information technology services, and clinical departments and services.

Risks are evaluated by conducting a preconstruction risk assessment, also known as PCRA. The risk assessment is used to comprehensively evaluate risks in order to develop plans and implement preventive measures that will minimize the impact the project will have on the quality and safety of patient care. **For example**, measures to reduce fire risk and ensure safe exit are implemented when fire safety risks are identified. Required areas of the preconstruction risk assessment include

- a) air quality;
- b) infection prevention and control; (Also see PCI.11)
- c) utilities;
- d) noise;
- e) vibration;
- f) hazardous materials and waste;
- g) fire safety;
- h) security;
- i) emergency procedures, including alternate pathways/exits and access to emergency services; and
- i) other hazards that affect care, treatment, and services.

In addition, the hospital ensures that contractor compliance is monitored, enforced, and documented. As part of the risk assessment, patient risk of infection from construction is evaluated through an infection control risk assessment, also known as ICRA.

Measurable Elements of FMS.12

- 1. When planning for construction, renovation, or demolition projects, or maintenance activities that affect patient care, the hospital conducts a preconstruction risk assessment (PCRA) for at least a) through j) in the intent.
- 2. The hospital takes action based on its assessment to minimize risks during construction, renovation, and demolition projects, and maintenance activities that affect patient care.
- ☐ 3. The hospital ensures that contractor compliance is monitored, enforced, and documented.

Education

Standard FMS.13

Staff and others are trained and knowledgeable about the hospital's facility management and safety programs and their roles in ensuring a safe and effective facility.

Intent of FMS.13

Staff are the hospital's primary source of contact with patients, families, and visitors. Thus, they need to be educated and trained to carry out their roles in identifying and reducing risks, protecting others and themselves, and creating a safe and secure facility. (*Also see* FMS.8.4 and FMS.11)

Each hospital must decide the type and level of training for staff and then implement and document a program for the training. The training program can include group instruction, online educational modules, printed educational materials, a component of new staff orientation, and/or some other mechanism that meets the hospital's needs. Training is provided to all staff on all shifts on an annual basis and addresses all facility

management and safety programs. Training includes instruction on the processes for reporting potential risks and reporting incidents and injuries. The training program involves testing staff knowledge. Staff are trained and tested on emergency procedures, including fire safety procedures. As applicable to the staff member's role and responsibilities, training and testing address hazardous materials and response to hazards, such as the spill of a hazardous chemical, and the use of medical equipment that may pose a risk to patients and staff. Knowledge can be tested through a variety of means, such as individual or group demonstrations, the staging of mock events such as an epidemic in the community, the use of written or computer tests, or other means suitable to the knowledge being tested. The hospital documents who was tested and the results of the testing.

Measurable Elements of FMS.13

- 1. All staff receive annual training and testing on each facility management and safety program to ensure they can safely and effectively carry out their responsibilities, and testing results are documented.
- 2. Training on the facility management and safety programs includes vendors, contract workers, volunteers, students, trainees, and others, as applicable to the individuals' roles and responsibilities, and as determined by the hospital.
- ☐ 3. Staff can describe and/or demonstrate their roles in response to a fire.
- 4. Staff can describe and/or demonstrate actions to eliminate, minimize, or report safety, security, and other risks.
- 5. Staff can describe and/or demonstrate precautions and procedures for handling and managing medical gases and hazardous materials and waste, as applicable to the staff member's role and responsibilities.
- Staff can describe and/or demonstrate procedures for and their roles in internal and community emergencies and disasters.

Appendix

Interim Measures

Interim measures are actions taken to ensure the safety of the building's occupants during times when features and systems for fire safety are defective, compromised, or inoperable due to construction, maintenance, or a breakdown or repair. When fire safety risks cannot be immediately addressed and corrected, the hospital identifies and plans for improvements to address the risks. Interim measures may need to be implemented to ensure the safety of occupants until improvements or repairs can be completed. The hospital determines when and to what extent interim measures will be implemented.

See FMS.8 and FMS.8.3 for requirements related to interim measures.

The following are **examples** of interim measures:

- 1. The hospital initiates a fire watch, which involves a trained individual(s) patrolling the areas of the building affected by the impairment/fire safety risk to look for evidence of smoke, fire, or other abnormal conditions. **For example**, a fire watch is initiated when a fire alarm system is out of service more than 4 out of 24 hours, or a sprinkler system is out of service more than 10 hours in a 24-hour period.
- 2. The hospital posts signs identifying the location of alternative exits to everyone in the affected area of the hospital (**for example**, when normal exit pathways and/or exit doors are not accessible or not functional due to construction, maintenance activities, and so on).
- 3. The hospital inspects exits in affected areas on a daily basis.
- 4. The hospital provides temporary but equivalent fire alarm and detection systems for use when a fire system is impaired.
- 5. The hospital provides additional firefighting equipment.
- 6. The hospital uses temporary construction partitions that are smoke-tight or made of noncombustible or limited-combustible material that will not contribute to the development or spread of fire.
- 7. The hospital increases surveillance of buildings, grounds, and equipment, giving special attention to construction and storage areas.
- 8. The hospital enforces storage, housekeeping, and debris-removal practices that reduce the building's flammable and combustible fire load to the lowest feasible level.
- 9. The hospital provides additional training to staff on the use of firefighting equipment.
- 10. The hospital conducts additional fire safety exercises with staff.
- 11. The hospital inspects and tests temporary fire systems monthly.
- 12. The hospital conducts education to promote awareness of fire safety–related building deficiencies, impairments, construction hazards, and temporary measures implemented to maintain fire safety.
- 13. The hospital provides additional training to staff to compensate for increased risks due to impaired structural or compartmental fire safety features.
- 14. Other interim measures, as determined by the hospital and appropriate to the fire safety risk.

References

Leadership and Planning

American Society for Healthcare Engineering. *Tools: Facility Management*. Accessed Oct 28, 2019. https://www.ashe.org/resources/tools.shtml.

Carpman JR, Grant MA. Design That Cares: Planning Health Facilities for Patients and Visitors, 3rd ed. New York: Wiley, 2016.

Charney FJ. How a risk management focus can improve the physical environment. *Health Facil Manage*. Epub 2018 Apr 4. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.hfmmagazine.com/articles/3313-how-arisk-management-focus-can-improve-the-physical-environment.

Risk Assessment and Monitoring

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Health Care Facility Design Safety Risk Assessment Toolkit. Sep 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ahrq.gov/patient-safety/settings/hospital/resource/safety-assess.html.

Bahr NJ. System Safety Engineering and Risk Assessment: A Practical Approach, 2nd ed. 2017. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2017.

Safety

Center for Health Design. Designing for Patient Safety:
Developing Methods to Integrate Patient Safety Concerns in the
Design Process. Joseph A, et al. 2012. Accessed Jan 5, 2020.
https://www.healthdesign.org/sites/default/files/chd416_ahrqreport_final.pdf.

Grant MP. Healthcare and commercial construction: The role of inspections within health and safety interventions in dynamic workplaces and associations with safety climate (PhD diss.). Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health. 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/27201742/GRANT-DISSERTA-TION-2016.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y.

Security

Blando JD, et al. Hospital security director background, opinions, and the implementation of security programs. *Journal of Applied Security Research*. 2017;12(4):497–511. https://doi.org/10.1080/19361610.2017.1354274.

Blando JD, et al. Workplace violence and hospital security programs: Regulatory compliance, program benchmarks, innovative strategies. *J Healthc Prot Manage*. 2017;33(1):89–105.

Sem RD. Appropriate elements of a program for preventing violence against healthcare staff. *J Healthc Prot Manage*. 2017;33(1):44–47.

ECRI Institute. Healthcare Construction and Design Resource Center. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/search-results/?phrase=design%20and%20construction.

Olmsted RN. Prevention by design: Construction and renovation of health care facilities for patient safety and infection prevention. *Infect Dis Clin North Am*. 2016;30(3):713–728.

Saunders LW, et al. International benchmarking for performance improvement in construction safety and health. Benchmarking: An International Journal. 2016;23(4):916–936.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Harmonized Terminology Database. 2019. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://htd.clsi.org/.

Ready; US Department of Homeland Security. Risk Assessment. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ready.gov/risk-assessment.

US Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Work Safety in Hospitals: Caring for Our Caregivers. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.osha.gov/dsg/hospitals/understanding_problem.html.

World Health Organization. Safe Hospitals and Health Facilities. 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/safehospitals/en/.

York TW, MacAlister D. *Hospital and Healthcare Security*, 6th ed. Oxford, UK: Butterworth-Heinemann, 2015.

Zakaria H, et al. A systematic literature review of security perimeter in hospital facility. *Open International Journal of Informatics*. 2018;6(4):104–129. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://apps.razak.utm.my/ojs/index.php/oiji/article/view/68/49.

Hazardous Materials and Waste

Akpieyi A, Tudor TL, Dutra C. The utilisation of risk-based frameworks for managing healthcare waste: A case study of the National Health Service in London. *Saf Sci.* 2015 Feb;72:127–132.

Caniato M, Tudor T, Vaccari M. International governance structures for health-care waste management: A systematic review of scientific literature. *J Environ Manage*. 2015 Apr 15;153:93–107.

United Nations (UN). Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals (GHS), 8th ed. New York: UN, 2019.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Case Definition: Caustic or Corrosive Agents. Apr 4, 2018. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://emergency.cdc.gov/agent/caustics/casedef.asp.

Fire Safety

Anesthesia Patient Safety Foundation. *Prevention and Management of Operating Room Fires Video*. 2010. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.apsf.org/resources/fire-safety/.

Bongiovanni I, et al. Implementation of best practices for emergency response and recovery at a large hospital: A fire emergency case study. *Saf Sci.* 2017 Jul;96:121–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.03.016.

Devito PM, Zamora R, Cicchillo M. Fire in the OR: "All hands-on deck!". *J Clin Case Rep.* 2017;7(9):10001023. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/72dc/b0c6b814ae25b2cae1207820ea43d6587308.pdf.

Medical Equipment

Kutor Jk, Agede P, Ali RH. Maintenance practice, causes of failure and risk assessment of diagnostic medical equipment. Journal of Biomedical Engineering and Medical Devices. 2017;2(1):1000123. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.longdom.org/open-access/maintenance-practice-causes-of-failure-and-risk-assessment-of-diagnostic-medical-equipment-2475-7586-1000123.pdf.

Utility Systems

Iervolino M, Mancini B, Cristino S. Industrial cooling tower disinfection treatment to prevent *Legionella* spp. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2017 Sep 26;14(10):E1125.

Kanamori H, Weber DJ, Rutala WA. Healthcare outbreaks associated with a water reservoir and infection prevention strategies. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016 Jun 1;62(11):1423–1435.

Lorenzi N. Critical features of emergency power generators. *Health Facil Manage*. Epub 2015 Sep 2. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.hfmmagazine.com/articles/1712-critical-features-of-emergency-power generators. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Peer Review Agenda: NIOSH List of Hazardous Drugs in Healthcare Settings 2019. Oct 25, 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/review/peer/isi/hazdrug2018-pr.html.

US Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration. OSHA Brief: Hazard Communication Standard: Safety Data Sheets. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3514.html.

World Health Organization. *Health-Care Waste*. Feb 8, 2018. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs253/en/.

World Health Organization. *Safe Management of Wastes from Health-Care Activities*, 2nd ed. Chartier Y, et al., editors. 2014. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85349/1/9789241548564 eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1.

Jones TS, et al. Operating room fires. *Anesthesiology*. 2019 Mar;130(3):492–501. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://anesthesiology.pubs.asahq.org/article.aspx?articleid=2721200.

National Fire Protection Association. Structure Fires in Health Care Facilities. Campbell R. Oct 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.nfpa.org/-/media/Files/News-and-Research/Fire-statistics-and-reports/Building-and-life-safety/oshealth-carefacilities.ashx.

Sharma R, Kumar A, Koushal V. Fire incidents in healthcare organizations: Readiness, response, and preparedness. *I J Sci Res.* 2019; 8(8): 40-41. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://world-widejournals.co.in/index.php/ijsr/article/viewFile/5754/5734.

Subhan, A. 2017 Joint Commission medical equipment standards. *J Clin Eng.* 2017 Apr–Jun;42(2):56–57.

World Health Organization. *Global Atlas of Medical Devices*. 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/255181/1/9789241512312-eng.pdf?ua=1.

World Health Organization. Medical Devices: Management and Use. 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://www.who.int/medical_devices/management_use/en/.

Organization for Safety, Asepsis and Prevention. Dental Unit Waterline Toolkit. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.osap.org/page/Issues_DUWL.

Pankhurst CL, Scully C, Samaranayake L. Dental unit water lines and their disinfection and management: A review. *Dental Update*. 2017 Apr;44(4):284–285, 289–292.

Pérez-García R, et al. [Guideline for dialysate quality (Second edition, 2015)]. *Nefrologia*. 2016 May–Jun;36(3):e1–e52.

Pyrek, KM. Preventing waterborne pathogen transmission. *Infection Control Today*. Epub 2019 Mar 18. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.infectioncontroltoday.com/transmission-prevention/preventing-waterborne-pathogen-transmission.

Renal Association. *Guideline on Water Treatment Systems*, *Dialysis Water and Dialysis Fluid Quality for Haemodialysis and Related Therapies*. Hoenich N, et al. Jan 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://renal.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/raandartguidelineversion-12647da131181561659443f-6000014d4d8-2.pdf.

Syymiest, DL. Planning for hospital utility failures and recovery. *Health Facil Manage*. Epub 2017 Jul 5. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.hfmmagazine.com/articles/2975-planning-for-hospital-utility-failures-and-recovery.

Emergency and Disaster Management

Kaiser Permanente. Kaiser Permanente Hazard Vulnerability Analysis Tool. 2017. Accessed Jan 8, 2020. https://asprtracie.hhs.gov/technical-resources/resource/250/kaiser.

Man R, et al. The effect of natural disasters on cancer care: A systematic review. *Lancet Oncol.* 2018 Sep;19(9):e482–e499.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Emergency Preparedness and Response: Preparation & Planning. 2019. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://emergency.cdc.gov/planning/.

Construction and Renovation

The Joint Commission. *Planning, Design, and Construction of Health Care Facilities: Addressing Joint Commission and JCI Standards and Other Considerations—from Planning to Commissioning,* 3rd ed. rev. Oakbrook, IL: Joint Commission Resources, 2017. Accessed Jan 5, 2020 [sample]. https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/assets/1/14/EBP-DC15SamplePages2017.pdf.

Walsh L, et al. Building health care system capacity to respond to disasters: Successes and challenges of disaster preparedness health care coalitions. *Prehosp Disaster Med.* 2015 Apr;30(2):112–122.

World Health Organization. *Hospital Safety Index: Guide for Evaluators*, 2nd ed. 2015. Jan 5, 2020. https://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/hospital-safety-index-evaluators.pdf.

World Health Organization. *Hospital Safety Index: Evaluation Forms*, 2nd ed. 2015. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/preparedness/hospital-safety-index-forms.pdf?ua=1.

Staff Qualifications and Education (SQE)

Overview

A health care organization needs an appropriate variety of skilled, qualified people to fulfill its mission and to meet patient needs. The organization's leaders work together to identify the number and types of staff needed based on the recommendations from department and service leaders.

Recruiting, evaluating, and appointing staff are best accomplished through a coordinated, efficient, and uniform process. It is also essential to document applicant skills, knowledge, education, and previous work experience. It is particularly important to carefully review the credentials of medical and nursing staff because they are involved in clinical care processes and work directly with patients. This represents the first and most important opportunity for the hospital to protect patients.

Orientation to the organization and programs, as well as orientation to specific duties related to the position is an important process. Health care organizations should provide staff with opportunities to learn and to advance personally and professionally. Thus, in-service education and other learning opportunities should be offered to staff.

In order to ensure staff physical and mental health, productivity, staff satisfaction, and safe working conditions, the organization provides a staff health and safety program that can be offered by the hospital or provided through contracted services. The program is dynamic, proactive, and includes matters affecting the health and well-being of staff such as initial employment health screening, control of harmful occupational exposures, preventive immunizations and examinations, safe patient handling, staff as second victims, and common work-related conditions.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Planning

- **SQE.1** Leaders of hospital departments and services define the desired education, skills, knowledge, and other requirements of all staff members.
 - **SQE.1.1** Each staff member's responsibilities are defined in a current job description. (P)
- **SQE.2** Leaders of hospital departments and services develop and implement processes for recruiting, evaluating, and appointing staff as well as other related procedures identified by the hospital.
- **SQE.3** The hospital uses a defined process to ensure that clinical staff knowledge and skills are consistent with patient needs.

- **SQE.4** The hospital uses a defined process to ensure that nonclinical staff knowledge and skills are consistent with hospital needs and the requirements of the position.
- **SQE.5** There is documented personnel information for each staff member. **©**
- **SQE.6** A staffing strategy for the hospital, developed by the leaders of hospital departments and services, identifies the number, types, and desired qualifications of staff. **(P)**
 - **SQE.6.1** The staffing strategy is reviewed on an ongoing basis and updated as necessary.
- **SQE.7** All clinical and nonclinical staff members are oriented to the hospital, the department or unit to which they are assigned, and to their specific job responsibilities at appointment to the staff.
- **SQE.8** Each staff member receives ongoing in-service and other education and training to maintain or to advance his or her skills and knowledge.
 - **SQE.8.1** Staff members who provide patient care are trained and demonstrate competence in the resuscitative techniques specific to the level of training identified.
 - **SQE.8.1.1** Other staff identified by the hospital are trained and can demonstrate appropriate competence in resuscitative techniques.

Staff Health and Safety

- **SQE.8.2** The hospital provides a staff health and safety program that addresses staff physical and mental health and safe working conditions. (P)

Determining Medical Staff Membership

- **SQE.9** The hospital has a uniform process for gathering the credentials of those medical staff members permitted to provide patient care without supervision. **(P)**
 - **SQE.9.1** Medical staff members' education, licensure/registration, and other credentials required by law or regulation and the hospital are verified and kept current. (P)
 - **SQE.9.2** There is a uniform, transparent decision process for the initial appointment of medical staff members. (P)

The Assignment of Medical Staff Clinical Privileges

Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation of Medical Staff Members

SQE.11 The hospital uses an ongoing standardized process to evaluate the quality and safety of the patient care provided by each medical staff member.

①

Medical Staff Reappointment and Renewal of Clinical Privileges

Nursing Staff

- **SQE.13** The hospital has a uniform process to gather, to verify, and to evaluate the nursing staff's credentials (license, education, training, and experience). (P)
- **SQE.14** The hospital has a standardized process to identify job responsibilities and to make clinical work assignments based on the nursing staff member's credentials and any regulatory requirements.
 - **SQE.14.1** The hospital has a standardized process for nursing staff participation in the hospital's quality improvement activities, including evaluating individual performance when indicated.

Other Health Care Practitioners

- **SQE.15** The hospital has a uniform process to gather, to verify, and to evaluate other health care practitioners' credentials (license, education, training, and experience). (P)
- **SQE.16** The hospital has a uniform process to identify job responsibilities and to make clinical work assignments based on other health care practitioners' credentials and any regulatory requirements.
 - **SQE.16.1** The hospital has a uniform process for other health care practitioners' participation in the hospital's quality improvement activities.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Planning

Standard SQE.1

Leaders of hospital departments and services define the desired education, skills, knowledge, and other requirements of all staff members.

Intent of SQE.1

The department/service leaders define staffing requirements to meet the needs of patients. (*Also see QPS.1*) They define the desired education, skills, knowledge, and any other requirements for individual positions or for classes of similar positions; **for example**, intensive care nurses. To project staffing needs, department/service leaders use factors such as the following:

- The hospital's mission
- The mix of patients served by the hospital and the complexity and severity of their needs
- The diagnostic and clinical services provided by the hospital
- The volume of inpatients and outpatients
- The medical equipment used in patient care

The hospital complies with laws and regulations that identify required education levels, skills, or other requirements of individual staff members or that define staffing numbers or a mix of staff for the hospital.

Measurable Elements of SQE.1

- ☐ 1. The hospital's mission, volume, and mix of patients, services, and medical equipment are used in planning.
- 2. The desired education, skills, and knowledge are defined for staff.
- 3. Applicable laws and regulations are incorporated into the planning.

Standard SQE.1.1

Intent of SQE.1.1

Individual staff members who are not licensed to practice independently have their responsibilities defined in current job descriptions. The job descriptions are the basis for their assignments, orientation to their work, and evaluation of how well they fulfill job responsibilities. (*Also see* SQE.5 and SQE.14)

Job descriptions are also needed for health care practitioners when

- a) the individual serves in primarily a managerial role, such as a department manager, or in dual clinical and managerial roles, with the managerial responsibilities identified in a job description; (Also see SOE.10)
- b) the individual has some clinical responsibilities for which he or she has not been authorized to practice independently, such as an independent practitioner learning a new role or new skills;
- c) the individual is in an educational program and under supervision, and the academic program identifies, for each stage or level of training, what can be done independently and what must be under supervision. (*Also see* MPE.7) The program description can serve as the job description in such cases; and
- d) the individual is permitted to temporarily provide services in the hospital; **for example**, a nurse from a temporary staffing agency.

When a hospital uses national or generic job descriptions (**for example**, a job description for a "nurse"), it is necessary to augment this type of job description (such as an addendum or a set of competencies) with specific job responsibilities for the types of nurses (**for example**, intensive care nurse, pediatric nurse, or operating theatre nurse, among others). For those permitted by law and the hospital to practice independently, there is a process to identify and to authorize the individual to practice based on education, training, and experience. (*Also see* SQE.9) The requirements of this standard apply to all types of "staff" who require job descriptions (**for example**, full-time, part-time, employed, voluntary, or temporary).

Measurable Elements of SQE.1.1

- Each staff member not permitted to practice independently has a job description.
- 2. Those individuals identified in a) through d) in the intent, when present in the hospital, have job descriptions appropriate to their activities and responsibilities or have been privileged if noted as an alternative.
- Job descriptions are current according to hospital policy.

Standard SQE.2

Leaders of hospital departments and services develop and implement processes for recruiting, evaluating, and appointing staff as well as other related procedures identified by the hospital.

Intent of SQE.2

The hospital provides an efficient, coordinated, or centralized process for

- recruiting individuals for available positions; (Also see GLD.3.3)
- evaluating the training, skills, and knowledge of candidates; (Also see SQE.10; SQE.14; and SQE.16)
- appointing individuals to the hospital's staff. (Also see SQE.9.2)

If the process is not centralized, similar criteria, processes, and forms result in a uniform process across the hospital for similar types of staff; **for example**, for nurses or physical therapists. Department/service leaders participate by recommending the number and qualifications of staff needed to provide clinical services to patients, as well as nonclinical support functions, and to fulfill any teaching, research, or other departmental responsibilities. Department and service leaders also help make decisions about individuals to be appointed to the staff. Thus, the standards in this chapter complement the Governance, Leadership, and Direction (GLD) standards that describe a department/service leader's responsibilities.

Measurable Elements of SQE.2

L	1.	The hospital	establishes and	l implements a	process to	recruit staff.
---	----	--------------	-----------------	----------------	------------	----------------

- 2. The hospital establishes and implements a process to evaluate the qualifications of new staff.
- 3. The hospital establishes and implements a process to appoint individuals to the staff.
- 4. The hospital establishes and implements a process that is uniform across the hospital for similar types of staff.

Standard SQE.3

The hospital uses a defined process to ensure that clinical staff knowledge and skills are consistent with patient needs.

Intent of SQE.3

Qualified staff members are hired by the hospital through a process that matches the requirements of the position with the qualifications of the prospective staff member. This process also ensures that the staff member's skills are initially and over time consistent with the needs of patients. (*Also see* ACC.6; COP.3.2; COP.3.5; COP.4; COP.4.1; COP.7; COP.8; COP.8.2; ASC.3.1; MMU.6; PCI.1; SQE.14; and SQE.15)

For the hospital's health care practitioners who are independent practitioners (that is, they do not practice under job descriptions), the process is identified in SQE.9 through SQE.12.

For clinical staff under job descriptions, the process includes the following:

- An initial evaluation to ensure that he or she can actually assume those responsibilities in the job description. This evaluation is carried out before or at the time of starting to perform work responsibilities. The hospital may have a "probationary" or other period during which the clinical staff member is closely supervised and evaluated, or the process may be less formal. Whatever the process, the hospital ensures that staff providing high-risk services or providing care to high-risk patients are evaluated at the time they begin providing care, before the probationary or orientation period is completed. This evaluation of necessary skills, and knowledge and desired work behaviors, is carried out by the department or service to which the staff member is assigned. (Also see SQE.9.2)
- The evaluation of necessary skills, knowledge, and desired work behaviors also includes an assessment of the staff member's ability to operate medical equipment and clinical alarms and oversee medication management unique to the specific area (**for example**, staff working in intensive care units should be able to effectively manage ventilators, infusion pumps, and continuous cardiac monitoring, and staff working in labor and delivery should be able to effectively manage fetal monitoring equipment).

• The hospital then defines the process for and the frequency of the ongoing evaluation of staff abilities. (*Also see* SQE.5 and SQE.11)

Ongoing evaluation ensures that training occurs when needed and that the staff member is able to assume new or changed responsibilities. Although such evaluation is best carried out in an ongoing manner, there is at least one documented evaluation of each clinical staff member working under a job description each year.

Measurable Elements of SQE.3

- 1. The hospital uses a defined process to match clinical staff knowledge, skills, and competency with patient needs.
- 2. New clinical staff members are evaluated before or at the time they begin their work responsibilities.
 - 3. The department or service to which the individual is assigned conducts the evaluation.
- 4. The hospital defines the frequency of ongoing clinical staff evaluation.
- 5. There is at least one documented evaluation of each clinical staff member working under a job description each year or more frequently as defined by the hospital.

Standard SQE.4

The hospital uses a defined process to ensure that nonclinical staff knowledge and skills are consistent with hospital needs and the requirements of the position.

Intent of SQE.4

The hospital seeks staff who can competently fill the requirement of nonclinical positions. The supervisor of the nonclinical staff member provides an orientation to the position and ensures that the worker can fulfill the responsibilities of the job description. The staff member receives the required level of supervision and on a periodic basis is evaluated to ensure continuing competence in the position. (*Also see* AOP.5.2; AOP.6.1; SQE.3; and SQE.4)

Measurable Elements of SQE.4

- 1. The hospital uses a defined process to match nonclinical staff knowledge and skills with the requirements of the position.
 - 1 2. New nonclinical staff are evaluated before or at the time they begin their work responsibilities.
- 3. The department or service to which the individual is assigned conducts the evaluation.
- 4. The hospital defines the frequency of ongoing nonclinical staff evaluation.
- 5. There is at least one documented evaluation of nonclinical staff members each year or more frequently as defined by the hospital.

Standard SQE.5

There is documented personnel information for each staff member.

Output

Description:

Intent of SQE.5

An accurate personnel file provides documentation of staff knowledge, skill, competency, and training required for carrying out job responsibilities. (*Also see* SQE.9; SQE.13; and SQE.15) In addition, the record shows evidence of staff performance and whether they are meeting job expectations. Personnel files may contain sensitive information and thus must be kept confidential. (*Also see* MOI.2)

Each staff member in the hospital, including those permitted by law and the hospital to work independently, has a record(s) with information about his or her qualifications; required health information, such as immunizations and evidence of immunity; evidence of participation in orientation as well as ongoing in-service and continuing education; results of evaluations, including individual performance of job responsibilities and competencies; and work history. The records are standardized and kept current according to hospital policy. (*Also see* SQE.4; SQE.7; SQE.8; SQE.8.1; SQE.8.1.1; SQE.8.2; and SQE.9.2)

Measurable Elements of SQE.5

1.	Personnel files for each staff member are standardized and current and maintained and kept confidential according to hospital policy.
2.	Personnel files contain the qualifications and the work history of the staff member.
3.	Personnel files contain the job description of the staff member when applicable.
4.	Personnel files contain a record of orientation to the hospital and the staff member's specific role and in-service education attended by the staff member.
5.	Personnel files contain the results of performance reviews.

Standard SQE.6

A staffing strategy for the hospital, developed by the leaders of hospital departments and services, identifies the number, types, and desired qualifications of staff. (P)

Standard SQE.6.1

The staffing strategy is reviewed on an ongoing basis and updated as necessary.

• 6. Personnel files contain required health information.

Intent of SQE.6 and SQE.6.1

Appropriate and adequate staffing is critical to patient care as well as to all teaching and research activities in which the hospital may be engaged. Staff planning is carried out by department/service leaders. The planning process uses recognized methods for determining levels of staffing. **For example**, a patient acuity system is used to determine the number of licensed nurses with pediatric intensive care experience to staff a 10-bed pediatric intensive care unit.

The strategy is written and identifies the number and types of required staff and the skills, knowledge, and other requirements needed in each department and service. (Also see SQE.14) The strategy addresses

- the reassignment of staff from one department or service to another in response to changing patient needs or staff shortages;
- the consideration of staff requests for reassignment based on cultural values or religious beliefs; and
- compliance with local laws and regulations.

Planned and actual staffing is monitored on an ongoing basis, and the strategy is updated as necessary. There is a coordinated process for the department/service leaders to update the overall strategy. (*Also see* GLD.7 and GLD.9)

Measurable Elements of SQE.6

- 1. The hospital's department/service leaders develop a written strategy for staffing the hospital in a manner that complies with local laws and regulations.
- 2. The number, types, and desired qualifications of staff are identified in the strategy using a recognized staffing method.
- 3. The strategy addresses the assignment and reassignment of staff.

Measurable Elements of SQE.6.1

- 1. The effectiveness of the staffing strategy is monitored on an ongoing basis.
- 1 2. The strategy is revised and updated when necessary.
- 3. The strategy is coordinated through a process that involves the department/service leaders.

Standard SQE.7

All clinical and nonclinical staff members are oriented to the hospital, to the department or unit to which they are assigned, and to their specific job responsibilities at appointment to the staff.

Intent of SQE.7

The decision to appoint an individual to the staff of a hospital sets several processes in motion. To perform well, a new staff member, no matter what his or her employment status, needs to understand the entire hospital and how his or her specific clinical or nonclinical responsibilities contribute to the hospital's mission. This is accomplished through a general orientation to the hospital and his or her role in the hospital and a specific orientation to the job responsibilities of his or her position. (*Also see* AOP.5.3; AOP.6.2; and PCI.15) This orientation is recorded in the staff member's personnel file. (*Also see* SQE.5) The orientation includes the reporting of medical errors, infection prevention and control practices, the hospital's policies on telephone medication orders, and so on. Contract workers, volunteers, and students and trainees are also oriented to the hospital and their specific assignments or responsibilities, such as patient safety and infection prevention and control. (*Also see* GLD.6; GLD.9; and GLD.14)

Measurable Elements of SQE.7

- 1. New clinical and nonclinical staff members are oriented to the hospital, to the department or unit to which they are assigned, and to their job responsibilities and any specific assignments.
- 2. Contract workers are oriented to the hospital, to the department or unit to which they are assigned, and to their job responsibilities and any specific assignments.
- ☐ 3. Staff who accompany independent practitioners and provide care and services are oriented to the hospital.
- 4. Students, trainees, and volunteers are oriented to the hospital and assigned responsibilities.

Standard SQE.8

Each staff member receives ongoing in-service and other education and training to maintain or to advance his or her skills and knowledge.

Intent of SQE.8

The hospital collects data from several sources to understand its staff's ongoing education needs. The results of quality and safety measurement activities are one source of information to identify staff education needs. Also,

monitoring data from the facility management program, the introduction of new medical equipment, skill and knowledge areas identified through the review of job performance, new clinical procedures, and future plans to provide new services represent such sources of data. The hospital has a process to gather and to integrate data from sources to plan the staff education program. (Also see SQE.5) Also, the hospital determines which staff, such as health care practitioners, are required to obtain continuing education to maintain their credentials and how the education of these staff will be monitored and documented. (Also see GLD.3.3)

To maintain acceptable staff performance, to teach new skills, and to provide training on new medical equipment and procedures, the hospital provides or arranges for facilities, educators, and time for ongoing in-service and other education. (Also see AOP.5.3; AOP.6.3; PCI.15; and SQE.5) This education is relevant to each staff member as well as to the continuing advancement of the hospital in meeting patient needs. For example, medical staff members may receive education on infection prevention and control, advances in medical practice, culture of safety, or new medical equipment. Each staff member's educational achievements are documented in his or her personnel record.

Hospital leadership supports the commitment to ongoing staff in-service education by making available space, equipment, and time for education and training programs. The availability of current scientific information supports the education and training. The education and training can take place in a centralized location or in several smaller learning and skill development locations throughout the facility. The education can be offered once to all or repeated for staff on a shift-by-shift basis to minimize the impact on patient care activities.

Measurable Elements of SQE.8

1.	The hospital uses various sources of data and information, including the results of quality and safety
	measurement activities, to identify staff education needs.
2.	Education programs are planned based on these data and information.

 Education programs are planned based on these data and inform 	nation
---	--------

	3.	Hospital	staff are	provided	ongoing	in-service	education	and	training
--	----	----------	-----------	----------	---------	------------	-----------	-----	----------

4.	The education is relevant to each staff member's ability to meet patient needs and/or continuing
	education requirements.

5.	The hospital provides adequate time and facilities for all staff to participate in relevant education and
	training opportunities.

Standard SQE.8.1

Staff members who provide patient care are trained and demonstrate competence in the resuscitative techniques specific to the level of training identified.

Standard SQE.8.1.1

Other staff identified by the hospital are trained and can demonstrate appropriate competence in resuscitative techniques.

Intent of SQE.8.1 and SQE.8.1.1

All staff who provide patient care, including physicians, and other staff whom the hospital identifies are trained in basic resuscitative techniques. The hospital identifies the level of training (basic or advanced life support), appropriate to their roles in the hospital, for all staff who provide patient care. (Also see COP.3.3) For example, the hospital may determine that all staff who provide care in specific departments, such as the emergency

department or intensive care unit, or all staff who administer or monitor procedural sedation, are required to be trained in advanced life support. (*Also see* ASC.3) The hospital may also determine that other staff who do not provide patient care, such as transporters or registration clerks, may require training in basic life support.

The appropriate level of training for those identified is repeated based on the requirements and/or time frames identified by a recognized training program, or every two years if a recognized training program is not used. There is evidence to show if each staff member attending the training actually achieved the desired competency level. (*Also see* SQE.5)

Measurable Elements of SQE.8.1

- 1. Staff members who provide patient care, including physicians, are trained in at least basic life support (BLS).
- 2. The hospital identifies the level of training (basic or advanced life support), appropriate to their roles in the hospital, for all staff who provide patient care.
- 3. There is evidence to show if a staff member passed the training.
- 4. The desired level of training for each individual is repeated based on the requirements and/or time frames established by a recognized training program, or every two years if a recognized training program is not used.

Measurable Elements of SQE.8.1.1

- 1. If applicable, the hospital identifies other staff who do not provide patient care to be trained in basic life support (BLS).
- 2. When other staff who do not provide patient care are trained in basic life support, there is evidence to show if a staff member passed the training.
- 3. When other staff are trained, training for each individual is repeated based on the requirements and/ or time frames established by a recognized training program, or every two years if a recognized training program is not used.

Staff Health and Safety

Standard SQE.8.2

The hospital provides a staff health and safety program that addresses staff physical and mental health and safe working conditions.

①

Intent of SQE.8.2

A hospital's staff health and safety program is important to maintain staff physical and mental health, satisfaction, productivity, and safe conditions for work. (*Also see* SQE.5)

How a hospital orients and trains staff, provides a safe workplace, maintains equipment and medical equipment, prevents or controls health care—associated infections, and many other factors determine the health and well-being of staff. A staff health and safety program can be located within the hospital or be integrated into external programs. The program provides for the following:

- a) Initial employment health screening
- b) Measures to control harmful occupational exposures, such as exposure to toxic drugs and harmful noise levels (*Also see* AOP.5.3; COP.4; and COP.4.1)
- c) Education, training, and interventions on safe patient handling

- d) Education, training, and interventions on managing workplace violence (Also see QPS.7 and QPS.7.1)
- e) Education, training, and interventions for staff who may be second victims of adverse or sentinel events
- f) Treatment for common work-related conditions, such as back injuries, or more urgent injuries

Whatever the staffing and structure of the program, staff understand how to report, be treated for, and receive counseling and follow-up for common work-related injuries such as those that may result from needlesticks, exposure to infectious diseases, encounters with workplace violence, handling of patients, hazardous conditions in the facility, and other health and safety matters. The design of the program includes staff input and draws upon the hospital's clinical resources as well as those in the community.

Nursing and other staff who assist with moving patients are at increased risk of back injuries and other musculoskeletal injuries due to the physical demands of patient handling. Improper patient handling techniques can also have a negative impact on patient safety and quality of care. Patient movement and handling tasks are being done in many different types of clinical settings. Thus, there is not any one specific solution that is appropriate for all areas in which patient movement and handling occurs. **Examples** of safe handling interventions may include the use of gait belts, lateral transfer aids, training on body mechanics, implementation of a transfer team, and the like.

Violence in the workplace has become an increasingly common problem in health care organizations. Staff shortages, increased patient acuity, and the misconception that violence does not occur in health care organizations—or if violence does occur, it is part of the job—are just a few of the barriers to acknowledging that workplace violence exists and to developing violence prevention programs. (*Also see* QPS.7)

The caregiving environment often presents emotional challenges that can be mentally and physically stressful. Health care practitioners provide empathy and emotional support to patients and families, are often involved in ethical decision making, are frequently exposed to death and dying, and deliver care, treatment, and services in a physically demanding, high-stress environment. Repeated exposure to these emotional and physical challenges can create compassion fatigue and can lead to many adverse health and quality-of-life outcomes for health care workers. Promoting and sustaining staff resiliency to minimize stress are essential to creating a positive culture for the benefit of patients as well as staff. In addition, health care practitioners are often the second victims of errors and sentinel events. When patients and their family members are compromised by clinical errors, the remorse and anxiety felt by caregivers and their feelings of moral distress are frequently not acknowledged or addressed. Hospitals need to acknowledge that the emotional health and performance of health care practitioners involved in adverse and sentinel events can have an impact on the quality and safety of patient care. Best-practice research related to compassion fatigue and staff burnout recommends that hospitals create programs to support staff involved in sentinel and adverse events and to proactively develop skills to promote staff resiliency and promote staff health and well-being.

Measurable Elements of SQE.8.2

1.	The hospital provides a staff health and safety program that is responsive to urgent and nonurgent staff needs through direct treatment and referral.
2.	The staff health and safety program includes at least a) through f) in the intent.
3.	The hospital identifies areas/situations for potential workplace violence and implements intervention to reduce the risk.
4.	The hospital provides evaluation, counseling, and follow-up treatment for staff who are injured as a result of workplace violence.
5.	The hospital provides education, evaluation, counseling, and follow-up for staff who are second victims of adverse or sentinel events.
6.	The hospital promotes staff well-being by creating a culture of wellness that supports physical well-being and emotional health.

Standard SQE.8.3

The hospital identifies staff who are at risk for exposure to and possible transmission of vaccine-preventable diseases and implements a staff vaccination and immunization program.

①

Intent of SQE.8.3

Due to their contact with patients and patients' infectious material, many health care practitioners are at risk for exposure to and possible transmission of vaccine-preventable diseases. Identifying epidemiologically important infections, determining staff at high risk for these infections, and implementing screening and prevention programs (such as immunizations, vaccinations, and prophylaxis) can significantly reduce the incidence of infectious disease transmission. (*Also see* AOP.5.3.1; PCI.2; PCI.8; and PCI.8.1) Asymptomatic infections are common, and individuals can be infectious prior to having any symptoms, including from influenza. In addition, studies show that health care practitioners often report to work even when ill.

Hospitalized patients are at significant risk of injury or death from health care—associated infectious disease transmissions. Infectious disease outbreaks in hospitalized patients have been traced to unvaccinated health care practitioners, particularly in the case of influenza. Hospitals must consider taking steps toward reducing the risks associated with the transmission of infectious diseases by unvaccinated health care practitioners. Health care practitioners have an ethical and professional obligation to protect themselves, their coworkers, and patients/families. Vaccination is a duty for all health care practitioners.

Strategies for reducing patients' risk of exposure to infectious diseases may include efforts to promote flu vaccination, encouraging staff to get the flu vaccine, and requiring unvaccinated staff to wear masks during flu season. Unvaccinated staff providing care to patients who are vulnerable to infection, such as the immunocompromised, the elderly, and infants, increases the risks to those patients already at high risk for infection. Therefore, staff immunization status needs to be considered when making staff assignments.

Measurable Elements of SQE.8.3

- 1. The hospital identifies epidemiologically significant infections, as well as staff who are at high risk for exposure to and transmission of infections.
- 2. The hospital develops and implements a staff vaccination and immunization program.
- 3. The hospital evaluates the risks associated with unvaccinated staff and identifies strategies for reducing the patient's risk of exposure to infectious diseases from unvaccinated staff.
- 4. The infection prevention and control program guides the evaluation, counseling, and follow-up of staff exposed to infectious diseases.

Determining Medical Staff Membership

Standard SQE.9

The hospital has a uniform process for gathering the credentials of those medical staff members permitted to provide patient care without supervision.

②

Standard SQE.9.1

Medical staff members' education, licensure/registration, and other credentials required by law or regulation and the hospital are verified and kept current.

①

Standard SQE.9.2

Intent of SQE.9 Through SQE.9.2

Explanations of terms and expectations found in these standards are as follows:

Credentials

Credentials are documents that are issued by a recognized entity to indicate completion of requirements or the meeting of eligibility requirements, such as a diploma from a medical school, specialty training (residency) completion letter or certificate, completion of the requirements of a medical professional organization, a license to practice, or recognition of registration with a medical or dental council. These documents, some of which are required by law or regulation, but some by hospital policy, must be verified from the original source that issued the document.

Credentials can also be documents from individuals and entities that address some aspect of the applicant's professional history or competency, such as letters of recommendation, a history of all previous hospital medical staff appointments, records of previous clinical care, health history, picture, or police background check, **for example**. These documents may be required by hospital policy as part of the credential-gathering process but are not verified from the source that issued the document unless required by hospital policy. This requirement for verification of the credential will vary by the position the applicant is seeking. **For example**, for an applicant for leader of a department/clinical service, the hospital may want to verify information regarding the individual's previous administrative positions and experience. Also, for clinical positions, the hospital may require a certain number of years of experience and thus would verify this level of experience.

Medical Staff

Medical staff are all physicians, dentists, and other professionals who are licensed to practice independently (without supervision) and who provide preventive, curative, restorative, surgical, rehabilitative, or other medical or dental services to patients; or who provide interpretative services for patients, such as pathology, radiology, or laboratory services. All classifications of appointments, all types and levels of staff (employed, honorary, contract, visiting, and private community staff members), are included. Visiting staff include those who are locum tenentes, or invited experts, "master class" teachers, and others allowed to provide patient care services temporarily. A hospital must define those other practitioners, such as "house officers," "hospitalists," and "junior doctors," who are no longer in training, but may or may not be permitted by the hospital to practice independently. The term medical staff is thus inclusive of all physicians and other professionals permitted to treat patients with partial or full independence, regardless of their relationship to the hospital (for example, employed staff or independent consultants). (Also see SQE.1.1) Note that in some cultures traditional medicine practitioners, such as acupuncturists, chiropractors, and others, may be permitted by law and the hospital to practice independently Thus, they are considered medical staff members, and these standards apply in full. (Also see GLD.6.2)

Verification

Verification is the process of checking the validity and completeness of a credential from the source that issued the credential. This process can be accomplished by an inquiry to a secure online database of, **for example**, those individuals licensed in the hospital's city or country. The process can also be accomplished by documenting a telephone conversation with the issuing source, or by corresponding via e-mail or conventional postal letter inquiry with the source. Verification of credentials from outside the country may be more complex and, in some cases, not possible. There should, however, be evidence of a credible effort to verify the credential. A credible effort is characterized by multiple (at least two within 60 days) attempts by various methods (**for example**, phone, e-mail, and letter) with documentation of the attempts and result(s).

The three following situations are acceptable substitutes for a hospital performing primary source verification of credentials:

- 1) Applicable to hospitals overseen directly by governmental bodies, the government's verification process, supported by the availability of published governmental regulations about primary source verification; plus, government licensure, or equivalent such as a registration; and the granting of specific status (**for example**, consultant, specialist, and others) are acceptable. As with all third-party verification processes, it is important to verify that the third party (**for example**, a government agency) implements the verification process as described in policy or regulations and that the process meets the expectations described in these standards.
- 2) Applicable to all hospitals, an affiliated hospital that has already conducted primary source verification of the medical staff applicant is acceptable as long as the affiliated hospital has current Joint Commission International (JCI) accreditation with "full compliance" on its verification process found in SQE.9.1, MEs 1 and 2. *Full compliance* means the hospital's Official Survey Findings Report indicates that all measurable elements are fully met, or any not met or partially met measurable element required to be addressed by Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) actions have been addressed and are now in full compliance.
- 3) Applicable to all hospitals, the credentials have been verified by an independent third party, such as a designated, official, governmental, or nongovernmental agency, as long as the following conditions apply: Any hospital that bases its decisions in part on information from a designated, official, governmental, or nongovernmental agency should have confidence in the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of that information. To achieve this level of confidence in the information, the hospital should evaluate the agency providing the information initially and then periodically thereafter to ensure that JCI standards continue to be met.

It is important to understand the process for issuing some credentials. **For example**, does the government agency that issues the license to practice base its decision on any or all of the following: verification of education, an examination of competence, training by a medical specialty association, or membership and payment of fees? Also, if admission to a specialty education program is based on verification of education and experience to date, the hospital does not need to verify education again. The process used by the government agency is documented by the hospital. If the hospital does not have direct knowledge of the process used by the agency to verify education, or the hospital has never had an opportunity to verify that the agency carries out the process as described, then the hospital needs to perform its own verification. (*Also see* SQE.13 and SQE.15)

Exception for SQE.9.1, ME 1, for initial surveys only. At the time of the initial JCI accreditation survey, hospitals are required to have completed primary source verification for new practitioners who joined the medical staff within the twelve (12) months leading up to the initial survey. During the twelve (12) months following the initial survey, hospitals are required to complete primary source verification for all other medical staff members. This process is accomplished over the 12-month postsurvey period according to a plan that places priority on the verification of the credentials of active medical staff providing high-risk services.

Note: This exception refers only to the verification of credentials. All medical staff members have to have their credentials gathered and reviewed, and their privileges granted. There is no "phasing in" of this process.

Appointment

Appointment is the process of reviewing an initial applicant's credentials to decide if the individual is qualified to provide patient care services that the hospital's patients need, and the hospital can support with qualified staff and technical capabilities. For initial applicants, the information reviewed is primarily from outside sources. Hospital policy identifies the individuals or mechanism accountable for this review, any criteria used to make decisions, and how decisions will be documented. Hospital policy identifies the process of appointment of independent practitioners for emergency needs or a temporary period. For such individuals, the appointment and identification of privileges are not made until at minimum licensure has been verified.

Reappointment

Reappointment is the process of reviewing the medical staff member's file to verify

- continued licensure;
- that the medical staff member is not compromised by disciplinary actions of licensing and certification agencies;
- that the file contains sufficient documentation for seeking new or expanded privileges or duties in the hospital; and
- that the medical staff member is physically and mentally able to provide patient care and treatment without supervision.

The information for this review is from both internal and external sources. When a clinical department/service (**for example**, a subspecialty service) does not have a leader, there is a hospital policy that identifies who will do the review of the professionals in that department/service. The credential file of a medical staff member should be a dynamic source of information and under constant review. (*Also see* SQE.5) **For example**, when a medical staff member presents a certificate of achievement related to an advanced degree or advanced specialty training, the new credential should be immediately verified from the issuing source. Similarly, when an outside agency investigates a sentinel event related to a medical staff member and issues sanctions, this information should be used promptly to reevaluate the clinical privileges of the medical staff member. To ensure that medical staff files are complete and accurate, the files are reviewed at least every three years, and a note in the file indicates any actions taken or that no action is necessary and the appointment to the medical staff continues.

Medical staff membership may not be granted if the hospital does not have the special medical equipment or staff to support the professional practice of the individual. **For example**, a nephrologist seeking to provide dialysis services at the hospital may not be granted medical staff membership if the hospital does not provide such services.

Finally, when an applicant's licensure/registration has been verified from the issuing source, but other documents—such as education and training—have yet to be verified, the individual may be granted medical staff membership, and privileges may be identified for the applicant for a period not to exceed 90 days. Under such circumstances, these individuals may not practice independently and require supervision until all credentials have been verified. Supervision is clearly defined in hospital policy as to level and conditions and is not to exceed 90 days. (*Also see* SQE.3)

Measurable Flements of SQF 9

1.	The hospital has an ongoing, uniform process to manage the credentials of medical staff members.
2.	Medical staff members permitted by laws, regulations, and the hospital to provide patient care without supervision are identified.
3.	Education, licensure/registration, and other credentials required by law or regulation are copied by the hospital and maintained for each medical staff member in his or her personnel file or in a separate credential file.
4.	All credentials required by hospital policy are copied by the hospital and maintained for each medical staff member in his or her personnel file or in a separate credential file.

Measurable Elements of SQE.9.1

- 1. Education, licensure/registration, and other credentials required by law or regulation or issued by recognized education or professional entities as the basis for clinical privileges are verified from the original source that issued the credential.
- 2. Additional credentials required by hospital policy are verified from the source that issued the credential when required by hospital policy.
- 3. When third-party verification is used, the hospital verifies that the third party (**for example**, a government agency) implements the verification process as described in policy or regulations and that the process meets the expectations described in the intent.

Measurable Elements of SQE.9.2

- 1. Medical staff appointments are made according to hospital policy and are consistent with the hospital's patient population, mission, and services provided to meet patient needs.
- 2. Appointments are not made until at least licensure/registration has been verified from the primary source, and the medical staff member then provides patient care services under supervision until all credentials required by laws and regulations have been verified from the original source, up to a maximum of 90 days.
- 3. The method of supervision, frequency of supervision, and accountable supervisors are documented in the credential file of the individual.

The Assignment of Medical Staff Clinical Privileges

Standard SQE.10

The hospital has a standardized, objective, evidence-based procedure to authorize medical staff members to admit and to treat patients and/or to provide other clinical services consistent with their qualifications.

②

Intent of SQE.10

The determination of a medical staff member's current clinical competence and making a decision about what clinical services the medical staff member will be permitted to perform, often called privileging, is the most critical determination a hospital will make to protect the safety of patients and to advance the quality of its clinical services.

Considerations for clinical privilege delineation at initial appointment include the following:

- Decisions regarding a practitioner's clinical competence, and thus what clinical privileges he or she is to be granted, are based primarily on information and documentation received from outside the hospital. The source may include specialty education programs, letters of recommendation from previous medical staff appointments and/or close colleagues, and any quality data that may be released to the hospital. In general, these sources of information, other than those from educational institutions such as medical specialty programs, are not verified from the source unless required by hospital policy. Although these outside sources may not give clear, objective evidence of current clinical competence, at least the areas of presumed competence are identified. (*Also see* SQE.2) Ongoing professional practice evaluation (*also see* SQE.11) will validate the areas of presumed competence.
- There is no one best way to delineate those clinical activities the new medical staff member is
 privileged to perform. Specialty training programs may identify and list the general competencies of
 that specialty in areas of diagnosis and treatment—with the hospital assigning privileges to diagnose

- and treat patients in those specialty competency areas. Other organizations may choose to list out in detail each type of patient and treatment procedure.
- Within each specialty area the process of privilege delineation is uniform; however, this process may not be the same in all specialty areas. Thus, the privileges will be different for general surgeons, pediatricians, dentists, or radiologists, for example; however, within each of these groups the process for privilege delineation will be standardized. For family practitioners, primary care practitioners, and others who provide a variety of general medicine, obstetrics, pediatrics, and other services, the privilege delineation identifies which "specialty" services can be provided.
- The decision as to how clinical privileges are delineated in a specialty area is linked with other processes, including
 - selection by the department/service leaders of what processes are to be monitored through data collection; (Also see GLD.11.1)
 - use of those data in the ongoing professional practice evaluation process of the medical staff in the department/service; (*Also see* SQE.11) and
 - o use of the monitoring data in the process of reappointment and the renewal of privileges. (Also see SQE.12)
- In addition to the privileges granted in relation to the individual's education and training, the hospital identifies areas of high risk, such as the administration of chemotherapeutic agents, other classes of drugs, or high-risk procedures for which the medical staff member is explicitly granted such privileges or denied such privileges. The high-risk procedures, drugs, or other services are identified by each specialty area and evident in the privilege delineation process. Finally, some procedures may be high risk due to the instrumentation used, such as in the case of robotic and other computerized or remotely operated surgical or therapeutic equipment. Also, implantable medical devices require skills in implantation, calibration, and monitoring for which privileges should be specifically granted. (*Also see* ASC.7.4)
- Also, privileges are not granted if the hospital does not have the special medical equipment or staff
 to support the exercise of a privilege. For example, a nephrologist competent to do dialysis, or a
 cardiologist competent to insert stents, are not privileged for these procedures if the hospital does not
 provide such services.
- Finally, when an applicant's licensure/registration has been verified from the issuing source, but other documents—such as education and training—have yet to be verified, privileges are identified for the applicant. However, these applicants may not practice independently until all credentials have been verified by the processes described above. Such supervision is clearly defined in hospital policy as to level, conditions, and duration.

Note: When a medical staff member also has administrative responsibilities, such as chair or chief of a clinical department, administrator of the hospital, or other such position, the responsibilities for this role are identified in a job description. (*Also see* SQE.1.1) Hospital policy identifies the primary source verification of the credentials presented in support of this administrative role.

The privilege delineation process

- a) is standardized, objective, and evidence-based;
- b) is documented in hospital policies;
- c) is active and ongoing as the credentials of medical staff members change;
- d) is followed for all classes of medical staff membership; and
- e) can be demonstrated as to how the procedure is used effectively.

The clinical privileges of all medical staff members are made available by printed copy, electronic copy, or other means to those individuals or locations (**for example**, operating room, emergency department) in the hospital in which the medical staff member will provide services. The medical staff member is provided a copy of his or her clinical privileges. Updated information is communicated when the clinical privileges of a medical staff member change. (*Also see* GLD.6.2)

Measurable Elements of SQE.10

- 1. The privilege delineation process used by the hospital meets criteria a) through e) found in the intent.
- 2. The clinical privileges of all medical staff members are made available by printed copy, electronic copy, or other means to those individuals or locations (**for example**, operating room, emergency department) in the hospital in which the medical staff member will provide services.
- 3. Each medical staff member provides only those services that have been specifically granted by the hospital.

Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation of Medical Staff Members

Standard SQE.11

Intent of SQE.11

Explanations of terms and expectations found in these standards are as follows:

Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation

Ongoing professional practice evaluation is the process of ongoing data collection for the purpose of assessing a practitioner's clinical competence and professional behavior. The information gathered during this process is factored into decisions to maintain, revise, or revoke existing privilege(s) prior to or at the end of the three-year renewal decision. The department/service leader is responsible for the integration of the data and information on medical staff and taking appropriate actions. Immediate actions may be to counsel the staff member, place him or her under supervision, limit privileges, or other measures intended to limit risks to patients and improve quality of care and patient safety. Longer-term actions include synthesizing the data and information into a recommendation for continued medical staff membership and clinical privileges. Other actions may be to note to other medical staff members the benchmark behaviors and clinical results evident in the data and information of the medical staff member.

The ongoing professional practice evaluation of medical staff members provides critical information to the process of maintaining medical staff membership and to the process of granting clinical privileges. (*Also see* SQE.10) Although three-year cycles are required for renewing medical staff membership and clinical privileges, the process is intended to be ongoing and dynamic. Critical quality and patient safety incidents can arise if a medical staff member's clinical performance issues are not communicated and acted on when they arise.

The process of ongoing professional practice evaluation is intended to

- improve individual practices as they relate to high-quality, safe patient care;
- provide the basis for reducing variation within a department/service through comparisons among colleagues and the development of practice guidelines and clinical protocols; and
- provide the basis for improving the results of the entire department/service through comparisons with external benchmark practices and published research and clinical results.

The ongoing professional practice evaluation of medical staff members encompasses three general areas—behaviors, professional growth, and clinical results.

Behaviors

Medical staff members are models and mentors in creating a safe culture in a hospital. A safe culture is characterized by full participation by all staff, without fear of reprisal or marginalization. Safe cultures also include high respect between professional groups in which disruptive and other behaviors do not occur. Staff feedback through surveys and other mechanisms can shape desired behaviors and can support medical staff role models.

An evaluation of behaviors can include

- evaluation of whether a medical staff member understands and supports the hospital's code of behavior and the identification of acceptable and unacceptable behaviors;
- an absence of reported behaviors by the medical staff member that are identified as unacceptable; and
- gathering, analysis, and use of information and data from staff surveys and other sources regarding the culture of safety in the hospital.

The ongoing professional practice evaluation process should indicate, as part of the review process, the relevant achievements and challenges of the medical staff member in efforts to be a full participant in a safe and just culture. (*Also see* SQE.10)

Professional Growth

Medical staff members grow and mature as the organizations in which they practice evolve, introducing new patient groups, technologies, and clinical science. Each medical staff member, to varying degrees, will reflect growth and improvement in the following important dimensions of health care and professional practice:

- Patient care, including provision of patient care that is compassionate, appropriate, and effective for
 health promotion, disease prevention, treatment of disease, and care at the end of life. (Potential
 measures include frequency of preventive services and reports/complaints from patients and families.)
 (Also see PCC.3.1)
- Medical/clinical knowledge, including knowledge of established and evolving biomedical, clinical, epidemiologic, and social-behavioral sciences, as well as the application of knowledge to patient care and the education of others. (Potential measures include application of clinical practice guidelines, including the adaptation and revision of guidelines; participation in professional conferences; and publications.) (Also see GLD.11.2)
- Practice-based learning and improvement, including use of scientific evidence and methods to
 investigate, evaluate, and continuously improve patient care based on self-evaluation and lifelong
 learning. (Examples of potential measures include self-motivated clinical inquiry/research, acquiring
 new clinical privileges based on study and acquiring new skills, and full participation in meeting
 professional specialty requirements or continuing education requirements of licensure.)
- Interpersonal and communication skills, including establishment and maintenance of effective exchange of information and collaboration with patients, their families, and other members of health care teams. (**Examples** of potential measures include participation in teaching rounds, team consultations, team leadership, and patient and family feedback.)
- Professionalism, including commitment to continuous professional development, ethical practice, an understanding and sensitivity to diversity, and a responsible attitude toward patients, their profession, and society. (**Examples** of potential measures include an opinion leader within the medical staff on clinical and professional issues, service on an ethics panel or discussions of ethical issues, keeping appointed schedules, and community participation.)
- System-based practices, including awareness of and responsiveness to the larger contexts and
 systems of health care, as well as the ability to call effectively on other resources in the system to
 provide optimal health care. (Examples of potential measures include understanding the meaning
 of frequently used hospitalwide systems, such as the medication system; and awareness of the
 implications of the overuse, underuse, and misuse of systems.)
- Stewardship of resources, including understanding the need for stewardship of resources, and practicing cost-conscious care, including avoiding the overuse and misuse of diagnostic tests and

therapies that do not benefit patient care but add to health care costs. (**Examples** of potential measures include participation in key purchasing decisions within the medical staff member's practice area, participating in efforts to understand appropriate use of resources, and being aware of the cost to patients and payers of the services provided.) (*Also see* GLD.7)

The ongoing professional practice evaluation process should recognize, as part of the review process, the relevant areas of achievement and potential improvement of the medical staff member in these professional growth areas.

Clinical Results

The ongoing professional practice evaluation process for a medical staff member reviews information common to all medical staff members as well as specific information related to the clinical privileges of the member and the services provided by his or her specialty

Hospitalwide Data Sources. Hospitals collect a variety of data for use in management; **for example**, reporting to health authorities to support allocation of resources or payment of services. To be useful in the ongoing evaluation of an individual medical staff member, such hospitalwide data

- need to be collected in such a manner that individual practitioners can readily be identified;
- must relate to the clinical practice of the individual medical staff member; and
- can be benchmarked internally and, as available, externally to understand individual practitioner patterns.

Examples of such potential sources of data include length of stay, frequency of diagnostic testing, blood usage, and usage of certain drugs, among others.

Department-Specific Data Sources. Data are also collected at the level of each department/service. The department/service leader sets the priorities for measurement in the department for purposes of monitoring as well as improvement. The measures are specific to the services provided and the clinical privileges of the individual medical staff members within the department. As with hospitalwide data, to be useful in the ongoing evaluation of an individual department/service member, the data

- need to be collected in a manner such that individual practitioners can readily be identified;
- must relate to the clinical practice of the individual medical staff member; and
- can be benchmarked within the department/service and/or externally to understand individual practitioner patterns.

Examples of such potential department/service data include frequency of clinical procedures performed, complications, outcomes, and use of resources such as consultants, among others.

Also, it is important to note that it is not anticipated that any department/service will have the capacity or need to monitor all the listed privileges of every practitioner. It is more feasible to collect data on key services or some aspect of key services on the department level for which all or most department/service staff members have privileges.

Thus, there is no one set of data that will suffice to monitor and evaluate all medical staff members. The choice of data, the frequency of monitoring and analysis, and the actual use of the data and documentation in the record of the medical staff member are very specific to the department/service, to the relevant profession, and to the privileges of the practitioner. The ongoing professional practice evaluation of medical staff members is supported by a variety of data sources, including electronic and paper records, observations, and peer interactions.

An important final step is to ask the question: "How is this practitioner doing compared to other colleagues within his or her department and in comparison to professional colleagues in other hospitals, regions, or countries?" The internal comparison is primarily to reduce variation in practice and outcomes within the department and learn from the best practices within the department. The external comparison is to ensure that the hospital achieves best practices within the respective profession. Each department will have knowledge of

those professional databases, clinical practice guidelines, and scientific literature sources that describe those desirable benchmark practices. **For example**, oncology registries can be helpful, or data from practitioners using the same science (clinical practice guidelines). Similarly, a national or international surgical society may collect outcome or complication data.

In summary, the medical staff member ongoing professional practice evaluation process

- is standardized by type of medical staff member and/or department or clinical services unit;
- uses the monitoring data and information for internal comparisons to reduce variation in behaviors, professional growth, and clinical results;
- uses the monitoring data and information for external comparisons with available, objective, evidence-based best practice or benchmark sources of clinical result data and information;
- is conducted by the individual's department or service head, senior medical manager, or a medical staff review body;
- includes the monitoring and evaluation of senior medical staff and department heads by an appropriate professional; and
- provides information that will be documented in the medical staff member's file, including the results of reviews, actions taken, and the impact of those actions on privileges (if any). (*Also see* SQE.12)

Finally, although the process of monitoring and evaluation of medical staff members is intended to be ongoing, and data and information may be accumulated on an ongoing basis, hospital policy requires a review at least once during a 12-month period. The review is conducted by the individual's department or service head, a senior medical manager, or a medical staff review body. Findings, conclusions, and any actions taken or recommended are recorded in the medical staff member's file. When the findings affect the appointment or privileges of the medical staff member, there is a process to act on the findings. Such immediate "for cause" actions are documented in the practitioner's file and are reflected in the list of clinical privileges. Notification is sent to those sites in which the practitioner provides services. (*Also see* SQE.3)

Measurable Elements of SQE.11

1.	All medical staff members are included in an ongoing professional practice evaluation process as defined by hospital policy and standardized evaluation at the department/service level.
2.	The ongoing professional practice evaluation process identifies areas of achievement and potential improvement related to the behaviors, professional growth, and clinical results of the medical staff member, and the results are reviewed with objective and evidence-based information as available. These results are compared to other department/service medical staff members.
3.	The data and information from the monitoring are reviewed at least every 12 months by the individual's department or service head, senior medical manager, or medical staff body, and the results, conclusions, and any actions taken are documented in the medical staff member's credential file and other relevant files.
4.	When the findings affect the appointment or privileges of the medical staff member, there is a proces to act on the findings, and such "for cause" actions are documented in the practitioner's file and are reflected in the list of clinical privileges. Notification is sent to those sites in which the practitioner provides services.

Medical Staff Reappointment and Renewal of Clinical Privileges

Standard SQE.12

Intent of SQE.12

Explanations of terms and expectations found in these standards are as follows:

Reappointment

Reappointment is the process of reviewing, at least every three years, the medical staff member's file to verify

- continued licensure;
- that the medical staff member is not compromised by disciplinary actions of licensing and certification agencies;
- that the file contains sufficient documentation for seeking new or expanded privileges or duties in the hospital; and
- that the medical staff member is physically and mentally able to provide patient care and treatment without supervision.

The information for this review is gathered from the internal, ongoing professional practice evaluation of the medical staff member, as well as from external sources such as regulatory or professional organizations or agencies. Hospital policy identifies the individual (such as the leader of a specialty service) or mechanism (such as a medical staff office when a department/service leader is not present or accountable for this review), any criteria used to make decisions, and how decisions will be documented. The credential file of a medical staff member should be a dynamic source of information and under constant review. For example, when a medical staff member presents a certificate of achievement related to an advanced degree or advanced specialty training, the new credential should be immediately verified from the issuing source. Similarly, when an outside agency investigates a sentinel event related to a medical staff member and issues sanctions, this information should be used promptly to reevaluate the clinical privileges of the medical staff member. To ensure that medical staff files are complete and accurate, the files are reviewed at least every three years, and a note in the file indicates any actions taken or that no action is necessary and the appointment to the medical staff continues.

Considerations for clinical privilege delineation at reappointment include the following:

- Medical staff members may be granted additional privileges based on advanced education and training. The education and training are verified from the source providing the education or training or issuing the credential. The full exercise of the added privilege may be delayed until the verification process is complete or when there is a required period of supervised practice prior to granting an unrestricted new privilege; for example, a required number of supervised cases of robotic surgery.
- Medical staff members may have their privileges continued, limited, reduced, or terminated based on
 - the results of the ongoing professional practice review process; (Also see SQE.11)
 - limitations placed on the individual's privileges by an outside professional, governmental, or regulatory agency;
 - the hospital's findings from an evaluation of a sentinel or other event;
 - the health of the practitioner; or
 - the request of the practitioner.

Measurable Elements of SQE.12

- 1. Based on the ongoing professional practice evaluation of the medical staff member, the hospital determines, at least every three years, if medical staff membership and clinical privileges are to continue with or without modification.
- 2. There is evidence in the file of each medical staff member that all credentials that require periodic renewal, payment of a registration fee, or other action by the medical staff member are current.
- ☐ 3. Credentials obtained subsequent to initial appointment are evident in the file of the medical staff member and have been verified from the primary source prior to use in modifying or adding to clinical privileges.
- 4. The renewal decision is documented in the medical staff member's credential file and includes the identification of the reviewer and any special conditions identified during the review.

Nursing Staff

Standard SQE.13

The hospital has a uniform process to gather, to verify, and to evaluate the nursing staff's credentials (license, education, training, and experience).

①

Intent of SQE.13

The hospital needs to ensure that it has a qualified nursing staff that appropriately matches its mission, resources, and patient needs. The nursing staff are responsible for providing direct patient care. In addition, nursing care contributes to the overall patient outcomes. The hospital must ensure that nurses are qualified to provide nursing care and must specify the types of care they are permitted to provide if not identified in laws or regulations. The hospital ensures that each nurse is qualified to provide safe and effective care and treatment to patients by

- understanding the applicable laws and regulations that apply to nurses and nursing practice;
- gathering all available credentials on each nurse, including at least
 - evidence of education/training;
 - evidence of current licensure;
 - evidence of current competence through information from other sources in which the nurse was employed; and
 - letters of recommendation and/or other information the organization may require, such as health history, pictures, among others; and
- verification of the essential information, such as current registry or licensure, particularly when such
 documents are periodically renewed, and any certifications and evidence of completion of specialized
 or advanced education.

The hospital needs to make every effort to verify essential information, even when the education took place in another country and a significant time ago. Secure websites, documented phone confirmation from the source, written confirmation, and third parties, such as a designated, official governmental or nongovernmental agency, can be used. The situations described for medical staff in the intent of SQE.9 are considered acceptable substitutes for an organization performing primary source verification of nurse credentials.

Standards compliance requires that primary source verification is carried out for all nurses. *Exception:* For a JCI initial accreditation survey, hospitals are required to have completed primary source verification for new nurse applicants within the twelve (12) months leading up to the initial survey. During the twelve (12) months following the initial survey, hospitals are required to complete primary source verification for all other currently

employed nurses. This process is accomplished over the 12-month postsurvey period according to a plan that places priority on the verification of the credentials of currently employed nurses providing high-risk services, such as in the operating theatre, emergency department, or intensive care unit.

Note: This exception refers only to the verification of credentials.

When verification is not possible, such as with the loss of records in a disaster, this is documented.

The hospital has a process that ensures that the credentials of each contract nurse have also been gathered, verified, and reviewed to ensure current medical competence prior to assignment. (Also see GLD.6) The hospital gathers and maintains a file of each nurse's credentials. The files contain current licenses when regulations require periodic renewal. There is documentation of training related to any additional competencies. (Also see SQE.5)

Measurable Elements of SQE.13

)	1.	The hospital has a standardized procedure to gather and document the education, certifications, and
		experience of each nursing staff member.

- 2. Education, training, and certifications are verified from the original source according to parameters found in the intent of SQE.9 and are documented.
- 3. Licensure is verified from the original source according to the parameters found in the intent of SQE.9 and is documented.
- 4. There is a record maintained of the credentials of every nursing staff member.
- 5. The hospital has a process to ensure that the credentials of contract nurses are valid and complete prior to assignment.
- 6. The hospital has a process to ensure that nurses who are not employees of the hospital but accompany private physicians and provide services to the hospital's patients have valid credentials.

Standard SQE.14

The hospital has a standardized process to identify job responsibilities and to make clinical work assignments based on the nursing staff member's credentials and any regulatory requirements.

Standard SQE.14.1

The hospital has a standardized process for nursing staff participation in the hospital's quality improvement activities, including evaluating individual performance when indicated.

Intent of SQE.14 and SQE.14.1

Review of the qualifications of the nursing staff member provides the basis for assigning job responsibilities and clinical work assignments. Work assignments may be described in more detail in a job description (*also see* SQE.1.1) or described in other ways or documents that support how nurse staffing assignments are made (*also see* SQE.6), such as assignment to geriatric or pediatric units or to high-acuity units. Assignments made by the hospital are consistent with any applicable laws and regulations regarding nursing responsibilities and clinical care. (*Also see* MMU.5.1; SQE.2; and SQE.3)

The nursing staff's essential clinical role requires them to actively participate in the hospital's clinical quality improvement program. If at any point during clinical quality measurement, evaluation, and improvement, a nursing staff member's performance is in question, the hospital has a process to evaluate that individual's performance. The results of reviews, actions taken, and any impact on job responsibilities are documented in the nurse's personnel file or in a separate credential file.

Measurable Elements of SQE.14

- 1. Licensure, education/training, and experience of a nursing staff member are used to make clinical work assignments.
- ☐ 2. The process considers relevant laws and regulations.
- ☐ 3. The process supports nurse staffing plans.

Measurable Elements of SQE.14.1

- 1. Nursing staff participate in the hospital's quality improvement activities.
- ☐ 2. The performance of individual nursing staff members is reviewed when indicated by the findings of quality improvement activities.
- ☐ 3. Appropriate information from the review process is documented in the nurse's personnel file or in a separate credential file.

Other Health Care Practitioners

Standard SQE.15

The hospital has a uniform process to gather, to verify, and to evaluate other health care practitioners' credentials (license, education, training, and experience).

②

Intent of SQE.15

Hospitals employ or may permit a variety of other health care practitioners to provide care and services to their patients or to participate in patient care processes. **For example**, these professionals include nurse practitioners, nurse midwives, surgical assistants, emergency medical care specialists, pharmacists, and pharmacy technicians. In some countries or cultures, this group also includes traditional healers or those who provide alternative services or services that complement traditional medical practice (**for example**, acupuncture, herbal medicine). Often, these individuals do not actually practice in the hospital; instead, they refer to the hospital or provide continuing or follow-up care for patients in the community. Many of these professionals complete formal training programs and receive licenses or certificates or are registered with local or national authorities. Others may complete less formal apprentice programs or other supervised experiences.

For those other health care practitioners permitted to work or to practice in the hospital, the hospital is responsible for gathering and verifying their credentials. The hospital must ensure that other health care practitioners are qualified to provide care and treatments and must specify the types of care and treatment they are permitted to provide if not identified in laws or regulations. The hospital ensures that other health care practitioners are qualified to provide safe and effective care and treatment to patients by

- understanding the applicable laws and regulations that apply to such practitioners;
- gathering all available credentials on each individual, including at least evidence of education and training and evidence of current licensure or certification when required; and
- verification of the essential information, such as current registry, licensure, or certification.

The hospital needs to make every effort to verify essential information relevant to the individual's intended responsibilities, even when the education took place in another country and a significant time ago. Secure websites, documented phone confirmation from the source, written confirmation, and third parties, such as a designated, official governmental or nongovernmental agency, can be used.

The situations described for medical staff in the intent of SQE.9 are acceptable substitutes for a hospital performing primary source verification for the credentials of other health care practitioners staff. (*Also see* GLD.6.2)

Standards compliance requires that primary source verification is carried out for all other health care practitioners.

Exception: For a JCI initial accreditation survey, hospitals are required to have completed primary source verification for new applicants within the twelve (12) months leading up to the initial survey. Hospitals are required to complete primary source verification for all other currently employed health care practitioners before the triennial accreditation survey.

Note: This exception refers only to the verification of credentials.

When there is no required formal education process, licensure, or registry process or other credential or evidence of competency, this is documented in the individual's record. When verification is not possible, such as with the loss of records in a disaster, this is documented in the individual's record. The hospital gathers and maintains a file of each health care practitioner's credentials. The files contain current licenses or registry when regulations require periodic renewal. (*Also see* SQE.5)

Measurable Elements of SQE.15

- 1. The hospital has a standardized process to gather and document the education, certifications, and experience of each health care practitioner.
- 2. Education, training, and certifications are verified from the original source according to the parameters found in the intent of SQE.9 and are documented.
- 3. Licensure is verified from the original source according to the parameters found in the intent of SQE.9 and is documented.
- 4. There is a record maintained on other health care practitioners that contains copies of any required license, certification, or registration.
 - 1 5. The hospital has a process to ensure that other staff who are not employees of the hospital but accompany private physicians and provide services to the hospital's patients have valid credentials that are comparable to the hospital's requirement for credentials.

Standard SQE.16

The hospital has a uniform process to identify job responsibilities and to make clinical work assignments based on other health care practitioners' credentials and any regulatory requirements.

Standard SQE.16.1

The hospital has a uniform process for other health care practitioners' participation in the hospital's quality improvement activities.

Intent of SQE.16 and SQE.16.1

The hospital is responsible for identifying the types of activities or range of services these individuals will provide in the hospital. This can be accomplished through agreements, job assignments, job descriptions, or other methods. (*Also see* SQE.1.1 and SQE.2) In addition, the hospital defines the level of supervision (consistent with existing laws and regulations), if any, for these professionals. Other health care practitioners are included in the hospital's quality management and improvement program.

Measurable Elements of SQE.16

- 1. Licensure, education, training, and experience of other health care practitioners are used to make clinical work assignments.
- ☐ 2. The process considers relevant laws and regulations.
- ☐ 3. The process supports the staffing process for other health care practitioners.

Measurable Elements of SQE 16.1

- 1. Other health care practitioners participate in the hospital's quality improvement activities.
- 2. The performance of other health care practitioners is reviewed when indicated by the findings of quality improvement activities.
- 3. Appropriate information from the review process is documented in the health care practitioner's file.

References

Staff Planning and Strategy

Griffiths P, et al. Nurse staffing levels, missed vital signs and mortality in hospitals: Retrospective longitudinal observational study. *Health Services and Dietary Research*. 2018 Nov;6(38). https://doi.org/10.3310/hsdr06380.

Mitchell BG, et al. Hospital staffing and health care—associated infections: A systematic review of the literature. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2018 Oct;44(10):613–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjq.2018.02.002.

Shaffer FA, et al. Code for ethical international recruitment practices: The CGFNS alliance case study. *Hum Resour Health.* 2016 Jun 30;14(Supple 1):113–119. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-016-0127-6.

Staffing Recruitment and Retention

Mbemba GIC, Gagnon MP, Hamelin-Brabant. Factors influencing recruitment and retention of healthcare workers in rural and remote areas in developed and developing countries: An overview. *J Public Health Afr.* 2016 Dec 31;7(2):61–66. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5345405/.

Tripathi R, Srivastava A. Recruitment and selection process in healthcare industry in India. *Amity Journal of Healthcare Management.* 2017;2(1):36–49.

World Health Organization. WISN: Workload Indicators

2020. https://www.who.int/hrh/resources/WISN_Eng_

World Health Organization. Workload Indicators of Staffing

Need (WISN): Selected Country Implementation Experiences. 2016. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/

bitstream/handle/10665/205943/9789241510059_eng.pdf.

of Staffing Need User's Manual. 2010. Accessed Jan 6,

<u>UsersManual.pdf?ua=1</u>.

Staffing Support

Alkorashy HA, Al Moalad FB. Workplace violence against nursing staff in a Saudi university hospital. *Int Nurs Rev.* 2016 Jun;63(2):226–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12242.

Auta A, et al. Health-care workers' occupational exposures to body fluids in 21 countries in Africa: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2017 Dec 1;95(12):831–841. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.17.195735.

Burlison JD, et al. The second victim experience and support tool: Validation of an organizational resource for assessing second victim effects and the quality of support resources. *J Patient Saf.* 2017 Jun;13(2):93–102. https://doi.org/

Cheung T, Yip PS. Workplace violence towards nurses in Hong Kong: Prevalence and correlates. *BMC Public Health*. 2017 Feb 14;17(1):196. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4112-3.

doi:10.1097/PTS.0000000000000129.

Choi SD, Brings K. Work-related musculoskeletal risks associated with nurses and nursing assistants handling overweight and obese patients: A literature review. *Work.* 2015;53(2):439–448. https://doi.org/10.3233/ WOR-152222.

Cocker F, Joss N. Compassion fatigue among healthcare, emergency and community service workers: A systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2016 Jun 22;13(6):E618. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13060618.

Dennerlein JT, et al. Lifting and exertion injuries decrease after implementation of an integrated hospital-wide safe patient handling and mobilization programme. *Occup Environ Med.* 2017:74:336–343. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2015-103507.

Donaghy C, Doherty R, Irwin T. Patient safety: A culture of openness and supporting staff. *Surgery*. 2018 Sep;36(9):509–514.

Edrees H, et al. Implementing the RISE second victim support programme at the Johns Hopkins Hospital: A case study. *BMJ Open*. 2016 Sep 30;6(9):e011708. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5051469/.

Frenzel E, et al. Association of increased influenza vaccination in health care workers with a reduction in nosocomial influenza infections in cancer patients. *Am J Infect Control*. 2016 Sep 1;44(9):1016–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2016.03.024.

Haridi HK, et al. Influenza vaccine uptake, determinants, motivators, and barriers of the vaccine receipt among healthcare workers in a tertiary care hospital in Saudi Arabia. *J Hosp Infect.* 2017 Jul;96(3):268–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.02.005.

Heiss K, Clifton M. The unmeasured quality metric: Burn out and the second victim syndrome in healthcare. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* 2019 Jun;28(3):189–194. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2019.04.011.

Hofmann, PB. Stress among healthcare professionals calls out for attention. *J Healthc Manag.* 2018 Sep–Oct;63(5):294–297.

The Joint Commission. Developing resilience to combat nurse burnout. *Quick Safety*, Issue 50. Jul 2019. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick Safety Nurse resilience FINAL 7 19 19.pdf.

National Academy of Medicine. A Pragmatic Approach for Organizations to Measure Health Care Professional Well-Being. Dyrbye LN, et al. Oct 1, 2018. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://nam.edu/a-pragmatic-approach-for-organiza-tions-to-measure-health-care-professional-well-being/.

National Taskforce for Humanity in Healthcare. *Position Paper: The Business Case for Humanity in Healthcare.* Apr 2018. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. http://healthcareexcellence.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/NTH-Business-Case 2018.pdf.

Nosewothy J, et al. Physician burnout is a public health crisis: A message to our fellow health care CEOs. *Health Aff (Millwood)* blog. Mar 28, 2017. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20170328.059397/full/.

Olinski C, Norton CE. Implementation of a safe patient handling program in a multihospital health system from inception to sustainability: Successes over 8 years and ongoing challenges. *Workplace Health Saf.* 2017 Nov;65(11):546–559. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165079917704670.

Pousette A, et al. The relationship between patient safety climate and occupational safety climate in healthcare—A multi-level investigation. *J Safety Res.* 2017 Jun;61:187–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2017.02.020.

Rashid H, et al. Assessing interventions to improve influenza vaccine uptake among healthcare workers. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2016 Feb;35(2):284–292. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1087.

Sinclair S, et al. Compassion fatigue: A meta-narrative review of the healthcare literature. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2017 Apr;69:9–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.01.003.

US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vaccine Information for Adults: Recommended Vaccines for Healthcare Workers. (Updated: Apr 20, 2107.) Accessed Jan 6, 2020. http://cdc.gov/vaccines/adults/rec-vac/hcw.html.

Medical Staff Credentialing, Privileging, and Ongoing Monitoring

Cervero RM, Gaines JK. The impact of CME on physician performance and patient health outcomes: An updated synthesis of systematic reviews. *J Contin Educ Health Prof.* 2015;35(2):131–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.21290.

Patel R, Sharma S. *Credentialing*. (Updated: Sep 11, 2019.) Treasure Island, FL. StatPearls Publishing, 2019. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK519504/# NBK519504_pubdet_.

Nursing Staff Credentialing and Assignment

Jansson MM, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of the effectiveness of simulation education: A 24-month follow-up study in a clinical setting. *Am J Infect Control*. 2016 Apr1;44(4):387–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2015.10.035.

Wind A, van Harten WH. Benchmarking specialty hospitals, a scoping review on theory and practice. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2017 Apr 4;17(1):245. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2154-y.

Management of Information (MOI)

Overview

Providing patient care is a complex endeavor that is highly dependent on the communication of information. This communication is to and with patients and their families, other health care practitioners, and the community. Failures in communication are one of the most common root causes of patient safety incidents. Often, these communication failures result from illegible handwriting, and the nonuniform or nonstandardized use of abbreviations, symbols, and codes across an organization. An integral part of information management in health care is monitoring and protecting the use of patients' information. To provide, coordinate, and integrate services, health care organizations rely on information about the science of care, individual patients, care provided, results of care, and their own performance. Like human, material, and financial resources, information is a resource that must be managed effectively by the organization's leaders. Every organization seeks to obtain, to manage, and to use information to improve patient outcomes as well as individual and overall organization performance.

Over time, organizations become more effective in

- identifying information and information technology needs;
- designing/deploying information management systems;
- defining and capturing data and information;
- analyzing data and transforming it into information;
- transmitting and reporting data and information;
- protecting confidentiality, security, and integrity of data and information; and
- integrating and using information for performance improvement.

Although computerization and other technologies improve efficiency, the principles of good information technology management apply to all documentation methodologies. These standards are designed to be equally compatible with noncomputerized systems and current/future technologies.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

Information Management

- **MOI.1** The hospital plans and designs information management processes to meet the information needs of those who provide clinical services, the hospital's leaders, and those outside the hospital who require data and information from the organization.
- **MO1.2** The hospital maintains the confidentiality, security, privacy, and integrity of data and information through processes to manage and control access.

- **MOI.2.1** The hospital maintains the confidentiality, security, privacy, and integrity of data and information through processes that protect against loss, theft, damage, and destruction.
- **MOI.3** The hospital determines the retention time of patient medical records, data, and other information. **(2)**
- **MOI.4** The hospital uses standardized diagnosis and procedure codes and ensures the uniform use of approved symbols and abbreviations across the hospital.
- **MO1.5** The data and information needs of those in and outside the hospital are met on a timely basis in a format that meets user expectations and with the desired frequency.
- **MOI.6** Clinical staff, decision makers, and other staff members are educated and trained on information systems, information security, and the principles of information use and management.

Management and Implementation of Documents

- **MOI.7** Documents, including policies, procedures, and programs, are managed in a consistent and uniform manner. **P**
 - **MOI.7.1** The policies, procedures, plans, and other documents that guide consistent and uniform clinical and nonclinical processes and practices are fully implemented.

 ②

Patient Medical Record

- **MOI.8** The hospital initiates and maintains a standardized, accurate medical record for every patient assessed or treated and determines the record's content, format, and location of entries. **P**
 - **MOI.8.1** The medical record contains sufficient information to identify the patient, to support the diagnosis, to justify the treatment, and to document the course and results of treatment.
- **MOI.9** Every patient medical record entry identifies its author and when the entry was made in the medical record
- **MOI.10** As part of its monitoring and performance improvement activities, the hospital regularly assesses patient medical record content.

Information Technology in Health Care

- **MOI.11** Hospital leadership identifies a qualified individual to oversee the hospital's health information technology systems and processes.
- **MOI.12** When mobile devices are used for texting, e-mailing, or other communications of patient data and information, the hospital implements processes to ensure quality of patient care and maintains security and confidentiality of patient information.

 ①
- **MOI.13** The hospital develops, maintains, and tests a program for response to planned and unplanned downtime of data systems.

 ①

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Information Management

Standard MOI.1

The hospital plans and designs information management processes to meet the information needs of those who provide clinical services, the hospital's leaders, and those outside the hospital who require data and information from the organization.

Intent of MOI.1

Information is generated and used during patient care, treatment, and services and for managing a safe and effective hospital. The ability to capture and to provide information requires effective planning. Planning incorporates input from a variety of sources who need or require data and information, including the following:

- The health care practitioners and other staff who provide clinical services
- The hospital's leadership and department/service leaders (*Also see GLD.3.2*)
- Individuals, services, and agencies outside the hospital who need or require data or information about the hospital's operation and care processes (*Also see* GLD.3.1)

The planning also includes the hospital's mission, services provided, resources, access to affordable technology, and support for effective communication among caregivers. The priority information needs of these sources influence the hospital's information management strategies and ability to implement those strategies. The strategies meet the needs of the hospital based on the hospital's size, complexity of services, availability of trained staff, and other human and technical resources. The information processes are comprehensive and include all of the departments and services of the hospital. Planning for the management of information does not require a formal written information program but does require evidence of a planned approach that identifies the hospital's information needs and processes for meeting those needs. (*Also see* QPS.4 and PCI.3)

Measurable Elements of MOI.1

- 1. The hospital plans and implements processes to meet the information needs of those who provide clinical services
- 2. The hospital plans and implements processes to meet the information needs of the hospital's leader-ship and department/service leaders.
- 3. The hospital plans and implements processes to meet the information needs and requirements of individuals, services, and agencies outside the hospital.
- 4. The processes implemented are appropriate to the hospital's size, complexity of services, availability of trained staff, technical resources, and other resources.

Standard MOI.2

The hospital maintains the confidentiality, security, privacy, and integrity of data and information through processes to manage and control access.

Standard MOI.2.1

The hospital maintains the confidentiality, security, privacy, and integrity of data and information through processes that protect against loss, theft, damage, and destruction.

Intent of MOI.2 and MOI.2.1

The hospital maintains the confidentiality, security, and integrity of data and information and is particularly careful about preserving confidential patient data and information. The balance between data sharing and data confidentiality is addressed. (*Also see PCC.1.3*; MMU.4.1; QPS.4; GLD.17; GLD.19; SQE.5; and MOI.8)

Whether a hospital uses paper and/or electronic information systems, the hospital implements measures to secure and protect data and information at all times. Data and information include patient medical records, data from medical equipment and devices, research data, quality data, billing data, human resources data, and other sources, as applicable to the organization. Security measures include processes to manage and control access. **For example**, to maintain confidentiality and security of patient medical records, the hospital determines who is authorized to access medical records and the authorized individual's level of access to the records.

When electronic information systems are used, the hospital implements processes for assigning privileges to authorized users in accordance with their level of access. Depending on level of access, an authorized user may be able to enter, modify, and delete information, or may have read-only access or restricted access to some systems or modules. Levels of access for an electronic medical record system may identify who can make entries in the medical record, who can enter patient orders, who can access high-security patient cases, who can access quality improvement data, and so on.

Each authorized individual's level of access to data and information is based on need and defined by the person's role and responsibilities. Students, trainees, scribes, and others, as determined by the hospital, are included. (*Also see* MOI.9) An effective process defines

- who is authorized to have access to data and information, including patient medical records;
- the information to which an authorized individual has access (level of access);
- the process for granting access privileges to authorized individuals;
- the individual's obligation to keep information confidential and secure;
- the process for maintaining data integrity (accuracy, consistency, and completeness); and
- the process followed when confidentiality, security, or data integrity are violated or compromised.

For hospitals with electronic information systems, monitoring access to patient data and information through security audits of access logs can help protect confidentiality and security. The hospital implements a process to proactively monitor access logs. Regular security audits can identify system vulnerabilities in addition to confidentiality and security policy violations. **For example**, as part of the process, the hospital can identify system users who have altered, edited, or deleted information and can track changes made to the electronic medical record. The results from this audit process can be used to validate that user permissions are appropriately set. Conducting security audits can also be effective in identifying vulnerabilities in security, such as user access and permissions that need to be updated or removed due to staff changes or turnover.

When documentation assistants, or scribes, assist health care practitioners with documentation, the hospital has processes to ensure protection of patient data and information. The hospital identifies the required qualifications, training, and competencies for scribes, as well as their job responsibilities, including the scope of documentation activities that a scribe can perform. As with anyone who has access to patient medical records, scribes must be authorized to access and make entries in the medical record, and their level of access is identified. When electronic medical records are used, any additional security measures for logging into the system are defined and implemented. **For example**, the hospital has processes to ensure that individuals log into and access the system using a unique credential assigned to only them and that credentials are not shared.

In addition to processes for managing and controlling access, the hospital ensures that paper and electronic medical records, data, and other information are protected from loss, theft, tampering, damage, and unintended destruction. It is important for the hospital to assess for vulnerabilities in the organization that pose potential risks to the security of data and information. The hospital conducts and documents an ongoing information security risk assessment, at least annually. The risk assessment considers a review of processes and new and planned services that may pose risks to data and information, wherever it is accessed or stored. Risks

are prioritized from the risk assessment, and improvements are identified and implemented to address the risks. Improvements are monitored to ensure that risks are prevented or eliminated.

To protect data and information, the hospital implements best practices for data security and ensures safe and secure storage of medical records, data, and information. Examples of security measures and strategies include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Ensuring that security software and system updates are current and up to-date
- Encrypting data, such as data stored in digital form
- Protecting data and information through backup strategies such as off-site storage and/or cloud backup services (Also see MOI.13)
- Storing physical medical records in locations where heat, water, and fire will not likely occur
- Storing active medical records in areas where only authorized health care practitioners have access
- Ensuring that server rooms and rooms for physical medical records are secured and accessible to only authorized individuals
- Ensuring that server rooms and rooms for physical medical records are kept at proper temperature and humidity levels to protect records/servers

N

Me	asu	rable Elements of MOI.2
	1.	The hospital develops and implements processes consistent with laws and regulations to ensure the confidentiality, security, and integrity of data and information.
	2.	The hospital identifies those authorized to access data and information, including those authorized to make entries in the patient medical record, and determines their level of access based on each individual's role and responsibilities.
	3.	The hospital has a process in place to grant authorized individuals access privileges to data and information in accordance with their level of access.
	4.	The hospital implements processes to ensure that data and information are accessed by authorized individuals only and in accordance with their level of access.
	5.	The hospital implements processes to ensure that only authorized individuals make entries in the patient medical record and in accordance with their level of access.
	6.	The hospital monitors compliance with the processes and takes actions when confidentiality, security, or data integrity are violated or compromised.
Me	asu	rable Elements of MOI.2.1
	1.	The hospital conducts and documents an annual information security risk assessment throughout the

N

Ш	1.	The hospital conducts and documents an annual information security risk assessment throughout the
		organization, and data security risks are identified and prioritized from the risk assessment.
	2.	Data and information are stored in a manner that protects against loss, theft, damage, and

- destruction. The hospital implements data security best practices to protect and secure data and information.
- The hospital identifies goals, implements improvements to address data security risks, and monitors improvement data to ensure that risks are reduced or eliminated.

Standard MOI.3

The hospital determines the retention time of patient medical records, data, and other information. 🕑

Intent of MOI.3

The hospital determines the retention time of medical records, data, and other information that are retained for sufficient periods to comply with laws and regulations and to support patient care, management, legal documentation, research, and education as applicable. (*Also see* MOI.2 and MOI.8) The retention process for medical records, data, and other information, including text messages and e-mails that contain information for medical records, is consistent with the hospital policies and procedures for maintaining the confidentiality and security of such information. When the retention period is complete, patient medical records, data, and other information are destroyed in a manner that does not compromise confidentiality and security.

Measurable Elements of MOI.3

- 1. The hospital determines the retention time of patient medical records and other data and information and complies with laws and regulations.
- 2. The retention process provides expected confidentiality and security.
- 3. Patient medical records, data, and other information are destroyed or deleted in a manner that does not compromise confidentiality and security.

Standard MOI.4

The hospital uses standardized diagnosis and procedure codes and ensures the uniform use of approved symbols and abbreviations across the hospital.

Intent of MOI.4

Standardization of codes and uniform use of symbols and abbreviations prevents miscommunication and potential errors in patient care. In addition, the uniform use of standardized diagnosis and procedure codes supports data aggregation and analysis.

Abbreviations can be problematic and at times even dangerous, particularly in the context of prescribing medications. For this reason, some hospitals do not allow the use of abbreviations in their organizations at all. When abbreviations are allowed in the hospital, processes are implemented to prevent or reduce risks to patient safety. Abbreviations are not used on informed consent documents, patient rights documents, discharge instructions, and discharge summaries. (*Also see* ACC.4.2 and ACC.5.1) Patients and families may not be familiar with or understand the hospital's approved abbreviations and may not be comfortable asking for clarification. In addition, if a discharge summary of the patient's care and treatment contains abbreviations and is sent with a patient being transferred to another organization, there is a risk to patient safety if the receiving organization uses some of the same abbreviations but with different meanings, or simply does not know the meanings of the abbreviations in the discharge summary.

Abbreviations are typically used on reports of laboratory and diagnostic imaging test results. When a patient receives laboratory and diagnostic imaging test results with abbreviations, it is expected that these test results are also shared with the patient's physician so that they can be reviewed with the patient. However, if the name of a test is used in the context of education or follow-up instructions (**for example**, discharge instructions that include information about monitoring serial blood tests, such as International Normalized Ratio [INR] or hemoglobin A1c), the abbreviations are not used, and the terms are spelled out and explained for the patient.

When a hospital uses abbreviations, the hospital develops and implements a process for the uniform use of approved abbreviations, such as through the use of a list. This uniform use includes each abbreviation having only one meaning. When abbreviations have more than one meaning, confusion as to what the author meant may result in medical errors. **For example**, the abbreviation *MS* could mean mitral stenosis in cardiology; however, in neurology, the abbreviation *MS* may be used for multiple sclerosis. In addition, confusion may arise when two abbreviations have the same letters but different letter case (**for example**, *Pt* for patient and *PT*

for physiotherapy). Even though the use of uppercase and lowercase letters differs between the two **examples**, they are essentially the same abbreviation with more than one meaning. It is important that abbreviation use is uniform and consistent across the hospital without differences in meanings between different departments or services.

When a hospital uses abbreviations, the hospital develops and/or adopts a do-not-use list of abbreviations and symbols. **For example**, the Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) maintains a list of abbreviations, symbols, and dose designations that "should never be used when communicating medical information." The items in the list were reported to ISMP as being frequently misinterpreted and involved in harmful medication errors.

The hospital's use of standardized codes and uniform use of approved symbols and abbreviations is consistent with standards of professional practice and complies with local laws and regulations as applicable. Staff are educated and trained on the principles of the standardization and uniform use of the hospital's codes, symbols, and abbreviations.

The principles of the standardized use of codes and uniform use of approved symbols and abbreviations apply to electronic medical record systems and electronic communications, such as e-mail and texting, that are used for communicating about patient care. (*Also see* MOI.10)

Measurable Elements of MOI.4

L	1.	The hospital	uses standardized	diagnosis co	des and p	procedure codes.

- 2. The hospital implements the uniform use of approved symbols and identifies those not to be used.
- 3. If the hospital allows abbreviations, the hospital implements the uniform use of approved abbreviations, and each abbreviation has only one meaning.
- 4. If the hospital allows abbreviations, the hospital develops and/or adopts a do-not-use list of abbreviations.
- 5. Abbreviations are not used on informed consent and patient rights documents, discharge instructions, and discharge summaries.
- ☐ 6. The hospital monitors the uniform use of codes, symbols, and abbreviations throughout the organization and takes actions to improve processes when needed.

Standard MOI.5

The data and information needs of those in and outside the hospital are met on a timely basis in a format that meets user expectations and with the desired frequency.

Intent of MOI.5

The dissemination of data and information to meet the needs of those in and outside the hospital is an important aspect of information management. Internally, health care practitioners, hospital leadership, department/service leaders, and other staff require specific data and information in a timely manner to allow them to carry out their responsibilities effectively and efficiently. **For example**, health care practitioners caring for a patient, including physicians, nurses, dietitians, pharmacists, and others, need access to up-to-date information and all applicable sections of the patient's medical record in order to provide safe and effective patient care.

Externally, the hospital may provide data and information to regulatory agencies (such as the Ministry of Health), health care practitioners (such as a patient's primary care physician in the community), health care services and organizations (such as an outside laboratory or an organization for patient referral), and individuals (such as patients who request their medical record after discharge from the hospital).

The format and time frame for disseminating data and information are tailored to meet the user's expectations of the individual, service, or organization. When data and information are needed for the care of a patient, it is provided in a timely manner that supports continuity of care and patient safety. (*Also see* ACC.3 and COP.3)

Examples of dissemination strategies to meet user expectations include

- providing the specific data and information requested/required;
- providing reports with the frequency needed by the individual or organization;
- providing data and information in a format that facilitates its use;
- linking sources of data and information; and
- providing interpretation or clarification of data.

Measurable Elements of MOI.5

- Data and information dissemination meets the needs of individuals and organizations within and outside the hospital, including patients, health care practitioners, hospital leadership, health care services and organizations, and regulatory agencies.
- 2. When data and information are required by individuals or organizations for the care of a patient, the hospital has processes to ensure that it is received in a timely manner that supports continuity of care and patient safety.
- 3. Individuals and organizations within and outside the hospital receive data and information in a format that facilitates its intended use.
- 4. Staff providing patient care have access to the data and information needed to carry out their job responsibilities and provide patient care safely and effectively.

Standard MOI.6

Clinical staff, decision makers, and other staff members are educated and trained on information systems, information security, and the principles of information use and management.

Intent of MOI.6

Individuals in the hospital who generate, collect, enter, review, analyze, and use data and information are educated and trained to effectively participate in using and managing information. This education and training enables these individuals to

- use information systems, such as an electronic medical record system, to carry out their job responsibilities effectively and provide care efficiently and safely;
- understand and comply with policies and procedures to ensure security and confidentiality of data and information; (*Also see* PCC.1.3)
- understand and implement tactics and strategies for the management of data, information, and documentation during planned and unplanned downtime; (Also see MOI.13)
- use data and information to help in decision making; (Also see MMU.5.1 and QPS.3)
- educate and support patients and families regarding participation in care processes; (Also see PCC.2)
 and
- use measures to assess and improve care and work processes.

Individuals are educated and trained according to their responsibilities, job descriptions, and data and information needs. Hospitals with electronic medical record systems ensure that staff who need to access, review, and/or document in the patient medical record receive education, ongoing training, and assessment to effectively and efficiently use the system. Various methods can be used for ongoing training; **for example**, "tips and tricks," quick reference guides, short educational modules, and newsletters can be posted or e-mailed to staff to provide helpful guidance on how to use the system. Ongoing training should be relevant to the staff

member's needs and use of the system. Staff are assessed to ensure that they have the competency and skill necessary to effectively and efficiently use the system to carry out their job responsibilities.

The information management process makes it possible to combine information from various sources and generate reports to support decision making. In particular, the combination of clinical and managerial information helps department/service leaders to plan collaboratively. The information management process supports department/service leaders with integrated longitudinal data and comparative data.

Measurable Elements of MOI.6

- 1. Clinical staff, decision makers, and others are provided education and training on information systems, information security, and the principles of information use and management, as appropriate to their role and responsibilities.
- 2. Staff who use an electronic medical record system receive education, ongoing training, and assessment to ensure that they can effectively and efficiently use the system to carry out their job responsibilities.
- 3. Clinical and managerial data and information are integrated as needed to support decision making.

Management and Implementation of Documents

Standard MOI.7

Documents, including policies, procedures, and programs, are managed in a consistent and uniform manner. (P)

Intent of MOI.7

Policies and procedures are intended to provide uniform knowledge on organizational clinical and nonclinical functions. A written document guides how all policies, procedures, and programs in the hospital will be developed and controlled. This guidance document includes the following key components:

- a) Review and approval of all documents by an authorized person before issue
- b) The process and frequency of review and continued approval of documents
- c) The controls for ensuring that only current, relevant versions of documents are available
- d) How changes in a document can be identified
- e) The maintenance of document identity and legibility
- f) A process for managing documents that originated outside the hospital
- g) Retention of obsolete documents for at least the time required by laws and regulations, while ensuring that they will not be mistakenly used (*Also see* MOI.3)
- h) Identification and tracking of all documents in circulation (**for example**, identified by title, date of issue, edition and/or current revision date, number of pages, and who authorized and/or reviewed the document)

These processes for developing and maintaining policies, procedures, and programs are implemented.

Measurable Elements of MOI.7

1.	There is a written guidance document that defines the requirements for developing and maintaining
	policies, procedures, and programs, including at least items a) through h) in the intent.
2.	There are standardized formats for all similar documents; for example , all policies.

					<i>'</i>		. 1		
	•	т .	C 1 . 1	1	. 1	1 1	. 1	. 1	1.
ш	3	The requirements	s of the ouid:	ance documen	t are implemen	ited and e	evident	in the r	വി

3. The requirements of the guidance document are implemented and evident in the policies, procedures, and programs found throughout the hospital.

Standard MOI.7.1

The policies, procedures, plans, and other documents that guide consistent and uniform clinical and nonclinical processes and practices are fully implemented.

②

Intent of MOI.7.1

Throughout the accreditation standards found in this manual, policies, procedures, plans, and other written documents are required (noted with the icon ® as above). These documents are required, as they reduce process variation and reduce the risk inherent in processes. This is particularly important in clinical processes to improve quality and patient safety.

There is a process to ensure that staff members have read and are familiar with policies, procedures, and plans relevant to their work. This process may be part of the orientation of staff members to their department and their responsibilities or may be part of groupwide or hospitalwide special training sessions. Most importantly, when a policy, procedure, or plan is relevant to the assignment of an individual, the intended actions described in the document are evident in the actions of the individual.

Measurable Elements of MOI.7.1

- 1. Required policies, procedures, and plans are available, and staff understand how to access those documents relevant to their responsibilities.
- 2. Staff are trained and understand those documents relevant to their responsibilities.
- 3. The requirements of the policies, procedures, and plans are fully implemented and evident in the actions of individual staff members.
- 4. The implementation of policies, procedures, and plans is monitored, and the information supports full implementation.

Patient Medical Record

Standard MOI.8

Standard MOI.8.1

The medical record contains sufficient information to identify the patient, to support the diagnosis, to justify the treatment, and to document the course and results of treatment.

Intent of MOI.8 and MOI.8.1

Every patient assessed or treated in a hospital as an inpatient, outpatient, or emergency care patient has a medical record. The patient medical record is assigned with identifiers unique to the patient, or some other mechanism is used to link the patient with his or her medical record (**for example**, a combination of medical record number and patient's name or a combination of patient's name and date of birth). Unique identifiers used for patient medical records are uniform throughout the hospital. A single record with unique identifiers enables the hospital to easily locate patient medical records and to document the care of patients over time. (*Also see* IPSG.1)

The integrity of the patient medical record is critical to the quality and safety of patient care and continuity of care, as it is the principal tool for communication between health care practitioners. The medical record

facilitates medical decision making, clinical follow-up, transitions of care, and medication ordering and dosing. (Also see MOI.13)

The use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and other functions in documentation by health care practitioners is becoming common practice as more hospitals adopt electronic medical record systems. Copy-and-paste is the practice of selecting text or data from an original or previous source to reuse in a different location. **For example**, a health care practitioner may copy his or her own notes to reuse, copy a note from another practitioner, or copy from a prior admission. Copy-and-paste and similar functions can have several advantages, including enhancing the efficiency of documentation. However, there are potential risks, such as duplicating information that is inaccurate or outdated.

The use of templates provided in electronic medical records may cause additional inaccuracies in documentation. **For example**, a template used for an emergency examination may include data fields for all body systems; when a focused examination is completed, documentation in the template may indicate that a complete examination was performed and was within normal limits. If an examination did not occur, but is documented as normal, patients and health care practitioners may make treatment decisions based on this misinformation.

Hospitals implement processes to ensure the accuracy of data and information in patient medical records, including guidelines for the proper use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and templates in the electronic medical record, as well as monitoring their use. Monitoring may involve partnering with the electronic medical record vendor to develop a way to track information that has been copied-and-pasted (**for example**, displaying this information in a different font or underlined) or using a manual process to review for copied-and-pasted information. Hospitals also provide training and education on the proper use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and templates to all staff who document in the medical record.

Processes to ensure accuracy of the patient medical record address both written and electronic information. When inaccuracies are present in the medical record, there are implications for patient safety and quality of care and services. For example, inconsistencies in timing and dating of entries, such as two different arrival times documented in separate locations of the medical record for a patient in the emergency department, may affect the care the patient receives, billing activity, and/or the hospital's quality indicators, among other issues. In addition, discrepancies in the medical record can cause confusion about which information is correct and should be followed—for example, a patient's discharge summary stating, "advised patient to make another appointment," and from the same visit, the patient's discharge instructions noting, "no follow-up required." To prevent inconsistencies and discrepancies in the patient medical record, the hospital establishes and implements processes and guidelines to facilitate accurate and complete documentation. For example, to facilitate accurate recording of time, clocks are synchronized throughout the hospital, including wall clocks, computer clocks, clocks on medical equipment and devices that are connected to the computer network, and so on.

The content, format, and location of entries for a patient's medical record is standardized to help promote the integration among health care practitioners and continuity of care. The hospital determines the specific data and information recorded in the medical record of each patient assessed or treated on an inpatient, outpatient, or emergency basis. The medical record needs to present sufficient information to support the diagnosis; to justify the patient's care, treatment, and services; to document the course and results of the patient's care, treatment, and services; and to facilitate the continuity of care. (*Also see* ACC.5.1; AOP.1.2; AOP.1.2.1; COP.2; COP.2.1; ASC.5; ASC.6; ASC.7.2; and MMU.4.2)

Measurable Elements of MOI.8

- 1. A medical record with at least two identifiers unique to the patient is initiated for every patient assessed or treated by the hospital.
- 2. The specific content, format, and location of entries for patient medical records is standardized and determined by the hospital.
- 3. The hospital establishes and implements guidelines on the proper use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and templates and provides education and training on the guidelines to all staff who document in the electronic medical record.
- 4. The hospital has a process to monitor compliance with the guidelines on the proper use of copy-and-paste, auto-fill, auto-correct, and templates and implements corrective action as needed.
- 5. The hospital establishes and implements processes and guidelines to facilitate accurate and complete documentation in patient medical records.

Measurable Elements of MOI.8.1

- 1. Patient medical records contain adequate information to identify the patient.
- Patient medical records contain adequate information to support the diagnosis and promote continuity of care.
- 3. Patient medical records contain adequate information to justify and document the course and results of the patient's care, treatment and services.

Standard MOI.9

Every patient medical record entry identifies its author and when the entry was made in the medical record.

Intent of MOI.9

The hospital's processes ensure that each entry in the patient medical record identifies the author of the entry and the date of entry. The time of the entry is also noted, such as for timed treatments and medication orders. (*Also see* IPSG.2 through IPSG.2.2; IPSG.4; IPSG.4.1; COP.2; MMU.4.1; and MMU.4.2) The hospital also establishes and implements a process for how entries in the patient medical record are corrected or overwritten.

When documentation assistants, or scribes, assist physicians or other health care practitioners with documentation in the patient medical record, the scribes are expected to sign, time, and date their entries. In addition, the hospital has a process to ensure that the physician or health care practitioner reviews and authenticates the entries of the scribe who is assisting them. (*Also see* MOI.2)

Measurable Elements of MOI.9

	1	т .	1 1	r 1		. 1	. •	1.	1 1			1 .·C	1
_	1.	The aut	nor of	each	entry in	the	patient	medica	l record	can	be 10	lentifie	a.

2. The date of each entry in the patient medical record can be id	entified
---	----------

- The time of each entry in the patient medical record can be identified.
- There is a process that addresses how entries in the patient medical record are corrected or overwritten.
- When scribes are used to assist with documentation in the patient medical record, they sign, date, and time their entries, and there is a process for the physician/health care practitioner to review and authenticate the scribe's entries.

Standard MOI.10

As part of its monitoring and performance improvement activities, the hospital regularly assesses patient medical record content.

Intent of MOI.10

Each hospital determines the content and format of the patient medical record and has a process to assess medical record content and the completeness of medical records. That process is a part of the hospital's performance improvement activities and is carried out regularly. Patient medical record review is based on a sample representing the practitioners providing care and the types of care provided. The review process is conducted by medical staff, nursing staff, and other relevant health care practitioners who are authorized to make entries in the patient medical record. The review focuses on the timeliness, accuracy, completeness, and legibility, of the record and clinical information. Medical record content required by laws or regulations is included in the review process. (*Also see* MMU.4.2 and MOI.4) The hospital's medical records of discharged patients. In addition, medical records from outpatient, inpatient, and other services provided to patients are included in the review. A representative sample means medical records from all services and not a specific sample size; however, it should make sense for the organization. **For example**, random sampling and selecting approximately 5% of medical records may achieve a representative sample.

Measurable Elements of MOI.10

- 1. A representative sample of medical records that includes active and discharged medical records and inpatient and outpatient medical records, is reviewed at least quarterly or more frequently as determined by laws and regulations.
- 2. The review is conducted by physicians, nurses, and others authorized to make entries in patient medical records or to manage patient medical records.
- ☐ 3. The review focuses on the timeliness, accuracy, completeness, and legibility of the medical record.
- 4. Medical record content required by laws or regulations is included in the review process.
- 5. The results of the review process are incorporated into the hospital's quality oversight mechanism.

Information Technology in Health Care

Standard MOI.11

Hospital leadership identifies a qualified individual to oversee the hospital's health information technology systems and processes.

Intent of MOI.11

Health information technology can significantly improve patient safety by automating and streamlining work, providing a seamless transition of patient health information, and offering safety mechanisms that potentially reduce the risk of errors. For example, medications errors can be greatly reduced through the implementation of a computerized prescribing mechanism and the use of bar codes for medication administration. However, when not evaluated and tested prior to implementation, health information technology can pose increased risks to patients.

An important resource for hospitals is the investment in health information technology. Health information technology includes electronic systems for documenting and sharing patient information, such as electronic

medical records. Health information technology also includes methods for storing, managing, and securing data and information; communicating information among health care practitioners to better coordinate care; and interfacing with other systems to facilitate patient care and treatment.

Successful implementation of new and evolving health information technology systems requires support, resources, and direction from hospital leadership. Leadership identifies a qualified individual to oversee health information technology systems in the organization. The individual is qualified by education, training, and/ or experience relevant to the role and responsibilities. Depending on the size and scope of the hospital's information technology systems, there may be several individuals who support this individual and help manage aspects of the program. (*Also see* GLD.9)

The hospital's information technology systems must be managed effectively and in a comprehensive and coordinated manner. The individual who oversees the health information technology systems is responsible for at least the following:

- a) Recommending space, equipment, technology, and other resources to hospital leadership to support information technology systems in the hospital
- b) Coordinating and conducting risk assessment activities to assess information security risks, prioritize risks, and identify improvements
- c) Ensuring that staff and others are educated and trained on information security and applicable policies and procedures
- d) Identifying metrics to assess how systems, such as the electronic medical record system, are functioning and affecting staff and patients

Health information technology represents a major investment of resources for a hospital. For this reason, technology is carefully matched to the hospital's current and future needs and its resources. (*Also see* GLD.7) However, new technology may not integrate well with a hospital's existing technology and processes. New technology systems may not address all service areas (**for example**, the operating theatre or emergency department), or may not allow interfaces with existing systems. Consequently, analysis of workflow processes prior to selection and implementation of new technology will help the hospital assess how existing processes and technology could be optimized, changed, and enabled by new technology.

Information technology does not operate independently. Health information technology interacts with processes within the hospital, other organizations outside of the hospital, and internal and external health care practitioners, as well as patients and families. This level of complex integration requires coordinated participation from key stakeholders. Under the leadership of the individual who oversees health information technology in the hospital, stakeholders, such as clinical and nonclinical staff and department/service leaders, are involved in workflow analysis, the selection process for new technologies/systems, and testing, implementation, and evaluation of the technology.

All or part of integrating new and existing health information technology may be done through contracted services. The same level of workflow analysis, assessment, testing, and evaluation is required for contracted services and involves appropriate stakeholders. Oversight for the contract is provided by the individual who oversees health information technology. (*Also see* GLD.6 and GLD.6.1) When information technology systems are implemented, it is important for the hospital to identify metrics and have a process to evaluate the usability and effectiveness of the technology. Evaluation includes, but is not limited to, whether or not the technology is being used as designed and implemented; how well the technology integrates with existing technology; what effects the technology has on improving patient safety, reducing errors, and enhancing the hospital's performance; and how the technology may be affecting staff (**for example**, increasing efficiency, increasing stress/burnout, and so on).

Measurable Elements of MOI.11

- 1. Hospital leadership provides direction, support, and resources for health information technology in the hospital.
- 2. Hospital leadership identifies a qualified individual to oversee health information technology systems in the hospital with responsibility for at least a) through d) in the intent.
- 3. Stakeholders, such as clinical and nonclinical staff and department/service leaders, participate in processes such as selection, testing, implementation, and evaluation of new and evolving health information technology systems.
- 4. New and evolving health information technology systems are monitored and evaluated for usability, effectiveness, staff outcomes, and patient safety, and improvements are identified and implemented based on results.

Standard MOI.12

When mobile devices are used for texting, e-mailing, or other communications of patient data and information, the hospital implements processes to ensure quality of patient care and maintains security and confidentiality of patient information.

②

Intent of MOI.12

As technology has evolved, many health care practitioners have begun to use mobile devices to communicate patient data and information through text messages and e-mails, such as critical results, referrals, and notes about patient care. Health care practitioners may exchange communications with other practitioners, in and outside the hospital, or may receive text messages or e-mails from patients. Hospitals may provide mobile devices to their health care practitioners or may allow practitioners to use their personal devices. When mobile devices are used, the hospital needs to ensure that patient data and information are kept secure and confidential. (Also see COP.2) For example, the hospital implements access controls with authentication of users, a secure password policy, ability to remotely disable or remove patient data and information from the mobile devices if they are lost or stolen, and other forms of security controls. When the mobile devices are provided to staff by the hospital, there are procedures to retrieve the devices when staff are no longer employed by or associated with the hospital.

Newer text messaging platforms may offer the functionality to address previous concerns related to texting and confidentiality, security of information, accuracy, timeliness, documentation, and patient safety. When the hospital allows confidential and private patient information to be transmitted through text messaging (**for example**, patient identification, diagnoses, history, test results, and other confidential information), the hospital ensures that a secure messaging platform is implemented and includes the following:

- a) Secure, encrypted sign-on process(es) for authentication of users (sign-on processes that are password protected and unique to each user)
- b) Processes for ensuring that only authorized individuals are in the platform's directory of users who can receive messages
- c) Delivery and read receipts for messages
- d) Date and time stamp for messages
- e) Processes for protecting and securing patient information against unauthorized access and use (**for example**, automatic logout after a period of inactivity, ability for the hospital to remotely deactivate mobile devices or wipe data from devices if lost or stolen, and so on)

In addition, the hospital establishes processes for ensuring that text messages with patient information are documented in the medical record when the content relates to the care of the patient. (Also see MOI.8 and

MOI.8.1) **For example**, text messages exchanged among health care practitioners that contain information used to make decisions about a patient's care need to be documented in that patient's medical record.

E-mail has increasingly become part of normal communication in health care. There are many advantages to e-mail communication; however, there may be issues associated with security, confidentiality, and timeliness, such as when mobile devices are used or when patients initiate contact through e-mail with the physician. The physician or hospital may have a secure e-mail system, but patients often do not. In addition, time-sensitive issues sent via e-mail, such as urgent health matters, may not be viewed by the physician in a timely manner, thereby delaying immediate actions that may be needed. One way of ensuring confidentiality and preventing delays in urgent actions is to limit e-mail use to areas in which the risk for breach of confidentiality or delay in response is lower (**for example**, appointment scheduling and reporting of home records such as blood pressure or weight gain from patients with renal failure or congestive heart failure). As with text messages, the hospital establishes a process to ensure that e-mail messages with data and information relating to a patient's care are documented in the patient's medical record.

Another means for patients to communicate with their health care practitioners is through a patient portal. Patient portals provide a range of services that can be performed online or through an app on a mobile device, such as completing registration forms, requesting prescription refills, accessing test results, scheduling nonurgent appointments, sending/receiving messages with the physician, downloading educational materials, and making electronic payments.

Hospitals that implement patient portals ensure confidentiality and security of the patient information stored and exchanged through the portal. The implementation and use of patient portals require encryption of patient data/information; secure, sign-on process with password requirements for users; audit trails that log and record key activities; and consent from patients to participate in the patient portal. (*Also see* MOI.2)

The hospital implements a process to monitor the quality of communications conducted through text, e-mail, and patient portals, and makes improvements where needed. The hospital ensures that patients have adequate understanding of data and information received through text, e-mail, and patient portals, and encourages patients to contact their health care provider for questions. The hospital collects data to monitor the process for clarifying questions that arise from messages received via text, e-mail, and patient portals. For example, the hospital may collect data on how often staff need to clarify patient information that has been texted and the process for obtaining clarification.

Measurable Elements of MOI.12

- 1. When the hospital allows patient data and information to be transmitted through text messaging, the hospital ensures that the process is through a secure messaging platform and complies with a through e) in the intent.
- 2. When mobile devices are used for communicating patient data and information, the hospital implements guidelines and processes to protect and secure patient information.
- 3. The hospital establishes processes to ensure that text messages and e-mails on mobile devices that have data and information relating to a patient's care are documented in the patient's medical record.
- 4. When the hospital implements a patient portal or communicates with patients via text messages or e-mails, the hospital first obtains consent from patients to participate in the portal and/or receive text messages or e-mails.
- When the hospital allows patient information to be communicated via text messages, e-mail, and patient portals, the hospital has a process to ensure that questions that arise about the information exchanged are addressed in a timely manner and monitors for improvements needed to the communication processes.

Standard MOI.13

Intent of MOI.13

Whether or not a hospital has implemented an electronic medical record (EMR), a form of information technology exists in a majority of hospitals. Information technology can be found in digital imaging, laboratory testing and reporting of results, communication systems, pharmacy support systems, and the like. Data systems are an important part of providing safe, high-quality patient care.

Data system interruptions and failures are unavoidable events. These interruptions, often referred to as downtime, are either planned or unplanned. Planned downtime is scheduled for the purpose of conducting maintenance, repairs, upgrades, and other changes to the system. Unplanned downtime occurs as a result of power or equipment failures, heating/cooling system failures, natural disasters, human error, and interruptions to Internet or intranet services, among other disruptions. Unplanned downtime can result in data system failures, such as loss of data, hardware failures, and data corruption. Hospitals may be in danger of permanently losing data if systems are not in place to copy and archive data.

Downtime, whether planned or unplanned, can affect an entire system or may affect only a single application. Hospitals must prepare all departments and services with training specific to tactics and interventions for managing downtime in their particular area. (*Also see* FMS.11) **For example**, how downtime is managed in the emergency department may be different from the process for managing downtime in a diagnostic imaging area or pharmacy.

Communication is an essential element of continuity strategies during downtime. Notifying staff about planned downtime allows them to make necessary preparations to ensure that business continues in a safe and effective manner. Communication prior to planned downtime should include at least the following information:

- The information technology system or application that will be down and the department/service areas that will be affected
- The time that the downtime will begin and the expected length of time the system or application will be unavailable
- The reason for the downtime and what changes can be expected after the planned downtime is completed; **for example**:
 - Regular maintenance—no changes expected
 - Enhancement to system

When unplanned downtime occurs, staff need to be notified immediately upon discovery of the event. The manner in which information is communicated to staff will depend on the system that is down. For example, if the hospital's network goes down, communication to staff via telephone may be required. Multiple communication strategies should be developed in order to address the different systems that may be affected. In addition to internal communication strategies, it may be necessary to develop strategies for external communication. For example, if the hospital has an interfacing application with outside/contracted laboratory or radiology services and it becomes unavailable due to downtime, there needs to be a process for obtaining the results during downtime and a plan to have results reported back via the interface when the downtime is over.

The quality and safety of patient care depend on the hospital's ability to maintain patient care services during periods of downtime, both planned and unplanned. The hospital must develop strategies and measures for continuing patient care during data system interruptions. One approach to managing downtime may include the practice of having a packet of hard-copy downtime forms or a downtime binder available to continue care if unplanned downtime exceeds a certain time threshold (typically greater than 30 minutes). Another approach may be to maintain a downtime computer that allows read-only access to patient data.

Following downtime, patient care and services provided during the period of downtime may need to be entered manually, through a document management/scanning system, or through transcriptions of hard copy to soft copy during periods of inactivity. Organizations need to define what data may need to be reentered in a discreet format (**for example**, all medications prescribed during downtime, select orders, allergies, problem lists, and so on), what data may need to be scanned in, and what data may need to be transcribed from hard copy to soft copy. To ensure confidentiality and security of information, the organization should have a documented process for the management of any paper documentation used during downtime. (*Also see* MOI.8 and MOI.8.1)

Downtime recovery tactics include disaster recovery and failover systems for backing up, recovering, and maintaining data systems. Disaster recovery systems are typically located at remote locations to recover data that may have become corrupted or unintentionally deleted. These systems are backed up periodically, usually every night. Failover systems minimize disruptions in patient care and loss of data. Failover systems are usually on the premises and switch over within a few seconds or minutes of the primary system becoming unavailable due to planned or unplanned downtime. Many tools are available for backing up data. In hospitals that use a cloud-based system for data backup, the vendor of the cloud-based system is required to have adequate backup systems in place to minimize disruptions to care, prevent loss of data, and maintain data integrity. (*Also see* MOI.2) The optimal backup solutions for each hospital depend on many factors, including the amount of data requiring backup, the speed at which data can be backed up and recovered, the location of recovery systems, costs, and other factors.

Most hospitals test their data recovery plans at least once a year. However, simple backups should be tested at least once a quarter and whenever there is a major hardware or software change in the backup system. It is particularly important to run a test after an upgrade to make sure the upgrade works properly with the rest of the systems. The hospital plans for interruptions by training staff on alternative procedures, testing the hospital's emergency management program conducting regularly scheduled data backups, and testing data restoration procedures. Regardless of whether an organization uses a paper-based system or an electronic system, a plan to address the process for information continuity, including knowledge-based information, should be in place. Hospitals that plan for maintaining access to electronic information systems by using various backup and recovery processes are likely to experience seamless continuity of patient care and minimal data loss.

Measurable Elements of MOI.13

- 1. The hospital develops and maintains, and tests at least annually, a program for response to planned and unplanned downtime of data systems.
- 2. The hospital identifies the probable impact that planned and unplanned downtime of data systems will have on all aspects of care and services.
- 3. The program includes continuity strategies for the provision of ongoing safe, high-quality patient care and services, including services provided by outside vendors, during planned and unplanned downtime of data systems.
- 4. The program identifies internal and, when applicable, external communication strategies for planned and unplanned downtime.
- 5. The hospital identifies and implements downtime recovery tactics and ongoing data backup processes to recover and maintain data and ensure data integrity and maintain confidentiality and security of patient information.
- ☐ 6. Staff are trained in the strategies and tactics used for planned and unplanned downtime of data systems.

References

Information Management

Abouelmehdi K, Beni-Hessane A, Khaloufi H. Big healthcare data: Preserving security and privacy. *Big Data*. Epub 2018 Jan 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-017-0110-7.

Arain MA, Tarraf R, Ahmad A. Assessing staff awareness and effectiveness of educational training on IT security and privacy in a large healthcare organization. *J Multidiscip Healthc.* 2019 Jan 9;12:73–81.

Bleiberg H, et al. A need to simplify informed consent documents in cancer clinical trials. A position paper of the ARCAD Group. *Ann Oncol.* 2017 May 1;28(5):922–930.

Fernandez-Aleman JL, et al. Technical solutions for mitigating security threats caused by health professionals in clinical settings. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* 2015 Aug;2015:1389–1392.

Hepp SL, et al. Evaluation of the awareness and effectiveness of IT security programs in a large publicly funded health care system. *Health Inf Manag.* 2018 Sep;47(3):116–124.

Institute for Safe Medication Practices. *ISMP's List of Error-Prone Abbreviations, Symbols, and Dose Designations.* Oct 2, 2017. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.ismp.org/tools/errorproneabbreviations.pdf.

Jayabalan M, O'Daniel T. Access control and privilege management in electronic health record: A systematic literature review. *J Med Syst.* 2016 Dec;40(12):261.

Kruse CS, et al. Security techniques for the electronic health records. *J Med Syst.* 2017 Aug;41(8):127.

Moon S, McInnes B, Melton GB. Challenges and practical approaches with word sense disambiguation of acronyms and abbreviations in the clinical domain. *Healthc Inform Res.* 2015 Jan;21(1):35–42.

Rezaeibagha F, Win KT, Susilo W. A systematic literature review on security and privacy of electronic health record systems: Technical perspectives. *Health Inf Manag.* 2015;44(3):23–38.

Sharp K, et al. Conversion of provider EMR training from instructor-led training to eLearning at an academic medical center. *Appl Clin Inform*. 2017 Jul 26;8(3):754–762.

Sher ML, et al. How can hospitals better protect the privacy of electronic medical records? Perspectives from staff members of health information management departments. *Health Inf Manag.* 2017 May;46(2):87–95.

Zakaria H, et al. A systematic liternature review of security perimeter in hospital facility. *Open International Journal of Informatics*. 2018;6(4):104–129. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. http://apps.razak.utm.my/ojs/index.php/oiji/article/view/68/49.

Management and Implementation of Documents

Salomi MJA, Maciel RF. Document management and process automation in a paperless healthcare institution. *Technol Invest.* 2017 Aug;8(3):167–178. https://doi.org/10.4236/ti.2017.83015.

Patient Medical Record

ECRI Institute, Partnership for Health IT Patient Safety. Health IT Safe Practices: Toolkit for the Safe Use of Copy and Paste. Feb 2016. Accessed Jan 5, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/Resources/HIT/CP_Toolkit/Toolkit_CopyPaste_final.pdf.

The Joint Commission. Preventing copy-and-paste errors in EHRs. *Quick Safety*, Issue 10. Feb 2015. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick Safety_Issue 10.pdf.

Monte AA, et al. Accuracy of electronic medical record medication reconciliation in emergency department patients. *J Emerg Med.* 2015 Jul;49(1):1:78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2014.12.052.

Ryan TP, et al. Medication adherence, medical record accuracy, and medication exposure in real-world patients using comprehensive medication monitoring. *PLoS One*. 2017 Sep 28;12(9):e0185471. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185471.

Sprey E. The dangers of copy and paste in the EHR. *Physicians Practice*. Epub 2016 Oct 21. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. http://www.physicianspractice.com/ehr/dangers-copy-and-paste-ehr.

Telenti A, Steinhubl SR, Topol EJ. Rethinking the medical record. *Lancet*. 2018 Mar 17;391(10125):1013. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30538-5.

Tsou AY, et al. Safe practices for copy and paste in the EHR. Systematic review, recommendations, and novel model for health IT collaboration. *Appl Clin Inform*. 2017 Jan 11;8(1):12–34.

Information Technology in Health Care

Arunachalam S, Page T, Thorsteinsson G. Healthcare data warehousing. *i-Manager's Journal on Computer Science*. 2017 Dec–Feb;4(4):1–13.

Balch Samora J, et al. Mobile messaging communication in healthcare: Rules, regulations, penalties, and safety of provider use. *JBJS Rev*: 2018 Mar;6(3):e4. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.RVW.17.00070.

Bhavnani SP, Narula J, Sengupta PP. Mobile technology and the digitization of healthcare. *Eur Heart J*. 2016 May 7;37(18):1428–1438. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv770

ECRI Institute, Partnership for Health IT Patient Safety. Safe Practice Recommendations for Developing Implementing, and Integrating a Health IT Safety Program. Mar 2018. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.ecri.org/Resources/HIT/Health_IT_Safety/HIT_Toolkit_2018.pdf.

Goldfarb J, et al. Smartphones and patient care: Exploring the use of text-based messaging for patient related communication. *Surg Innov.* 2016 Jun;23(3):305–308.

Grossman LV, et al. Implementation of acute care patient portals: Recommendations on utility and use from six early adopters. *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* 2018 Apr 1;25(4):370–379.

The Joint Commission. Update: Texting orders. *Jt Comm Perspect*. 2016 May;36(5):15.

Khanna RR, Wachter RM, Blum M. Reimagining electronic clinical communication in the post-pager smartphone era. *JAMA*. 2016 Jan 5;315(1):21–22.

Newhouse N, et al. Patient use of email for health care communication purposes across 14 European countries: An analysis of users according to demographic and health-related factors. *J Med Internet Res.* 2015 Mar 6;17(3):e58.

Nguyen C, et al. The use of technology for urgent clinician to clinician communications: A systematic review of the literature. *Int J Med Inform*. 2015 Feb;84(2):101–110.

Oral B, et al. Downtime procedures for the 21st century: Using a fully integrated health record for uninterrupted electronic reporting of laboratory results during laboratory information system downtimes. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 2015 Jan;143(1):100–104.

Poterack KA, Gottlieb O, Rothman BS. Paper charting anesthetics: Forgotten but not gone . . . especially during an EHR downtime. *ASA Monitor*. 2017 Apr;81:30–32.

Serrano KJ, et al. Willingness to exchange health information via mobile devices: Findings from a population-based survey. *Ann Fam Med.* 2016 Jan–Feb;14(1):34–40. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1888.

Section IV: Academic Medical Center Hospital Standards



The Medical Professional Education (MPE) and Human Subjects Research Programs (HRP) standards for Academic Medical Center Hospitals were developed and first published in 2012 to recognize the unique resource such centers represent for health professional education and human subjects research in their community and country. These standards also present a framework for including medical education and human subjects research into the quality and patient safety activities of academic medical center hospitals. Unless deliberately included in the quality framework, education and research activities often are the unnoticed partners in patient care quality monitoring and improvement.

The standards are divided into two chapters, as medical education and clinical research are most frequently organized and administered separately within academic medical centers. For all hospitals meeting the eligibility criteria in the "Summary of Key Accreditation Policies" section of this publication, compliance with the requirements in these two chapters, in addition to the other requirements detailed in this 7th edition manual, will result in an organization being deemed accredited under the Joint Commission International Standards for Academic Medical Center Hospitals.

Organizations with questions about their eligibility for Academic Medical Center Hospital accreditation should contact JCI Accreditation's Central Office at jciaccreditation@jcrinc.com.

Medical Professional Education (MPE)

Overview

Integrating education of medical students and trainees into a hospital's operations needs to be consistent with the hospital's mission, strategic plans, resource allocation, and quality program. The MPE standards emphasize the safety and quality of care provided to patients cared for by trainees and students as part of the hospital's services. The hospital's governing entity and leadership are responsible to ensure that there is appropriate supervision of patient care delivered in all teaching settings. Ensuring a rich and meaningful experience for medical students and trainees requires many factors in addition to the commitment of the governing entity and hospital leadership.

Trainees and students

- are oriented to the organization and relevant departments;
- understand and participate in quality improvement activities; and
- actively engage in the hospital's culture of safety.

The hospital's governing entity and leadership

- create processes for the direction and accountability of the hospital teaching program medical staff
 members and other involved staff;
- are knowledgeable about the teaching programs based on timely data-driven information; and
- require improvement processes in the teaching programs related to patient care when opportunities for improvement emerge.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **②** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

- **MPE.1** The hospital's governing body and leadership of the hospital approve and monitor the participation of the hospital in providing medical education.
- **MPE.2** The hospital's clinical staff, patient population, technology, and facility are consistent with the goals and objectives of the education program.
- **MPE.3** Clinical teaching staff are identified, and each staff member's role and relationship to the academic institution is defined.
- **MPE.4** The hospital understands and provides the required frequency and intensity of medical supervision for each type and level of medical student and trainee.

 ②
- **MPE.5** Medical education provided in the hospital is coordinated and managed through a defined operational mechanism and management structure.

- **MPE.7** Medical trainees who provide care or services within the hospital—outside of the parameters of their academic program—are granted permission to provide those services through the hospital's established credentialing, privileging, job specification, or other relevant processes.

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Standard MPE.1

The hospital's governing body and leadership of the hospital approve and monitor the participation of the hospital in providing medical education.

Intent of MPE.1

Integrating education of medical students and trainees into a hospital's operations requires a significant commitment of time, energy, and resources. Trainees include interns, residents, house officers, and fellows. Decisions on the integration of education and operations are best made at the highest decision-making level of the hospital. (*Also see* GLD.14) When the decision to provide medical education involves a network or consortia of organizations, the governing entity is fully informed as to all the relationships and accountabilities. As the governing entity level also is responsible for decisions related to the hospital's mission, strategic plans, resource allocation, and quality program, it is necessary to make this an integrated decision. (*Also see* GLD.1 through GLD.7.1) **For example**, is the commitment to educate medical students and trainees consistent with the hospital's mission, and how will this commitment be portrayed to the public and the hospital's patients?

The governing entity and leadership of the hospital are also responsible for obtaining, reviewing, and agreeing to the education program parameters of the sponsoring academic program.

A set of metrics, relevant to the education programs within the hospital, is selected and reported to the governing entity and hospital leadership on an annual basis for a review of the scope and activities of the program, achievement of program goals, any relevant regulatory compliance issues, and the satisfaction of patients and staff with the program.

Measurable Elements of MPE.1

1.	The decision to provide medical education is made by the governing entity and leadership of the hospital, is consistent with the hospital's mission, and is documented.
2.	The hospital's governing entity and leadership obtain, review, and accept the parameters of the participating medical school, and this action is documented.
3.	The hospital's governing entity and leadership endorse a set of metrics to monitor and evaluate the ongoing operation of medical education programs, and there is documented review of the monitoring data.
4.	The hospital's governing entity and leadership review, at least annually, the medical education programs within the hospital, and the review is documented.
5.	The review includes the satisfaction of patients and staff with the clinical care provided under the program.

Standard MPE.2

The hospital's clinical staff, patient population, technology, and facility are consistent with the goals and objectives of the education program.

Intent of MPE.2

Providing a rich and meaningful learning experience for medical students and trainees requires many factors, in addition to the governing entity and hospital leadership commitment. The clinical staff of the hospital must be adequate in number and in expertise to advance medical student and trainee education. **For example**, nursing staff numbers support the educational program, and nursing staff understand their relationship to the educational program.

The hospital's patient population is sufficient in number and needs to support the education and clinical learning experience. There must also be adequate classroom space, off-duty study and rest facilities, and print and online resources to support an effective learning environment. In addition, adequate opportunities and time for learning and interactions with clinical staff must be provided. Contemporary technology needs to be available so that evidence-based health care practices can be taught.

Measurable Elements of MPE.2

- 1. There is evidence that the clinical staff of the hospital are adequate in number and have the education, training, and competence to support and advance the education of medical students and trainees.
- ☐ 2. There is evidence that the hospital's patient population is adequate in number and clinical needs to support the education of medical students and trainees.
- 3. There is evidence that the hospital's facilities, technology, and other resources support the education of medical students and trainees.

Standard MPE.3

Clinical teaching staff are identified, and each staff member's role and relationship to the academic institution is defined.

Intent of MPE.3

Those clinical staff who have responsibility for medical student and trainee education and supervision are clearly identified so that the medical students and trainees and other hospital staff understand educational accountabilities and authority. **For example**, when any hospital staff member has a comment, concern, or other matter related to the educational program or medical students and trainees, he or she will understand who is accountable for receiving and acting on that information.

The relationship of the clinical teaching staff of the hospital to the sponsoring academic institution(s) needs to be clear. **For example**, when academic titles are conferred on clinical staff members, it is clear if titles are earned or honorary, how those titles are to be used, and what the titles mean to the public. The hospital has a complete listing of clinical teaching staff with their medical and academic titles. Any requirements for the renewal or redesignation of academic titles are monitored for compliance. (*Also see* SQE.9 through SQE.11)

Measurable Elements of MPE.3

- 1. Clinical teaching staff are identified to hospital staff, and there is a complete list of clinical teaching staff, including both professional and academic titles.
- 2. Staff are educated about these individuals, their accountabilities, and their authority.
- 3. The hospital has a process in place to monitor academic titles and requirements for renewal or redesignation and to keep such titles up to date.

Standard MPE.4

Intent of MPE.4

Supervision is required to ensure safe patient care and ensure that the training program is a learning experience for the medical student and trainee. The required level of supervision is consistent with the level of training within the specialty and level of competence of the medical student and trainee. The hospital understands that medical student and trainee competence cannot be assumed and must be demonstrated early in the training program.

Each medical student and trainee understands the clinical supervision process, including who is to provide the supervision and the frequency of the supervision. **For example**, a medical student understands whether supervision is provided by a resident or by the patient's primary physician or by a medical school faculty member. Medical students and trainees also understand whether the supervision includes daily signing of all notes and orders, signing of the care plan and progress notes every other day, or making a separate entry in the patient's medical record. Likewise, it is clear as to how the evidence of that supervision is documented, including the frequency and location of the documentation. Finally, to ensure a uniform learning experience, the hospital has identified and monitors the uniform expectations for the mentoring/supervision process.

Measurable Elements of MPE.4

- 1. Hospital policy identifies and provides the required level of supervision within the specialty for each level of medical student and trainee.
- 2. The level to be provided is based on the demonstrated competency of the medical student and trainee.
- ☐ 3. Each medical student and trainee understands the level, frequency, and documentation of his or her supervision.
- 4. There is a uniform process for documenting the required supervision that is consistent with hospital policy, program goals, and the quality and safety of patient care.
- 5. The hospital establishes uniform expectations for all staff providing supervision to ensure that the process results in uniform medical student and trainee experiences.
- Medical records are reviewed for compliance with the documentation requirements and frequency.

Standard MPE.5

Medical education provided in the hospital is coordinated and managed through a defined operational mechanism and management structure.

Intent of MPE.5

Medical education programs in hospitals require an effective management structure and a commitment of staff time for their coordination and daily operation. The agreements between the hospital and the medical school need to be established and then monitored. There is an accurate list of all medical students and trainees in the hospital. For each medical student and trainee, there is documentation of

- a) enrollment status;
- b) academic classification;
- c) any required licensure or certification;
- d) reports of medical student and trainee achievements;
- e) identification of medical student and trainee competencies;
- f) any known factors that will require accommodation; and
- g) any known factors that may influence the level of supervision required.

The documentation of a) through g) for a medical student may be limited depending on his or her enrollment status and current level of training. When an academic program is sponsored by the hospital, it is determined how and where these activities are conducted.

Measurable Elements of MPE.5

1.	The operational structure for medical education in the hospital has been determined and is in opera-
	tion as required.

- 2. The management structure for medical education in the hospital has been determined and is in operation as required.
- ☐ 3. There is a complete and current list of all medical students and trainees in the hospital.
- 4. For each medical student and trainee, there is documentation of at least a) through g) of the intent.

Standard MPE.6

Medical students and trainees comply with all hospital policies and procedures, and all care is provided within the quality and patient safety parameters of the hospital.

②

Intent of MPE.6

Training programs and their students are a critical factor in overall quality of care and patient safety. Although it would be desirable for each medical student and trainee to have basic education on quality and patient safety in his or her respective academic program, this rarely happens. Thus, the hospital must have a planned and deliberate program to introduce such concepts, support the medical students and trainees in complying with relevant policies and guidelines, and include medical students and trainees in all quality and safety monitoring programs. **For example**, medical students and trainees would be educated to comply with the International Patient Safety Goals.

Also, required clinical practice guidelines, surgical time-out procedures, medication-ordering policies, and other mechanisms to reduce variation in care processes—and thus reduce the risk in those processes—are part of all medical students' and trainees' initial orientation and ongoing training and evaluation. The orientation for the medical student and trainee includes at least

- a) hospital quality and patient safety program; (Also see GLD.4; GLD.4.1; GLD.5; GLD.11; and GLD.11.2)
- b) infection prevention and control program; (Also see PCI.5)
- c) medication safety program; (Also see MMU.1)
- d) the International Patient Safety Goals;

- e) all other required hospital orientation, including at the department and unit level; (*Also see* SQE.7) and
- f) any ongoing required education.

Those persons providing medical student and trainee supervision ensure that all medical students and trainees are knowledgeable about these quality and safety programs and are included in the evaluation process.

Measurable Elements of MPE.6

- 1. All medical students and trainees are provided an orientation that includes at least a) through f) of the intent.
- 2. Medical students and trainees are included in the data collection for the hospital's quality monitoring programs.
- 3. Those supervising medical students and trainees ensure that the medical students and trainees are knowledgeable of the programs and participate in the programs.
- 4. Medical students and trainees can demonstrate knowledge of these programs.
- 5. Those supervising medical students and trainees consider compliance with these programs in their evaluation of medical student and trainee performance.

Standard MPE.7

Medical trainees who provide care or services within the hospital—outside of the parameters of their academic program—are granted permission to provide those services through the hospital's established credentialing, privileging, job specification, or other relevant processes.

Intent of MPE.7

The laws and regulations in many countries permit trainees, as they advance in their program, to provide services to the hospital outside of their academic program. **For example**, a trainee may provide medical care in the hospital's emergency department in evenings or on weekends, or may function as the "house doctor" during the night shift. In these circumstances, the individual trainee must be evaluated and given permission to provide those services through the normal established processes for such professionals as described in the Staff Qualifications and Education (SQE) standards. His or her work is evaluated as required by the SQE standards. (*Also see* SQE.1.1; SQE.9; SQE.10; and SQE.11)

Measurable Elements of MPE.7

- 1. The hospital determines what types of trainees and under which circumstances trainees can be hired or otherwise engaged by the hospital to provide patient care or other services.
- 2. Trainees providing such services are granted permission through credentialing and privileging, a job description, or other relevant process for the services being provided.
- 3. Trainees providing such services are evaluated for the services being provided.

References

Hospital Leadership and Program Oversight

Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education. *ACGME Common Program Requirements (Residency)*. Jun 10, 2018. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.acgme.org/Portals/0/PFAssets/ProgramRequirements/CPRResidency2019.pdf.

Barajaz M, Turner T. Starting a new residency program: A step-by-step guide for institutions, hospitals, and program directors. *Med Educ Online*. 2016 Aug 8;21:32271. https://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v21.32271.

D'Souza N, et al. Comparative outcomes of resident vs attending performed surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Surg Educ.* 2016 May–Jun;73(3):391–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.01.002.

World Federation for Medical Education. *Postgraduate Medical Education: WFME Global Standards for Quality Improvement: The 2015 Revision.* Jan 1, 2016. (Updated: 2017.) Accessed Jan 6, 2020. <a href="https://wfme.org/download/wfme-global-standards-for-quality-improvement-pgme-2015/?wpdmdl=884&re-fresh=5dbaefea5400c1572532202%27;return%20false;%22%3EDownload%3C/a%3E%20%20%20%2020620%20%20%20%20%3C/div%3E%20%20%20%20%3C/div%3E%3C/div%3E%3C/div%3E%3C/div%3E.

Human Subjects Research Programs (HRP)

Overview

Human subjects research is a major commitment for hospitals that is integrated with the commitment to provide safe, high-quality care. Components of the commitment to research involve ethics, communication, responsible leaders, regulatory compliance, and financial and nonfinancial resources. The HRP standards require the governing entity and leadership in organizations that conduct human subject research to protect all participating subjects in accordance with international and national principles, and for involved sponsors and staff to comply with applicable regulations and all hospital policies.

Processes are in place to oversee research involving hospital staff conducting the research and all research subjects, regardless of who or what entity sponsors the research. All hospital patients and their families are informed of ongoing studies and their right to participate if they meet study criteria. Study subjects give informed consent to participate in research protocols only after a defined process that explains potential risks and benefits (and other required elements) has been conducted by the principal investigator or authorized designee.

Those who conduct research in the organization meet the hospital's qualifications to do so and report all adverse events to the hospital's risk management/quality system in a timely manner.

Note: Some standards require the hospital to have a written policy, procedure, program, or other written document for specific processes. Those standards are indicated by a **P** icon after the standard text.

Standards

The following is a list of all standards for this function. They are presented here for your convenience without their intent statements or measurable elements. For more information about these standards, please see the next section in this chapter, Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements.

- **HRP.1** Hospital leadership is accountable for the protection of human research subjects.
 - **HRP.1.1** Hospital leadership complies with all regulatory and professional requirements and provides adequate resources for effective operation of the research program.
- **HRP.2** Hospital leadership establishes the scope of the research program.
- **HRP.3** Hospital leadership establishes requirements for sponsors of research to ensure their commitment to the conduct of ethical research. **(P)**
 - **HRP.3.1** When one or more of the research-related duties and functions of the sponsor are provided through an outside commercial or academic contract research organization, the accountabilities of the outside contract research organization are clearly defined. **②**
- **HRP.4** Hospital leadership creates or contracts for a process to provide the initial and ongoing review of all human subjects research. (P)
- **HRP.5** The hospital identifies and manages conflicts of interest with research conducted at the hospital. (P)

HRP.6 The hospital integrates the human subjects research program into the quality and patient safety program of the hospital.

HRP.7 The hospital establishes and implements an informed consent process that enables patients to make informed and voluntary decisions about participating in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials.

HRP.7.1 The hospital informs patients and families about how to gain access to clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials and includes protections for vulnerable populations to minimize potential coercion or undue influence. (P)

Standards, Intents, and Measurable Elements

Standard HRP.1

Hospital leadership is accountable for the protection of human research subjects.

Standard HRP.1.1

Hospital leadership complies with all regulatory and professional requirements and provides adequate resources for effective operation of the research program.

Intent of HRP.1 and HRP.1.1

Human subjects research is a complex and significant endeavor for a hospital. Hospital leadership recognizes the level of commitment and personal involvement required to advance scientific inquiry in the context of protecting the patients for whom they have made a commitment to diagnose and treat.

Department/service leaders' commitment to human subjects research is not separate from their commitment to patient care—commitment is integrated at all levels. Thus, ethical considerations, good communication, responsible leaders of departments and services, regulatory compliance, and financial and nonfinancial resources are components of this commitment. One such resource is adequate indemnity insurance to compensate patients for adverse events due to the research protocol. Hospital leadership recognizes the obligation to protect patients irrespective of the sponsor of the research.

Hospital leadership is knowledgeable about and complies with those sources of regulation and professional standards specific for clinical research, such as those from the International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH)/World Health Organization (WHO) Good Clinical Practice (GCP) standards (see Endnotes at the end of this chapter). (Also see GLD.12.1)

Measurable Elements of HRP.1

research.

1.	Hospital leadership establishes and promotes a code of ethical professional behavior.
2.	Hospital leadership, verbally and in writing, communicates within the hospital its commitment to protect human subjects research participants and support the code of ethical professional behavior.
3.	Hospital leadership identifies the official(s) responsible for maintaining the development of and compliance with all human subjects research policies and procedures.
4.	Hospital leadership assumes responsibility for patient protection irrespective of the sponsor of the

Measurable Elements of HRP.1.1

- 1. Hospital leadership recognizes and establishes mechanisms for compliance with all regulatory and professional requirements related to research.
- 2. Hospital leadership has a process for budgeting to provide adequate resources for effective operation of the research program.
- 3. Hospital leadership provides or ensures that there is adequate indemnity insurance to compensate patients participating in clinical research who experience an adverse event.

Standard HRP.2

Hospital leadership establishes the scope of the research program.

Intent of HRP.2

Medical research conducted at the hospital represents varied medical areas and/or specialties within the organization and includes basic, clinical, and health services research. Such research may include clinical trials, therapeutic interventions, development of new medical technologies, and outcomes research, among others. To ensure that adequate control and resources support all of the research within the hospital, it is important that hospital leadership makes decisions regarding the scope of research activities, including types and locations. Leadership is also responsible for ensuring an adequate number of trained staff to serve as principal investigators and other members of research teams. There is documentation of the required qualifications. Leadership also must set parameters for when a staff member of the hospital may participate as a research subject.

Measurable Elements of HRP.2

- 1. Hospital leadership determines the scope of the research program.
- 2. Hospital leadership identifies the facilities and resources that support the research program.
- 3. Hospital leadership identifies the qualifications of staff permitted to participate in the research program as principal investigators or other members of the research team.
- 4. There is documentation of the qualifications of staff permitted to participate in the research program.
- 5. Hospital leadership identifies those circumstances in which staff can serve as research subjects.

Standard HRP.3

Intent of HRP.3

The sponsor of a research protocol must be qualified and accountable. Thus, hospital leadership must have clear requirements for sponsors of research within the hospital. Sponsors are accountable for every aspect of the specific research, including

- monitoring the quality and safety of the research;
- ensuring that the research methods and processes are ethical; (Also see GLD.12)
- using trained and qualified research teams;
- protecting the data generated in terms of reliability and validity; (Also see MOI.2.1)
- ensuring that the results and reporting are statistically accurate, ethical, and unbiased;
- protecting the privacy and confidentiality of subject data; (Also see PCC.1.3 and MOI.2) and
- ensuring that patient or research incentives do not compromise the integrity of the research.

Measurable Elements of HRP.3

- 1. The requirements include that sponsors comply with the hospital's policies and processes for monitoring and evaluating the quality, safety, and ethics of the research.
- 2. The requirements include that sponsors use research teams that are trained and qualified to conduct the research.
- ☐ 3. The requirements include that sponsors protect the privacy and confidentiality of subject data.
- 4. The requirements include that sponsors ensure that the research data are reliable and valid, and the results and reporting are statistically accurate, ethical, and unbiased.
- 5. The requirements include that sponsors do not permit patient or researcher incentives that would compromise the integrity of the research.

Standard HRP.3.1

When one or more of the research-related duties and functions of the sponsor are provided through an outside commercial or academic contract research organization, the accountabilities of the outside contract research organization are clearly defined.

②

Intent of HRP.3.1

Human subjects research has many components, some of which a sponsor may choose to contract to an outside organization, usually termed a contract research organization. Such components may include recruiting subjects, conducting the research, providing data management, or serving as the research review mechanism. The hospital and sponsor are responsible for the careful selection of a contract research organization, the clear delineation of accountability, and the monitoring of compliance under the contract. When regulations relate to the duties transferred by the sponsor to the contract research organization, the sponsor monitors compliance with those regulations as a part of contract review.

Measurable Elements of HRP.3.1

- 1. The hospital establishes and implements a process to determine the activities and responsibilities of a contract research organization.
- 2. The duties and functions transferred by the sponsor to the contract research organization are contained in a written contract.
- 3. The contract specifies that the contract research organization or sponsor is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the quality, safety, and ethics of the research.
- 4. The sponsor is responsible for monitoring the contract.

Standard HRP.4

Intent of HRP.4

One of the most important functions related to human subjects research is review and monitoring by an independent group of individuals, commonly referred to as an Institutional Review Board (IRB), an ethics committee, or similar designation. The composition, scope of responsibilities, and other factors may be described in laws or regulations. This group monitors all aspects of the research protocol to ensure patient protection and safe research. This function may be contracted to an outside organization such as a contract

research organization. The policies, procedures, and structure of this research review function are specified by hospital leadership, as well as which functions may or may not be transferred to a contract research organization. Also, hospital leadership is responsible for identifying the types of research that are exempt from this review function and the documentation of the activities of the review group. This documentation is an important component of leadership's responsibility to review, at least on an annual basis, how well the research review function is operating.

Measurable Elements of HRP.4

1.	Hospital leadership identifies and supports the structure and operational requirements of the research review function.
2.	The research review function complies with applicable laws and regulations.
3.	Hospital leadership specifies the requirements of entities outside of the hospital that provide all or a portion of the research review function, such as a contract research organization.
4.	Hospital leadership ensures that research that is exempt from the research review process is identified.
5.	Hospital leadership specifies the requirements for documentation of the activities of the research

6. Hospital leadership provides for a review of all research review processes at least annually.

Standard HRP.5

review function.

Intent of HRP.5

Conflicts of interest can arise from many sources and in many forms for those sponsoring or participating in human subjects research. The conflicts may be financial (such as payment for recruitment of certain types of subjects) or nonfinancial (such as trips to speak at conferences). The research review process can identify and mitigate such conflicts, or the hospital can use or develop another type of mechanism to monitor and mitigate conflicts. The mechanism includes education about what constitutes a conflict and how conflicts can be successfully managed. (*Also see* GLD.12)

Measurable Elements of HRP.5

1.	The hospital specifies the requirements for managing conflicts of interest, both financial and nonfinancial.
2.	The hospital specifies the individuals, committees, and others for whom the requirements apply.
3.	
	requirements.

Standard HRP.6

The hospital integrates the human subjects research program into the quality and patient safety program of the hospital.

Intent of HRP.6

Human subjects research may involve new types of surgical procedures, the use of new pharmaceuticals or the off-label use of current formulary drugs, the use of adult treatment modalities on pediatric populations, and many other research topics and methodologies. Of primary importance is the inclusion of research activities

in the routine process of the hospital; **for example**, the ordering, dispensing, and administration process for medications under study. Routine processes also include the reporting of adverse events through the quality and patient safety monitoring processes. Thus, reporting an adverse event related to a hospital patient on a research protocol should be to the quality monitoring mechanism of the hospital as well as to the sponsor of the research or the contract research organization. (*Also see* QPS.7 and QPS.7.1)

Reporting events related to research protocols can provide vital information toward understanding the overall quality and safety of patient care in the hospital. **For example**, a significant adverse event when a drug is used for an off-label purpose is important patient safety information that should be part of the hospital's ongoing medication monitoring process. Equally important is the handling and disposal of certain experimental research pharmaceuticals, which should be a component of the management of hazardous materials. Also, medical equipment used in experimental procedures should be monitored and maintained.

Thus, every aspect of the human subjects research program should be evaluated as to which quality and safety programs of the hospital are applicable, and then the reporting and monitoring processes ongoing within the hospital should be included in the research program. This should also be the case when some research activities are provided by a contract research organization. (*Also see* GLD.6)

Measurable Elements of HRP.6

- 1. The research program is a component of the hospital's processes to report and act on sentinel events, adverse events of other types, and the processes to learn from near misses (or close calls).
- 2. The research program is included in the hospital's programs for hazardous materials management, medical equipment management, and medication management.
- 3. The evaluation of staff participating in the research program is incorporated into the ongoing monitoring processes of professional performance.

Standard HRP.7

The hospital establishes and implements an informed consent process that enables patients to make informed and voluntary decisions about participating in clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials.

Standard HRP.7.1

The hospital informs patients and families about how to gain access to clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials and includes protections for vulnerable populations to minimize potential coercion or undue influence.

①

Intent of HRP.7 and HRP.7.1

A hospital that conducts clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials involving patients knows that its first responsibility is to patients' health and well-being. The hospital provides information to patients and families about how to gain access to research that is relevant to the patients' treatment needs.

To assist patients and families with decisions regarding participation in research, the hospital establishes policies and procedures for obtaining informed consent. (*Also see* PCC.4.1) Through the informed consent process, patients and families gain an understanding of the research and the patients' roles in the research, allowing them to make autonomous decisions to participate or not. The information provided during the informed consent process includes

- an explanation of the research, duration of patient participation, and procedures to be followed by patients;
- expected benefits;
- potential discomforts and risks;

- alternative treatments and procedures that might also be beneficial;
- extent to which confidentiality of records will be maintained;
- compensation or medical treatments available if injury occurs;
- a statement that participation is voluntary;
- assurance that refusal to participate or withdrawal from participation will not compromise care or access to the hospital's services; and
- whom to contact with questions about the research.

Safeguards are put into place through the hospital's research review function to protect vulnerable patients who may be at risk for coercion or undue influence to participate in research projects. Vulnerable patients include children, prisoners, pregnant women, persons with mental disabilities, persons who are economically or educationally disadvantaged, and others who have diminished or no capacity to make informed or voluntary decisions to participate in research. Another group that can be considered a vulnerable population is staff of the hospital. Staff may feel under pressure to participate; **for example**, when the principal investigator is their supervisor.

When patients decide to participate in research and grant consent, the individual providing the information and obtaining the consent is noted in the medical record. At times, a research protocol may be altered based on early findings; **for example**, a drug dose may be changed. Patient consent is obtained again under these and similar circumstances. (*Also see* PCC.4.2)

Measurable Elements of HRP.7

 treatments and procedures that might also help them. Patients asked to participate are informed about the extent to which confidentiality of recommaintained. Patients asked to participate are informed about the compensation or medical treatments as injury occurs. Patients asked to participate are assured that participation is voluntary and refusal to participate withdrawal at any time will not compromise care or access to hospital services. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements how consent 	Patients asked to participate are informed about the research, duration of patient's participation, procedures to be followed, and whom to contact with questions about the research.
 maintained. 4. Patients asked to participate are informed about the compensation or medical treatments as injury occurs. 5. Patients asked to participate are assured that participation is voluntary and refusal to participate withdrawal at any time will not compromise care or access to hospital services. 6. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements how consent ticipation will be obtained and documented and under which circumstances consent will be 	Patients asked to participate are informed about the expected benefits, potential risks, and alternative treatments and procedures that might also help them.
 injury occurs. 5. Patients asked to participate are assured that participation is voluntary and refusal to participate withdrawal at any time will not compromise care or access to hospital services. 6. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements how consenticipation will be obtained and documented and under which circumstances consent will be 	Patients asked to participate are informed about the extent to which confidentiality of records will be maintained.
withdrawal at any time will not compromise care or access to hospital services. 6. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements how consenticipation will be obtained and documented and under which circumstances consent will be	Patients asked to participate are informed about the compensation or medical treatments available if injury occurs.
ticipation will be obtained and documented and under which circumstances consent will be	Patients asked to participate are assured that participation is voluntary and refusal to participate or withdrawal at any time will not compromise care or access to hospital services.
	Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements how consent for participation will be obtained and documented and under which circumstances consent will be obtained again during the research.

Measurable Elements of HRP.7.1

- 1. Patients and families are identified and informed about how to gain access to clinical research, clinical investigations, or clinical trials relevant to their treatment needs.
- 2. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements safeguards to protect the safety, rights, and well-being of vulnerable patients, including children, prisoners, pregnant women, persons who are mentally disabled, persons who are economically or educationally disadvantaged, and others who may be at risk for coercion or undue influence.
- 3. Through the research review function, the hospital establishes and implements safeguards to protect the safety, rights, and well-being of hospital staff who may be at risk for coercion or undue influence.

References

Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences. *International Ethical Guidelines for Health-Related Research Involving Humans*. 2016. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://cioms.ch/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/WEB-CIOMS-Ethical-Guidelines.pdf.

World Health Organization. Ethics and Health: Ethical Standards and Procedures for Research with Human Beings. Accessed Jan 6, 2020. https://www.who.int/ethics/research/en/.

Endnotes

International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH)/World Health Organization (WHO) Good Clinical Practice (GCP) standards

Clinical studies should be carried out according to International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH)/World Health Organization (WHO) Good Clinical Practice (GCP) standards. This provides a unified standard for the European Union, Japan, and the United States, as well as for Australia, Canada, the Nordic countries, and WHO. Thus, any country that adopts this guideline technically follows this same standard. The ICH is a unique project that brings together the regulatory authorities of Europe, Japan, and the United States and experts from the pharmaceutical industry in the three regions to discuss scientific and technical aspects of product registration.

The purpose is to make recommendations on ways to achieve greater harmonization in the interpretation and application of technical guidelines and requirements for product registration in order to reduce or obviate the need to duplicate the testing carried out during the research and development of new medicines. The objectives of such harmonization are a more economical use of human, animal, and material resources and the elimination of unnecessary delay in the global development and availability of new medicines while maintaining safeguards on quality, safety, and efficacy, and regulatory obligations to protect public health. This mission is embodied in the Terms of Reference of ICH.

Specifically pertaining to contract research organizations (CROs) providing clinical-trials services, the ICH-GCP (E6 1.20) defines a *CRO* as "A person or an organization (commercial, academic, or other) contracted by the sponsor to perform one or more of a sponsor's trial-related duties and functions." Furthermore, it states:

- (5.2.1) A sponsor may transfer any or all of the sponsor's trial-related duties and functions to a CRO, but the ultimate responsibility for the quality and integrity of the trial data always resides with the sponsor. The CRO should implement quality assurance and quality control.
- (5.2.2) Any trial-related duty and function that is transferred to and assumed by a CRO should be specified in writing.
- (5.2.3) Any trial-related duties and functions not specifically transferred to and assumed by a CRO are retained by the sponsor.
- (5.2.4) All references to a sponsor in this guideline also apply to a CRO to the extent that a CRO has assumed the trial-related duties and functions of a sponsor.

Summary of Key Accreditation Policies

This section provides a high-level summary of Joint Commission International's (JCI's) accreditation policies for hospitals. Full policies and procedures are posted on your organization's secure *JCI Direct Connect* extranet site. The policies can be grouped into the following categories:

- 1. Before Survey
 - Seeking JCI accreditation
 - Applying for accreditation
- 2. During Survey
 - The survey process
 - Cost of surveys
 - The on-site survey
- After Survey
 - Accreditation decisions
 - Public disclosure and confidentiality
 - Maintaining accreditation
 - Accreditation renewal

Seeking JCI Accreditation

Basics of the Accreditation Process

Evaluation of compliance with the JCI Accreditation Standards for Hospitals is the basis of the hospital accreditation process. When accredited, hospitals are expected to demonstrate continuous compliance with current editions of the standards at all times of the accreditation cycle.

The JCI standards are updated approximately every three years. JCI publishes its standards at least six months in advance of the effective date to provide time for hospitals to come into full compliance with the revised and new standards by the *effective date* published on the cover of the manual. JCI–accredited hospitals are expected to be in full compliance with the new standards at the time the standards become effective. For hospitals seeking accreditation for the first time, the effective date indicates the date after which all surveys and accreditation decisions will be based on the new standards.

Any on-site or other accreditation-related activity (**for example**, videoconferences, extension surveys, for-cause surveys) or evidence of compliance submitted (**for example**, data, policies and procedures, root cause analyses and action plans, or self-assessments) after the effective date must be consistent with the current edition of the standards.

Accreditation Time Line

Every hospital prepares for its initial or triennial JCI on-site survey differently. A sample time line followed by many hospitals appears below.

Before Survey:

24 months before survey—New initial applicants complete the initial registration process (IRP).
When approved, then complete and submit the electronic application for accreditation (E-App) for survey, if ready. Obtain JCI standards and begin education on the standards and implementation of the expectations.

Note: Many organizations begin this process by attending one of the many educational programs JCI offers around the world. For more on the process of getting started, see the guidance offered on JCI's website.

- 9–24 months before survey—Improve practices to ensure that they meet the requirements of the standards. Train staff on these new practices. Evaluate effectiveness and refine as necessary.
- 6–12 months before survey—Assess readiness; Update the electronic profile, review the E-App, submit for the initial or triennial survey, and schedule dates.
- 4–6 months before survey—Receive, complete, and sign the JCI survey contract.
- 2 months before survey—JCI Survey Team Leader contacts the hospital to determine the survey logistics and agenda.

Survey:

On-site survey

After Survey:

- Within 15 days after the survey—Receive accreditation decision and Official Survey Findings Report from JCI.
- Within 10 days of receiving the Official Survey Findings Report, the organization may submit a written request to JCI Accreditation for a revision of the report (*see* "General Postsurvey Policies" on the JCI website).
- 6–12 months before triennial survey date—Update and submit E-App for survey and schedule survey dates.

The time line may be accessed on the JCI website at https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/pathway/.

Applying for Accreditation

The Application Process

A hospital applying for JCI accreditation for the first time (known as *initial applicants*) may begin their accreditation journey by completing a webform available at https://www.jointcommissioninternational.org/accreditation/jcia-contact-us/.

Following a review of the webform, the organization will be provided with a link to submit an initial registration. Upon approval of the initial registration, the organization will be sent a login and password to *JCI Direct Connect* (see below) to complete and submit an E-app for review by JCI Accreditation Central Office staff. The E-App provides detailed information and key statistics that create a hospital profile needed for JCI to manage its accreditation process, develop a contract for survey, and plan the survey agenda and on-site evaluation process. The E-app should be submitted approximately 6 to 12 months prior to the survey dates requested. The E-app provides the information needed to develop a contract specifying cost, number of surveyors, and number of survey days.

Hospitals already accredited or certified apply for continued accreditation or certification via the E-App on *JCI Direct Connect* 6 to 12 months prior to the survey dates requested. The hospital must notify JCI within 30 days—or at least 30 days before the scheduled survey date—of any change to the information reported in the survey application.

JCI Direct Connect

JCI provides each accredited and/or certified organization with access to JCI Direct Connect, JCI's secure, password-protected customer portal. JCI Direct Connect contains the following:

- E-App
- Important accreditation- or certification-related due dates
- Official reports, e-mails, and announcements
- Continuous-compliance tools
- Current accreditation or certification manual and survey process guide
- A publicity guide for appropriate use of JCI Gold Seal of Approval® with advice on promoting the hospital's accreditation or certification

Organizations receive access to *JCI Direct Connect* when first applying for accreditation or certification and receive incremental access to more of the site's content and services as they proceed through the accreditation or certification process. Only fully accredited and certified organizations receive access to all of *JCI Direct Connect*'s content and services.

Types of Surveys

Full Survey

The survey of all the hospital standards throughout an entire organization. This may be the initial survey or the triennial survey. Definitions of both follows.

- Initial Survey—The first full on-site survey of a hospital
 - Follow-up Survey—An on-site evaluation scheduled at least 120 days after the date the hospital
 received the Preliminary Survey Findings Report following an initial survey to evaluate those
 measurable elements (MEs) scored "not met" or "partially met" that resulted in the hospital's
 failure to meet the accreditation decision rules
- *Triennial Survey*—The survey of a hospital after a three-year cycle of accreditation
 - Follow-up Survey—An on-site evaluation scheduled at least 120 days after the date the hospital received the Preliminary Survey Findings Report following a triennial survey to evaluate those MEs scored "not met" or "partially met" that resulted in the hospital's failure to meet the accreditation decision rules

Follow-up Survey

Follow-up surveys are on-site surveys limited in scope, content, and length and designed to gather information on specific issues, standards, or MEs. JCI conducts the following types of follow-up surveys:

- For-Cause Survey—JCI learns of potentially serious standards noncompliance, serious patient care or safety issues, regulatory issues or sanctions, or other serious issues within an accredited hospital or certified program that may have placed the hospital At Risk for Denial of Accreditation.
- Extension Survey—JCI may conduct an extension survey when the hospital notifies JCI before the change or within 30 days of changes in such core information from the hospital's profile, including, but not limited to, the following:
 - A change in hospital ownership and/or name
 - The revocation or restriction of operational licenses or permits, any limitation or closure of patient care services, any sanctions of professional or other staff, or other actions under laws and regulations brought by relevant health authorities
 - Alteration or changes in use of patient care buildings, construction of new or expansion of patient care buildings, or the occupation of buildings in new locations in the community, to expand the types and volume of patient care services 25% or more than was stated in the hospital's profile or was not reported as a patient care location in the E-App, or was not included in the scope of the previous accreditation survey

- Intentional expansion of the hospital's capacity to provide services in the absence of new, renovated, or expanded facilities by 25% or greater, as measured by patient volume, scope of services, or other relevant measures
- The addition or deletion of one or more types of health care services, such as addition of a
 dialysis unit or discontinuation of trauma care
- The hospital has merged with, consolidated with, or acquired an unaccredited site, service, or program for which there are applicable JCI standards.

The Survey Process

Purpose of a Survey

An accreditation survey is designed to assess a hospital's compliance with JCI standards based on

- interviews with staff and patients and other verbal information;
- on-site observations of patient care processes;
- review of policies, procedures, clinical practice guidelines, medical records, staff records, governmental and/or regulatory compliance reports, and other documents requested from the hospital;
- review of quality and patient safety improvement data, performance measures, and outcomes;
- individual *patient tracers* (that is, evaluation of a patient's care experience through the hospital care process); and
- *system tracers* of organizationwide processes (**for example**, medication management, infection prevention and control, hazardous materials and waste, or other high-risk, high-/low-volume, problem-prone systems and processes.

Preparing for Survey

JCI assigns each hospital an account executive to serve as the primary contact between the hospital and JCI. This individual assists in the coordination of the presurvey activities and is available to answer questions about the following:

- Application submission and receipt, contracting, and scheduling
- Official Survey Findings Report processing and Strategic Improvement Plans
- Status of accreditation and certification certificates
- Notifying JCI of significant changes in your organization, including how to update information in JCI Direct Connect and the E-App
- General JCI policies and practices and the survey process
- Concerns regarding any of JCI's processes

Scheduling the Survey

JCI and the hospital select the survey date and prepare the survey agenda together to meet the hospital's needs and the requirements for an efficient survey. To reduce surveyor travel costs, JCI makes every effort to coordinate the scheduling of surveys of other hospitals in a specific country or region.

Planning the Survey Agenda

JCI assigns each hospital a Team Leader to assist in the coordination of the survey agenda planning. The Team Leader will contact the hospital approximately eight weeks in advance of the survey to coordinate logistics for the on-site survey and prepare a survey agenda based on the size, type, and complexity of the hospital. The agenda specifies the sites JCI surveyors will visit, the types of interviews surveyors will conduct, the staff to be interviewed, and the documents that must be provided to the surveyors.

The Survey Team

Highly qualified international surveyors perform the survey. JCI conducts surveys in the English language; however, JCI makes every effort to use surveyors fluent in the language(s) used at the organization. If JCI surveyors with the appropriate language capabilities are not available, it is the responsibility of the surveyed organization to provide qualified translators who are free from conflict of interest (*Also see* APR.10). A typical hospital survey team consists of a physician, nurse, and hospital administrator.

Cancellation of a Survey

JCI or a hospital may cancel a survey without penalty or damages when events such as acts of God, wars, terrorism, or other similar emergencies or circumstances make it impossible, illegal, or unreasonable to go forward with a survey. Cancellation due to any of the reasons cited above must be communicated in writing as soon as possible. If the hospital cancels the survey thirty (30) or fewer days prior to the start date of the survey for any reason or reasons other than those stated above, JCI will require payment of all associated direct costs plus a cancellation fee as outlined in the signed contract. If a hospital cancels the survey more than once after the survey dates are confirmed via e-mail by JCI, JCI will also require a rescheduling fee. This rescheduling fee will increase for each cancellation request. In the event that JCI cancels the survey for any reason or reasons other than those previously stated, JCI does not charge the organization a fee.

Postponement of a Survey

A hospital may postpone a survey that has already been scheduled without penalty or damages when one or more of the following situations occur:

- A natural disaster or another major unforeseen event that substantially disrupts operations
- A major strike that causes the organization to stop accepting patients, cancel surgery and/or other elective procedures, and transfer patients to other hospitals
- Patients, the organization, or both are being moved to another building during the dates of the scheduled survey

JCI reserves the right to conduct an on-site survey if the organization continues to provide patient care services under any of the above circumstances. Hospital renovation projects do not prevent JCI from conducting the on-site survey.

If a hospital postpones the survey thirty (30) or fewer days prior to the first date of the survey for reasons other than those previously stated, JCI will require payment of all associated direct costs plus a postponement fee as outlined in the signed contract. If a hospital postpones the survey more than once after the survey dates are confirmed via e-mail by JCI, JCI will charge a rescheduling fee. This rescheduling fee will increase for each postponement request. In the event that JCI postpones the survey for any reason or reasons other than those previously stated, JCI does not charge the organization a fee.

Cost of Surveys

Calculation of Costs

JCI bases its accreditation survey fee on several factors, including the volume, type, and complexity of services provided by the hospital; the number of locations or care settings included in the survey; and the number of surveyors and survey days required to conduct the evaluation of compliance with JCI standards. Surveyor time for report preparation is included in the calculated survey days. JCI charges the hospital for any required follow-up surveys and for some hospital-initiated survey postponements or cancellations. Inquiries related to estimates of survey fees should be sent via e-mail to JCIAccreditation@jcrinc.com.

Travel Costs

In addition to survey fees, the hospital is responsible for paying all travel costs for the surveyors. This includes transportation (airfare, train, and car) and reasonable hotel accommodations and meals, including a set daily rate for meals and incidental expenses.

Payment Schedule of Survey Fees

JCI bills organizations for accreditation fees using one of two options, noted below. JCI requests that organizations identify their preferred billing option by selecting and signing for the desired option on the last page of their accreditation contract.

Payment Option I

Upon the hospital's return of the signed contract and within 30 days of receipt of the confirmed survey dates, the hospital will receive an invoice for 100% of the survey fees, not including surveyor expenses and surveyor airfares, unless available. Payment is due upon receipt of the invoice. Within 30 days of the conclusion of the survey, JCI will bill the hospital for the remaining surveyor(s) travel and maintenance expenses.

Payment Option II

Upon the organization's return of the signed contract and within 30 days of receipt of the confirmed survey dates, the organization will receive an invoice for the first half of the accreditation survey fees (50%) and all surveyor airfares if available. Payment is due upon receipt of the invoice. At the conclusion of the survey, the second invoice for the remaining 50% of the survey fees and available surveyor travel and maintenance expenses will be billed to the organization. If required, a third invoice may be billed for the balance of expenses.

The On-Site Survey

Scope of the Survey

The scope of a JCI survey is determined by the information in the hospital's E-App. All patient care buildings/settings and all patient units identified on the application are included in the survey. All standards contained in the current edition of the *Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals* are applicable unless the hospital does not provide that service (**for example**, does not provide laboratory services on-site).

The Survey Process

The *tracer methodology* is the foundation of the JCI on-site survey process. In the tracer methodology, surveyors select representative patients from the hospital's patient population and trace each patient's care experience through the hospital; and will also trace several key clinical and managerial systems and processes. This exercise allows surveyors to identify standards compliance issues evident in one or more steps of the patient care and management processes or in the interfaces between processes.

In addition, surveyors interview staff individually and in groups, observe patient care, speak to patients and their families, review patient medical records, review staff personnel records, and review policies and procedures and other documents.

Hospitals should consult their *Joint Commission International Survey Process Guide for Hospitals*, 7th Edition—which JCI provides to hospitals after they have returned a signed contract for survey to JCI—for detailed descriptions of what takes place during a typical initial or triennial survey, including detailed descriptions of all survey activities, required documentation, and other resources.

The surveyors confer with the organization's chief executive officer and other leaders at a leadership conference at the end of each survey. During this conference, the surveyors provide preliminary information about

their findings. It is important to note that any preliminary information is not final until the review by JCI Accreditation Central Office staff has been completed.

If, during the survey, the surveyors identify any condition they believe poses a serious threat to public or patient safety, they notify the JCI Accreditation Central Office staff. In those circumstances, JCI decides whether to issue an expedited Denial of Accreditation decision and if it should inform relevant public authorities.

The Survey Report

The survey team leaves a draft of the report of standards compliance at the exit interview and will, upon request of the hospital's leaders, report survey findings to the hospital staff at a closing conference. Surveyor findings are not considered final until reviewed by the JCI Accreditation Central Office staff. The Official Survey Findings Report will be complete and posted to *JCI Direct Connect* within 10 days of the end of the survey.

Revision of the Official Survey Findings Report

The hospital has ten (10) days from receipt of the Official Survey Findings Report to request, in writing or by e-mail, revision of the report related to one or more survey findings. Appropriate data and supporting information must accompany the request. The JCI Accreditation Central Office staff will review the materials and contact the hospital and/or surveyors as needed in evaluating the information. When the request for revision of the report would change the survey outcome, the JCI Accreditation Committee then considers the request for revision and makes the final accreditation decision.

Accreditation Decisions

JCI makes accreditation decisions by applying decision rules to the scored standards. Decision rules determine an accreditation decision that appropriately represents an organization's overall performance as measured by evidence of compliance with the applicable standards. The JCI Accreditation Committee may exercise reasonable discretion in individual cases to determine whether to vary from applicable decision rules in furtherance of JCI's mission to continuously improve the safety and quality of care in the international community. JCI's Accreditation Committee considers all information from the initial or triennial full survey and any required follow-up surveys in making its decision regarding accreditation. The outcome is that the organization meets the criteria for accreditation or does not meet the criteria and is denied accreditation.

Appeal of Decisions to Deny or Withdraw Accreditation

Hospitals have the right to appeal adverse accreditation decisions. If, based on a full or follow-up survey, or a threat-to-life health and safety situation, there is a decision to deny or to withdraw accreditation, an organization has 10 calendar days from receipt of its Official Survey Findings Report or notice of accreditation withdrawal to notify JCI, in writing or by e-mail, of its intent to appeal the decision.

The appeals process affords the hospital an opportunity to present materials and appear before the Appeals Review Committee as outlined in the JCI Appeals Policy. JCI reserves the right to update its policies and procedures from time to time and recognizes the *JCI Direct Connect* website as the official location for the posting of all current policies and procedures regarding the JCI appeals process. In the event of any conflict between the JCI manual currently in effect and a JCI policy or procedure as posted on the *JCI Direct Connect* website, the policy or procedure on the *JCI Direct Connect* website shall govern.

Public Disclosure and Confidentiality

Confidentiality

JCI keeps confidential all matters having to do with the accreditation process except

- an accredited hospital's status (that is, whether the organization is accredited, was denied accreditation, or if accreditation was withdrawn by JCI); and
- the number of complaints submitted about an organization that meet the JCI criteria for review.

The official accreditation status of a hospital is noted on the JCI website as either Accredited (including the date of the accreditation decision) or Accreditation Withdrawn (including the date the decision was made to withdraw accreditation). JCI posts the status of Accreditation Withdrawn on the JCI website for one year. When an organization voluntarily withdraws from the accreditation process, JCI posts this and the date of the withdrawal on the JCI website. The accredited hospital may release more detailed information on its accreditation status, up to and including its Official Survey Findings Report, to whomever it wishes. However, when a hospital disseminates inaccurate information about its accreditation status, JCI reserves the right to clarify information that would otherwise be considered confidential.

JCI provides to the individual submitting a complaint that meets the criteria for review the following:

- The applicable standards reviewed
- Any standards for which recommendations for improvement were issued and/or a Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) was required as a result of the review
- When applicable, any change in the hospital's accreditation status

Accreditation Award Display and Use

JCI provides each hospital with three certificates of accreditation at the time of initial accreditation and at the time of each accreditation renewal. The certificates and all copies remain JCI's property. Certificates must be returned if the organization is issued a new certificate reflecting a name change or the organization's accreditation is withdrawn or denied for any reason.

A hospital accredited by JCI must be accurate in describing to the public the nature and meaning of its accreditation award and must not misrepresent its accreditation status or the facilities and services to which the accreditation award applies. JCI supplies each hospital receiving accreditation with appropriate publicity guidelines for announcing the accreditation award.

Maintaining Accreditation

Length of Accreditation Awards

An accreditation award is valid for three years unless revoked by JCI. The award is retroactively effective on the first day after JCI completes the hospital's survey or, when a follow-up survey is required, completes any follow-up survey(s). At the end of the hospital's three-year accreditation cycle, JCI reevaluates the hospital for renewal of its accreditation award.

Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP)

A Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) is a required written plan of action that the hospital develops in response to applicable "not met" and "partially met" findings that could impact patient safety and quality identified in the JCI Official Survey Findings Report. The written SIP is expected to do the following:

- Establish the strategies/approach that the hospital will implement to address each identified finding
- Describe specific actions the hospital will use to achieve compliance with the standards/MEs cited

- Describe specific steps the hospital will use to communicate and educate its staff, physicians, and
 others in implementing actions to achieve compliance with the MEs cited
- Describe methodology to prevent reoccurrence and to sustain improvement over time
- Identify the measures that will be used to evaluate the effectiveness of the improvement plan

The SIP must demonstrate that the hospital's actions will lead to full compliance with the standards and MEs. The SIP is reviewed and approved and accepted by the JCI Accreditation Central Office staff after the Accreditation or Certification Letter and Gold Seal have been awarded.

An organization that fails to submit an acceptable SIP within 120 days of the organization's survey is placed At Risk for Denial of Accreditation and a follow-up survey is required to verify evidence of compliance. When this occurs, the client organization is notified and the follow-up survey protocol is implemented.

Reporting Requirements Between Surveys

JCI requires ongoing communication throughout the three-year accreditation cycle between the accredited hospital and JCI to ensure that the hospital continues to meet the accreditation requirements after becoming accredited. Accreditation is neither automatically transferred nor continued if significant changes occur within the accredited organization. Please *see* the "Accreditation Participation Requirements" (APR) section for the list of changes that must be reported.

When Accreditation Is at Risk

Hospitals may be At Risk for Denial of Accreditation when JCI Accreditation Central Office staff and surveyors determine that one or more of the following conditions are present in an organization or have occurred:

- 1. An immediate threat to patient safety, public health, or staff safety (See APR.12)
- The organization does not possess a license, certificate, and/or permit, as, or when, required by applicable laws and regulations, to provide the health care services for which the organization is seeking accreditation.
- 3. The organization's license, certificate, and/or permit to provide health care services has been temporarily or permanently restricted or removed and/or clinical departments/services have been limited or closed by a local or national regulatory body or authority based on quality and safety conditions, incidents, or events or other legal or regulatory situations.
- 4. An individual who does not possess a license, registration, or certification is providing or has provided health care services.
- 5. The organization submitted falsified documents or misrepresented information in seeking to achieve or to retain accreditation. (*See* APR.2)
- 6. The organization has not met the accreditation policy for reporting requirements between surveys. (See APR.3)
- 7. The organization fails to submit an acceptable Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) within 120 days of the organization's survey.

JCI Accreditation Central Office staff and surveyors may identify the conditions during an on-site survey, during the review of a survey report or postsurvey follow-up activity, or from a complaint submitted against the hospital or after removal or restriction of its license/permit to operate by a national or other regulatory body or authority. When JCI finds that the condition is substantiated and not resolved, Denial of Accreditation is recommended to the Accreditation Committee. The organization has the right to appeal this decision as previously described.

Reporting Sentinel Events

Accredited hospitals may voluntarily report sentinel events to JCI. JCI may also become aware of a sentinel event by some other means, such as communication from a patient, a family member, an employee or a staff member of the organization, a surveyor, or through the media. Events considered sentinel events are described in Standard QPS.7.

Such events are called *sentinel* because they signal a need for immediate investigation and response. The terms *sentinel event* and *medical error* are not synonymous; not all sentinel events occur because of an error, and not all errors result in sentinel events.

The appropriate response by a hospital to a sentinel event includes conducting a timely, thorough, and credible root cause analysis; developing an action plan designed to implement improvements to reduce risk; implementing the improvements; and monitoring the effectiveness of those improvements. JCI Accreditation Central Office staff review the root cause analysis and action plan with the hospital to help ensure improvement that will reduce the risk of a similar event occurring in the future.

During the on-site survey, surveyors assess the hospital's compliance with sentinel event—related standards (such as QPS.7). If, during the survey, an unreported sentinel event is identified by the survey team, the hospital's CEO and others are informed that the event has been reported to JCI Accreditation Central Office for further review.

Managing a Complaint or Quality Concern

JCI's Office of Quality and Safety Monitoring reviews complaints, concerns, and inquiries related to accredited hospitals. These communications may be received from a variety of sources, such as directly from patients, families, or health care practitioners, from governmental agencies in the form of reports, or through media reports. In hospitals that do not have an efficient and effective process to manage and resolve complaints, staff and patients bring those unresolved issues to JCI's attention. (*Also see* APR.11)

Following its review of a reported quality concern, JCI may take a number of actions, including

- recording the information for trending purposes and possible action in the future;
- obtaining the involved hospital's response to the concern; or
- conducting a for-cause survey.

Accreditation Renewal

The JCI Accreditation Central Office staff remind the hospital to update its E-App before the hospital's triennial accreditation due date and notify JCI of its intention to be reaccredited. JCI then schedules the survey, making every effort to synchronize the next survey date with the conclusion of the previous three-year accreditation cycle. JCI works with the hospital and others in the country or region that are also due for surveys to coordinate the survey dates in an effort to maximize resources and reduce travel expenses. A hospital's previous accreditation status may remain in effect up to two months after the subsequent full accreditation survey to accomplish any required follow-up.

Glossary

abnormal result A result that is outside of the expected range for the test but not immediately lifethreatening. *Also see* critical result.

accreditation Determination by an accrediting body that an eligible program, institution, or organization, such as a health care organization, complies with a required set of standards, indicating that a level of quality, performance, or similar attribute has been met. *Also see* certification; standards-based evaluation.

accreditation decisions As it relates to Joint Commission International (JCI) accreditation, an organization can achieve the following categories of accreditation based on a JCI survey:

Accredited The organization demonstrates acceptable compliance with all JCI standards and International Patient Safety Goals (IPSGs).

Denial of Accreditation The organization does not demonstrate acceptable compliance with JCI standards and/or IPSGs, JCI withdraws accreditation for other reasons, or the organization voluntarily withdraws from the accreditation process.

accreditation process A continuous process whereby health care organizations demonstrate to JCI that they are providing safe, high-quality patient care, as determined by compliance with JCI standards and IPSG requirements. The key component of this process is an on-site survey of an organization by JCI surveyors.

accreditation survey An evaluation of an organization to assess compliance with applicable standards and IPSGs and to determine its accreditation status. The JCI accreditation survey includes the following:

Evaluation of documents provided by the organization

- Verbal information about the implementation of standards or examples of their implementation that enables compliance to be determined
- On-site observations by surveyors
- Tracking of patients through the care process using tracer methodology
- Education about standards compliance and performance improvement

A survey of all standards throughout an entire organization is considered a full survey. An initial survey, triennial survey, and validation survey are full surveys:

initial survey The first on-site survey of an organization.

triennial survey The survey of an organization after a three-year cycle of accreditation.

validation survey A survey that JCI may conduct in volunteer organizations as a component of JCI's internal quality improvement monitoring processes. This survey has no impact on the organization's accreditation status and is conducted at no charge to the organization.

Accredited See accreditation decisions

acute care A level of health care in which a patient is treated for a brief but severe episode of illness; for conditions that are the result of disease or trauma; or during recovery from surgery. Many organizations are acute care facilities with the goal of discharging the patient as soon as the patient is deemed healthy and stable, with appropriate discharge instructions.

administrative/financial performance measures Measures that address the organizational structure for coordinating and integrating services, functions, or activities across operational components, including financial management (for example, utilization, credentialing).

adverse drug event An injury resulting from a medical intervention related to a medication, including harm from an adverse drug reaction or a medication error.

adverse drug reaction A response to a medicinal product that is noxious and unintended and that occurs at doses normally used in humans for the prophylaxis, diagnosis, or treatment of disease or for the restoration, correction, or modification of physiological or psychological function.

adverse event A patient safety event that results in harm to a patient. *Also see* near miss; no-harm event; patient safety event; sentinel event.

aggregate To combine standardized data and information.

air handling system A utility system consisting of fans, filters, humidifiers, dehumidifiers, heating and/or cooling elements, air mixers, and other necessary equipment to control the temperature, humidity, air movement, and air cleanliness of a space.

ambulatory care Care provided on an outpatient basis and includes the diagnosis, observation, treatment/interventions, and rehabilitation services. Ambulatory care includes a wide range of services and settings, including polyclinics, specialty services centers, freestanding day surgery centers, and others.

analyte The substance or constituent on which testing is conducted. *Also see* calibration material.

analytic sensitivity The lowest concentration or amount of an analyte or other substance that can be measured.

analytic specificity The extent to which a method responds only to the analyte to be measured.

anatomic pathology Services related to surgical pathology, autopsy, and cytology.

anesthesia Consists of general anesthesia and spinal or major regional anesthesia. It does not include local anesthesia. General anesthesia is a drug-induced loss of consciousness during which patients are not arousable, even by painful stimulation. The ability to independently maintain ventilatory function is often impaired. Patients

often require assistance in maintaining a patent airway, and positive pressure ventilation may be required because of depressed spontaneous ventilation or drug-induced depression of neuromuscular function. Cardiovascular function may be impaired. *Also see* procedural sedation.

appeal A process through which a clinical care organization or program that has been denied accreditation or certification may exercise its right to a hearing.

applying redundancies Duplication of critical components, functions, or processes to increase reliability of a system and improve system performance. Examples include backups and fail-safes.

appointment Formal authorization of medical or dental staff to perform patient care, which is accompanied by a delineation of authorized clinical privileges. The authorization process includes a review of the health care practitioner's credentials and qualifications to determine if they align with the health care organization's needs to provide patient care. *Also see* reappointment.

assay An analysis to determine the presence, absence, or quantity of one or more components.

assessment (patient) The process established by an organization or program for obtaining appropriate and necessary information (such as physiological, psychological, health history, spiritual/cultural, social, and/or economic information) about each individual seeking entry into a health care setting, service, or program. The information is used to aid diagnosis and/or care planning, identify conditions and their severity, and inform treatment recommendations. Assessments incorporate information from multiple in-depth sources, including screenings, and match an individual's needs, preferences, and goals with the appropriate type and level of care, treatment, or services. *Also see* screening.

assessment (performance improvement) The systematic collection and review of patient-, process-, program-, or organization-specific data.

automatic shutdown device for air handling system A device that automatically interrupts the electrical power to the air handling system when

smoke is detected, in order to prevent the spread of smoke through the building.

automatic smoke management system A mechanical system that controls the movement of smoke during a fire automatically, without requiring manual controls.

behavior modification The targeted outcome of an organized patient education program wherein patients successfully integrate the theory and skills necessary to manage their disease(s) or condition(s).

best practice Clinical, scientific, or professional technique, method, or process, that is recognized by a majority of professionals in a particular field as more effective at delivering a particular outcome than any other practice. These practices, also sometimes referred to as good practice or better practice, are typically evidence based and consensus driven.

bias An influence on results that causes them to routinely depart from their true value.

blood component A fraction of separated whole blood (for example, red blood cells, plasma, platelets, granulocytes).

blood transfusion services Services relating to transfusing and infusing individuals with blood, blood components, or blood derivatives.

brand-name medication A medication sold by a drug company under a specific name or trademark, and that is protected by a patent. Brand-name medications include prescription medications and over-the-counter medications. *Also see* generic medication.

calibration material A solution that has a known amount of analyte weighed in or has a value determined by repetitive testing, using a reference or definitive testing method. Calibration material, also referred to as standard, may be traceable to a National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) standard. *Also see* analyte.

calibration verification The process used to verify a laboratory's reportable range of patient test results, which includes calibration materials with at least a minimum value, a midpoint value, and a maximum value, performance of which is based on manufacturers' recommendations or instrument history, and whenever a major change in the

reagents or equipment or instrument could affect the calibration.

capital cost The cost of investing in the development of new or improved facilities, services, or equipment. Does not include operational costs.

care management/case management A process to manage and to coordinate health care resource use in the provision of care and services.

care plan See plan of care.

certification 1. The procedure and action by which an authorized organization evaluates and certifies that an individual, institution, or program meets requirements, such as standards (including JCI certification standards). Certification differs from accreditation in that certification can also be applied to individuals (for example, a medical specialist). 2. The process by which a nongovernmental agency or association certifies that an individual has met predetermined qualifications specified by that agency or association. *Also see* accreditation; standards-based evaluation.

certification decisions Categories of certification that an organization can achieve based on a JCI survey. The categories are as follows:

Certified The organization demonstrates acceptable compliance with all standards and International Patient Safety Goals.

Denial of Certification The organization is consistently not in compliance with JCI standards and International Patient Safety Goals, JCI withdraws its certification for other reasons, or the organization voluntarily withdraws from the certification process.

certification framework The structures and processes in an organization that are necessary for a certifying organization to do the following:

- Consistently and reliably evaluate applicant organizations against standards
- Recruit and send out trained evaluators
- Reach consistent and defensible certification decisions
- Carry out related policies and procedures

certification process A continuous process whereby health care organizations are required to demonstrate to JCI that they are providing safe, high-quality care, as determined by compliance

with JCI standards and International Patient Safety Goal recommendations. The key component of this process is an on-site evaluation of an organization by JCI surveyors.

certification program *See* JCI Certification Program.

certification review An evaluation of a clinical care program to assess its level of compliance with applicable JCI standards and to make determinations about its certification status. The evaluation includes assessing documentation, reviewing performance measurement reports, gathering verbal information, making on-site observations, and educating and consulting with the program about standards compliance and performance improvement.

certification survey An evaluation of an organization to assess its compliance with applicable standards and to determine its certification status. The JCI certification survey includes the following:

- Evaluation of documents provided by the organization
- Verbal information about the implementation of standards or examples of their implementation that enables compliance to be determined
- On-site observations by surveyors
- Tracking of patients through the care process by tracer methodology
- Education about standards compliance and performance improvement.

chain of custody A verifiable procedure that tracks, monitors, and documents the movement and location of a biologic specimen in order to maintain the integrity of the sample. The process includes patient identification, collection, processing, and testing. Chain of custody is also a factor in the safe and respectful handling/transfer of the deceased and human body parts from mortuaries to resting places.

chief executive/chief executive officer The most senior executive of the health care organization, occupied by one or more individuals selected by the governing entity to manage the organization on a day-to-day basis.

cleaning Removal of visible foreign material (for example, soil, organic material) from objects and surfaces, which is normally accomplished manually

or mechanically using water with detergents or enzymatic products.

clinical alarm A component of some medical devices that is designed to notify caregivers of an important change in the patient's physiologic status. A clinical alarm typically provides audible and/or visible notification of the changed patient status.

clinical care management An interdisciplinary, continuum-based approach to health care delivery that prevents, minimizes, or delays exacerbations or complications of an illness or conditions by doing the following:

- Supporting the participant's self-management activities
- Supporting the ongoing patient/practitioner relationship
- Using a standardized method or process for delivering or facilitating the delivery of clinical care based on clinical practice guidelines or evidence-based practice
- Tailoring treatments and interventions to the participant's need
- Promoting the flow of patient information across settings and providers while protecting patient rights, security, and privacy
- Analyzing and using data to continually revise treatment plans
- Continuously evaluating ways to improve performance and clinical practice, thereby improving participant care

This definition is consistent with the Disease Management Association of America (DMAA) definition.

clinical care performance measures Measures designed to evaluate the processes or outcomes of care associated with the delivery of clinical services. They allow for internal and external comparisons to be used to continuously improve patient health outcomes; may focus on the appropriateness of clinical decision making and implementation of these decisions; and must be condition or procedure specific or address important functions of patient care (for example, medication use, infection prevention and control, patient assessment, patient safety).

clinical information management The management of patient or clinical information to define, process, and sequence activities, thereby

maximizing care coordination to improve care. The particular methodology of managing clinical information, whether paper based or electronic, is based on sound information management principles.

clinical pathway 1. A defined process, often evidence-based, that guides care management for a well-defined group of patients, decreases variance, and often uses a multidisciplinary team. 2. Services relating to solving clinical problems, particularly using laboratory methods in clinical diagnosis. Includes clinical chemistry, bacteriology and mycology, parasitology, virology, clinical microscopy, hematology, coagulation immunohematology, immunology, serology, and radiobioassay. *Also see* pathway.

clinical practice guidelines Statements that include recommendations intended to optimize patient care, which are informed by a systematic review of scientific evidence and an assessment of the benefits and harms of alternative care options. Clinical practice guidelines are used in making care decisions and developing clinical care processes for diagnoses and conditions and often require clinical pathways and clinical protocols.

clinical staff Those who provide direct patient care (physicians, dentists, nurses, physical therapists, dietitians, among others). *Also see* nonclinical staff; staff.

clinical trial Testing of drugs, devices, or techniques in three or sometimes four stages, depending on the purpose, size, and scope of the test. Phase I trials evaluate the safety of diagnostic, therapeutic, or prophylactic drugs, devices, or techniques to determine the safe dosage range (if appropriate). They involve a small number of healthy subjects. The trial usually lasts about one year. Phase II trials are usually controlled to assess the effectiveness and dosage (if appropriate) of the drugs, devices, or techniques. These studies involve several hundred volunteers, including a limited number of patients with the target disease or disorder. The trial usually lasts about two years. Phase III trials verify the effectiveness of the drugs, devices, or techniques determined in Phase II. Phase III patients are monitored to identify any adverse reactions from long-term use. These studies involve groups of patients large enough to identify clinically significant responses. The trial usually lasts about

three years. Phase IV trials study the drugs, devices, or techniques that have been approved for general sale. These studies are often conducted to obtain more data about a product's safety and efficacy.

close call See near miss.

cohort 1. A group of patients who share one or more characteristics or features (for example, age or clinical diagnosis). 2. To place a group of patients in the same space to receive treatment. For example, patients exposed to or infected with the same pathogen may be cohorted for infection control purposes.

community Related to primary care centers, a community refers to a group of people within certain geographical boundaries or who share common characteristics such as health risks or disease processes. *Also see* population.

comparison group The group of health care organizations or programs to which an individual health care organization or program is compared.

competence A determination of an individual's skills, knowledge, and capability to meet defined expectations, as frequently described in a job description. *Also see* credentials.

comprehensive systematic analysis A process for identifying the basic or causal factor(s) underlying variation in performance, including the occurrence or possible occurrence of a sentinel event. A root cause analysis is one type of comprehensive systematic analysis.

confidentiality 1. The restricted access to data and information to health care practitioners and clinical staff who have a need, a reason, and permission for such access. 2. An individual's right to personal and informational privacy, including for his or her medical records.

contamination The presence of an unwanted material or organism, such as an infectious agent, bacteria, parasite, or other contaminant, that is introduced to an environment, surface, object, or substance, such as water, food, or sterile medical supplies.

continuity of care The degree to which the care of individuals is coordinated among practitioners, among organizations, and over time. *Also see* handover.

continuum of care Matching the individual's ongoing needs with the appropriate level and type of care, treatment, and services within an organization or across multiple organizations. *Also see* levels of care.

contracted services Services provided through a written agreement with another organization, agency, or individual. The agreement specifies the services or staff to be provided on behalf of the applicant organization and the fees to provide these services or staff.

controlled substance A drug or other substance that is tightly controlled by the government or regulatory agencies because it may cause physical and mental dependence and have restrictions on how they can be filled and refilled. The control applies to the way the substance is made, used, handled, stored, and distributed. Controlled substances include opioids, stimulants, depressants, hallucinogens, and anabolic steroids. Controlled substances with an approved medical use, such as morphine, Valium, and Ritalin, are available only by prescription from a licensed medical professional.

corrective action Any activity or action taken to address an impairment, vulnerability, deficiency, or risk that is identified in response to an event or proactively (for example, through inspections, maintenance, risk assessment, or similar activity).

credentialing The process of obtaining, verifying, and assessing the qualifications of a health care practitioner to provide patient care services in or for a health care organization. *Also see* privileging; recredentialing.

credentials Documents that are issued by a recognized entity to indicate completion of requirements or the meeting of eligibility requirements, including education (such as a diploma from a medical school, specialty training [residency] completion letter or certificate), completion of the requirements of a medical professional organization, licensure, recognition of registration with a medical or dental council, training, and experience, which indicate the individual's sustainability to fulfill a role. Additional criteria may be added by a health care organization. Also see competence.

criteria 1. Expected levels of achievement, or specifications against which performance or quality may be compared. 2. For purposes of eligibility for a JCI review, the conditions necessary for programs to be reviewed for certification by JCI.

critical result A variance from normal range that represents a pathophysiologic state that is high-risk or life-threatening, is considered urgent or emergent in nature, and in which immediate medical action is likely necessary to preserve life or prevent a catastrophic occurrence. *Also see* abnormal result.

culture of safety Also known as a safe culture, a collaborative environment in which skilled clinicians treat each other with respect; leaders drive effective teamwork and promote psychological safety; teams learn from errors and near misses; caregivers are aware of the inherent limitations of human performance in complex systems (stress recognition); and there is a visible process of learning and driving improvement through debriefings. Staff members are able to report concerns about safety or quality of care without fear of retaliation from health care organization leaders or other staff members.

curative services Services provided to overcome disease and to promote recovery. Curative services or therapy are different from palliative services, which give relief but not cure. *Also see* palliative services.

data Facts, clinical observations, or measurements collected during an assessment activity. Data before they are analyzed are called raw data.

data element A discrete piece of data, such as patient birth date or principal diagnosis.

data integrity The accuracy, consistency, and completeness of data.

data point The representation of a value for a set of observations or measurements at a specific time interval (for example, perioperative mortality rate for June 2019).

data quality The accuracy and completeness of measure data on performance, in the context of the analytic purposes for which they will be used.

data sources The primary source documents used for data collection (for example, billing or

administrative data, encounter form, enrollment form, medical record).

deficiency A state of being noncompliant or defective; lacking a necessary quality or element; or failing to meet expectations or standards. Health care organizations can have deficiencies in processes, procedures, policies, performance, and other areas.

defined measure A structured measure with defined populations that measures specific events or values; such measures may have numerators and denominators, take the form of a continuous variable, or result from review questions.

Denial of Accreditation *See* accreditation decisions.

denominator The lower part of a fraction used to calculate a rate, proportion, or ratio. A statement that depicts the primary or overall population of interest that the measure is interested in evaluating (for example, patients with a principal diagnosis and/or other diagnoses of insulin-dependent diabetes).

department/service leaders The individuals who manage and direct the varied services of the organization, commonly referred to as departments, services, and/or units.

disaster A sudden, unexpected event that causes widespread damage and disruptions, as well as injury and/or loss of life; may be naturally occurring or man-made. *Also see* disaster preparedness; emergency.

disaster preparedness The ability of the health care organization to maintain operations, respond to the potentially increased volume and acuity of patients, and meet the needs of the community affected by the disaster. *Also see* disaster; emergency.

discharge The point at which a patient's active involvement with a health care organization or program ends and the organization or program no longer maintains active responsibility for the care of the patient.

discharge summary A section of a patient medical record that summarizes the reasons for admittance, the significant findings, the procedures performed, the treatment rendered, the patient's condition on discharge, and any specific instructions given to the patient or family.

disease prevention Activities and strategies specifically aimed to decrease the risk of acquiring an acute or chronic disease, as well as to halt the progress and minimize the consequences of a disease if present. *Also see* preventive services.

disinfection A process that eliminates many or all pathogenic microorganisms, except bacterial spores, on inanimate objects, usually by using liquid chemicals or wet pasteurization.

document, written A printed or electronic document providing information of a formal or informal nature for a specific purpose.

do-not-use list A written catalog of abbreviations, acronyms, and symbols that are not to be used throughout an organization—whether handwritten or entered as free text into a computer—due to their potentially confusing nature.

downtime Data system interruption.

efficiency The relationship between the outcomes (results of care) and the resources used to deliver care. For example, when two programs use the same amount of resources, the one that achieves a higher immunization coverage rate is more efficient. Increasing efficiency involves achieving the same outputs with fewer resources or more outputs with the same amount of resources.

elective procedure A procedure planned in advance by the patient. *Also see* emergency procedure.

electronic medical record (EMR) An electronic record of a patient's health-related information. *Also see* medical record; patient medical record.

elope Intentionally leave a health care organization without notifying the organization and against medical advice.

emergency 1. An unanticipated, sudden, or lifethreatening occurrence, such as events necessitating resuscitation or emergency surgery to prevent death or disability. And/or 2. A natural or man-made event that significantly disrupts the environment of care (for example, damage to the organization's building[s] and grounds due to severe winds, storms, or earthquakes); that significantly disrupts care and treatment (for example, loss of utilities, such as power, water, or telephones, due to floods, civil disturbances, accidents, or emergencies in

the organization or its community); or that results in sudden, significantly changed or increased demands for the organization's services (for example, bioterrorist attack, building collapse, or train crash in the organization's community). Some emergencies are called disasters. *Also see* disaster, disaster preparedness.

emergency cart A self-contained, portable set of trays, drawers, and/or shelves used to contain and transport all equipment, medications, and supplies necessary to perform life support protocols.

emergency procedure A procedure that is not planned in advance but takes place in response to an emergent or urgent health situation. *Also see* elective procedure.

emergent A classification of acuity used in the triage systems to signify that the patient's condition is life-threatening and requires immediate intervention. *Also see* urgent.

employment practices Analysis, screening, or other methods used to recruit, hire, select, transfer, promote, provide benefits for, or similarly affect employees or future employees.

encryption A means of encoding information to protect against unauthorized access.

end-of-life/hospice services Services aimed at meeting the medical, physical, mental, spiritual, and social needs of the dying patient.

equipment maintenance, preventive *See* maintenance program, preventive.

equipment maintenance, routine *See* maintenance program, routine.

equipment maintenance program, preventive *See* maintenance program, preventive.

equipment maintenance program, routine *See* maintenance program, routine.

error 1. A mistake that causes harm. 2. Failure to carry out a planned action as intended, or application of an incorrect plan.

essential Of utmost importance; necessary.

essential utilities Utility systems that must continuously operate safely and effectively in order to provide safe care and avoid harm. These include, but are not limited to, power, water, and medical gases.

evidence-based guidelines Guidelines that have been scientifically developed based on recent literature review and are consensus driven.

excluded population Detailed information describing the population(s) that should not be included in the numerator and denominator, or a continuous variable measure calculation (for example, specific age groups, diagnoses, procedures, enrollment periods, insurance and health plan groups).

extension survey A survey that may be conducted when the health care organization has changes in core information, services, and/or other factors (for example, a change that results in a considerable increase in volume of patients served). The organization notifies JCI within 30 days of the effective date of the change(s).

external data source A repository for data that exists outside the organization's control.

facility management and safety

program Program with specific plans for the following areas of operations: safety and security, hazardous materials, disaster preparedness, fire safety, medical equipment, and utility systems.

failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA) A systematic approach to examining a design prospectively for possible ways failure may occur. The ways failure may occur are then prioritized to help organizations create design improvements that will have the most benefit. This tool assumes that no matter how knowledgeable or careful people are, errors will occur in some situations and may even be likely to occur.

falsification (of information) Fabrication, in whole or in part, of any information provided by an applicant or certified organization to JCI.

family The person(s) with a significant role in the patient's life. This may include a person(s) not legally related to the patient. This person(s) is often referred to as a surrogate decision maker if authorized to make care decisions for a patient if the patient loses decision-making ability.

fellow *See* trainee, medical.

fire alarm A device or system of devices that gives audible and/or visible warning of an outbreak of fire in the building or area in which it is installed. Fire

alarm systems can be automatic, semiautomatic, or manual.

fire door A type of door that has been built to withstand direct exposure to fire for an extended period of time, without allowing the fire to spread to the other side of the door.

fire door assembly A fire barrier that consists of any combination of a fire door, a frame, hardware, and other accessories that together provide a specific degree of fire protection to an opening.

fire extinguisher A portable device used to put out small fires, or to reduce the destruction caused by a fire before firefighters arrive. Different types of fire extinguishers are applicable to different types of fires. For example, foam extinguishers are used for solid and liquid fires, while carbon dioxide extinguishers can be used for solid, liquid, gas, oil, fat, and electric fires.

fire hose A very high-pressure hose used to take water or fire retardant materials to a fire.

fire pump A device used to increase the water pressure in fire sprinkler systems and standpipe systems and deliver an appropriate amount of water, particularly when the system is fed by a nonpressurized water tank or other water supply that lacks adequate pressure. Fire pumps can be driven by an electric motor, diesel engine, or steam turbine.

fire separations A method of using fire-resisting walls, floors, doors, ducts, and other elements to prevent fire from spreading to adjacent areas for designated time periods.

fire sprinkler system A device placed in ceilings facing toward the floor that are designed to extinguish an emerging fire using water piped through a high-pressure supply.

fire suppression system A set of components designed to extinguish a fire through application of an external substance, such as water or foam. Many fire suppression systems also include fire detection systems and fire alarms.

follow-up survey A survey that may be conducted as a required follow-up to a full survey (initial/ triennial) when the documented findings do not meet one or more of the decision rules. A follow-up survey is an on-site survey that is limited in

scope, content, and length and designed to gather information on a specific issue(s) or limited number of standards or measurable elements, IPSGs, and/or Accreditation Participation Requirements (APRs).

for-cause survey A survey conducted when JCI learns of potentially serious standards noncompliance, serious patient care or safety issues, regulatory issues or sanctions, or other serious issues within an accredited organization or certified program that may have placed the organization At Risk for Denial of Accreditation.

framework An outline, overview, or "skeleton" of interconnected items that can be modified at any time by adding or deleting items.

full operation Criteria indicating the organization's readiness for comprehensive on-site evaluation against all relevant JCI standards, based on identification of the following in the organization's electronic application for survey (E-App): a list of all clinical services currently provided for inpatients and outpatients; utilization statistics for clinical services showing consistent inpatient and outpatient activity levels and types of services provided for at least four months or more prior to submission of the organization's electronic application; and all inpatient and outpatient clinical services, units, and departments.

full survey The survey of all the applicable standards throughout an entire organization. This may be the initial survey, triennial survey, or validation survey.

functional status The ability of individuals to take care of themselves physically and emotionally according to the expected norms of their age group. Functional status may be divided into social, physical, and psychological functions. Functional status may be assessed by asking questions during periodic health examinations or using formal screening instruments. *Also see* measure.

generic medication A medication created to be the same as an existing approved brand-name medication in dosage form, safety, strength, route of administration, quality, and performance characteristics. Generic medications include prescription medications and over-the-counter medications. *Also see* brand-name medication.

governance Level of leadership held by the governing entity of the health care organization, which can have various configurations. *Also see* leaders and leadership.

governance structures The committees, task forces, and other groups formed by governance to provide assistance or advice.

governing entity The individual(s) or group that has ultimate authority and responsibility for establishing policy, maintaining quality of care, and providing for organization management and planning for the organization. Examples for the structure of a governing entity include a group of individuals (such as a board of directors) or one or more individual owners. In the case of public organizations, the governing entity is often the Ministry of Health (MOH).

handover The transfer of responsibility for a patient and the patient's care that is achieved through effective communication (for example, between health care practitioners; from one department, unit, or service of the organization to another; between the organization and other levels of health care; between staff and patients/families). Also called handoff. *Also see* continuity of care.

harm Physical or psychological injury, including increased anxiety, inconvenience (such as prolonged treatment), monetary loss, social impact, and/or other negative effects suffered by a person.

harvesting (of organs) Removal of an organ for means of transplantation.

hazardous conditions Circumstances that have the potential to create future adverse events.

hazardous materials and waste Materials for which handling, use, storage, and disposal are guided or defined by local, national, or regional regulation. Types of hazardous materials and waste include pharmaceutical, chemical, cytotoxic, and infectious.

hazardous medications Medications that (as indicated by studies in animals or humans) have a potential for causing cancer, developmental or reproductive toxicity, genotoxicity, or harm to organs. Chemotherapy, antiviral drugs, hormones, and some bioengineered drugs are examples of hazardous medications.

hazard vulnerability analysis (HVA) A tool used for the identification of potential emergencies and the direct and indirect effects those emergencies may have on the organization's operations and demand for its services.

health care-associated infection(s)

(HAIS) Any infection(s) acquired by an individual while receiving care or services in a health care organization. Common HAIs are urinary tract infections, surgical wound infections, pneumonia, and bloodstream infections.

health care organization A general term used to describe many types of organizations that provide health care services. This includes ambulatory care centers, home health care organizations, hospitals, laboratories, long term care organizations, and primary care centers.

health care organization management

standards For purposes of JCI accreditation or certification, standards that are organized according to what is done directly or indirectly to provide for a safe, effective, and well-managed organization and facility (for example, prevention and control of infection, facility management, staff qualifications).

health care practitioner Any person who has completed a course of study and is skilled in a field of heath care. This includes a nurse, physician, dentist, pharmacist, respiratory therapist, physical therapist, and dietitian, among others. Health care practitioners are licensed by a government agency or certified by a professional organization. *Also see* independent practitioner; licensed independent practitioner; practitioner.

health promotion Activities that increase an individual's control over his or her own health, thereby improving it. These activities may occur at the individual, family, community, and system levels; they promote healthy behaviors and other changes that decrease the risk for acute and chronic diseases and injury.

health status performance measures Measures that address the functional well-being of specific populations, both in general and in relation to specific conditions, demonstrating change over time (for example, physical functioning, bodily pain, social functioning, mental health).

heat detector A device that senses unusually high temperatures and/or sudden increases in temperature and activates the fire alarm system. They are typically used in places where smoke detectors may cause false alarms.

histogram A graphic display, using a bar graph, of the frequency distribution of a variable. Rectangles are drawn so that their bases lie on a linear scale representing different intervals, their heights are proportional to the frequencies of the values within each of the intervals.

holding bed A bed associated with or connected to an emergency department, an outpatient department, or an operating theatre in which a patient may wait for a decision about the need for another level of care or transfer to another clinical area, such as admission to an inpatient ward, transfer to another facility, or discharge from the hospital. These are considered separate from the actual unit/ward bed count.

home care The term that is generally used to refer to services provided in the home or in the community to recovering, disabled, or chronically ill persons and their families. These services may include some combination of professional health care services and personal care and supportive services. Professional health care services (also known as "skilled care") may include physical and/ or psychological assessment, nursing and medical care, medication teaching and administration, wound care, pain management, disease education and management, physical therapy, speech therapy, or occupational therapy. Home supportive care services (also known as "nonskilled care") may include such things as light housekeeping, meal preparation, medication reminders, dressing, laundry, shopping, transportation, and companionship. In addition, home care can provide palliative care, respite care, hospice care, and other related services, including provision of medical equipment and supplies to those in need.

hospital leadership A group of individuals who typically report to the chief executive of the hospital and most frequently include a chief medical officer representing the medical staff, a chief nursing officer representing all levels of nursing in the hospital, senior administrators, and any other individuals the hospital selects, such as a chief quality officer,

vice president of human resources, chief operating officer, and so on.

human subjects research Research involving living individuals about whom an investigator obtains data through intervention or interaction with individuals and/or identifiable personal information. Research protocols involving human subjects are reviewed by an Institutional Review Board (IRB) or other research ethics review mechanism and receive ongoing oversight as necessary.

Immediate Threat to Health or Safety A threat that represents immediate risk and has or may potentially have serious adverse effects on the health or safety of the patient, resident, or individual served. These threats are identified on site by the surveyor. Also known as *immediate threat to life* (*ITL*).

immediately available When an item, individual, document, or other resource is available as soon as it is requested. *Also see* readily available.

implantable medical device A device that is permanently placed into a surgically or naturally formed cavity of the body to continuously assist, restore, or replace a function or structure of the body throughout the useful life of the device. Examples include a prosthesis (such as a hip), a stent, a pacemaker, and an infusion pump.

included population Detailed information describing the population(s) that the numerator and denominator—or a continuous variable—intends to measure (for example, specific age groups, diagnoses, procedures, enrollment periods, insurance and health plan groups).

independent business entities Independently owned businesses occupying space within a hospital; for example, coffee shops, gift shops, and banks.

independent practitioner Any individual permitted by law and by the organization to provide care and services, without direction or supervision, within the scope of the individual's license. In many countries, licensed independent practitioners include physicians, dentists, some categories of nurses, podiatrists, optometrists, and chiropractors. *Also see* health care practitioner; licensed independent practitioner; practitioner.

indicator A measure to determine, over time, an organization's or program's performance of functions, processes, and outcomes.

in extremis Near death.

infectious waste *See* hazardous materials and waste.

information management The creation, use, sharing, and disposal of data or information across an organization. This practice is critical to the effective and efficient operation of organization activities. It includes the role of management to produce and control the use of data and information in work activities, information resources management, information technology, and information services.

information technology maintenance program, preventive *See* maintenance program, preventive.

information technology maintenance program, routine *See* maintenance program, routine.

informed consent The process of informing a patient about a procedure, treatment, or clinical trial/research study so that the patient can make a voluntary, informed decision to accept or refuse to have the procedure or treatment. The patient must be fully informed and understand the information that he or she is provided before giving consent. The elements of informed consent include, but are not limited to, information about, and potential benefits and risks of, the proposed procedure, treatment, clinical trial/research study; and possible alternatives to the procedure/treatment.

inpatient Generally, persons who are admitted to and housed in a health care organization at least overnight. *Also see* outpatient; patient.

in-service education Organized education, usually provided in the workplace, designed to enhance the skills of staff members or to teach them new skills relevant to their jobs and disciplines.

integrated provider system A health care provider organization that offers a broad corporate system for managing a diversified health care delivery system. The system typically includes one or more organizations, a large group practice, a health plan, and other health care operations. Health care practitioners are employees of the system or in a tightly affiliated practitioner group.

The system can provide several levels of health care to patients in the same geographic areas.

intent A brief explanation of a standard's rationale, meaning, and significance. Intents may contain examples of compliance and detailed expectations of the standard that are evaluated in the on-site survey process.

interim measures Actions taken to ensure the safety of the building's occupants during times when features and systems for fire safety are defective, compromised, or inoperable due to construction, maintenance, or a breakdown or repair. Interim measures may need to be implemented to ensure the safety of occupants until improvements or repairs can be completed. Some examples include initiating a fire watch, inspecting exits in affected areas on a daily basis, providing additional firefighting equipment, providing temporary but equivalent fire alarm and detection systems, and other appropriate activities.

intern See trainee, medical.

International Normalized Ratio A measurement of how long it takes blood to form a clot; performed in a laboratory and used to determine the effects of oral anticoagulant medications on a patient's clotting system.

invasive procedure The puncture or incision of the skin, insertion of an instrument, or insertion of a foreign material into the body for diagnostic or treatment-related purposes. Examples of invasive procedures include central line and chest tube insertions, and cardiac catheterization. Venipuncture is not categorized as an invasive procedure.

JCI Accreditation Program The division of JCI responsible for administration of all activities related to organizational health care accreditation or certification.

JCI Certification Program The division of JCI responsible for administration of all activities related to organizational health care certification.

job description Explanation of an employment position, including duties, responsibilities, and conditions required to perform the job.

kit All components of a test packaged together.

laboratory A facility that is equipped to examine material derived from the human body to provide information for use in the diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease; also called clinical laboratory or medical laboratory.

laboratory-acquired infections (LAIs) Infections acquired through laboratory or laboratory-related activities. Laboratory-acquired infections can come from a wide variety of bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites.

laws and regulations Statements or directions specifying required decisions and actions issued by a local or national authority. Penalties, legal or otherwise, are normally assessed when laws and regulations are not followed.

leader An individual who sets expectations, develops plans, and implements procedures to assess and improve the quality of an organization's management, clinical, and support functions and processes.

leaders and leadership In ICI standards, the term leaders is used to indicate that one or more individuals are accountable for the expectation(s) found in the standards. Leadership is used to indicate that a group of leaders is collectively accountable for the expectation(s) found in the standards. A leader is an individual who sets expectations, develops plans, and implements procedures to assess and to improve the quality of the organization's governance, management, clinical, and support functions and processes. The leaders described in the ICI standards include at least the leaders of the governing body, the chief executive officer, and other senior managers, departmental leaders, the elected and the appointed leaders of the medical staff and the clinical departments and other medical staff members in organizational administrative positions, and the nurse executive and other senior nursing leaders. *Also see* governance.

levels of care A classification of health care service levels. They are divided by the kind of care given, the number of people served, and the people providing the care. The main levels of care are primary, secondary, and tertiary. Levels of care classified by the acuity of the patient or intensity of the services provided are emergency, intensive, and general. *Also see* continuum of care.

licensed independent practitioner An individual qualified by education and training permitted by license and law (when applicable) and the organization to provide care and services, within the scope of the individual's practice, without direction or supervision. In many countries, licensed independent practitioners include physicians, dentists, some categories of nurses, podiatrists, optometrists, and chiropractors. *Also see* health care practitioner; independent practitioner; practitioner.

licensure A legal right to professional practice that is granted by a government agency in compliance with a statute governing an occupation (such as physicians, dentists, nurses, psychiatry, or clinical social work, or the operation of a health care facility).

long term care Care provided to individuals who require physical, supportive, rehabilitation, or palliative care. This care may include skilled nursing care, subacute care, complex medical or rehabilitative care, dementia-specific care, alternative levels of care, intermediate care, and/ or other long term care services. These services may be provided within the hospital confines, affiliated with a hospital, or in a freestanding long term care organization (including long term acute care hospitals).

maintenance program, preventive The planned, scheduled, visual, mechanical, engineering, and functional evaluation of equipment conducted before using new equipment and at specified intervals throughout the equipment's lifetime. The purpose is to maintain equipment performance within manufacturers' guidelines and specifications and to help ensure accurate diagnosis, treatment, or monitoring. It includes measuring performance specifications and evaluating specific safety factors.

maintenance program, routine The performance of basic safety checks—that is, the visual, technical, and functional evaluations of equipment—to identify obvious deficiencies before they have a negative impact. It normally includes inspections of the case, power cord, structural frame, enclosure, controls, indicators, and so on.

material safety data sheet (MSDS) *See* safety data sheet (SDS).

measurable elements (MEs) The specific requirements of a standard that identify what is reviewed and assigned a score during the on-site survey process.

measure 1. To collect quantifiable data about a function, system, or process (one "measures"). 2. A quantitative tool. *Also see* functional status.

measurement Quantifiable data about a process outcome, or structure.

measure set A unique grouping of carefully selected measures that, when viewed together, provide a comprehensive understanding or assessment of a unit's, department's, organization's, or program's performance.

medical device An instrument, apparatus, or machine that is used in the prevention, diagnosis, or treatment of illness or disease, or for detecting, measuring, restoring, correcting, or modifying the structure or function of the body for health care purposes.

medical equipment Medical equipment is used for the specific purposes of diagnosis and treatment of disease or rehabilitation following disease or injury. Medical equipment requires calibration, maintenance, repair, user training, and decommissioning—activities that are usually managed by clinical engineers.

medical record A written or electronic documentation of varied patient health information, such as assessment findings, treatment details, progress notes, and discharge summary. This record is created by health care practitioners. *Also see* electronic medical record (EMR); patient medical record.

medical research Basic, clinical, and health services research that includes many types of research studies, such as clinical trials, therapeutic interventions, development of new medical technologies, and outcomes research, among others.

medical staff All physicians, dentists, and other professionals who are licensed to practice independently (without supervision) and who provide preventive, curative, restorative, surgical, rehabilitative, or other medical or dental services to patients; or who provide interpretative services for patients, such as pathology, radiology, or laboratory services, regardless of the organization's classification

of appointment, employment status, contract, or other arrangements with the individual to provide such patient care services.

medical student An individual enrolled in a medical educational institution.

medical waste See hazardous materials and waste.

medication Any prescription medications; sample medications; herbal remedies; vitamins; nutraceuticals; over-the-counter drugs; vaccines; diagnostic and contrast agents used on or administered to persons to diagnose, treat, or prevent disease or other abnormal conditions; radioactive medications; respiratory therapy treatments; parenteral nutrition; blood derivatives; and intravenous solutions (plain or with electrolytes and/or drugs).

medication, high-alert Any drug that bears a heightened risk of causing significant patient harm when used in error. Although mistakes may or may not be more common with these drugs, the consequences of an error are clearly more devastating to patients. Also called high-risk medications.

medication error A preventable event that may cause or lead to inappropriate medication use or patient or resident harm while the medication is in the control of the health care professional, patient, resident, or consumer. Such events may be related to professional practice; health care products; procedures and systems, including prescribing; order communication; product labeling, packaging, and nomenclature; compounding; dispensing; distribution; administration; education; monitoring; and use.

medication reconciliation The process of identifying the medications currently being taken by an individual. These medications are compared to newly ordered medications, and discrepancies are identified and resolved.

medication side effect A pharmacological effect of a drug, normally adverse, other than the one(s) for which the drug is prescribed.

mission statement A written expression that sets forth the purpose, or "mission," of an organization or one of its components. The generation of a mission statement usually precedes the formation of goals and objectives.

monitoring The tracking of information on a routine basis. The purpose of monitoring is to identify the changes in a situation, equipment or patient condition, and/or effectiveness of an intervention.

multidisciplinary Including representatives of a range of professions, disciplines, or service areas.

near miss A patient safety event that did not reach the patient. Also called a close call. *Also see* adverse event; no-harm event; patient safety event; sentinel event.

no-harm event A patient safety event that reaches the patient but does not cause harm. *Also see* adverse event; near miss; patient safety event; sentinel event.

nonclinical staff Those whose roles and responsibilities in the organization indirectly support patient care (admissions, food service, housekeeping, among others). *Also see* clinical staff; staff.

nonstructural elements (of a building) Physical components of a building that do not provide necessary supporting structure and are not essential to the stability of the building. Nonstructural elements include architectural elements that are not load-bearing (roof, ceilings, windows, and doors); emergency access and exit routes; components of utility systems (such as electricity, plumbing, waste management, fire protection); and medical and laboratory equipment. *Also see* structural elements (of a building).

nosocomial infection(s) *See* health care—associated infection(s).

numerator The upper portion of a fraction used to calculate a rate, proportion, or ratio. The numerator depicts the portion of the denominator population that satisfies the condition of the performance measure to be an indicator event (for example, the number of individuals with a specific disease who have had a procedure).

nutritional care *See* nutritional interventions.

nutritional interventions Care and counseling to promote appropriate nutrition intake. This activity is based on nutrition and information about food, other sources of nutrients, and meal preparation. It includes the patient's cultural background and socioeconomic status.

nutrition therapy Medical treatment that includes enteral and parenteral nutrition.

observation The time during which a patient is watched closely by a health care practitioner(s).

observation bed Bed used for providing patient care and observation for up to 24 hours, while determining whether the patient can be safely discharged or if he or she should be admitted for acute care. Other terms for this service may include, but are not limited to, the following: clinical decision unit/ward (CDU/CDW), short-stay unit/ward, or chest pain unit/ward.

ongoing professional practice evaluation The process of ongoing data collection for the purpose of assessing a practitioner's clinical competence and professional behavior. The information gathered during this process is factored into decisions to maintain, revise, or revoke existing privilege(s) prior to or at the end of the three-year renewal decision.

organizational chart A graphic representation of individuals' titles and reporting relationships in an organization.

original source (of a measure) An organization, individual, or group of individuals who is initially responsible for developing the measure.

outcome The effect(s) that an intervention has on a specific symptom, condition, or problem. It reflects the result of the intervention.

outpatient Generally, persons who do not need the level of care associated with an inpatient or residential program. *Also see* inpatient; patient.

palliative services Treatments and support services intended to alleviate pain and suffering rather than to cure illness. Palliative therapy may include medications or procedures to improve the quality of life. Palliative services include attending to the patient's psychological and spiritual needs and supporting the patient and his or her family. Also see curative services.

participant The patient or the person (often a family member) receiving services from the clinical care program to assist the patient (for example, a parent may receive services from the clinical care program to help his or her child with a chronic disease).

pathology and clinical laboratory services The services that provide information on diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease or the assessment of health, through the examination of the structural and functional changes in tissues and organs of the body that cause or are caused by disease. It also includes the biological, microbiological, serological, chemical, immunohematological, hematological, or other examination of materials derived from the human body.

pathway An agreed-upon treatment regimen that includes all elements of care. *Also see* clinical pathway.

patient An individual who receives care, treatment, and services. *Also see* inpatient; outpatient.

patient care process The act of providing accommodations, comfort, and treatment to an individual. This implies responsibility for safety, including treatment, services, habilitation, rehabilitation, or other programs requested by the organization or network for the individual.

patient-centered care Care that is respectful of, and responsive to, individual patient preferences, needs, and values. Ensures that patients are involved in their own clinical decisions.

patient-centered standards For purposes of JCI accreditation, standards that are organized according to what is done directly or indirectly for or to patients (for example, patient education, creation of patient records, patient assessment).

patient engagement When a patient is an active participant in his or her own care, according to the patient's knowledge, skills, ability, and willingness to manage his or her own health.

patient experience How a patient is affected (physically, emotionally, and psychologically) by his or her visit to or stay at a health care facility. Patient experience is affected by elements such as pain management; interactions with staff; the patient's preferences, needs, and values; and the physical environment.

patient medical record A written or electronic documentation of varied patient health information, such as assessment findings, treatment details, progress notes, and discharge summary. This record is created, gathered, managed, accessed, and

consulted by authorized health care practitioners. *Also see* electronic medical record (EMR); medical record.

patient portal A secure online website that allows patients to access their personal health information over the Internet.

patient safety event An event, incident, or condition that could have resulted or did result in harm to a patient. *Also see* adverse event; near miss; no-harm event; sentinel event.

patient tracer These (*see* tracer methodology for a description of tracers) occur during the on-site survey and focus on evaluating an individual patient's total care experience within a health care organization. *Also see* system tracer.

perception of care quality performance measures Satisfaction measures that focus on the delivery of clinical care from the patient's/ participant's perspective, including, but not limited to, patient safety and education, medication use, pain management, communication about plans and outcomes of care, prevention and illness, and improvement in health status. A measure may address one or more aspects of care.

performance improvement The systematic process of detecting and analyzing performance problems, designing and developing interventions to address the problems, implementing the interventions, evaluating the results, and sustaining improvement.

performance measurement The use of quantitative tools (for example, rates, ratios, indices, percentages) to provide an indication of an organization's or program's performance in relation to a specified process or outcome.

physiologic-based criteria Criteria centered on the branch of biology dealing with the functions of the living organism and its parts of the physical and chemical factors and processes involved.

plan A method for outlining detailed strategies and resource needs for meeting short- and long-term goals and objectives. Examples of plans include, but are not limited to, those addressed in the facility management and safety program (safety plan, security plan, hazardous materials plan, emergencies plan, fire safety plan, medical equipment plan, and utility systems plan).

plan of care An individualized plan that identifies the patient's care needs, lists the strategy to meet those needs, documents treatment goals and objectives, outlines the criteria for ending interventions, and documents the individual's progress in meeting specified goals and objectives. It is based on data gathered during patient assessment. The format of the plan in some organizations may be guided by specific policies and procedures, protocols, practice guidelines, clinical paths, or a combination of these. The plan of care may include prevention, care, treatment, habilitation, and rehabilitation.

planned downtime Scheduled data system interruption for the purpose of conducting maintenance, repairs, upgrades, and other changes to the system. *Also see* unplanned downtime.

point-of-care testing Analytical testing performed at sites outside the traditional laboratory environment, usually at or near where care is delivered to individuals, such as at the bedside or procedure area.

policy A statement of expectations meant to influence or determine decisions and actions. Policies are the rules and principles that guide and inform the organization's procedures and processes.

population As related to health care organizations, *population* refers to the patients served by the organization. It may also be defined by geographic area or characteristics of the individuals served by the organization, such as age, education level, income, health risks, disease process, treatment type, and other demographic information. *Also see* community.

practice guidelines *See* evidence-based guidelines.

practitioner Any person who has completed a course of study and is skilled in a field of health care. This includes a physician, dentist, nurse, pharmacist, and respiratory therapist, among others. Practitioners are licensed by a government agency or certified by a professional organization. *Also see* health care practitioner; independent practitioner; licensed independent practitioner.

preoperative medical assessment A clinical risk assessment that assesses the health of a patient

to determine if the patient is safe to undergo the anesthesia and surgery.

preventive maintenance *See* maintenance program, preventive.

preventive services Interventions to promote health and prevent disease. These include identification of and counseling on risk factors (for example, smoking, lack of physical activity), screening to detect disease (for example, breast cancer, sexually transmitted diseases), and immunizations. *Also see* disease prevention.

primary care Basic, general, or essential health care at the point where a patient first seeks care. Primary care is the provision of health promotion and disease prevention services through the use of integrated and accessible health care. It aims to use open communication and partnerships between patients and clinicians to improve the health and quality of life for the individual, family, and community.

primary care center A health care organization distinguished by the level of integration with the greater health community and involvement in improving the health of the immediate community served. Primary care centers strive for accessibility, comprehensiveness, care coordination, continuity of care, management of chronic diseases, and accountability on an individual patient level and community level. Primary care centers are also distinguished by their emphasis on health promotion and disease prevention.

primary source verification Verification of an individual health care practitioner's reported qualifications by the original source or an approved agent of that source. Methods of conducting primary source verification of credentials include direct correspondence, documented telephone verification, secure electronic verification from the original qualification source, or reports from credentials verification organizations that meet JCI requirements. *Also see* verification.

principal site The location at which an organization provides the majority of medical specialty programs for postgraduate medical trainees (for example, residents or interns) and not just one specialty, as in a single-specialty organization (for example, an ophthalmologic hospital, dental hospital, or orthopedic hospital).

privileging The process whereby a specific scope and content of patient care services (that is, clinical privileges) are authorized for a health care practitioner by a health care organization, based on evaluation of the individual's credentials and performance. *Also see* credentialing; recredentialing.

procedural sedation A technique of administering sedatives or dissociative agents with or without analgesics to induce a state that allows the patient to tolerate unpleasant procedures while maintaining cardiorespiratory function. *Also see* anesthesia.

procedure How a task is performed, usually including step-by-step instructions.

process A set of actions that produce or lead to a particular result.

process measure A measure used to assess a goal-directed, interrelated series of actions or steps (for example, the number of times a procedure was performed).

proficiency testing The testing of unknown samples sent to a laboratory by a proficiency-testing program for the purpose of determining performance related to specific tests and measurements and to monitor continuing performance. A similar term includes external graded interlaboratory comparison testing.

profile An electronic or handwritten entry included in a patient's medical record that outlines key and up-to-date medical information about the patient (for example, current medications, diagnoses, laboratory results, and the like). A profile may be developed for patients who are seen over time and who require complex care or have complex diagnoses.

program An organized, official system that guides action toward a specific goal. The program identifies needs, lists strategies to meet those needs, includes staff involved, and sets goals and objectives. The format of the program may include narratives, policies and procedures, plans, protocols, practice guidelines, clinical pathways, care maps, or a combination of these.

proportion A type of rate in which the numerator is expressed as a subset of the denominator (for example, 20%, or 1 out of 5 patients with a principal diagnosis of insulin dependent diabetes

mellitus [denominator] demonstrate self-blood glucose monitoring [numerator]).

prospective A focus on the potential for something to happen in the future.

protocol A scientific medical treatment plan or study outline for a new or experimental procedure or treatment with the intent of measuring human applications (for example, management of diabetes mellitus type 2). Protocols frequently include such components as types of participants, scheduling, procedures used, and types of medications and dosages, among others.

qualified individual An individual or staff member who can serve in a specific role in the organization. Qualification is determined by the following, as applicable: education, training, experience, competence, applicable licensure, laws or regulations, registration, or certification.

quality control The performance of processes through which actual performance is measured and compared with goals, and the difference is acted upon.

quality improvement An approach to the continuous study and improvement of the processes of providing health care services to meet the needs of patients and others. Also called continuous quality improvement, continuous improvement, organizationwide performance improvement, and total quality management.

quality of care The degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge. Dimensions of performance include patient perspective issues; safety of the care environment; and accessibility, appropriateness, continuity, effectiveness, efficacy, efficiency, and timeliness of care.

radiobioassay The analysis of radioactive material in the human body by direct measurement or the evaluation of materials removed.

rate-based measure An aggregate data measure in which the value of each measurement is expressed as a proportion or ratio.

ratio The relationship between two counted sets of data, which may have a value of zero or greater.

In a ratio, the numerator is not necessarily a subset of the denominator (for example, the number of patients on fewer than three medications: number of patient-days).

readily available An item, individual, document, or other resource that is available for use a short time after it is requested. *Also see* immediately available.

reagent A substance that is used to test for the presence of another substance by causing a chemical reaction in order to allow researchers to detect, measure, produce, or change other substances.

reappointment The process of reviewing the medical staff member's file to verify continued licensure; that the medical staff member is not compromised by disciplinary actions of licensing and certification agencies; that the file contains sufficient documentation for seeking new or expanded privileges or duties in the organization; and that the medical staff member is physically and mentally able to provide patient care and treatment without supervision. *Also see* appointment.

reassessment Ongoing data collection that begins on initial assessment, comparing the most recent data collected with the data collected at the previous assessment.

recall, medical equipment When a piece of medical equipment is removed from the market because it is found to be defective or potentially harmful. Equipment may be recalled by the manufacturer, supplier, or a regulatory agency.

recall, medication When a medication is removed from the market because it is found to be either defective or potentially harmful. Defects may be related to incorrect packaging, potential contamination, or poor manufacturing, resulting in impurities or errors in strength/potency. Medications may be recalled voluntarily by the manufacturer, or at the request of a government agency.

recredentialing The process of periodically checking staff qualifications to provide patient care services in or for a health care organization. *Also see* credentialing; privileging.

recruitment Seeking—usually new—staff or other members of an organization.

reference (contract) laboratory A laboratory owned and operated by an organization other than a hospital or certified program, with which a hospital, certified program, or other health care organization contracts for testing.

referral The sending of an individual from one clinician to another clinician or specialist, or from one setting or service to another or other resource, either for consultation or care that the referring source is not prepared or qualified to provide.

rehabilitation services The use of medical, social, educational, and vocational measures together for training or retraining individuals disabled by disease or injury. The goal is to enable patients to achieve their highest possible level of functional ability.

reliability A characteristic of a measure that indicates how accurately and consistently the measure produces similar results. For example, a reliable measure or measurement tool yields accurate and consistent results when used by different individuals, across different settings, with different patients, and so on, as applicable.

representative sample As it relates to JCI standards, a representative sample of medical records is reviewed as part of an organization's monitoring and performance improvement activities. *Representative sample* means medical records from all departments and services of the organization and both active and discharged records. The number of medical records should make sense for the organization. For example, random sampling and selecting approximately 5% of medical records may achieve a representative sample.

research Investigational or exploratory studies that may or may not require oversight by an Institutional Review Board (IRB) or other research ethics review mechanism. Research studies may involve human subjects—such as patients—interactions with the individuals, and identifiable personal information. These types of research studies require IRB oversight. Such research may include clinical trials, outcomes research, therapeutic interventions, and development of new medical technologies, among others. Research may also be non—human subjects research involving no direct interaction with individuals. Examples include medical record review studies, case studies,

research involving data/specimens, and others. A research study that does not involve patients directly—such as a retrospective medical record review study—would still require IRB review if it includes identifiable patient information. In such a study, IRB review is necessary to ensure protection of human subjects.

resident A recipient of care in a nursing care center or assisted living community.

resident, medical See trainee, medical.

resident care process The act of providing accommodations, comfort, and treatment to a resident. This implies responsibility for safety, including treatment, services, habilitation, rehabilitation, or other programs requested by the organization or network for the individual.

resident-centered standards For purposes of JCI accreditation, standards that are organized according to what is done directly or indirectly for or to residents (for example, resident education, creation of resident records, resident assessment).

resident record/medical record A written account of a variety of resident health information, such as assessment findings, treatment details, progress notes, and discharge summary. This record is created by health care professionals.

resident tracer The process used by JCI to evaluate an individual resident's total care experience within a health care organization.

responsible physician The physician who has overall responsibility for the care and management of an individual patient at a specific point in time during the patient's hospital stay.

responsible surgeon In cases of surgical procedures, the person who performs the surgery. Different titles used for the responsible surgeon include attending surgeon and consultant surgeon, among other titles.

resuscitation services Services related to the provision of qualified staff and licensed independent practitioners, supplies, and processes used to revive an individual.

retrospective tracing As it relates to supply chain management, the process of identifying and tracking unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit supplies after they have entered the

organization. When applicable, the organization notifies the manufacturer and/or distributor about the unstable, contaminated, defective, or counterfeit supply.

risk 1. Combination of the probability of occurrence of harm and the severity of that harm. 2. The probable rate of occurrence of a hazard causing harm and the degree of severity of the harm.

risk assessment The identification and evaluation of potential failures and sources of errors in a process. This is followed by prioritizing areas for improvement based on the actual or potential impact on care, treatment, or services provided.

risk management program Clinical and administrative activities that organizations undertake to identify, to evaluate, and to reduce the risk of injury to patients, staff, and visitors and the risk of loss to the organization itself.

root cause analysis *See* comprehensive systematic analysis.

routine maintenance *See* maintenance program, routine.

rules and regulations Statements or directions specifying required decisions and actions. Penalties, legal or otherwise, are normally assessed when rules and regulations are not followed.

safety The degree to which the organization's buildings, grounds, and equipment do not pose a hazard or risk to patients, staff, or visitors.

safety data sheet (SDS) A formal document with information about the characteristics and actual or potential hazards of a substance; includes instructions related to first aid, spills, and safe storage, among other information. Formerly known as material safety data sheet (MSDS).

sampling The process of selecting a group of units or observations from a larger collection of units or observations, which provides information that may be used to make a decision about the larger quantity.

scope of practice The range of activities performed by a practitioner in a health care organization. The scope is determined by training, tradition, licensure, laws or regulations, and the organization.

scope of services The range of activities, such as clinical care services, offered by the organization and performed by health care practitioners, support staff, managerial staff, the governing entity, and so on.

screening Simple, high-level evaluation that identifies patients at high risk for a condition. Screenings are generally brief, have a narrow scope, and are conducted by clinicians, support staff, and/ or the patient, based on questions developed by qualified individuals. This process identifies the type and level of care, treatment, or services and may indicate a need for further evaluation; however, it is not definitive in diagnosis or indication of a specific condition. *Also see* assessment (patient).

scribe An individual qualified, trained, and competent to assist health care practitioners with documentation.

second victim A health care practitioner involved in an unanticipated adverse patient event, a medical error, and/or a patient-related injury who becomes victimized in the sense that the practitioner is traumatized by the event.

security Protection from loss, destruction, tampering, or unauthorized access or use.

sedation See procedural sedation.

sentinel event An unanticipated occurrence involving death or serious physical or psychological injury. The intent statement for Standards QPS.7 and QPS.7.1 includes detailed information on sentinel events. *Also see* adverse event; near miss; no-harm event; patient safety event.

severe temporary harm Critical, potentially life-threatening harm lasting for a limited time with no permanent residual harm but that requires transfer to a higher level of care/monitoring for a prolonged period of time, transfer to a higher level of care for a life-threatening condition, or additional major surgery, procedure, or treatment to resolve the condition.

single-use devices Medical devices that are intended by the manufacturer to be discarded after one use, regardless of its condition after use.

sites of service Locations offering the services of the clinical care program. For certification review purposes, a site of service is considered unique if it

is responsible for at least two of the following three activities: program management (hiring, budget allocation, information systems), clinical leadership (selection of guidelines, management of training programs), or care coordination (monitoring and education for program participants).

smoke detector A device that detects smoke as a primary indication of fire and activates the fire alarm system.

smoke separations/compartments A space within a building enclosed by smoke barriers on all sides, including top and bottom.

souring A process in which chemicals are added to laundered materials during the final rinse cycle in order to lower the pH of the water and to assist with the removal of detergents and rust stains. Most souring chemicals are fluoride-based, including ammonium silicofluoride, ammonium bifluoride, and hydrofluosilicic acid; glycolic acid is also used.

specialty laboratory programs Programs that include laboratory disciplines, such as chemistry (including toxicology, therapeutic drug testing, and drugs of abuse testing), clinical cytogenetics, immunogenetics, diagnostic immunology, embryology, hematology (including coagulation testing), histocompatibility, immunohematology, microbiology (including bacteriology, mycobacteriology, mycology, virology, and parasitology), molecular biology, pathology (including surgical pathology, cytopathology, and necropsy), and radiobioassay.

specimen A sample of a substance to be used in testing, examination, or study.

staff All people who provide care, treatment, and services in the organization (for example, medical staff, nursing staff, housekeeping staff, registration clerks, engineers, and so on), including those receiving pay (permanent, temporary, and parttime staff, as well as contract staff), and trainees and students (for example, medical students, nursing students, and so on). *Also see* clinical staff; nonclinical staff.

stakeholder An individual or group that is involved in and affected by a policy or course of action. In health care, stakeholders may include patients and their families; physicians, nurses, and other clinicians and practitioners; nonclinical staff

members; leadership and governance; vendors and contracted employees; members of the community; and others.

standard A statement that defines the performance expectations, structures, or processes that must be in place for an organization to provide safe and high-quality patient care, treatment, and services.

standardized measure A performance measure that has precisely defined specifications, has standardized data collection protocols, meets established evaluation criteria, and can be uniformly adopted for use.

standards-based evaluation 1. An assessment process that determines a health care organization's or practitioner's compliance with preestablished standards. *Also see* accreditation; certification. 2. A statement that defines the performance expectations, structures, or processes that must be in place for an organization to provide safe and high-quality care, treatment, and services.

standpipe system A series of pipes that connect a water supply to fire hose connections in strategic locations inside a building. They are common in multistory and other large buildings where much of the space is far from an outside entrance, as they prevent long lengths of fire hose in stairwells and on the ground.

sterilization The use of physical or chemical procedure to destroy all microbial life, including highly resistant bacterial endospores.

structural elements (of a building) Internal and external load-bearing components of a building that are essential to its stability. Structural elements of a building include the foundation, columns, beams, walls, floor slabs, and so on. It also includes the location of the building. *Also see* nonstructural elements (of a building)

structure measure A measure of whether organizational or program resources and arrangements are in place to deliver health care (for example, the number of facilities providing a service).

student, medical An individual enrolled in a medical educational institution.

supply chain The steps in moving a finished product (drug, medical equipment, medical device, or medical supply) from its source (a manufacturer) to its consumer (an organization). Key considerations in the supply chain are the risks to the product (for example, protection from losing stability, becoming contaminated, and becoming defective); the potential risk points in the steps of the supply chain (for example, quality of product, storage conditions, customs, delivery methods); and the selection of vendor, distributor, and so on, based on the risks in the supply chain.

surgery Those procedures that investigate and/ or treat diseases and disorders of the human body through cutting, removing, altering, or insertion of diagnostic/therapeutic scopes.

survivor risk factors Chances for surviving family members or other loved ones to experience difficulties with the death of a loved one.

symptom, primary First or most prominent indication of an illness, disease, or other disorder.

symptom, secondary An indication of illness, disease, or other disorder that appears after or because of a primary symptom.

system tracer These (*see* tracer methodology for a description of tracers) occur during the on-site survey and focus on evaluating priority safety and quality-of-care issues on a systemwide basis throughout the organization. Examples of such issues include infection prevention and control, medication management, facility management, and the use of data. *Also see* patient tracer.

texting The act of sending an electronic text message from one cell phone to another.

therapeutic duplication One person using two drugs, usually unnecessarily, from the same therapeutic category at the same time.

time-out A pause, just prior to performing a surgical or other procedure, during which the entire surgical or procedural team verifies the correct patient, procedure, or site. Even when there is only one person doing the procedure, a brief pause to confirm the correct patient, procedure, and site is appropriate.

tracer methodology A process that JCI surveyors use during the on-site survey to analyze an

organization's processes and systems by following individual patients through the organization's health care process in the sequence experienced by the patients. Depending on the health care setting, this may require surveyors to visit multiple care units, departments, or areas within an organization or single care unit to "trace" the care rendered to a patient. *Also see* patient tracer; system tracer.

trainee, medical An individual training in medical service after graduation from a medical educational institution. For the purpose of JCI accreditation and certification, trainees include interns, residents, and fellows.

transfer The formal shifting of responsibility for the care of a patient from one care unit to another, one clinical service to another, one qualified practitioner to another, or one organization to another.

unplanned downtime Unexpected data system interruption as a result of power or equipment failures, heating/cooling system failures, natural disasters, human error, or interruptions to Internet or intranet services, among other disruptions. Unplanned downtime can have a negative impact on data systems, such as data loss, hardware failures, and data corruption. *Also see* planned downtime.

urgent A classification of acuity used in triage systems to signify that the patient's condition is potentially life-threatening and requires timely assessment and possible intervention. *Also see* emergent.

utility systems Organizationwide systems and equipment that support the following: electrical distribution; emergency power; water; vertical and horizontal transport; heating, ventilation, and airconditioning; plumbing, boiler, and steam; piped gases; vacuum systems; or communication systems, including data-exchange systems.

utilization The use, patterns of use, or rates of use of a specified health care service. Overuse occurs when a health care service is provided under circumstances in which its potential for harm exceeds the possible benefits for a patient. Underuse is the failure to use a health care service that may have been necessary for a patient and may have produced a favorable outcome for a patient. Misuse occurs when an appropriate service has been selected but a preventable complication occurs. All three reflect a problem in quality of health care. They can increase mortality risk and diminish quality of life. *Also see* utilization management.

utilization management The planning, organization, direction, and control of resources. How this relates to patient care by a health care organization is significant. *Also see* utilization.

validity A characteristic of a measure that indicates the degree to which the measure assesses what it is intended to measure. For example, the measure or measurement tool is valid when it captures the intended clinical outcome, patient experience, and so on.

variation The differences in results obtained in measuring the same event more than once. The major sources of variation can be grouped into two major classes: common causes and special causes. Too much variation often leads to waste and loss, such as the occurrence of undesirable patient health outcomes and increased cost of health services.

vendor A person or representative of a company that has a contract with the hospital and/or is seeking to provide support, services, or maintenance for a company's product(s) or services at the hospital.

verification The process of checking the validity and completeness of a clinical or other credential from the source that issued the credential. *Also see* primary source verification.

Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, 7th Edition
070

Index

A	emergent, urgent, or immediate needs given
Abbreviations	priority (ACC.1) 41–42
do-not-use list of (MOI.4) 304–305	needs of patients prioritized (ACC.2.1) 44
excluded from documents used by patients	nutrition care. See Nutrition care
(MOI.4) 304–305	overview of, 39
standardized (MOI.4) 304–305	patient and family education and orientation
Abuse and neglect	(ACC.2.2) 44
assessment for (AOP.1.6) 88–89	patient flow management (ACC.2) 42-43
care for victims of (COP.3) 112–114	patient identification (IPSG.1) 24-25
Academic medical center hospitals	patient leaving against medical advice (ACC.4.4)
eligibility for accreditation, additional criteria	51–52
for, 6	without notifying hospital staff (ACC.4.4.1)
human subjects research programs. See Human	51–52
subjects research programs	records of. See Medical record
JCI [™] definition of, 5	referral process (ACC.4) 47-49
medical professional education. See Medical	transfer of patient. See Transfer of patient
professional education	transportation services (ACC.6) 54-55
research at, 5	Account executive, 342
standards applicability for, 5	Accreditation
Access to care and continuity of care (ACC),	award. See Accreditation award
39–57	certificates, 346
admissions criteria for specialized services	policies. See Accreditation policies
(ACC.2.3) 44–45	process. See Accreditation process
admissions process (ACC.2) 42-43	publicizing, guidelines provided by JCI, 341,
admissions screening (ACC.1) 41–42	346
assessment. See Assessment of patients	time line, 339–340
complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3)	value of, 1–2
50–51	Accreditation award
continuity of care (ACC.3) 45–46	display and use of, 346
qualified individual responsible for	length of, 346
(ACC.3.1) 47	publicizing, guidelines provided by JCI, 341,
coordination and integration of care (COP.2)	346
110–111	Accreditation decision rules, 345
delays for diagnostic or treatment services	Accreditation decisions
(ACC.1.1) 42	Accredited, 346
discharge of patient. See Discharge of patient	appeal of, 345
emergency care documentation requirements	Denial of Accreditation. See Denial of
(ACC.4.2.1) 50	Accreditation

Accreditation Participation Requirements	eligibility requirements. See Eligibility
(APRs), 11–19	requirements for accreditation survey
accreditation status accurately represented	extension survey, 341-342
(APR.8) 17	extranet site. See JCI Direct Connect™
accuracy of information submitted to JCI (APR.2) 13–14	falsification of information (APR.2, APR.8) 13–14, 17
changes in hospital profile reported within 30	fees for. See Fees for survey
days (APR.3) 14–15	follow-up survey, 341–342
and immediate threat to patient safety, public	for-cause survey, 341
health, or staff safety (APR.12) 19	full survey, 341
measurements for quality improvement (APR.7) 16	information accuracy and completeness (APR.2) 13–14
and misrepresentation of information (APR.2)	initial survey, 341. See also Initial surveys
13–14	patient tracers, 342
on-site evaluations permitted (APR.4) 15	postponement of, 343
overview of, 11	preparing for, 342
performance measurement (APR.7) 16	process for, 344–345
public notification on reporting safety concerns	purpose of, 342
(APR.11) 18–19	report of, 345. See also Official Survey Findings
review of external evaluations permitted (APR.5)	Report
15–16	scheduling, 342
staff reporting of safety concerns (APR.9) 17	scope of, 344
timeliness of data submissions (APR.1) 13	survey team, 343
translation and interpretation services for survey	system tracers, 342
(APR.10) 18	tracer methodology, 344
Accreditation policies	translation and interpretation services required
changes to hospital profile (APR.3) 14-15	(APR.10) 18
changes to site of care, treatment, or services	triennial survey, 341
(APR.3) 14–15	types of, 341–342
initial surveys, 341. See also Initial surveys	unannounced (APR.4) 15
JCI right to clarify information, 346	validation survey, 341
survey postponement policy, 343	Accreditation Withdrawn, 346
Accreditation process. See also Accreditation survey	Accredited (accreditation decision), 346
basics of, 339	Action plan
continuous compliance with standards, 5, 399	review by JCI Accreditation Central Office, 348
time line of three-year cycle, 339–340	submission required following sentinel event
withdrawal from, 346	(QPS.7) 180–182; 325
Accreditation renewal, 348	Admissions
Accreditation standards. See Standards	criteria for specialized services (ACC.2.3) 44–45
Accreditation status	process for (ACC.2) 42–43
Accreditation Withdrawn, 346	and screening (ACC.1) 41–42
Accredited, 346	Adverse drug events
accurately represented to public (APR.8) 17	data collection on (QPS.8) 183
Accreditation survey. See also Accreditation	high-alert medications (IPSG.3) 28–30
Participation Requirements	monitoring for and reporting (MMU.7)
account executive and, 342	167–168
agenda for, 342	Adverse events. See also Adverse drug events; Near
application for. <i>See</i> Application for accreditation	misses; No-harm events; Sentinel events
cancellation of, 343	data collection on (QPS.8) 183
costs of, 343–344. See also Fees for survey	definition of, 181

from handover communications (IPSG.2.2) 25–27	and collaboration among staff to prioritize needs (AOP.4) 91
in human subject research (GLD.15) 236–237;	conducted by qualified individuals (AOP.3) 90
(HRP.1.1, HRP.6) 330–331, 333–334	discharge planning (AOP.1.7) 89
and laser use (COP.4.1) 119–121	documented in medical record (AOP.1.2) 83–84
and medication errors (MMU.7.1) 168	dying patients (AOP.1.6) 88–89
near misses (QPS.7.1) 180–182	economic (AOP.1.1) 83
reduction in frequency, through risk	educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74
management program (QPS.10) 184–185	emergency patients (AOP.1.2.1) 84
reported to governing entity (GLD.1.2)	emergent, urgent, or immediate needs given
216–217	priority (ACC.1) 41–42
and reuse of single-use devices (PCI.6.1)	for fall risk
196–197	inpatient population (IPSG.6) 34–35
transfusion reactions (COP.3.4) 117	outpatient population (IPSG.6.1) 34–35
Anesthesia	for functional needs (AOP.1.4) 86–87
assessment for, preanesthesia and preinduction	goal of, 79
(ASC.4) 143	health history (AOP.1.1) 83
availability of (ASC.1) 138–139	needs of patient identified and prioritized
consent for (PCC.4.2) 71	(ACC.2.1) 44
discharge criteria (ASC.6.1) 144–145	for nursing needs (AOP.1.2) 83–84
documentation in medical record (ASC.5)	nutritional (AOP.1.4) 86–87
143–144	overview of, 79
monitoring and documentation of	for pain (AOP.1.5) 87-88
postanesthesia status (ASC.6.1) 144–145	physical examination (AOP.1.1) 83
monitoring physiological status during (ASC.6)	in physician office or other outpatient setting
144	(AOP.1.3) 84–85
overview of, 137	presurgical (AOP.1.3.1) 85–86; (ASC.7)
planning for (ASC.5) 143-144	145–146
postoperative pain control discussed with patient	process defined by hospital (AOP.1) 82
or decision maker (ASC.5) 143–144	psychological (AOP.1.1) 83
professional standards and applicable laws met	reassessment, intervals for (AOP.2) 89-90
(ASC.1) 138–139	social (AOP.1.1) 83
risks, benefits, and alternatives discussed with	and special populations (AOP.1.6) 88–89
patient or decision maker (ASC.5) 143–144	spiritual/cultural (AOP.1.1) 83
services managed by qualified individual (ASC.2) 139	for transportation needs at discharge (ACC.6) 54–55
Annual operating budget (GLD.1.1) 216	Assessment of staff (SQE.2) 274–275
Antibiotic stewardship program (MMU.1.1)	At Risk for Denial of Accreditation
154–155	appeal of decision, 345
Anticoagulants (IPSG.3.1) 28-30	conditions leading to, 347
Appeal of accreditation decision, 345	for discovery of immediate threat to patient
Application for accreditation	safety, public health, or staff safety (APR.12)
accuracy of information (APR.2) 13–14	19, 347
changes in hospital profile reported to JCI	for failure to notify JCI of changes (APR.3)
(APR.3) 14–15	14–15, 347
process for, 340	for failure to submit data and information in
Assessment of patients (AOP) 79–106	timely manner (APR.1) 13
for abuse or neglect (AOP.1.6) 88–89	for failure to submit Strategic Improvement
and anesthesia or surgery (AOP.1.3.1) 85-86;	Plan, 347
(ASC.3.2, ASC.4) 141–142, 143	for license, registration, or certificate issues, 347

for misrepresentation of accreditation status (APR.8) 17	family participation in care decisions (PCC.2)
for retaliatory actions against staff who report safety issues (APR.9) 17	food choices (COP.5) 121–122. <i>See also</i> Nutrition care
for submission of falsified information (APR.2) 13–14, 347	high-risk patients (COP.3, COP.3.5) 112–114, 117–119
B Behaviors undermining a culture of safety	high-risk services (COP.3) 112–114 individualized plan for each (COP.2.2) 111–112 integration of (COP.2) 110–111
(GLD.13.1) 234–235	laser use (COP.4, COP.4.1) 119–121 nutrition therapy (COP.5) 121–122. <i>See also</i>
Blood bank and transfusion services clinical guidelines and procedures for (COP.3.4)	Nutrition care
117 compliance with law and regulation (AOP.5.11)	orders uniform process for prescribing (COP.2) 110–111
99–100 direction by qualified individual (AOP.5.11)	verbal, telephoned, or texted (COP.2) 110–111
99–100 quality control measures for (AOP.5.11) 99–100 waste disposal requirements (PCI.8.1) 200–201	organ and tissue transplant services. <i>See</i> Organ and tissue transplant services
Bloodborne pathogens (PCI.8.1) 200–201	overview of, 107 pain assessment and management (PCC.2.2)
Budget, annual operating (GLD.1.1) 216 Bylaws (GLD.1) 215–216	67–68; (COP.6) 122–123
Dymws (GDD.1) 217 216	patient experience measured and analyzed (PCC.3) 68–69
C	patient and family education and orientation
Care of the dying. See End-of-life care	(ACC.2.2) 44
Care of patients (COP) 107–136	patient and family involvement in (PCC.2) 66
assessment. See Assessment of patients	patient flow management (ACC.2) 42–43
blood and blood products (COP.3.4) 117	patient identification (IPSG.1) 24–25
change in patient's condition recognized (COP.3.2) 115–116	patient leaving against medical advice (ACC.4.4) 51–52
clinical alarm system management (COP.3.1) 114–115	without notifying hospital staff (ACC.4.4.1) 51–52
complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51	records of. <i>See</i> Medical record referrals (ACC.4) 47–49
continuity of care (ACC.3) 45–46	resuscitation services
qualified individual responsible for	availability of (COP.3.3) 116-117
(ACC.3.1) 47 coordination of (COP.2) 110–111	non–patient-care staff skills in (SQE.8.1.1) 279–280
decisions about (PCC.2) 66	patient-care staff skills in (SQE.8.1) 279–280
	sedation or anesthesia administration. See
delays for diagnostic or treatment services (ACC.1.1) 42	Anesthesia; Procedural sedation
deterioration in patient condition (COP.3.2)	suicide or self-harm risk (COP.3.5) 117–119
115–116	transfer of patient. See Transfer of patient
discharge of patient. See Discharge of patient	transportation services (ACC.6) 54-55
documentation of clinical and diagnostic	and unanticipated outcomes (PCC.2) 66
procedures and their results (COP.2.1) 111	uniform standards of (COP.1) 109-110
education. See Patient and family education	Certificate for accreditation, 346
end-of-life care. See End-of-life care	Changes within organization
	to hospital profile (APR.3) 14-15

notification of JCI required (APR.3) 14-15 timeliness of reporting test results (IPSG.2.1) to site of care, treatment, or services (APR.3) 14-15 Competence of staff. See Staff qualifications Chief executive officer (CEO) Complaints appointment and evaluation of (GLD.1.1) 216 resolution of (PCC.3.1) 69 reviewed by Office of Quality and Safety prioritizing of improvement and patient safety activities (GLD.5) 222 Monitoring, 348 prioritizing of measurement processes (GLD.5) Compliance with standards. See Continuous standards compliance responsibilities described in written documents Confidential information, 346 (GLD.3) 218 Conflict of interest disclosed by hospital (GLD.12.1) 232-234 responsibilities of (GLD.2) 217-218 Cleaning, CDC definition of, 194 with research conducted at hospital (HRP.5) 333 Clinical alarm system management (COP.3.1) Conflicts and complaints (PCC.3.1) 69 114-115 Construction, renovation, and demolition Clinical decision support (MMU.5.1) 163-164; interim measures for facility safety and (QPS.3) 177 operation, 267 Clinical practice guidelines preconstruction risk assessment (FMS.12) for organ and tissue transplants (COP.8.6, 264-265 Continuous standards compliance COP.8.7) 128–129 selection and implementation of (GLD.11.2) requirement for accreditation, 5, 399 231-232 tools for, on JCI Direct Connect, 341 Clinical privileges Contract research organization (CRO), definition of, 337 assignment and delineation of (SQE.10) 286-288 Contracted services renewal of (SQE.12) 292-293 for diagnostic services (AOP.6.6) 104-105 Clinical trials and research for human subject research (HRP.3.1) 332 access to, patients and families informed about included in quality improvement and patient (GLD.16) 237; (HRP.7.1) 334-335 safety program (GLD.6.1) 223-224 informed consent included in quality measures (GLD.11) documented (GLD.18) 238 229-230 obtained prior to participation (GLD.18) of independent practitioners (GLD.6.2) 224 238 selection and monitoring of, by leadership process for obtaining (HRP.7) 334-335 (GLD.6) 223 protection of subjects for transportation (ACC.6) 54-55 leadership accountable for (GLD.15) **Costs of survey.** *See* Fees for survey Credentials 236-237 patients and families informed about of contracted health care professionals (GLD.17) 238 (GLD.6.2) 224 explained, 283 vulnerable populations not exploited (HRP.7.1) 334–335 of laboratory staff (AOP.5.1) 92 Communication of medical staff barriers (PCC.1.1) 62-63 current (SQE.9.1, SQE.12) 282-286, effectiveness (IPSG.2) 25-27; (GLD.3.2) 292-293 219 - 220documentation of (SQE.9) 282-286 ensured by leadership (GLD.3.2) 219-220 gathering process (SQE.9) 282-286 and handovers (IPSG.2.2) 25-27 management of (SQE.9) 282-286 of mission, vision, and goals (GLD.3.2) verified (SQE.9.1) 282-286 219-220 of medical trainees (MPE.7) 326

of nursing staff	Denial of Accreditation
verified (SQE.13) 293-294	At Risk for Denial of Accreditation not resolved,
work assignments based on (SQE.14)	347
294–295	for failure to provide accurate and complete
of other practitioners	information to JCI (APR.2) 13–14
verified (SQE.15) 295–296	for failure to submit data and information to
work assignments based on (SQE.16)	JCI in timely manner (APR.1) 13
296–297	for threat to public or patient safety, 345
verification of, explained, 283–284	Diet. See Nutrition care
Critical test results, timeliness of reporting	Disaster preparedness
(IPSG.2.1) 25–27	development, maintenance, and testing of
Cross-references, definition of, 4	program for (FMS.11) 263–264
Culture of safety	staff training for roles in (FMS.13) 265–266
behaviors that undermine (GLD.13.1) 234–235	Discharge of patient
creation and support of, by leadership (GLD.13)	from anesthesia care (ASC.6.1) 144–145
234–235	and continuing care needs (ACC.4.1) 47–49
definition of, 234	education of patient and family on continuing
monitoring and improvement of (GLD.13.1)	care needs (ACC.4.1) 47–49
234–235	documented in medical record (ACC.4.2)
organizational structure and processes to support	49–50
(GLD.8) 227	planning for (AOP.1.7) 89
` ,	process for (ACC.4) 47–49
D	from specialized services (ACC.2.3) 44–45
D	summary of
Data collection and analysis	complete (ACC.4.2) 49–50
on adverse events (QPS.8) 183	included in medical record (ACC.4.2) 49–50
education of staff involved in information use	transportation needs at time of (ACC.6) 54-55
(MOI.6) 306–307	Disinfection, description of, 194–195
for infection prevention and control activities	Documentation. See Management of information;
(PCI.7) 197–198	Medical record
on infection risks and infection rates (PCI.5)	Drugs. See Medication management and use
192–194	Dying patient. See End-of-life care
on medication errors (QPS.8) 183	7 01
to monitor use of new medications (MMU.2)	E
155–156	_
on near-miss events (QPS.7.1) 180–182	E-App. See Application for accreditation
for quality improvement measurement systems	Education of patient and family. See Patient and
(APR.7) 16	family education
on resource use (QPS.5) 179	Education of staff. See Orientation, training, and
for risk reduction (FMS.4) 247–248	education of staff
on selected performance measures (QPS.2) 176	Effective date of manual, 2, 339
to support replacing or upgrading equipment (FMS.4) 247–248	Electrical power. See Utility systems Eligibility requirements for accreditation survey,
on timeliness of critical tests reporting	6–7
(IPSG.2.1) 25–27	academic medical center hospitals, 6
on undesirable trends and variations (QPS.8)	hospitals, 6
183	"in full operation" requirement for surveys, 6, 7
Decision rules for accreditation, 345	medical research, definition of, 7
Demolition. See Construction, renovation, and	principal site, definition of, 6, 7

demolition

Emergency care	fire safety. See Fire safety
diagnostic imaging services available for (AOP.6)	hazardous materials and waste. See Hazardous
100	materials and waste
documentation requirements (ACC.4.2.1) 50	inspection of facility (FMS.5) 248–249
initial medical and nursing assessments (AOP.1.2.1) 84	interim measures for facility safety and operation, 267
laboratory services for (AOP.5) 91–92	medical equipment. See Medical equipment
medications for (MMU.3.1) 157–158	nonsmoking policy (FMS.8.5) 256–257
Emergency management . <i>See</i> Disaster preparedness Emergency power source (FMS.10.2) 259–261	oversight and direction by qualified individual(s) (FMS.2) 245–246
Emergency preparedness. See Disaster	overview of, 241
preparedness	planning for risk reduction (FMS.5) 248-249
Employees. See Staff	risk assessment and prioritization (FMS.3)
End-of-life care	246–247
assessment and reassessment of patient (AOP.1.6) 88–89	risk management program (FMS.2) 245–246 safety. <i>See</i> Safety
comfort and dignity optimized (COP.7)	security (FMS.6) 249
123–124	smoking policy (FMS.8.5) 256-257
pain assessment and management (PCC.2.2) 67–68	staff training in roles relative to (FMS.13) 265–266
patient and family involvement in care decisions	utility systems. See Utility systems
(PCC.2) 66	water. See Water systems
patient right to refuse treatment (PCC.2.1) 67	Failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA)
personal values and religious influences	(QPS.10) 184–185
(PCC.1.2) 63	Falls, risk reduction
Epidemiology. See Prevention and control of	inpatient population (IPSG.6) 34-35
infections	outpatient population (IPSG.6.1) 34–35
Equipment, medical. See Medical equipment	Falsification of information
Ethical management	in accreditation process (APR.2) 13-14
for business and operational issues (GLD.12.1) 232–234	on accreditation status (APR.8) 17 definition of, 14
for clinical care decision making (GLD.12.2)	Fees for survey
232–234	basis for, 343
framework established for (GLD.12) 232–234	billing options, 344
Extension survey, 341–342	payment schedule of, 344
Extranet site. See JCI Direct Connect™	postponement of survey, 343
	travel costs, 344
F	Fire safety
	detection, suppression, and containment of fire
Facility management and safety (FMS) 241–270	and smoke (FMS.8.1) 254
compliance with law and regulation (FMS.1) 244–245	equipment inspection, testing, and maintenance (FMS.8.3) 254–255
construction, renovation, and demolition. See	program establishment and implementation
Construction, renovation, and demolition	(FMS.8) 252–253
data collection and analysis	safe exit ensured (FMS.8.2) 254
to plan replacement and upgrades (FMS.4)	smoking restrictions (FMS.8.5) 256-257
247–248	staff training for roles in (FMS.8.4) 255-256
for risk reduction (FMS.4) 247–248	Food. See Nutrition care
disaster preparedness. See Disaster preparedness	For-cause surveys, 341
electrical power. See Utility systems	"Full operation," definition of, 7

G	overview of, 223
General consent for treatment (PCC.4) 69–70 Gold Seal of Approval [™] , 1, 17, 341, 347	performance evaluations based on measurements (GLD.11.1) 230–231
Governance, leadership, and direction (GLD)	quality improvement and patient safety program
211–240	communication about (GLD.4.1) 220–221
capital and operating budget (GLD.1.1) 216	planning and implementation of (GLD.4)
chief executive officer. See Chief executive officer	220–221
clinical practice guidelines selected and	resource purchase and use (GLD.7) 225
implemented (GLD.11.2) 231–232	staff recruitment, retention, and development
clinical services planned (GLD.3.1) 218–219	(GLD.3.3) 220
clinical staff, structure of (GLD.8) 227	staffing strategy for hospital needs (SQE.6)
communication effective and timely (GLD.3.2)	277–278
219–220	supply chain management and safety (GLD.7.1)
and contracts. See Contracted services	226–227
and culture of safety. See Culture of safety	support of patient and family rights (PCC.1)
for departments and services	61–62
coordination or integration among	
(GLD.10) 228–229	Н
directed by qualified individuals (GLD.9)	Hand hygiene (IPSG.5) 32–34
228	Handoffs (IPSG.2.2) 25–27
identification of services provided by	Handovers (IPSG.2.2) 25-27
(GLD.10) 228–229	Hazard vulnerability analysis (HVA) (QPS.10)
improvement in quality and patient safety in	184–185
(GLD.11) 229–230	Hazardous materials and waste
for education of health professionals continuing (GLD.3.3) 220	disposal of (FMS.7.2) 250-252
parameters for, defined (GLD.14) 235–236	handling of (FMS.7.1, FM.7.2) 250-252
role in medical education (MPE.1) 322	and human subjects research programs (HRP.6)
ethical management	333–334
for business and operational issues	infectious waste (PCI.8) 199–200
(GLD.12.1) 232–234	inventory for (FMS.7.1) 250–252
for clinical care decision making (GLD.12.2)	laboratory process for risk reduction with
232–234	(AOP.5.3.1) 94–95 management program for (FMS.7) 250–252
framework established for (GLD.12)	protective equipment for handling (FMS.7.1,
232–234	FMS.7.2) 250–252
governance	staff training for roles with (FMS.13) 265–266
bylaws, policies, and procedures (GLD.1)	storage of (FMS.7.1, FM.7.2) 250–252
215–216	written program for risk management (FMS.7)
quality and patient safety program oversight	250–252
(GLD.1.2) 216–217	Health care-associated infection
structure and authority of (GLD.1) 215–216	bundles (IPSG.5.1) 33-34
written documents for (GLD.1.1) 216	hand-hygiene guidelines (IPSG.5) 32-34
and human subjects research. See Human	risk reduction (IPSG.5.1) 32-34
subjects research programs leadership identified (GLD.3) 218	High-alert medications
levels of, described, 212	concentrated electrolytes, safe use of (IPSG.3.2)
levels of, described, 212 levels of, illustrated, 211	28–30
measurement of processes, priorities for	defined by Institute for Safe Medication
(GLD.5) 222	Practices, 28
mission of hospital defined (GLD.3) 218–219	example lists available, 28

2	
process to improve safety of (IPSG.3) 28–30	Infection prevention and control. See Prevention
Hospital leaders. See Governance, leadership, and	and control of infections
direction	Infectious waste disposal (PCI.8) 199–200
How to use this manual, 5–6	Information management. See Management of
Human resources. See Staff; Staff qualifications;	information
Staffing	Informed consent
Human subjects research programs, 236–239, 329–336	adequate information provided to facilitate (PCC.4.3) 71–72
access to, patients and families informed about (GLD.16) 237; (HRP.7.1) 334–335	granted by someone other than patient (PCC.4.4) 72
compliance with regulatory and professional requirements (HRP.1.1) 330–331	for organ and tissue transplantation (COP.8.5) 127–128
conflicts of interest with (HRP.5) 333	for organ and tissue transplantation with living
contract organizations, accountabilities of	donor (COP.9.1) 130–131
(HRP.3.1) 332	for procedural sedation (PCC.4.2) 71
guided by law, regulation, and leadership	process for (PCC.4.1) 70–71
(GLD.15) 236–237	in research projects
informed consent	documented (GLD.18) 238
documented (GLD.18) 238	obtained prior to participation (GLD.18)
obtained prior to participation (GLD.18)	238
238	process for obtaining (HRP.7) 334–335
process for obtaining (HRP.7) 334–335 oversight of (GLD.19) 239	for surgery, anesthesia, and other high-risk procedures (PCC.4.2) 71
overview of, 329	Initial surveys
protection of subjects	and follow-up survey, 341
leadership accountable for (GLD.15)	"in full operation" requirement for, 6, 7
236–237; (HRP.1) 330–331	and primary source verification exception, 284,
patients and families informed about	293–294, 296
(GLD.17) 238	Integrity of health information (MOI.2,
vulnerable populations not exploited	MOI.2.1) 301–303
(HRP.7.1) 334–335	Intent, definition of, 3
quality and patient safety (HRP.6) 333–334 review of, initial and ongoing (HRP.4) 332–333	International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH), 330, 337
scope of, established by leadership (HRP.2) 331	International Patient Safety Goals (IPSG), 23-37
sponsors of, requirements for (HRP.3) 331-332	communication effectiveness (IPSG.2) 25-27
	handover communication (IPSG.2.2) 25-27
I	test results, timely reporting of (IPSG.2.1)
Ican wood in manual 2	25–27
Icon used in manual, 3 Identification of patients (IPSG.1) 24–25	concentrated electrolytes, safe use of (IPSG.3.2)
Immediate threat to patient safety, public health,	28–30
or staff safety (APR.12) 19	fall risk reduction
Immunizations and vaccinations for staff	inpatient population (IPSG.6) 34–35
(SQE.8.3) 282	outpatient population (IPSG.6.1) 34–35
Implantable medical devices	hand hygiene (IPSG.5) 32–34
definition of, 148	handover communication (IPSG.2.2) 25–27
processes and procedures modified for (ASC.7.4) 148–149	health care–associated infections, risk reduction (IPSG.5.1) 32–34
recalls of (ASC.7.4) 148–149	high-alert medications (IPSG.3) 28–30
100110 01 (1100.7.1) 110 117	overview of, 23
	patient identification accuracy (IPSG.1) 24–25

preoperative verification and surgical site marking (IPSG.4) 30–32	and exposure to infectious diseases (AOP.5.3.1) 94–95
test results, timely reporting of (IPSG.2.1) 25–27	management by qualified individual (AOP.5.1) 92
time-out prior to surgical procedure (IPSG.4.1) 30–32	norms and ranges for reporting and interpreting tests (AOP.5.8) 97
Interpretation services, for accreditation survey (APR.10) 18	point-of-care testing (AOP.5.2) 93 proficiency testing (AOP.5.9.1) 97–98 quality control procedures for (AOP.5.9) 97–98 quality monitoring for reference or contract
J	laboratories (AOP.5.10.1) 98–99
JCI Direct Connect [™] (extranet site) access to, 341 application for accreditation on, 340, 341 content on, 341 Official Survey Findings Report posted on, 345 resources available on, 341	reagents and supplies for (AOP.5.6) 96 reference laboratories licensed and accredited (AOP.5.10) 98–99 quality monitoring for (AOP.5.10.1) 98–99 results reported in timely manner (AOP.5.4) 95
Job descriptions (SQE.1.1) 274	risk reduction procedures in (AOP.5.3.1) 94–95
Joint Commission International® account executive, 342 Accreditation Central Office contact information for, 5, 320 review of preliminary survey findings, 345 review of root cause analysis and action plan, 348 review of Strategic Improvement Plan, 347 Appeals Review Committee, 345 contact information provided to public (APR.11) 18–19 extranet site. See JCI Direct Connect™ Gold Seal of Approval®, 1, 17, 341, 347 International Patient Safety Goals, 23–37. See also International Patient Safety Goals Office of Quality and Safety Monitoring, 13, 348	safety program for (AOP.5.3) 93–94 specimen handling (AOP.5.7) 96–97 staff qualifications (AOP.5.1) 92 Lasers and other optical radiation devices adverse events resulting from use of (COP.4.1) 119–121 safety program for use of (COP.4) 119–121 Laundry, linens, and scrub attire (PCI.7.1) 198–199 Leadership. See Governance, leadership, and direction Life-sustaining treatment, patients' rights and (PCC.2.1) 67 Look-alike/sound-alike medications (IPSG.3.1) 28–30
sentinel events reported to, 348	Management of information (MOI) 299-318
website, 4	access to data managed and controlled (MOI.2) 301–303
L	confidentiality of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303
Laboratory services and applicable law and regulation (AOP.5)	diagnosis and procedure codes standardized (MOI.4) 304–305
91–92 availability of (AOP.5) 91–92 contract laboratories licensed and accredited (AOP.5.10) 98–99 quality monitoring for (AOP.5.10.1) 98–99 equipment inspection, maintenance, and calibration (AOP.5.5) 95–96 and exposure to biohazardous material	documents managed consistently and uniformly (MOI.7) 307 policies and procedures for, implementation of (MOI.7.1) 308 downtime, planned and unplanned management plan for (MOI.13) 315–316 staff training on alternate procedures
(AOP.5.3.1) 94–95	0

integrity of health information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 medical records. See Medical record overview of, 299 planning and design for (MOI.1) 301 privacy of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 retention time of records, data, and information (MOI.3) 303–304 security of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and tasting of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MES), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 257–258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9) 1257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9) 257–258 gratient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–2758 Medical history (AOPI.3) 84–85	(MOI.13) 315-316	Medical professional education (MPE) 321-327
medical records. See Medical record overview of, 299 planning and design for (MOI.1) 301 privacy of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 protection from loss, theft, damage, and destruction (MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.3) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and restring of (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and resting of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 (MoI.12) and adaptive dements (ME), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–35 problems or failures with (FMS.9).258 recalls of (FMS.9) 257–258 parient transfers and (ACC.5) 25–258 parient transfers and (ACC.5) 25–258 parient transfers and (ACC.5) 25–258 recalls of (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 384–85		
coordination and management of (MPE.5) 301–303 protection from loss, theft, damage, and destruction (MOI.2.1) 301–303 retention time of records, data, and information (MOI.3) 303–304 security of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 patient of (PMS.9) 257–258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–35 problems or failures with (FMS.9) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85	MOI.2.1) 301–303	goals (MPE.2) 323
planning and design for (MOL.1) 301 privacy of information (MOL.2.1) 301–303 protection from loss, theft, damage, and destruction (MOL.2) 301–303 retention time of records, data, and information (MOL.3) 303–304 security of information (MOL.2, MOL.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOL.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOL.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOL.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOL.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOL.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOL.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOL.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOL.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 84–85	medical records. See Medical record	clinical teaching staff roles (MPE.3) 323-324
privacy of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 protection from loss, theft, damage, and destruction (MOI.2.1) 301–303 retention time of records, data, and information (MOI.3) 303–304 security of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MES), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9) 257–258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9) 257–258 grafient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 raff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 84–85	overview of, 299	coordination and management of (MPE.5)
overview of, 321 students and trainees care and services provided by (MPE.6, MPE.7) 325–326 compliance with hospital policies and procedures (MPE.6) 325–326 credentialing and privileging of (MPE.7) 326 supervision of, frequency and intensity (MPE.4) 326 supervision of, frequenc	planning and design for (MOI.1) 301	324–325
care and services provided by (MPE.6, MPE.7) 325–326 compliance with hospital policies and procedures (MPE.6) 325–326 credentialing and privileging of (MPE.7) 326 supervision of, frequency and intensity (MOI.4) 304–305 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEb), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9).2 528 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 344–85 care and services provided by (MPE.6, MPE.7) 325–326 compliance with hospital policies and procedures (MPE.6) 325–326 credentialing and privileging of (MPE.7) 326 suspervision of, frequency and intensity (MPE.4) 324 Medical record accuracy of (MOI.8) 308–310 assessment for content and completeness of (MOI.10) 311 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.13) 315–316 contents of acer and services provided by (MPE.6, MPE.7) 325–326 credentialing and privileging of (MPE.7) 326 supervision of, frequency and intensity (MOI.13) 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 emergency are documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 50 medication use documenta		
retention time of records, data, and information (MOI.3) 303–304 sceutity of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 sraff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and testing of (MOI.13) 315–306 Measurable elements (MES, 9, 2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 more standardized contents of assessment for (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 344–85	protection from loss, theft, damage, and	students and trainees
(MOI.3) 303–304 security of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.13) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 257–258 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–33 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 staff education in principles of (MOI.10) 311 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) 310 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) 310 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) 310 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 30–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of	destruction (MOI.2.1) 301-303	care and services provided by (MPE.6,
security of information (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303 staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COR3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 84–85		MPE.7) 325–326
staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COR3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOPI.3) 84–85 credentialing and privileging of (MPE.7) 326 supervision of, frequency and intensity (MPE.4) 324 Medical record accuracy of (MOI.8) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
staff education in principles of (MOI.6) 306–307 standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.3) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.92) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP1.3) 84–85 supervision of, frequency and intensity (MPE.4) 324 Medical record accuracy of (MOI.8) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 authorization of entry included in (MOI.9) 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 format fire of motor in ended with (MOI.9) 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310		
standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations (MOI.4) 304–305 technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and testing of (MOI.13) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9). 257–258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9). 257–258 management of (FMS.9). 258 recalls of (FMS.9). 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 Medical record accuracy of (MOI.8) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MUI.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized conten		
technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.2) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.1) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.2) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.1) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 accuracy of (MOI.8) 308–310 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 ansessment for content and completeness of (MOI.9) 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
technology systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9).257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP1.3) 84–85 adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308–310 assessment for content and completeness of (MOI.10) 311 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85	standardized codes, symbols, and abbreviations	
downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313–314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.9.1) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 assessment for content and completeness of (MOI.10) 311 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) author action of access levels for (MOI.2) antents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical history	(MOI.4) 304–305	accuracy of (MOI.8) 308-310
(MOI.13) 315–316 mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 (MOI.10) 311 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		adequacy of information in (MOI.8.1) 308-310
mobile devices used for (MOI.12) 313–314 overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 author and time of entry included in (MOI.9) authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 310–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
overseen by qualified individual (MOI.11) 311–313 patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 310 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 50 medication use documentation (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		(MOI.10) 311
authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.1) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 authorization of access levels for (MOI.2) 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		author and time of entry included in (MOI.9)
patient portals (PCC.1.3) 64; (MOI.12) 313-314 selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 301–303 contents of anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284	· •	
selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP3.3) 116–117 risk assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
selection and testing of (MOI.11) 311–313 timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 anesthesia use (ASC.5) 143–144 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) fischarge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) fomplex (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) fomplex (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
timeliness of dissemination (MOI.5) 305–306 Measurable elements (MEs), definition of, 4 Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 inventory of (FMS.9.3) 257–258 management of (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 assessment of (MOI.10) 311 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documenta		
Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 clinical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 50 medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures and treatments (COP.2.1) discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
Medical equipment data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 111 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
data collection and analysis to plan replacement and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.2) 258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 complex care or complex diagnoses (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		-
and upgrades of (FMS.4) 247–248 education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.2) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 (ACC.4.3) 50–51 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
education of patient and family on use of (ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 discharge summary (ACC.4.2) 49–50 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 50 medication use documentation (MMU.6) inspection, testing, and maintenance of (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
(ACC.4.1) 47–49 failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 educational needs (PCC.5.1) 73–74 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 60 medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
failures of (FMS.9.2) 258 infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 emergency care documentation (ACC.4.2.1) 50 medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284	•	
infection prevention and control needed with (PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
(PCI.6) 194–196 inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 medication use documentation (MMU.6) 165 (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
inspection, testing, and maintenance of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 165 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284	•	
(FMS.9.1) 257–258 inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 surgical procedures documentation (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
inventory of (FMS.9.1) 257–258 management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 (ASC.7.2) 146–147 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
management of (FMS.9) 257–258 patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 copy-and-paste and similar functions, proper use of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284	,	
patient transfers and (ACC.5) 52–53 problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 of (MOI.8) 308–310 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284	·	,
problems or failures with (FMS.9.2) 258 recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 format of (MOI.8) 308–310 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
recalls of (FMS.9.2) 258 maintenance of (MOI.8) 308–310 for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 definition of, 284	•	
for resuscitation (COP.3.3) 116–117 risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 standardized content for (MOI.8) 308–310 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
risk assessment for (FMS.9) 257–258 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 transfer information in (ACC.5.1) 54 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) 265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 Medical staff appointment to definition of, 284		
265–266; (SQE.3) 275–276 appointment to Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 definition of, 284		
Medical history (AOP.1.3) 84–85 definition of, 284	* *	
·		
process for (SQF, 9, 7) /87-/86	1.100.001 (1.01.1.J) 01 0J	process for (SQE.9.2) 282–286

behaviors evaluated, 289	look-alike/sound-alike medications (IPSG.3.1)
care of patients, monitoring of quality (SQE.11)	28–30
288–291	medication list and use maintained and
clinical privileges of	monitored (MMU.2) 155-156
assignment and delineation of (SQE.10) 286–288	monitoring of effects on patients (MMU.7) 167–168
renewal of (SQE.12) 292–293 clinical results reviewed, 290	multidrug-resistant organisms (MMU.1.1) 154–155
contracted staff. <i>See</i> Contracted services credentials of	near misses, process for reporting (MMU.7.1) 168
current (SQE.9.1) 282–286	organized to meet patient needs (MMU.1)
gathering process (SQE.9) 282–286	153–154
management of (SQE.9) 282–286	overview of, 151
verified (SQE.9.1) 282–286	preparing and dispensing
definition of, 283	environment for, safe and clean (MMU.5)
evaluation and monitoring of, ongoing	161–162
(SQE.11) 288–291	orders reviewed for appropriateness
professional growth of, 289–290	(MMU.5.1) 162–164
reappointment to	qualified individuals perform (MMU.6) 165
definition of, 285, 292	right dose, right patient, right time
factors considered for (SQE.12) 292-293	(MMU.5.2) 164–165
Medical students and trainees. See Medical	prescribing, ordering, and transcribing
professional education	completeness of order defined by hospital
Medication, definition of, 151	(MMU.4.2) 160–161
Medication errors	documented in medical record (MMU.4.2)
data analysis on (QPS.8) 183	160–161
defined by hospital (MMU.7.1) 168	qualified individuals perform (MMU.4.1)
look-alike/sound-alike medications (IPSG.3.1)	160
28–30	procurement for unavailable (MMU.2) 155–156
process for reporting and acting on (MMU.7.1)	recall system (MMU.3.2) 158-159
168	reconciliation of (MMU.4) 159
Medication management and use (MMU)	sample medications (MMU.6.2.1) 166-167
151–170	self-administration policy (MMU.6.2) 166–167
administering	special-handling requirements (MMU.3)
by qualified individuals (MMU.6) 165	156–157
self-administration policy (MMU.6.2)	storage, proper and safe (MMU.3) 156–157
166–167	Misrepresentation of accreditation status (APR.8)
verification of orders (MMU.6.1) 165–166	17
adverse drug events (MMU.7.1) 168	Mobile devices used for patient data (MOI.12)
antibiotic stewardship program (MMU.1.1)	313–314. See also Texting
154–155	Multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs)
availability of medications, including after hours (MMU.2) 155–156	(MMU.1.1) 154–555
directed by qualified professional (MMU.1)	N
153–154	Near misses
drug information available (MMU.1) 153–154	defined by hospital (MMU.7.1) 168
drug-resistant organisms (MMU.1.1) 154–155	definition of, 181
emergency medications (MMU.3.1) 157–158	identification and management of (QPS.7.1)
errors, process for reporting (MMU.7.1) 168	180–182

with medications (MMU.7.1) 168 Organ and tissue transplant services Neglect and abuse care plan for patients individualized (COP.8.7) assessment of (AOP.1.6) 88-89 care for victims of (COP.3) 112-114 coordination mechanism among staff for No harm events (QPS.7.1) 180-182 (COP.8.3) 126 Nonsmoking policy (FMS.8.5) 256–257 eligibility criteria for candidates (COP.8.4) 127 Nursing staff information provided to potential donors clinical work assignments (SQE.14) 294-294 (PCC.6) 75-76 collaboration with other staff for patient care informed consent specific to (COP.8.5) 127–128 (AOP.4) 91 leadership role in (COP.8) 124–125 credentials verified (SQE.13) 293-294 living donor transplantation identification of job responsibilities (SQE.14) adherence to law and regulation (COP.9) 130 294-294 care plans individualized for donors performance evaluations and reviews (COP.9.3) 132 (GLD.11.1) 230–231; (SQE.14.1) informed consent specific to (COP.9.1) 294–295 130-131 and prevention and control of infection (PCI.2) rights of donors protected (COP.9) 130 190-191 selection criteria for (COP.9.2) 131 professional education of (GLD.14) 235-236 multidisciplinary team for (COP.8.2) 125-126 professional staff structure for (GLD.8) 227 organ recovery and receipt protocols and quality improvement activities of (SQE.14.1) guidelines (COP.8.6) 128-129 294-295 oversight of program by qualified individual(s) Nutrition care (COP.8.1) 125 for at-risk patients (COP.5.1) 122 resources provided by leadership (COP.8) 124-125 cultural, religious, and ethnic preferences respected (COP.5) 121-122 Organized medical staff. See Medical staff Orientation, training, and education of staff family provision of food (COP.5) 121–122 food choices (COP.5) 121-122 documentation of (SQE.5) 276–277 nutrition therapy (COP.5.1) 122 on end-of-life care 123-124 and prevention and control of infection (PCI.9) on facility management and safety (FMS.13) 201 - 202265–266 storage conditions (COP.5) 121-122 on fire safety (FMS.13) 265-266 on hazardous materials (FMS.13) 265-266 on information systems downtime, planned and unplanned (MOI.13) 315-316 Office of Quality and Safety Monitoring, 13, 348 on information use and management (MOI.6) Official Survey Findings Report 306-307 posted on JCI Direct Connect, 345 in-service training (SQE.8) 278–279 received within 10 days after survey, 345 leadership responsibility for (GLD.3.3, GLD.9) request for revision of, 345 220, 228 reviewed by JCI Accreditation Central Office, on medical equipment (FMS.13) 265–266 345 for medical students and trainees (MPE.6) **Optical radiation devices.** See Lasers and other 325-326 optical radiation devices on organ donation and procurement (PCC.6.1) Organ and tissue donation information 75 - 76oversight of procurement process (PCC.6.1) on pain management (COP.6) 122–123 75 - 76in point-of-care testing (AOP.5.2) 93 patients and families informed about choices on prevention and control of infection (PCI.15) (PCC.6) 75-76 on radiation safety (AOP.6.2) 101-103

on reporting of safety concerns (APR.9) 17	decisions about care (PCC.2) 66
on resuscitation techniques (SQE.8.1,	dignity supported (PCC.1.2) 63
SQE.8.1.1) 279–280	information on all aspects of care (PCC.2) 66
on security (FMS.13) 265-266	information in understandable form (PCC.1.1)
on utility systems (FMS.13) 265–266	62–63
	informed consent. See Informed consent
P	leadership role to support (PCC.1) 61-62
	and life-sustaining treatment (PCC.2.1) 67
"P" icon used in manual, 3	pain assessment and management (PCC.2.2)
Pain assessment and management	67–68
education of patient and family on (COP.6)	personal possessions protected from theft or loss
122–123	(PCC.1.4) 65
education of staff on (COP.6) 122–123	privacy and confidentiality of care and
patient right to (PCC.2.2) 67–68	information (PCC.1.3) 63–34; (MOI.2,
postoperative (ASC.5) 143–144	MOI.2.1) 301–303
screening for (AOP.1.5) 87–88	protection from physical assault (PCC.1.5) 65
Patient care services. See Care of patients	reduction of physical, language, or cultural
Patient-centered care See Care of patients, End-of-	barriers (PCC.1.1) 62–63
life care, Patient and family education, Patient	refusal or discontinuation of treatment
and family rights	(PCC.2.1) 67
Patient and family education	in research projects. See Clinical trials and
ability and willingness to learn assessed	research
(PCC.5.1) 73–74	spiritual and religious needs respected (PCC.1.2)
collaboration among health care practitioners in	63
(PCC.5) 73	and unanticipated outcomes of care (PCC.2) 66
on continuing care needs after discharge	in withholding resuscitative services (PCC.2.1)
(ACC.4.1) 47–49	67
educational needs assessed and recorded in	Patient flow management (ACC.2) 42-43
medical record (PCC.5.1) 73–74	Patient identification
for inpatient admission (ACC.2.2) 44	accuracy of (IPSG.1) 24-25
on medical equipment use (ACC.4.1) 47–49	with use of blood and blood products (COP.3.4)
on nutrition (ACC.4.1) 47–49; (COP.5)	117
121–122	Patient rights. See Patient and family rights
on pain management (COP.6) 122–123	Patient safety. See Quality improvement and
on prevention and control of infection (PCI.15)	patient safety
208	Patient tracers, 342
on rehabilitation techniques (ACC.4.1) 47–49	Performance evaluations
in understandable form (PCC.1.1) 62–63	for chief executive officer (GLD.1.1) 216
values and preferences considered (PCC.5.2) 74	for medical staff (SQE.11) 288-291
Patient and family rights	for staff (SQE.2) 274–275
care at end of life (PCC.2.2) 67–68	Performance measurement
care decisions, participation in (PCC.2) 66	data collection for (QPS.2) 176
complaint response or resolution (PCC.3.1) 69	patient experience measured and analyzed
consent for treatment	(PCC.3) 68–69
adequate information provided to facilitate	selection and use of performance measures
(PCC.4.3) 71–72	(APR.7) 16
general (PCC.4) 69–70	Personal protective equipment (PCI.13) 206–207
granted by someone other than patient	Pharmacy services. See also Medication
(PCC.4.4) 72	management and use
informed. See Informed consent	after hours (MMU.2) 155–156

compliance with applicable law and regulation laws and regulations met (PCI.1) 189-190 (MMU.1) 153–154 management by qualified individual(s) (PCI.1) 189-190 supervised by qualified individual (MMU.1) 153-154 mechanical and engineering controls for Plan of care (PCI.10) 202-203 carried out as ordered (COP.2.1) 111 medical/surgical equipment, devices, and change in, and reassessment (AOP.2) 89-90 supplies (PCI.6) 194–196 documented in medical record (COP.2.1) 111 multidrug-resistant organisms (MMU.1.1) individualized, based on assessment (COP.2.2) 154–155 111-112 overview of, 187 postsurgical (ASC.7.3) 147-148 personal protective equipment (PCI.13) Point-of-care testing 206-207 and quality improvement and safety program definition of, 93 staff training and competence in (AOP.5.2) 93 (PCI.14) 207 supervision by qualified individual (AOP.5.2) 93 resources provided by leadership for (PCI.3) 191 Policy icon used in manual, 3 risk-based data-driven approach to (PCI.5) 192-194 Preoperative verification process (IPSG.4) 30–32 Prescribing or ordering medications. See sharps and needles, handling and disposal of Medication management and use (PCI.8) 199-200 Prevention and control of infections (PCI) single-use devices (PCI.6.1) 196–197 187-210 waste disposal requirements (PCI.8) 199-200 barrier precautions for (PCI.12) 204-205 Primary source verification bloodborne pathogens (PCI.8.1) 200-201 description of, 283-284 comprehensive program designed and substitutes for, 284 implemented (PCI.4) 192 Principal site, definition of, 6, 7 coordination of activities for (PCI.2) 190-191 **Privacy** with demolition, construction, and renovation during care and treatment (PCC.1.3) 63-64 (PCI.11) 203 of human research subject data (HRP.3) disinfection of equipment, devices, and supplies 331-332 (PCI.6) 194-196 of information (PCC.1.3) 63–64; (MOI.2) drug-resistant organisms (MMU.1.1) 154–155 301-303 education of staff, patients, and families on Proactive risk management (QPS.10) 184–185 (PCI.15) 208 Procedural sedation emergency preparedness for global administration and monitoring of communicable diseases (PCI.12.2) 205-206 according to professional guidelines engineering controls for (PCI.10) 202-203 (ASC.3.2) 141-142 and environmental cleanliness (PCI.7) 197–198 by qualified individuals (ASC.3.1) 140–141 food service and (PCI.9) 201-202 availability of (ASC.1) 138–139 global communicable diseases (PCI.12.2) definition of, 140 205-206 informed consent prior to (PCC.4.2) 71 hand hygiene (IPSG.5) 32–34 professional standards and applicable laws met health care-associated infections, risk reduction (ASC.1) 138-139 (IPSG.5.1) 32-34 risks, benefits, and alternatives discussed with high-risk areas identified and addressed patient and family (ASC.3.3) 142 (PCI.5.1) 192–194 services managed by qualified individual influx of infectious patients, process for (ASC.2) 139 (PCI.12.1) 204-205 standardized administration of throughout isolation procedures for (PCI.12) 204-205 hospital (ASC.3) 140 laundry, linens, and scrub attire (PCI.7.1) Product recalls 198-199 implantable medical devices (ASC.7.4) 148–149 laboratory equipment (AOP.5.5) 95–96 medical equipment (FMS.9.2) 258 medications (MMU.3.2) 158–159 radiology equipment (AOP.6.4) 103–104 **Psychosocial services** (COP.7) 123–124

Q

Quality improvement and patient safety (QPS), 173–186

achieved and sustained (QPS.9) 183–184 aggregation and analysis of data to support (QPS.4) 177–178

aggregation and analysis done by qualified individuals (QPS.4.1) 178–179

data collection for (APR.7) 16

data validation process (QPS.6) 179-180

hospitalwide priority improvements analyzed for impact (QPS.5) 179

human subject research (HRP.6) 333–334 implementation priorities determined by leadership (GLD.5) 222

leadership responsibility for (GLD.4) 220–221 management by qualified individual (QPS.1) 175–176

measure selection process (QPS.2) 176 measurement activities (QPS.2) 176

measurement priorities determined by leadership (GLD.5) 222

near-miss events, identification and management of (QPS.7.1) 180–182

overview of, 173

participation of health care practitioners in (SQE.16.1) 296–297

participation of nursing staff in (SQE.14.1) 294–295

prevention and control of infection integrated with (PCI.14) 207

risk management program (QPS.10) 184–185 sentinel events, identification and management of (QPS.7) 180–182. *See also* Sentinel events

supported by current scientific and professional information (QPS.3) 177

undesirable trends and variations analyzed (QPS.8) 183

R

Radioactive materials (FMS.7, FMS.7.1, FMS.7.2) 250–252

Radiology and diagnostic imaging services

availability of (AOP.6) 100 contracted sources, quality control (AOP.6.6) 104–105

equipment maintenance, inspection, and calibration (AOP.6.4) 103–104

and law and regulation (AOP.6) 100

management by qualified individual (AOP.6.1)
101

quality control

for contracted sources (AOP.6.6) 104–105 procedures for (AOP.6.5) 104

results available in timely manner (AOP.6.3) 103 safety program for staff and patients (AOP.6.2) 101–103

staff qualifications (AOP.6.1) 101

Reassessment of patient

conducted by qualified individuals (AOP.3) 90 intervals for (AOP.2) 89–90

Recalls. See Product recalls

Record of care, treatment, and services. See Medical record

References, definition of, 4

Referrals (ACC.4) 47–49

Rehabilitation techniques (ACC.4.1) 47–49

Renewal of accreditation, 348

Renovation. See Construction, renovation, and demolition

Research, subject rights in. *See* Clinical trials and research

Resuscitation services

availability of (COP.3.3) 116–117 non–patient-care staff skills in (SQE.8.1.1) 279–280

patient-care staff skills in (SQE.8.1) 279–280 patient right to refuse (PCC.2.1) 67

Rights of patients and families. *See* Patient and family rights

Root cause analysis (QPS.7) 180-182

S

Safety. See also International Patient Safety Goals;
Facility management and safety
concerns reported to JCI
by public (APR.11) 18–19
by staff (APR.9) 17
culture of. See Culture of safety
definition of, 248
disasters. See Disaster preparedness

during demolition, construction, and renovation	Staff
(PCI.11) 203; (FMS.12) 264–265	documented personnel information for (SQE.5)
fire safety. See Fire safety	276–277
hazardous materials. See Hazardous materials	education. See Orientation, training, and
and waste	education of staff
immediate threat to patient safety, public health,	evaluation of (SQE.2) 274–275
or staff safety (APR.12) 19	immunization and vaccination program for
improvement in (GLD.11) 229-230	(SQE.8.3) 282
inspections for risks to (FMS.5) 248-249	job descriptions (SQE.1.1) 274
in laboratories (AOP.5.3) 93–94	mental health of (SQE.8.2) 280–281
and lasers and other optical radiation devices (COP.4, COP.4.1) 119–121	number, types, and qualifications needed, identified by leaders (SQE.6) 277–278
and medication use (IPSG.3) 28-30	orientation to hospital, department, and job
of physical facility. <i>See</i> Facility management and safety	(SQE.7) 278. See also Orientation, training, and education of staff
smoking policy (FMS.8.5) 256-257	physical health of (SQE.8.2) 280-281
of supply chain (GLD.7.1) 226-227	qualifications. See Staff qualifications
Safety culture. See Culture of safety	recruitment of (GLD.3.3) 220; (SQE.2)
Sample medications (MMU.6.2.1) 166–167	274–275
Scope of accreditation survey, 344	retention of (GLD.3.3) 220
Security	vaccination program for (SQE.8.3) 282
of data and health information (QPS.4)	Staff qualifications
177–178; (MOI.2, MOI.2.1) 301–303	for clinical staff (SQE.3) 275–276
definition of, 249	defined by department leaders (SQE.1) 273
of environment (FMS.6) 249	for new staff (SQE.2) 274–275
staff training for roles in (FMS.13) 265–266	for nonclinical staff (SQE.4) 276
Sedation. See Procedural sedation	overview of, 271
Self-harm or suicide risk (COP.3.5) 117–119	resuscitative skills (SQE.8.1, SQE.8.1.1)
Sentinel events	279–280
definition of, 181	Staffing
difference from medical errors, 348	contracted staff. See Contracted services
in human subjects research (HRP.6) 333–334 identification and management of (QPS.7)	staff recruitment, retention, and development (GLD.3.3) 220
180–182 reported to and acted on by governing entity	strategy for meeting hospital needs (SQE.6) 277–278
(GLD.1.2, GLD.4.1) 216–217, 220–221 reported to JCI, 348	strategy reviewed and updated (SQE.6.1) 277–278
response by hospital to, 348	Standards
root cause analysis required for (QPS.7)	for academic medical centers, 5
180–182	application of, 4–5
Sharps and needles, handling and disposal of	availability for international use, 4
(PCI.8) 199–200	definition of, 3
Smoking policy (FMS.8.5) 256–257	development process, 2–3
Special populations	effective date of, 2–3
assessment of (AOP.1.6) 88–89	and national and local laws, 4
list of, 88	organization of, 3–4
Spiritual and religious needs of patient (PCC.1.2)	in public domain, 4
63	updates to, 2
	Sterilization, methods of, 195

Strategic Improvement Plan (SIP) documented in medical record (ACC.5.1) 54 At Risk for Denial of Accreditation for failure to information on care transferred (ACC.5.1) 54 from organization (ACC.5) 52-53 submit, 347 purpose of, 346-347 safety of process for (ACC.5) 52-53 within organization (ACC.3) 45-46 required when hospital found not compliant with APR.7 or APR.11, 16, 19 Transfusion reactions (COP.3.4) 117 required when measurable elements are not met Translation services, for accreditation survey, or are partially met, 346 (APR.10) 18 Suicide or self-harm risk (COP.3.5) 117-119 Transplantation of organs and tissues. See Organ Surgical care, 145–150 and tissue transplant services aftercare planned and documented (ASC.7.3) 147-148 U and implanted devices (ASC.7.4) 148-149 Unannounced survey, permitted by hospital, planning and documentation of (ASC.7) (APR.4) 15 145-146 Universal Protocol for Preventing Wrong Site, procedure documented in medical record Wrong Procedure, Wrong Person Surgery™ (ASC.7.2) 146-147 marking of operative site, 31 risks, benefits, and alternatives discussed with preoperative verification process, 31 patient and family (ASC.7.1) 146 principles of, 30-32 Surgical site marking (IPSG.4) 30–32 "time-out" verification process, 31–32 Surrogate decision-maker (PCC.4.4) 72 **Utility systems** Survey. See Accreditation survey alternative sources for (FMS.10.2) 259-261 Survey agenda, 342 availability at all times (FMS.10.2) 259-261 **Survey fees.** See Fees for survey effective and efficient operation of (FMS.10.1) Survey findings report. See Official Survey 258-259 Findings Report inspection, testing, and maintenance of Survey team, 343 (FMS.10.1) 258-259 System tracers, 342 management of (FMS.10) 258-259 risk assessment for (FMS.10.2) 259-261 staff training to operate and maintain (FMS.13) Telemedicine services (GLD.6.2) 224 265-266 system disruptions (FMS.10.2) 259-261 Teleradiology services (GLD.6.2) 224 Texting (MOI.4) 304–305; (MOI.12) 313-314; water. See Water systems (COP.2) 110-111. See also Mobile devices used for patient data Time-out prior to surgical procedure (IPSG.4.1) Vaccinations and immunizations for staff (SQE.8.3) 282 Tissue transplant services. See Organ and tissue Validation survey, 341 transplant services Verbal orders (IPSG.2) 25-27; (COP.2) 110-111 Tracer methodology Verification of credentials, description of, patient tracers, 342 283-284 system tracers, 342 Volunteers, orientation for (SQE.7) 278 Training. See Orientation, training, and education of staff Transfer of patient W basis for (ACC.5) 52-53 Waste disposal (infectious) (PCI.8) 199–200 clinical summary given to receiving organization Water systems (ACC.5.1) 54 alternative sources for (FMS.10.2) 259-261 criteria for specialized services (ACC.2.3) 44-45 availability at all times (FMS.10.2) 259-261

effective and efficient operation of (FMS.10.1) 258–259

and hemodialysis requirements (FMS.10.3.1) 261–262

management of (FMS.10) 258–259 quality monitoring (FMS.10.3) 261–262

Websites

for accreditation policies and procedures (*JCI Direct Connect*™), 345

Joint Commission International®, 4, 340

for reporting patient safety or quality of care

Withdrawal from accreditation process, 346

concern, 12

World Health Organization (WHO)

Good Clinical Practice (GCP) standards, 330, 337

hand hygiene guidelines (IPSG.5) 32–34 and high-alert medications, 28 and prevention of airborne infection, 204 regulation and professional standards for clinical studies (HRP.1) 330–331 staff recruitment and development guidelines (GLD.3.3) 220

Surgical Safety Checklist, 32

Wrong-site surgery. See Universal Protocol for Preventing Wrong Site, Wrong Procedure, Wrong Person Surgery™